
13 September 2018
At 5.00 pm

Central Sydney Planning Committee





Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Agenda

1.  Disclosures of Interest

2.  Confirmation of Minutes

3.  Matters Arising from the Minutes

4.  Public Exhibition – Planning Proposal and Draft Development Control Plan – 
Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point

5.  Post Exhibition – Planning Proposal – 102-106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery – Sydney 
Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
Amendment and Planning Agreement

6.  Public Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst - 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
Amendment

7.  Pre Exhibition – Planning Proposal – 12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery – 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
Amendment

8.  Post Exhibition - Planning Proposal - Affordable Rental Housing Review - Sydney 
Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Affordable Housing Program and Pre Exhibition 
- Planning Proposal - Affordable Rental Housing Review - Green Square Town 
Centre

9.  Post Exhibition - Planning Proposal - Serviced Apartments - Amendments to 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 - Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2005 - 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan Green Square Town Centre 2013 and Sydney 
Local Environmental Plan - Green Square Town Centre Stage 2 2013

10.  Public Exhibition: Plannning Proposal - Heritage Floor Space Amendment

11.  Determinations Delegated by the Central Sydney Planning Committee to the City of 
Sydney

12.  Summary of Applications to be Reported to the Central Sydney Planning Committee





Guidelines for Speakers
at the Central Sydney
Planning Committee

As part of our democratic process, the City invites members of the community to 
speak directly to Members of the Central Sydney Planning Committee (the CSPC) 
about items on a meeting agenda.

To enable the CSPC to hear a wide range of views and concerns within the limited 
time available, we encourage people interested in speaking at meetings to:

1. Register to speak by calling Council’s Secretariat on 9265 9190 before 12.00 
noon on the day of the meeting.

2. Check the recommendation in the agenda report before speaking, as it may 
address your concerns so that you just need to indicate your support for the 
recommendation.

3. Note that there is a three minute time limit for each speaker and prepare your 
presentation to cover your major points within that time.

4. Avoid repeating what previous speakers have said and focus on issues and 
information that the CSPC may not already know.

5. If there is a large number of people interested in the same item as you, try to 
nominate three representatives to speak on your behalf and to indicate how 
many people they are representing.

6. Before speaking, turn on the microphone by pressing the button next to it and 
speak clearly so that everyone in the Council Chamber can hear.

7. Be prepared to quickly return to the microphone and respond briefly to any 
questions from CSPC members, after all speakers on an item have made their 
presentations.

At the start of each CSPC meeting, the Chair may re-order agenda items so that 
those items with speakers can be dealt with first.

CSPC reports are on line at www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au, with printed copies 
available at Sydney Town Hall immediately prior to the meeting. Council staff are 
also available prior to the meeting to assist.

January 2011



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Disclosures of Interest

(a) Section 451 of the Local Government Act 1993

Pursuant to the provisions of section 451 of the Local Government Act 1993, Members of the 
Central Sydney Planning Committee are required to disclose pecuniary interests in any 
matter on the agenda for this meeting of the Central Sydney Planning Committee.

Members are also required to disclose any non-pecuniary interests in any matter on the 
agenda for this meeting of the Central Sydney Planning Committee in accordance with the 
relevant clauses of the Code of Conduct – February 2016.

This will include receipt of reportable political donations over the previous four years.

In both cases, the nature of the interest must be disclosed.

 (b) Local Government and Planning Legislation Amendment (Political 
Donations) Act 2008

The Local Government and Planning Legislation Amendment (Political Donations) Act 2008 
(“the Act”) requires the disclosure of relevant political donations or gifts when planning or 
development applications are made to minimise any perception of undue influence. The 
amendments to the Act require disclosure to the Electoral Funding Authority of:

 a reportable political donation as defined in the Election Funding and Disclosures 
Act 1981 (a donation of $1000 or more made to or for the benefit of the party, elected 
member, group or candidate or made by a major political donor to or for the benefit of 
a party, elected member, group or candidate, or made to the major political donor), or 

 a gift (as defined in the Election Funding and Disclosures Act 1981) to any local 
councillor or council employee (and includes a disposition of property or a gift of 
money or the provision of other valuable or service for no consideration or for 
inadequate consideration) when a relevant planning application is made to a council. 

A donation of less than $1000 can be a reportable political donation if the aggregated total of 
such donations was made by an entity or person to the same party, elected member, group 
or candidate or person.

1

Item 1.



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Confirmation of Minutes

Minutes of the following meeting of the Central Sydney Planning Committee are submitted 
for confirmation:

Meeting of 9 August 2018

1

Item 2.



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Matters arising from the Minutes

Matters arising from the minutes of the Central Sydney Planning Committee of 9 August 
2018.

1

Item 3.



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Public Exhibition – Planning Proposal and Draft Development Control Plan – 
Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point

File No: X018038

Summary

Located within the internationally renowned precinct of Kings Cross, Darlinghurst Road has 
a long and rich history, and a unique cultural identity and character. The area has previously 
been recognised as a popular late night trading precinct, attracting people from across 
Sydney, and internationally. Darlinghurst Road serves both the local community and attracts 
visitors with a variety of retail and commercial businesses, bars, restaurants, health services, 
community facilities and tourist and visitor accommodation. 

The area is continuing to evolve and change. Through consultation, the local community has 
told the City that Darlinghurst Road is highly valued for its heritage, unique diversity of 
buildings and places and eccentric spirit and that this treasured character should be 
protected. The community has a strong desire to protect the collection of heritage buildings 
and see new development of a human scale with variety of styles and that is unique and 
highly detailed. 

The City commissioned an urban design study, heritage assessment and undertook 
community consultation in response to a development application which involved the 
demolition of the majority of structures at 18-32A Darlinghurst Road. The heritage 
assessment investigated which properties on the block bounded by Darlinghurst Road, 
Barncleuth Square, Barncleuth Lane and Roslyn Street should be considered for heritage 
listing.

This report seeks approval to publicly exhibit the Planning Proposal at Attachment A, which 
proposes to heritage list three items including Kingsley Hall at 1A Elizabeth Bay Road, the 
facade of The Bourbon at 22-28 Darlinghurst Road, and The Empire at 32-32A Darlinghurst 
Road (in recognition of its social and historical significance).

The independent heritage assessment completed by PTW Architects in August 2018 
recommended the sites be heritage listed as they meet historic, aesthetic or social criteria for 
listing. The sites also contribute to the conservation of the distinct heritage character and 
main street function of Darlinghurst Road. Progressing the local listing as will ensure the 
significance of the items is appropriately considered and conserved as part of any future 
development proposal.

Council's Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee is separately considering a site-
specific development control plan (DCP) in addition to the proposed heritage listings. The 
DCP will help manage change and ensure new development respects and builds on 
Darlinghurst Road's iconic, edgy and historic character whilst continuing to provide diverse 
activities and services for the community and visitors. The DCP sets principles for the area 
and guides good design, heritage and land use outcomes. It includes a detailed building 
envelope for the site of the development application at 18-32A Darlinghurst Road. The Kings 
Cross locality statement has also been updated to reinforce the vibrant, iconic, diverse and 
community-minded character of Darlinghurst Road that is valued by locals and visitors alike.

1

Item 4.



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

It is recommended the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve the planning proposal 
for submission to the relevant plan-making authority with a request for a Gateway 
Determination and public exhibition.

Recommendation

It is resolved that:

(A) the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve Planning Proposal - Proposed 
heritage items, Potts Point, shown at Attachment A to the subject report, for 
submission to the relevant plan making authority with a request for Gateway 
Determination;

(B) the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve Planning Proposal - Proposed 
heritage items, Potts Point, for public authority consultation and public exhibition in 
accordance with any conditions imposed under the Gateway Determination;

(C) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the recommendation to Council’s 
Transport, Heritage and Development Committee on 10 September 2018 that Council 
approve Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point, 
shown at Attachment B to the subject report, for public authority consultation and 
public exhibition with the Planning Proposal and Planning Agreement;

(D) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the recommendation to Council's 
Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee on 10 September 2018 that Council seek 
authority from the relevant plan making authority of all their functions under Section 
3.31 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 to make the local 
environmental plan as amended by Planning Proposal - Proposed heritage items, 
Potts Point; and

(E) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor variations to 
Planning Proposal - Proposed heritage items, Potts Point as required by the relevant 
plan making authority's Gateway Determination or to correct minor drafting errors.

Attachments

Attachment A. Planning Proposal - Proposed heritage items, Potts Point

Attachment B. Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Darlinghurst Road, Potts 
Point

2



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Background

1. This report seeks the Central Sydney Planning Committee's approval to request a 
Gateway Determination for and to publicly exhibit a planning proposal that proposes 
heritage listing three items on Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point.

2. In February 2018, Council requested a review of the planning controls for Darlinghurst 
Road in response to concerns and issues arising from a development application for a 
mixed use development of 18-32A Darlinghurst Road (D/2017/1705). The review 
involved an urban design study, heritage assessment, guidance from the City's Design 
Advisory Panel and community consultation. This work has resulted in revised 
planning controls to guide development along Darlinghurst Road. The proposed 
planning controls include a planning proposal to heritage list three items and a site 
specific development control plan (DCP) that will guide the built form, use mix, heritage 
conservation, amenity, street activation and architectural articulation of new 
development.

3. A report to Council's Transport, Heritage and Planning Committeeon 10 September 
2018 recommends the planning proposal and draft development control plan be 
approved for public exhibition.

The site and context
4. The heritage assessment study area is located at the northern end of Darlinghurst 

Road at the junction of Macleay Street. The study area's primary frontage is to the 
west to Darlinghurst Road, with secondary frontages to the north to Barncleuth 
Square, east to Barncleuth Lane, and south to Roslyn Street. 18-32A Darlinghurst 
Road, which was subject to the withdrawn development application, is shown outlined 
in blue in Figure 1. A photo of the study area is shown at Figure 2. The proposed 
heritage items, Kingsley Hall, facade of The Bourbon, and The Empire, are identified in 
the aerial photograph below at Figure 3.

3



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Figure 1: Darlinghurst Road precinct outlined in red with 18-32A Darlinghurst Road outlined in blue

Figure 2: Aerial image of study area, looking south-east. Image: Nearmap

4



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Figure 3: Subject sites

5. Kingsley Hall is located at 1A Elizabeth Bay Road, Potts Point. The site is legally 
described as Lot 1 DP 191425 and has a total area of 281 square metres. Kingsley 
Hall is shown at Figure 4 below. It is a 10 storey inter war flat building with a ground 
floor food and drink premises.

6. The Bourbon is located at 22-24 Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point. The site is legally 
described as Lot 1 DP 1097710 and has a total area of 1,386 square metres. The 
facade of The Bourbon is shown at Figure 5 below. The Bourbon is formerly a group of 
2 to 3 storey terraces, altered and re-purposed over the twentieth century, and 
currently used as The Bourbon Hotel.

7. The Empire is located at 32-32A Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point. The site is legally 
described as Lot 1 DP 510235 and has a total area of 443 square metres. The Empire 
is shown at Figure 6 below. The Empire (32-32A Darlinghurst Road) is a modernist 3 
storey mixed use building with a curved corner dating to 1961. It once housed Les 
Girls, Carousel Lounge and the Palladium nightclubs and is currently known as The 
Empire Hotel. 

8. Darlinghurst Road is a main road, servicing vehicular and pedestrian traffic. The 
precinct is characterised by mostly small scale, fine grain commercial buildings of 
around 3 to 4 storeys interspersed with some larger sites and taller buildings. These 
include The Bourbon, The Empire, Wintergarden, Kings Cross Library and most 
significantly, the development known as 'Omnia', located at the intersection of 
Darlinghurst Road, Bayswater Road and Victoria Street. Surrounding development is 
mixed in scale and form, varying from two storey Victorian terraces to multi-storey 
residential flat buildings. 

The Bourbon Kingsley Hall

The Empire

5



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Figure 4: Kingsley Hall at 1A Elizabeth Bay Road, Potts Point

Figure 5: The facade of The Bourbon at 22-24 Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point

6



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Figure 6: The Empire at 32-32A Darlinghurst Road, Potts PointPlanning background
9. In December 2017, a development application was lodged for the construction of a 

mixed use building containing 83 residential apartments at 18-32A Darlinghurst Road 
(D/2017/1705). The application proposed to demolish the majority of structures across 
these sites. The community raised very strong concerns about the proposal's scale 
and impacts on heritage, amenity and the cultural identity of the area. The City's 
planning staff advised the applicant of considerable local environmental plan (LEP) 
and DCP non-compliances, and of the proposal's overall inconsistency with the site's 
character and context. The applicant withdrew the application on the City's 
recommendation due to these significant issues. 

10. On 18 February 2018, Council resolved to commission an urban design study of 
Darlinghurst Road. The resolution requested the study identify principles for the site, 
audit the current planning controls for improvements and consult with the community. 
Council also requested the City's Design Advisory Panel establish a sub-committee to 
guide the study's progress.

11. A heritage assessment has also been carried out by PTW Architects which analyses 
the pattern of development for 18-32A Darlinghurst Road and makes 
recommendations regarding the site's heritage significance, including the listing of the 
abovementioned items. This is discussed in detail further in this report.

Current planning controls
12. The Darlinghurst Road precinct is zoned B2 Local Centre. The objectives of the zone 

are to provide a range of retail, business, entertainment and community uses, 
encourage employment opportunities, maximise public transport use and encourage 
walking and cycling. The objectives allow for appropriate residential uses to support 
the vitality of local centres.  

13. 1A Elizabeth Bay Road has a maximum floor space ratio (FSR) of 3.5:1, and a 
maximum building height of 22m, which allows up to 6 storeys. 18-32A Darlinghurst 

7



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Road has a maximum FSR of 3.5:1. 18-20 Darlinghurst Road has a maximum building 
height of 30m, which allows up to 10 storeys. 22-28 Darlinghurst Road, 30-30B 
Darlinghurst Road and 32-32A Darlinghurst Road all have a maximum building height 
of 22m, allowing up to six storeys. 

14. Darlinghurst Road is within the Potts Point Elizabeth Bay Heritage Conservation Area 
which extends from the Garden Island Naval Depot in the north to Kings Cross Road in 
the South. The western boundary roughly follows Victoria Street, with Ward Avenue 
forming its eastern boundary. About three quarters of buildings within the Darlinghurst 
Road precinct are identified as contributing to the significance of the conservation 
area. 

Community consultation
15. Community consultation has been conducted as part of Council's review of the existing 

planning framework. CRED Consulting, Micromex Research and People, Place and 
Partnership were commissioned to undertake an online survey and workshop to better 
understand the community's views about the character, built form and experience of 
Darlinghurst Road, both now and in the future. The community workshop held on 5 
July 2018 was attended by 76 community members and the online survey was 
completed by about 250 people.

16. The workshop centred on five activities. The activities asked participants to 
characterise the area, reflect on recent changes in the precinct, document their 
experiences along the street, and identify architecture they liked in the context of 
Darlinghurst Road. 

17. The key issues and themes identified in the consultation include:

(a) Change - the views of the local community towards change are mixed. The area 
is evolving in ways perceived to be both positive and negative.

(b) Local character - the local community values the unique buildings and places, 
heritage and eccentric spirit of Darlinghurst Road, and believe its diversity should 
be protected.

(c) Darlinghurst Road as a high street - non-residential uses along Darlinghurst 
Road should not be reduced as these contribute to its vibrancy. The precinct 
should continue to fulfil its role as a diverse, unique retail and commercial local 
centre.

(d) Vacancy rates and maintenance - there is a strong desire amongst respondents 
to see the number of vacant tenancies reduce along Darlinghurst Road, and for 
the general maintenance and care for buildings improve.

(e) Local architecture - there is a desire to protect and celebrate the collection of 
heritage, Art Deco and Victorian era buildings, as well as those with cultural and 
historical significance. A variety of architectural styles, scales, and materials are 
preferred, as are unique and detailed buildings.

8



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

18. The online survey also asked specific questions about the social, cultural and historical 
value of The Bourbon and The Empire. A large number of responses noted that these 
sites were important due to their iconic nature, historic, architectural and aesthetic 
significance and contribution to local character and streetscape. 50 per cent of 
respondents stated the Empire Hotel was significant from a social, cultural or historical 
perspective with 29 per cent of respondents stating it is significant to the LGBTQI+ 
community as the former site of Les Girls.

19. The community consultation has provided Council with insight into the values and 
concerns of the local community and has directly informed the planning proposal, as 
well as the proposed planning controls. Community feedback has affirmed Council's 
review and the resulting local heritage listings and approach to heritage conservation 
and the need to preserve the character of Darlinghurst Road. 

Urban Design Study and Draft Development Control Plan
20. In February 2018, Council commissioned an Urban Design Study to provide an 

indicative design strategy for 18-32A Darlinghurst Road, illustrate how good design 
can achieve better outcomes within the current controls and establish design principles 
for the site. Key recommendations of the study include a building envelope for 18-32A 
Darlinghurst Road with a compliant solar access envelope, retention of buildings which 
have been identified as having heritage significance, setbacks for upper levels and 
retaining a fine grain character. 

21. A site-specific draft DCP has been prepared to ensure development on Darlinghurst 
Road conserves and respects heritage, provides appropriate land uses that support 
the zoning objectives, and maintains and contributes to the area's distinct local 
character. The draft DCP has been informed by the studies and consultation. It 
proposes controls for a mix of land uses, built form including setbacks and shadow 
lines, heritage conservation, architectural articulation and urban grain. These controls 
reflect the community's desire for buildings with visual appeal, uniqueness and human 
scale, and seek to achieve a balance and diversity of uses that will continue to serve 
the local community and visitors from further afield.

Assessment of heritage significance
22. The Heritage Council of NSW guidelines outline seven criteria of local heritage 

significance to determine whether an item warrants local listing. Only one of these 
seven criteria needs to be satisfied at the local level for local heritage listing.

23. Kingsley Hall, the facade of The Bourbon and The Empire have been assessed 
against the seven Heritage Council criteria and meet the threshold for listing as 
heritage items of local significance. The heritage assessment was completed by PTW 
Architects in August 2018 and is appended to the planning proposal at Attachment A. 
The assessment was based on internal and external site inspections, and research 
and review of documentary evidence, including existing inventory sheets in the State 
Heritage Inventory.

9



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

24. The assessment by PTW Architects found that Kingsley Hall satisfies at least six of the 
Heritage Council's listing criteria at a local level for its historic evolution, historic 
association, social significance, aesthetic characteristics, representativeness and 
research value. The assessment concluded Kingsley Hall has local heritage 
significance for its internal and external fabric, including the information it yields on the 
design, construction and use of luxury flats within the City of Sydney prior to World 
War II. Aesthetically, its significant external features include its well-preserved form 
and prominent elements such as its face brick Art Deco facade. The statement of 
significance for Kingsley Hall reads:

Kingsley Hall is a fine example of a purpose built Inter-War Art Deco 
apartment building designed by the celebrated Sydney architect Emil 
Sodersteen. Being well sited on the corner of Darlinghurst Road and 
Barncleuth Square, and now overlooking Fitzroy Gardens, it is an 
important urban element within Potts Potts. Tightly and efficiently planned, 
each apartment commands a northerly aspect with views overlooking Potts 
Point and Sydney Harbour.

25. The facade of The Bourbon satisfies all seven of the Heritage Council's listing criteria, 
including the criterion for rarity. The assessment concluded The Bourbon has high 
historic significance, through its long relationship with its former residential use, private 
hospital and nightclub uses. The facade of The Bourbon and the external space facing 
onto the street, which is recommended to be listed, has moderate aesthetic and high 
social significance. External features include its well-preserved form and prominent 
elements such as the Italianate facade with a later 1950s addition. Only the façade to 
a depth of 8 metres is proposed to be identified as significant in the listing given the 
extent of change that has occurred to the remainder of the building. The statement of 
significance for The Bourbon at 22-24 Darlinghurst Road reads:

This building is significant as it demonstrates a complex social and 
associated architectural form and is representative of change in Potts 
Point, from speculative mansion terrace built by the entrepreneur Bakewell 
Brothers for wealthy professionals to use as a private hospital, managed 
by the prominent nurse Susan Bell McGahey, to boarding house, and later 
a celebrated nightclub.

26. The Empire satisfies at least four of the Heritage Council's listing criteria, based largely 
on its social associations with its use as the former 'Les Girls' nightclub. This site has 
high historic and social significance due to its association with the area's nightlife and 
the growing acceptability of the LGBTQI community during the late 1960s to the 
1980s. The proposed listing of the Empire extends only to the site's social significance 
as there is no physical fabric worthy of retention. The draft DCP states that the building 
may be demolished and its former use is to be interpreted through the new building 
form, signage and use of the lower levels for food and drink and entertainment uses. 
The statement of significance for The Empire at 32-32A Darlinghurst Road reads:

The former Les Girls Nightclub, located on the upper floor of 32 
Darlinghurst Road, was a unique and long standing club/cabaret of 
international standing. Here the company of talented female 
impersonators, Les Girls, performed with Carlotta, Australia's first 
transgender patient. As an important part of the cosmopolitan life of 'The 
Cross' during the 1960s and 1970s, Les Girls performed within a low rise 
mixed used commercial building designed in the modernist style by the 
celebrated Sydney architect Neville Gruzman.

10



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

27. The full assessment against each criterion is contained in the heritage inventories 
appended to Attachment A.

Proposed amendments
28. The planning proposal at Attachment A seeks to protect the heritage significance of 

Kingsley Hall at 1A Elizabeth Bay Road, the facade of The Bourbon at 22-24 
Darlinghurst Road, and The Empire at 32-32A Darlinghurst Road, to provide for 
sympathetic redevelopment at 18-32A Darlinghurst Road. To achieve this it is 
proposed to amend Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 to:

(a) list Kingsley Hall at 1A Elizabeth Bay Road, Potts Point, as a heritage item in 
Schedule 5;

(b) list the facade of The Bourbon (to a depth of 8 metres) at 22-24 Darlinghurst 
Road, Potts Point, as a heritage item in Schedule 5; and 

(c) list The Empire at 32-32A Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point, as a heritage item in 
Schedule 5.

29. The listing of Kingsley Hall and the facade of The Bourbon will ensure valuable 
physical fabric is retained, and will allow present and future generations to understand 
the breadth of Australia’s early 20th century and Inter-War architectural heritage. The 
listing of The Empire for its social significance will ensure it is recognised for its iconic 
nature, and its significance as a socio-cultural institution (particularly to the LGBTQI+ 
community) is respected and conserved. The identification of these items will ensure 
any future development of 18-32A Darlinghurst Road considers the heritage value and 
significance of these buildings, and encourages sympathetic built form and uses. 
Conservation and interpretation of these items is consistent with the community's 
aspiration to retain the eclectic mix of heritage buildings on Darlinghurst Road. The 
urban design study has accommodated the retention of the Bourbon façade in the built 
the form enabling development potential to be achieved subject to having a mix of 
residential and non-residential land uses consistent with the zone objectives.

Planning proposal process
30. Should the Central Sydney Planning Committee (CSPC) and Council endorse the 

planning proposal for exhibition, it will be forwarded to the Greater Sydney 
Commission in accordance with section 56 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979. The Greater Sydney Commission or its delegate in the 
Department of Planning and Environment will then provide a Gateway Determination 
on whether the planning proposal should proceed.

Delegation of Minister's plan-making functions
31. In October 2012, the Minister for Planning and Infrastructure delegated his plan-

making functions to councils to improve the local plan-making process. In December 
2012, Council resolved to accept the delegation. 

32. Council needs to receive an authorisation on a case by case basis to exercise the 
delegation. The authorisation is given through the gateway process and may be for 
spot re-zonings consistent with surrounding zones and matters of local significance. 
Exercising the delegation means a faster plan-making process.

11



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

33. The report notes the recommendation to the Council’s Transport, Heritage and 
Planning Committee meeting on 10 September 2018 that Council seek authority to 
exercise the delegation of the relevant plan making authority for all functions under 
section 3.36 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 to make the 
local environmental plan.

Key Implications

Strategic Alignment - Sustainable Sydney 2030 Vision
34. Sustainable Sydney 2030 is a vision for the sustainable development of the City to 

2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City, as 
well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. This planning proposal is 
aligned with the following strategic direction and objectives:

(a) Direction 9 - Sustainable development, renewal and design: The conservation of 
heritage buildings is essential to creating great streets that reflect the unique 
identify of local communities and are enjoyable to visit.

Strategic Alignment - Eastern City District Plan
35. The Eastern City District Plan sets the local planning context for the City of Sydney 

local government area. It provides a 20-year plan to manage growth and achieve the 
40-year vision of the Greater Sydney Region Plan at a district level and is a bridge 
between regional and local planning.

36. The Eastern City District Plan identifies 22 planning priorities and associated actions 
that are important to achieving a liveable, productive and sustainable future for the 
district, including the alignment of infrastructure with growth.

37. This planning proposal gives effect to Planning Priority E6: Creating and renewing 
great places and local centres, and respecting the District’s heritage.

Social / Cultural / Community
38. The Planning Proposal responds to issues and concerns raised by the local 

community concerning the heritage significance of buildings and sites along 
Darlinghurst Road. The proposed heritage listings seek to conserve the physical and 
social significance of sites identified as having heritage value. 

Relevant Legislation

39. The Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979.

40. The Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000.

12



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Public Consultation

41. The public authority consultation and exhibition process for the planning proposal will 
be subject to the conditions on the gateway determination issued by the relevant plan 
making authority. The consultation will take place in accordance with the gateway 
determination under section 3.34 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 
1979 and the relevant provisions of the Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Regulation 2000.

42. The planning proposal will be notified in the following ways:

(a) on the City of Sydney website;

(b) in newspapers that circulate widely in the City of Sydney Local 
Government Area; and

(c) in writing to the owners, the adjoining landowners, relevant community 
groups, and the surrounding community in the immediate vicinity of the sites.

43. The City intends to exhibit the Draft DCP as soon as possible so it can be 
implemented to guide any future development application. The exhibition of the 
planning proposal is likely to happen after the Draft DCP is exhibited as additional time 
is needed to receive the gateway determination.

44. Following any public authority consultation and public exhibition, the outcomes will be 
reported to the CSPC and Council.

GRAHAM JAHN AM

Director City Planning, Development and Transport

Anna Kaskanlian, Planner

13



Attachment A 

Planning Proposal – Proposed heritage 
items, Potts Point: Kingsley Hall, 1A 

Elizabeth Bay Road; The Bourbon Hotel, 22-
24 Darlinghurst Road; The Empire Hotel, 

32-32A Darlinghurst Road  
 

Appendix 1: Heritage Assessment 18-32 A 
Darlinghurst Road, 2 Roslyn Street, Potts 

Point – PTW Architects 
 

Appendix 2: Inventory sheets

14



 

 

Planning Proposal  
– Proposed heritage items,  
Potts Point:  
Kingsley Hall, 1A Elizabeth Bay Road;  
The Bourbon Hotel, 22-24 Darlinghurst Road;  
The Empire Hotel, 32-32A Darlinghurst Road. 

 

City of Sydney 
Town Hall House 
456 Kent Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 

August 2018  

 
 

15



 

  

 

Contents 
Introduction ............................................................................................................... 2 
Background ............................................................................................................... 2 
Part 1 – Objectives or intended outcomes ................................................................. 4 
Part 2 – Explanation of the provisions ....................................................................... 4 
Part 3 – Justification .................................................................................................. 5 
Part 4 – Mapping ..................................................................................................... 11 
Part 5 – Community consultation............................................................................. 11 
Part 6 – Project timeline .......................................................................................... 12 
Appendices ............................................................................................................. 12 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Cover image: Studio Zanardo, Urban Design Study, Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point Streetscape - Elevations Study, 
July 2018 
  

16



 

  

 

Introduction 
This planning proposal explains the intent of, and justification for, the proposed 
amendment to Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (SLEP 2012). The 
amendment will identify three heritage items for inclusion in Schedule 5 located in 
Potts Point. 
The proposal has been prepared in accordance with Section 3.33 of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (the Act) and the relevant 
Department of Planning guidelines, including ‘A Guide to Preparing Local 
Environmental Plans’ and ‘A Guide to Preparing Planning Proposals’. 
 

Background 
Site identification 
This planning proposal relates to the following places within Potts Point, as 
described in Part 3 and mapped in Part 5: 

• Kingsley Hall, 1A Elizabeth Bay Road - Lot 1 DP 191425 
• The Bourbon Hotel, (formerly The Bourbon and Beefsteak), (part) 22-24 

Darlinghurst Road – part of Lot 1 DP 1097710 

• The Empire Hotel, 32-32A Darlinghurst Road - Lot 1 DP 510235 
Kingsley Hall is privately owned by various parties under Strata Plan No 10070. It 
comprises a ten-storey Art Deco apartment block, constructed with a concrete frame 
and clad in distinctive red face textured brickwork with Aztec motifs incorporated 
within the detailing of the brick parapets.  
The Bourbon Hotel is privately owned by Piccadilly Freehold Pty Limited. It 
comprises two early 20th century mansion-style terrace houses, with Italianate 
detailing, plus a 1950s extension which have been incorporated into entertainment 
facility. 
The Empire Hotel is also privately owned by Piccadilly Freehold Pty Limited. It is a 
three-storey commercial/entertainment building constructed in 1962. 

Planning background 
Following a recent development application submitted for 18-32 Darlinghurst Road, 
Potts Point (D2017/1705) involving demolition of the majority of structures in this 
location, and the subsequent community response to this proposal, the City of 
Sydney commissioned a heritage assessment of 18-32A Darlinghurst Road, 1A 
Elizabeth Bay Road and 2 Roslyn Street. The primary purpose of this heritage study 
is to confirm which properties on these sites should be considered for heritage 
listing. 
The City commissioned PTW Architects to carry out this heritage assessment, and to 
subsequently prepare inventory sheets for any potential heritage items. The heritage 
assessment is included at Appendix 1. This report identifies 3 buildings as potential 
heritage. Draft inventory sheets for these items are attached at Appendix 2. This 
planning proposal is to include these items into Schedule 5 of Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012. 

17



 

  

 

Study area and scope 
The heritage study investigates the heritage significance of the block bounded by 
Darlinghurst Road, Roslyn Street, Barncleuth Lane and Elizabeth Bay Road 
(Barncleuth Square) in Potts Point. This is shown in Figure 1. 

Figure 1: Study area shaded yellow 

 

Study findings 
The heritage study report is included at Appendix 1.This study concludes that of the 
sites investigated, three have a high degree of heritage significance that warrants 
their potential listing as heritage items on Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012.  

Assessment of significance for listing 
The Heritage Council of NSW guideline outlines seven criteria of local heritage 
significance to determine whether an item warrants local listing. Only one of these 
seven criteria needs to be satisfied at the local level for local heritage listing. The 
proposed sites satisfy one or more of these Heritage Council criteria of local heritage 
significance for local listing. It is noted some may also be state significant, however 
this comparative level of importance is determined by the Heritage Council of NSW, 
and is not required for local listing. 
Progressing local heritage listing for the proposed heritage items will ensure the local 
heritage significance of these properties is appropriately considered and maintained 
as part of future plans or redevelopment. 

 

 

18



 

  

 

Part 1 – Objectives or intended 
outcomes 
The objective of the planning proposal is to recognise and protect the heritage 
significance of these buildings in Potts Point, as identified in Part 2.  
The intended outcomes to achieve these objectives are to: 

• List buildings or complexes in Potts Point as heritage items in Schedule 5 of 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (SLEP2012) as follows: 

− Kingsley Hall, 1A Elizabeth Bay Road - Lot 1 DP 191425 

− The Bourbon Hotel, (formerly The Bourbon and Beefsteak), (part) 22-
24 Darlinghurst Road – part of Lot 1 DP 1097710 

− The Empire Hotel, 32-32A Darlinghurst Road - Lot 1 DP 510235 
 

 

Part 2 – Explanation of the provisions 
The final clauses in Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 would be subject to 
drafting and agreement by Parliamentary Counsel’s Office but may be written as 
follows to achieve the intended outcomes  

Heritage schedule amendments 
The planning proposal seeks to amend the SLEP 2012 Schedule 5 heritage 
schedule by inserting or altering the following items as shown below in Table 1. Text 
to insert is shown as bold underline. Text to omit is shown as bold strikethrough. 
 
Table 1 – Proposed amendments to Schedule 5, Environmental heritage, Part 
1, heritage items 
 

Locality Item name Address 
Property 
description Significance 

Item 
no. 

Potts Point Kingsley Hall 
including 
interiors 

1A 
Elizabeth 
Bay Road  

Lot 1 DP 
191425 

Local I2289 

Potts Point (part) The 
Bourbon Hotel 
including front 
façade to 
depth of 8 
metres from 
front facade 

22-24 
Darlinghurst 
Road 

part of Lot 
1 DP 
1097710 

Local I2290 

Potts Point The Empire 
Hotel 

32-32A 
Darlinghurst 
Road 

Lot 1 DP 
510235 

Local I2291 

19



 

  

 

The heritage item naming convention conforms with existing listings in Schedule 5, 
which include building interiors. This is in accordance with the directions contained in 
the Standard Instrument (Local Environmental Plans) Order 2006, which require the 
item name to briefly describe significant features.   
The features noted in the above item names are described further in the supporting 
information contained in the heritage inventories included at Appendix 2. The non-
statutory heritage inventories can continue to be updated as new information 
becomes available, such as through completion of a conservation management plan. 
 

Part 3 – Justification 
Section A – Need for the planning proposal  

Q1. Is the planning proposal a result of any strategic study or report? 
Yes. The planning proposal is a result of a heritage assessment block bounded by 
Darlinghurst Road, Roslyn Street, Barncleuth Lane and Elizabeth Bay Road 
(Barncleuth Square) in Potts Point, prepared by PTW architects completed in August 
2018. The City of Sydney commissioned this strategic study in response to a 
development application for part of this site. 
The items identified in this planning proposal are recommended for investigation for 
listing in this study, with supporting draft heritage inventories. These establish that 
these recommended heritage items meet at least one of the Heritage Council criteria 
for local listing for their local heritage significance. 
The heritage study is included in Appendix 1. The draft heritage inventories are 
included at Appendix 2. 

Q2. Is the planning proposal the best means of achieving the objectives or 
intended outcomes, or is there a better way? 
Yes. Appropriate heritage protection for these three sites is best achieved through 
identification as a local heritage item in an environmental planning instrument. .  
City of Sydney has authorisation to make interim heritage orders for unlisted 
buildings under the Heritage Act 1977, however these items are included within an 
existing Conservation Area, preventing the City’s ability to make an interim heritage 
order. A more strategic approach is preferred as recommended in this planning 
proposal. No immediate threat to these buildings is known to warrant any emergency 
form of heritage protection.  
Progressing local heritage listing for these proposed heritage items will ensure the 
local heritage significance of these sites are appropriately considered and 
maintained as part of future plans or redevelopment. It will also ensure prior formal 
consultation with the land owners and broader community. These outcomes are only 
achieved in the longer term through the proposed listing.  

Section B – Relationship to strategic planning framework 

Q3. Is the planning proposal consistent with the objectives and actions 
contained within the applicable regional or sub-regional strategy? 
Yes. See comments below. 

20



 

  

 

Greater Sydney Region Plan: A Metropolis of Three Cities 
The Greater Sydney Region Plan, completed in March 2018, is the Greater Sydney 
Commission’s vision for a Greater Sydney of three cities where most residents live 
within 30 minutes of their jobs and services. City of Sydney is situated within the 
“Eastern Harbour City”.  
This plan sets a 40-year vision (to 2056) and establishes a 20-year plan to manage 
growth and change for Greater Sydney in the context of social, economic and 
environmental matters. This sets out how the State Government’s 10 directions for a 
Greater Sydney are to be implemented through integrated planning. These 10 
directions, with 40 supporting objectives, address infrastructure, liveability, 
productivity and sustainability. This planning proposal is consistent with these high 
level directions and objectives. In particular it addresses the liveability great places 
direction objective: 
Objective 13: Environmental heritage is identified conserved and enhanced 

By proposing to consult the community for listing these new heritage items, this 
planning proposal will fulfil this object. 

Eastern City District Plan 
The Eastern City District Plan completed by the Greater Sydney Commission in 
March 2018 is a 20-year plan to manage growth in the context of economic, social 
and environmental matters. The district plan identifies 22 planning priorities and 
associated actions that support a liveable, productive and sustainable future for the 
district. This planning proposal gives effect to the following key planning priority and 
actions: 
Liveability Planning Priority E6 – Creating and renewing great places and local 
centres, and respecting the District’s heritage 

Action 26 - Identify, conserve and enhance environmental heritage by:  

(a) engaging with the community early in the planning process to understand 
heritage values and how they contribute to the significance of the place  

(b) applying adaptive re-use and interpreting heritage to foster distinctive local 
places  

(c) managing and monitoring the cumulative impact of development on the 
heritage values and character of places. 

This priority seeks to enhance the district’s liveability by identifying, conserving and 
enhancing the heritage place-makers in local centres and neighbourhoods. It notes 
that heritage buildings contribute to an area’s sense of place, its distinctive 
character, and diversity of built form and uses, and bring people together. Conserved 
heritage buildings are some of the attributes of liveable great places acknowledged 
in this plan, which attract residents, workers, visitors, enterprise and investment into 
centres. 
In proposing to consult the community to identify these sites of assessed local 
heritage significance, this planning proposal will address the district plan by 
encouraging the retention and continued use of these place-makers, as part of the 
distinctive identity of central Sydney.  
Early informal engagement with the community on proposed planning controls for the 
block indicated support for acknowledging local significance of these buildings and 
the function over the years.  

21



 

  

 

Subsequent community consultation has been conducted as part of Council's review 
of the existing planning framework. CRED Consulting and Micromex Research and 
People, Place and Partnership were commissioned to undertake an online survey 
and workshop with the local community to better understand views concerning 
character, built form and experience along Darlinghurst Road, both now and in the 
future. 
The consultation asked specific questions about the social, cultural or historical value 
or significance of The Bourbon and The Empire Hotel with a large number of 
responses noting that these sites were important to them, with particular focus on 
their iconic nature, historic, architectural and aesthetic significance, contribution to 
local character and streetscape, and in the case of The Empire Hotel, how it is 
considered significant to the LGBTIQ+ community. 
The community consultation has provided Council with insight into the values and 
concerns of the local community and has directly informed the proposed planning 
controls. 

Q4. Is the planning proposal consistent with council’s local strategy or other 
local strategic plan? 
Yes. See comments below. 

Sustainable Sydney 2030 Strategic Plan 
The City’s Sustainable Sydney 2030 Strategic Plan is the vision for the sustainable 
development of the City to 2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to 
guide the future of the City, as well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. 
This planning proposal is consistent with the key directions of Sustainable Sydney 
2030, particular Direction 7 for ‘A Cultural and Creative City. 
The planning proposal identifies these sites in Potts Point as heritage items, thereby 
providing for their conservation, a diversity of building stock in their vicinity and 
allowing future generations to understand the historic development of Kings Cross. 
The listing will ensure future development considers and maintains the heritage 
significance of these sites.  

Q5. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable State Environmental 
Planning Policies (SEPPs)? 
Yes. The planning proposal is consistent with and does not contradict or hinder 
application of the following applicable State Environmental Planning Policies 
(SEPPs): 

• SEPP No 1—Development Standards 
• SEPP No 33—Hazardous and Offensive Development 

• SEPP No 64—Advertising and Signage 

• SEPP No 65—Design Quality of Residential Flat Development 
• SEPP (Building Sustainability Index: BASIX) 2004 

• SEPP (Educational Establishments and Child Care Facilities) 2017 

• SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007 
• SEPP (Miscellaneous Consent Provisions) 2007 

• SEPP (State and Regional Development) 2011 

22



 

  

 

The planning proposal is consistent with and does not contradict or hinder 
application of the following applicable with former Regional Environmental Plan 
(REP) for the Sydney and Greater Metropolitan Regions, which is deemed to have 
the weight of SEPPs: 

• Sydney REP (Sydney Harbour Catchment) 2005 

Q6. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable ministerial directions 
(s.117 directions)? 
The planning proposal has been assessed against each Section 117 direction. The 
consistency of the planning proposal with these directions is shown in the table 
below.  

Table 2 – Consistency of the planning proposal with ministerial directions 

No Ministerial direction Comment 

1.1 Business and Industrial Zones Consistent. The planning proposal will not reduce the total 
potential floor space area for employment uses and related 
public services in business zones.  

1.2 Rural Zones Not applicable 

1.3 Mining, Petroleum Production 
and Extractive Industries 

Not applicable 

1.4 Oyster Aquaculture Not applicable 

1.5 Rural Lands Not applicable 

2.1 Environment Protection Zones Not applicable 

2.2 Coastal Protection Not applicable 

2.3 Heritage Conservation Consistent. This planning proposal provides for the 
conservation of heritage items. 

2.4 Recreation Vehicle Areas Not applicable 

3.1 Residential Zones Not applicable 

3.2 Caravan Parks and 
Manufactured Home Estates 

Not applicable 

3.3 Home Occupations Not applicable 

3.4 Integrating Land Use and 
Transport 

Consistent.  

3.5 Development Near Licensed 
Aerodromes 

Not applicable 

3.6 Shooting Ranges Not applicable 

23



 

  

 

No Ministerial direction Comment 

4.1 Acid Sulphate Soils Consistent. This planning proposal does not contradict or 
hinder application of acid sulphate soils provisions in Sydney 
LEP 2012. 

4.2 Mine Subsidence and Unstable 
Land 

Not applicable 

4.3 Flood Prone Land Not applicable 

4.4 Planning for Bushfire 
Protection 

Not applicable 

5.1 Implementation of Regional 
Strategies 

Consistent. This planning proposal is consistent with key 
strategic goals and directions within the Greater Sydney 
Region Plan and the District as outlined above. 

5.2 Sydney Drinking Water 
Catchments 

Not applicable 

5.3 Farmland of State and 
Regional Significance on the 
NSW Far North Coast 

Not applicable 

5.4 Commercial and Retail 
Development along the Pacific 
Highway, North Coast 

Not applicable 

5.8 Second Sydney Airport, 
Badgerys Creek 

Not applicable 

5.9 North West Rail Link Corridor 
Strategy 

Not applicable 

5.10 Implementation of Regional 
Plans 

Consistent. As addressed above. 

6.1 Approval and Referral 
Requirements 

Consistent. This planning proposal does not include any 
concurrence, consultation or referral provisions nor does it 
identify any development as designated development. 

6.2 Reserving Land for Public 
Purposes 

Consistent. This planning proposal will not affect any land 
reserved for public purposes. 

6.3 Site Specific Provisions Consistent. This planning proposal does not introduce 
unnecessarily restrictive site specific controls. 

7.1 Implementation of A Plan for 
Growing Sydney  Consistent. This planning proposal is consistent with this 

direction and does not hinder implementation of A Plan for 
Growing Sydney or the Greater Sydney Region Plan 

7.2 Implementation of Greater 
Macarthur Land Release 
Investigation 

Not applicable 

7.3 Parramatta Road Corridor 
Urban Transformation Strategy Not applicable 

24



 

  

 

No Ministerial direction Comment 

7.4 Implementation of North West 
Priority Growth Area Land Use 
and Infrastructure 
Implementation Plan 

Not applicable 

7.5 Implementation of Greater 
Parramatta Priority Growth 
Area Interim Land Use and 
Infrastructure Implementation 
Plan 

Not applicable 

7.6 Implementation of Wilton 
Priority Growth Area Interim 
Land Use and Infrastructure 
Implementation Plan 

Not applicable 

Section C – Environmental, social and economic impact 

Q7. Is there any likelihood that critical habitat or threatened species, 
populations or ecological communities, or their habitats, will be adversely 
affected as a result of the proposal? 
No. The planning proposal is unlikely to adversely affect any critical habitat or 
threatened species, populations or ecological communities or their habitats.  

Q8. Are there any other likely environmental effects as a result of the planning 
proposal and how are they proposed to be managed? 
No. It is unlikely that the proposed amendment to the heritage schedule of SLEP 
2012 will result in development creating any environmental effects that cannot 
readily be controlled. 

Q9. How has the planning proposal adequately addressed any social and 
economic effects? 
Identification of these heritage items in Potts Point will facilitate retention of buildings 
that may have significance to community. No changes to the zoning are proposed. 
The merit-based heritage provisions provide capacity for Council and any proponent 
to take into account these matters when development is proposed. Listing may 
activate conservation incentives for listed buildings, including flexible uses. 

Section D: State and Commonwealth interests 

Q10. Is there adequate public infrastructure for the planning proposal? 
Yes. The proposed properties to be identified as heritage items are well located in 
relation to existing public transport infrastructure, utility services, roads and essential 
services. 

Q11. What are the views of State and Commonwealth public authorities 
consulted in the gateway determination? 
The Heritage Council of NSW will be consulted during the public exhibition. The 
identification of these heritage items, based on a comprehensive heritage 
assessment, is consistent with Heritage Council standards.  
It is not considered necessary to consult with other public authorities as the planning 
proposal relates to the listing of local heritage items that are privately owned.  

25



 

  

 

Local heritage listing will identify heritage impacts as a consideration if public works 
are proposed for the identified sites, however will not constrain Crown development. 
 

Part 4 – Mapping 
The heritage map tiles HER_022 will be updated to shade in brown the location of 
the new heritage items. The heritage map extract at Figure 2 show the new heritage 
items.  

Figure 2: Kingsley Hall, The Bourbon Hotel & The Empire Hotel, items 2289-
2291 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Part 5 – Community consultation 
Public Exhibition 
The public authority consultation and exhibition process for the planning proposal will 
be subject to the conditions on the gateway determination issued by the Greater 
Sydney Commission. The consultation will take place in accordance with the 
gateway determination under section 3.34 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979 and the relevant provisions of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Regulation 2000. 
A 28-day public exhibition is recommended with notification: 

• on the City of Sydney website; 
• in newspapers that circulate widely in the City of Sydney Local Government 

Area; and 

 

26



 

  

 

• in writing to the owners, the adjoining landowners, relevant community groups, 
and the surrounding community in the immediate vicinity of the sites. 

 

Part 6 – Project timeline 
The anticipated timeframe for the completion of the planning proposal is as follows: 

Table 3 – Anticipated timeframe for planning proposal 

Action Anticipated date 

Commencement / gateway determination October 2018 
Public exhibition & government agency 
consultation 

November 2018 

Consideration of submissions December 2018 – January 2019 
Post exhibition consideration of proposal February 2019 
Draft and finalise LEP  February 2019 
LEP made (if delegated) March 2019 
Plan forwarded to DoPE for notification March 2019 

 

Appendices 
1. Heritage Assessment: 18-32A Darlinghurst Road, 2 

Roslyn Street, Potts Point, 22 June 2018. 
 

2. Draft Heritage inventories for recommended heritage 
items 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

27



 

1 

 

23 August 2018 (FINAL, Rev C) 
 
 

Heritage Assessment 
  
1A Elizabeth Bay Road, 18‐32 Darlinghurst Rd and 
2 Roslyn St, Potts Point  
 
For City of Sydney  
   

28



 

2 

 

PTW Architects 

Level 11, 88 Phillip Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 Australia 
T +61 2 9232 5877 
 
 
 
 

Copyright 

Historical sources and reference material used in the preparation of this report are acknowledged 

and referenced at the end of each section and/or in figure captions. Reasonable effort has been 

made to identify, contact, acknowledge and obtain permission to use material from the relevant 

copyright owners. Unless otherwise specified or agreed, copyright in this report vests in PTW 

Architects and in the owners of any pre‐existing historic source or reference material. 

 

Moral Rights 

Except to the extent otherwise expressly stated, each author of this work asserts his or her moral 

rights in the work. 

 

Right to Use 

Grant of license 

PTW grants to the client for this project (and the client's successors in title) an irrevocable, 

royalty‐free right to reproduce or use the material from this work for the purposes of the project 

only, except where such use infringes the moral rights of authors of this work or any intellectual 

property rights of a third party. 

 

Version Control  

Issue  Date   Comment  Author 

A  4 May 2018  DRAFT Rev A Issue  PTW Architects 

B  23 June 2018  DRAFT Rev B Issue  PTW Architects 

C  23 August 2018  FINAL Rev C Issue  PTW Architects 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Front Cover: Darlinghurst Road with 18‐32A Darlinghurst Road shown to the right. Image: The Home, 1934 

 

   

29



 

3 

 

Contents 
     

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
1.1 Background and Objectives of the Study 
1.2 Location and site context 
1.3 Heritage Listings 
1.4 Methodology and Terminology 
1.5 Limitations 
1.6 Author Identification 

1.7 Terminology and Abbreviations 
2.0 DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE 
2.1 Introduction 
2.2 Thematic History 

2.3 Phase 1: The Villas of Darlinghurst (to c. 1850) 
2.4 Phase 2: Subdivision for Townhouses & Mansions (1850‐1907) 
2.4.1 Fordon, 32 Darlinghurst Road 
2.4.2 Lowestoft, 20 Darlinghurst Road 
2.4.3 Lister and Lynn, 26‐28 Darlinghurst Road 
2.4.4 St Louis (later The Russell) and Charlemount, 22‐24 Darlinghurst Road, 1904 
2.4.5 The Charlemount Private Hospital, 24 Darlinghurst Road 
2.5 Phase 3: Boarding Houses (from 1907 ‐ 1924) 
2.5.1 Lowestoft, 20 Darlinghurst Road 
2.5.2 St Louis (later The Russell), 22 Darlinghurst Road 
2.5.3 The Charlemount, 24 Darlinghurst Road 
2.5.4 Uralla and Lynn, 26‐28 Darlinghurst Road 
2.6 Phase 4: The Flat Dweller (1925‐ 1938) 
2.6.1 The Commodore, 20 Darlinghurst Road 
2.6.2 Clivedon Flats, 2 Roslyn Street 
2.6.3 Kingsley Hall, 18 Darlinghurst Road 
2.7 Phase 5: Private Hotels (1936‐1946) 
2.7.1 Alterations, 26‐28 Darlinghurst Road 
2.8 Phase 6: Notoriety (1947 ‐1960) 
2.9 Phase 7: The Glittering Mile (From 1961‐1974) 
2.10 Phase 8: Late Night Life (From 1975‐date) 
3.0 PHYSICAL EVIDENCE 
3.1 Introduction 
3.2 Site and Setting 
3.3 Components of the Place 
3.4 Phases of Development 
3.4.1 Exterior, including Schedule of Significant Elements 
3.4.2 Interior 
4.0 COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS 
4.1 Aims and Approach 
4.2 Introduction 
4.3 Aspects of Comparison 
4.3.1 Large ‘mansion’ Terrace Houses 
4.3.2 Inter‐War Flat Buildings 
4.3.3 World War II 
4.3.4 Sydney as a Tolerant Post‐War City 
4.4.4 Kings Cross in the Heart of Uptown Sydney, Mixed Use Commercial Buildings 
5.0 HERITAGE SIGNIFCANCE  
5.1 Introduction   
5.2 City of Sydney, Sydney Local Environmental Plan (LEP) 2012 
5.3 Historic Themes 
5.4 Assessment and Items of Significance 
 
APPENDICES 
A: Tabulation of BA Drawings relative to this study, City of Sydney Archives   

30



 

4 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

 

This heritage assessment for the properties at 1A Elizabeth Bay Road, 18‐32A Darlinghurst 
Road and 2 Roslyn Street, Potts Point has been prepared for City of Sydney by PTW 
Architects. This assessment sets out to facilitate a greater understanding of this place 
supported by the history and development of the buildings within this city block since their 
construction. The history of this city block reveals a complex pattern of change and 
evolution and an assessment of the relative heritage significance of the present buildings 
has led to differences in cultural significance being recommended. 
 
The flat building Kingsley Hall at 1A Elizabeth Bay Road, Potts Point forms the northernmost 
portion of this city group of buildings. Dating to 1929, this building has heritage significance 
yielding information on the design, construction and use of luxury flats within the City of 
Sydney before WW II. External features include its well‐preserved form and prominent 
elements such as its face brick Art Deco façade. Having landmark character and links to the 
past through historic photography, Kingsley Hall building should continue to be used for 
residential purposes in a way that conserves its significant fabric. 
 
The three‐storey former terrace group at 22‐24 Darlinghurst Road, now forming part of The 
Bourbon Hotel also has heritage significance. This terrace group has high historic 
significance through its long relationship with former residential use, private hospital and 
nightclub uses; this being representative of the changes to the community of Potts Point. 
The façade of this building group, and the external space facing onto the street, has 
moderate aesthetic and high social significance. External features include its well‐preserved 
form and prominent elements such as the Italianate façade with later 1950s addition. 
Importantly, the social links to the past are well recorded in historic photography. The 
building elements should be conserved and reconstructed and integrated with ongoing 
mixed uses in a way that conserves its significant fabric and immediate external street edge 
spaces.  
 
Of similar heritage importance is The Empire Hotel, containing the site of the former Les 
Girls night club. The setting for this place has high historic and social significance as 
demonstrated through its relationship with the area’s nightclub use and the growing 
acceptability for the LGBTQI community; this being representative of the community within 
Potts Point. Importantly, the social links to the past are well recorded in historic 
photography. Elements of the building, including the performance space and signage, 
should be reinterpreted and integrated with new uses in a way that conserves the social 
significance of this important place. 
 
The multistorey buildings including Lowestoft at 20 Darlinghurst Road, The Commodore at 
30 Darlinghurst Road and former Clivedon Flats at 2 Roslyn Street, have been identified as 
contributory items within the Potts Point Heritage Conservation Area (HCA). These three 
properties continue to meet the criteria established by the City of Sydney for contributory 
items as outlined in the City of Sydney Development Control Plan 2012. 
 
This report is set out under five sections. The substance of Documentary Evidence is 
contained under Section 2 while the Physical Analysis is contained under Section 3. 
Recommendations regarding Heritage Significance, the conclusion of this report, are 
contained within Section 5. 

 

 

 

 
   

31



 

5 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
 
1.1 Background and Objectives of the Study 
 
This Heritage Assessment for 1A Elizabeth Bay Road, 18‐32A Darlinghurst Road and 2 Roslyn 
Street, Potts Point has been prepared for The Council of the City of Sydney. The subject 
properties, located within a Conservation Area of local heritage significance. 
 
 
1.2 Location and Site Context 
 
The city block containing the subject sites is located on the east side of Darlinghurst Road 
and is bounded by Barncleuth Square and Fitzroy Gardens to the north, Roslyn Street to the 
south and Barncleuth Lane to the east.  
 
The building group consists of a mixture of 3 – 10 storey buildings, which are constructed of 
rendered and/or face brick and built in a variety of architectural styles, with the earliest 
building in this group dating to the 1890s. Consisting of ground floor retail and hospitality 
uses, bars, residential flats and tourist accommodation, the existing building group forms a 
varied yet distinctly cohesive city block within an historic streetscape (refer Figure1).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 1: Site Plan. Image: SIX Maps 

 
   

32



 

6 

 

1.3 Heritage Listings  
 
The building group of this study area forms part of the Potts Point Conservation Area (refer 
figure 2).  
 
The following extract from the State Heritage Inventory notes:  
 
Statement of Significance: 
 
The Potts Point Conservation Area provides evidence of the subdivision of the early land 
grants and the consolidation of development in Potts Point during the nineteenth and 
twentieth centuries, reflecting the evolution of the locality from a district of substantial 
nineteenth century villas, to one characterised by terraces of late nineteenth and early 
twentieth century interspersed with early to mid‐twentieth century apartment housing and 
several surviving grand houses. Together with adjoining Elizabeth Bay and Rushcutters 
Bay, nowhere else in Australia were apartments built to this height or level of density. This 
creates streetscapes of strong urban form and Victorian, Federation and Inter ‐ war 
character.  
 
The area provides building types which represents the last 150 years of development and 
coexist in a harmonious way. Despite the intrusive nature of later high‐rise towers, whose 
impact is disproportionate to their proportion of built area, the area provides a highly 
cohesive character although the towers visually dominate the background of low scale 
streetscapes.  
 
The commercial strip along Darlinghurst Road, together with Fitzroy Gardens and the El 
Alamein Fountain, provide a continuing civic and visual focus for the area. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 2: Heritage Map – Sheet HER_022 (extract). Image: City of Sydney LEP 2012. 

 
Physical Description 
 
The Conservation Area adjoins Garden Island Naval Depot to the north. The boundary 
follows roughly the rear of properties that front the western side of Victoria Street whilst 
Kings Cross Road forms its southern boundary. Ward Avenue and the rear of properties 
fronting Macleay Street are along its eastern boundary.  

33



 

7 

 

The area slopes north along Victoria Street and Macleay Street which is the highest point. 
The area has a dense urban character. Around Victoria Street and Tusculum Street the 
scale is predominantly three storey Victorian Terraces. Around Rockwall Crescent, 
Manning Street and Onslow Place high early twentieth century apartments cluster around 
the original villas, Rockwall and Tusculum, on subdivided allotments.  
 
There are some fine examples of grand terraces in particularly in Challis Avenue and parts 
of Victoria Street and Rockwell Crescent. Macleay Street provides a mixture of ten storey 
high‐rise early twentieth apartment and late nineteenth three storey residential and 
commercial. Significant 20th century apartment blocks in the street include 4 Macleay 
Street, Macleay Regis at Nos 10‐12, Seldson at No 16, 20 Macleay Street, Manar at Nos 
40A ‐42, Kingsclere at No 48, Werrington at No 85, Byron Hall at Nos 97‐99 and Cahors at 
117 Macleay Street.  
 
The north‐ western side of Wylde Street, which falls within the conservation area, is a 
continuation of Macleay Street and is characterised by a number of 20th century 
residential flats, mainly two to three storeys with the exception being the post ‐ war 
International Style building at No 17, and a number of grand villas including Bomera at No 
1 and Tarana at No 1A.  
 
Darlinghurst Road forms part of a "bright light" entertainment and commercial strip, and 
features various forms of commercial and retail enterprises along with cafes, take away 
food shops, gaming venues, bars, hotels and adult entertainment venues. The built form is 
predominantly 3‐4 storey commercial with some residential.  
 
Important institutional sites include the St Vincent's School Group in Victoria Street, which 
includes a Victorian Gothic style chapel, and the Wayside Chapel.  
 
There are patches of open space provided at Springfield Gardens at the northern end of 
Springfield Avenue, Arthur McElhone Reserve in front of Elizabeth Bay House and Fitzroy 
Gardens.  
  

Street Rating for Darlinghurst Road: 
Darlinghurst Road: Predominantly 3‐4 storey commercial / residential development of 
mixed character. Strong street alignment and continuous awning. [Some] Detracting 
shopfronts.  
Rated B 

 
Further information, general: 
The area, while evidence of a dramatic change in scale was by no means a complete 
transformation of the area. [sic] Whether due to site availability or planning, the variation 
in height is a characteristic of the area. Part of its aesthetic qualities relates to the mixture 
of building scale and topographical height which creates reasonable amenity and access to 
view. The area has already reached a high level of density and increased density should be 
discouraged. Improvements to façade treatments could be encouraged by slight increased 
development potential. 

 
Information is taken from: 
http://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/heritageapp/ViewHeritageItemDetails.aspx?ID=24357
11 
 
   

34



 

8 

 

1.4 Methodology and Terminology 
 
This heritage assessment uses primary sources as well as information contained in the 
inventory sheets in the State Heritage Inventory. The study team visited the properties on 
26 April 2018 to undertake condition surveys, with access facilitated by Warren Duarte, 
Development Manager for Iris Capital. This inspection did not involve any disturbance of 
fabric as the buildings were occupied at the time of the surveys. 
 
The methodology of this assessment is guided by the study brief, dated March 2018, 
including consistency with the Burra Charter in accordance with recognised heritage 
processes. Terminology is consistent with the Burra Charter and has been prepared having 
regard to the methodology outlined in the NSW Heritage Manual guidelines for the 
preparation of Conservation Management Plans (NSW Department of Urban Affairs 
and Planning and the Heritage Council of NSW, November 1996, as amended July 2002.)  
 
This assessment also follows the approach set out in The Conservation Plan, by James 
Semple Kerr (National Trust of Australia (NSW), fifth edition, 2000) and the guidelines of The 
Burra Charter: The Australia ICOMOS Charter for the Places of Cultural Significance 2013 
(the Burra Charter). Conservation terminology used in this report is consistent with the NSW 
Heritage Manual, prepared by the NSW Heritage Office and the Burra Charter. 
 
 
1.5 Limitations 
 
This report does not include a formal Social Significance Assessment, but the social 
significance of the site has been discussed. Separately, the City of Sydney has initiated 
community consultation as part of their review of the existing planning framework for the 
site. CRED Consulting and Micromex Research and People, Place and Partnership were 
commissioned to undertake an online survey and workshop with the local community to 
better understand views concerning character, built form and experience along Darlinghurst 
Road, both now and in the future. The consultation asked specific questions about the 
social, cultural or historical value or significance of The Bourbon Hotel and The Empire Hotel 
with a large number of responses noting that these sites were important to them, with 
particular focus on their iconic nature, historic, architectural and aesthetic significance, 
contribution to local character and streetscape, and in the case of The Empire Hotel, how it 
is considered significant to the LGBTIQ+ community. 
 
This report does not include an archaeological assessment of the site nor does it assess 
issues associated with natural values, flora or fauna. Historical sources and reference 
material used in the preparation of this report are acknowledged and referenced at the end 
of each section and/or in figure captions. Reasonable effort has been made to identify, 
contact, acknowledge and obtain permission to use material from the relevant copyright 
owners. 
 
PTW Architects asserts its Moral Rights in this work, unless otherwise acknowledged, in 
accordance with the (Commonwealth) Copyright (Moral Rights) Amendment Act 2000. PTW 
Architects’ moral rights include the attribution of authorship, the right not to have the work 
falsely attributed and the right to integrity of authorship. 
 
   

35



 

9 

 

1.6 Author identification  
 
This heritage assessment has been prepared by: 

 Diane Jones, Architect and Executive Director of PTW Architects (Architects 
Registration No.4778); 

 Dr Noni Boyd, MSc Arch Cons, PhD, Architectural Historian & Heritage Consultant, 
in, particular, Section 2: Documentary Evidence;  

 Glenn Harper, Senior Associate PTW Architects (Architects Registration No.6561); 

 Moya Lum, Knowledge / Research Manager, PTW Architects, and 

 Claudia Yang, Graduate of Architecture. 
 

1.7 Terminology and Abbreviations 
 
The following abbreviations are used: 
BA   Building Application 
CMP  Conservation Management Plan 
DCP   Development Control Plan 
GAB   Government Architect’s Branch, subsequently GAO 
GAO   Government Architect’s Office, formerly GAB 
GPO   Government Printer’s Collection of images and videodisks 

held at the Mitchell Library 
LEP   Local Environmental Plan 
NAA   National Archives of Australia 
NLA   National Library of Australia 
NMA   National Museum of Australia 
ML   Mitchell Library 
SCC   (former)Sydney City Council 
SHR   State Heritage Register 
SLNSW   State Library of NSW 
SLV   State Library of Victoria 
SMH   Sydney Morning Herald 
SRNSW   State Records of NSW 
   

36



 

10 

 

2.0 DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE 
 
 
2.1 Introduction 
 
The history of the properties within this city block and its components have been 
researched and presented as phases of development under eight separate themes. Historic 
information, including plans were obtained from the City of Sydney Archives and other 
referenced electronic databases. A search of the Sands Directory was undertaken via 
electronic data available via the City of Sydney Archives. 
 
For purposes of this study, including detailed analysis in the pattern of development, is 
described as 1A Elizabeth Bay Road, 18‐32 Darlinghurst Road and 2 Roslyn Street (refer 
figure 3). 
 
The phases of development area:  
 
Phase 1: The Villas of Darlinghurst (to c.1850); 
Phase 2: Subdivision for Townhouses and Mansions (1850‐1907); 
Phase 3: Boarding Houses (from 1907 ‐ 1924); 
Phase 4: The Flat Dweller (1925‐ 1938); 
Phase 5: Private Hotels (1936‐1946); 
Phase 6: Notoriety (1947 ‐1960); 
Phase 7: The Glittering Mile (from 1961‐1974); and 
Phase 8: Late Night Life (from 1975‐to date). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 3: Block plan, c. 1937. This plan, prepared by the Sydney City Council, shows the location and names of the 
buildings discussed in this heritage study. The buildings Kingsley Hall and Lowestoft are all built following the 
subdivision of the gardens to Rosyln Hall in 1889. This block plan was prepared after 1937 as Rosyln Hall had been 
demolished and replaced by two blocks of flats. Image: City of Sydney Archives.  
   

37



 

11 

 

2.2 Thematic History  
 
Owing to the early and intensive use of Potts Point by Europeans, there has been limited 
opportunity to investigate archaeologically the indigenous occupation of the area. The 
presence of Aboriginal people, however, in the locality and their dislocation dating from 
European settlement in the late 18th century is recognised, while not included in the 
description of the phases of development for this city block. 
 
The "Eora people" was the name given to the coastal Aborigines around Sydney. Central 
Sydney is therefore often referred to as "Eora Country". Within the City of Sydney local 
government area, the traditional owners are the Cadigal and Wangal bands of the Eora. 
There is no written record of the name of the language spoken and currently there are 
debates as whether the coastal peoples spoke a separate language "Eora" or whether this 
was actually a dialect of the Dharug language. Remnant bushland in places like 
Blackwattle Bay retain elements of traditional plant, bird and animal life, including fish and 
rock oysters.  
 
With the invasion of the Sydney region, the Cadigal and Wangal people were decimated 
but there are descendants still living in Sydney today. All cities include many immigrants in 
their population. Aboriginal people from across the state have been attracted to suburbs 
such as Pyrmont, Balmain, Rozelle, Glebe and Redfern since the 1930s. Changes in 
government legislation in the 1960s provided freedom of movement enabling more 
Aboriginal people to choose to live in Sydney. 

 

Information is taken from: 
http://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/heritageapp/ViewHeritageItemDetails.aspx?ID=243
5711 

 
 
   

38



 

12 

 

2.3 Phase 1: The Villas of Darlinghurst (to c. 1850)  
 

The subject block was once part of the grounds of Roslyn Hall, a substantial villa designed for 

Thomas Barker by Ambrose Hallen around 1833.1  In addition to erecting a substantial villa 
and grounds, Barker erected windmills on his estate. The quality of houses erected north of 
what is now William Street was tightly controlled and the initial grant holders were required 

to erect a villa to the value specified by the Governor.  
 
The villas of Darlinghurst were oriented towards the views and the harbour. Each house was 
set in extensive grounds and was sited well back from the road. Darlinghurst Road and 
Macleay Street ran along the ridge and each villa had its own carriage drive and rear stables 
and outbuildings. Barncleuth Avenue and Roslyn Street are both named for the now 
demolished villas, and the street names have their origins in access roads to the stables and 
rear wings. No views of Roslyn Hall from Darlinghurst Road have been located as the 
surviving images by artists such as Conrad Martens show the house from within the 
grounds, as do later photographs. The earlier Trigonometrical Maps for this part of Sydney 
do not fully overlap however part of the Roslyn Hall estate is shown. The Metropolitan 
Detail Series Map shows the location of Rosyln Hall and the entrance gates off Darlinghurst 
Road just prior to the subdivision (refer figure 4).  
 
The occupiers of Roslyn Hall during the 1880s were Charles Chauvel and later, his widow. 
The property remained in the family and was part of the estate of Elizabeth Amelia Parry 
Long, a descendant of Barker by marriage.  Roslyn Hall survived until around 1937 when it 
was demolished to make way for flats.  Following subdivision, Barncleuth Lane separated 
the house with some of its grounds from the allotments facing Darlinghurst Road (refer 
figure 5). 
 
 
 

 
Figure 4: Extract from the Metropolitan Detail series plan showing Roslyn Hall and the gates to Darlinghurst Road. 
Image: SCC Historic Atlas  

                                                           
1 The subdivision of Darlinghurst by Governor Darling (after whom the area in named) and the series of architect‐
designed villas erected from the late 1820s to the early 1840s was the subject of the Villas of Darlinghurst 
exhibition held at the State Library of NSW in 2002. 

39



 

13 

 

2.4 Phase 2: Subdivision for Townhouses and Terrace Mansions (1850‐1907)  
 

From  around  the mid‐1850s onwards,  the grounds of  substantial Darlinghurst  villas were 

subdivided and substantial rows of town houses or individual mansions were erected such as 
Maramanah on the current site of Fitzroy Gardens.  
 

Another mansion Barncleuth, designed by James Hume for the wine merchant John Brown, 
was erected on land subdivided from Alexander Macleay’s Elizabeth Bay estate in the early 
1850s. Purchased by Robert Amos in 1881 the property was subdivided into splendid building 

sites.  The house and its immediate grounds were retained by Amos who commissioned the 
architect J. J. Clarke to transform the house into a substantial Italianate villa, which became 
known as Kinneil house. The mansion Barncleuth / Kinneil survived until 1971, and the site is 

now Lawrence Hargrave Reserve and the carpark underneath. 
 

The block fronting Darlinghurst Road, which had been subdivided from the grounds of Roslyn 
Hall, was put up for sale in September 1889. There appears to have been, however, little initial 
interest  in developing  this block unlike  the  subdivision of  the adjacent Barncleuth Estate, 

which had begun in the early 1880s.  The subdivision of this block retained a portion of the 
grounds to Roslyn Hall and the house itself, which was separated from the subdivision by a 
20ft lane, later named Barncleuth Lane. The subdivision also created a street that separated 

the adjacent Barncleuth Estate and  its house, becoming known as Barncleuth Square. The 
subdivision of the Roslyn Hall Estate was undertaken by the Sydney Permanent Freehold Land 
and Building Society, a building society that undertook substantial subdivisions, such as the 

progressive release of land in Annandale. The original subdivision of the block (refer to figure 
5)  incorporated eleven sites facing Darlinghurst Road: two corner sites were set out with a 
frontage of 9.2m approx. while nine mid‐block sites had a frontage of 8.24m approx. Kingsley 

Hall  and  Lowestoft  are  currently  the  only  two  properties  which  align  to  this  original 
subdivision pattern (shown as Lots 11 and 10 on Figure 5). 
 

 

 
Figure 5: Subdivision of the Roslyn Hall Estate, “for sale at the Auction Rooms, 313 Pitt Street on Tuesday 10th 

September 1889 at 11.30 am”. Image: NLA Map Folder 49, LFSP702   

40



 

14 

 

2.4.1 Fordon, 32 Darlinghurst Road, c. 1891 
 

The Sands Directories and Rate books record that only one house was initially erected within 

the subdivision along Darlinghurst Road. Fordon at No. 32 Darlinghurst Road, erected for Rose 
and Henry Nelson, first appears in the rate books in 1891.2 The Nelsons purchased lots 1‐4 of 
the Roslyn Hall Estate subdivision. Henry and Rose Nelson (born Rose Alexander) continued 

to occupy Fordon until their respective deaths in 1912 (Rose) and 1915.  After their marriage 
in Sydney in 1878 the Nelsons had lived in Sydney where their first child Evelina was born the 
following year.  After a number of years in Walgett the Nelsons had returned to Sydney by 

1885, initially living at Herberto Terrace in Glebe where their son Gustav born. Nelson & Co 
operated a  substantial  store  in Walgett  known  as  the Great Western  Store. Two of  their 
daughters were born in Walgett. 
 

The Nelson children Eveline, Miriam, Esther and Gustav lived at Fordon. Esther died at home 

aged 15 in 1898. The family were Jewish and many of the substantial residences in the Potts 
Point  and Darlinghurst  area were  owned  by  Jewish  families.    The  choice  of  a  Polish  (or 
Prussian) place name of the house may indicate the origins of family. The Water Board plan 

of 1939 shows a bay fronted villa with a front verandah and the outline of the house can be 
seen on later civic surveys. The Rate Assessment Books record that Fordon was a substantial 
two‐storey brick house with a slate roof that contained 12 rooms. A glimpse of the house can 

be seen in a 1930s image in the Council’s collection (refer figure 6). The architect of Fordon 
has not yet been  identified. Until around 1899 Fordon was  the only house  (numbered 32 
Darlinghurst Road)  in  the  block.  The  grounds  of  Fordon  extended  as  far  as  the  southern 

boundary of No. 28 Darlinghurst Road. The popularity of the area with Jewish businessmen 
may have been as  it was within walking distance of  the city and  the main Synagogue on 
Elizabeth Street.  
 
Fordon remained a single‐family residence and the Nelson family remained at Fordon until 
1915/1916. Mrs Fordon took her surviving daughters to England on an extended visit in 
1906. The girls returned with her to Sydney unmarried. The occupier of the house in 1907 
was Lewis Levy, indicating that the family was still away. It was at Fordon that Miriam 
Nelson married the optician Adolph Basser, later Sir Adolph Basser in 1912. Adolph Basser 
was born in Kracow and trained in optometry in Berlin, though while travelling in NSW, he 
described himself as a Viennese optician. This time spent in Europe prior to his arrival in 
Australia in 1908/09 led to his being under suspicion during the Great War (despite having 
been naturalised the year after his marriage). 
 

The surviving Nelson children inherited Fordon, the ‘superior surplus furniture and effects’ of 

which were sold in April 1916 by Miriam Basser. The sale included walnut furniture, a dining 
room suite and a separate dining table as well as superior Axminster and Brussels carpets.3  
Fordon was  purchased  by  Dr Weston Maher who  remained  in  residence  until  after  the 

adjacent block of flats had been erected, although by then he had sold the land. 
 
Miriam and Eveline were already wealthy, owning property in Clarence Street that had been 
purchased  in 1910. After each  inheriting a third of their father’s estate, Miriam Basser and 
her unmarried sister Eveline continued to invest in the series of companies Adolf Basser was 
involved in and undertook charity work.  At the time of her death in 1940 Evaline Nelson was 
still  living  in Darlinghurst  in a  flat at the Savoy4  in Hardie Street, while the Bassers  lived  in 
Edgecliff.  Eveline’s  death,  it  was  reported,  robbed  Sydney  of  one  of  its most  energetic 

                                                           
2 The house is alternatively described as being in Potts Point.  
3 SMH 7 April 1916 
4 The Savoy erected in 1919 to designs by Claude Hamilton.  Federation Arts & Crafts. Built for Mr W H James and 
Miss Cleary. Distinguished residents included Dame Eadith Walker and Mrs Ure Smith.  Sixth floor dining room, 
meals delivered. Commissar (doorman like NY).  Described as the classiest apartment block. 

41



 

15 

 

workers.5  The Savoy where Miss Nelson lived was a highly respectable building whose tenants 
had included Dame Eadith Walker and Mrs Ure Smith. Living near town was convenient for 
women who undertook charity work. The Nelson’s  former residence Fordon survived until 
the early 1960s, hidden behind a series of shops. The Bassers were major philanthropists. 
Basser  College  at  the University  of NSW  is  funded  by  a  substantial  gift  from  the  Basser 
Foundation established in 1950, as were other scientific, educational and medical institutions 
and research projects in Sydney and Melbourne.   
 

 
Figure 6: A photograph of one of the Darlinghurst Road stalls taken in 1933 held in the Council’s collection labelled 
“fruit stall at the corner of Springfield Avenue and Darlinghurst Road” appears to be of the opposite corner and 
showing Fordon in the background. Image: SCC CRS 51 Demolition Books via ArchivesPix 001/001812 
 

 
2.4.2 Lowestoft, 20 Darlinghurst Road, 1896 
 
Unlike Fordon, Lowestoft was erected as an investment by the Guy family of Potts Point and 
the family never lived in the house. Alice Noble Guy, the wife of Robert Guy, of Guylyn, 128 
Victoria Street, Potts Point had purchased land in the Roslyn Estate subdivision during the 
1890s. The Guy family had been living in Victoria Street since at least 1885, having 
previously lived in Glebe and by 1896 owned two substantial semi‐detached houses No. 126 
and 128 on the corner of Orwell Street. Correspondence between Robert Guy and the 
Council in August 1896 advised the Town Clerk that the house in Darlinghurst Road close to 
Barncleuth Street was being erected by his wife.6 Robert Guy a ‘well‐known worker in 
charitable and philanthropic movements’ and for thirty years had been the honorary 
secretary of the City Night Refuge and Soup Kitchen died in 1898.7  Advertisements show 
that Robert Guy sold a number of suburban allotments as well as selling wine.  The property 
may always have been intended for their daughter Alice.  

 
This area on the border with Potts Point was an upmarket residential area and Lowestoft 
was the second of the two substantial houses erected on land subdivided from the grounds 
of Roslyn Hall during the 1890s and for the first few years of its life was No. 4 Darlinghurst 
Road. There were once grounds on the north‐eastern side of the Lowestoft and views 
towards Elizabeth Bay that were blocked when Kingsley Hall was built in the 1920s. The 
original form of the house seems to have been, like Fordon, a bay fronted residence 
containing 10 rooms, however, the difference in values suggests that the residence erected 

                                                           
5 Sun 1 September 1904 
6 SCC Letters Received 26/286/1124 
7 Daily Telegraph 13 September 1898 

42



 

16 

 

by Mrs Guy was not as elaborate as Fordon.   

 
No documentary evidence has been located to indicate that Lowestoft was erected as a 
boarding house or residential chambers, as is claimed by previous studies. An advertisement 
placed in 1899 for house and parlour maid noted that the occupiers of Lowestoft only had 
one child. A number of the initial tenants, like the occupants of Fordon, were Jewish, with 
events such as Bar mitzvahs being recorded in the Hebrew Standard. The first tenants were 
Joseph Levy and S. Abrahams, then P. Abrahams. The house was also known as ‘Lowe’s 
Loft”.  
 
Neither Mrs Alice Guy or her daughter are listed as occupying Lowestoft. The house was one 
of their investment properties. At some point after 1914 the property was transferred by 
the widowed Mrs Robert Guy (Alice Noble Guy) to her only daughter, also named Alice. At 
the time of her death in 1919 the widowed Mrs Guy was living in Roslyn Street, presumably 
with Noble family members who are listed in the directories rather than at the home of her 
now married daughter.8 The Guy’s property in Victoria Street had been sold.  
 
Alice Alma Guy married John W. S. Haslam in 1914, the son of the architect English‐trained 
architect and sanitary engineer John Haslam.9  The Haslams had lived in Barcom Avenue and 
Darlinghurst Road for many years. At the time of his marriage John W. S. Haslam was 
employed in the Chief Secretary’s Department. The ceremony was performed by Alice’s 
cousin the Rev H. J Noble.10 Alice Haslam retained ownership of the property in Darlingurst 
until her death.11 The architect has not yet been identified and no photographs of the 
original configuration of houses have been located beyond glimpses in general views of the 
Darlinghurst Road and Macleay Street. The setting of the house has been completely 
changed by the creation of Fitzroy Gardens and the demolition of the other substantial 
residences at the intersection of Macleay Street and Darlinghurst Road.  
 
 
2.4.3 Lister and Lynn (later Uralla and Lynn), 26‐28 Darlinghurst Road, 1903‐4 
 
The asymmetrical semi‐detached houses at No. 26‐28 Darlinghurst Road, erected in 1903‐
04, were initially tenanted by professional men, surgeon William McKay at Lister (No.26) 
and Judge, the Honourable William Walker McGregor at No. 28. The architect of this 
Federation Arts and Craft style building has not been identified, although drawings of the 
building survive in a later building application, dated 1939 (BA 39/0874) (refer figure 7).  
 
Until the construction of the Commodore at No. 30, there were no buildings between this 
pair of houses and Fordon to the south. This pair of houses formed part of the estate of 
Adolph[us] Rogalsky, a Land Agent, property owner and merchant who had lived in Levuka, 
Fiji during the late 1860s and 1870s before settling in Sydney. Like the Nelson family, 
Rogalsky was Jewish and hailed from Poland. A prominent member of the Jewish 
community in Sydney, he died in 1905, 
 
The death was announced on Friday evening, April 7th, of Mr. Adolphus Rogalsky, at 
his residence, 50 Bayswater road, Darlinghurst, Sydney. The end came peacefully 
after a long illness. He was born at Lask, Russian Poland, in 1838. Mr. Rogalsky 
arrived in Australia in 1860, and resided in Fiji for about seven years, at a time prior to 
the annexation by the British Government. On his return to Sydney he went into 
business at 42 Hunter‐street, that being his office until his demise. He resided for very 

                                                           
8 Possibly Alan Noble who was occupying No. 12 Rosyln Street, one of Eliza Parry Longs properties 
9 Sunday Times 8 March 1914 
10 Raleigh Sun 20 Feb 1914 
11 The transfer of the title mentioned in the previous history (Urbis) may be a mortgage as Alice Guy and Alice 
Haslam are the same person.  

43



 

17 

 

many years at the Glebe, Sydney. In 1873 he was married to Miss Phoebe Mitchell, 
eldest daughter of the late Mr. David Mitchell of Sydney, who survives him, with 
their two sons, Mr. David Mitchell Rogalsky and Mr. Julian Cecil Rogalsky. Mr. 
Adolphus Rogalsky was of the orthodox members of the community and took a very 
great deal of concern in the establishment of a Chevra Keddusha, and the various 
communal institutions.12 
 

By 1907 the widowed Mrs Rogalsky was living in one of the pair of houses on Darlinghurst Rd, 
having previously lived with her husband in Bayswater Road. She did not remain in the house for 
long. Under the terms of her husband’s will Mrs Rogalsky received a substantial annuity of 750 

pounds so could afford to  live elsewhere  in Darlinghurst.13   The other house was occupied by 
Leslie Walford  (1907) and  subsequently by Elizabeth Walford  (1911). Some  indication of  the 
character and  importance of  the  residences  can be gained  from  the  sale by  Lawsons of  the 

contents of No. 26, now known as Uralla in 1912: bedroom and dining room furniture, including 
a piano and billiard table, are to be sold. 14 
 

In 1918 and 1927, the pair of houses in Darlinghurst Road were still listed as being part of the 
estate of A. Rogalsky. No. 26, known as Uralla since around 1912, together with No. 28, was still 
known as Lynn. Phoebe Rogalsky died in 1919. The Rogalskys also owned land in Addison Road, 

Manly and elsewhere in inner Sydney.  
 
 

 
Figure 7: Extract from the BA, approved 23 October 1939, showing the original elevation of Lister and Lynn. This BA, 

prepared by the architect Richard Simpson, was for the construction of three street facing shops and involved the 

demolition of the front garden, street façade front and substantial internal alterations of the pair of houses. Image: 

City of Sydney Archives. 

 
 
2.4.4 St Louis (later The Russell) and The Charlemount, 22‐24 Darlinghurst Road, 1904 
 

Around 1904 a substantial pair of houses was erected at No. 22‐24 Darlinghurst Road for William 
J. Blakewell, necessitating the renumbering of the adjacent house as No. 20 (refer figure 8). The 

architect for this substantial building has not been identified. In terms of its style, the building 

                                                           
12 Hebrew Standard, 14 April 1905 The Rogalsky’s concern to establish facilities in Sydney so that proper Jewish 
burial rites could be held was the result of the death of their son Hillier. 
13 Australian Star 3 July 1905 
14 SMH 27 April, 1912 

44



 

18 

 

was somewhat old fashioned, although its scale and Italianate detailing responded to the context 

of the series of substantial mansions and terrace houses in the Springfield Avenue and Macleay 
street area, all of which have now been demolished.   The design was  to attract a particular 
standard of tenant and may have been influenced by the substantial additions to the adjacent 

villa Barncleuth by the well‐known architect J. J. Clark in the early 1890s, the design of which was 
published. These extensions turned Barncleuth into a substantial trophy house, a conspicuous 
display of wealth. Other substantial Italianate houses in Challis Avenue erected in the 1890s also 

feature  similar  tiers  of  arcades, which  are more  characteristic  of Melbourne  houses  of  this 
period. The owner of No. 22‐24 was William Bakewell who was a wealthy brick, tile and pottery 
works owner.  William John Bakewell had already erected (or altered) St Aubins at Scone and a 

second house Airlie around the time that No. 20‐24 was commenced. Bakewell also commenced 
a substantial house at Clifton Gardens for his family that the locals referred to as Bakewell’s folly. 
No. 22‐24 was one of a number of investments Bakewell erected and products from the firm’s 

factory may have been  employed. W.  J. Bakewell  died  in  1917  at  his  estate  in  Taylors Bay, 
Mosman and his obituary noted that he was a: 
 
Native of Nottingham, England and was one, the second of four brothers, who came, 
first to New Zealand and then to Sydney in their boyhood. With two of the brothers, 
Messers Thomas and Jack Bakewell, was founded, many years back, the now widely 
known and extensive brick, tile and pottery works at St Peters near Sydney under the 
name of Bakewell Brothers…The most generous gift of the site of the Scott Memorial 
Hospital [Scone] is one with which his name will ever be associated… The late Mr 
Bakewell was a man of untiring industry and great business capacity, and had been 
failing health for some time.15 
 

The income from his substantial estate was to be paid to his widow, and after her death, to 
be held  in trust for his children and grandchildren.16  The Bakewells owned No. 22‐24 until 

1922 when the sale of the estate commenced. 
 
 
2.4.5 The Charlemount Private Hospital, 24 Darlinghurst Road, 1904‐1919 
 

The  Charlemount  Private Hospital  (later  known  as  The  Charlemont  Private Hospital  after 
1919) was established by Susan Bell McGahey at No. 24 Darlinghurst Road in 1904, with an 
entry appearing  in the 1905 Sand’s Directory (refer figure 8). This was not the first private 

hospital in Darlinghurst, and it is a use that continues in the area today. Susan McGahey was 
one of the most senior nurses in the state and had served as matron for two substantial NSW 
hospitals, the Carrington Centennial Hospital at Camden and the Royal Prince Alfred Hospital 

(RPAH) in Camperdown. In 1901‐1902 Matron McGahey travelled to England and American 
to see developments in nursing and attend a Nursing Conference in Buffalo.  The Sydney Mail 
reported that she had ‘brought back with her many new and modern ideas for practical use’.17 

 
She had resigned from RPAH after a disagreement with Dr Anderson Stuart about the training 
of nurses and set up her own private hospital on Darlinghurst Road where she could supervise 

nurse  training without  interference.    The  hospital was  in  operation  by  July  1904.  Susan 
McGahey  was  involved  in  developments  in  nursing  and  the  training  of  nurses  at  an 
international  level.    Irish‐born  and  London‐trained  in  the  Nightingale  tradition,  Susan 

McGahey was a career woman, one of the two most  influential nurses  in the profession  in 
NSW,  the  other  being  Lucy  Osborne  at  Sydney  Hospital.  Nurse McGahey’s  hospital  had 
numerous VIP  patients  and  their  health,  deaths  or  recovery were  reported  in  the  press. 

Nurses  who  had worked  at  the  Charlemount were  highly  regarded,  and  this  was  often 

                                                           
15 Scone Advocate 2 March 1917 
16 Daily Telegraph 10 May 1917 
17 Sydney Mail 22 March 1902 

45



 

19 

 

mentioned  in appointments. Operating rooms were added  in 1910, the drawings of which 

survive at Council.  By 1916 Susan McGahey turned over the management of the hospital to 
another nursing sister.  She died of cancer in 1919 and the contents of Charlemount Private 
Hospital were sold.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 8: Postcard of The Charlemount Private Hospital (later known as Charlemont Private Hotel), c.1910.  
The Charlemount, at 24 Darlinghurst Road, was to operate as a private hospital  from 1904‐1919 and on another 
occasion from 1929‐1934. Nos 22 and No 24 were built in 1904 as speculative up market terrace mansions by William 
J. Bakewell for the conservative professional wanting to live in a “mansion”. This typical Potts Point housing type was 
to change and by 1918 the boarding house (and residential chambers) were a major housing type in the area. Image: 
Joseph Lebovic Collection, NMA 
 

 
2.5 Phase 3: Boarding Houses and Residential Chambers (1907 – c. 1925)  
 

Articles written in 1908‐1909 describe the phenomenon of boarding houses and residential 
chambers, particularly  in  the Darlinghurst area. Between 1898  and 1908 what had been 

single‐family houses were informally adapted to serve as accommodation for single people 
or couples from wealthier families choosing to live further out of the city.18  The articles noted 
that  the motor  car had helped  this  trend, but  so had  the  expanding  tram network.  The 

difference between boarding houses and residential chambers were the facilities and types 
of meals provided. At residential chambers, breakfast was served and while residents could 
make  their  own  tea,  they  had  to  eat  elsewhere  at  ‘three  penny’  and/or  ‘six  penny’ 

restaurants.  This, it was noted, was why Sydney has so many restaurants.  

Church‐sponsored papers like the Catholic Press believed boarding houses were not proper 
homes, noting that students, widows and widowers and young married couples had to make 

                                                           
18 Sydney Mail 10 June 1908 

46



 

20 

 

do due  to  the cost of owning or  renting a cottage. Children  in particular,  it was believed, 
suffered  in  this  form of accommodation and  in many boarding houses  children were not 
permitted. By around 1908 half of Sydney was described as living in boarding houses.19 Some 
boarding  houses were  segregated,  taking  gentlemen  or women  only.    The  change  from 
substantial family homes to boarding houses in the suburbs near to the commercial heart of 
a city is not particular to Sydney, but could also be found in cities such as Dublin and London. 
In the case of the Darlinghurst / Potts Point area, living in a boarding house (and later a flat) 
became what would now be termed a lifestyle choice.  Those who for a variety of reasons did 
not wish to conform to the norms of suburban living began to gravitate to the area.   
 
 
2.5.1 Lowestoft, refurbished as a boarding house, 20 Darlinghurst Road, 1907 and 1929 
 

The first indication of the house at No 20 Darlinghurst Road, having been subdivided into 

flats was in 1907, when a balcony flat containing two rooms and another flat of three 
rooms at Lowes’ Loft was advertised. The following year accommodation at Lowestoft for 
county visitors was advertised. 20  In 1925 Lowestoft was described as residential chambers 

and the occupiers changed frequently. The property was extended for Alice Haslam in 1929. 
Council records includes a Building Application BA0023/2 for proposed alterations and 
additions to No. 20 Darlinghurst Road, Darlinghurst including shop front extension, 

extension of the back wing with overhead yard and laundry, also S. O. [sleep out] balconies 
and two extra bathrooms. These works were for Mrs A. A. Haslam, 116 Bellevue Hill Road, 
Bellevue Hill. The architect’s name is not on the plans.  This was the first shop to be 

constructed in the row. 
 
The water coloured series of plans submitted to Council in 1929 show that the house, 

originally built for Alice Guy, survived within the later additions. The two‐storey bay window 
and the first‐floor balcony were shown to be removed and the front was extended to form 
a shop front (refer figure 9). The premises were being used as a residential or boarding 

house. A kitchen and dining room were shown on the ground floor. The remaining rooms 
were bedrooms, including behind the shop on the ground floor.  What would have 
originally been the kitchen was also converted into bedrooms with coke breeze partitions. 

The new façade was to be given an Inter War Mediterranean style façade (with still extant 
lead light windows), which can be seen in the later postcard of Kingsley Hall held in the 
National Museum of Australia (refer figure 15). By 1931 the building was variously 

described as Lowestoft containing 14 (or 15) flats, and a shop.  Alice Guy, later Alice 
Haslam, retained the property until at least 1948.  Alice Alma Haslam died in 1951, by which 
time she was residing at 667 Old South Head Road.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure  9:  Plan  to  Lowestoft  at  No.  20  Darlinghurst 
Road, 1929. This plan identifies change from a terrace 
house  to  a  multiple  room  boarding  house  with  a 
ground floor shop. Image: City of Sydney Archives.   

                                                           
19 Catholic Press 8 July 1909 
20 SMH 22 August 1908 

47



 

21 

 

2.5.2 St Louis (later The Russell) as a boarding house, 22 Darlinghurst Road, 1904 – 1936 
 

St Louis at No. 22 Darlinghurst Road was advertised as a ‘Gentleman’s Home” in April 1904.21  

The  refined home  for gentlemen operated by Mrs Alice Scott was new  throughout, with 
modern conveniences, hot and cold  running water,  sunny  rooms and  first‐class cuisine.22  
Operating a boarding house or residential chambers was a means by which widows could 

obtain  an  income. Advertisements  for  St  Louis  continued, with  a  large  bright  single  and 
double balcony rooms advertised in 1909.23  In 1912 the contents of the house were sold, in 
consequence of converting the premises  into residential flats.24   By 1913 the building had 

become known as The Russell but was still described as being a residence when the premises 
were sold  in 1922 by the Bakewell Brothers,  indicating that no substantial changes to the 
layout had been made.25  
 

In 1920 Dr Philip de Luca announced that he had  just returned from  Italy and that he was 

resuming practice at No. 22 Darlinghurst Road.26  Bakewell Brothers of Erskineville lodged an 
application with Council for alterations that may have been for the Doctors chamber’s.27 
 

In September 1922, the Bakewell Brothers liquidated their family estate including, 
 
The Glengarry Hotel in Redfern, the Yarranabbie and Etham flats at Darling Point, the 
Charlemont and the Russell in Darlinghurst Road, the manor or Blackwell’s Mansions 
in Taylor Bay, Clifton Gardens and Garrock as well as numerous terraces of houses in 
the best parts of Moore Park, Camperdown and Redfern along with thirteen building 
sites in the suburbs.28 

 
Not all the properties were sold. Despite keen competition, The Charlemount passed  in at 

8000 pounds.  The estate sale raised 60,000 pounds.29  The Russell had been sold privately 
just before  the auction and  it was envisaged  that a private sale would also occur  for  the 
Charlemount.30 Furnished flats continued to be advertised as available for let in The Russell 

in 1925. The Russell, and what was now termed The Clifford at No. 24, was owned by the 
Boulton  family  in  1931.  In  1936  the  property  had  been  sold  and  became  known  as  the 
Gleneagles Private Hotel and is discussed further on in this section. 
 
 
2.5.3 The Charlemount (later Charlemont) as a boarding house and private hospital, 24 
Darlinghurst Road, 1910‐1936 
 
The Charlemount operated as residential chambers during the 1920s and there was a court 
case over the sale of the goodwill in 1922.  The Charlemount re‐opened as a private hospital 
in the late 1920s, being later relocated further along Macleay Street in 1934. An application 
for minor alterations dates from 1926 identifying the building’s use as a private hospital; as 
detailed in BA 26/0054 (refer figure 10). After the relocation of the private hospital, No. 24 
Darlinghurst Road became a boarding house once again. The application to Council survives, 
and this gives an idea of the layout at the time (refer figure 11).  
   

                                                           
21 SMH 16 April 1904 
22 SMH 4 June 1904 
23 SMH 9 Jan 1909 
24 SMH 22 July 1912 
25 SMH 22 July 1912 
26 SMH 6 Feb 1920 
27 C&LGJ 23 Feb 1920 
28 C&LGJ 13 September 1922 
29 SMH 20 September 1922 
30 Sunday Times 24 September 1922 

48



 

22 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 10: Plan identifying alterations to Charlemount, 24 Darlinghurst Road, 1926. This plan identifies alterations for 
a private hospital; this being a second time the building was to have this function. Image: City of Sydney Archives 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 11: Plan identifying alterations to Charlemount, 24 Darlinghurst Road, 1934. This plan identifies alterations 
from a Private Hospital to a guest house (boarding house). Image: City of Sydney Archives 

 
 
2.5.4 Uralla and Lynn, as residential chambers, 26‐28 Darlinghurst Road, 1925 
 

Uralla was advertised as containing bed‐sitting rooms in October 1925, with trays (ie meals) 
provided if required.  A luxuriantly furnished bedsitter was advertised at No. 26 in 1927, and 
also  a  single  room.  An  attempt  to  sell  the  pair  of  houses  in  December  1929  failed,  an 

indication of the decline in the economy following the Wall Street crash. Uralla and Lynn were 
described as, 
 
An important property with great prospective value for shops and/or 

49



 

23 

 

residential…Upon the land are erected a pair of substantial and well‐built semi‐detached 
residences of brick, with main roof of slate, and containing wide entrance hall (marble 
tiled), 10 rooms, large marble tiled bathroom, linen press, kitchen and laundry, second 
bathrooms &c. No. 26 is vacant but until recently was let at 8 pounds per week. No 28 
is let on a monthly tenancy at 8 pounds per week.31 

 

In  1930  the  owner  is  listed  as  being  Gertrude  Schofield.  In  1931  the  Daily  Telegraph 

announced  that  “Margaret  Jaye  has  taken  the  top  storey  of  a  charming  old  house,  26 
Darlinghurst Road”.32 Margaret  Jaye was an  interior decorator whose shop and workshop 
was further south on Darlinghurst Road and she was a recognisable Darlinghurst identity, the 

first “trader to have been listed as an interior decorator”.33 Although her work was frequently 
featured in popular Women’s Magazines, Design and Art Australia is somewhat dismissive of 
her as she was not part of the more radical art set. 

 
At some point after 1936 Gertude Schofield sold the pair of houses to the Ginsberg sisters as 
an investment. By 1938/39 Misses Ginsberg, Rose and Rebecca owned the property and each 

house was still separately occupied. The Ginsberg family came to Sydney from Perth around 
1921, their father having died  in 1916. Their mother Bessie Ginsberg applied to council to 
erect shops and a residence on the corner of Darlinghurst Road and Liverpool Street in 1921 

(1 Darlinghurst Road?). By 1927 Mrs Ginsberg owned a house in Macleay Street and a series 
of portions of  land. The  family were  Jewish and  the Ginsberg daughters assisted  various 
Jewish charitable organisations during the 1920s and 1930s. In 1929, after the death of their 

mother, the family endowed a ward at the Women’s Hospital, Crown Street in her honour.  
 
By 1936 the Ginsberg family owned  land and a pavilion  in Earl Street (Dr Maurice William 

Ginsberg and Miss Rebecca Ginsberg), 39‐43 Darlinghurst Road (estate of Bessie Ginsberg) 
and flats at 45‐47 Darlinghurst Road (Maurice William Ginsberg and Miss Rebecca Ginsberg) 
as well as the property at 34/36A owned by Bessie Ginsberg, which had originally been a 

substantial townhouse. After the death of their mother and marriage of their sister Freda in 
1929, the two unmarried sisters Rose and Beck toured Russia; Rose’s detailed descriptions 
were published as a warning to Australians in 193234 The sisters also travelled to Paris and 

London. In the late 1930s the Misses Ginsberg contributed to the Australian Jewish Welfare 
Society appeal.  The addition of shops to the front of the buildings at 24‐26 Darlinghurst Road 
was undertaken for the Ginsberg sisters in 1939 (refer figure 12). 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Figure 12: Plan identifying alterations, including 
ground floor shops, to Uralla and Lynn at 24‐26 
Darlinghurst Road, 1939. Image: City of Sydney 
Archives 
  

                                                           
31 SMH 7 Dec 1929 
32 Daily Telegraph 5 Nov 1931 
33 The same phrase is quoted in a number of separate sources. 
34 The Sun 15 November 1932, Daily Commercial News 17 November 1932 

50



 

24 

 

2.6 Phase 4: The Flat Dweller (1925 ‐ 1938)  
 

In 1924 the row of buildings from 20‐32 Darlinghurst Road are all listed in the rate assessment 

books  as  being  houses.  From  1925  onwards  the  density  of  the  block  was  substantially 
increased as blocks of flats were erected. Charlemont, at No. 24 operated as a residence from 
around 1920 until 1929 when it operated as a private hospital for the second time.  In 1934 

the  hospital  relocated  to  Macleay  Street  where  it  operated  until  its  premises  were 
requisitioned for wartime use. During this decade three multi‐storey buildings were erected 
within this city block:  Kingsley Hall on the corner of Barncleuth Avenue, and the Commodore 

and Cliveden Flats, both on land subdivided from the grounds of Fordon. 
 
By 1929 Kings Cross was known both  for  its bohemian character and  its aspirations to be 

more  ‘continental’  in  flavour,  including  basement  jazz  clubs  established  in  the  buildings 
further  to  the  south.  The  buildings  in  the  study  area  do  not  have  full  basements.35  The 
menace of bohemianism in Darlinghurst to home life was reported nationally in 1938.36 Flats 

were considered somewhat immoral by many suburban council alderman, including some of 
the aldermen of the Sydney City Council. Young couples, spinsters, bachelors, homosexuals 
and  artists,  who  wished  to  live  life  on  their  own  terms,  were  drawn  to  the  area. 

Darlinghurst/Kings Cross became the most densely populated area in Sydney. The standard 
of accommodation varied considerably, depending on what the resident or temporary visitor 
could afford.  By this time blocks of luxury flats were being constructed and the existing large 

villas  and  terrace  mansions  were  now  subdivided  into  flats,  some  with  ground  floor 
alterations as shops.  
 
2.6.1 The Commodore, American style flats, 30 Darlinghurst Road, 1925‐26 
 
In January 1926, it was announced that, 
 
Mr S. B. Gange, builder of Darling Point who has purchased Dr Weston Maher’s property 
‘Fordon’ 32 Darlinghurst Road for 20,000 [?] pounds intend[sic] building a block of the 
latest American style flats, Mr Gange has also purchased No. 15 Darlinghurst Road for 
6,000 pounds and intends to erect shops and modern flats on the site…37 

 

S B Gange and his business partner, the Hon T. G. Murray, lodged an application with Council 
for a very substantial block of flats that would have taken up all the four lots that comprised 

Fordon.   Only one  section was built and Dr Weston Maher, who had been  the owner of 
Fordon, continued to reside in the house for a while after its sale. 
 

The American‐style flats were designed by the New Zealand‐born architect Claude Hamilton 
in  1925.  From  the  end  of  the Great War, Hamilton  had  designed  a  series  of  apartment 
buildings  in the Darlinghurst/Potts Point area, many of which are still extant. Examples of 

American‐style  flats  were  also  erected  in  Wynyard  Square  but  these  have  all  been 
demolished.  Other blocks of flats in Darlinghurst, such as the Waldorf, were also described 
as being American flats. American‐style flats may either refer to the layout of the flat, usually 

as a single room with a fold‐down bed, or refer to the arrangement of the building: a multiple 
storey (tall) building originating from America, particularly Chicago. 
 

Had the Commodore been completed as planned (refer to figure 13) it would probably have 
been the  largest block of flats  in Sydney at the time.  By 1928 the first stage was ready for 
occupation: 
 

                                                           
35 Daily Telegraph 21 March 1929 
36 Evening News, Rockhampton 24 August 1938 
37 Evening News 11 Jan 1926 

51



 

25 

 

Deluxe flats, at corner of Rosyln Street & Darlinghurst Road. A newly built block of 
flats, furnished in American style, service &c from 50/. A superior locality, quiet 
surroundings &c. Entrance Roslyn street.38 

 

The Commodore catered to visitors to Sydney, an advertisement in the Brisbane Courier 
described the accommodation, which today would be termed serviced apartments: 
 
Resorts, NSW, Sydney 
At the Commodore 30 Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point 
Convenient to the City 
88 Furnished Apartments for 1, 2 or 3 persons with Service, Linen, Cutlery, Crockery, 
Electric Appliances, Hot and Cold Water in every room, 
Efficient Telephone system, Elevator, Roof Garden, Night Porter From 30/ weekly.39 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 13: Proposed Darlinghurst Road elevation of the Commodore,1925. With the intention to build up to the 
corner of Roslyn Street, only the northern half was completed. Image: City of Sydney Archives 
 
 
2.6.2 Clivedon Flats, 2 Roslyn Street, 1926 
 

The building application for the Clivedon Flats  is dated 1926.40  The block has been altered 
and no 1920s or 1930s images have yet been noted (refer to figure 3). By the 1940s the block 
had  featured  in  numerous  scandals,  love  affairs,  illegal  gambling  and  there  had  been  a 

shooting on the staircase.  Roslyn Hall was still in existence when this block was erected but 
was to be replaced by apartments in the late 1930s. 
 
 
2.6.3 Kingsley Hall, 18 Darlinghurst Road, 1929 

The design of Kingsley Hall was designed by Emil Sodersteen and a building application for the 
block was submitted to Council in 1929.41 Initially the drive to Elizabeth Bay House started at 
the corner of Darlinghurst Road and Macleay Street and  this street became Elizabeth Bay 

Road. When Kingsley Hall was erected the two substantial mansions Barncleuth (now Kiniel) 
and Maramanah were still in existence, as was Roslyn Hall to the rear. 
 

                                                           
38 SMH 3 September 1928 
39 Brisbane Courier Mail 10 March 1934 
40 SCC BA1148//1937 
41. Building Application – Elizabeth Bay Road & Barncleuth Square, flats 1929 BA 0121/29 

52



 

26 

 

By March 1930 there was already a demand for the  luxury flats  in Kingsley Hall, and  it was 

announced  that  20 %  had  already  been  let.    The  block  contained  20  flats  and  this was 
described as being 10 years ahead of its time. The planning was arranged so that there were 
no dark rooms.42 The entrance of Kingsley Hall, Elizabeth Bay appeared in the Construction & 

Real Estate Journal in November 1930 with the caption that there is something very delightful 
in a well‐designed doorway. Other works by Sodersteen were also featured (refer figure 14). 
 

The previous month  the  Sydney Morning Herald had  run an article about  the  changes  in 
Darlinghurst and  the building of  flats  that were  to be the homes of professional people.43 
During  the 1930s newspapers published probate notices  for wealthy widows who  lived  in 

Kingsley Hall and the social columns describe those who have come to town and taken up 
temporary residence.  Pastoralists would come to town for some weeks or months and rent 
a  furnished apartment.  In 1933 Emil Sodersteen called tenders  for renovations to Kingsley 

Hall, Darlinghurst Road.  In 1936 there was an issue with a fire‐bug who lit five separate fires 
at Kingsley Hall. Kingsley Hall remains a sought after residential building with  its  landmark 
character and views north of Sydney Harbour (refer figure 15). 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 14 (left): Kingsley Hall, Potts Point, featuring decorative face brickwork with stone detailing at the street level. 
While decorative face brickwork remains, the stonework has since been altered. Image: Construction Nov 12, 1930 
p.13 
 
Figure 15 (right): Postcard of Kingsley Hall, Potts Point, including the façade added to No. 20 Darlinghurst Road, c. 
1955. Image: Joseph Lebovic Collection, National Museum of Australia 
 
   

                                                           
42 Announcing Kingsley Hall.  SMH 22 March 1930 
43 SMH 14 October 1930 

 

53



 

27 

 

A photograph of Darlinghurst Road that appeared in the Home magazine in 1934 shows the 
residential character of this section of the street, the side wall of Kingsley Hall, the gables of 
The Charlemount (Charlemont by this stage) and a glimpse of the round tower of No. 26‐28. 
No full views of Lister (Uralla by this stage) and Lynn at No. 26‐28 have been located. The 
original character of the façade of the Commodore can also be seen. A glimpse of 
Maramanah can also be seen, the substantial mansion of the eccentric Eakin family 
immortalised by Robin Eakin in Aunts up at the Cross. Beyond is Birtley Towers by Emil 
Sodersteen. The mansion Maramanah was demolished by the City Council in 1954 to create 
Fitzroy Gardens (refer figure 16). 
 

 

 
Figure 16: Darlinghurst Road with the Commodore (as unpainted face brick), the turret to No. 26, the parapet of the 
Charlemount (as multi coloured painted render) and the side wall to Kingsley Hall all shown. Notice also 
Maramanah and Birtley Towers shown in the distance. Image: Home, 1934 

 
   

54



 

28 

 

2.7 Phase 5: Private Hotels (1936‐1946)  
 

By the time of the outbreak of World War II, the block still consisted of a series of residential 

buildings, some of which now had shops added at ground level. During the war years the Potts 
Point and Kings Cross areas were a mecca for servicemen on leave. Parties were held in the 
surviving  grand mansions  as well  as  in  the boarding houses  and hotels. Maramanah was 

utilised as a canteen by the British. The substantial enlargement of the naval installation at 
Garden  Island and the construction of the Graving Dock during World War  II meant that a 
number of ships could dock in Woolloomooloo Bay. 

 
The residential buildings at 18‐32 Darlinghurst Road were on the fringe of what was described 
in the Perth Daily News as 1936 as: 
 
The Darlinghurst Road, for a distance of two or three hundred yards, presents a mixed 
spice of the Continent, without giving the impression of a provincial imitation. The 
many piquant restaurants, feeding the huge flat population of the district, bright 
sunlight, gaiety of the lights, plane trees of the street, coloured striped awnings, 
delicatessen shops, florists and greengrocers, all this, for some not easily analysed 
reason, suggests the Boulevard St Germain, a corner of Valencia, a strada of Florence 
all at the same time.44 

 

The  Gleneagles  Private  Hotel  at  No  24  Darlinghurst  Road,  which  had  opened  in  1936, 
continued to operate during the war years. Events were held to raise funds for the war effort 
during 1940 and 1941.  The Commodore at No. 30 also continued to operate during the war 

years. By 1942 the premises were described as a guesthouse rather than a hotel, indicating 
that  it did not have a  liquor  license, and one of Cahill’s six restaurants was  located on the 
ground floor.  Advertisements in the Melbourne Argus noted: 
 
Large and comfortably furnished one‐room apartments, with hot and cold running 
water, and equipped with electric griller and kettle, cutlery, crockery and all 
necessary cooking utensils. Night Porter, Elevators, Roof Garden, Harbour Views.45 

 

By the end of 1943 the Commodore at 30 Darlinghurst Road was being utilised as a venue by 
visiting  Americans  and  this  use  continued  after  the war  for  farewell  dinners  for  officers 

stationed  in Sydney who were returning home.46 The building became notorious with the 
Vice  Squad.  The  press  reported  ‘drunken  immoral  parties,  sly  grog,  a  gun man  and  an 
attempted assault on a woman tenant, [all] highlighted allegations of unsavoury goings on at 

the Commodore Residential, 30 Darlinghurst Road’.47 There had been complaints from US 
Naval services and  in an aim to protect the sailors from sexually transmitted diseases, the 
Commodore had been declared out of bounds  to USS Birmingham. The proprietors were 

quick to point out that theirs was not the only block declared out of bounds to American 
servicemen.48  Allied servicemen also brought girls back to the block. 
 
 
2.7.1 Alterations to 26‐28 Darlinghurst Road 
 

In 1938 the architects Brewster and Manderson applied to the Council to make alterations 

to No. 26‐28 Darlinghurst Road to form shops and to add an awning. This work may not have 
proceeded as there is another application in 1939. The drawings of the proposed new shops 
at No 26‐28 Darlinghurst Road for Miss B. Ginsberg include a drawing of the pair of houses 
                                                           
44 Perth Daily News 12 June 1936 
45 Melbourne Argus 23 May 1942 
46 Sun, 24 Dec 1943 
47 Truth 30 June 1946 
48 Sun 17 July 1946 

55



 

29 

 

as  they currently existed by  the architect Richard G. Simpson dated October 1939  (in BA 

39/0874). In 1940 alterations to shops and flats at 26‐28 Darlinghurst Road were made by 
the MSD&WB. By 1948 the pair of houses had become one residential known as The Radnoor 
(or Radnor) residential and the property was still owned by the Ginsberg sisters. Their other 

Darlinghurst properties had been sold.  Council records indicate that there were three shops 
and 18  flats  in  the building by 1945. The  sisters  continued  to own  the property, making 
various applications to Council to use parts of the building variously as a Ladies Hairdressing 

Salon, babywear and lingerie workshop and professional rooms. Sketches were presented to 
Council  in 1953 showing how the residential rooms on the ground  floor could be used as 
shops, followed by a DA. Other applications for the property  included a frock shop on the 

ground  floors at the rear and a showcase  in the corridor.   Drawings survive at Council by 
Douglas Snelling for listening facilities for a Radio Centre at 28 Darlinghurst Road. 
 
 
2.8 Phase 6: Notoriety (1947‐1960)  
 

Newspaper reports of raids by the Vice Squad detail the various attempts by proprietors in 

the Darlinghurst/ Kings Cross area to get around the state’s liquor licensing laws. In a case 
held at the Fair Rents Court in 1946 the proprietors of the Commodore commented that 
they had 82  lettings and they could not be expected to examine the morals of all of the 

tenants.  Besides they noted, conditions had improved since the American servicemen had 
left Sydney. In May 1946 Commodore had 27 permanent tenants and the remainder were 
on a casual letting basis with the lease held by Alum & Mellick. The Dutch Government had 

a permanent arrangement for six rooms. 
 

The Gleneagles  restaurant was  periodically  raided between  1947  and 1953.   American 

sailors were among the clientele and charges were unable to be pressed as the majority 
gave their name as Smith. A room on the first floor had been illegally fitted out as a bar. 
The Council  approved  alterations  to Gleneagles  in 1956  (BA 56/0546).   A new modern 

façade was added designed by the emigre architect Frank Kolos. Kolos had been designing 
cafes and restaurants since the late 1950s and he went on to design substantial modern 
hotels and motels with his partner Jim Bryant (refer figure 17). 

 
By 1953 the National Australia Bank occupied these premises between Kingsley Hall and 
No. 22‐24 Darlinghurst Road  and  the  character  of  the block  had  changed  from  largely 

residential to commercial with residential to the rear.49  In front of No. 32 the timber stalls 
of the 1930s had been replaced by single storey shops. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 17: BA for the proposed street addition to No. 24 
Darlinghurst Road, 1956 by the emigre modernist architect 
Frank Kolos. This addition for Gleneagles “Night club” was to 
extend the façade to the street by providing additional retail 
uses. Image: City of Sydney Archives   

                                                           
49 Extensions to the banking chamber, BA 0846/56 

56



 

30 

 

2.9 Phase 7: The Glittering Mile (From 1961‐1974)  
 

Kings  Cross  became  known  as  the  “Glittering  Mile”  and  was  the  subject  of  a  TV 

documentary of the same name that aired  in 1964. Portrayed were the high population 
density, the bohemians and the way that the area came to life after dark.  The late‐night 
venues, the cafes and clubs that had once been located further towards the intersection at 

William Street now extended towards Macleay Street (refer figures 18 and 19). 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Figure 18: Day‐time photograph of Darlinghurst Road, 1958. Gleneagles Hotel has now become Greyeagles 
Hotel and by the late 1950s an addition by Frank Kolos (at the same address) became a street facing restaurant 
built within the front garden. The street elevation of the Commodore is now shown painted. Image: NAA_A1200 
L31075 
 

 
 

 
 
   

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Figure 19: Night‐time photograph of Darlinghurst Road in front of No 24 Darlinghurst Road, 1961. With neon lights 
Greyeagles Hotel is proclaimed as “Tabou” while the late 1950s addition by Frank Kolos is shown as a restaurant 
serving wine well into the night, indicating the cosmopolitan nature of Kings Cross. Image: NAA_A1200 L38208 

 
No. 24 Darlinghurst Road had yet another transformation and with the closing of Greyeagles 
Hotel (previously known as Gleneagles Hotel) in the 1960s; the building became the Bourbon 

and Beefsteak Bar, one of  two  venues  founded by Berni Houghton  to cater  to American 
soldiers on R & R (rest and recreation) from the fighting  in Vietnam.  There are numerous 
applications on file at the City Council for minor alterations, including an application to use 

the premises as a nightclub in 1968.  The ‘Bourbon’ became notorious as a late night (and 
early morning) drinking venue, including the front garden of the building being redeveloped 
to become an important semi outdoor venue; a feature particular to the area at the time. 

After the premises were damaged by a storm in 2010 the Bourbon reopened with new décor, 
including a redevelopment of the semi outdoor street edge, that was more in keeping with 

57



 

31 

 

francophile Macleay Street than Darlinghurst Road (refer figure 30).   

 
In 1938 shops had been added to the front of No. 26‐28 and by the 1960s No. 28 was in use 
as a venue, initially as Sydney’s Folk Attick (1964) and later Le Café Francais (by 1966). The 

ABC notes that: 
 
The mid‐1960s was a golden period for folk music. It was a popular style that 
attracted large and diverse crowds around the country. Its biggest stars were a 
worldwide phenomenon and many young musicians aspired to being the next Joan 
Baez or Bob Dylan. Australia was a hotbed of talent…50 

 

At the Folk Attick you could find non‐stop folk singing by Australia’s best artists, a romantic 
terrace overlooking the fountain, all the coffee you can drink and an ‘uninhabited ultra‐violet 

atmosphere’.51   Drawings  for a coffee shop dated 1964 at No. 28 Darlinghurst Road were 
submitted to Council by the architect Peter L. Kish of Bobbin Head Road, Pymble (BA64/0853).  
Drawings  for more  substantial  alterations  were  submitted  in  1967  by  Peter  Rommel  & 

Associates of Potts Point (BA 67_0819).  This may not have gone ahead, as the following year 
there was an application  to convert  the existing coffee shop  (then known as  the Showbiz 
restaurant) into a Kentucky Fried Chicken (BA 68/1679). 

 
An application was made for the whole first floor of No. 26‐28 under the Theatres and 
Public Halls Act in 1968. By 1970 an escort service also operated from the premises. No full 
views of the building at this address have been located. Many of the advertisements for the 
cafes, restaurants and other services available in this block were in Sydney’s foreign 
language newspapers, particularly in French and Dutch, cultures with a more liberal attitude 
towards the sex industry and denser urban areas with bars and cafes rather than the corner 
pubs that characterised Sydney’s suburbs. 
 

In the early 1960s Fordon at No. 32 Darlinghurst Road was demolished, as was the row of 

shops that had been erected fronting Darlinghurst Road. The rate books show that part of 
Fordon was owned by the City Council in the late 1930s. Tooth & Company owned most of 
the lot (1936 rate assessment book) but did not erect a hotel. A new three‐storey building 

with a curved corner designed by Neville Gruzman was erected for G. Lehrer. The  initial 
correspondence with the City Council dates from 1962. The new building was to contain 
shops at ground level, a restaurant on the first floor and offices on the second floor. G & A 

Lehrer owned other property in Darlinghurst Road, including shops and flatettes at 61‐65 
Darlinghurst Road (refer figures 20‐22). 
 

The restaurant became a club/cabaret known as Les Girls after the female impersonators 
(drag  queens)  who  performed  covers  of  popular  songs.  Archival  footage  of  the 
performances survives and Les Girls was one of the clubs featured  in the Glittering Mile 

documentary as were the strip club, folk dancing and a jazz club. At times, the address for 
Les Girls was advertised as 2c Roslyn Street. 
 
Les Girls was the brainchild of the entrepreneur Sammy Lee who brought the idea back 
from a show he saw in San Francisco and Paris, started in Kings Cross in 1962.52 

 

Sydney had  long had a reputation as being one of  four world cities  that were  tolerant  to 

homosexuality,  the other cities being Paris, Venice and San Francisco. The Glittering Mile 
commentator noted that Les Girls would not have been possible a few years earlier. Mitzi 
Mackintosh in an interview in 1995 commented that: 

                                                           
50 Folk Singers of the Golden Age, broadcast by the ABC 6 October 2013 
51 Ad for the Folk Attick. Published on the web 
52 Victor Harbour Times 16 November 1984 

58



 

32 

 

 
Drag has come a long way since the early days of Les Girls when it was a criminal act 
for a man to appear in public in a dress or to wear women’s underwear. In those days 
the girls had to run from the club to the cab and then from the cab to their home, or they 
could be arrested on the street.53 

 

Drag queens were nothing new in Sydney. Outrageous outfits had been worn by men to the 
artists balls held at the Sydney Town Hall  in the 1920s. Les Girls was one of the  first drag 

cabaret clubs to open and  it was the  longest  lasting. Les Girls continued to perform  in the 
Cross  in 1980 when their focus then changed to touring.  The club remains the most well‐
known of  the gay  clubs  (outside of  the  gay  community) and  the  lettering on  the  façade 

become a Sydney landmark.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 20: BA Drawings for No. 32 Darlinghurst Road, 1961 by Neville Gruzman. The current form of the building 
still retains it predominate shape while the retail uses to the ground floor and the upper storey curtain wall glazing 
has been removed. Image: City of Sydney Archives 
 
 
 

 
Figure 21: Internal modification to 32 Darlinghurst Road, 1965 by Neville Gruzman. The first‐floor restaurant was 
modified to include a small rostrum and change rooms at the eastern end of the building for the night‐club Les 
Girls. It seems this BA was submitted after the space was already being used for performances as identified in the 
1964 ABC documentary “Glittering Miles”. Image: City of Sydney Archives 

 

                                                           
53 Tharunka 11 April 1995 

59



 

33 

 

 
Figure 22: Le Girls founded in 1962 performed upstairs at No. 32 Darlinghurst Road well into the 1980s. The “wild 
west” font of the famous sign was derived from a font describe as French Clarendon, a wooden type face dating to 
1865. This font was similar to that used for the Moulin Rouge signage in Paris. Image: SLV 
 

 
Figure 23: Opening in the early 1960s, Sammy Lee and Reg Boom created Les Girls. The restaurant targeted the 
“straight market”, titillated by the frisson of “sexy” Kings Cross. Illustrated is the rear of a souvenir photo folder, 
while referencing the “can‐can” of the Moulin Rouge it was located “In the heart of Uptown Sydney, Where every 
night is New Year’s Eve”. Image: 
https://library.lmc.nsw.gov.au/Montage/Gallery.aspx?refinements=XCT0000165997#prettyPhoto[opac2]/2/ 

 

 
Figure 24: A still taken from the ABC TV documentary "The Glittering Mile" (1964) with Carlotta (wearing a 
brunette wig) performing with Les Girls. The documentary refers to this performance taking place within the 
nightclub “Les Girls”. 
Image: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=hApcvwJkiDg 

   

60



 

34 

 

In 1970, an application was made for the adaption of No. 2 Roslyn Street from apartment to 
motel use. Interestingly this change in use, to a design by a local resident architect – N. 
Tesdorf – included a change in name to the Lido Motel. This was promoted with brochures 
claiming, “elegance in the grand manner” (refer to figure 25). The Lido Motel Restaurant, 
which served continental food, advertised its location as being in the heart of Kings Cross, 
near Les Girls.54 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 25: Brochure advertising the refurbishment of 2 Roslyn Street from apartment to motel use. In this 
refurbishment all pre WWII was removed including painting of the street elevation and replacement of the original 
windows. Image: City of Sydney Archive. 

 
By the mid‐1970s the block included residential, retail club and motel uses and there was a 
proposal to connect the Lido Motel to the Commodore. A photograph of Darlinghurst Road, 
held by the National Archives of Australia, shows the cosmopolitan and varied urban 
character of this section of the street, a characteristic which has largely remained 
unchanged since the photograph was taken in 1969 (refer figure 26). Identified is the side 
wall of Kingsley Hall, the painted façade of Charlemont with the 1950s addition (now trading 
as the Bourbon and Beef Steakhouse Bar) and a glimpse of The Radnor at No. 26‐28. 
Adjacent to this is the painted façade of the Commodore and the prominent corner of No. 
32 Darlinghurst Road with the prominent ‘Les Girls’ signage. Fitzroy Gardens is identified 
and the sweep of Darlinghurst Road meeting the former Elizabeth Bay Road (now within the 
Fitzroy Gardens) is also visible. Almost on axis with this section of Darlinghurst Road is the 
Gazebo Hotel, while Birtley Towers once quite visible, is now masked by the hotel. By 1970 
Kingsley Hall was refurbished with changes to the ground floor and replacement of the steel 
framed casement and hopper windows (refer figures 27 and 28). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
54 Dutch Australian Weekly. 8 October 1971 

61



 

35 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 26: Photograph of Darlinghurst Road, 1969. With prominent signage now installed at No. 32 Darlinghurst 

Road advertising “Les Girls”, the distinguishable Gazebo Hotel, had too become an important landmark within the 

area. Image: NAA_A1200, L81109 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Figure 27: Photograph of Kingsley Hall and Lowestoft, c. 1967. Alterations to Kingsley Hall, including ground floor 

modification and window replacement, had not commenced while The National Bank was still located in the 

ground floor of Lowestoft, now with a cantilevered street awing. Image: NAA_A1200, L62711 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Figure 28: Life in the “Golden Mile”, this time documented by the photographer Rennie Ellis. Shown here in 1970‐
71 is Kingsley Hall and Fitzroy Gardens beside Barncleuth Square. Image: Rennie Ellis Archive 
http://www.rennieellis.com.au/   

62



 

36 

 

2.10 Phase 8: Late Night Life (From 1975 – date)  
 
During this phase, there have been various changes to the individual in the block for 
individual owners and tenants. After the Americans departed in the mid‐1970s the Cross 
continued to be known for its nightlife, particularly clubs and late‐night drinking venues, 
which had progressively been legalised. In his history of Gay Sydney, Gary Wotherspoon 
noted that the gay clubs shifted their focus to Oxford Street/ Taylor Square, as during the 
Vietnam War, the Cross had become too dangerous.55 Once the military had departed, 
suburbanites and tourists were drawn to the area. The sex industry expanded north along 
Darlinghurst Road with Adult Bookshops and Escort Services located within the block.   
 
By 1973 the ‘private VIP club’ Les Girls had become the Carousel Lounge.  The last place the 
heiress, newspaper owner and activist Juanita Nielson was seen alive at in July 1975 was the 
Carousel.  The Carousel became the Palladium and then the Empire Hotel. The ground floor 
rooms of Clivedon were converted into lock‐up shops in the late 1960s including a pharmacy 
and a coffee lounge.  
 
The Bourbon and Beefsteak Bar’s notoriety was summed up in the Daily Telegraph after its 
closure due to storm damage in 2010; the 24/7 venue: “hosted celebrities, gangsters, bent 
coppers, hookers and just about every Underbelly character”.56 The lock out laws imposed 
in 2014 changed the character of the area, with many venues closing. A substantial increase 
in the number of late night venues was noted in submissions on late night trading, however 
the two venues in the study area were both uses that dated back to the 1960s. The City 
Council had already conducted a Late‐Night Trading Research Project to determine the 
impact on residents.   
 

The  pattern  of  development  of  the  block  has  seen  a  transition  from  residential 

accommodation for professional men and their families to higher density  living  in flats and 
boarding houses.  The association with the prominent philanthropic Jewish families has not 
been  researched  in  detail,  but  is  a  characteristic  of  Potts  Point  and  Darlinghurst.  Little 

evidence survives in the immediate area of this once upmarket housing precinct. The decline 
of the  large‐scale housing stock and subdivision of the grounds  is also characteristic of the 
inner ring of suburbs such as Glebe and the Rocks/Millers Point. However, the  larger scale 

rows of terrace houses were largely confined to the Eastern suburbs.  
 
‘Bohemian  Darlinghurst’  became  a  residential  area  of  choice with  a  particular  character 

derived  from  the mixture of housing stock,  the wide choice of residential accommodation 
(that ranged from budget to luxury) and desire of the residents to be free to live as they chose.   
 

The extension of the Glittering Mile to encompass this block saw it change in character from 
being similar to Macleay Street, a predominantly residential block with shops that serviced 
the  flat  dwellers,  to  a  block with  a  focus  on  entertainment,  including  the  home  of  the 

legendary Les Girls and other once well‐known venues such as the Folk Attick (refer figures29‐
31).   
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
55 Gary Wotherspoon, Gay Sydney, A history, p.196‐197 
56 Daily Telegraph 28 July 2010 

63



 

37 

 

 
Figure 29: Photograph of the Bourbon and Beefsteak Bar, c 1980. With the closure of Gleneagles, 22‐24 
Darlinghurst Road was redeveloped as the ‘Bourbon’ and by the 1980s this was extended into the addition 
designed by Frank Kolos in the late 1950s, previously trading as restaurant. Image: Getty 
 

 
Figure 30: The front garden of the original mansion terrace houses at 22‐24 Darlinghurst Road became an integral 
part of the night club experience at The Bourbon Hotel (known previously as The Bourbon and Beefsteak Bar). 
Shown here are members of an unidentified performance band in front of the distinctly illuminated venue 
incorporating advertising iconography that referenced Sydney, London and the Montmartre district of Paris. At the 
‘Bourbon’ the windmill of the Moulin Rouge had now become the Harbour Bridge in front of a pink painted 
building. Image: Fairfax Media, 1997 
 

 
Figure 31: After the closure of Les Girls in the 1980s, Carlotta performed briefly at the ‘Bourbon’. 
Image: The Australian Newspaper Archive, 2005 
https://www.theaustralian.com.au/life/kings‐and‐queens‐of‐the‐cross/image‐
gallery/c7c13e0cbdc175225ebba536baafcf9b   

64



 

38 

 

3.0 PHYSICAL EVIDENCE 
 
 
3.1 Introduction 
 
The purpose of the following analysis is to identify what remains of the original fabric or 
early building components together with their integrity and condition, to facilitate an 
assessment for heritage significance. Internal inspection of all buildings (except Lido Suites 
at 2 Roslyn Street) were carried out in 26 April 2018. The conditions of the buildings at the 
time of inspection was recorded on marked up plans and digital photographs and later 
identified on various tables. The descriptions below reflect the state of all the properties at 
the time of inspection by PTW Architects. 
 
3.2 Site and Setting 
 
The properties are located on the eastern side of Darlinghurst Road which follows the ridge 
line of the area. Three of the properties have corner sites facing either Barncleuth Square or 
Roslyn Street. Barncleuth Lane provides service function at the rear of the various 
properties. Together these properties form a visual component to Darlinghurst Road and 
contribute to an overall historic pattern of the place.   
 
3.3 Components of the Place  
 
The Darlinghurst Road elevation of the building group consist of a variety of buildings and 
heights, varying in date from the late 19th century to mid‐20th century. The urban character 
of the place is of a cohesive street edge aligned buildings, with a mixture of uses, as noted 
under the entry of the Potts Point Conservation Area (C51): 
 
Darlinghurst Road forms part of a "bright light" entertainment and commercial strip, and 
features various forms of commercial and retail enterprises along with cafes, take away 
food shops, gaming venues, bars, hotels and adult entertainment venues. The built form is 
predominantly 3‐4 storey commercial with some residential. 

 
Information is taken from: 
http://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/heritageapp/ViewHeritageItemDetails.aspx?ID=243
5711 

 
The subject block displays a number of important characteristics and historic urban 
features. This includes a subdivision pattern dating to the late 1890s and a diversity of urban 
scale, indicative of historic change in the area. This is most indicative in the change from 
large mansion terraces for single families to multiple single room boarding houses with 
ground floor retail uses. Later purpose‐built apartment buildings with night club uses, 
incorporating illuminated signage, contributed to the cosmopolitan and complex urban 
pattern. Sections of the building at No. 22‐24, the Bourbon and Beefsteak Bar, date from 
1904 and have elements indicative of the late Italianate / Boom period. Kingsley Hall at No. 
18 has elements indicative of the Art Deco period while The Empire, at No. 32 has a curved 
corner façade dating from the early 1960s. Other buildings in the group were built as face 
brick yet these have been painted. Also of interest is the way the front gardens of the 
remaining terrace houses in this block have been filled while others have been adapted over 
the years to become active and social street frontages (refer to figures 33‐34). 
 
The following table (refer to Table 1) confirms the architectural character of each property 
in the group. It is noted that the properties do not contain any landscape components of 
potential significance. 
   

65



 

39 

 

Table 1 – Phases of building development 
 

Address  Building name/s 

 

General description and architectural style, including original 

designer and dates 

 
1A Elizabeth Bay Rd 

 
Kingsley Hall 

10 storey face brick apartment building dating to 1929. 
 
Designed by Emil Sodersteen 
 
Architectural Style: Art Deco with Scottish Baronial detailing, 
(ground floor and many of the apartments now modified)  
 

 
18‐20 Darlinghurst Rd 

 
formerly Lowestoft 

Originally a 3‐storey terrace house dating to 1896 
 
Modified as a boarding house with full height street addition 
and ground floor retail uses with BA dated 1929 
 
Architectural Style: Evidence of original terrace house in 
Italianate style. Inter‐war 1920s street addition 
incorporating Mediterranean details 
 

22‐28 Darlinghurst Rd  22‐24 Darlinghurst Rd  
 
No. 22, formerly St Louis, 
later The Russell  
 
 
 
No. 24, formerly The 
Charlemount later 
Charlemont, The Gleneagles 
Hotel, then the Greyeagles 
Hotel 
 
No. 22‐28, later being known 
as Bourbon and Beefsteak 
Bar, now The Bourbon Hotel 
 

Originally built in 1904 as a pair of speculative up market 
terrace ‘mansions’, The Russell and The Charlemount 
consisted of two 3‐ storey terraces with basements. The 
Charlemount was later modified as a private hospital (on 
two separate occasions), then as a boarding house then as a 
nightclub. The site later became the Bourbon Beefsteak Bar 
 
An addition to part of 24 Darlinghurst Road, designed by 
Frank Kolos in 1956, involved removing the distinctly 
Italianate window bay and parapet 
 
 
Evidence of original late Italianate / Boom Style  
Evidence of Modernist style street addition 
Evidence of the front garden being adapted to become an 
active and important social space. 
 

26‐28 Darlinghurst Rd 
formerly Lister and Lynn, 
later Uralla and Lynn. 
 
Later becoming The Radnor, 
then the Bourbon and Beef 
Steakhouse Bar, now The 
Bourbon Hotel 
 

Originally built c. 1904 as Lister and Lynn, a 2‐ storey face 
brick Federation terrace incorporating 2 buildings 
 
Later modified as a boarding house with various ground 
floor retail uses, followed by various nightclub uses 
 
No evidence of original fabric 
 

30‐30B Darlinghurst Rd  The Commodore Flats 
 

A 7‐storey face brick apartment building designed as an 
“American Style Apartment” in 1925‐26 
Only one half of the building as designed was built 
 
Inter‐war architectural style with Edwardian free style 
detailing, now modified and painted 
 

32‐32A Darlinghurst Rd  Upper storey nightclub 
known as Les Girls in 1961 
 
 
Site included the Carousel 
Lounge and the Palladium 
nightclubs before becoming 
The Empire Hotel 

A 3‐storey curved corner mixed use building dating to 1961. 
Original designed included ground floor retail uses and an 
upper level restaurant and offices on the top floor, to a 
design by Neville Gruzman 
 
Evidence of level one night club remains. It is here that Les 
Girls performed from 1962 – 1980s.  
Evidence of original architectural style: Modernism 
 

2 Roslyn St  Formerly Clivedon Flats, later 
Lido Motel, now Lido Suites 
 

A 4‐storey painted face brick building (lane elevation 
remains unpainted)  
 
Inter‐war architectural style, now modified 

66



 

40 

 

3.4 Phases of Development 
 
The following diagrams identify the key phases of development within each property. These 
are overlaid on the existing plans as reconstructed from various sources, including a site 
inspection undertaken on 26 April 2018.  
 
Refer figures 32‐34  
 
3.4.1 Exterior, including schedule of Significant Elements 
 
The exterior character of each building in the group is tabulated, noting that the properties 
do not contain any landscape components of potential significance. 
 
3.4.2 Interior 
 
Internally, the building group varies in quality with most properties retaining the primary 
spatial relationship of rooms generally as planned except for the Bourbon and Beefsteak 
House and the street level of The Empire.  
 
The internal character of the building group is tabulated as follows, noting that most 
properties have been modified and do not contain fabric of potential significance. 
 
Refer Tables 2 ‐ 15 
 
 
 
   

67



 

41 

 

  
Figure 32: Phases of building development. Ground 
 
 
 
 
   
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
   

68



 

42 

 

Figure 33: Phases of building development. Typical upper level 
 
 
 
   
 
 
   

69



 

43 

 

Figure 34: Phases of building development. Darlinghurst Road Street Elevation  
   

70



 

44 

 

Table 2 – EXTERIOR, Kingsley Hall, 1A Elizabeth Bay Road,  
Schedule of Significant Elements 
 

Element  Component   Evidence of original fabric 

Exterior: Darlinghurst Road and 
Barncleuth Square  

   

 

Street Level 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Darlinghurst Rd elevation contains 
original wall fabric 
 
 
Barncleuth Lane elevation now 
modified with recent rendered 
arched openings relating to new 
colonnade and retail use: original 
ground floor apartment adapted c. 
1975 

 

Middle and upper 
Portion 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Original wall fabric: Face brick walls 
with casement and hopper windows 
replaced with similar style windows 
c.1975 

  Parapet  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Original face brick wall fabric and 
decorative parapet brickwork 
retained 

71



 

45 

 

Exterior: Barncleuth Lane     

 
 

Street Level 
 
 
 
Middle to Upper 
Portion 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Some modification at laneway with 
new colonnade opening onto a stair 
case c.1975   
 
Original wall fabric: painted rendered 
walls with original painted timber 
double hung sash and casement 
windows; painted cast iron plumbing 

 

Lightwell  
 
 
 
 
 

Original wall fabric painted render 
with recent windows 

Roof    Not visited 

   

72



 

46 

 

Table 3 – INTERIOR, Kingsley Hall, 1A Elizabeth Bay Road,  
Schedule of Significant Elements 
 

Element  Component   Evidence of original fabric 

Interior     

 

Foyer  Original floor finish, walls and ceiling 
modified 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Stairway  Original fabric: terrazzo stair, timber 
balustrades and rough cast render to 
walls.  
Evidence of original colour (green) 
identified at ground floor. 
 
 

73



 

47 

 

 

 

Common Hall 
 

Level 1 and L8 visited: 
Original skirting profiles, all other 
finishes modified 
 
 

 

Typical Apartment  Single bedroom apartment L8. 
Internal wall layout generally remains 
as designed: rooms opening out onto 
a breezeway for access to kitchen 
and bathroom. The finishes to these 
areas are now modified.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

74



 

48 

 

Table 4 – EXTERIOR, formerly Lowestoft, 18‐20 Darlinghurst Road,  
Schedule of Significant Elements 
 

Element  Component   Evidence of original fabric 

Exterior: Darlinghurst Road     

 

Street Level 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Modified, new cantilevered street 
awnings, signage and recent tilework 
to retail chemist use 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Middle and Upper 
Portion including 
parapet  
 
 
 
 
 

Painted render walls c. 1920s 
(More recent façade to the 1890s 
terrace house) 
Roundels incorporated as decorative 
features and shown installed before 
c. 1930 
 
Early painted double hung sash 
timber windows with lead lights to 
each floor in the 1920s addition 
 
Early painted rendered parapet and 
cornice with decorative brackets 
remain 
 
Early painted terracotta wall vents 
remain  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

75



 

49 

 

Exterior: Barncleuth Lane     

 

Street, Middle 
and upper Portion 
 
 
 

Street level section has evidence of 
original painted rendered terrace 
house walls with incised line work 
(assumed part of the 1890s terraced  
 
Upper storey is a  
painted rendered addition with 
aluminium framed windows 

 

Side walls 
 
 
 
 

Original double hung sash windows, 
rear balcony wall and painted 
rendered walls (with incised line work 
representing ashlar coursing) to 
1890s terrace. 
 

Roof     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Party wall and 
chimney  
 
 

Evidence of original painted rendered 
party wall (with coping) and 
decorative moulded chimney 

   

76



 

50 

 

Table 5 – INTERIOR, formerly Lowestoft 18‐20 Darlinghurst Road, Schedule of Significant 
Elements 
 

Element  Component   Evidence of original fabric 

Interior     

 

Street entry   Modified 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Stairway L1 and 
L2 

Original timber staircase with turned 
banister, balustrade and scroll work, 
part of 1890s terrace (now painted). 
 
Wall and ceiling finishes now 
modified.  
 
 
 

77



 

51 

 

 

Former 
Apartment 

Original room layout of 1890s terrace 
is retained, although lower sections 
of walls were removed during the 
1920s adaption from single terrace 
house to boarding house with 
multiple rooms.  
 
Early 1920s street addition remains 
with internal walls removed to make 
a single space. 
 
Evidence suggests that plaster 
ceilings with cornices and ceiling 
roses are not original. 
 
Original fireplaces (note corner 
beading to chimney breasts) but 
modified with more recent over 
mantles (x2 in Arts and Crafts Style) 
relating to when the new façade was 
added in c. 1929 
 
Fireplace overmantels are in good 
condition, painted. Evidence of 
tuckpointed brick panels within 
fireplace opening.  
 
 

   

78



 

52 

 

Table 6 – EXTERIOR, The Bourbon Hotel (formerly The Russell and The Charlemount, later 
Charlemont, Gleneagles Hotel, The Greyeagle Hotel, Bourbon and Beefsteak Bar),  
22‐24 Darlinghurst Road, northern section of The Bourbon Hotel, Schedule of Significant 
Elements 
 

Element  Component   Evidence of original fabric 

Exterior: Darlinghurst Road      

 

Street Level 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Evidence of original ‘mansion’ terrace 
house form 
 
Modified with original front garden, 
now as an outdoor sitting terrace for 
night club use.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Middle Portion 
 
Parapet and 
upper portion 
 
 
 
 
 

Original wall fabric: painted render to 
former Italianate dwelling c. 1890 
 
To level 2, original tessellated 
tilework to balcony floor remains 
within The Russell. Possibly locally 
made by Bakewell Bros.* 
 
Original painted render wall and 
decorative mouldings parapet remain 
to The Russell 
 
Evidence of upper sections of 
Charlemount mansion terrace 
remains, together with 1950s street 
addition.  
 
Evidence of 1950s street addition 
first trading as Gleneagles night club, 
later portion of The Bourbon Hotel 
(The Bourbon and Beefsteak Bar) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
* Refer to research undertaken by Sydney 
Living Museum on the Bakewell Bros, 
including the supply of Sydney made floor 
tiles 

79



 

53 

 

Exterior: Barncleuth Lane     

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Street Level, 
Middle and upper 
Portion 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Evidence of earlier fabric consisting 
of painted render with incised 
coursing line work remains to early 
20th century building. 
 
Sections of elevation now modified 
including early openings.  
 
Evidence of external sections of The 
Russell and Charlemount mansion 
terraces remain. 

Roof     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Party wall and 
chimney  
 
 

Evidence of original painted rendered 
party wall and chimney to The Russell 
remains 

 
   

80



 

54 

 

 
Table 7 – INTERIOR, The Bourbon Hotel (formerly The Russell and The Charlemount, later 
Charlemont, Gleneagles Hotel, The Greyeagle Hotel, Bourbon and Beefsteak Bar),  
22‐24 Darlinghurst Road, northern section of The Bourbon Hotel, Schedule of Significant 
Elements 
 

Element  Component   Evidence of original fabric 

Interior     

 

 

Ground  Modified 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

First  Severely modified. No original wall 
lines remain.  
 
Original brickwork remains to front 
street wall, party walls and rear 
boundary wall, including evidence of 
original 19th fireplaces to northern 
party wall (adjoining Lowestoft) and 
former internal wall junctions.  
 

81



 

55 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

Second  Severely modified. No original walls 
remain and is currently in a semi 
derelict state.  
 
Door and window to original street 
balcony remains  
 
Original brickwork remains to front 
street wall, party walls and rear 
boundary wall, including evidence of 
original 19th century doors with 
fanlights.  
 
Notice the change in floor levels 
between the threshold of the early 
lane facing French doors and current 
floor. 

 
   

82



 

56 

 

Table 8 – EXTERIOR, southern section of The Bourbon Hotel, (formerly Lister and Lynn, 
later Uralla and Lynn, The Radnor and The Bourbon and Beefsteak Bar),  
26‐28 Darlinghurst Road, Schedule of Significant Elements 
 

Element  Component   Evidence of original fabric 

Exterior: Darlinghurst Road      

 

Street Level and 
upper walls  
 
 
 
 

Modified with recent addition 

Exterior: Barncleuth Lane     

 

Street Level and 
upper walls  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Modified, with recent face brick 
addition 

Roof     

    Not inspected, evidence suggests 
roof is now modified 

   

83



 

57 

 

Table 9 – INTERIOR, southern section of The Bourbon Hotel, (formerly Lister and Lynn, 
later Uralla and Lynn, The Radnor and The Bourbon and Beefsteak Bar),  
26‐28 Darlinghurst Road, Schedule of Significant Elements 
 

Element  Component   Evidence of original fabric 

Interior     

 

 
 

Ground  Severely modified; no evidence of 
original and/or early fabric 

 

 
 

 
 

First and second  Severely modified; no evidence of 
original and/or early fabric 

 
   

84



 

58 

 

Table 10 – EXTERIOR, The Commodore Flats, 30‐30A Darlinghurst Road,  
Schedule of Significant Elements 
 

Element  Component   Evidence of original fabric 

Exterior: Darlinghurst Road     

 

Street Level 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Modified, new cantilevered street 
awning with painted rendered for 
retail uses 

 
 

Middle Portion 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Modified: face brickwork now 
painted with windows replaced with 
aluminium frames; recent louver 
panels and boxes to conceal A/C 
units. 
 
Original cable stay tram brackets are 
retained 
 

 

Parapet and 
upper portion 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Original fabric: decorative painted 
rendered cornice with rendered 
parapet coping remain 

85



 

59 

 

Side elevation     

 

 
 

Side, south facing 
elevation 

Evidence of early fabric: painted 
render, terracotta wall vents and 
cast‐iron plumbing 
 
Windows modified: replaced with 
aluminium frames 
 

Roof     

 

 
 

 
 
 

Original hipped roof profiles remain 
with Marseille tiles (assumed recently 
replaced) 
 
 

 
   

86



 

60 

 

Table 11 – INTERIOR, The Commodore Flats, 30‐30A Darlinghurst Road,  
Schedule of Significant Elements 
 

Element  Component   Evidence of original fabric 

Interior     

 

 
 

Ground Floor 
Foyer 

Modified: timber wall and ceiling 
panelling is recent 
 
Original concrete staircase with 
terrazzo treads and painted timber 
Arts and Crafts style balustrade 

 

 
 

 
 

Typical Common 
Hall 

Common Corridor: original plan 
configuration of corridor with 
modified finishes 
 
Original concrete staircase with 
terrazzo treads and landings. 
 
Stair balustrade is original, consisting 
of Arts and Crafts style timber 
balustrade, now painted 

87



 

61 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Typical Serviced 
Apartment 

Rooms on L1 and L4 visited. 
 
Modified: in some instances, original 
room plan configuration, however 
modified with new bathrooms and 
additional rooms. 
All finishes are recent.  
 

   

88



 

62 

 

Table 12 – EXTERIOR, The Empire Hotel (formerly Les Girls, The Carousel Lounge and The 
Palladium), 32 Darlinghurst Road, Schedule of Significant Elements 
 

Element  Component   Evidence of original fabric 

Exterior: Darlinghurst Road and Roslyn 
Street 

   

 
 

Darlinghurst 
Street elevation 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Exterior retains its three storey mixed 
use appearance although now 
modified 

 

 
 

Roslyn Street 
Elevation  
 
 
 
 
 

Exterior retains its three‐storey mixed 
use appearance although now 
modified 
 
Street awning is now modified 

Roof   
 
 

 

 

  Original roof profiles retained 

   

89



 

63 

 

Table 13 – INTERIOR, The Empire Hotel (formerly Les Girls, The Carousel Lounge and The 
Palladium), 32 Darlinghurst Road, Schedule of Significant Elements 
 

Element  Component   Evidence of original fabric 

Interior     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ground  Modified 
 
Previously individual shops, now 
modified and forming part of the 
hotel 

 

Staircases   Earlier intervention of entry staircase 
off Darlinghurst Road retained 
 
Original internal staircase c. 1961 
with terrazzo risers and tread finish 
and painted square section metal 
balustrade 
 
Original three storey mixed use 
building retained although now 
modified 

 

 

First Floor  Original nightclub space is retained, 
although finishes now modified 
 

90



 

64 

 

 

 
 

Second Floor  Original nightclub space (stage end of 
Les Girls) is retained, although 
finishes are now modified 
 
Earlier arrangement of toilets (refer 
to 1962 alteration plan) is retained. 

 
   

91



 

65 

 

Table 14 – EXTERIOR, Lido Suites (formerly Clivedon, Lido Motel), 2 Roslyn Street, 
Schedule of Significant Elements 
 

Element  Component   Evidence of original fabric 

Exterior: Roslyn Street     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Street Level 
 
 
Middle Portion  
 
 
 
 
Parapet and 
upper portion 
 
 

Modified: recent stone cladding and 
doorframes added. 
 
Modified: painted face brick walls 
with aluminium windows added c. 
1970. 
Original bay fronts are retained. 
 
Modified: painted face brick walls; 
aluminium windows added c. 1970  
 
 
 

Exterior: Barncleuth Lane     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Elevation 
generally 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Original face brick wall finish and 
lintels; aluminium framed windows 
added c. 1970. 
 

Roof     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Roof   Original parapets, modified with 
changes to lift motor room. 

  

92



 

66 

 

Table 15 – INTERIOR, Lido Suites (formerly Clivedon, Lido Motel), 2 Roslyn Street, 
Schedule of Significant Elements 
 

Interior     

 
No illustration 
 
 
 

Foyer  Modified 

 
No illustration 
 
 
 

Typical Common 
Hall 

Not visited 

 
No illustration  
 
 
 

Typical Serviced 
Flats 

Not visited 

 
  

93



 

67 

 

4.0 COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS 
 
4.1 Aims and Approach 
The purpose of the comparative analysis is to provide supporting information for Section 5 
Analysis of Significance. This analysis relates to the rarity and/or representative status of the 
place/site/item overall and/or its components or attributes. This section identifies the range 
of building types including key features, characteristics and/or historic themes. 
 
4.2 Introduction 
From the physical evidence, the building group of at 1A Elizabeth Bay Road, 18‐32 
Darlinghurst Road and 2 Roslyn Street were originally constructed during various times and 
with different uses. The physical evidence together with various plans is consistent with the 
development of a mixed building group up until the mid‐1960s. 

 
4.3 Aspects of Comparison 
A range of building types and associated historic themes within an area characteristic of 
terraces in the High Victorian style, Inter‐war purpose built flats and mixed‐use commercial 
buildings in the Modernist style are identified in this section. These themes and building 
types form a complex collection of buildings.  The complexity of this urban block is reflected 
in the range of significant themes. The following are noted: 
 
4.3.1 Large ‘mansion’ Terrace Houses 
The speculative development of ‘mansion’ terraces for prosperous families continued up 
until 1910s as these began to transition to high class boarding ‘homes’ for gentlemen 
and/or gentlewomen. Interestingly these mansion terraces were built either by property 
investors or philanthropists. A similar pattern of 'decline' occurred with large mansion 
terraces and villa residences being subdivided elsewhere within inner Sydney suburbs, for 
example Glebe, during the early 20th century. There was a concentration of private 
hospitals within Darlinghurst, again a characteristic type of the area. It was very unusual for 
a woman, however, to establish a private hospital of this scale as did Susan Bell McGahey 
with The Charlemount Private Hospital (refer Table 16). 
 
Table 16 – Large ‘up market mansion’ Terrace Houses, c1890s 
 

Name and Address  Date and Description  Listing  SHR Criteria (f) and (g) 

Terrace Group “Byrock” and 
“Uralla” Including Interiors 
and Front Fencing 
 
21‐23 Challis Avenue, Potts 
Point 

Pair of 3 ‐storey grand semi‐
detached late Victorian 
Italianate terraces c. 1893 with 
palisade fence. Part of a row of 
grand terraces. 
Adaptively reused as a hotel 

LGOV  f) Rarity:  
The terraces are not rare 
 
g) Representativeness: 
Representative example of pair of 
grand Victorian Italinate semi‐
detached terraces 
 

Terrace Group “Highclere” 
and “Romney Hall” 
Including Interiors and 
Front Fencing 
 
25‐27 Challis Avenue, Potts 
Point 

Pair of 3 ‐storey grand semi‐
detached late Victorian 
Italianate terraces c. 1893 with 
palisade fence. Part of a row of 
grand terraces. 
Adaptively reused as flats 

LGOV  f) Rarity:  
The building is not rare 
 
g) Representativeness: 
Representative example of pair of 
grand Victorian Italinate semi‐
detached terraces 
 

Terrace House “Saraville” 
Including Interior 
 
29 Challis Avenue, Potts 
Point 

A grand late Victoria terrace 
built c. 1893. Part of a row of 
grand terraces. 
Now modified. 

LGOV  g) Representativeness: 
Representative example of a grand 
Victorian Italianate terrace found in 
the inner suburbs of Sydney 
 

   

94



 

68 

 

4.3.2 Inter‐War Flat Buildings 
During this period, there was an increase in residential density incorporating the 
construction of purpose built ‘American style flats’ or as a modification of existing houses 
(often continuing a residential existing use). The Potts Point and Elizabeth Bay area became 
known for apartment living as distinct from those wishing to live in a house within a 
suburban setting. In addition to this, the luxury flat of the area was designed to overlook the 
harbour and take advantage of the views. 
 
High rise apartment housing was located across Sydney city, the eastern part of the city and 
Manly (refer Table 17). 
 
Table 17 – Inter War Flat Buildings, 1918‐1939 
 

Name and Address  Date and Description  Listing  SHR Criteria 
Flat Building “Birtley 
Towers” Including Interior  
 
8 Birtley Place, Elizabeth 
Bay 

A significant freestanding Inter 
War Art Deco style apartment 
building designed by the 
architect Emil Sodersteen, built 
1933‐1934 

LGOV  g) Representativeness: 

A fine representative example of an 

Inter ‐ war Art Deco style residential 

flat building found in the inner 

suburbs of Sydney 
 

Flat Building “Wychbury” 
Including Interior 
 
5 Manning Street, Potts 
Point 

A significant mid‐block Inter‐
war Art Deco style apartment 
building designed by the 
architect Emil Sodersteen, built 
c. 1934 

LGOV  f) Rarity:  
The building is not rare but its 
integrity and fine detailing is rare in 
the local area 
 
g) Representativeness: 
The building is a fine representative 
example of an Inter‐war Art Deco 
apartment building found in the 
inner suburbs of Sydney. 
 

Bachelor Flats “7 Elizabeth 
Street” 
 
7 Elizabeth Street, Sydney 
City 

A significant mid‐block Inter‐
war Art Deco style apartment 
building designed by the 
architect Emil Sodersteen, with 
interiors by Marion Hall Best, 
built c. 1939. 
Demolished by the NSW State 
Government, 2018 

LGOV  f) Rarity:  
The building is rare within the 
centre of the CBD 
 
g) Representativeness: 
The building is a representative 
example of an Inter war block of 
apartments found in the centre of 
Sydney. 
 

 
4.3.3 World War II 
R & R for Americans and other armed forces took place in Potts Point/ Darlinghurst area. 
This theme was repeated in the 1960s and early 1970s during the Vietnam War. 
 
 
4.3.4 Sydney as a Tolerant Post‐War City 
Gay /Lesbian residents had been living in the Potts Point / Darlinghurst area well before the 
night clubs of the early 1960s. It is suggested that this community have been living in the 
area since the 1920s. ‘Drag shows’ have been held in the Darlinghurst area since the 1960s; 
first at the Jewel Box, then later at Les Girls.  Les Girls remains the most well‐known and the 
longest running venue, eventually closing in the 1980s. 
 

It is known that the LGBTQI community are a longstanding community living in the 
Darlinghurst area. Other cultural groups, such as the Polish/Russian Jews, have historic 
associations with the Potts Point / Darlinghurst area. This was a close‐knit community group 

95



 

69 

 

that socialised at home within a tolerant suburb (refer Table 18). 

 
Table 18 – Post‐War LGBTQI venues, 1960s 
 

Name and Address  Date and Description  Listing  SHR Criteria 

Commercial Building 
Including Interior 
 
163‐169 Oxford Street 

Victorian Free Classical style 
commercial building 
incorporating Capriccio’s 
nightclub, an important focus 
for the Sydney gay community 
from 1969‐ early 1980s. 

LGOV  g) Representativeness: 
Fine representative example of a 
Victorian Free Classical commercial 
building 
 
 

 
4.4.4 Kings Cross “in the heart of uptown Sydney”, Mixed Use Commercial Buildings 

The area became an important destination for R&R and entertainment for the gay/lesbian 
community, as well as the ‘straight’ community. In some cases, this resulted in specifically 
designed commercial buildings containing a mix of uses within the one building. 

 
Those who visited the ‘Cross’ would seek a ‘night on the town’ by attending the night clubs. 
Photographic documentation from the 1950s onwards confirm a mixture of residential uses, 

retail uses, restaurants (serving wine) and night clubs along the northern sections of 
Darlinghurst Road.  ‘Les Girls’ with its famous sign in ‘wild‐west font’ is mentioned in the 
suburb entry for Darlinghurst within the Dictionary of Sydney (refer Table 19). 

 
Table 19 – Mixed‐use post war buildings, 1960s 
 

Name and Address  Date and Description  Listing  SHR Criteria 

“Gaden House” 
 
24‐26 Double Bay 

A substantially intact 4‐storey 
commercial office building with 
ground floor retail uses by 
Neville Gruzman, built 1968‐
1971 
 

Not 
listed 

Not applicable 
 

   

96



 

70 

 

5.0 ANALYSIS OF SIGNIFICNACE  
 
5.1 Introduction 
Cultural significance (or heritage significance), as defined by the Burra Charter (2013) means 
‘aesthetic, historic, scientific, social or spiritual value for past, present or future 
generations’. Heritage significance is “embodied in the place itself, its fabric, setting, use, 
associations, meanings, records, related places and related objects.” These values are 
considered in accordance with NSW Heritage Assessment Criteria as follows. 
 
5.2 City of Sydney, Sydney Local Environmental Plan (LEP) 2012 
The building group is within the Potts Point Heritage Conservation Area (C51) pursuant to 
the Sydney LEP 2015 (refer figure 2 and table 20).  
 
5.3 Historic Themes 
The SHI listing for the Potts Point Conservation Area identified 3 of the 37 New South Wales 

historical themes as relevant to the Conservation Area. 

 

Table 20 – Historic Themes 

 

Australian theme (abbrev)  New South Wales theme  Local theme 

3. Economy‐Developing local, 

regional and national economies  

Commerce‐Activities relating to buying, selling and exchanging 

goods and services  

 

(none)‐  

4. Settlement‐Building 

settlements, towns and cities  

Accommodation‐Activities associated with the provision of 

accommodation, and particular types of accommodation – does 

not include architectural styles – use the theme of Creative 

Endeavour for such activities.  

 

Residential‐  

4. Settlement‐Building 

settlements, towns and cities  

Land tenure‐Activities and processes for identifying forms of 

ownership and occupancy of land and water, both Aboriginal and 

non‐Aboriginal  

 

Villas‐  

 
Information is taken from: 
http://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/heritageapp/ViewHeritageItemDetails.aspx?ID=2435711 

 

The ability of the properties to demonstrate the main themes is integral to the following 
analysis of fabric and assessment of significance related to activities associated with a range 
of themes. From a comparative assessment, it is concluded that the main themes 
represented in the building group at 1A Elizabeth Bay Road, 18‐32 Darlinghurst Road and 2 
Roslyn Street are: 
 

 Philanthropy; 

 Property investment; 

 Accommodation: terrace house, boarding house and apartment; 

 High density living and domestic life;  

 Commerce; 

 Significant persons; 

 Established migration; 

 Private hospitals and nurses training; 

 Welfare; 

 Entertainment; and 

 Tolerance of the LGBTQI Community. 
   

97



 

71 

 

 
5.4 Assessment and Items of Significance 

From the analysis of the building fabric, together with analysis of the documentary 

evidence, many of the sites do meet the threshold of local heritage significance and suitable 
for inclusion in the Sydney LEP. The following is noted: 
 

_Important characteristics of the streetscape and character of this city block are to be 
reflected in any site specific DCP 
 

_In terms of overall form, Kingsley Hall (1A Elizabeth Bay Road) retains a high degree of 
integrity externally while part of the Bourbon Hotel (former The Russell and former The 
Charlemount) (22‐24 Darlinghurst Road) together with The Empire Hotel (containing the 

former night club Les Girls) (32‐32A Darlinghurst Road) maintain a high level of heritage 
significance. It is recommended that each of these sites be individually listed as heritage 
items in Schedule 5 of the Sydney LEP 2012 (refer Tables 22‐23). 
 
_While they have all undergone changes to varying degrees since they were originally 
constructed, Lowestoft at 20 Darlinghurst Road, The Commodore at 30 Darlinghurst Road 
and the Lido Suites at 2 Roslyn Street, these three properties continue to meet the criteria 
established by the City of Sydney for contributory items, as outlined in the City of Sydney 
Development Control Plan 2012 (refer to figure 35). 
 

_It is recommended that if new development is to occur at an upper level at 20‐24 
Darlinghurst Road than appropriate setbacks be considered which recognise the heritage 

significance of the place. Also, the disposition of street awnings along the whole of the 
Darlinghurst Road facades be recognised in terms of historic importance (refer figures 36‐
37). 
   

98



 

72 

 

Table 21 – Kingsley Hall, 1A Elizabeth Bay Road, Potts Point 

 

Criterion  Significance  Comments 

(a) ‐ Historic: Evolution Important in 

the course, or pattern, of NSW’s 

cultural or natural history (or the 

cultural or natural history of the local 

area) 

 

Kingsley hall provides evidence in a change in 
housing type within the Potts Point area from 
boarding house (within a refurbished terrace) 
to purpose built 20th century residential 
apartment. The construction of the building 
dates from a key period in the development 
of Potts Point when taller purpose‐built luxury 
apartment buildings were being designed in 
consideration of amenity and function with 
apartments being planned efficiently with 
northerly aspect overlooking Sydney Harbour. 
 
Meets the criteria at State Level. 

Most evident in the presentation of the 
building to Darlinghurst Rd, Barncleuth 
Square and Macleay Street and with the plan 
of each apartment to have a view overlooking 
Sydney harbour 

(b)‐ Historic: Association Strong or 

special association with the life or 

works of a person, or group of 

persons, of importance in the cultural 

or natural history of NSW (or the local 

area) 

The building is associated with prominent 
inter war architect Emil Sodersteen who was 
one of the leading practitioners of the Art 
Deco style in Sydney during the Inter‐war 
period 
 
Meets the criteria at Local Level 

Most evident in the external façade detailing, 
including decorative parapet and modelling. 

(c ) ‐ Aesthetic 

Important in demonstrating aesthetic 

characteristics and/or a high degree of 

creative or technical achievement in 

NSW (or the local area) 

The building is a prominent element in the 
streetscape of Darlinghurst Road and is a fine 
example of an Inter‐War Art Deco residential 
flat building attributed to Emil Sodersteen. 
 
Meets the criteria at Local Level  

Most evident in the overall building form, the 
street face brick facades and the appearance 
of the building to Darlinghurst Rd, Barncleuth 
Square and Macleay Street. 

 (d) – Social 

Strong or special association with a 

particular community 

or cultural group in NSW (or the local 

area) for social, cultural or spiritual 

reasons 

Although not assessed as part of this report, 
this site is likely to have a high level of social 
significance for the local residential 
community. 
 
Meets the criteria at Local Level  

 

(e) – Research  

Potential to yield information that will 

contribute to an 

understanding of the cultural or 

natural history 

of NSW or the local area 

With surviving original features that date to 
the 1930s this flat building demonstrates 
construction methods and detailing of the 
period. 
 
Meets the criteria at Local Level 
 
 

Evident in the surviving fabric externally and 
internally.  

(f) – Rarity 

Possesses uncommon, rare or 

endangered aspects of the cultural or 

natural history of NSW or the local 

area 

 
Possibly does not meet this criterion and 
more historic analysis is required.  
 

 

(g)‐ Representativeness Important in 

demonstrating the principal 

characteristics of a class of cultural or 

natural places or cultural or natural 

environments of NSW or the local area 

The building is a fine representative example of 
an Inter War Art Deco apartment building 
found in the inner suburbs of Sydney. 
 
 
Meets the criteria at Local Level and 
contributes to the Potts Point Heritage 
Conservation Area 
 

Evident in the current form of the building 
together with a communal street entry. 

   

99



 

73 

 

Table 22 – Northern portion of The Bourbon Hotel,  

22‐24 Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point 
 

Criterion  Significance  Comments 

(a) ‐ Historic: Evolution Important in 

the course, or pattern, of NSW’s 

cultural or natural history (or the 

cultural or natural history of the local 

area) 

The development of the site is associated with 
changes in pattern of use representative of the 
area: from speculative terrace mansion house 
built for wealthy families from 1904 to private 
hospital, boarding house and night club. 
 
Meets the criteria at State Level. 

Most evident in the external façade detailing, 
including decorative parapet and later 
addition. 

(b)‐ Historic: Association Strong or 

special association with the life or 

works of a person, or group of 

persons, of importance in the cultural 

or natural history of NSW (or the local 

area) 

 

This place has a rich and complex pattern of 
varied uses and significant social groups. 
Origonally built formerly as mansion terraces 
The Russell and Charlemount by the 
speculative property and entrepreneurial 
Bakewell Brothers, these buildings later 
became either a private hospital, established 
by the prominent Sydney nurse Susan Bell 
McGahey, a ‘guest house’ or a night club. 
Once a rented family home for a wealthy 
professional family, this place later became a 
venue for the bohemian life of Darlinghurst 
Road. This site later acquired a risqué 
reputation when operating as Bourbon and 
Beefsteak Bar. 
 
Meets the criteria at State Level. 

Most evident in the external façade detailing, 
including decorative parapet and later 
addition. 

(c ) ‐ Aesthetic 

Important in demonstrating aesthetic 

characteristics and/or a high degree of 

creative or technical achievement in 

NSW (or the local area) 

 

With a remnant façade of a grand mansion 
terrace built as an investment property, this 
place has high aesthetic qualities.  
 
Later street façade at 24 Darlinghurst Road is a 
good example of post ‐war modernism 
designed by the émigré architect Frank Kolos. 
 
Meets the criteria at Local Level 

Most evident in the external façade detailing, 
and later addition. 

 (d) – Social 

Strong or special association with a 

particular community 

or cultural group in NSW (or the local 

area) for social, cultural or spiritual 

reasons 

Although not assessed as part of this report, 
recent media coverage of the proposed 
redevelopment of the subject site indicates a 
very high level of contemporary community 
esteem.  
 
Likely to meet the criteria at State Level. 

 

(e) – Research  

Potential to yield information that will 

contribute to an 

understanding of the cultural or 

natural history 

of NSW or the local area 

With surviving original features that date to 
the c. 1904 this building demonstrates 
construction methods and detailing of the 
period. 
 
Meets the criteria at Local Level 

Evident in the surviving external fabric. 

(f) – Rarity 

Possesses uncommon, rare or 

endangered aspects of the cultural or 

natural history of NSW or the local 

area 

The building provides evidence of a former 
way of life: the mansion terrace house. 
In addition to this and in its change of use to a 
private hospital, provides evidence of a 
significant human activity.  
 
Meets the criteria at Local Level 

Evident in the surviving external fabric. 

(g)‐ Representativeness Important in 

demonstrating the principal 

characteristics of a class of cultural or 

natural places or cultural or natural 

environments of NSW or the local area 

Representative example of a pair of grand 
terrace houses built in the late Italianate style. 
 
Meets the criteria at Local Level 

Evident in the surviving external fabric. 

   

100



 

74 

 

Table 23 – The Empire Hotel (the site of Les Girls Nightclub),  

32 Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point 
 

Criterion  Significance  Comments 

(a) ‐ Historic: Evolution Important in 

the course, or pattern, of NSW’s 

cultural or natural history (or the 

cultural or natural history of the local 

area) 

The building has significance as it dates from a 
key period in the development of Potts Point 
from residential uses to specific mixed‐use 
commercial uses. The architectural form and 
detail of the site is evident in the design of a 
mixed‐use commercial building designed and 
built during the early 1960s.  The design of this 
building was associated with a significant 
phase of cosmopolitan life within Potts Point 
where retail uses faced the street and night 
club uses were located to the upper level.  
 
As home for the performers Les Girls within 
the nightclub Les Girls, this formed an 
important focus for the entertainment of the 
Kings Cross area; and helped pioneer 
acceptability of the LGBTQI community. Here 
female impersonators Les Girls performed 
together with Carlotta, Australia’s first 
transgender patient. 
 
Meets the criteria at a State Level 
 

Most evident in the presentation of the 

building to Darlinghurst Rd. 

(b)‐ Historic: Association Strong or 

special association with the life or 

works of a person, or group of 

persons, of importance in the cultural 

or natural history of NSW (or the local 

area) 

The site is associated with the Nelson / Basser 
family who were Jewish philanthropists and 
important members of the Jewish community 
in Darlinghurst /Potts Point area.  
 
The building has links to the noted Australian 
architect Neville Gruzam.  
 
As a nightclub called Les Girls this is where Les 
Girls together with the noted Australian artist 
Carlotta, Australia’s first transgender patient, 
performed. This building was an important 
focus within Sydney's nightlife at the Cross 
during the 1960s and 1980s and an important 
focus for Sydney’s LGBTQI community. 
 
Meets the criteria at a State Level 
 

Most evident in the overall building form and 

the interior spaces known as Les Girls 

Nightclub. 

(c ) ‐ Aesthetic 

Important in demonstrating aesthetic 

characteristics and/or a high degree of 

creative or technical achievement in 

NSW (or the local area) 

It does not meet this criterion.   

 (d) – Social 

Strong or special association with a 

particular community 

or cultural group in NSW (or the local 

area) for social, cultural or spiritual 

reasons 

Although not assessed as part of this report, 
this site is likely to have a high level of 
contemporary community esteem to the 
former patrons of Le Girls as well as the 
LGBTQI community. 
 
Likely to meet the criteria at a State Level 
 

Most evident in the overall building form, the 

former distinctive signage ‘Les Girls’ and the 

interior spaces known as Les Girls Nightclub. 

(e) – Research  

Potential to yield information that will 

contribute to an 

understanding of the cultural or 

natural history of NSW or the local 

area 

It does not meet this criterion.   

101



 

75 

 

(f) – Rarity 

Possesses uncommon, rare or 

endangered aspects of the cultural or 

natural history of NSW or the local 

area 

It does not meet this criterion.   

(g)‐ Representativeness Important in 

demonstrating the principal 

characteristics of a class of cultural or 

natural places or cultural or natural 

environments of NSW or the local area 

The building in which housed Les Girls 
Nightclub is a representative example of a 
mixed use commercial building in the 
modernist style. This meets the criteria at a 
Local Level 
 
Meets the criteria at a Local Level 

Most evident in its surviving parts: 3 storey 
commercial building with interior spaces 
designed to change subject to retail use. 
Level one still retains its original night club 
spatial form. 

   

102



 

76 

 

Figure 35: Recommended Heritage Listings 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 

 

103



 

77 

 

 
Figure 36: Recommended roof top setbacks for new development, 20‐24 Darlinghurst Road 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
   
 
 
 
 
 
   
 
   

104



 

78 

 

Figure 37: Recommended street awning treatment  
 
 
 
 

 
   

105



 

79 

 

APPENDIX 
 
Tabulation of BA Drawings relative to this study, 
Contained within City of Sydney Archives 
   

106



 

80 

 

  Appendix A: Tabulation of BA Drawings relative to this study, 
contained within City of Sydney Archives 
 
Darlinghurst Road 
 

 
 
 
Comment 

 
 
 
IMG 

20  Proposed Alterations & Additions to No [unreadable] Darlinghurst 
Road, Darlinghurst including shop front, extension of back wing, 
with over‐head yard for laundry also S.O [sleep out] balconies and 
two extra bathrooms.  For Mrs A. A. Haslam, 116 Bellevue Road, 
Bellevue Hill 
 

Floor plan of 
house evident, 
typical, same plan 
as terrace houses, 
two storey rear 
wing. Stair in Hall  

3892 

20  Ditto    3893 

20  [part of drawing showing bedrooms] 
 
Additional work initialled J R, 11/7/ [19]29 

Shows sinks being 
added to each 
bedroom 

3894 

20  [Part of drawing showing new shopfront]  Shows new façade 
and detail of 
metal and plate 
glass shop front.  
Typical for the era 

3895 

20  Proposed Alterations & Additions to No [unreadable] Darlinghurst 
Road, Darlinghurst including shop front, extension of back wing, 
with over‐head yard for laundry also S.O [sleep out] balconies and 
two extra bathrooms.  For Mrs A. A. Haslam, 116 Bellevue Road, 
Bellevue Hill 
 

  3896 

20  [part of drawing showing back elevation & elevation to light area.]  Slate roof to front 
section of the 
house 

3897 

20  [BA] 0023/29 note to archivist    3898 

20  Supplementary drawings to plans approved Feb 21 1929) 
Alterations to No 20 Darlinghurst Road for Mrs A. A. Haslam. 
Proposed parapet at the Darlinghurst Rd Frontage 

Shows small 
section of tiled 
roof, new 
chimneys 

3899 

20  Amendment to drawing approved 13 June 1929.  Proposed 
parapet at No. 20 Darlinghurst Road for Mrs A. A. Haslam c/‐ R Guy 
59 Kings Cross Road, Darlinghurst 

Lettering 
Lowestoft and 
date 1929 
 
[R Guy Alice’s 
brother?] 

3900 
 

20  BA 0565/29 file reference    3901 

22‐24  Residential Buildings, Macleay Street, Sydney,  
Arthur B. Polin, Architect, Union Bank Chamber 
BA 19/0452 

[Don’t think this 
scheme is for this 
block, drawings 
also with No 30] 

0452 
 

24  Proposed new Operating Room, Charlemount, Darlinghurst Road 
for Ms McGahey 
Kent and Budden Architects 

[Kent and Budden 
did a lot of 
hospital work.] 

0658 

24  Proposed conversion of Charlemount Private Hospital 24 
Darlinghurst Road, Darlinghurst into Guest House for Mrs L M 
Boulton 
D E Walsh Architect, 4 Castlereagh Street, City 
2 sheets 

[Dallas E Walsh in 
Anne Higham’s 
list. No biography. 
Active Sydney 
1920s and 1930s 
see notes at end 
of file 

1934_0937 

24  Floor plan and proposed extension to 24 Darlinghurst Road, Kings 
Cross for Licensing purposes 
P2 
Proposed alterations to premises at 24‐26 Darlinghurst Road Kings 
Cross for B Houghton Esq 
Planner West and partners 

[Bourbon]  1968_0593 

107



 

81 

 

24  Proposed alterations and additions to ‘Gleneagles’ Private Hotel, 
Darlinghurst Road, Kings Cross  
F. G. Kolos, ARAIA, Sydney 
1 Mocata Avenue, Pymble 

1956  3902, 3093, 
3904, 
3905 
 

24  Exhaust fan from dining room 
M J Marshall P/L 

  3906, 3907 

24  Proposed alterations and additions to ‘Gleneagles’ Private Hotel, 
Darlinghurst Road, Kings Cross  
F. G. Kolos, ARAIA, Sydney 
1 Mocata Avenue, Pymble 

1956  3908 

24  [Enlargement of section]  1956  3909 

24  [Enlargement of section]  1956  3910 

24  [Enlargement of elevation] Kolos  1956  3911 

24  Proposed alterations and additions to ‘Gleneagles’ Private Hotel, 
Darlinghurst Road, Kings Cross  
F. G. Kolos, ARAIA, Sydney 
1 Mocata Avenue, Pymble 

1956 
Floor plans 

3912, 3913 

  Remainder of drawings also in this set    3914‐3944 
 

24  Plan of the Charlemont Private Hospital, 24 Darlinghurst Road, 
Darlinghurst 

Installation of a lift 
 
[shows the floor 
plan] 

0554_1926 

26‐28  Proposed new shops at 26‐28 Darlinghurst Road for Miss B. 
Ginsberg 

  1939_0874 p 1‐
2 

26‐28  Proposed new shops at 26‐28 Darlinghurst Road for Miss B. 
Ginsberg.  Existing Work. Architect: Richard G. Simpson  

  1939_0874 p 3 

26‐28  Proposed new shops at 26‐28 Darlinghurst Road for Miss B. 
Ginsberg [unreadable] Architect: Richard G. Simpson 

  1939_0874 p 4 

26‐28  Alterations to Radio Centre, 28 Darlinghurst Road, Kings Cross 
Douglas B. Snelling 

  1956_0800 

26‐28  Proposed new coffee shop fittings and new shopfront. Peter L. 
Kish of Bobbin Head Road, Pymble 

  1964_0853 

26‐28  Proposed Alterations & Additions to No. 26‐28 Darlinghurst Road, 
Peter Rommel & Associates of Potts Point ( 

  1967_0819 

26‐28  Proposed conversion of Showbiz Restaurant Peerless Engineering, 
Kentucky Fried Chicken 

  1968_1679 

30  Plan of Proposed Building, Roslyn Street, Darlinghurst for Hon T. G. 
Murray & S. B. Gange Esq. C. Hamilton Architect, D. T. Building, 
Sydney. BA 1051/25 
 

Elevation showing 
part to 
Darlinghurst Road 

1051 1995 
Front elevation 
 

30  Plan of Proposed Building, Roslyn Street, Darlinghurst for Hon T G 
Murray & S B Gange Esq. C Hamilton Architect, D T Building, 
Sydney. BA 1051/25 
 

Plan   1051 1995 
Ground Floor 
plan 

30  Residential Buildings Macleay Street Sydney 
Arthur B. Pollin, Architect, Union Bank chambers 68 ½ Pitt Street 

See No 24 also  Img_3381 

30  Plan of Proposed Building, Roslyn Street, Darlinghurst for Hon T. G. 
Murray & S. B. Gange Esq. C Hamilton Architect, D T Building, 
Sydney. BA 1051/25 
 

Sections  Img_3382 

30  Plan of Proposed Building, Roslyn Street, Darlinghurst for Hon T. G. 
Murray & S. B. Gange Esq. C Hamilton Architect, D. T. Building, 
Sydney. BA 1051/25 
 

Roof plan  Img_3383 

30  Plan of Proposed Building, Roslyn Street, Darlinghurst for Hon T. G. 
Murray & S. B. Gange Esq. C Hamilton Architect, D. T. Building, 
Sydney. BA 1051/25 
 

Elevations  Img_3384 

30  Plan of Proposed Building, Roslyn Street, Darlinghurst for Hon T. G.  Ground Floor Plan  Img_3385 

108



 

82 

 

Murray & S. B. Gange Esq. C Hamilton Architect, D. T. Building, 
Sydney. BA 1051/25 
 

30  Plan of Proposed Building, Roslyn Street, Darlinghurst for Hon T. G. 
Murray & S. B. Gange Esq. C Hamilton Architect, D. T. Building, 
Sydney. BA 1051/25 
 

Fourth, Fifth and 
Sixth floor plans 

Img_3386 

30  Plan of Proposed Building, Roslyn Street, Darlinghurst for Hon T. G. 
Murray & S. B. Gange Esq. C Hamilton Architect, D. T. Building, 
Sydney. BA 1051/25 
 

South Elevation  Img_3387 

30  Plan of Proposed Building, Roslyn Street, Darlinghurst for Hon T. G. 
Murray & S. B. Gange Esq. C Hamilton Architect, D. T. Building, 
Sydney. BA 1051/25 
 

Section  Img_3388 

30  Plan of Proposed Building, Roslyn Street, Darlinghurst for Hon T. G. 
Murray & S. B. Gange Esq. C Hamilton Architect, D. T. Building, 
Sydney. BA 1051/25 
 

Fourth, Fifth and 
Sixth floor plans 

Img_3389 

  File ref for 1051/25     

32  Proposed Awning alterations 
Dewar Structures P/L ltd  

  1977_1194 

32  Set of drawings for the Proposed new building at Corner of 
Darlinghurst Road with Roslyn Street, Kings Cross for G. Lehrer 
esq. Architect Neville Gruzman, BArch, Dip T&CP, 27 Hunter Street 

Approved Dec 
1962 

1961_1694 

  One drawing in the set is proposed changes to existing restaurant.    1965 
Stage and change 
room 

1961_1694 

  One drawing in the set is the Certificate of title  
[house labelled No.30] 

Dry cleaners, 
sportswear shop 
fish shops, outline 
of Fordon and 
verandah.  
Commodore first 
stage return 
meets Fordon 

1961_1694 

 
 

109



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
1 

ITEM DETAILS 
Name of Item 
 

Kingsley Hall  

Other Name/s 
Former Name/s 

 

Item type 
(if known) 

 

Item group 
(if known) 

 

Item category 
(if known) 

 

Area, Group, or 
Collection Name 

 

Street number 
 

1A  

Street name 
 

Elizabeth Bay Road 

Suburb/town 
 

Potts Point Postcode 2011 

Local Government 
Area/s 

City of Sydney 

Property 
description 

Lot 1 DP 191425 

Location - Lat/long 
 

Latitude 
 

 Longitude  

Location - AMG (if 
no street address) 

Zone 
 

 Easting  Northing  

Owner 
 

Strata Plan No. 10070, c/- Alldis and Cox 

Current use 
 

Residential Apartment 

Former Use 
 

 

Statement of 
significance 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Kingsley Hall at 1A Elizabeth Bay Road has a high degree of heritage significance at a local level.  
 
The apartment block provides evidence in a major change in housing type within the inner-city suburbs 
of Sydney, Potts Point area from boarding houses (within adapted terraces) to purpose-built high rise 
residential apartment blocks during the Interwar period. The construction of the building 
dates from a key period in the development of Potts Point, when taller purpose‐built luxury apartment 
buildings were being designed in consideration of amenity and function. 
 
The building is associated with prominent Interwar architect Emil Sodersteen who was one of the 
leading practitioners of the Art Deco style in Sydney during the Interwar period.  
 
The building is a prominent element in the streetscape of Darlinghurst Road and is a fine example of 
an Inter‐War Art Deco residential flat building with high quality brick detailing. 
 
With surviving original features that date from the 1930s, Kingsley demonstrates construction methods 
and detailing of the period. As such it is a fine representative example of an Interwar Art Deco 
apartment building found in the inner suburbs of Sydney 

Level of 
Significance 
 

 
State  

 
Local  

110



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
2 

 
DESCRIPTION 

Designer 
 

Emil Sodersteen (the spelling of the surname was changed to Sodersteen by deed poll in 1943) 

Builder/ maker 
 

 

Physical 
Description 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Kingsley Hall is a 10 storey Inter-War Art Deco apartment building on the corner of Darlinghurst Road 
and Barncleuth Square. 
 
It is a concrete framed building, clad in distinctive red face textured brickwork with Aztec motifs 
incorporated within the detailing of the brick parapets.  
 
The building is tightly planned, with four apartments to each floor all with a northerly aspect 
overlooking Sydney Harbour.  
 
The ground floor was designed to incorporate a street entry and retail space to face Darlinghurst 
Road. This was modified in the 1970s when the street entry was relocated off Barncleuth Square 
together with a second retail space. 
 

Physical condition 
and 
Archaeological 
potential 
 

The exterior face brick façade is in excellent condition.  
 
Some modification has occurred including replacement of the steel framed casement and hopper 
windows in the 1970s.  
 
The ground floor rear apartment facing Barnclueth Lane was modified in the 1970s, being altered to 
become a second retail space. 
  
Internally the stair and common halls retain original elements and finishes. 
 

Construction years 
 

Start year  Finish year 1929 Circa  

Modifications and 
dates 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The following is identified: 
 
1970s rear ground floor apartment modified to incorporate a new entry porch and retail space; 
 
1970s ground floor windows facing Barncleuth Square modified to incorporated round roman arch 
openings; and  
 
1970s casement and hopper steel window frames modified. 

Further comments 
 
 

The site is located on the corner of Darlinghurst Road to the north-west, Barncleuth Square to the 
north-east and 20 Darlinghurst Road to the south-west. 
 

111



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
3 

 
HISTORY 

Historical notes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Though there is little or no evidence of the indigenous occupation of the Potts Point area prior to 
European settlement, it is noted that they are known to have used the area and their dislocation dating 
from European settlement in the late 18th century is recognised. 
 
The land upon which Kingsley Hall was built was once part of the grounds of Roslyn Hall, a substantial 
villa designed for Thomas Barker by Ambrose Hallen around 1833. As per the other villas of 
Darlinghurst, Roslyn Hall was oriented towards the views of the harbour, set in extensive grounds and 
sited well back from Darlinghurst Road.  
 
From around the mid‐1850s onwards, the grounds of the large Darlinghurst villas were subdivided and 
rows of town houses or individual mansions were erected. The block fronting Darlinghurst Road, which 
had been subdivided from the grounds of Roslyn Hall, was put up for sale in September 1889. There 
appears to have been little initial interest in developing this block unlike the subdivision of the adjacent 
Barncleuth Estate, which had begun in the early 1880s. The subdivision of this block retained a portion 
of the grounds to Roslyn Hall and the house itself, which was separated from the subdivision by a 6m 
approx. (20ft) lane, later named Barncleuth Lane. The subdivision also created a street that separated 
the adjacent Barncleuth Estate and its house, becoming known as Barncleuth Square.  
 
The subdivision of the Roslyn Hall Estate was undertaken by the Sydney Permanent Freehold Land 
and Building Society. The original subdivision of the block incorporated eleven sites facing 
Darlinghurst Road: two corner sites were set out with a frontage of 9.2m approx. while nine mid‐block 
sites had a frontage of 8.24m approx. The Sands Directories and Rate books record that only one 
house was initially erected within the subdivision along Darlinghurst Road. Fordon at No. 32 
Darlinghurst Road, erected for Rose and Henry Nelson; this first appears in the rate books in 1891.  
 
From the mid-1920s, an increasing number of high-rise apartment developments were constructed in 
the Potts Point area. By 1929 Kings Cross was known both for its bohemian character and its 
aspirations to be more ‘continental’ in flavour, including basement jazz clubs established in the 
buildings further to the south. Young couples, spinsters, bachelors, homosexuals and artists, who 
wished to live life on their own terms, were drawn to the area and Darlinghurst/Kings Cross became 
the most densely populated area in Sydney.  
 
Kingsley Hall was designed by Emil Sodersteen and a building application for the block was submitted 
to Council in 1929. Initially the drive to Elizabeth Bay House started at the corner of Darlinghurst Road 
and Macleay Street and this street became Elizabeth Bay Road. When Kingsley Hall was erected the 
two substantial mansions Barncleuth (then Kiniel) and Maramanah were still in existence, as was 
Roslyn Hall to the rear. 
 
By March 1930 there was already a demand for the luxury flats in the area and Kingsley Hall, as was 
announced during construction, that 20 % had already been let. The block contained 20 flats and this 
was described as being 10 years ahead of its time. The planning was arranged so that there were no 
dark rooms. The front entry for Kingsley Hall, facing Darlinghurst Road at the time, appeared in the 
Construction & Real Estate Journal in November 1930 with a caption that there is something very 
delightful in a well‐designed doorway.  In 1933 Emil Sodersteen called tenders for renovations to 
Kingsley Hall, Darlinghurst Road. In 1936 there was an issue with a fire‐bug who lit five separate fires 
at Kingsley Hall. The apartment building, however, remains a sought after residential building with its 
landmark character and views north towards Sydney Harbour. 
 
During the 1970s, the building underwent some minor alterations, including the creation of an arched 
colonnade along Barncleuth Square and replacement of some of the metal casement windows. 

 

112



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
4 

 
THEMES 

National  
historical theme 
 
 

Theme 4  

State 
historical theme 
 
 

Within National themes 1-3: 
Commerce 
 
National themes 4-9: 
Accommodation 
Towns, suburbs and villages 
Domestic Life 
Persons 
 

 
 

113



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
5 

 
 

APPLICATION OF CRITERIA 
 
Historical  
significance 
SHR criteria (a) 
 
 
 

Kingsley hall provides evidence in a change in housing type within the Potts Point area from boarding 
house (within a refurbished terrace) to purpose built 20th century residential apartment. The 
construction of the building dates from a key period in the development of Potts Point when taller 
purpose-built luxury apartment buildings were being designed in consideration of amenity and function 
with apartments being planned efficiently with northerly aspect overlooking Sydney Harbour. 

 
Historical  
association 
significance 
SHR criteria (b) 
 
 
 

The building is associated with prominent inter-war architect Emil Sodersteen who was one of the 
leading practitioners in the design of purpose built apartment buildings of the Art Deco style in Sydney 
before WWII. 

 
Aesthetic 
significance 
SHR criteria (c) 
 
 
 

The building is a prominent element in the streetscape of Darlinghurst Road and is an excellent 
example of an Inter-War Art Deco residential flat building with high quality brick detailing. 

 
Social significance 
SHR criteria (d) 
 
 
 
 

Darlinghurst Road within Potts Point has social significance and reflective of a community which chose 
to live in a diverse high density non-suburban setting.   

 
Technical/Research 
significance 
SHR criteria (e) 
 
 
 

With surviving original features that date to the late 1920s this residential flat building demonstrates 
construction methods and detailing for a new high-density housing type. 

 
Rarity 
SHR criteria (f) 
 
 

Not used 

 
Representativeness  
SHR criteria (g) 
 
 

It is a fine representative example of an Inter-War Art Deco style residential flat building found in the 
inner suburbs of Sydney. 

 
Integrity  
 
 

The exterior and interior common areas retain historic integrity 

114



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
6 

 
HERITAGE LISTINGS 

Heritage listing/s 
 

LEP – Conservation Area 

 
 

AIA (NSW Chapter) List of Significant Buildings 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
INFORMATION SOURCES 

Include conservation and/or management plans and other heritage studies. 
Type Author/Client Title Year Repository 
Report 
 
 

PTW Architects for City of 
Sydney 

Heritage Assessment 
1A Elizabeth Bay Road, 18‐32 
Darlinghurst Rd and 
2 Roslyn St, Potts Point 

2018 City of Sydney 

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

Recommendations 
 
 
 
 

Any development of this site, including refurbishment, is to respect the Inter War art deco character of 
Kingsley Hall at 1A Elizabeth Bay Road through height, scale, materials and detail. 

 
SOURCE OF THIS INFORMATION 

Name of study or 
report 

Heritage Assessment 
1A Elizabeth Bay Road, 18‐32 Darlinghurst Rd and 
2 Roslyn St, Potts Point 

Year of study 
or report 

2018 

Item number in 
study or report 

 

Author of study or 
report 

PTW Architects 

Inspected by 
 

Glenn Harper, April 2018 

NSW Heritage Manual guidelines used? 
 

Yes  No  

This form 
completed  by 

Glenn Harper, Senior Associate PTW Architects Date    03-09-18 

115



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
7 

 

IMAGES - 1 per page 
 
Please supply images of each elevation, the interior and the setting. 
 
Image caption 
 
 

Aerial photograph of site, shown circled 
 

Image year 
 
 

2018 Image by  Image copyright 
holder 

Near Maps 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

116



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
8 

 
Image caption 
 
 

Western elevation of Kingsley Hall 
 

Image year 
 
 

2018 Image by Glenn Harper Image copyright 
holder 

Glenn Harper at 
PTW Architects 

 
 

 
 

 

117



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
9 

 
Image caption 
 
 

View of Kingsley Hall with original ground floor retail uses facing Darlinghurst Road, openings now slightly 
modified in the 1970s, image April 2018 
 

Image year 
 
 

2018 Image by Glenn Harper Image copyright 
holder 

Glenn Harper at 
PTW Architects 

 
 

 
 
 

118



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
10 

 
Image caption 
 
 

Detail view of façade at Barncleuth Square street level, modifications undertaken in 1970s, image April 
2018 
 

Image year 
 
 

2018 Image by Glenn Harper Image copyright 
holder 

Glenn Harper at 
PTW Architects 

 
 

 
 
 

119



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
11 

 
Image caption 
 
 

View of rear lane elevation 
 

Image year 
 
 

2018 Image by Glenn Harper Image copyright 
holder 

Glenn Harper at 
PTW Architects 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

120



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
12 

 
Image caption 
 
 

 
View of original stair with original finishes and details, image 2018 
 

Image year 
 
 

2018 Image by Glenn Harper Image copyright 
holder 

Glenn Harper at 
PTW Architects 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

121



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
1 

ITEM DETAILS 
Name of Item 
 

The Bourbon Hotel  

Other Name/s 
Former Name/s 

Formerly known as: 
The Bourbon and Beefsteak Bar & Restaurant 
The Charlemont Private Hospital; 
Gleneagles Hotel and  
Greyeagles Hotel 
 

Item type 
(if known) 

 

Item group 
(if known) 

 

Item category 
(if known) 

 

Area, Group, or 
Collection Name 

 

Street number 
 

(part) 22-24  

Street name 
 

Darlinghurst Road 

Suburb/town 
 

Potts Point  Postcode 2011 

  City of Sydney 
Property 
description 

part of Lot 1 DP 1097710 

Location - Lat/long 
 

Latitude 
 

 Longitude  

Location - AMG (if 
no street address) 

Zone 
 

 Easting  Northing  

Owner 
 

Piccadilly Freehold Pty Limited, GPO Box 5479, Sydney NSW 2001 

Current use 
 

Hotel 

Former Uses 
 

The known former uses are: 
Speculative residential terraces; 
Private Hospital; 
Boarding House; and 
Night Club with performance space. 
 

Statement of 
significance 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Bourbon Hotel has a high degree of heritage significance at a local level, linked to its historical 
development, distinctive architectural form and character and high levels of community esteem. 
 
The historic development of the site is associated with the evolving history of the local area, with 
changing building forms linked to changing uses; a speculative terrace mansion house built for wealthy 
families in 1904 becomes a private hospital, boarding house and finally a night club. From the 1960s, 
this site became an integral part of the bohemian life of Darlinghurst Road, acquiring a risqué 
reputation in later years. 
 
With a remnant façade of two grand mansion terraces, The Bourbon Hotel has high aesthetic 
significance. The later street façade addition at 24 Darlinghurst Road is a good example of post ‐war 
modernism designed by the émigré architect Frank Kolos. 
 

122



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
2 

 
 
 

Public concern about changes to this area indicate a very high degree of social significance for the 
site. 
 
With some surviving original features that date to c.1904, this building demonstrates construction 
methods and detailing of the period, and as such are representative examples of a pair of grand 
terrace houses built in the late Italianate style. 
 

Level of 
Significance 
 

 
State  

 
Local  

123



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
3 

 
DESCRIPTION 

Designer 
 

1956 front addition to southernmost terrace, by Frank Kolos 

Builder/ maker 
 

c. 1904 terrace mansions built by William J. Bakewell 

Physical 
Description 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This two-storey terrace complex, dating to around 1904 and built in the late Italianate style, consists of 
two mansion terraces of uneven street width. With the southernmost terrace being wider than the 
northernmost terrace, both incorporate remnant arched balconies with parapet detailing. Internal 
changes gradually took place with the removal of most of the internal fabric commencing in the 1980s. 
 
The front garden of this terrace complex was gradually filled. This commenced in the 1950s when a 
new addition, with ground floor retail uses, was built onto the projecting front bay of the southernmost 
terrace. 

Physical condition 
and 
Archaeological 
potential 
 

The original building is modified. 

Construction years 
 

Start year  Finish year c. 1904 Circa  

Modifications and 
dates 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Refer to history 

Further comments 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The site is bounded by Darlinghurst Road to the north-west, 20 Darlinghurst Road to the north-east 
and 26-30 Darlinghurst Road to the south-west, to a minimum depth of 8 metres from the c. 1904 
Darlinghurst Road façade line. 

124



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
4 

 
HISTORY 

Historical notes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Though there is little or no evidence of the indigenous occupation of the Potts Point area prior to 
European settlement, it is noted that they are known to have used the area and their dislocation dating 
from European settlement in the late 18th century is recognised. 
 
The land upon which The Bourbon Hotel now stands was once part of the grounds of Roslyn Hall, a 
substantial villa designed for Thomas Barker by Ambrose Hallen around 1833. As per the other villas 
of Darlinghurst, Roslyn Hall was oriented towards the views and the harbour, set in extensive grounds 
and was sited well back from the road. 
 
From around the mid‐1850s onwards, the grounds of the large Darlinghurst villas were subdivided and 
rows of town houses or individual mansions were erected. The block fronting Darlinghurst Road, which 
had been subdivided from the grounds of Roslyn Hall, was put up for sale in September 1889. There 
appears to have been little initial interest in developing this block unlike the subdivision of the adjacent 
Barncleuth Estate, which had begun in the early 1880s. The subdivision of this block retained a portion 
of the grounds to Roslyn Hall and the house itself, which was separated from the subdivision by a 20ft 
lane, later named Barncleuth Lane. The subdivision also created a street that separated the adjacent 
Barncleuth Estate and its house, becoming known as Barncleuth Square.  
 
The subdivision of the Roslyn Hall Estate was undertaken by the Sydney Permanent Freehold Land 
and Building Society. The original subdivision of the block incorporated eleven sites facing 
Darlinghurst Road: two corner sites were set out with a frontage of 9.2m approx. while nine mid‐block 
sites had a frontage of 8.24m approx. The Sands Directories and Rate books record that only one 
house was initially erected within the subdivision along Darlinghurst Road. Fordon at No. 32 
Darlinghurst Road, erected for Rose and Henry Nelson, first appears in the rate books in 1891.  
 
Around 1904 a substantial pair of houses was erected at No. 22‐24 Darlinghurst Road for William 
J. Blakewell. The architect for these houses has not been identified. In terms of its style, the houses 
were somewhat old fashioned, although their scale and Italianate detailing responded to the context of 
the series of substantial mansions and terrace houses in the Springfield Avenue and Macleay Street 
area. The design was to attract a particular standard of tenant and may have been influenced by 
substantial additions to the adjacent villa Barncleuth by the well‐known architect J. J. Clark in the early 
1890s. Other substantial Italianate houses in Challis Avenue erected in the 1890s also feature similar 
tiers of arcades, which are more characteristic of Melbourne houses of this period.  
 
The owner of No. 22‐24 was William Bakewell who was a wealthy brick, tile and pottery works owner. 
No. 22‐24 was one of a number of investments Bakewell erected and products from the firm’s factory 
may have been employed. The Bakewells owned No. 22‐24 until 1922 when the sale of the William’s 
estate commenced. These houses were called St Louis and The Charlemount (respectively). 
 
The Charlemount Private Hospital (later known as The Charlemont Private Hospital after 1919) was 
established by Susan Bell McGahey at No. 24 Darlinghurst Road in 1904, with an entry appearing in 
the 1905 Sand’s Directory. Susan McGahey was one of the most senior nurses in the state and had 
served as matron for two substantial NSW hospitals, the Carrington Centennial Hospital at Camden 
and the Royal Prince Alfred Hospital (RPAH) in Camperdown. She had resigned from RPAH after a 
disagreement with Dr Anderson Stuart about the training of nurses and set up her own private hospital 
on Darlinghurst Road where she could supervise nurse training without interference. The hospital was 
in operation by July 1904. Susan McGahey was involved in developments in nursing and the training 
of nurses at an international level. Irish‐born and London‐trained in the Nightingale tradition, Susan 
McGahey was a career woman, one of the two most influential nurses in the profession in NSW, the 
other being Lucy Osborne at Sydney Hospital. Nurse McGahey’s hospital had numerous VIP patients 
and their health, deaths or recovery were reported in the press. 

125



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
5 

 
Nurses who had worked at the Charlemount were highly regarded. Operating rooms were added in 
1910. By 1916 Susan McGahey turned over the management of the hospital to another nursing sister. 
She died of cancer in 1919 and the contents of Charlemount Private Hospital were sold. 
 
St Louis at No. 22 Darlinghurst Road was advertised as a ‘Gentleman’s Home” in April 1904. The 
refined home for gentlemen operated by Mrs Alice Scott was described as having modern 
conveniences, hot and cold running water, sunny rooms and first‐class cuisine. Advertisements for St 
Louis continued, with a large bright single and double balcony rooms advertised in 1909. In 1912, the 
house was converted into residential flats, and by 1913 the building had become known as The 
Russell.  
 
In 1920 Dr Philip de Luca announced that he had just returned from Italy and that he was resuming 
practice at No. 22 Darlinghurst Road. Bakewell Brothers of Erskineville lodged an application with 
Council for alterations that may have been for the Doctors chambers. 
 
In September 1922, the Bakewell Brothers liquidated their family estate including the 
Charlemont and the Russell in Darlinghurst Road, however, not all the properties were sold. The 
Russell had been sold privately just before the auction and it was envisaged that a private sale would 
also occur for the Charlemount, however, it was passed in at auction at 8000 pounds.  
 
Furnished flats continued to be advertised as available for let in The Russell in 1925. The Russell, and 
what was now termed The Clifford at No. 24, was owned by the Boulton family in 1931. In 1936 the 
property had been sold and became known as the Gleneagles Private Hotel, which continued to 
operate during the war years, with events held to raise funds for the war effort during 1940 and 1941.  
 
The Charlemount operated as residential chambers during the 1920s and there was a court case over 
the sale of the goodwill in 1922. The Charlemount re‐opened as a private hospital in the late 1920s, 
being later relocated further along Macleay Street in 1934. An application for minor alterations dates 
from 1926 identifying the building’s use as a private hospital. After the relocation of the private 
hospital, No. 24 Darlinghurst Road became a boarding house once again.  
 
Newspaper reports of raids by the Vice Squad detail the various attempts by proprietors in the 
Darlinghurst/ Kings Cross area to get around the state’s liquor licensing laws. The Gleneagles 
restaurant at 24 Darlinghurst Road was periodically raided between 1947 and 1953; American sailors 
were among the clientele and charges were unable to be pressed as the majority gave their name as 
Smith. A room on the first floor had been illegally fitted out as a bar. 
 
The Council approved alterations to Gleneagles in 1956, with a new modern façade added designed 
by the emigre architect Frank Kolos and by 1958, it was known as the Greyeagles Hotel. By the mid-
1950s, much of Darlinghurst Road had commercial uses along the street alignment with residential 
uses above. 
 
Kings Cross became known as the “Glittering Mile” and was the subject of a TV documentary of the 
same name that aired in 1964. Portrayed were the high population density, the bohemians and the 
way that the area came to life after dark. The late‐night venues, the cafes and clubs that had once 
been located further towards the intersection at William Street now extended towards Macleay Street  
 
No. 24 Darlinghurst Road had yet another transformation with the closing of Greyeagles Hotel in the 
1960sand reopening as the Bourbon and Beefsteak Bar, one of two venues founded by Berni 
Houghton to cater to American soldiers on R & R (rest and recreation) from the Vietnam War. There 
are numerous applications on file at the City Council for minor alterations, including an application to 
use the premises as a nightclub in 1968. The ‘Bourbon’ became notorious as a late night (and early 
morning) drinking venue, including the front garden of the building being redeveloped to become an 

126



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
6 

important semi outdoor venue; a feature particular to the area at the time. Similar development 
occurred at 26-32 Darlinghurst Road from this time. 
 
The Bourbon and Beefsteak Bar’s notoriety was summed up in the Daily Telegraph after its closure 
due to storm damage in 2010; the 24/7 venue: “hosted celebrities, gangsters, bent coppers, hookers 
and just about every Underbelly character”. In 2010 the Bourbon reopened with new décor, including a 
redevelopment of the semi outdoor street edge, that was more in keeping with francophile Macleay 
Street than Darlinghurst Road.      

 
 

THEMES 
National  
historical theme 
 
 

Theme 3 
Theme 4 

State 
historical theme 
 
 

Within National themes 1-3: 
Commercial 
Health 
 
Within National themes 4-9: 
Towns, suburbs and villages. 
Accommodation 
Domestic Life 
Leisure 
Persons  
 

127



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
7 

 
 

APPLICATION OF CRITERIA 
 
Historical  
significance 
SHR criteria (a) 
 
 
 

The development of the site is associated with changes in pattern of use representative of the area: 
from speculative terrace mansion house built for wealthy families from 1904 to private hospital, 
boarding house and night club. 

 
Historical  
association 
significance 
SHR criteria (b) 
 
 
 

As the former mansion terraces The Russell and former Charlemount, built as speculative property by 
the entrepreneurial Bakewell Brothers to private hospital established by the prominent Sydney nurse 
Susan Bell McGahey, later becoming ‘guest house’ and night club, this place has a rich and complex 
pattern of varied uses and significant social groups. Once a rented family home for a wealthy 
professional this place became a venue for the bohemian life of Darlinghurst Road. This site later 
acquired a risqué reputation when operating as Bourbon and Beefsteak Bar 
 

 
Aesthetic 
significance 
SHR criteria (c) 
 
 

With a remnant façade of a grand mansion terrace built as an investment property, this place has high 
aesthetic qualities.  
 
Later street façade at 24 Darlinghurst Road is a good example of post -war modernism designed by 
the émigré architect Frank Kolos in1956. 

 
Social significance 
SHR criteria (d) 
 
 
 

The former Charlemount Private Hospital owned and managed by prominent Sydney nurse Susan Bell 
McGahey provided an important use. 
 
In addition to this, the former front garden of 22-24 Darlinghurst Road became an important social 
place and an integral part of the cosmopolitan life of the street. 

 
Technical/Research 
significance 
SHR criteria (e) 
 

With surviving original features that date to the c. 1904 this building demonstrates construction 
methods and detailing of the period 

 
Rarity 
SHR criteria (f) 
 

The building provides evidence of a former way of life: the mansion terrace house. In addition to this 
and in its change of use to a private hospital, provides evidence of a significant human activity. 

 
Representativeness  
SHR criteria (g) 
 

Representative example of a pair of grand terrace houses built in the late Italianate style. 

 
Integrity  
 

Parts of the c. 1904 terrace façade remains, including tessellated tiles to the upper level balcony of the 
northernmost terrace.  
 
Parts of the 1950s addition built onto the front of the southernmost terrace remains. 
 

128



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
8 

 
HERITAGE LISTINGS 

Heritage listing/s 
 

NIL 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
INFORMATION SOURCES 

Include conservation and/or management plans and other heritage studies. 
Type Author/Client Title Year Repository 
Report 
 
 

PTW Architects Heritage Assessment: 1A 
Elizabeth Bay Road, 18‐32 
Darlinghurst Rd and 2 Roslyn 
St, Potts Point 

2018 City of Sydney 

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

Recommendations 
 
 
 
 

Any development of 22-24 Darlinghurst Road (The Bourbon) is to conserve the existing facade to a 
minimum depth of 8m. The ground floor additions at Darlinghurst Road are to be removed and the 
space is to be designed as an extension of the footpath.  

 
SOURCE OF THIS INFORMATION 

Name of study or 
report 

Heritage Assessment: 1A Elizabeth Bay Road, 18‐32 Darlinghurst Rd and 
2 Roslyn St, Potts Point 

Year of study 
or report 

2018 

Item number in 
study or report 

 

Author of study or 
report 

PTW Architects 

Inspected by 
 

Glenn Harper 

NSW Heritage Manual guidelines used? 
 

Yes  No  

This form 
completed  by 

Glenn Harper, Senior Associate PTW Architects Date    03-09-18 

129



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
9 

 

IMAGES - 1 per page 
 
Please supply images of each elevation, the interior and the setting. 
 
Image caption 
 
 

Aerial photograph of site with item circled 

Image year 
 
 

2018 Image by  Image copyright 
holder 

Near Maps 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

130



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
10 

 
Image caption 
 
 

Darlinghurst Road Elevation  

Image year 
 
 

2018 Image by Glenn Harper Image copyright 
holder 

Glenn Harper at 
PTW Architects 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

131



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
11 

 
Image caption 
 
 

Darlinghurst Road Elevation with 1950s addition by Frank Kolos identified 

Image year 
 
 

2018 Image by Glenn Harper Image copyright 
holder 

Glenn Harper at 
PTW Architects 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

132



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
12 

 
Image caption 
 
 

Darlinghurst Road balcony terrace with tessellated tile work identified.  

Image year 
 
 

2018 Image by Glenn Harper Image copyright 
holder 

Glenn Harper at 
PTW Architects 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

133



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
1 

ITEM DETAILS 
Name of Item 
 

The Empire Hotel 

Other Name/s 
Former Name/s 

Les Girls Restaurant   
Carousel Club 
The Palladium 
 

Item type 
(if known) 

 

Item group 
(if known) 

 

Item category 
(if known) 

 

Area, Group, or 
Collection Name 

 

Street number 
 

30-32A  

Street name 
 

Darlinghurst Road 

Suburb/town 
 

Potts Point Postcode 2011 

Local Government 
Area/s 

City of Sydney 

Property 
description 

Lot 1 DP 510235 

Location - Lat/long 
 

Latitude 
 

 Longitude  

Location - AMG (if 
no street address) 

Zone 
 

 Easting  Northing  

Owner 
 

Piccadilly Freehold Pty Limited, GPO Box 5479, Sydney 2001 

Current use 
 

Hotel 

Former Use 
 

These consist of: 
Night clubs (one on each upper two floors),  
Retail uses (street level),  
Theatre restaurant (first floor) and  
Assumed commercial office uses (designed for the top floor) 
 

Statement of 
significance 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Empire Hotel has a high degree of heritage significance at a local level, primarily linked to its use 
as the Les Girls Nightclub. 
 
The building has historic significance as it dates from a key period in the development of the Potts 
Point / Kings Cross area, with the changing of predominantly residential development to mixed‐use 
commercial uses, especially only the major roads in the area. The architectural form and detail of the 
site is evident in the design of a mixed‐use commercial building designed and built during the early 
1960s. The design of this building was associated with a significant phase of cosmopolitan life within 
Potts Point where retail uses faced the street and night club uses were located to the upper level. 
 
A major component of the historic and associative significance of the site is linked to its use as home 
for the performers Les Girls within Les Girls Nightclub; this formed an important focus for the 
entertainment of the Kings Cross area and helped pioneer acceptability of the LGBTQI community. 
Female impersonators Les Girls performed at Les Girls, together with Carlotta, possibly Australia’s first 

134



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
2 

sex-change patient. 
 
The site is also associated with the Nelson / Basser family who were Jewish philanthropists and 
important members of the Jewish community in Sydney. The building also has links to the noted 
Australian architect Neville Gruzman. 
 
This site is likely to have a high level of contemporary community esteem to the former patrons of Le 
Girls as well as the LGBTQI community. 
 
Though modified, the Empire Hotel is a representative example of a mixed use commercial building in 
the modernist style 
 

Level of 
Significance 
 

 
State  

 
Local  

135



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
3 

 
DESCRIPTION 

Designer 
 

Neville Gruzman 

Builder/ maker 
 

 

Physical 
Description 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The building which houses Les Girls is a three storey modernist building with a curved corner by the 
Sydney architect Neville Gruzman. This mixed-use building was designed to incorporate retail uses to 
the ground floor, a theatre restaurant on the first floor and commercial offices on the top floor. By 1965 
both upper floors were functioning as night clubs. 

Physical condition 
and 
Archaeological 
potential 
 

External façade and internal spaces now modified. 
Internal spaces are modified although the club/cabaret performance space of the Les Girl Nightclub is 
still evident. 

Construction years 
 

Start year 1961 Finish year 1962 Circa  

Modifications and 
dates 
 
 

Internal modification during late 1980s when Les Girls Nightclub closed 
Internal and external modification in 1990s, ground floor retail uses removed and hotel uses extended 

Further comments 
 
 
 

The site is located on the corner of Darlinghurst Road to the north-west and Roslyn Street to the 
south-west and is bounded by 30 Darlinghurst Road to the north-east and 2 Roslyn Street to the 
south-east. 
 

136



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
4 

 
HISTORY 

Historical notes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Though there is little or no evidence of the indigenous occupation of the Potts Point area prior to 
European settlement, it is noted that they are known to have used the area and their dislocation dating 
from European settlement in the late 18th century is recognised. 
 
The land upon which The Empire Hotel now stands was once part of the grounds of Roslyn Hall, a 
substantial villa designed for Thomas Barker by Ambrose Hallen around 1833. As per the other villas 
of Darlinghurst, Roslyn Hall was oriented towards the views of the harbour, set in extensive grounds 
and was sited well back from Darlinghurst Road.  
 
From around the mid‐1850s onwards, the grounds of the large Darlinghurst villas were subdivided and 
rows of town houses or individual mansions were erected. The block fronting Darlinghurst Road, which 
had been subdivided from the grounds of Roslyn Hall, was put up for sale in September 1889. There 
appears to have been little initial interest in developing this block unlike the subdivision of the adjacent 
Barncleuth Estate, which had begun in the early 1880s. The subdivision of this block retained a portion 
of the grounds to Roslyn Hall and the house itself, which was separated from the subdivision by a 6m 
approx. (20ft) lane, later named Barncleuth Lane. The subdivision also created a street that separated 
the adjacent Barncleuth Estate and its house, becoming known as Barncleuth Square.  
 
The subdivision of the Roslyn Hall Estate was undertaken by the Sydney Permanent Freehold Land 
and Building Society. The original subdivision of the block incorporated eleven sites facing 
Darlinghurst Road: two corner sites were set out with a frontage of 9.2m approx. while nine mid‐block 
sites had a frontage of 8.24m approx. The Sands Directories and Rate books record that only one 
house was initially erected within the subdivision along Darlinghurst Road; Fordon at No. 32 
Darlinghurst Road was erected for Rose and Henry Nelson and first appears in the rate books in 1891. 
The Nelsons purchased lots 1‐4 of the Roslyn Hall Estate subdivision. Until around 1899 Fordon was 
the only house (numbered 32 Darlinghurst Road) in the block. The grounds of Fordon extended as far 
as the northern boundary of No. 28 Darlinghurst Road. Henry and Rose Nelson continued to occupy 
Fordon until their respective deaths in 1912 (Rose) and 1915. The surviving Nelson children inherited 
Fordon, the ‘superior surplus furniture and effects’ of which were sold in April 1916 by Miriam Basser. 
The sale included walnut furniture, a dining room suite and a separate dining table as well as superior 
Axminster and Brussels carpets. 
 
Fordon was purchased by Dr Weston Maher who remained in residence until after the adjacent block 
of flats had been erected, although by then he had sold the land. The 1939 Water Board plan shows a 
bay fronted villa with a front verandah. The Rate Assessment Books record that Fordon was a 
substantial two‐storey brick house with a slate roof that contained 12 rooms. The Nelson’s former 
residence Fordon survived until the early 1960s, hidden behind a series of shops.  
 
By the mid-1950s, much of Darlinghurst Road had commercial uses along the street alignment with 
residential uses above. Kings Cross became known as the “Glittering Mile” and was the subject of a 
TV documentary of the same name that aired in 1964. Portrayed were the high population density, the 
bohemians and the way that the area came to life after dark. The late‐night venues, the cafes and 
clubs that had once been located further towards the intersection at William Street now extended 
towards Macleay Street. 
 
In the early 1960s Fordon at No. 32 Darlinghurst Road was demolished, as was the row of shops that 
had been erected fronting Darlinghurst Road. The rate books show that part of Fordon was owned by 
the City Council in the late 1930s. Tooth & Company owned most of the lot (1936 rate assessment 
book) but did not erect a hotel.  
 
A new three‐storey building with a curved corner designed by Neville Gruzman was erected for G. 

137



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
5 

Lehrer. The initial correspondence with the City Council dates from 1962. The new building was to 
contain shops at ground level, a restaurant on the first floor and offices on the second floor. G & A 
Lehrer owned other property in Darlinghurst Road, including shops and flatettes at 61‐65 Darlinghurst 
Road. 
 
The restaurant became a club/cabaret known as Les Girls after the female impersonators (drag 
queens) who performed covers of popular songs. Archival footage of the performances survives and 
Les Girls was one of the clubs featured in the Glittering Mile documentary as were the strip club, folk 
dancing and a jazz club. (At times, the address for Les Girls was advertised as 2c Roslyn Street). 
Les Girls was the brainchild of the entrepreneur Sammy Lee who brought the idea back from shows 
he saw in San Francisco and Paris, started in Kings Cross in 1962. 
 
Sydney had long had a reputation as being one of four world cities that were tolerant to homosexuality, 
the other cities being Paris, Venice and San Francisco. The Glittering Mile commentator noted that Les 
Girls would not have been possible a few years earlier.  Les Girls was one of the first drag cabaret 
clubs to open and it was the longest lasting. Les Girls continued to perform in the Cross when in 1980, 
their focus then changed to touring. The club remains the most well-known of the gay clubs (outside of 
the gay community) and the lettering on the façade become a Sydney landmark. 
 
After the Americans departed in the mid‐1970s (due to the end of the Vietnam War) the Cross 
continued to be known for its nightlife, particularly clubs and late‐night drinking venues, which had 
progressively been legalised. In his history of Gay Sydney, Gary Wotherspoon noted that the gay 
clubs shifted their focus to Oxford Street/ Taylor Square, as during the Vietnam War, the Cross had 
become too dangerous. Once the military had departed, suburbanites and tourists were drawn to the 
area. The sex industry expanded north along Darlinghurst Road with Adult Bookshops and Escort 
Services located within this block. 
 
By 1973 the ‘private VIP club’ Les Girls had become the Carousel Lounge. Within the Carousel, this 
was the last place the heiress, newspaper owner and activist Juanita Nielson was seen alive in July 
195. The Carousel became the Palladium and more recently the Empire Hotel.   

 
THEMES 

National  
historical theme 
 
 

Theme 3 
Theme 4 

State 
historical theme 
 
 

Within National Themes 1-3 
Commerce 
Events 
 
Within National Themes 4-9 
Creative endeavour 
Persons 
 

 

138



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
6 

 
 

APPLICATION OF CRITERIA 
 
Historical  
significance 
SHR criteria (a) 
 
 
 

The building has significance as it dates from a key period in the development of Potts Point from 
residential uses to specific mixed-use commercial uses. The architectural form and detail of the site is 
evident in the design of a mixed use commercial building designed and built during the early 1960s. 
The design of this building was associated with a significant phase of cosmopolitan life within Potts 
Point where retail uses faced the street and night club uses were located to the upper level.  

 
Historical  
association 
significance 
SHR criteria (b) 
 
 
 

The site is associated with the Nelson / Basser family who were Jewish philanthropists and important 
members of the Jewish community in Darlinghurst /Potts Point area.   
 
As a performance space and home of the Le Girls Nightclub this nightclub was an important focus 
within Sydney's nightlife at the Cross during the 1960s and 1980s an important focus for Sydney’s 
LGBTQI community. 
 

 
Aesthetic 
significance 
SHR criteria (c) 
 
 

 
It does not appear to meet this criterion. 

 
Social significance 
SHR criteria (d) 
 
 
 

As home for the Les Girls nightclub and performers Les Girls, this formed an important focus for the 
entertainment of the Kings Cross area; and helped pioneer acceptability of the LGBTQI community. 
Here the female impersonators Les Girls performed with Carlotta, Australia’s first transgender patient. 

 
Technical/Research 
significance 
SHR criteria (e) 
 

 
It does not appear to meet this criterion. 

 
Rarity 
SHR criteria (f) 
 

 
It does not appear to meet this criterion. 

 
Representativeness  
SHR criteria (g) 
 
 

The building in which housed Les Girls Nightclub is a representative example of a mixed use 
commercial building in the modernist style.  
 

 
Integrity  
 
 

The current form of the building still retains its predominate external shape even though the detail, 
including ground floor retail uses and upper level curtain walls, have been modified. Internally now 
modified although the rear staircases and upper level bathrooms retain early fabric and details 
 

139



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
7 

 
HERITAGE LISTINGS 

Heritage listing/s 
 

NIL 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
INFORMATION SOURCES 

Include conservation and/or management plans and other heritage studies. 
Type Author/Client Title Year Repository 
Report 
 
 

PTW Architects for the City of 
Sydney 

Heritage Assessment 
1A Elizabeth Bay Road, 18‐32 Darlinghurst 
Rd and 
2 Roslyn St, Potts Point 

2018 City of Sydney 

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

Recommendations 
 
 

Any development of this site must interpret the social and historic significance of the site as the original 
Les Girls venue through an architectural interpretation of the building as constructed in 1962, including 
the curved corner form, floor and parapet levels, ground level awning, the first and second floor 
balconies and the prominent corner sign reading “Les Girls”.  
 
To reflect the historic and social significance of The Empire Hotel at 32-32A Darlinghurst Road, the 
ground level and first floor should have commercial food and drink or entertainment uses. 

 
SOURCE OF THIS INFORMATION 

Name of study or 
report 

Heritage Assessment 
1A Elizabeth Bay Road, 18‐32 Darlinghurst Rd and 
2 Roslyn St, Potts Point 

Year of study 
or report 

2018 

Item number in 
study or report 

 

Author of study or 
report 

PTW Architects 

Inspected by 
 

Glenn Harper 

NSW Heritage Manual guidelines used? 
 

Yes  No  

140



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
8 

This form 
completed  by 

Glenn Harper, Senior Associate PTW Architects Date    03-09-18 

141



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
9 

 
IMAGES - 1 per page 

 
Please supply images of each elevation, the interior and the setting. 
 
Image caption 
 
 

Aerial photograph of site, shown circled 
 

Image year 
 
 

2018 Image by  Image copyright 
holder 

Near Maps 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

142



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
10 

 
Image caption 
 
 

Exterior of 30 Darlinghurst Road, Les Girls Restaurant was located on the upper level. 

Image year 
 
 

2018 Image by Glenn Harper Image copyright 
holder 

Glenn Harper at 
PTW Architects 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

143



Heritage Data Form 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
11 

 
Image caption 
 
 

Interior of upper level of 30 Darlinghurst Road, Les Girls Restaurant was located on this floor. 

Image year 
 
 

2018 Image by Glenn Harper Image copyright 
holder 

Glenn Harper at 
PTW Architects 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

144



Attachment B 

Draft Development Control Plan – 

Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point 

35145



 

 

 

 

Draft 
Development 
Control Plan  

City of Sydney 
Town Hall House 
456 Kent Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 

Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point  

 

 

 

 

36146



 

1 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point Amendment 

The purpose of this Development Control Plan  

The purpose of this plan is to amend Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 to insert 
site specific provisions to guide future development along Darlinghurst Road, Potts 
Point. 

Citation   

This plan may be referred to as the Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point Amendment. 

Land covered by this plan 

This plan applies to the land marked in red on Figure 1.  

 

 
Figure 1: Precinct boundary of Darlinghurst Road high street shown as red dotted line, boundary of site 

specific controls to 18-32A Darlinghurst Road shown blue dotted line 

Relationship of this plan to Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

This plan amends Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 in the manner set out 
below.  

37147



 

2 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point Amendment 

Amendments to Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

This plan amends the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 by: 

• Inserting a new section 6.2.12 Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point, at the end of section 
6.2 – ‘Sites identified through urban design studies’, as shown at Appendix A. 

• Include site specific controls for sites at 18-32A Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point as 
part of the new section 6.2.12 

• Amending section 2.4.7 – ‘Kings Cross’ locality statement to reflect desired 
outcomes, as shown at Appendix B. 

• Amending ‘Specific Sites Map’ of Sydney DCP 2012 to include the Darlinghurst 
Road precinct, and amend DCP map books in accordance with the below. 

• Updating figure numbers under Section 6 of the Sydney Development Control Plan 
2012 as required.  

 

  

38148



 

3 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point Amendment 

APPENDIX A  

6.2.12 Development controls: Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point 

The following objectives and provisions apply to the extent of Darlinghurst Road, Potts 
Point, as shown in Figure 6.1. 

All other relevant provisions in this DCP apply, except where they are inconsistent with 
these provisions. The provisions of this section prevail in the event of any 
inconsistency. 

Objectives 

(a) Ensure development achieves the objectives of the B2 Local Centre zone and 
contributes to the role of Darlinghurst Road and environs as a local centre by: 

(i) providing a range of retail, business, entertainment and community uses 
that serve the needs of people who live in, work in and visit the local 
area; and 

(ii) including  appropriate residential uses so as to support the economic 
and business vitality of the high street and local centre. 

(b) Ensure that new development maintains the diverse and active street frontages 
that contribute to the vibrancy, diversity and function of the high street and local 
centre. 

(c) Ensure that new development fits in with the existing fine-grain pattern of 
Darlinghurst Road, surrounding streets and laneways and reflects the historical 
subdivision pattern. 

(d) Ensure new development responds to and contributes to heritage and 
contributory items and conserves their significance and the significance of the 
conservation area. 

(e) Ensure new development reinforces the architectural character of and is 
compatible with the existing built form of Darlinghurst Road, and respects 
heritage items and contributory buildings at 18-32A Darlinghurst Road and in 
the immediate context of the site through: 

(i) Appropriate scale, massing, and modulation that respects the existing 
built fabric of the high street; 

(ii) Defining maximum building envelopes for future development at 18-32A 
Darlinghurst Road to deliver a high quality built form that ensures an 
appropriate level of amenity within the site and to surrounding 
properties; 

(iii) Facade articulation, materials, and architectural detailing that contribute 
and respond to the highest quality heritage and contributory buildings in 
the surrounding context. 

(f) Provide publicly accessible open space to complement the public domain and 
enhance amenity. 

(g) Ensure the architectural character of development at 18-32A Darlinghurst 
Road is compatible with original fabric retained on the site and responds to the 
existing development at Kingsley Hall at 1A Elizabeth Bay Road, the Lowestoft 
at 18-20 Darlinghurst Road, the facade of The Bourbon at 22-24 Darlinghurst 
Road, and the Commodore at 30-30B Darlinghurst Road. 

39149



 

4 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point Amendment 

(h) Establish a design excellence strategy for a competitive design process in 
accordance with Sydney LEP 2012 and the City of Sydney Competitive Design 
Policy. 

Provisions – Darlinghurst Road 

The following provisions apply to the land identified in red in Figure 1 above.  

6.2.12.1 Land use 

The area surrounding Kings Cross has a very high residential amenity and density. 
The local centre at Darlinghurst Road and its retail, commercial and business uses 
play an important role in supporting the existing significant population, including 
regional visitors. New development must provide floor space appropriate for business 
and services that support this population. 

(1) In the B2 zone, a minimum of 50% of the total gross floor area for each 
development must be for uses other than residential accommodation or tourist and 
visitor accommodation. 

(2) Residential accommodation and tourist and visitor accommodation is not to be 
located at ground and first floor levels, except for entrances, lobbies and back-of-
house and service facilities. 

6.2.12.2 Urban grain and active street frontages 

(1) New development including the building frontage above the street wall is to reflect 
the existing pattern of building arrangement and subdivision of Darlinghurst Road. 

(2) An entry to upper levels and vertical circulation core is to be provided for each 
existing building regardless of any amalgamation of lots. 

(3) Each building on Darlinghurst Road is to have an individually distinctive 
architectural language, expression of floor levels and fine grain tenancies.  

(4) The maximum average width of street level tenancies is to be 5m. The maximum 
width of any one tenancy at the street frontage is 8m. Longer tenancy widths at 
the street frontage may be considered where they reflect existing tenancies in 
heritage items and contributory buildings. 

(5) All tenancies at street level are to have a maximum floor area of 300sqm. 

(6) Each ground floor tenancy is to have its own entry from Darlinghurst Road or side 
street. 

(7) Self-contained lower ground or basement tenancies are to have direct street 
access. 

(8) Ground level tenancies and foyers are to support an active street edge with a 
maximum of 25% solid wall to the facade area and 75% glazing or opening with 
visibility into the spaces within. 

(9) Ground level tenancies are to have at least 35% of their area at the level of the 
footpath. 

6.2.12.3 Architectural character, articulation and materials 

(1) Building facades should be characterised by vertical proportions over the full 
height of the building. 

(2) Facade elements and window openings above ground floor level are to be 
vertically proportioned.  

40150



 

5 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point Amendment 

(3) Window openings above any existing or required awning are be limited to between 
20 and 40% of the facade wall area. 

(4) Materials and architectural detail is to be at least equal in quality to the highest 
quality found in neighbouring contributory buildings and should include materials 
and design detailing used in surrounding buildings, such as face brickwork, 
decorative stringer lines, bonds, rendered/painted banding and other compatible 
masonry work. This is to be demonstrated through a comparative analysis of an 
existing building elevation and the proposed development, documented with 1:50 
elevations and 1:10 details.   

(5) Parapets are to be articulated. 

(6) All plant and other mechanical equipment is to be fully architecturally integrated in 
the building roof form. 

6.2.12.4 Awnings 

(1) All residential entry foyers may have an awning. 

(2) Contributory buildings must maintain or reinstate contributory awnings. 

(3) Where an awning is not compatible with the heritage significance of a 
contributory building, the existing awning should be removed, and new awnings 
should not be constructed, with the exception of (1) above.  

(4) Generally, footpath awnings are to be provided for new development on 
Darlinghurst Road. 

6.2.12.5 Public domain 

(1) Sites adjoining public spaces such as Fitzroy Gardens, Llankelly Place, 
Springfield Avenue, Roslyn Street and the corner of Bayswater Road and 
Darlinghurst Road should provide active land uses at ground floor (such as food 
and drink premises) that contribute to the activity of the public domain. 

6.2.12.6 Amenity of residential development 

(1) Where the construction of balconies is limited by heritage and adaptive reuse 
constraints or significant noise impacts, juliet balconies or bay windows may be 
appropriate, subject to the provision of other amenity benefits. 

(2) Balconies should not project from the facade. Balconies or loggias must be 
recessed and have solid balustrades of the same materiality as the facade 
construction. 

6.2.12.7 Access 

(1) Vehicular access, building services and the like are to be consolidated to 
minimise impact on public places.  

(2) Vehicular access is not permitted in any location subject to an active frontage 
control as shown on the Active Frontages Map. 
 
Note: Section 3.2.3 Active Frontages applies to development on Darlinghurst 
Road. 

 

 
  

41151



 

6 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point Amendment 

Provisions – 18-32A Darlinghurst Road 

The following provisions apply to the land identified in blue in Figure 1 above and 
detailed in Figure 2 below. 

 

Figure 2: Site plan showing street addresses and building names of the component lots 

6.2.12.8 Heritage conservation 

(1) New development is to respect the Inter War art deco character of Kingsley Hall 
at 1A Elizabeth Bay Road through height, scale, materials and detail. 

(2) The facade of 18-20 Darlinghurst Road (The Lowestoft) is to be conserved. The 
level immediately above the existing parapet is to be setback by 3m. The 
remaining new development may be built to street alignment, as shown in Figure 
3.  

42152



 

7 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point Amendment 

 

Figure 3: First level setback requirement for 18-20 Darlinghurst Road 

 

Figure 4a: Ground level plan of the Bourbon showing the extent of existing facade and internal fabric to 

floors and walls to be retained in dotted black outline, shaded in red 

43153



 

8 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point Amendment 

(3) New development at 22-28 Darlinghurst Road (The Bourbon) is to conserve the 
existing facade to the depth shown in Figure 4a. The ground floor additions at 
Darlinghurst Road are to be removed. The space is to be designed as an 
extension of the footpath.  

(4) The form, external fabric and floor levels of 30-30B Darlinghurst Road (The 
Commodore) are to be conserved. 

(5) The Empire Hotel at 32-32A Darlinghurst Road may be demolished and the site 
redeveloped. Any new building is to interpret the social and historical significance 
of the site as the original Les Girls venue through an architectural interpretation of 
the building between 1962-1980s, including the curved corner form, floor and 
parapet levels, ground level awning, the first and second floor balconies and the 
corner sign reading “Les Girls”.  

(6) To reflect the historical and social significance of The Empire Hotel at 32-32A 
Darlinghurst Road the ground level and first floor should have commercial food 
and drink or entertainment uses. 

 

 

 

Figure 4b: Axonometric illustration of heritage and contributory fabric to be retained 

 

 

44154



 

9 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point Amendment 

6.2.12.9 Built form and setbacks 

(1) Development must not exceed the maximum building envelopes described by 
‘Figure 6a: Building heights and setbacks plan’. 

(2) The envelopes described by Figure 6a is the maximum permissible extent of the 
built form and the final building designs must be appropriately massed within the 
envelope. 

Note: The maximum number of storeys noted in Figure 6a includes all mezzanine 
and attic levels. 

(3) Setbacks above the street wall height should be provided in accordance with 
‘Figure 6a: Building heights and setbacks plan.’ 

 

Figure 6a: Building heights and setbacks plan (maximum heights noted in storeys)  

45155



 

10 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point Amendment 

 

Figure 6b: Indicative axonometric of the building heights and setbacks plan (viewed from the west) 

6.2.12.10 Urban grain 

(1) Development at 18-32A Darlinghurst Road is to be designed as five distinct 
buildings as shown in Figures 7a & 7b, each of which must be able to be 
distinguished by its distinct architectural language, expression of floor levels and 
fine grain tenancies. Figure 7b shows an alternative arrangement for architectural 
expression that alludes to the historical development patterns of nos. 18 and 20 
Darlinghurst Road. 

(2) Each of the five buildings is to have multiple ground level tenancies and an entry 
foyer for upper level tenancies as shown in Figure 8 below. There must be at least 
9 ground level tenancy entries and 4 entry foyers to upper levels fronting onto 
Darlinghurst Road. Street activation along Roslyn Street and Barncleuth Lane is 
to be consistent with that shown in Figure 8.   

 

 

Figure 7a: Streetscape massing showing scheme for distinct articulation to building facades.  Note:  

with regard to architectural expression, this scheme shows new development above existing street wall 
responds to existing fabric immediately below 

46156



 

11 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point Amendment 

 

Figure 7b: Streetscape massing showing alternative scheme for articulation to building facades.   

Note: with regard to architectural expression and core arrangement, this scheme shows new 
development above existing fabric to 20 Darlinghurst Road may relate to 18 Darlinghurst Road 

 

 

Figure 8: The block is to be composed of 5 distinct buildings, each with their own street-level entry, 

core, architectural language and expression 

 

6.2.12.11 Architectural character and articulation 

(1) The width of the structural bays for new upper level development at the Lowestoft 
at 18-20 Darlinghurst Road and the Bourbon at 22-24 Darlinghurst Road are to 
follow the width of the structural bays of the original facade fabric on lower levels. 

(2) New development at the Radnor (shown as 3 in Figure 8) at 26-28 Darlinghurst 
Road is to respond to the vertical proportions, floor levels, and architectural 
elements of the facade of the Commodore. 

47157



 

12 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point Amendment 

6.2.12.12 Public domain 

(1) The design and use of ground floor tenancies at 22-24 Darlinghurst Road are to 
contribute to the public domain directly in front of those tenancies. The publicly 
accessible open space at Darlinghurst Road should be used for outdoor dining or 
trading as shown in Figure 9 below. Materials, finishes and levels must be 
consistent with the adjacent footpath. 

(2) Development at 18-32A Darlinghurst Road is to provide publicly accessible open 
space and deliver improvements to the public domain along Barncleuth Lane 
(where applicable), including landscaping, public artwork, and the widening and 
pedestrianisation of the lane as shown in Figure 9. 

 

 

Figure 9: Plan of the development block showing areas within the site to be redesigned as extensions 

and enhancements to the adjacent public domain (shaded in red/black dotted line) 

6.2.12.13 Access 

(1) Building services and vehicular access are to be consolidated, are not to be 
located on Darlinghurst Road and Roslyn Street and are to be designed to 
support the provisions for public domain in the above clauses. Refer to Figure 9 
for preferred options for consolidated access location. 

6.2.12.14 Awnings 

(1) Awnings are to be consistent with Figure 10 below. 

(2) A continuous footpath awning is to be provided to Roslyn Street. 

48158



 

13 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point Amendment 

(3) Lightweight and retractable awnings for food and drink premises at The Bourbon 
may be considered. 

 

Figure 10: Elevation of the development block showing sections of street façade where entry awnings 

or interpretations thereof are appropriate (red dotted line) 

6.2.12.15 Design excellence strategy 

(1) A competitive design process is to be undertaken in accordance with Clause 6.21 
of Sydney LEP 2012 for 18-20 Darlinghurst Road and may at the proponent’s 
discretion cover the whole site (22-32A Darlinghurst Road). 

Note: It is desirable that a competitive process is undertaken at the whole site of 
18-32A Darlinghurst Road in order to reduce the risk that the design excellence 
requirements of Sydney LEP 2012 clause 6.21 are not met. 

(2) The competitive design process is to comprise an invited competitive design 
alternatives process involving no less than four architectural firms ranging from 
emerging, emerged and established architectural firms, with demonstrated 
experience designing high quality fine grain mixed use infill buildings in 
conservation areas. 

(3) Any additional floor space that may be awarded in relation to any competitive 
process(es) as per clause 6.21(7) of Sydney LEP 2012 is to be located at lower 
ground level (basement). No additional building height is to be awarded under 
Clause 6.21(7). 

(4) The setbacks from Darlinghurst Road and Roslyn Street detailed in section 
6.2.12.9 may be varied provided a competitive design process has been carried 
out and the consent authority is satisfied that improved heritage and amenity 
outcomes are achieved, and the development is consistent with the objectives of 
this section of the DCP.  

Note: Setbacks to Barncleuth Lane are determined by overshadowing 
requirements and may not be able to be varied. 

6.2.12.16 Satisfaction of Clause 7.20(4) under Sydney LEP 2012 

(5) This section of the DCP and the following sections of Sydney DCP 2012 address 
the requirements of SLEP 2012 Clause 7.20(4) for 18-32A Darlinghurst Road: 

(i) 3.2 Defining the Public Domain 

(ii) 3.6 Ecologically Sustainable Development 

(iii) 4.2 Residential Flat, Commercial and Mixed Use Developments. 

49159



 

14 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point Amendment 

 
Figure 11: Concept ground level plan showing how variety of fine grain ground level retail tenancies, 

separate entry foyers and compact vehicular access can be achieved.  
[figure 11 for information only – to be removed post-exhibition] 

 

 
 

Figure 12: Concept typical upper level plan (of a predominantly residential level) showing how fine 

urban grain, retention of heritage fabric and variety of architectural characters can be achieved [figure 
12 for information only – to be removed post-exhibition]  

50160



 

15 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point Amendment 

APPENDIX B 

Appendix B contains the amended locality statement for Kings Cross at section 2.4.7 
of the DCP: 

2.4.7 Kings Cross 

This locality is bounded by the Victoria Street/Brougham Street cliff edge to the west; 
Darlinghurst Road / Victoria Street intersection to the south-west; Craigend Street exit 
from New South Head Road to the south; Hughes Street and the rear of lots along 
Greenknowe to the north; and Roslyn Street, Roslyn Lane and lots along Elizabeth 
Bay Road to the east. 

The well recognised Kings Cross skyline which includes the iconic Coca-Cola sign are 
significant features of William Street. Heritage items such as the Kings Cross Hotel 
have a landmark presence to the street. Any significant redevelopment is to enhance 
the existing pedestrian network to improve pedestrian amenity. 

Kings Cross has long been recognised as an international and regional destination for 
tourism and entertainment, with international, regional, and local roles to play. 
Darlinghurst Road forms the area’s lively, bohemian main street. The unique character 
of Darlinghurst Road is typified by its rich history and heritage, eclectic mix of buildings 
from different periods, architectural character and diversity, an inclusive community 
and a wide variety of businesses. With a mixture of shops, bars, restaurants, 
accommodation, and services for local needs, Darlinghurst Road is vital to the local 
community, as well as serving visitors from Sydney and further afield.  

Development along Darlinghurst Road will contribute to and enhance the area’s fun, 
vibrant and eccentric identity by appropriately responding to its existing ‘human scale’, 
including the fine grain and established built form patterns of the street. Development 
should also achieve a balance and diversity of activities and experiences to support 
the liveliness and vitality of Darlinghurst Road, which is to continue to fulfil its key 
economic, social, and cultural role within the locality. 

The area’s role as a centre is to be strengthened by capitalising on its proximity to 
public transport, and by providing commercial and retail services for existing and future 
residents and visitors alike. The centre is to be consolidated with Orwell Street 
promoting active retail and commercial uses to improve the link between Darlinghurst 
Road, Macleay Street, Lankelly Place and Victoria Street. 

Principles 

(a) Development must achieve and satisfy the outcomes expressed in the 

character statement and supporting principles. 

(b) Development is to respond to and complement subdivision, heritage items and 

contributory buildings within heritage conservation areas, including 

streetscapes and lanes. 

(c) Maintain the built form structure of the neighbourhood with taller buildings 

located predominantly along the ridge line and at the crossing of Victoria Street 

and Darlinghurst Road. 

(d) Maintain the unique skyline of buildings located along the western side of 

Springfield Avenue. 

(e) Maintain view corridors along Orwell Street and over terraces along Victoria 

Street towards the city skyline. 

51161



 

16 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point Amendment 

(f) Design development on the eastern corner of Darlinghurst Road and 

Bayswater Road to respond to its highly visible corner location. 

(g) Introduce upper level setbacks for new developments to respect the existing 

streetwall heights to Darlinghurst Road, where appropriate. 

(h) Retain the unique skyline elements of existing buildings that exceed the height 

context however these buildings do not set the precedent for future building 

heights. 

(i) Maintain the small lot subdivision and predominant terrace building type along 

Victoria Street. 

(j) Preserve the Kings Cross Hotel building as an important building for Kings 

Cross. 

(k) Retain Darlinghurst Road and Bayswater Road as a precinct which supports a 

mix of daytime and night time commercial and retail uses. 

(l) Encourage active retail and commercial uses on Orwell Street to improve the 

link between activities along Darlinghurst Road, Macleay Street, Llankelly 

Place and Victoria Street and the activity and surveillance of the pocket park 

on Orwell Street. 

(m) Encourage development with active edges and outdoor eating along 

Springfield Avenue and Springfield Plaza. 

(n) Encourage outdoor eating in Llankelly Places to expand the existing laneway 

character. 

(o) Encourage employment opportunities and provide a range of non-residential 

uses on Darlinghurst Road that support the existing high population density of 

Kings Cross and serve its international, regional, and local function including 

retail, business, entertainment, food and drink, cultural, and community uses. 

(p) Reinforce the urban form of Darlinghurst Road including its fine grain, varied, 

high quality architectural character, and avoid building design that reduces 

diversity and grain. 

(q) Increase uses that provide all day activity, particularly those that serve the 

broader community’s social, cultural, and entertainment needs. 

(r) Encourage interesting development that references the socio-historic 

significance of Darlinghurst Road and supports community diversity and 

harmony. 

   

52162



 

17 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point Amendment 

APPENDIX C  
 

Amend the following DCP maps relating to the block bounded by Darlinghurst Road, 
Barncleuth Square, Barncleuth Lane, and Roslyn Street as follows: 

• Building contributions map – Sheet 022 

o 22-28 Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point becomes contributory 

• Building height in storeys map – Sheet 022  

o Remove all controls from 18-32A Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point 

• Building setback and alignment map – Sheet 022 

o Remove all controls from 18-32A Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point 

• Building street frontage height in storeys map – Sheet 022 

o Remove all controls from 18-32A Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point 

• Footpath, awnings and colonnades map – Sheet 022 

o Remove control to 18-32A Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point, along the 
Darlinghurst Road frontage only. 

 

 

 

53163



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018 

Post Exhibition – Planning Proposal – 102-106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery – 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 
2012 amendment and Planning Agreement

File No.: X009371

Summary

The high cost of housing is an important economic and social issue in Sydney, particularly 
within the City's local government area (LGA) where housing prices are amongst the highest 
in Australia. Increasing the amount of affordable rental housing available for low income 
households is an urgent priority for the City.

Sustainable Sydney 2030 establishes an ambitious target that, in 2030, 7.5 percent of 
housing will be social housing and 7.5 percent will be affordable rental housing. From 2016 
numbers, over 9,700 additional affordable housing dwellings are required to be delivered in 
the city by 2030 to achieve this target. 

In 2015, Council adopted the 'Guideline to Preparing Site Specific Planning Proposal 
Requests in the City of Sydney Employment Lands Investigation Areas' (Guideline) to 
facilitate the delivery of more affordable housing through the planning system. The public 
exhibition of Planning Proposal: 102-106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery (planning proposal), 
shown at Attachment A is the first to be considered under the Guideline. 

It will facilitate about 9.5 percent of floor space on the site, or 12 affordable housing 
dwellings, when the site is developed. This is consistent with the State Government's 
Eastern City District Plan that requires five to 10 percent of all new residential floor space be 
provided as affordable housing.  The affordable housing is to be provided in perpetuity, and 
as such represents a long term public benefit arising out of the redevelopment of the site.

This report follows the public exhibition of the planning proposal. It discusses the matters 
raised in the public exhibition and recommends the Central Sydney Planning Committee 
(CSPC) approve the planning proposal and exercise its delegation to make the local 
environmental plan. It also recommends the approval of the Sydney Development Control 
Plan 2012: 102-106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery. 

A key concern raised by the community in the public exhibition was the traffic and transport 
congestion that may arise from further development in the area. At the time of preparing this 
report, the City had commissioned a traffic and transport study to establish the performance 
of the existing transport and traffic network in south Rosebery and consider steps to manage 
future population growth. 

The City is also working with Transport for NSW on a Transport Action Plan (TAP) that aims 
to identify potential improvements to increase capacity and relieve congestion of public 
transport services in the Green Square and Rosebery area in the near term (0-5 years). 

1

Item 5.



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018 

A planning agreement has been prepared and publicly exhibited to secure public benefits 
offered by the landowner in conjunction with the planning proposal, including land dedication 
for footpath widening and the abovementioned affordable housing. The planning proposal, 
DCP and planning agreement align with the requirements of the Guideline and together 
facilitate a mixed-use development of approximately 120 dwellings with 10 percent of floor 
space being for employment uses. 

As above, an estimated 6.5 percent of residential floor space on site is to be provided as 
affordable housing, and a further affordable housing contribution of one percent of 
commercial and three percent and residential floor space is required pursuant to the 
southern employment lands affordable housing contribution scheme. While the latter may be 
provided off-site, when considered together, the total affordable housing contribution 
equates to about 9.3 percent of the residential floor space on the site, or about 12 dwellings. 
The number of dwellings may increase depending on their size. 

In February 2017, Council and the CSPC resolved to seek Gateway Determination to 
publicly exhibit the proposed planning controls and planning agreement. 

Proposed amendments to the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 include: 

 rezoning the site from B7 Business Park to B4 Mixed Use;

 an increased maximum building height from 18 metres to 29 metres;

 an increase in the FSR for the site from 1.5:1 to 2:1;

 a requirement that 10 per cent of any floor area be for non-residential use; and

 an active street frontage along Dunning Avenue.

The Gateway Determination was issued 28 March 2017 and authority delegated to Council 
to liaise directly with Parliamentary Counsel to legally draft and make the local environmental 
plan to give effect to the planning proposal. The Gateway Determination is at Attachment E.

The planning proposal, draft DCP and planning agreement were exhibited for 28 days from, 
14 March 2018 to 11 April 2018. The City received a total of 31 resident submissions and 
one online petition with 240 signatures. Issues raised include traffic congestion, parking 
impacts, public transport congestion, overdevelopment and erosion of local character. A 
summary of submissions, and the City's response is at Attachment F. Key issues are 
discussed further in this report.

If approved, the City will request Parliamentary Counsel to commence the preparation of the 
local environmental plan amendment. The local environmental plan will come into effect 
when it is published on the NSW Legislation website. The development control plan will 
come into effect at the same time. 

2



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018 

Recommendation

It is resolved that:

(A) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note matters raised in response to the public 
exhibition of Planning Proposal - 102-106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery and Sydney 
Development Control Plan 2012: 102-106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery, and draft 
planning agreement as shown at Attachment F to the subject report;

(B) the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve Planning Proposal - 102-106 
Dunning Avenue, Rosebery as shown at Attachment A to the subject report, to be 
made as a local environmental plan only following the execution and registration on 
title of the Voluntary Planning Agreement shown at Attachment C to the subject report;

(C) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the recommendation to Council's 
Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee on 10 September 2018 that Council 
approve the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012: 102-106 Dunning Avenue, 
Rosebery, shown at Attachment B to the subject report, noting the approved 
development control plan will come into effect on the date of publication of the subject 
local environmental plan;

(D) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor variations to 
Planning Proposal - 102-106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery and Sydney Development 
Control Plan 2012: 102-106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery, to correct any minor errors 
prior to finalisation of the local environmental plan and development control plan; and

(E) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note a traffic and transport study of Rosebery 
is being commissioned to establish the performance of the existing transport and traffic 
network in Rosebery and consider steps to manage future performance growth.

Attachments

Attachment A. Planning Proposal - 102-106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery

Attachment B. Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 - 102-106 Dunning Avenue, 
Rosebery - Post Exhibition (additions in bold with deletions struck-
through)

Attachment C. Planning Agreement

Attachment D. Resolutions of Council and the Central Sydney Planning Committee

Attachment E. Gateway Determination and Gateway Determination Extension

Attachment F. Summary of Matters Raised in Submissions.

3



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018 

Background

Purpose of this report
1. This report recommends Central Sydney Planning Committee (CSPC) approval of 

Planning Proposal: 102-106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery (the planning proposal), at 
Attachment A, following public exhibition and consequent review of the proposal. The 
planning proposal amends the zoning, floor space ratio (FSR) and height controls that 
apply to 102-106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery (the site) under Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP 2012).

2. This report also seeks the CSPC to note the recommendation to Council's Transport, 
Heritage and Planning Committee on 10 September 2018 that Council approve 
Sydney Development Control Plan 2012: 102-106 Dunning Avenue (DCP), at 
Attachment B. The DCP contains more detailed planning controls for the development 
of the site.

3. Council and the CSPC approved the planning proposal and draft DCP for public 
exhibition on 27 February 2017 and 20 February 2017, respectively. The Council and 
CSPC resolutions are at Attachment D. The Council also authorised the Chief 
Executive Officer to prepare and publicly exhibit and execute a draft planning 
agreement based on the land owner's public benefit offer. The draft planning 
agreement is at Attachment C.

4. The Department of Planning and Environment (Department) issued a Gateway 
Determination for the planning proposal on 28 March 2017, setting out the 
requirements for the public exhibition, delegating authority to Council to liaise with 
Parliamentary Counsel to legally draft and make the local environmental plan. On 23 
March 2018, a six month extension to the gateway determination was issued by the 
Department following the City's request due to delays finalising the planning 
agreement. The Gateway Determination and Gateway Extension is at Attachment E.

5. The planning proposal, draft DCP and draft planning agreement were publicly 
exhibited in accordance with the Gateway Determination from 14 March 2018 to 11 
April 2018.

6. The City received 31 individual resident submissions and one online petition with 240 
signatures. A summary of all submissions, and the City's response, is at Attachment F. 
Key issues raised in the submissions are discussed later in this report.

Southern employment lands investigation areas
7. The southern employment lands, located in the suburbs of Alexandria, St Peters and 

Rosebery, are some of the most strategically located employment lands in Australia. 
Preserving land for employment purposes is critical to ensure Sydney’s global and 
national competitiveness in the long term.

8. The City of Sydney Employment Lands Strategy (Strategy) was adopted by Council in 
March 2015, rezoning of much of the City’s employment land to facilitate a wider range 
of business activities. 

9. The Strategy identifies two ‘investigation areas’ at the peripheries of the southern 
employment lands that are potentially able to accommodate a mix of employment 
uses, community uses, and market and affordable housing. The southern employment 
lands and the investigation areas are shown at Figure 1.

4



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018 

Figure 1: Southern employment lands investigation areas.

10. The ongoing focus of the investigation areas is to retain the employment function, 
however some rezoning for residential development can be supported in appropriate 
locations.

11. To facilitate a managed transition towards mixed uses, and to ensure sufficient 
infrastructure is provided to support growth, Council adopted the Guideline to 
Preparing Site Specific Planning Proposal Requests in the City of Sydney Employment 
Lands Investigation Areas (Guideline) in October 2015. The Guideline ensures 
planning proposal requests are considered in the context of the strategic objectives of 
the southern employment lands and not in isolation. 

12. The site-by-site consideration of planning proposals introducing residential uses into 
the investigation areas is critical to ensure employment floor space is retained. 
Consideration is also given to manage issues associated with land use conflicts, 
infrastructure demands and staging resulting from the introduction of residential uses 
into employment lands.

5



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018 

13. The planning proposal is the first being considered in the investigation areas under the 
Guideline. 

Site details and context
14. 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery is a single landholding located in an 

‘investigation area’ in the southern employment lands in the City of Sydney local area. 
The land comprises Lot 50 DP 1171307. The site and surrounding context is shown in 
Figures 2, 3 and 4.

Figure 2: Site affected by this Planning Proposal 

Site

6



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018 

Figure 3: Site context. 

Figure 4: Aerial image of site context and immediate locality.

Site

7



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018 

15. The site is 4,949 square metres in area, is regular in shape and is generally level. The 
site has frontages to Dunning Avenue on the east, Jones Lane on the west and Morley 
Avenue on the north.

16. Existing development consists of four light industrial/warehousing units and ancillary 
offices with associated car parking at the site's Morley Avenue frontage (Figure 5 and 
6). It has a total floor area of 3,336 square metres, comprising 2,066 square metres of 
warehouse and 1,270 square metres of ancillary office space.

17. The predominant land use on the site is transport and warehousing (about 60 per cent 
of floor area), however, a range of other industries are represented. 

18. Approximately 1.4 kilometres to the north of the site, a short bus ride or 15 minute 
walk, is the Green Square town centre and train station. About 4.8 kilometres beyond 
that is Central Sydney, which can be reached by train or by bus from Botany Road.

19. To the east is the Rosebery residential estate and about 400 metres beyond that, 
Southern Cross Drive / South Dowling Street. To the south is Gardeners Road and to 
the south-west is Mascot town centre precinct and train station. To the west is Botany 
Road, a sub-arterial road that links the area to Green Square rail station to the north 
and to the south, Sydney Airport and Port Botany.

20. The development immediately surrounding the site is typically characterised by 
industrial uses, however there are a number of commercial, retail and residential uses 
within close proximity. 

21. To the immediate north of the site is Morley Avenue, a two-lane road with on-street 
parking and established street tree planting. On the other side of Morley Avenue is 33 
Morley Avenue, a two-storey light industrial warehouse. To the north-west is an eight-
storey mixed use development with ground level retail fronting Botany Road.

22. To the immediate east of the site is Dunning Avenue (Figure 7), a two-lane road with 
on-street parking. On the other side of Dunning Avenue is the former Rosella 
Preserving and Manufactory Co. factory which comprises a series of two-storey 
warehouse buildings, with many converted into creative and restaurant/café uses. This 
site is the heart of the emerging food and beverage scene in Rosebery. Further to the 
east comprises low density residential area of Rosebery that typically consists of 
detached dwellings.

23. Adjoining the site directly to south at 108 Dunning Avenue is a newly completed two 
storey light industrial building. It comprises 24 high technology industrial units and two 
food and drink premises with associated offices and retail showroom spaces. To the 
south of the site development consists of largely warehouse and light industrial uses, 
consistent with the B7 zoning of the area.

24. To the immediate west of the site is Jones Lane, a two-way service lane with one lane 
of parking. The laneway services other developments, but not the subject site. On the 
other side of the laneway is 755-759 Botany Road, a mixed-use development that 
includes the heritage listed 'Former "Tucker & Co", a single storey Inter-War Art Deco 
building (Figure 6).

8



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018 

 

Figure 5: Existing development on 102-106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery.

 

Figure 6: The subject site as viewed from Morley Avenue looking west towards the heritage listed 
'Former "Tucker & Co"' mixed use development that fronts Botany Road. 

9



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018 

Figure 7: Looking south along Dunning Avenue towards the Former Rosella Preserving and 
Manufacturing buildings. 

Exhibited planning controls
25. In April 2015, the landowner approached the City in response to Council's adopted 

strategy to initiate discussions to change the planning controls to facilitate a mixed-use 
development, including commercial and residential uses. In December 2016, the City 
received a request to prepare a planning proposal to change the planning controls in 
Sydney LEP 2012.

26. The resulting planning proposal, that was approved by Council for public exhibition, is 
to:

(a) rezone the site from B7 Business Park to B4 Mixed Use;

(b) increase the maximum building height from 18 metres up to 29 metres; 

(c) increase the floor space ratio from 1.5:1 to 2:1;

(d) require that 10 per cent of any floor area built on the site be for a non-residential 
use; and 

(e) include an ‘active street frontage’ along Dunning Avenue.

27. The publicly exhibited draft DCP at Attachment B, includes more detailed site-specific 
planning provisions relating to the location of land uses, communal open space, active 
street frontages, building configuration, street wall heights, setbacks, dedication of 
land, vehicle access, sustainable design measures and a design excellence strategy. 
The DCP provisions are to be included in 'Section 6 - Specific Sites' of the Sydney 
DCP 2012. Associated amendments to maps are also proposed.

28. It is noted that Clause 6.21 of Sydney LEP 2012 specifies that an additional 10 percent 
height or FSR (not both) is permissible where design excellence is demonstrated 
through a competitive design process.

10



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018 

29. The Design Excellence Strategy provisions are embedded in the DCP amendment, as 
shown in Attachment B. If the DCP is adopted, as recommended by this report, the 
Design Excellence Strategy can be approved by the consent authority as part of the 
site-specific DCP provisions. Council approval of the Design Excellence Strategy is a 
requirement of the City of Sydney Competitive Design Policy.

30. Following the public exhibition of the planning proposal, the DCP was amended to 
correct minor errors in relation to the Design Excellence Strategy provisions. Additions 
are shown in bold and deletions are struck-through at Attachment B.

31. Where a competitive design process is undertaken, the proposed provisions require 
that the development meets a BASIX score of five points above the State-mandated 
minimum for energy and water. This will reduce the energy and water consumption of 
future development and directly contribute towards the City's target of reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions by 70 per cent by 2030.

Proposed Scheme
32. An urban design study of the site and built form options has been prepared by Turner 

Studios and provides a recommended proposed scheme that was prepared in 
collaboration with the City.

33. The proposed building envelope is shown at Figure 8 and illustrates the maximum 
volume within which future development may be arranged under the proposed 
amendments. The envelope extends to a maximum height of 29 metres to the east of 
the site and reduces to 20 metres to the west.

Figure 8: Maximum building envelopes available for future development.

34. The proposed scheme, shown at Figure 9, follows thorough testing of alternative built 
form outcomes. Options were tested having regard to the various impacts of 
alternative building massing on the surrounding area. The proposed scheme includes:

(a) a three storey wall height along Dunning and Morley Avenues, with a four-storey 
street wall height along Jones Lane to respect the interface with the heritage 
item across Jones Lane and Dunning Avenue;

(b) three taller elements ranging from 4-7 storeys (or up to 5-8 storeys where 
additional floor space is achieved following a competitive design process);

Morley Avenue

Botany Road

Dunning Avenue

11



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018 

(c) provision of a large communal open space for residents along the rear of the 
site; and

(d) 1,000 square metres of non-residential floor space over two levels providing an 
active frontage to Dunning Avenue.

Figure 9: 3D perspective of the proposed scheme looking south west. 

35. The proposed scheme is indicative and represents one possible built form outcome. It 
demonstrates that the proposed building envelope can deliver a feasible development 
outcome and informs the proposed planning controls. This report does not seek 
approval of the scheme, which will be subject to a design competition and 
development application. 

Public benefit
36. A fundamental consideration in assessing the merits of the planning proposal has 

been how it may mitigate the additional infrastructure demand it generates by 
facilitating residential development in an area otherwise zoned for employment uses. 
The infrastructure demand in the southern employment lands is detailed in the 
'Southern Employment Lands Infrastructure Plan'.

37. As discussed earlier in this report, Council adopted the 'Guideline to Preparing Site 
Specific Planning Proposal Requests in the City of Sydney Employment Lands 
Investigation Areas' (Guideline) to guide consideration of planning proposal in the 
investigation areas. It also provides a framework for the consideration of public benefit 
offers for the delivery of infrastructure made in conjunction with planning proposals.

38. This Guideline seeks to capture 50 percent of the increase in land value arising from 
changes in planning controls, and to direct it to a public benefit, such as affordable 
housing, open space provision or other community infrastructure. 

39. A public benefit offer was made by the landowner and the resulting planning 
agreement, at Attachment C, was publicly exhibited with the planning proposal and 
draft DCP. 

12



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018 

40. The key public benefits the agreement secures are:

(a) finished affordable housing dwellings are to be provided on site in accordance 
with the Guideline under either:

(i) Option 1 (minimum option) - where the amount of affordable housing floor 
space is calculated based on the amount of gross floor area building on the 
site and the agreed market value of the affordable housing floor space. 
The affordable housing floor space is to be built by the landowner and 
dedicated or sold to a community housing provider for no more than $1; or

(ii) Option 2 (alternative option) - where affordable housing floor space is 
provided in addition to that required under Option 1. The landowner can 
sell the affordable housing floor space to a community housing provider for 
a capped amount. The capped sale amount is based on recouping the 
forgone value of the additional floor space on offer for affordable housing 
plus an incentive amount, to be agreed between the City and the 
landowner.

(b) Dedication to Council of a 1.25 metre deep frontage to Jones Lane 
(approximately 50 square metres of land) for a footpath, with the value of the 
land and any associated works in kind offset against the amount calculated 
under the Guideline; and

(c) Provision of car parking spaces for the affordable housing units.

(d) A monetary contribution for any excess funds generated from the planning gain 
but not utilised in the affordable housing units. 

41. As a result of the planning agreement an estimated 6.5 percent of residential floor 
space on the site will be provided as affordable housing. This is about eight dwellings 
assuming floorspace is maximised and an average unit size of 80 square metres. The 
number of dwellings may increase depending on their size. All affordable housing is to 
be provided in perpetuity.

42. In addition, a further affordable housing contribution of one percent of commercial and 
three percent and residential floorspace is required consistent with Council's 'Southern 
employment lands affordable housing contribution scheme' (scheme).

43. While the further affordable housing achieved under the scheme may be provided off-
site, when considered together, the total affordable housing contribution equates to 
about 9.3 percent of the residential floorspace, or about 12 dwellings. This is 
consistent with the State Government's Eastern City District Plan that requires five to 
10 percent of all new residential floorspace be provided as affordable housing. This 
represents a substantial positive outcome in a local government area where the 
shortage of affordable housing is significant.

44. The amendment to the proposed LEP will not be made until the planning agreement is 
executed and registered on the title of the land.

45. No submissions specifically regarding the content of the planning agreement were 
received and no changes are proposed as a result of public exhibition.

13



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018 

Public exhibition
46. The planning proposal, draft DCP and planning agreement were exhibited from 14 

March 2018 to 11 April 2018.

47. The City sent over 700 letters to landowners and residents to notify them of the public 
exhibition. Written notification to landowners in the vicinity of the area provided 
information on how to view the supporting documentation.

48. Relevant documents were made available for viewing at the One Stop Shop, the 
Green Square and Redfern Neighbourhood Service Centres and on the 'Sydney Your 
Say' website. The exhibition was also advertised in the Sydney Central Courier, 
through the City’s website and the ‘Sydney Your Say’ e-newsletter.

49. Roads and Maritime Services (RMS) and the Office of Environment and Heritage 
(OEH) were also notified as required by the Department's gateway determination. 

50. A total of 31 submissions were received in response to the exhibition as well as an 
online petition with 240 signatures submitted to Council on 25 May 2018. All of the 
submissions and the petition express concern relating to the subject planning proposal 
and potential overdevelopment within Rosebery. 

51. The City's response to the issues raised in submissions and the petition are 
summarised and discussed in more detail at Attachment F.

Traffic and parking impacts

52. Seventeen submissions raise concerns about increasing traffic congestion in Rosebery 
as a result of recent development in the area, with congestion forming at key 
intersections during peak times, increased travel times and traffic spilling onto local 
roads. The submissions say that a development under this planning proposal would 
add to this traffic congestion and result in additional pressure for on-street parking.

53. Roads and Maritime Services did not make a formal submission, however in an email 
it was noted the proposal is likely to have a limited impact. It was also noted that the 
transport study submitted with the planning proposal predominantly addressed traffic 
generation from the subject site and as such did not adequately assess the cumulative 
impacts on the wider transport network and what additional transport infrastructure 
may be required. 

54. The transport study compared current traffic flows from the residential portion of the 
future development and found the proposal would not result in a considerable increase 
in traffic generation. Traffic generation during the morning peak hours is anticipated to 
match current levels and a small increase during the afternoon peak hours is 
predicted.

55. It is acknowledged that the transport review that accompanied the planning proposal 
did not consider traffic generation from the commercial portion of the future 
development and as such a more detailed traffic assessment is required to be 
undertaken as part of any future development application for the site to determine the 
traffic implications of the proposal on the surrounding area. The City actively ensures 
that all proposals limit on-site car parking and include positive initiatives towards 
greater active and public transport use, including end of trip facilities and bicycle 
parking for both residential and commercial components. 

14



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018 

56. Despite the omission of the future commercial component from the transport review, a 
future development under this planning proposal would see a reduction in freight 
movements from the streets of Rosebery due to the replacement of the existing logistic 
uses with retail and/or commercial uses. 

57. The Sydney LEP 2012 sets maximum rates for the provision of off-street car parking 
within new residential flat buildings and commercial developments based on indicative 
unit mix and the site's proximity to existing public transport. The number of off-street 
parking spaces will be determined at the development application stage, however the 
objective of this approach is to balance on-site car parking spaces that are required to 
service the particular uses of the land and minimise the amount of traffic generated by 
the development.

58. Kerbside parking in the City of Sydney is managed in accordance with the City's 
'Neighbourhood Parking Policy', which excludes new buildings from eligibility for 
visitor, resident and business parking permits. As such, workers and residents of any 
future development would not receive parking permits for on-street parking.

59. Rosebery's central location in close proximity to centres of employment and to regional 
arterial roads and the Port and Airport means that the area often experiences traffic 
congestion, particularly at peak periods and at intersections with Epsom and Botany 
Roads. 

60. At the time of preparing this report the City had commissioned a traffic and transport 
study in south Rosebery. The study will establish the performance of the existing 
transport and traffic network in Rosebery and consider steps to manage future 
population growth, considering a number of different travel and demand scenarios, to 
provide a robust assessment. 

61. The study will also consider any potential future residential developments that may 
take place within the investigation area. This study will complement the Transport 
Action Plan for the Green Square Urban Renewal Area, being prepared in 
collaboration with Transport for NSW. The Transport Action Plan aims to identify 
potential improvements to increase capacity and relieve congestion of public transport 
services in the Green Square and Rosebery area in the near term (0-5 years). 

Public transport congestion

62. Twelve submissions are concerned that bus and train routes through Rosebery have 
become unacceptably congested as a result of recent population growth in Green 
Square, Rosebery and Mascot.

63. The transport study prepared for this planning proposal emphasised the site's high 
accessibility to existing bus routes and the train network. The report however did not 
consider existing congestion on those public transport services and their ability to 
absorb any additional capacity generated by a new development under this planning 
proposal.

64. Rosebery is also located mid-way on a number of bus-routes which are often full or 
near capacity by the time they reach the area, resulting in commuters being unable to 
board buses at local stops and increased passenger travel times.

15



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018 

65. As discussed above, as at the time of preparing this report, the City has commissioned 
a traffic and transport study in Rosebery to ascertain the performance of the existing 
traffic and transport networks. The study will identify the local and external drivers of 
congestion in order to predict and effectively manage and mitigate the potential 
impacts from future residential development in Rosebery.

66. To address public transport congestion in the Green Square Urban Renewal Area, the 
City is also working with Transport for NSW on a Transport Action Plan (TAP) that has 
been described above. 

67. The TAP and the City will also explore how to expand and promote the use of active 
transport. Recent footpath improvements and 40km/h speed limit along Dunning 
Avenue creates a welcoming environment for walking and cycling. The continued 
promotion of active transport by the City will relieve some of the demand for public 
transport from new residents and workers.

Built form 

68. Ten submissions are concerned the proposed height is in excess of other buildings 
nearby, will block morning sunlight and views to existing apartments, will cause 
overshadowing, reduce breezeways, decrease natural light and change the landscape.

69. The DCP building envelope has been designed and situated to minimise impact on the 
public domain and reduce height impacts from overshadowing or view loss on 
neighbouring residential properties. This is to be achieved by positioning the tallest 
building, at 29 metres in height, on the eastern portion of the site, away from the 
residential buildings that front Botany Road and closer to the adjacent commercial 
uses that front Dunning Avenue and Morley Avenue. 

70. The DCP also specifies that any future development is designed to limit the overall 
mass and sense of scale from the public domain, achieved by a three metre 
landscaped setback along the northern frontage and an additional setback to the upper 
levels above the three storey podium. The taller building elements will therefore be set 
back a minimum of 4 metres from Dunning Avenue and a minimum of five metres from 
Morley Avenue and Jones Lane. 

Lack of infrastructure 

71. Eleven submissions raised concerns that development and population growth in 
Rosebery is not aligned with the delivery of infrastructure and this development will 
unacceptably add to existing impacts of growth.

72. In response to the need for more school places in Green Square, the City has entered 
into a facilities sharing agreement between the City and the Department of Education 
and Communities, a new primary school at Green Square Town Centre has been 
recently announced, and an expansion of Alexandria Park Community School has 
been confirmed. The City will continue to work with the Department of Education and 
Communities, updating them on dwelling completions and local population increases 
and mix as a result of new development, and working with them to deliver new school 
locations and expand capacity at existing schools.

16



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018 

73. New parks and open space have been delivered in Rosebery and Green Square as a 
result of recent development, and new open space is planned as part of future 
development sites. The subject site is within close walking distance to the recently 
opened Sweetacres Park, and the recently upgraded Turruwul Park. Sydney Park is a 
30 minute walk or 10 minute cycle from the subject site.

74. The subject site fronts Dunning Avenue, a regional route in the Sydney Bike Network 
connecting Central Sydney with Eastlakes and Botany. The route is flagged for future 
upgrade works to a separated cycleway adding to the provision of active transport 
infrastructure within Rosebery. In the City of Sydney's Draft Cycling Action Plan 2018, 
which was recently placed on public exhibition, the City identified active transport as 
critical to reducing traffic and transport congestion and flagged expansion of the cycle 
network as one of its four key priorities.

75. On-site affordable housing is an important infrastructure contribution to the Rosebery 
area, providing local housing for key workers.

Changing character of Rosebery

76. The online petition and eight submissions raise concerns that development in 
Rosebery is changing the character of the area and development will further reduce 
amenity. The online petition states that by changing the area's character will turn the 
suburb into a 'potential slum'. 

77. Rosebery, located adjacent to the Green Square Urban Renewal area, continues to 
attract high demand for housing due to its proximity to a diverse range of jobs and 
education opportunities as well as the services and amenity of the surrounding area 
with high demand for housing. It is also a popular destination for visitors attracted by 
the emerging food and beverage precinct.

78. The City's Employment Lands Strategy recognises the potential of the investigation 
areas to accommodate a genuine mixed use area with some housing given their 
proximity to public transport, infrastructure and generally high level of amenity. The 
abovementioned Guideline provided a planning pathway to manage growth.

79. Notwithstanding this, the basic structure of Rosebery, with employment uses towards 
Botany Road and low density residential in the south-east, is not proposed to change. 
The low density Rosebery Estate area is not located in the 'investigation areas' and will 
not see a change in character as a result of this planning proposal.

80. Rezoning in the 'investigation areas' is subject to a detailed site-by-site planning 
proposal process, which will balance residential development with protecting existing 
employment uses, whilst ensuring adequate local infrastructure is provided. This 
approach allows for more controlled management of growth and change in Rosebery, 
including a nuanced assessment of the built form, its impact on the streetscape and 
the wider character of the suburb.

81. The proposed built form from this planning proposal is designed to minimise impact on 
the public domain and complement surrounding development.

Loss of employment floorspace

82. Four submissions raised concerns that the proposal was inconsistent with the City's 
Employment Lands Strategy and that employment floorspace would be lost with the 
redevelopment of the site.

17



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018 

83. The Employment Lands Strategy envisaged the investigation areas as locations where 
some residential development may be considered where planning merit is 
demonstrated, employment land is retained, and the proposal delivers significant 
community benefits and contributes towards local infrastructure. The strategy 
acknowledges some loss of employment floorspace is likely to occur as part of this 
transition.

84. Notwithstanding this, the proposed scheme is unlikely to compromise the employment 
generating potential of the investigation area. While a net loss of employment 
floorspace is acknowledged, the proposed scheme will result in about 1,000 square 
metres of commercial floorspace over two levels at the intersection of Dunning and 
Morley Avenues and will have an ongoing employment capacity of 25-30 jobs, when 
using the average ratios provided in the City of Sydney Development Contributions 
Plan 2012.

Heritage

85. The Office of Environment and Heritage advised there were two local heritage items 
located to the east and west of the subject land. The submitted heritage impact 
statement concluded that the proposed amendment would not create any heritage 
issues, and the Office of Environment and Heritage raised no objection to the planning 
proposal.

86. The DCP ensures that future development on the site is sympathetic to adjacent 
heritage items by providing a three metre landscape setback to the Morley Street 
frontage, consistent with the alignment of the retained heritage warehouse building 
located to the east of the site. The DCP specifies that any future development is to be 
sympathetic to the inter-war warehouse character of the area through the use of 
external finishes, colours and materials including a brick façade to the podium.

87. The planning agreement has secured the dedication of a 1.25 metre deep frontage to 
Jones Street for footpath widening and to create additional separation between the 
future development and the adjacent heritage item to the west of the site. The DCP 
also specifies a setback of an additional five metres for the upper levels of the new 
development and requires use of appropriate external finishes, colours and materials 
that are sympathetic to the heritage items and the local character, limiting any 
additional heritage impacts. 

Key Implications

Strategic Alignment - Eastern City District Plan
88. The City of Sydney is located in the Eastern City District, along with Bayside, Burwood, 

Canada Bay, Inner West, Randwick, Strathfield, Waverley and Woollahra Local 
Government Areas. The Eastern City District Plan includes 20 year targets for housing 
and jobs, specifically:

(a) A short term (5 years) housing target of 18,300 dwellings to be delivered in the 
City of Sydney;

(b) A 2036 target for 157,500 dwellings for the district, with the City of Sydney target 
to be developed with community and State government contribution; 

18



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018 

(c) A 2036 lower end 'baseline' target for 662,000 jobs and an upper end 'higher' 
aspirational target of 732,000 jobs, respectively. This figure includes a 2036 
'baseline' target of 75,000 job within the Green Square - Mascot area; and

(d) A general target in the range of five to 10 percent of new residential floor space 
is provided as affordable rental housing.

89. The district plan set priorities and actions for 'Liveability', 'Productivity' and 
'Sustainability', which will directly inform the planning, growth and development of 
Sydney over the next 20 years. 

90. The planning proposal supports the targets for the Eastern City District. At a local 
scale, the proposed development makes a positive contribution to the objective of a 
30-minute city, as it will include access to local employment opportunities and 
commercial space. The planning proposal will also provide approximately 120 new 
residential dwellings, including about 12 affordable housing dwellings to support the 
vitality of the area. A variety of sustainability benchmarks for the commercial and 
residential uses is required, together with the dedication of land for footpath widening 
that improves streetscape amenity. 

Strategic Alignment - Sustainable Sydney 2030 Vision
91. Sustainable Sydney 2030 is a vision for the sustainable development of the City to 

2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City, as 
well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. This report is aligned with the 
following strategic directions and objectives:

(a) Direction 2 - A Leading Environmental Performer - The proposed controls include 
a requirement that the residential component of any future development on the 
site meets a BASIX score of 5 points above the NSW mandated minimum score 
for water and energy. This will reduce the energy and water consumption of 
future development, and directly contribute towards the City's target of reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions by 70 per cent by 2030.

(b) Direction 3 - Integrated Transport for a Connected City - Redevelopment of the 
site for a mixed-use development will benefit from current and future transport 
services. The site is well located within walking distance of Green Square train 
station, approximately 1.4 kilometres north of the site. Regular bus services also 
operate along Botany Road, with destinations that include Mascot, Botany, 
Redfern and Central Sydney. 

(c) Direction 4 - A City for Walking and Cycling - The planning controls require 
widening of the Jones Lane footpath which will increase pedestrian amenity. The 
proposed non-residential use on the ground floor will support greater activation 
on the corner of Morley and Dunning Avenues and will create an improved 
interface with the surrounding commercial activities.

(d) Direction 6 - Vibrant Local Communities and Economies - The residential 
component of future redevelopment will deliver dwellings immediately adjacent to 
a range of goods and services, employment opportunities, transport and social 
infrastructure. The future residential population will support the employment 
lands local economy. The commercial floor space at the ground floor will allow 
retail tenancies, further activating the area, providing an additional focal point for 
the local community and strengthening the local economy.

19



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018 

(e) Direction 7 - A Cultural and Creative City - Future development will improve the 
quality and diversity of commercial spaces, while retaining the same amount of 
employment opportunities within the Rosebery area. The site is well positioned in 
close proximity to social infrastructure, including education, child care, cultural 
and recreational facilities.

(f) Direction 8 - Housing for a Diverse Population - Redevelopment of the site will 
deliver approximately 120 market dwellings and about 12 affordable dwellings of 
different sizes, which cater to a diverse range of future residents. 

(g) Direction 9 - Sustainable Development, Renewal and Design - The proposed 
planning controls are based on principles for sustainable development, including 
ensuring that built form delivers high levels of amenity for future residents. The 
design excellence provisions of Sydney LEP 2012 will continue to apply to the 
site, ensuring a high quality architectural outcome.

Legislation

92. Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979.

93. Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000.

Critical Dates / Time Frames

94. The Gateway Determination, and subsequent extension requires that the amendment 
to the Sydney LEP 2012 is completed by 28 September 2018. 

95. The Gateway Determination authorises Council to exercise this delegation and liaise 
directly with Parliamentary Counsel to draft and make the local environmental plan. If 
the planning proposal is approved by Council and the CSPC, the City will commence 
this process. Once this process is complete and the plan is made, the amendment to 
Sydney LEP 2012 will come into effect when published on the NSW Legislation 
website.

96. If approved by Council, the revised DCP will come into effect on the same day as the 
amendment to the LEP.

97. The planning agreement is to be completed prior to the finalisation of the amendments 
to the Sydney LEP 2012 and the revised DCP.

GRAHAM JAHN, AM

Director City Planning, Development and Transport

Daniel Thorpe, Planner

Jarrod Booth, Planner

20



Attachment A 

Planning Proposal: 102-106 Dunning 

Avenue, Rosebery

21



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Planning Proposal 
102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 

 
 
February 2017 

22



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 2 

 

Table of Contents 

List of Figures ........................................................................................................... 3 

List of Tables ............................................................................................................ 3 

PLANNING PROPOSAL 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery ................................ 4 

Introduction ............................................................................................................ 4 

Background ........................................................................................................... 4 

The site and existing development ......................................................................... 5 

Location ................................................................................................................. 8 

Current planning controls ..................................................................................... 11 

Planning Proposal ................................................................................................ 15 

Public benefit offer ............................................................................................... 16 

Part 1 Objectives and intended outcomes ............................................................... 19 

Part 2 Explanation of Provisions ............................................................................. 20 

2.1 Sydney LEP 2012 .......................................................................................... 20 

2.2 Sydney DCP 2012 ......................................................................................... 21 

Part 3 Justification ................................................................................................... 22 

Section A – Need for the Planning Proposal ........................................................ 22 

Section B – Relationship to strategic planning framework .................................... 23 

Section C – Environmental, social and economic impact ..................................... 37 

Section D – State and Commonwealth interests .................................................. 45 

Part 4 Mapping........................................................................................................ 46 

Part 5 Community Consultation ............................................................................... 54 

Part 6 Project timeline ............................................................................................. 55 

Appendix A: Public benefit offer letter .........................................................................  

Appendix B: Urban Design Study – Turner Studios .....................................................  

Appendix C: Survey letter and plans ...........................................................................  

Appendix D: Economic Analysis Report – JBA ............................................................  

Appendix E: Environmental Assessment Report – EI Australia ...................................  

Appendix F: Traffic Report – Colston Budd Rogers & Kafes Pty Ltd ............................  

Appendix G: Flood Level Summary – Cardno Pty Ltd .................................................  

Appendix H: Heritage Impact Statement – Paul Davies Pty Ltd ...................................  

 

  

23



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 3 

 

List of Figures 

Figure 1 Land affected by this Planning Proposal ..................................................... 4 

Figure 2 Existing development on 102-106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery ................... 6 

Figure 3 The site as viewed looking west from Morley Avenue. 755-759 Botany Road 
in background. .......................................................................................................... 6 

Figure 4 The site as viewed looking south west from Morley Avenue. 36 Morley 
Avenue in foreground. ............................................................................................... 7 

Figure 5 Site context ................................................................................................. 8 

Figure 6 Existing two-storey light industrial warehouse at 33-35 Morley Avenue ....... 9 

Figure 7 Former Rosella Preserving and Manufactory Co. factory buildings across 
Dunning Avenue ....................................................................................................... 9 

Figure 8 Recent development on 108 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery ......................... 10 

Figure 9 Jones Lane between the site and 755-759 Botany Road, Rosebery ......... 11 

Figure 10 Zoning map, Sydney LEP 2012 ............................................................... 12 

Figure 11 Floor Space Ratio map, Sydney LEP 2012 ............................................. 13 

Figure 12 Height of Building map, Sydney LEP 2012 .............................................. 14 

Figure 13 Heritage map, Sydney LEP 2012 ............................................................ 15 

Figure 14 3D perspective of proposed scheme looking south west (source: Turner 
Studios)................................................................................................................... 38 

Figure 15 3D perspective of proposed scheme from Morley Avenue looking east 
(source: Turner Studios) ......................................................................................... 38 

 

List of Tables 

Table 1 Existing tenants and industry division ........................................................... 7 

Table 2 Consistency with Sustainable Sydney 2030 ............................................... 25 

Table 3 Consistency with the Strategy’s directions and Guideline’s matters for 
consideration .......................................................................................................... 26 

Table 4 Consistency with State Environmental Planning Policies (SEPPs) and 
applicable deemed SEPPs ...................................................................................... 31 

Table 5 Consistency with relevant Section 117 Directions ...................................... 34 

Table 6 Anticipated timeframes ............................................................................... 55 

  

24



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 4 

 

PLANNING PROPOSAL 
102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 

Introduction 

This Planning Proposal explains the extent of, and justification for, proposed 
amendments to Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP 2012) as it 
applies to 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery (the site). It follows a request from 
the landowner, Kubis Rosebery Pty Ltd, to Council to prepare a Planning Proposal. 
The proposal is to facilitate the redevelopment of the site from its current warehouse 
use to a mixed use development comprising residential and non-residential 
development. The land affected by this Planning Proposal is shown hatched in red in 
Figure 1. 

 

Figure 1 Land affected by this Planning Proposal 

Specifically, this Planning Proposal seeks to rezone the site to allow a residential 
mixed use and amend the building height and floor space ratio controls for the site. 
More detailed planning controls will be contained within an amendment to Sydney 
Development Control Plan 2012 (Sydney DCP 2012) which has been prepared 
alongside this Planning Proposal. 

This Planning Proposal has been prepared in accordance with Section 55 of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (the Act) and guidelines 
published by the Department of Planning and Environment including ‘A guide to 
preparing planning proposals’ and ‘A guide to preparing local environmental plans’. 

Background 

The City of Sydney Employment Lands Strategy (Strategy) was adopted by Council 
in March 2015. The Strategy provides a strategic framework for the renewal of the 
City’s employment lands. Broadly, the key objectives of the Strategy are to:  

• ensure the retention and primacy of employment uses in the City of Sydney 
employment lands 

25



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 5 

 

• facilitate new business and industry opportunities 

• provide employment across a range of sectors 

• provide land for strategic industrial activity and essential urban services 

• ensure the timely provision of infrastructure, including affordable housing, to 
support growth in the area. 

The Strategy identifies two ‘investigation areas’ within the employment lands, one in 
Rosebery in the south and one in Alexandria close to the Green Square town centre. 
Investigation areas are those locations where potential for residential development 
has been identified where it can be demonstrated the broader objectives of the 
Strategy can be maintained. 

In October 2015, Council adopted the Guideline to Preparing Site Specific Planning 
Proposal Requests in the City of Sydney Employment Lands Investigation Areas 
(Guideline). The Guideline provides a transparent, equitable and consistent 
framework for the consideration of planning proposal requests. 

The site by site consideration of planning proposal requests in the investigation 
areas is critical to manage the complex land-use conflicts and infrastructure 
demands that will arise from the introduction of residential uses into the City’s 
employment lands. The Guideline provides the key planning matters the City will 
consider in making its assessment of requests. These matters are addressed in Part 
3, Section B of this Planning Proposal. 

This Planning Proposal is the first being considered in the Rosebery investigation 
area. 

The site and existing development 

102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery is a single landholding located in an 
‘investigation area’ in the southern employment lands in the City of Sydney local 
area. The land comprises Lot 50 DP 1171307. Survey plans are provided at 
Appendix C. 

The site area is 4,949 square metres, is regular in shape and is generally level. The 
site has frontages to Dunning Avenue on the east, Jones Lane on the west and 
Morley Avenue on the north. 

Existing development consists of four light industrial/warehousing units and ancillary 
offices with associated car parking at the site’s Morley Avenue frontage (Figure 2 to 
Figure 4). It has a total floor area of 3,336 square metres, comprising 2,066 square 
metres of warehouse and 1,270 square metres of ancillary office space. 

26



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 6 

 

 

Figure 2 Existing development on 102-106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 

 

Figure 3 The site as viewed looking west from Morley Avenue. 755-759 Botany Road 
in background. 

27



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 7 

 

 

Figure 4 The site as viewed looking south west from Morley Avenue. 36 Morley 
Avenue in foreground. 

The predominant land use on the site is transport and warehousing (about 60 per 
cent of floor area), however, a range of other industries are represented, as shown in 
Table 1. 

 

Table 1 Existing tenants and industry division 

Business (tenant) Industry division 

Wilhelmsen Transport, Postal and Warehousing  

CCM  Manufacturing  

Columbit  Wholesale trade  

Riedel  Manufacturing  

Viking  Transport, Postal and Warehousing  

Wavetrain  Manufacturing  

Wiltrading  Administrative and Support Services  

Wilhelmsen Ships Service  Administrative and Support Services  

site 

28



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 8 

 

The economic impact assessment, provided as Appendix D, identifies 38–51 
workers on the site. 

Location 

Context  

The site is in the southern employment lands in the City of Sydney local government 
area. Approximately 1.4 kilometres to the north of the site, or 15–20 minute walk, is 
the Green Square town centre and train station. About 4.8 kilometres beyond that is 
Central Sydney, which can be reached by bus from Botany Road. 

To the east is the Rosebery residential estate. South Dowling Street is about 400 
metres away. To the south is Gardeners Road and to the south-west is Mascot town 
centre precinct and train station. To the west is Botany Road. 

 

Figure 5 Site context 

Surrounding development 

The surrounding development is typically characterised by industrial uses, however 
there are a number of commercial, retail and residential uses within close proximity. 

NORTH 

To the immediate north of the site is Morley Avenue, a two-lane road with on-street 
parking and established street tree planting. On the other side of Morley Avenue is 
33 Morley Avenue, a two-storey light industrial warehouse (Figure 6). To the north-
west is an eight-storey mixed use development with ground level retail fronting 
Botany Road. 

29



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 9 

 

 

Figure 6 Existing two-storey light industrial warehouse at 33-35 Morley Avenue 

EAST 

To the immediate east of the site is Dunning Avenue, a two-lane road with on-street 
parking. On the other side of Dunning Avenue, is the former Rosella Preserving and 
Manufactory Co. factory which comprises a series of two-storey warehouse 
buildings, with many converted into creative and restaurant/café uses (Figure 7). 
This site is the heart of the emerging foodie scene in Rosebery. Further to the east 
comprises low density residential area of Rosebery that typically consists of 
detached dwellings. 

 

Figure 7 Former Rosella Preserving and Manufactory Co. factory buildings across 
Dunning Avenue 

SOUTH 

Adjoining the site directly to the south at 108 Dunning Avenue is a newly completed 
part two-, part three-storey light industrial building. It comprises 24 high technology 
industrial units and two food and drink premises with associated offices and retail 
showroom spaces (Figure 8). 

To the south of the site development consists of largely warehouse and light 
industrial uses, consistent with the B7 zoning of the area. 

30



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 10 

 

 

Figure 8 Recent development on 108 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 

WEST 

To the immediate west of the site is Jones Lane, a two-way service lane with one 
lane of parking. The laneway services other developments, but not the subject site. 
On the other side of the laneway is 755–759 Botany Road, a mixed use development 
that includes the heritage listed ‘Former “Tucker & Co” including interior’ – a single 
storey Inter-War Art Deco building (Figure 9). 

To the west of the site is Botany Road, a sub-arterial road that links the area to 
Green Square rail station to the north and Port Botany to the south. 

31



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 11 

 

 

Figure 9 Jones Lane between the site and 755-759 Botany Road, Rosebery 

Current planning controls 

Sydney LEP 2012 contains the zoning and principal development standards for the 
site. 

The site is zoned B7 Business Park, shown at Figure 10. The objectives of the B7 
zone are to provide a range of office and light industrial uses, to encourage 
employment opportunities and to enable other land uses that provide facilities or 
services to meet the day to day needs of workers in the area. The zone permits a 
broad range of industrial, business and commercial uses, but no residential uses 
other than affordable housing. 

site 

32



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 12 

 

 

Figure 10 Zoning map, Sydney LEP 2012 

The site has a floor space ratio (FSR) of 1.5:1 and a maximum height of 18 metres, 
shown at Figure 11 and Figure 12 respectively. 

33



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 13 

 

 

Figure 11 Floor Space Ratio map, Sydney LEP 2012 

34



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 14 

 

 

Figure 12 Height of Building map, Sydney LEP 2012 

No part of the site is heritage listed, nor is it located in a heritage conservation area. 
However, it is located adjacent to: 

• Heritage Item I1371, the ‘Former “Tucker & Co” including interior’ 

• Heritage Item I2256 – ‘Former Rosella Preserving Manufacturing Co north office 
and factory buildings and south building, including internal structure and Morley 
Avenue building setback’, shown at Figure 13. 

35



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 15 

 

 

Figure 13 Heritage map, Sydney LEP 2012 

The Sydney DCP 2012 does not identify any future road or open space requirements 
on the site. 

Planning Proposal 

In April 2015, the landowner approached the City to initiate discussions to change 
the planning controls on the site to facilitate a mixed use development, including 
commercial and residential uses. 

The City has worked with the landowner and their consultant team to explore 
potential built form outcomes and public benefits. 

In December 2016, the landowner submitted a Planning Proposal request (Request), 
supported by justification reports, to change the planning controls in Sydney LEP 
2012. The City has prepared this Planning Proposal following consideration of the 
Request. Supporting documentation prepared by the landowner and the consultant 
team is appended to this Planning Proposal. 

This Planning Proposal seeks to amend Sydney LEP 2012 to: 

• rezone the site from B7 Business Park to B4 Mixed Use; alternatively, the same 
outcomes may be achieved by listing the site on Schedule 1 of Sydney LEP 2012 
with an additional permissible use for ‘residential accommodation’ 

• increase the maximum building height from 18 metres up to 29 metres 

• increase the FSR from 1.5:1 to 2:1 

36



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 16 

 

• require that 10 per cent of any floor area built on the site be for a non-residential 
use 

• identify an ‘active street frontage’ along Dunning Avenue. 

It is noted that Clause 6.21 of Sydney LEP 2012 specifies that an additional 10 per 
cent height or FSR (not both) is permissible on a site where design excellence is 
demonstrated through a competitive design process. 

An amendment to Sydney DCP 2012, to be exhibited concurrently with this Planning 
Proposal, contains more detailed site-specific planning provisions. 

The amendments are to facilitate mixed use development. The proposed scheme, 
developed by Turner Studios, is provided in an urban design study at Appendix B. 
An assessment of the proposed scheme is provided at Part 3, Section C of this 
Planning Proposal. 

Public benefit offer 

In conjunction with this Planning Proposal request, the landowner has made an offer 
to enter into a planning agreement for the provision of public benefits. 

The key terms of the offer are: 

• finished affordable housing dwellings are to be provided on site in accordance 
with the Guideline under either: 

• Option 1 (minimum option) – where the amount of affordable housing floor 
space is calculated based on the amount of gross floor area built on the site 
and the agreed market value of the affordable housing floor space. The 
affordable housing floor space is to be built by the landowner and dedicated 
or sold to a Tier 1 or Tier 2 community housing provider for no more than $1, 
or 

• Option 2 (alternate option) - where affordable housing floor space is provided 
in addition to that required under Option 1. The landowner can sell the 
affordable housing floor space to a community housing provider for a capped 
amount. The capped sale amount is based on recouping the forgone value of 
the additional floor space on offer for affordable housing, plus an incentive 
amount, to be agreed between the City and the landowner.  

Note: Tier 1 community housing providers have the highest level of 
performance requirements and regulatory engagement, reflecting they are 
involved in activities that necessitate management of a higher level of risk. 
Tier 2 providers have an intermediate level of performance requirements and 
regulatory engagement, and are involved in activities that necessitate 
management of a level of risk lower than Tier 1 but great than Tier 3. 

• dedication to Council of a 1.25 metre deep frontage to Jones Lane 
(approximately 50 square metres of land) for a footpath, with the value of the 
land and any associated works in kind offset against the amount calculated under 
the Guideline 

• carparking for affordable housing dwellings, number of spaces to be agreed 
between the City and the landowner. 

A fundamental consideration in assessing the merits of this Planning Proposal has 
been how it may mitigate the additional infrastructure demand it generates by 
facilitating residential development in an area otherwise zoned for employment uses. 
The infrastructure requirement demand in the southern employment lands is detailed 
in the Southern Employment Land Infrastructure Plan 2015. 

37



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 17 

 

The landowner’s offer is made in accordance with the ‘benefit sharing’ approach 
described in the City’s Guideline which contains standardised rates to calculate the 
‘planning gain’ arising from a change to the planning controls. The planning gain is 
then shared equally between the landowner and the public in the form of 
infrastructure delivery.  

The Guideline ensures that each landowner in the investigation areas, which will 
substantially benefit from a change to planning controls to facilitate residential uses, 
shares that benefit with the public and landowners in the wider employment lands by 
providing the necessary infrastructure. 

Under this Planning Proposal, assuming a maximum of 2.2:1 is achieved, including 
any potential design excellence floor space, the public’s share of planning gain under 
the Guideline is $9.07 million. This figure is based on rates current at 1 January 
2017. 

The value of the land for footpath, as well as any associated works in kind is to be 
deducted from this amount with the residual funds then directed towards the 
provision of affordable housing floor space. This is to be established by joint 
valuation of the market value of residential floor space in the area. 

The landowner has offered to provide the affordable housing under one of two 
options described above. An example of affordable housing that may be provided 
under Option 1 (minimum option) is below. It uses estimated market values that may 
change following valuation: 

The total planning gain resulting from the changes to the 
planning controls is $18.13 million 

therefore 

the public’s share of the planning gain is $9.07 million, being 
half of the planning gain 

less 

the value of the footpath land and works in kind is $30,000 

therefore 

the amount for affordable housing is $9.04 million 

if 

the agreed average market value of floor space in the locality is 
$14,000 per square metre 

then 

the amount of affordable housing floor space will be 646 square 
metres, being the amount for affordable housing divided by the 

agreed average market value 

therefore 

if an average dwelling size of 80 square metres is assumed, 8 
dwellings would be provided for the purpose of affordable 

housing on the site. 

An example of affordable housing that may be provided under Option 2 is below. It 
too uses assumed values for demonstration purposes only: 

The minimum amount of affordable housing floor space to be 
provided is 646 square metres (from Option 1) 

38



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 18 

 

if 

the landowner opts to provide, 300 square metres more of 
affordable housing floor space 

then 

the owner may sell the affordable housing floor space for a 
capped sales amount, that is based on recouping the value of 

that floor space, being $4,200,000 (300 x$14,000), plus an 
incentive amount based on the following table: 

 

Affordable housing floor 
space achieved over 

Option 1 

Incentive rate (as a 
proportion of the public 

share of the planning 
gain) 

<50sq m 0% 

50 - 150sq m 2.5% 

151 - 250sq m 5% 

251 - 350sq m 7.5% 

351 - 450sq m 10% 

451sq m + 12.5% 

 

therefore 

the landowner may sell the affordable housing floor space to a 
community housing provider for a maximum of $4.88 million, 
being 300 square metres x $14,000 plus 7.5% x $9.07 million 

therefore 

if an average dwelling size of 80 square metres is assumed, 12 
dwellings would be provided for the purpose of affordable 

housing on the site 

therefore  

a community housing provider is purchasing the 12 affordable 
housing dwellings for approximately $400,000 each, rather than 

the estimated market value of $1 – $1.2 million per dwelling.  

The benefit of Option 2 is the increased amount of affordable housing resulting on 
the site. While there is some cost to community housing providers under Option 2, 
relative to Option 1 where affordable housing is provided at no cost, the affordable 
housing will be sold well below market value. It however relies on a willing 
community housing provider to purchase the dwellings, hence the need to provide 
for Option 1. 

A draft planning agreement is being prepared in accordance with the key terms 
described above. The draft planning agreement is to be publicly exhibited with the 
Planning Proposal.  

39



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 19 

 

Part 1 Objectives and intended outcomes 

This Planning Proposal is to: 

• facilitate the redevelopment of the site from its current warehouse use to a mixed 
use development comprising residential, retail and commercial uses 

• ensure that new development responds appropriately to the surrounding built 
form, land uses and future vision for the area 

• ensure substantial employment generating uses are provided on the site as part 
of a mixed use development 

• ensure that as residential uses are introduced into the City’s employment lands, 
the infrastructure required to support it is provided 

• facilitate affordable housing on the site to ensure a diverse community and 
housing for very low to moderate income workers in the area. 

  

40



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 20 

 

Part 2 Explanation of Provisions 

2.1 Sydney LEP 2012 

To achieve the intended outcomes, this Planning Proposal seeks to amend planning 
controls in Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP 2012) as follows: 

• rezone the land to B4 Mixed Use by amending Land Zoning Map Sheets 11, 12, 
18 and 19 in accordance with the proposed Land Zoning Map shown at Part 4 of 
this Planning Proposal 

• increase the maximum building height to 29 metres on the eastern portion of the 
site and 20 metres on the western portion by amending Height of Buildings Map 
Sheets 11, 12, 18 and 19 in accordance with the proposed Height of Buildings 
Map shown at Part 4 of this Planning Proposal 

• increase the maximum floor space ratio to 2:1 by amending Floor Space Ratio 
Map Sheets 11, 12, 18 and 19 in accordance with the proposed Floor Space 
Ratio Map shown at Part 4 of this Planning Proposal 

• require an active street frontage to Dunning Avenue by: 

• inserting a new map (Sheets 11, 12, 18 and 19) titled ‘Active Street 
Frontages Map’ in accordance with the proposed Active Street Frontages 
Map shown at Part 4 of this Planning Proposal, and 

• inserting a new clause in Part 7 – Local Provisions – General, Division 4 - 
Miscellaneous. The recommended wording for the clause is as follows: 

7.26 Active street frontages 

(1) The objective of this clause is to promote uses that attract 
pedestrian traffic along certain ground floor street frontages. 

(2) This clause applies to land identified as “Active street 
frontage” on the Active Street Frontages Map. 

(3) Development consent must not be granted to the erection 
of a building, or a change of use of a building, on land to 
which this clause applies unless the consent authority is 
satisfied that the building will have an active street frontage 
after its erection or change of use. 

(4) Despite subclause (3), an active street frontage is not 
required for any part of a building that is used for any of the 
following: 

(a) entrances and lobbies (including as part of mixed use 
development), 

(b) access for fire services, 

(c) vehicular access. 

(5) In this clause, a building has an active street frontage if 
all premises on the ground floor of the building facing the 
street are used for the purposes of business premises or 
retail premises. 

The intent of identifying an active frontage is to ensure that as residential 
development occurs in the employment lands, main streets remain the focus 
of commercial activity. 

41

http://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/#/view/EPI/2013/525/maps


 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 21 

 

• require 10 per cent of any floor area achieved on the site to be provided as non-
residential floor area by inserting a new clause in Part 6 – Local Provisions – 
Height and Floor space, Division 5 - Site Specific. The recommended wording for 
the clause is as follows: 

6.36 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 

(1) This clause applies to the site at 102–106 Dunning 
Avenue, Rosebery being Lot 50 DP 1171307 (Site). 

(2) Development consent must not be granted to 
development on land to which this clause applies unless the 
consent authority is satisfied that the development will result 
in no less than 10 per cent of GFA being used for purposes 
other than residential accommodation or tourist and visitor 
accommodation. 

The intent of this clause is to ensure that as residential development occurs in 
the employment lands an appropriate proportion of floor space is retained for 
employment generating uses. 

ALTERNATE ZONING APPROACH 

With regard to the proposed rezoning, it is noted the same objectives and outcomes 
detailed in Part 1 may be achieved by listing the site on Schedule 1 of Sydney LEP 
2012 with an additional permissible use for ‘residential accommodation’. This would 
keep the identified employment lands intact as a recognisable employment precinct, 
maintaining the objectives of the B7 Business Park zone to: 

• provide a range of office and light industrial uses 

• encourage employment opportunities 

• enable other land uses that provide facilities or services to meet the day to day 
needs of workers in the area 

• ensure uses support the viability of nearby centres. 

This may be the preferred approach of the Greater Sydney Commission, given the 
increased weight put on the retention of employment lands in the recently released 
draft Central District Plan. 

If in assessing this Planning Proposal this is the preferred approach of the Greater 
Sydney Commission, the Gateway Determination issued for this Planning Proposal 
may direct the City to retain the B7 Business Park zoning and identify the site on 
Schedule 1. 

2.2 Sydney DCP 2012  

The City has prepared draft Sydney DCP 2012 amendment containing detailed site-
specific planning controls has been prepared. It includes provisions relating to the 
public domain, design excellence requirements, land use, building envelopes and 
location, bulk and massing, street frontage heights in storeys, setbacks and vehicular 
entrances. The draft Sydney DCP 2012 amendment will be publicly exhibited with 
the Planning Proposal.  

42



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 22 

 

Part 3 Justification  

Section A – Need for the Planning Proposal 

Q1. Is the planning proposal a result of any strategic study or report? 

The site is located in the City of Sydney southern employment lands. In June 2014 
Council adopted the City of Sydney Employment Lands Strategy (Strategy) to guide 
growth and change in the employment lands. While retaining the B7 Business Park 
zoning of the site, the Strategy identifies it in an ‘investigation area’, where additional 
permissible use for ‘residential accommodation’ will be considered on a case by case 
basis. 

To provide a framework for the preparation of site-specific planning proposals within 
the investigations areas, Council adopted the Guideline for preparing site-specific 
planning proposals in City of Sydney employment lands (Guideline) in October 2015. 
The Guideline outlines the matters that will be considered in assessing planning 
proposal requests to change the planning controls of a site in the investigation areas. 

In April 2015 the landowner initiated discussions with the City to change the planning 
controls for the site and in December 2016 submitted a planning proposal request to 
the City. In support of the Planning Proposal request, the landowner has provided 
technical studies that are appended to this Planning Proposal at: 

• Appendix B: Urban Design Study – Turner Studios 

• Appendix D: Economic Analysis Report – JBA 

• Appendix E: Environmental Assessment Report – EI Australia 

• Appendix F: Traffic Report – Colston Budd Rogers & Kafes Pty Ltd 

• Appendix G: Flood Level Summary – Cardno Pty Ltd 

• Appendix H: Heritage Impact Statement – Paul Davies Pty Ltd  

The consistency of this Planning Proposal with the Strategy and the Guideline is 
discussed at Section B. The key findings of the technical studies are discussed in 
Section C. 

This Planning Proposal is a result of discussions and meetings between the City, the 
landowner and their consultants. It details the proposed amendments to Sydney 
Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP 2012) that will facilitate redevelopment 
with acceptable environmental impacts, appropriate built form and commensurate 
public benefit. 

Q2. Is the planning proposal the best means of achieving the objectives or 
intended outcomes, or is there a better way? 

The proposed scheme is for a mixed use development of up to 29 metres with an 
FSR of up to 2:1. Current planning controls prohibit a residential use on the site and 
limit the height and FSR to 18 metres and 1.5:1 respectively. 

As such, a planning proposal to change the zoning, height and FSR controls is 
required to facilitate the proposed scheme and the intended outcomes of this 
Planning Proposal. 

43



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 23 

 

Section B – Relationship to strategic planning framework 

Q3. Is the planning proposal consistent with the objectives and actions of the 
applicable regional, sub-regional strategy or district plan (including any 
exhibited draft plans or strategies)? 

A PLAN FOR GROWING SYDNEY 

A Plan for Growing Sydney (Plan) is the NSW Government’s overarching strategic 
plan for growth and change in Sydney over the next 20 years. It identifies key 
challenges facing Sydney including a population increase of 1.6 million by 2034, 
689,000 new jobs by 2031 and a requirement for 664,000 new homes. 

In responding to these and other challenges, the Plan sets out four goals: 

1. a competitive economy with world-class services and transport 

2. a city of housing choice and homes that meet our needs and lifestyles 

3. a great place to live with communities that are strong, healthy and well connected 

4. a sustainable and resilient city that protects the natural environment and has a 
balanced approach to the use of land and resources. 

To achieve these goals, the Plan proposes 22 directions and associated actions. 
Actions of particular relevance to this Planning Proposal include: 

• Action 1.7 Grow strategic centres 

• Action 2.1 Accelerate housing supply across Sydney 

• Action 2.2 Accelerate urban renewal across Sydney 

• Action 2.3 Improve housing choice to suit different needs and lifestyles. 

This Planning Proposal is consistent with the relevant goals, directions and actions 
of the Plan. Specifically, it will: 

• facilitate redevelopment of the site to include commercial and retail premises, 
resulting in the creation of new jobs 

• expand Sydney’s economic centres to enable the City to compete and strengthen 
economic growth by creating new opportunities for businesses to invest 

• promote the urban renewal of a site which is accessible by public transport 

• ensure jobs are provided close to where people live 

• encourage the supply of new and diverse residential accommodation 

• provide more affordable housing. 

DRAFT CENTRAL DISTRICT PLAN 

In November 2016 the Greater Sydney Commission (GSC) released for public 
exhibition the draft District Plans for the Greater Sydney Metropolitan Region. The 
District Plans set out how A Plan for Growing Sydney applies to local areas. 

The City of Sydney is in the Central District. The draft Central District Plan includes 
20 year targets for housing and jobs, specifically: 

• a short-term (five years) housing target of 46,550 new dwellings in the Central 
District, with 18,300 dwellings to be delivered in City of Sydney local area 

• a 2036 target for 157,500 dwellings in the Central District 

44



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 24 

 

• a 2036 baseline target for 497,000 jobs in Central Sydney, 75,000 in Green 
Square – Mascot strategic centres and a ‘higher target’ 732,000 and 80,000 
respectively. 

The draft Central District Plan sets priorities and actions for ‘Productivity, ‘Liveability’ 
and ‘Sustainability’ which will directly inform the planning, growth and development 
of Sydney over the next twenty years. Actions, sub-actions and priorities of particular 
relevance to this Planning Proposal include: 

• Action 3.5 Growing economic activity in centres, specifically sub-action 3.5.1 
Planning for retail floor space provision and demand in the Central District and 
sub-action 3.5.2 Protect and manage employment and urban services land 

• Action 4.3 Improve housing choice, specifically sub-action 4.3.5 Create housing 
capacity in the Central District 

• Action 4.4 Improve housing diversity and affordability, specifically sub-action 
4.4.4 Deliver Affordable Rental Housing 

• Action 4.6 Create great places, specifically sub-action 4.6.2 Plan for safe and 
healthy places 

• Action S10 Support the development of environmental performance targets and 
benchmarks. 

This Planning Proposal is consistent with the relevant actions, sub-actions and 
priorities goals of the draft Central District Plan. Specifically, it will: 

• facilitate redevelopment of the site to include commercial and retail premises, 
resulting in the creation of new jobs 

• expand Sydney’s economic centres to enable the city to compete and strengthen 
economic growth by creating new opportunities for businesses to invest 

• encourage the supply of new and diverse residential accommodation 

• provide more affordable housing 

• promote the urban renewal of a site which is accessible by public transport 

• ensure jobs are provided close to where people live 

• increase deep soil zones and more landscaped areas 

• ensure building design contributes to the amenity of the public domain. 

Q4. Is the planning proposal consistent with Council’s local strategy or other 
local strategic plan? 

SUSTAINABLE SYDNEY 2030  

The City’s Sustainable Sydney 2030 Strategic Plan is the vision for the sustainable 
development of the City to 2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to 
guide the future of the City, as well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. 
This Planning Proposal is consistent with key directions of Sustainable Sydney 2030 
as demonstrated in Table 2. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

45



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 25 

 

Table 2 Consistency with Sustainable Sydney 2030 

Direction Comment 

Direction 2 – A leading 
environmental performer 

This Planning Proposal will facilitate the redevelopment of 
the site to deliver new building stock with better 
environmental performance than the current warehouse 
building on the site. The proposed controls include a 
requirement that development meets a BASIX score of 
five points above the State-mandated minimum score for 
energy and water if a competitive design process is 
undertake for the entire site. This will reduce the energy 
consumption of future development and directly contribute 
towards the City’s target of reducing greenhouse gas 
emissions by 70 per cent by 2030. 
 
This Planning Proposal will encourage more vegetation 
and deep soil zones on the site. Increased vegetation can 
lead to better ecological health of urban environments. 
 
Any future design competition for the site will be judged in 
part against the environmental sustainability credentials of 
the building. 
 

Direction 3 – Integrated 
transport for a connected city 

The site is situated in proximity to the high capacity bus 
routes along Botany Road, connecting the area to central 
Sydney, Mascot and Green Square train stations, Sydney 
Airport and neighbouring areas. Easy and frequent bus 
connections are available to the surrounding suburbs. 
 

Direction 4 – A city for walking 
and cycling 

This Planning Proposal will encourage active transport by 
facilitating the delivery of new residential, retail and 
commercial floor space in reasonable walking and/or 
cycling proximity to a range of existing and planned 
services and facilities. 
 
The new uses and design of the ground floor will lead to 
greater activation of the public domain and a greater 
sense of security, encouraging further pedestrian activity. 
 

Direction 6 – Vibrant local 
communities and economies 

This Planning Proposal will facilitate the redevelopment of 
a large area of land for retail and residential uses. The 
commercial floor space at the podium levels will allow 
retail tenancies which will activate the site and generate 
economic activity. 
 

Direction 8 – Housing for a 
diverse population 

This Planning Proposal will facilitate the provision of 
approximately 120 new dwellings by the private market. 
 
A planning agreement to be entered into between the City 
and the landowner provides options for the delivery of 
affordable housing on the site. Under the baseline Option 
1, and assuming the maximum gross floor area is 
achieved, an estimated minimum of 646 square metres of 
affordable housing floor space is to be provided on the 
site (depending on the amount of design excellence floor 
space that may be achieved). Assuming an average 
dwelling size of 80 square meters this equates to 8 
affordable housing dwellings. 
 

46



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 26 

 

In addition, development on the site will also be subject to 
the southern employment lands Affordable Housing 
Scheme required under Sydney LEP 2012. 
 

Direction 9 – Sustainable 
development, renewal and 
design 

This Planning Proposal will amend the planning controls 
to ensure that built form responds to the surrounding 
context and delivers a high level of amenity for future 
residents. The design excellence provisions of Sydney 
LEP 2012 will continue to apply ensuring a high quality 
and sustainable development. 
 

CITY OF SYDNEY EMPLOYMENT LANDS STRATEGY 2014-2019 AND 
GUIDELINE TO PREPARING SITE SPECIFIC PLANNING PROPOSALS IN CITY 
OF SYDNEY EMPLOYMENT LANDS INVESTIGATION AREAS 

The City of Sydney Employment Lands Strategy 2014–2019 (Strategy) sets the 
future direction for all employment lands within the City. The long-term vision for the 
southern employment lands is to facilitate new business and industry opportunities, 
provide employment across a range of sectors, and land for strategic industrial 
activity and essential urban services. 

As part of the Strategy, Council prepared the Guideline to Preparing Site Specific 
Planning Proposals in City of Sydney Employment Lands Investigation Areas (the 
Guideline). The Guideline provides a framework for the preparation of planning 
proposal requests. It details the matters that will be considered in assessing the 
strategic merit of planning proposal requests within investigation areas in the 
southern employment lands. 

This planning proposal is consistent with the vision for the investigation areas. A 
summary of this Planning Proposal’s consistency with the directions of the Strategy 
and matters for consideration provided in the Guideline is provided at Table 3. 

 

Table 3 Consistency with the Strategy’s directions and Guideline’s matters for 
consideration 

Direction / Matter for 
Consideration 

Comment 

Guideline  
Is now the right time for the 
Request? 

The purpose of this matter for consideration is to ensure that 
over time the demand for residential development in the 
area does not displace functional employment uses. 
 
The site is currently well utilised, generating employment 
and making a positive contribution to the economy. 
 
This Planning Proposal ensures that in the redevelopment of 
the site, business and commercial floor space will be 
retained. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

47



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 27 

 

Strategy 
Implement planning 
solutions that work towards 
the objectives and targets 
provided by Sustainable 
Sydney 2030 
 
Guideline 
Is the Request consistent 
with state and local 
planning policies? 
 

This Planning Proposal is consistent with state and local 
planning policies and objectives. 
 
See Part 3, Section B for a full discussion. 

Strategy 
Advocate a subregional 
approach to the protection 
of employment lands 
 
 
 

This Planning Proposal is consistent with the strategic 
direction for the investigation areas, which are located at the 
peripheries of the southern employment lands. 
 
Given the southern employment lands position within the 
Global Economic Corridor, its role within the metropolitan 
context is to enable new business and industries that 
facilitate employment within a range of industry sectors. 
 
This Planning Proposal ensures over the long term the 
protection of the core employment lands and facilitates 
residential uses in appropriate places while ensuring a 
positive economic and employment outcomes on the site. 
 

Guideline 
Does the Request provide 
employment opportunities? 
 

This Planning Proposal provides employment opportunities 
and broader economic benefits. 
 
See Part 3, Section C, Question 9 for a full discussion. 
 

Guideline 
Does the Request 
unreasonably impact on 
existing employment uses? 

This Planning Proposal does not unreasonably impact on 
existing uses in the area. 
 
Existing employment uses include retail, warehouse and 
light industrial uses, commercial offices, food and drink 
premises and other. 
 
The proposed commercial component on the corner of 
Dunning and Morley Avenues will also provide a compatible 
land use interface with the existing retail and restaurant 
activities. 
 
The site immediately to the south of the site comprises 
recently completed 24 high technology industrial units and 
two food and drink premises. The proposed scheme on the 
subject site provides adequate separation, with the podium 
and taller components sited toward the north to address 
Morley Avenue, with a landscaped area along the southern 
edge of the site. Residential development that will result 
from this Planning Proposal is unlikely to have an 
unreasonable impact on the operational viability of the 
employment uses on the adjacent site. 
 
The built form of the proposed scheme will provide 
appropriate amenity for future residents and is unlikely to 
result in significant land use conflict with surrounding uses. 
 

Guideline This Planning Proposal maintains future opportunities for the 
redevelopment of adjacent sites and surrounding areas. 

48



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 28 

 

Does the Request respect 
the development potential 
of all land in the 
investigation areas? 

 
The proposed scheme will appropriately contribute to the 
staged delivery of infrastructure by providing land for 
footpath and making development contributions through the 
development application process. It will also contribute to 
the provision of affordable housing in the area. 
 

Guideline 
Is the benefit of the 
Request shared with the 
public?  

This Planning Proposal shares the benefits of the proposal 
with the wider area. 
 
The Guideline provides a formula and standardised rates 
that allow for the calculation of the ‘planning gain’ that would 
result from requested new planning controls. The planning 
gain is equally shared between the proponent and the 
public, represented by the City, for the delivery of 
infrastructure. 
 
This ensures that each landowner in the investigation areas, 
which will substantially benefit from a change to planning 
controls to facilitate residential uses, shares that benefit with 
the public and landowners in the wider employment lands. 

In conjunction with the planning proposal request, the 
landowner has made an offer to enter into a planning 
agreement to provide infrastructure, consistent with the 
Guideline. The public benefit offer is for: 

• dedication of 50 square metres of land for footpath 
widening along Jones Lane and associated works in 
kind 

• finished affordable housing floor space provided under: 

• Option 1 – where the amount of affordable housing 
floor space is calculated in accordance with the 
Guideline to Preparing Site Specific Planning 
Proposal Requests in the City of Sydney 
Employment Lands and sold to a community 
housing provider for no more than $1, or 

• Option 2 - where affordable housing floor space is 
provided in addition to that required under Option 1, 
the landowner can sell the affordable housing floor 
space to a community housing provider for a capped 
amount. The capped amount is to be based on the 
market value of the additional floor space plus an 
agreed incentive amount. 

A planning agreement entered into between the City and the 
landowner will provide options for the delivery of affordable 
housing on the site. Under the baseline Option 1, and 
assuming the maximum gross floor area is achieved, an 
estimated minimum of 646 square metres of affordable 
housing floor space is to being provided on the site 
(depending on the amount of design excellence floor space 
that may be achieved). Assuming an average dwelling size 
of 80 square meters this equates to 8 affordable housing 
dwellings. 
 
The planning agreement is to be publicly exhibited in 
conjunction with this Planning Proposal. 

Strategy This Planning Proposal will improve the public domain. 
 

49



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 29 

 

Improve the public domain 
in the southern 
employment lands 
 
 
Guideline 
Does the Request provide 
appropriate public domain? 

In conjunction with this Planning Proposal the landowner 
has made an offer to enter into a planning agreement to 
provide infrastructure, including the dedication of land for 
footpath widening. The proposed dedication will improve 
pedestrian amenity and enhance accessibility in the 
investigation area. 
 
The incorporation of ground floor retail and commercial 
space for small business operations on the corner of 
Dunning and Morley Avenues will also increase the level of 
activation on the corner of Morley Avenue and Dunning 
Avenue, enhancing the vibrancy of the public domain. 
 
Residential ground floor uses addressing Morley Avenue will 
comprise of double storey ground floor apartments that will 
maximise the number of entrances that address the public 
domain and enhance the level of activity at the interface 
between the public and private domain. The proposed 
scheme includes a landscape setbacks at ground level on 
Morley Avenue and Jones Lane. 
 

Guideline 
Is the Request for an 
appropriate built form? 

This Planning Proposal will facilitate an appropriate built 
form. 
 
See Part 3, Section C for a detailed assessment of the likely 
impacts of the proposed built form. 
 

Guideline 
Will the Request activate 
the street and public 
spaces? 

This Planning Proposal will facilitate an appropriate 
activation of the street. 
 
The proposed scheme incorporates 1,000 square metres of 
commercial space over two levels at the corner of Dunning 
and Morley Avenues. It will facilitate fine grain retail and 
commercial floor space for small business operations at the 
ground level, activating Dunning Avenue and enhancing the 
vibrancy of the public domain. 
 
Residential ground floor uses addressing Morley Avenue will 
comprise of double storey ground floor apartments that will 
maximise the number of entrances that address the public 
domain and enhance the level of activity at the interface 
between the street and ground level apartments. 
 

Strategy 
Encourage a sustainable, 
high quality and functional 
built form that respects the 
history of the southern 
employment lands 
 
Guideline 
Does the Request respect 
the heritage of the area? 
 
 

This Planning Proposal will facilitate an appropriate built 
form of high quality design. 
 
See Part 3, Section C for a detailed assessment of the likely 
impacts of the proposed built form, including heritage 
impacts. 
 

Strategy 
Recognise and address 
flooding issues in the 
southern employment lands 
 

This Planning Proposal appropriately responds to the 
environmental constraints of the land. 
 

50



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 30 

 

 
Guideline 
Do the environmental 
constraints of the land 
make it suitable for the use 
proposed in the Request? 

See Part 3, Section C for a detailed assessment of the likely 
impacts of the proposed built form, including flooding 
impacts. 
 

Guideline 
Does the Request 
implement best practice 
ESD principles? 

This Planning Proposal and supporting draft Sydney DCP 
2012 amendment will implement Ecologically Sustainable 
Development (ESD) principles. 
 
The detailed design of the development will be further 
defined through a competitive design process. The 
incorporation of ESD principles will be part of the 
assessment criteria in the design selection process. The 
draft Sydney DCP 2012 amendment requires the 
development to achieve a BASIX score of at least five points 
above the minimum State-mandated targets for energy and 
water if a competitive design process is undertaken for the 
entire site. 
 
Sustainable design measures will be further detailed during 
the detailed design phase as part of the development 
application. 
 

Guideline 
Does the Request promote 
improved accessibility in 
the investigation areas? 

This Planning Proposal will improve the public domain. 
 
In conjunction with this Planning Proposal the landowner 
has made an offer to enter into a planning agreement to 
provide infrastructure, including the dedication of land for 
footpath widening along Jones Lane. 
 
The proposed dedication will improve pedestrian amenity 
and enhance accessibility in the investigation area. 
 

Strategy 
Recognise and address 
traffic and transport issues 
in the southern 
employment lands 
 
Guideline 
Does the Request promote 
the use of sustainable 
transport? 
 

This Planning Proposal will promote the use of sustainable 
transport. 
 
See Part 3, Section C for a detailed discussion of traffic and 
transport issues associated with the proposed scheme. 
 

Strategy 
Ensure that key workers 
can access affordable 
housing 
 
Guideline 
Does the Request promote 
housing diversity? 

This Planning Proposal provides for the provision of 
affordable housing and promotes housing diversity. 
 
Future residential development will be required to comply 
with the dwelling size mix requirements of the Sydney DCP 
2012. Indicatively, the proposed scheme is for: 
 

 studio and 1-bedroom – 48 apartments (40%) 

 2-bedroom – 60 apartments (50%) 

 3-bedroom – 12 apartments (10%) 
 
In conjunction with the planning proposal request the 
landowner has made an offer to enter into a planning 
agreement to provide infrastructure, including affordable 
housing. At the development application stage, an additional 

51



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 31 

 

Q5. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable State Environmental 
Planning Policies? 

The consistency of this Planning Proposal with current State Environmental Planning 
Policies (SEPPs) and former Regional Environmental Plans (REPs) for the Sydney 
and Greater Metropolitan Regions, which are deemed to have the weight of SEPPs, 
is outlined in Table 4. 

Repealed SEPPs or REPs, or those that were not finalised are not included in Table 
4. 

 

Table 4 Consistency with State Environmental Planning Policies (SEPPs) and 
applicable deemed SEPPs 

SEPP Comment 

SEPP 1 - Development Standards  Consistent – this Planning Proposal does 
not contain provisions that contradict or 
would hinder application of this SEPP. 
 

SEPP 14 – Coastal Wetlands  Not applicable 
 

SEPP 19 - Bushland in Urban Areas Not applicable 
 

SEPP 21 - Caravan Parks Not applicable 
 

SEPP 26 - Littoral Rainforests Not applicable 
 

SEPP 30 - Intensive Agriculture Not applicable 
 

SEPP 33 - Hazardous and Offensive 
Development 
 

Not applicable 

SEPP 36 - Manufactured Home Estates Not applicable 
 

SEPP 44 - Koala Habitat Protection Not applicable 
 

SEPP 47 - Moore Park Showground Not applicable 
 

SEPP 50 - Canal Estate Development Not applicable 
 

SEPP 52 - Farm Dams and other works in 
Land and Water Management Plan Areas 
 

Not applicable 

SEPP 55 - Remediation of Land Consistent – this Planning Proposal does 
not contain provisions that contradict or 
would hinder application of this SEPP. 

affordable housing contribution will be made in accordance 
with the requirements of the Sydney LEP 2012 and the 
Employment Lands Affordable Housing Program. 
 

Strategy 
Ensure the southern 
employment lands are 
adequately serviced by 
public infrastructure 
 

The development that may result from this Planning 
Proposal will be adequately serviced by infrastructure. 
 
See Section D, Question 10 for a detailed discussion. 

52



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 32 

 

 
The proponent has provided evidence 
confirming that the site can be made 
suitable for residential uses. 
 
See Part 3, Section C, Question 8 for more 
detailed discussion. 
 

SEPP 62 - Sustainable Aquaculture Not applicable 
 

SEPP 64 - Advertising and Signage Consistent – this Planning Proposal does 
not contain provisions that contradict or 
would hinder application of this SEPP. 
 

SEPP 65 - Design Quality of Residential 
Flat Development 

Consistent – this Planning Proposal does 
not contain provisions that contradict or 
would hinder application of this SEPP. 
 
See Part 3, Section C, Question 8 for more 
detailed discussion. 
 

SEPP 70 - Affordable Housing (Revised 
Schemes) 

Consistent – this Planning Proposal does 
not contain provisions that contradict or 
would hinder application of this SEPP. 
 
The Employment Lands Affordable Housing 
Scheme applies to this site under Sydney 
LEP 2012. 
 

SEPP 71 - Coastal Protection Not applicable 
 

SEPP (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009 Not applicable 
 

SEPP (Building Sustainability Index: BASIX) 
2004 

Consistent – this Planning Proposal does 
not contain provisions that contradict or 
would hinder application of this SEPP. 
 

SEPP Exempt and Complying Development Consistent – this Planning Proposal does 
not contain provisions that contradict or 
would hinder application of this SEPP. 
 

SEPP (Housing for Seniors or People with a 
Disability) 2004 

Consistent – this Planning Proposal does 
not contain provisions that contradict or 
would hinder application of this SEPP. 
 

SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007 Consistent – this Planning Proposal does 
not contain provisions that contradict or 
would hinder application of this SEPP. 
 

SEPP (Integration and Repeals) 2016 Not applicable 
 

SEPP (Kosciuszko National Park-Alpine 
Resorts) 2007 
 

Not applicable 

SEPP (Kurnell Peninsula) 1989 Not applicable 

SEPP (Mining, Petroleum Production and 
Extractive Industries) 2007 
 

Not applicable 

53



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 33 

 

SEPP (Miscellaneous consent provisions) 
2007 
 

Not applicable 

SEPP (Penrith Lakes Scheme) 1989 Not applicable 

SEPP (Rural Lands) 2008 Not applicable 
 

SEPP (State and Regional Development) 
2011 
 

Not applicable 

SEPP (State Significant Precincts) 2005 Consistent – this Planning Proposal does 
not contain provisions that contradict or 
would hinder application of this SEPP. 
 

SEPP (Sydney Drinking Water Catchment) 
2011 
 

Not applicable 

SEPP (Sydney Region Growth Centres) 
2006 
 

Not applicable 

SEPP (Three Ports) 2013 Not applicable 
 

SEPP (Urban Renewal) 2010 Not applicable  

SEPP (Western Sydney Employment Area) 
2009 

Not applicable 

SEPP (Western Sydney Parklands) 2009 Not applicable 
 

Sydney REP No 5 - (Chatswood Town 
Centre) 
 

Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 8 (Central Coast Plateau 
Areas) 
 

Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 9 - Extractive Industry (No 
2—1995) 
 

Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 11 - Penrith Lakes Scheme 
 

Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 13 - Mulgoa Valley 
  

Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 16 - Walsh Bay 
 

Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 17 - Kurnell Peninsula 
(1989) 
 

Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 20 - Hawkesbury- Nepean 
River (No 2 - 1997) 
 

Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 24 - Homebush Bay Area 
 

Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 25 - Orchard Hills 
 

Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 26 - City West 
 

Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 28 – Parramatta 
 

Not applicable 

54



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 34 

 

Sydney REP No 29 - Rhodes Peninsula 
 

Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 30 - St Marys 
 

Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 33 - Cooks Cove 
 

Not applicable 

Sydney REP (Sydney Harbour Catchment) 
2005 
 

Not applicable 

Drinking Water Catchments REP No 1 
 

Not applicable 

Greater Metropolitan REP No 2 - Georges 
River Catchment  
 

Not applicable 

Q6. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable Ministerial Directions 
(Section 117 Directions)? 

This Planning Proposal has been assessed against each Section 117 Direction. 
Consistency with these Directions is shown in Table 5. 

Table 5 Consistency with relevant Section 117 Directions 

 
Direction Comment 

Employment and Resources 

1.1 Business and Industrial Zones Justifiably inconsistent 
 
See justification provided following this Table. 
 

1.2 Rural Zones Not applicable 
 

1.3 Mining, Petroleum Production 
and Extractive Industries 
 

Not applicable 

1.4 Oyster Aquaculture Not applicable 
 

1.5 Rural Lands Not applicable 
 

Environment and Heritage 

2.1 Environment Protection Zones Not applicable 
 

2.2 Coastal Protection Not applicable 
 

2.3 Heritage Conservation Not applicable 
 

2.4 Recreation Vehicle Areas Not applicable 
 

2.5 Application of E2 and E3 Zones 
and Environmental Overlays in 
Far North Coast LEPs 
 
 
 
 

Not applicable 
 

Housing, Infrastructure and Urban Development 

55



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 35 

 

3.1 Residential Zones Consistent – this Planning Proposal will 
facilitate the delivery of approximately 120 new 
dwellings on the site, increasing the amount 
and variety of housing in the City of Sydney 
local area. 
 

3.2 Caravan Parks and Manufactured 
Home Estates 
 

Not applicable 

3.3 Home Occupations Not applicable 
 

3.4 Integrating Land Use and 
Transport 

Consistent – this Planning Proposal is 
consistent with the aims, objectives and 
principles of Improving Transport Choice – 
Guidelines for planning and development 
(DUAP 2001), and The Right Place for 
Business and Services – Planning Policy 
(DUAP 2001). 
 

3.5 Development Near Licensed 
Aerodromes 

Not applicable – this site is not in an Australian 
Noise Exposure Forecast (ANEF) contour 
zone. 
 

3.6 Shooting Ranges Not applicable 
 

Hazard and Risk 

4.1 Acid Sulfate Soils Consistent – this Planning Proposal does not 
contradict or hinder application of acid sulfate 
soils provisions in Sydney LEP 2012. 
 
The site is on Class 5 Acid Sulfate Soil. 
 

4.2 Mine Subsidence and Unstable 
Land 

Not applicable 
 

4.3 Flood Prone Land Consistent – this Planning Proposal does not 
contradict or hinder application of flood prone 
land provisions in Sydney LEP 2012. 

4.4 Planning for Bushfire Protection Not applicable 
 

Regional Planning 

5.1 Implementation of Regional 
Strategies 

Not applicable 
 

5.2 Sydney Drinking Water 
Catchments 

Not applicable 
 

5.3 Farmland of State and Regional 
Significance on the NSW Far 
North Coast 
 

Not applicable 

5.4 Commercial and Retail 
Development along the Pacific 
Highway, North Coast 
 

Not applicable 

5.8 Second Sydney Airport: 
Badgerys Creek 

Not applicable 
 

5.9 North West Rail Link Corridor 
Strategy 

Not applicable 
 

5.10 Implementation of Regional Plans Consistent – this Planning Proposal is 
consistent with the draft Central District Plan. 
 

56



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 36 

 

Local Plan Making 

6.1 Approval and Referral 
Requirements 

Consistent – this Planning Proposal does not 
include any concurrence, consultation or 
referral provisions nor does it identify any 
development as designated development. 
 

6.2 Reserving Land for Public 
Purposes 

Consistent – this Planning Proposal will not 
affect any land reserved for public purposes. 
 

6.3 Site Specific Provisions Consistent – this Planning Proposal does not 
contradict or hinder the application of this 
direction. 
 

Metropolitan Planning 

7.1 Implementation of A Plan for 
Growing Sydney 

Consistent – this Planning Proposal is 
consistent with A Plan for Growing Sydney. 
 
Refer to Section B, Q3. 
 

7.2 Implementation of Greater 
Macarthur Land Release 
Investigation 
 

Not applicable 

DIRECTION 1.1 BUSINESS AND INDUSTRIAL ZONES 

This Direction applies to planning proposals that will affect land within an existing or 
proposed business or industrial zone (including the alteration of any existing 
business or industrial zone boundary). 

The objectives of Section 117 Ministerial Directions for Business and Industrial 
zones are to: 

• encourage employment growth in suitable locations 

• protect employment land in business and industrial zones 

• support the viability of identified strategic centres. 

Where this Direction applies, the planning proposal must: 

• give effect to the objectives of this direction 

• retain the areas and locations of existing business and industrial zones 

• not reduce the total potential floor space area for employment uses and related 
public services in business zones 

• not reduce the total potential floor space area for industrial uses in industrial 
zones 

• ensure that proposed new employment areas are in accordance with a strategy 
that is approved by the Director-General of the Department of Planning. 

A planning proposal may be inconsistent with this Direction where the Director-
General or their delegate is satisfied that the proposal is:  

• justified by a strategy which: 

• gives consideration to the objective of this Direction 

• identifies the land which is the subject of the planning proposal (if the 
planning proposal relates to a particular site or sites) 

• is approved by the Director-General of the Department of Planning, or 

57



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 37 

 

• justified by a study (prepared in support of the planning proposal) which gives 
consideration to the objective of this Direction, or  

• in accordance with the relevant Regional Strategy, Regional Plan or Sub-
Regional Strategy prepared by the Department of Planning which gives 
consideration to the objective of this direction, or  

• of minor significance. 

The Employment Lands Study 2012 underpinned the City of Sydney Employment 
Lands Strategy, which provides the long-term vision and action plan for the renewal 
of the southern employment lands. The Study identified the areas now referred to as 
‘investigation areas’ as those that could accommodate a mix of uses, including 
residential development, without having any significant impact on the region’s 
projected need for industrial and business zoned land. 

In support of this Planning Proposal, JBA has prepared an economic analysis of the 
proposed scheme to determine the net economic impacts, including impact on 
employment. The report is provided at Appendix D and discussed in detail at Part 3, 
Section C, Question 9 of this Planning Proposal. 

Together, these studies provide the justification and rationale for permitting 
residential uses on the site, including: 

• encourage employment growth in suitable locations 

• protect employment land in business and industrial zones 

• support the viability of identified strategic centres. 

Section C – Environmental, social and economic impact 

Q7. Is there any likelihood that critical habitat or threatened species, 
populations or ecological communities, or their habitats, will be adversely 
affected as a result of the proposal? 

The subject site is located in an urban area and does not contain any known critical 
habitat or threatened species, populations or ecological communities or habitats. The 
site does not contain any trees. Notwithstanding this, in considering any future 
development application, the consent authority will have regard to the suitability of 
the land for development and any environmental impact which may be generated by 
the development. This will include an assessment of any street trees adjacent to the 
site and retention of these where possible. 

Q8. Are there any other likely environmental effects as a result of the planning 
proposal and how are they proposed to be managed? 

In preparing this Planning Proposal, a number of environmental considerations 
arising from the proposed changes to the planning controls were assessed. 

The proposed scheme has been prepared by Turner Studios and is informed by 
meetings and discussions with City officers. The urban design study, provided at 
Appendix B, illustrates the proposed built form under a 2.2:1 FSR scenario in order 
to demonstrate how any additional design excellence floor space resulting from a 
competitive design process can be achieved. 

This Planning Proposal does not seek approval for the proposed scheme, rather it 
facilitates the building envelope within which the proposed scheme may be provided.  

Figure 14 and Figure 15 show visualisations of the proposed scheme. 

58



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 38 

 

 

Figure 14 3D perspective of proposed scheme looking south west (source: Turner 
Studios) 

 

Figure 15 3D perspective of proposed scheme from Morley Avenue looking east 
(source: Turner Studios) 

The proposed scheme follows thorough testing of alternative built form outcomes. 
Options were tested having regards to the impacts of alternative building massing on 
the surrounding area. 

The recommended proposed scheme responds to the conditions of the site, its 
orientation and the surrounding context. Key elements include: 

• a three-storey street wall height along Dunning and Morley Avenues, with a four-
storey street wall height along Jones Lane to respect the interface with the 
existing heritage item across Jones Lane and Dunning Avenue; the setback 
upper levels along Dunning Avenue will also minimise overshadowing to street 

59



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 39 

 

• three taller elements ranging from 4–7 storeys (or 5–8 storeys under a 2.2:1 FSR 
scenario) orientated north-south to maximise solar access and minimise 
overshadowing to the rear where communal open space is to be provided 

• provision of a large communal open space for residents along the rear of the site, 
providing adequate separation from residential apartments and adjoining high-
technology industrial uses to the rear 

• ground level apartments fronting Morley Avenue and Jones Lane with direct 
access and entry through a terraced courtyard 

• 1,000 square metres of commercial area over two levels fronting Dunning 
Avenue, to promote an active urban edge along Dunning Avenue – the ground 
level interfaces provide a considered approach to activation, surveillance and 
apartment amenity 

• vehicle movement will be limited to a single access from Dunning Avenue into 
the basement carpark allowing all vehicle circulation, parking and on-site 
servicing to occur cohesively. 

Overall the building configuration will ensure the development integrates into the 
area. It provides an appropriate transition between the existing development along 
Botany Road to the lower scale development to the east and south of the site. 

While indicative only, the proposed scheme demonstrates the land uses, height and 
densities proposed by this Planning Proposal can result in a development able to 
satisfy key objectives and provisions in Sydney LEP 2012, Sydney DCP 2012 and 
the Apartment Design Guide under SEPP 65. 

The likely environmental effects of the proposed scheme are discussed below. 

BUILT FORM 

The proposed controls in the Planning Proposal translate the design principles that 
have informed the concept for the built form by setting height and FSR controls. 

Base building massing 

The proposed scheme incorporates perimeter block typology, setting a three-storey 
street wall height (12 metres) along Dunning and Morley Avenues and four-storey 
street wall height (15 metres) along Jones Lane. 

North-south orientation 

The proposed scheme incorporates three taller components above the perimeter 
block component, and are between five and seven storeys (20 metres to 26 metres) 
under the mapped 2:1 FSR scenario. The orientation of these taller components will 
be north-south in order to minimise potential amenity impacts on the communal open 
space area, while maximising the solar access for residential units of the proposed 
scheme. 

Defined street corner 

The building on the corner of Dunning and Morley Avenues will have additional 
height up to eight storeys (29 metres) to create a defined street corner. 

Setback upper levels 

The proposed scheme provides four metre upper level setbacks of the taller 
components from the street alignment of the three story podium. This will provide 
good amenity to the public domain, surrounding heritage items and communal open 
space by minimising the scale of the development. 

60



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 40 

 

PUBLIC DOMAIN 

Streets 

The proposed scheme aims to address the public domain through the incorporation 
of active commercial uses on the ground floor on the corner of Morley and Dunning 
Avenues and extending along Dunning Avenue. 

Ground floor residential uses will address Morley Avenue with a three metre 
landscape setback. Ground floor residential units will each have individual entrances 
along Morley Avenue, enhancing the interface between the public domain and the 
proposed scheme. 

Widening of Jones Lane 

The proposed scheme includes dedication of approximately 50 square metres of 
land for the purposes of widening the pathway along Jones Lane. This will provide 
improved pedestrian amenity along Jones Lane and increase separation between 
the proposed scheme and the existing heritage façade across Jones Lane. 

APARTMENT DESIGN GUIDE (SEPP 65) 

State Environmental Planning Policy No. 65 – Design Quality of Residential Flat 
Development (SEPP 65) aims to improve the design quality of residential flat 
development. Development applications must consider Design Quality Principles and 
the ADG. 

The ADG provides design criteria and general guidance about how development 
proposals can achieve the principles in SEPP 65. 

The requirements of the ADG have informed the proposed scheme, and the site 
specific draft Sydney DCP 2012 amendment will guide future development 
applications to ensure ADG compliance. 

The following is a high level assessment of the proposed scheme’s consistency with 
the key design objectives and criteria of the ADG. 

Communal open space 

Objective 3D states that “an adequate area of communal open space is provided to 
enhance residential amenity and to provide opportunities for landscaping”. 

Design criteria under this objective requires a minimum area of communal open 
space of 25 per cent of the site. The proposed scheme provides 1,420 square 
metres at ground level which is equal to 28 per cent of the site. There is also an 
opportunity to provide an additional 2,800 square metres of communal landscaped 
space on the podium and roof. 

Deep soil 

Objective 3E-1 states that “deep soil zones provide areas on the site that allow for 
and support healthy plant and tree growth”. The design criteria requires seven per 
cent of the site area to be deep soil zones. 

The proposed scheme provides for a six metre setback from the site to the south. 
This area provide for deep soil greater than the required seven per cent. 

Solar and daylight access 

Solar and daylight access are important for apartment buildings, reducing the 
reliance on artificial lighting and heating, improving energy efficiency and residential 
amenity through pleasant conditions to live and work. 

Multiple design criteria aim to ensure a high percentage of apartments receive direct 
sunlight. The proposed scheme incorporates three taller components above the 

61



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 41 

 

perimeter block component. The orientation of these taller components will be north-
south to minimise potential amenity impacts on the communal open space, while 
maximising the solar access for residential units of the proposed scheme. 

The ADG requires at least 70 per cent of apartments in a building receive a minimum 
of two hours direct sunlight between 9 am and 3 pm at mid-winter in living rooms and 
private open spaces. It also requires that a maximum of 15 per cent of apartments in 
a building receive no direct sunlight between 9 am and 3 pm at mid-winter. The 
proposed scheme complies with the minimum requirements. 

Natural ventilation 

Under the ADG, every habitable room must be naturally ventilated. At least 60 per 
cent of apartments are to be naturally cross-ventilated in the first nine storeys of the 
building. 

Natural cross ventilation is achieved by apartments having more than one aspect 
with direct exposure to the prevailing winds, or windows located in significantly 
different pressure regions. 

The proposed scheme’s building depth will facilitate effective airflow and allow 
compliance. 

TRAFFIC AND TRANSPORT 

Colston Budd Rogers & Kafes Pty Ltd has reviewed the transport, traffic and parking 
impacts of the proposed scheme to determine the likely impacts on the area. The 
report is provided at Appendix F. 

The report estimates the proposed scheme would result in the provision of some 115 
parking spaces. The site currently provides some 30 dedicated, onsite parking 
spaces, and additional loading docks. 

The report finds the proposed scheme would result traffic generation of some 10–15 
vehicles per hour two-way at peak times, similar to the traffic generated by the 
existing use. The intersection of Dunning Avenue with Morley Avenue would 
continue to operate at its existing good level of service, with similar average delays 
per vehicle. It concludes the proposed scheme would have no noticeable effects on 
the operation of the surrounding road network. 

In terms of public transport, the site has good access to services. It is 15–20 minutes 
walking distance from Green Square train station, being on the Airport and East Hills 
Lines (Macarthur – City via Airport and Sydenham). The services through Green 
Square operate on typical headways of 5–10 minutes in each direction during peak 
periods and 10–15 minutes in each direction outside peaks. Passengers can transfer 
to and from other parts of the rail system at various locations, notably at Central 
station. 

Sydney Buses operates bus services along Botany Road, just west of the site. 
Services include: 

• route X03: Sans Souci to City express via Dolls Point, Ramsgate, Kyeemagh and 
Surry Hills 

• route M20: Botany, Mascot, Victoria Park, City, North Sydney, St Leonards, Gore 
Hill 

• route 348: Wolli Creek to Bondi Junction via Tempe, Sydenham, St Peters, 
Alexandria, Rosebery, SupaCenta, UNSW, Randwick and Waverley. 

62



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 42 

 

Dunning Avenue provides a bicycle connection to areas north and south of the site. 
Dunning Avenue also provides a 40 kilometre per hour speed limit, providing an 
environment conducive to walking and cycling. 

Overall, the proposed scheme will result in residential development close to existing 
active transport services and infrastructure and is consistent with government 
objectives to reduce private car travel and encourage active transport use. 

HERITAGE 

Paul Davies Pty Ltd reviewed the statutory heritage controls and assessed the 
impact of the proposed scheme. The report is at Appendix H. 

The site is not identified as a heritage item, nor is within a heritage conservation 
area. 

Heritage Item I1371 – ‘Former “Tucker & Co” including interior’ is situated to the west 
of the site on the opposite side of Jones Lane at 755-759 Botany Road. 

Heritage Item I2256 – ‘Former Rosella Preserving Manufacturing Co north office and 
factory buildings and south building, including internal structure and Morley Avenue 
building setback’ is situated to the east of the site on the opposite side of Dunning 
Avenue at 85-113 Dunning Avenue. 

The heritage report concludes the proposed scheme provides a sound response to 
the surrounding heritage buildings. 

The existing context and built form of heritage items near to the site has informed the 
proposed scheme. The scheme incorporates a 3-4 storey street wall height along 
Jones Lane, Morley Avenue and Dunning Avenue to complement the existing built 
form setting. Setbacks have been increased from the proponent’s proposed scheme 
by one metre along Morley Avenue, from two to three metres at the ground level and 
from three to four metres at the upper level of the taller components. The increased 
setbacks will provide better public amenity to the surrounding heritage items. 

CONTAMINATION 

In 2011, EI Australia undertook a Stage 2 site investigation. The environmental 
assessment is at Appendix E. 

When carrying out planning functions under the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979, including undertaking local environmental plan amendments, 
SEPP 55 requires a planning authority to consider any potential impacts of 
contamination of a site from a previous land use. 

Previous land uses on the site include the manufacture of gaming machines and 
manufacturing operations including, metal plating, with onsite laboratory, chemicals 
storage areas, off-set printing facility and a network of concrete, subterranean drains. 

A search of the Contaminated Land Record of the Environmental Protection 
Authority notices in 2011 confirmed the site was not subject to regulation. No 
evidence was found to indicate there have been any subsequent industrial spills or 
incidents at the site that could have caused impacts to soils and/or groundwater. 

The environmental assessment found no evidence of groundwater contamination on 
the site. It found low level groundwater metal exceedance that were indicative of 
regional levels and detections of chlorinated solvent chemical tricholoroetheme 
(TCE), at concentrations that were below the adopted groundwater assessment 
criteria. 

The assessment concluded there is no widespread soil contamination on the site. 
However, concentrations exceeding human health based Soil Investigation Levels 

63



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 43 

 

were identified with respect to TCE (southeast corner of the site) and Asbestos 
(southwest corner of the site). 

Notwithstanding the above, and in accordance with the National Environment 
Protection (Assessment of Site Contamination) Measure 1999 (April 2013), the 
report concludes the site can be made suitable for residential development. 

Detailed information relating to contamination will be required at future development 
application stage to address future land uses, including residential uses. 
Remediation of land may be required through a future development approval if 
deemed necessary. 

FLOODING 

Cardno has previously undertaken a flood assessment report for the redevelopment 
of the site to inform an earlier development proposal. To inform this Planning 
Proposal, a summary letter regarding the proposed scheme is provided at Appendix 
G. It concludes that the City’s requirements to mitigate flooding can be met. 

The site is mildly flood affected. Peak Maximum Flood levels affecting the site range 
from 0.739 metres Australian height datum (AHD) on the Dunning Avenue frontage 
up to 1.735 metres AHD on the corner of Morley Avenue and Jones Lane. Australian 
Height Datum is the datum that sets mean sea level as zero elevation. 

The City’s Interim Floodplain Management Policy, adopted by Council in May 2014, 
provides flood planning levels for different types of development. The proposed 
height controls under this Planning Proposal provide sufficient flexibility to 
accommodate flood planning levels to comply with the policy. 

Q9. Has the planning proposal adequately addressed any social and economic 
effects? 

This Planning Proposal has assessed the potential social and economic impacts of 
introducing housing into the area. The proposal will have positive social and 
economic impacts as described below.  

SOCIAL EFFECTS 

Access to services, facilities and employment 

The site is located in close proximity to Botany Road, which has varied non-
residential uses, including cycle shops, cafes, gyms, smash repair premises, several 
medical-related facilities, including physiotherapist, chiropractor, clinical pilates, 
medical centre and dental centre. A local supermarket is less than 250 metres from 
the site. 

The site is well serviced by public transport infrastructure being within walking 
distance of Green Square train station and close to bus services that operate along 
Botany Road. These services connect the site with surrounding areas and offer 
alternatives to travel by modes other than car. 

Community infrastructure and open space 

New community infrastructure is being provided within walking and cycling distance 
of the site. These include the new Green Square Library and Plaza, community 
facilities including Waranara Early Education Centre at the former South Sydney 
Hospital site and Gunyama Park Aquatic and Recreation Centre in the Epsom Park 
Precinct to the northeast. 

Housing diversity and affordable housing 

64



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 44 

 

Sydney remains Australia’s least affordable city. It is widely acknowledged that 
development has not kept pace with demand, contributing to a tight rental market 
and rising house prices. The high cost of housing is an important economic and 
social issue in Sydney, particularly within the City where housing prices are amongst 
the highest in Australia. 

Consistent with State government objectives, this Planning Proposal will enable 
housing supply in an appropriate location while ensuring the wider vision for, and 
operational viability of, the southern employment lands is not compromised. The 
proposal also facilitates the provision of affordable housing on the site, by way of a 
planning agreement with the proponent. 

The planning agreement provides options for the delivery of affordable housing. 
Under the baseline Option 1, and assuming the maximum gross floor area is 
achieved on the site, an estimated minimum of 646 square metres of affordable 
housing floor space is to being provided on the site (depending on the amount of 
design excellence floor space resulting from a competitive design process that may 
be achieved). Assuming an average dwelling size of 80 square meters this equates 
to eight affordable housing dwellings. 

The supply of affordable housing will assist the City in achieving its aspirational 
Sustainable Sydney 2030 target that 7.5 per cent of all housing in the City in 2030 be 
affordable housing for very low, low and moderate income households. 

ECONOMIC EFFECTS 

The landowner’s consultant, JBA, has undertaken an economic analysis of the 
proposed scheme to determine the net economic impacts. The report is provided at 
Appendix D. 

The role of the southern employment lands in Sydney’s economic landscape is 
complex. It is critical to support the ongoing growth of Central Sydney, providing 
‘back of office’ functions to support the range of high value businesses, services and 
jobs that locate there. It provides affordable office/warehouse/factory space for new 
business that cannot or do not want to locate in Central Sydney. It provides space for 
innovation, for economic growth opportunities and for the services a growing 
population needs to function efficiently. 

While investigation areas are identified as areas where some residential 
development may be supported, the ‘vision’ is for genuine mixed-use precincts 
comprising a relatively even mix of residential and non-residential development. All 
sites will not result in a 50/50 split of residential and non-residential uses, but it is 
assumed across the precincts some sites will be retained entirely for employment 
generating uses, and others will have a higher proportion of residential development. 

The City does not support all the conclusions reached by the economic study, in 
particular those that give much weight to the short term benefits of redevelopment 
and do not ascribe sufficient weight to the long term strategic objectives for the City’s 
employment lands. Notwithstanding this, the proposed scheme is unlikely to 
compromise the long term vision for the employment lands. 

The JBA study provides an assessment of the employment capacity of the site. 
Currently the site comprises 2,066 square metres of warehouse gross floor area and 
1,270 square metres of ancillary office space. When using the average ratios 
provided in the City of Sydney Development Contributions Plan 2015 and Floor 
Space and Employment Survey 2011, the existing development is calculated as 
having approximately 38–51 workers. These are primarily in transport, postal and 
warehousing, manufacturing and wholesale trade industries. 

65



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 45 

 

The proposed scheme will result in about 1,000 square metres of commercial floor 
space. Using the same metrics as above, this Planning Proposal will result in the site 
having an ongoing employment capacity of 25–30 jobs. 

In addition, it is estimated the development of the site would directly support 114 jobs 
during the construction phase of the proposed scheme with flow on benefits that 
support approximately 353 jobs within the Australian economy. 

In balance, the proposed scheme is unlikely to compromise the employment 
generating potential of the investigation area and although it is likely to reduce the 
employment numbers compared with the existing development, it will retain a 
comparable employment function. 

The proposed scheme also brings other economic benefits to the area. The retail 
and commercial uses that are likely to locate within the non-residential floor space 
along Dunning Avenue are consistent with the changing nature of business in the 
area, particularly the trend towards creative industries, small professional businesses 
and foodie destinations. These uses will likely benefit from some residential 
development being provided in the area. 

In addition, the proposed scheme provides affordable housing for key workers, which 
brings its own socio-economic benefits to the area. 

Section D – State and Commonwealth interests 

Q10. Is there adequate public infrastructure for the planning proposal? 

The site is well serviced by public transport infrastructure, being within walking 
distance of Green Square train station and close to bus services that operate along 
Botany Road. These services connect the site with surrounding areas and offer 
alternatives to travel by modes other than car. 

New community infrastructure is being provided within walking and cycling distance 
of the site including the new Green Square Library and Plaza, community facilities 
including a child care centre at the former South Sydney Hospital site and Gunyama 
Park and Aquatic Centre in the Epsom Park Precinct to the northeast. 

The full range of utility services including electricity, telecommunications, water, 
sewer and stormwater are all currently available on the site. It is expected that these 
services would be upgraded by the developer, where required, to support the 
proposed scheme. Consultation with relevant authorities during public exhibition of 
the Planning Proposal will confirm the capacity of current utilities to service the site. 

Q11. What are the views of state and Commonwealth public authorities 
consulted in accordance with the Gateway determination? 

The Gateway determination will advise the full list of public authorities to be 
consulted as part of the Planning Proposal process and any views will be included in 
this Planning Proposal following consultation. It is requested that public authority 
consultation be undertaken concurrently with community consultation.  

66



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 46 

 

Part 4 Mapping 

This Planning Proposal seeks to amend the land zoning, height of buildings and floor 
space ratio maps contained in Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 as they apply 
to the subject site in accordance with map extracts on the following pages. 

The site is split between map sheets 11, 12, 18 and 19. For clarity, the maps have 
been produced to show the site as a whole and do not reflect the exact boundaries 
of sheets 11, 12, 18 and 19. 

  

67



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 47 

 

Land zoning map: Sheets LZN_011, LZN_012, LZN_018 and LZN_019 (combined) 

Current map: 

 

  

68



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 48 

 

Proposed map: 

 

  

69



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 49 

 

Height of Buildings map: Sheets HOB_011, HOB_012, HOB_018 and HOB_019 
(combined) 

Current map: 

 

  

70



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 50 

 

Proposed map: 

 

  

71



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 51 

 

Floor Space Ratio map: Sheets FSR_011, FSR_012, FSR_018 and FSR_019 
(combined) 

Current map: 

 

  

72



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 52 

 

Proposed map: 

 

  

73



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 53 

 

Active Street Frontages map (new): Sheets ASF_011, ASF_012, ASF_018 and 
ASF_019 (combined) 

Proposed map: 

 

  

74



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 54 

 

Part 5 Community Consultation 

Public consultation will take place in accordance with the Gateway Determination 
issued by the Greater Sydney Commission, in accordance with Sections 56 and 57 
of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

It is proposed that, at a minimum, this will involve the notification of the public 
exhibition of the Planning Proposal:  

• on the City of Sydney website 

• at the following Council locations: 

• Town Hall House, 456 Kent Street, Sydney 

• Green Square, 100 Joynton Avenue, Zetland 

• in newspapers that circulate widely in the City of Sydney local area 

• in writing to the owners, the adjoining and nearby landowners, relevant 
community groups, and the surrounding community in the immediate vicinity of 
the site. 

It is requested that the Planning Proposal be publicly exhibited for a period of not 
less than 28 days in accordance with section 5.5.2 of ‘A guide to preparing local 
environmental plans’. The exhibition will coincide with the exhibition of an 
accompanying draft Sydney DCP 2012 amendment and draft Planning Agreement. 

Consultation with relevant NSW agencies and authorities and other relevant 
organisations will be undertaken in accordance with the Gateway Determination. 

  

75



 

Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 55 

 

Part 6 Project timeline 

The following project timeline will assist with tracking the progress of the planning 
proposal through its various stages of consultation and approval. It is estimated that 
this amendment to Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 will be completed by 
October 2017. 

Table 6 Anticipated timeframes 

Stage Anticipated 
timeframe 

Submit Planning Proposal to Greater Sydney Commission 
seeking a Gateway Determination 

March 2017 

Receive Gateway Determination May 2017 

Public exhibition and public authority consultation of 
Planning Proposal, draft DCP amendment and draft 
Planning Agreement 

May to June 2017 

Review of submissions received during public exhibition 
and public authority consultation 

June to July 2017 

Council and Central Sydney Planning Committee approval 
of Planning Proposal and DCP Amendment 

September 2017 

Drafting of instrument and finalisation of mapping October 2017 

Amendment to Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
legally drafted and made 

November 2017 

 
  

76



Attachment B 

Draft Sydney Development Control Plan: 

102-106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 

amendment

77



 

 

Sydney Development 
Control Plan 2012 

City of Sydney 
Town Hall House 
456 Kent Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 

102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery Amendment 
August 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

78



 

1 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 

Purpose of this Development Control Plan 

The purpose of this plan is to amend Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 to 
provide objectives and provisions to inform future development on 102–106 Dunning 
Avenue, Rosebery. 

This plan is to be read in conjunction with draft Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning 
Avenue, Rosebery. 

Citation 

This plan may be referred to as Sydney Development Control Plan 2012: 102–106 
Dunning Avenue, Rosebery amendment. 

Land covered by this plan 

This plan applies to land identified as 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery, Lot 50 
Deposited Plan 1171307. 

Relationship of this plan to Sydney Development Control Plan 
2012 

This plan amends Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 in the manner set out 
below. 

  

79



 

2 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 

Amendment to Section 6.3 

Insert a new sub-section at the end of section 6.3 containing all text and figures 
shown below. 

6.3.X  102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 

The following section applies to 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery as shown in 
Figure 6.1 Specific Sites Map and ‘Figure 6.XX: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, 
Rosebery – Location plan’. 

 

Figure 6.XX: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery – Location plan 

 

80



 

3 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 

 

Figure 6.XX – 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery – Urban strategy 

Objectives 

(a) Promote the redevelopment of the site comprising high quality buildings that 
incorporate a mix of residential, commercial and retail uses. 
 

(b) Provide employment opportunities on the site. 
 

(c) Facilitate development which is sympathetic to the existing local character and 
history of Rosebery and its former and current industrial uses. 
 

(d) Maintain and support existing industrial, retail and commercial uses in the area. 

81



 

4 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 

 
(e) Ensure development is of an appropriate bulk and scale for its location, the public 

domain and surrounding development. 
 

(f) Ensure delivery of a high quality built form that contributes to the public domain 
by: 
 

(i) defining the street edge and activating Dunning Avenue with commercial 
uses; 
 

(ii) providing a widened footpath along Jones Lane; 
 

(iii) providing appropriate setbacks to Morley Avenue to complement the 
streetscape; and 
 

(iv) setting appropriate building heights and scale. 
 

(g) Ensure a high level of amenity for future residents is provided by: 
 

(i) maintaining sunlight to communal open spaces; and 
 

(ii) providing built form controls that enable development to comply with the 
Apartment Design Guide and any other relevant plans, guidelines or 
policies. 

Provisions 
 
6.3.X.1  Land uses 

(1) Retail and commercial uses are to locate at the ground level and first floor along 
Dunning Avenue and at the ground level at the corner of Dunning and Morley 
Avenues to the extent shown in ‘Figure 6.XX: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, 
Rosebery – Urban strategy’. 

 
(2) Retail or commercial ground floor uses are to activate the street. 

6.3.X.2  Built form 

(1) Building heights are to be consistent with ‘Figure 6.XX: 102–106 Dunning 
Avenue, Rosebery – Building height in storeys’ and ‘Figure 6.XX: 102–106 
Dunning Avenue, Rosebery – Street frontage height in storeys’. 
 

82



 

5 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 

 

 

83



 

6 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 

 

 

Figure 6.XX: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery – Building height in storeys 

 

84



 

7 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 

 

Figure 6.XX: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery – Street frontage height in storeys 
 

(2) The final building design are is to be appropriately massed within the envelope 
shown at Figure 6.XX: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery – Building envelope. 
This represents the maximum permissible extent of the built form, including any 
design excellence floor space or height resulting from a competitive design 
process that may be achieved. 

85



 

8 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 

  

Figure 6.XX: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery – Building envelope 

 
(3) Setbacks above the street wall height, as defined by the top of the podium, are to 

be provided in accordance with ‘Figure 6.XX: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, 
Rosebery – Setbacks’. 

 

86



 

9 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 

 

Figure 6.XX: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery – Setbacks 

(4) Development is to be designed so that the length and height of buildings are 
articulated to:  
 
(i) limit the overall mass; 

 
(ii) reduce the sense of scale from the public domain; and 

 
(iii) be sensitive to the industrial character of the area. 

 
(5) The siting, massing, orientation and detailed design of buildings is to ensure 

compliance with the objectives of the Apartment Design Guide. 

87



 

10 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 

6.3.X.3  Public domain 

(1) A widened footpath along Jones Lane is to be provided as shown in ‘Figure 6.XX: 
Public domain dedication’ to provide a safe footpath for entry to ground floor 
apartments. 
 

 

Figure 6.XX: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery – Public domain dedication 

 

(2) The ground level of the podiums along Morley Avenue and Jones Lane are to 
provide individual entries to ground floor dwellings to provide passive 
surveillance and opportunities for social interaction. 
 

88



 

11 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 

(3) The ground level of the podium at the corner of Morley and Dunning Avenues 
and along Dunning Avenue are to provide entrances to retail to maximise street 
activation. 
 

(4) Where at-grade entrances are not able to be provided due to flooding 
constraints, suitable alternatives are to be explored to maximise activation and 
pedestrian activity. 

6.3.X.4  Setbacks and building alignment  

(1) Front setbacks are to be consistent with ‘Figure 6.XX: Setbacks’, specifically:  
 
(i) where residential development fronts Morley Avenue, a 3 metre landscape 

setback from the property boundary; 
 

(ii) where retail or commercial development fronts Morley Avenue, a 3 metre 
hardstand setback from the property boundary, to accommodate outdoor 
dining opportunities; 
 

(iii) development that fronts Jones Lane is to be built to the new property 
boundary set be by widening of the footpath; and 
 

(iv) retail and commercial development that fronts Dunning Avenue is to be built 
to the property boundary. 
 

(2) Access ramps are to be integrated into the overall design and are not to 
encroach on setbacks. 

 

6.3.X.5  Heritage 

(1) The design of building is to relate sympathetically to existing inter-war industrial 
buildings in the surrounding area. 
 

(2) External finishes and colour palettes are to complement and include existing 
materials used in surrounding areas to respond to the inter-war industrial 
character of the area. 
 

(3) Brick finishes are required at the podium level to complement surrounding 
development. 
 

(4) Fences are to be a maximum of 0.9 metres high from ground level to 
complement the local character. 

6.3.X.6  Vehicular access and parking 

(1) A single vehicular driveway to underground car parking is to be provided in 
accordance with ‘Figure 6.XX: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery – Urban 
strategy’. 

6.3.X.7  Design Excellence Strategy 

(1) The maximum number of storeys shown in brackets in ‘Figure 6.XX: 102-106 
Dunning Avenue, Rosebery – Building height in storeys’ may only be achieved 
where a competitive design process has been undertaken for the entire site. 
 

89



 

12 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery 

(2) The competitive design process is to be undertaken in accordance with Clause 
6.21 of Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. 
 

(3) The competitive design process is to comprise an invited competitive design 
alternatives process involving a minimum of three architectural firms. 
 

(4) Any additional floor space that results from a competitive design process must be 
accommodated within the building heights as shown in ‘Figure 6.XX: 102–106 
Dunning Avenue, Rosebery – Building height in storeys’. 
 

(5)  Additional floor space only may be awarded under Clause 6.21(7) of the 
Sydney LEP 2012 for a building demonstrating design excellence. 
Additional floor space is to be achieved in accordance with Figure 6.XX 
Building height in storeys. 

 
(5) (6) The competitive design alternatives process is to provide for the following 

ecologically sustainable development outcomes: 
 

(i) all townhouses and terraces are to achieve a BASIX energy score of at least 
5 points above the State-mandated minimum score for energy and water; and 
 

(ii) all apartments are to achieve a BASIX energy score of at least 5 points above 
the State-mandated minimum score for energy and water. 

Amendment to Figure 6.1 

Amend Figure 6.1: Specific Sites Map to include 102–106 Dunning Avenue, 
Rosebery. 

Amendments to Map Book in Sydney Development Control 
Plan 2012 

Amend the following sheets in the Map Book of Sydney Development Control Plan 
2012 to reflect the changes introduced in new sub-section 6.3.X 102–106 Dunning 
Avenue, Rosebery. 

 Active frontages map – Sheets 11, 12, 18 and 19 

 Building height in storeys map – Sheets 11, 12, 18 and 19 

 Building setback and alignment map – Sheets 11, 12, 18 and 19 

 Building street frontage height in storeys map – Sheets 11, 12, 18 and 19 

 Public domain setbacks map – Sheets 11, 12, 18 and 19. 

90



Attachment C 

 Planning Agreement 

102-106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery

91



[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

Planning Agreement

The Council of the City of Sydney

and

Kubis Rosebery Pty Ltd
ABN 23 130 500 060

Property:102-106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery

92



1

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

CONTENTS

CLAUSE PAGE

1. INTERPRETATION ............................................................................................2

2. APPLICATION OF THE ACT AND THE REGULATION .............................................13

3. OPERATION OF THIS PLANNING AGREEMENT ....................................................14

4. WARRANTIES ................................................................................................14

5. PUBLIC BENEFITS ..........................................................................................15

6. COMPLETION OF FOOTPATH WORKS ................................................................15

7. COMPLETION OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING UNITS AND CAR PARK LOTS .................16

8. NON-COMPLETION OF PUBLIC BENEFITS ..........................................................17

9. INDEMNITY ...................................................................................................18

10. DEFECTS LIABILITY........................................................................................18

11. REGISTRATION AND CAVEAT ..........................................................................19

12. ENFORCEMENT ..............................................................................................20

13. DISPUTE RESOLUTION ...................................................................................24

14. TAXES AND GST ............................................................................................25

15. DEALINGS.....................................................................................................26

16. TERMINATION ...............................................................................................27

17. CONFIDENTIALITY AND DISCLOSURES.............................................................28

18. NOTICES ......................................................................................................30

19. GENERAL ......................................................................................................30

SCHEDULE 1 ............................................................................................................34

SCHEDULE 2 ............................................................................................................35

SCHEDULE 3 ............................................................................................................38

93



2

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

THIS PLANNING AGREEMENT is made on

BETWEEN:

(1) The Council of the City of Sydney ABN 22 636 550 790 of Town Hall House,
456 Kent Street, SYDNEY NSW 2000 (the City); and

(2) Kubis Rosebery Pty Ltd ABN 23 130 500 060 of 102-106 Dunning Avenue,
Rosebery (the Developer).

BACKGROUND

(A) The Developer is the owner of the Land and intends to undertake the Development
on the Land.

(B) In order to carry out the Development, it is necessary, among other things, to
amend the Sydney LEP.

(C) On 16 December 2016 the Developer submitted the Request to the City.  As part
of the Request, the Developer sought that the City prepare, and lodge with the
Department of Environment and Planning, a Planning Proposal.

(D) If the Sydney LEP is amended pursuant to the Planning Proposal, the Developer
proposes to lodge:

(1) a Development Application with the City; and

(2) a Subdivision Application (if the Development Application does not seek
development consent for the strata Subdivision of the Land).

(E) In respect of any such Development Application, the Developer has offered to enter
into this document with the City to provide the Public Benefits on the terms of this
document, if Development Consent is granted.

THIS DEED WITNESSES:

1. INTERPRETATION

1.1 Definitions

The following definitions apply in this document.

Act means the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (NSW).

Adverse Affectation has the same meaning as in clause 4 of Part 2 of the
Conveyancing (Sale of Land) Regulation 2010 (NSW).

Additional Affordable Housing Floor Space means any floor space of
Affordable Housing provided within the Development in addition to the Affordable
Housing Floor Space.

Additional DA Floor Space means the greater of:

the difference (if any) between the Gross Floor Area approved for the
Development under the Development Consent and the maximum Gross

94



3

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

Floor Area permissible for the Development under the Floor Space Ratio Map
of the Unamended Sydney LEP; and

0 square metres.

Additional DA Floor Space Value is an amount of money calculated as follows:

Additional Floor Space Rate (R2) x Additional DA Floor Space

where the Additional Floor Space Rate (R2) is the same as the R2 rate set out in
the City’s Guide to Preparing Site Specific Planning Proposal Requests in the City
of Sydney Employment Lands Investigation Areas as updated from time to time
and published on the City’s website.

Affordable Housing means dwellings of affordable housing (as defined in the
Act), provided within the Development.

Affordable Housing Covenant means a public positive covenant in respect of an
allotment of Affordable Housing identified on a registered plan of strata Subdivision
for the Land, that:

is a public positive covenant under section 88E of the Conveyancing Act 1919
(NSW), and which satisfies the requirements of section 88E;

specifies that the City is imposing the public positive covenant, has the
benefit of the public positive covenant, and has the sole authority to modify,
vary or release the public positive covenant; and

requires that, in respect of the dwelling of Affordable Housing within the
allotment on which title the covenant is registered:

(i) the dwelling be maintained as Affordable Housing;

(ii) the dwelling be rented to very low, low and moderate income
households at no more than 30 per cent of gross household income;
and

(iii) all rent received in respect of the dwelling, after deduction of
management and maintenance costs, be used solely for the purpose
of improving, replacing, maintaining or providing additional affordable
rental housing within the City of Sydney local government area,

and is otherwise in a form acceptable to the City.

Affordable Housing Floor Space means the floor space of Affordable Housing to
be provided within the Development, that is calculated as the Contribution Value
divided by the Agreed Market Value Rate, as adjusted in accordance with clause 3
of Schedule 3.

Affordable Housing Monetary Contribution means any Undischarged
Affordable Housing Floor Space multiplied by the Attributed Market Value Rate,
determined in accordance with clause 8.2(a) of Schedule 3.

95



4

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

Affordable Housing Requirements means the requirements for the Affordable
Housing specified in clause 8 of Schedule 3.

Affordable Housing Units means those parts of the Public Benefit described as
“Affordable Housing Units” in clause 1 of Schedule 3, being the construction of fully
completed residential units by the Developer and the transfer of those units
(including their car park spaces) to a Community Housing Provider in accordance
with this document.

Amended Sydney LEP means the Sydney LEP amended consistent with the
Planning Proposal pursuant to the process set out in Part 3, Division 4, of the Act.

Application means a Development Application or Subdivision Application.

Attributed Market Value Rate is the amount of money per square metre of
Gross Floor Area, as determined and adjusted in accordance with clause 3 of
Schedule 3.

Attributed Value of the Car Park Lots is the amount of money for each car park
space, as determined and adjusted in accordance with clause 3 of Schedule 3.

Attributed Value of the Footpath Works means the value determined in
accordance with clause 9.2 of Schedule 3.

Authorisation means:

an approval, authorisation, consent, declaration, exemption, permit, licence,
notarisation or waiver, however it is described, and including any condition
attached to it; and

in relation to anything that could be prohibited or restricted by Law if a
Government Agency acts in any way within a specified period, the expiry of
that period without that action being taken,

including any renewal or amendment.

Benefit Allocation means the amount which represents 50% of the Planning
Gain.

Business Day means a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) on
which banks are open for general banking business in Sydney, Australia.

Car Park Lots means the part of the Public Benefit described as “Car Park Lots”
in clause 1 of Schedule 3, being the construction and designation of at least 4
parking spaces within the Development for the Affordable Housing Units (with
parking for any adaptable unit beings accessible parking) and transfer of those
finished parking spaces to a Community Housing Provider in accordance with this
document.

City's Personal Information means Personal Information to which the
Developer, or any third party engaged by the Developer, has access directly or
indirectly in connection with this document, including the Personal Information of
any personnel, customer or supplier of the City (other than the Developer).

96



5

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

City's Policies means all policies and procedures relevant to the provision of the
Public Benefits, as notified by the City in writing to the Developer.

City’s Representative means the person named in Item 3 of Schedule 1 or
his/her delegate.

Claim includes any claim, demand, remedy, suit, injury, damage, loss, cost,
liability, action, proceeding, right of action, claim for compensation and claim for
abatement of rent obligation.

Community Housing Provider means a community housing provider, as defined
in the Community Housing Providers (Adoption of National Law) Act 2012, with a
category of registration of Tier 1 or Tier 2 under the National Register of
Community Housing Providers established by the Community Housing Providers
National Law (NSW).

Completion means, in respect of:

the Footpath Works, that stage in the performance of the Footpath Works,
when the Footpath Works have been carried out and completed in
accordance with this document, except for minor omissions and minor
defects:

(i) the existence of which do not prevent the Footpath Works being
reasonably capable of being used for their intended purpose;

(ii) which the City determines that the Developer has reasonable grounds
for not promptly rectifying; and

(iii) the rectification of which will not affect the immediate and convenient
use of the Footpath Works for their intended purpose; and

the Carpark Lots, when the Car Park Lots have been completed in
accordance with this document, except for minor omissions and minor
defects:

(i) the existence of which do not prevent the Car Park Lots being
reasonably capable of being used for their intended purpose; and

(ii) the rectification of which will not affect the immediate and convenient
use of the Car Park Lots for their intended purpose;

in respect of the Affordable Housing Units, when:

(i) the Affordable housing Units have been completed in accordance with
this document, except for minor omissions and minor defects:

(A) the existence of which do not prevent the Affordable Housing
Units from being reasonably capable of being used for their
intended purpose; and

(B) the rectification of which will not affect the immediate and
convenient use of the Affordable Housing Units for their
intended purpose; and

97



6

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(ii) all services are connected and operational in a manner suitable for
occupation of the Affordable Housing.

Completion Notice means a notice issued by the Developer in accordance with
clause 6.2.

Confidential Information means:

information of a party (disclosing party) that is:

(i) made available by or on behalf of the disclosing party to the other
party (receiving party), or is otherwise obtained by or on behalf of
the receiving party; and

(ii) by its nature confidential or the receiving party knows, or ought
reasonably to know, is confidential.

Confidential Information may be made available or obtained directly or indirectly,
and before, on or after the date of this document.

Confidential Information does not include information that:

is in or enters the public domain through no fault of the receiving party or
any of its officers, employees or agents;

is or was made available to the receiving party by a person (other than the
disclosing party) who is not or was not then under an obligation of
confidence to the disclosing party in relation to that information; or

is or was developed by the receiving party independently of the disclosing
party and any of its officers, employees or agents.

Construction Certificate has the same meaning as in the Act.

Contamination has the meaning given to that word in the Contaminated Land
Management Act 1997 (NSW).

Contract for Sale means a contract for the sale by the Developer of all of the
Affordable Housing Units and Car Park Lots to a single Community Housing
Provider, including each of the Special Conditions set out in Annexure C to this
document.

Contribution Value means an amount of money calculated in accordance with
the following formula, as adjusted in accordance with clause 3 of Schedule 3 and
the Worksheet at Annexure B:

(BA + (0.5 x AFSV)) – (VFW + VCPL))

Where:

BA is the Benefit Allocation

AFSV is the Additional DA Floor Space Value

VFW is the Attributed Value of the Footpath Works

98



7

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

VCPL is the Attributed Value of the Car Park Lots

Corporations Act means the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

Dealing means selling, transferring, assigning, novating, mortgaging, charging,
or encumbering and, where appearing, Deal has the same meaning.

Defect means any error, omission, defect, non-conformity, discrepancy,
shrinkage, blemish in appearance or other fault in the Public Benefits or any other
matter which prevents the Public Benefits from complying with the terms of this
document.

Defects Liability Period means the period of 12 months from the date on which
the Footpath Works reach Completion.

Developer’s Representative means the person named in Item 4 of Schedule 1
or his/her delegate.

Development means the development of the Land by the Developer described at
Item 2 of Schedule 1.

Development Application means the development application identified in Item
5 of Schedule 1 and includes all plans, reports models, photomontages, material
boards (as amended supplemented) submitted to the consent authority before the
determination of that Development Application.

Development Consent means the consent granted to the Development
Application for the Development (if the consent authority under the Act determines
the Development Application by granting consent) under Part 4 of the Act and
includes:

any conditions of consent to which that Development Consent is subject;
and

all modifications of the Development Consent made under section 96 of the
Act.

Dispute means any dispute or difference between the parties arising out of,
relating to or in connection with this document, including any dispute or difference
as to the formation, validity, existence or termination of this document.

Environmental Laws means all laws and legislation relating to environmental
protection, building, planning, health, safety or work health and safety matters
and includes the following:

the Work Health and Safety Act 2011 (NSW);

the Protection of the Environment Operations Act 1997 (NSW); and

the Contaminated Land Management Act 1997 (NSW).

99



8

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

Environmental planning instrument has the same meaning given to that
expression under the Act.

Footpath Land means the part of the Public Benefit described as “Footpath Land”
in clause 1 of Schedule 3, being the land comprising finished footpath that is
required to be dedicated to the City in accordance with this document.

Footpath Works means those parts of the Public Benefit described as “Footpath
Works” in clause 1 of Schedule 3, to be delivered by the Developer in accordance
with this document.

Government Agency means:

a government or government department or other body;

a governmental, semi-governmental or judicial person; or

a person (whether autonomous or not) who is charged with the
administration of a Law.

Gross Floor Area has the meaning given to the term “gross floor area” in the
Sydney LEP in effect at the date of this document.

GST means the same as in the GST Act.

GST Act means A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999 (Cth).

Guarantee means an irrevocable unconditional bank guarantee or documentary
performance bond for the Guarantee Amount which must:

be denominated in Australian dollars;

be an unconditional undertaking;

be signed and issued by a bank licensed to carry on business in Australia,
an Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA) regulated authorised
deposit taking institution or an insurer authorised by APRA to conduct new
or renewal insurance business in Australia having at all times an investment
grade security rating from an industry recognised rating agency of at least:

(i) BBB + (Standard & Poors and Fitch);

(ii) Baa 1 (Moodys); or

(iii) Bbb (Bests);

be issued on behalf of the Developer;

have no expiry or end date;

state the beneficiary as the City;

be irrevocable;

100



9

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

state the Guarantee Amount as the minimum amount required by this
document to be lodged as security;

state the purpose of the security as required in accordance with this
document; and

be on such other terms approved by the City.

Guarantee Amount means the total amount listed in Item 6 of Schedule 1 of this
document.

Guarantee Due Date means the date or milestone by which the Developer must
provide the Guarantee to the City, set out at Item 7 of Schedule 1.

Index Number means the Consumer Price Index (Sydney all groups) published
by the Australian Bureau of Statistics from time to time.

Insolvency Event means:

(a) having a controller, receiver, manager, administrator, provisional liquidator,
liquidator or analogous person appointed;

an application being made to a court for an order to appoint a controller,
provisional liquidator, trustee for creditors or in bankruptcy or analogous
person to the person or any of the person's property

the person being taken under section 459F(1) of the Corporations Act to
have failed to comply with a statutory demand;

an application being made to a court for an order for its winding up;

an order being made, or the person passing a resolution, for its winding up;

the person:

(i) suspending payment of its debts, ceasing (or threatening to cease) to
carry on all or a material part of its business, stating that it is unable
to pay its debts or being or becoming otherwise insolvent; or

(ii) being unable to pay its debts or otherwise insolvent;

the person taking any step toward entering into a compromise or
arrangement with, or assignment for the benefit of, any of its members or
creditors;

a court or other authority enforcing any judgment or order against the
person for the payment of money or the recovery of any property; or

any analogous event under the Laws of any applicable jurisdiction,

unless this takes place as part of a solvent reconstruction, amalgamation, merger
or consolidation that has been approved by the other party.

Land means the land described in Item 1 of Schedule 1 of this document.

101



10

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

Law means any applicable law, regulation, industry code or standard, including
any applicable Environmental Law.

Liability means any liability or obligation (whether actual, contingent or
prospective), including for any Loss, irrespective of when the acts, events or things
giving rise to the liability or obligation occurred.

Loss means all damage, loss, cost and expense of whatsoever nature or
description.

Occupation Certificate has the same meaning as in the Act.

Personal Information has the meaning set out in the Privacy Act 1988 (Cth).

Personnel means the Developer’s officers, employees, agents, contractors or
subcontractors (of any tier).

Planning Gain means the “planning gain” (as defined in, and calculated in
accordance with, the City’s Guideline to Preparing Site Specific Planning Proposal
Requests in the City of Sydney Employment Lands Investigation Areas)
attributable to the Development as a result of the Sydney LEP being amended
consistent with the Planning Proposal pursuant to the process set out in Part 3,
Division 4, of the Act, as adjusted in accordance with clause 3 of Schedule 3.

Planning Proposal means a planning proposal (within the meaning of the Act),
which seeks:

to rezone the Land from B7 Business Park to B4 Mixed Use (as defined in
the Sydney LEP);

an increase to the maximum floor space ratio, under clause 4.4 of the
Sydney LEP, for a building on the Land from 1.5:1 to 2:1;

an increase to the maximum height, under clause 4.3 of the Sydney LEP, of
a building on the Land from 18m to 29m; and

to include a requirement in the Sydney LEP that 10% of the total floor area
of buildings on the Land must be used for non-residential purposes.

Privacy Laws means the Privacy Act 1988 (Cth), the Privacy and Personal
Information Protection Act 1998 (NSW), the Spam Act 2003 (Cth), the Do Not Call
Register Act 2006 (Cth) and any other applicable legislation, principles, industry
codes and policies relating to the handling of Personal Information.

Public Benefits means the provision of benefits to the community by the
Developer in the form and at the times specified in Schedule 3.

Purchase Price means the amount of money calculated in accordance with clause
6.2 of Schedule 3.

Quantity Surveyor means a qualified independent and practising quantity
surveyor with at least five years’ experience in the assessment of building and
construction costs.

102



11

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

Quantity Surveyor’s Assessment means the assessment by the Quantity
Surveyor of the cost to deliver the Footpath Works.

Regulation means the Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000
(NSW).

Request means the document titled "Planning Proposal–Planning Report–102-106
Dunning Avenue, Rosebery–Rezone land from B7 Business Park to B4 Mixed Use
and amendment development standards" prepared on behalf of the Developer in
accordance with the City’s Guideline to Preparing Site Specific Planning Proposal
Requests in the City of Sydney Employment Lands Investigation Areas, adopted
by Council on 26 October 2015.

Special Conditions means the special conditions to the Contract for Sale specified
in Annexure C.

Standards means the policies, procedures and standards applicable for the
carrying out of the Footpath Works, including those listed at clause 11 of Schedule
3.

Subdivision in respect of land, has the same meaning as “subdivision of land” in
the Act.

Subdivision Application means a development application under Part 4 of the
Act (being the Development Application or other development application) for the
strata Subdivision of the Land, submitted to a consent authority under the Act.

Suitably Qualified Valuer means a valuer who:

(a) is a registered valuer under the Valuers Act 2003 (NSW) and is not restricted
under that Act from valuing strata title residential land;

(b) is both an Associate (or a Fellow) Member and a Certified Practising Valuer
of the Australian Property Institute (Inc) NSW Division;

(c) is then practising as a valuer;

(d) is independent and not related to any party to this document;

(e) has at least 5 years experience in valuations; and

(f) has a practical understanding of the development and planning process to
prepare a valuation for the market value rate of residential strata floor
space.

Sydney LEP means the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012.

Tax means a tax, levy, duty, rate, charge, deduction or withholding, however it is
described, that is imposed by Law or by a Government Agency, together with any
related interest, penalty, fine or other charge.

Transfer Land means the land that is to be transferred or dedicated in accordance
with Schedule 3 of this document, comprising:

103



12

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

the Footpath Land;

the Affordable Housing Units; and

Car Park Lots.

Unamended Sydney LEP means the Sydney LEP as in force as at the date of this
document and prior to any amendment consistent with the Planning Proposal.

Undischarged Affordable Housing Floor Space means any difference between
the Affordable Housing Floor Space and the aggregate floor space of the Affordable
Housing Units subject to the Contract for Sale.

Worksheet means the template at Annexure B, setting out a worked example of
how the Total Benefit Allocation, the Contribution Value and the Affordable Housing
Floor Space is calculated under this document.

1.2 Rules for interpreting this document

Headings are for convenience only, and do not affect interpretation.  The following
rules also apply in interpreting this document, except where the context makes it
clear that a rule is not intended to apply.

(a) A reference to:

(i) a legislative provision or legislation (including subordinate legislation)
is to that provision or legislation as amended, re-enacted or replaced,
and includes any subordinate legislation issued under it;

(ii) a document (including this document) or agreement, or a provision of
a document (including this document) or agreement, is to that
document, agreement or provision as amended, supplemented,
replaced or novated;

(iii) a party to this document or to any other document or agreement
includes a permitted substitute or a permitted assign of that party;

(iv) a person includes any type of entity or body of persons, whether or
not it is incorporated or has a separate legal identity, and any
executor, administrator or successor in law of the person; and

(v) anything (including a right, obligation or concept) includes each part
of it.

(b) A singular word includes the plural, and vice versa.

(c) A word which suggests one gender includes the other genders.

(d) If a word or phrase is defined, any other grammatical form of that word or
phrase has a corresponding meaning.

(e) If an example is given of anything (including a right, obligation or concept),
such as by saying it includes something else, the example does not limit the
scope of that thing.

104



13

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(f) A reference to including means “including, without limitation”.

(g) A reference to dollars or $ is to an amount in Australian currency.

(h) A reference to this document includes the agreement recorded by this
document.

(i) A reference to the date of this document is to the date that this document
commenced in accordance with clause 3 of this document.

(j) Words defined in the GST Act have the same meaning in clauses about GST.

(k) This document is not to be interpreted against the interests of a party merely
because that party proposed this document or some provision in it or
because that party relies on a provision of this document to protect itself.

2. APPLICATION OF THE ACT AND THE REGULATION

2.1 Application of this document

This document is a planning agreement within the meaning of section 93F of the
Act and applies to:

(a) the Land;

(b) the Development; and

(c) the Sydney LEP.

2.2 Public Benefits to be made by Developer

Clause 5 and Schedule 3 set out the details of the:

(a) Public Benefits to be delivered by the Developer;

(b) time or times by which the Developer must deliver the Public Benefits; and

(c) manner in which the Developer must deliver the Public Benefits.

2.3 Application of sections 94, 94A and 94EF of the Act

(a) The application of sections 94, 94A and 94EF of the Act are excluded to the
extent set out in Items 5 and 6 of Schedule 2 to this document.

(b) For the avoidance of doubt, if the City imposes a condition of consent on a
Development Consent for the Development under section 94 of the Act
requiring payment of a contribution authorised by a contributions plan
approved under section 61 of the City of Sydney Act 1988 (NSW), no further
contributions pursuant to section 94 or section 94A of the Act are payable in
relation to the Development.

2.4 City rights

This document does not impose an obligation on the City to:

105



14

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(a) grant Development Consent for the Development; or

(b) exercise any function under the Act in relation to a change to an
environmental planning instrument, including the making or revocation of
an environmental planning instrument.

2.5 Explanatory note

The explanatory note prepared in accordance with clause 25E of the Regulation
must not be used to assist in construing this document.

3. OPERATION OF THIS PLANNING AGREEMENT

3.1 Commencement

(a) Clauses 5 to 10, clause 12, Schedule 3 and Annexure A to this document
commence on the date that the Sydney LEP is amended in accordance with
the Planning Proposal.

(b) The remaining provisions of this document will commence on the date of
execution of this document by all parties to this document.

4. WARRANTIES

4.1 Mutual warranties

Each party represents and warrants that:

(a) (power) it has full legal capacity and power to enter into this document and
to carry out the transactions that it contemplates;

(b) (corporate authority) it has taken all corporate action that is necessary or
desirable to authorise its entry into this document and to carry out the
transactions contemplated;

(c) (Authorisations) it holds each Authorisation that is necessary or desirable
to:

(i) enable it to properly execute this document and to carry out the
transactions that it contemplates;

(ii) ensure that this document is legal, valid, binding and admissible in
evidence; or

(iii) enable it to properly carry on its business as it is now being conducted,

and it is complying with any conditions to which any of these Authorisations
is subject;

(d) (documents effective) this document constitutes its legal, valid and
binding obligations, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms
(except to the extent limited by equitable principles and Laws affecting
creditors’ rights generally), subject to any necessary stamping or
registration;

106



15

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(e) (solvency) there are no reasonable grounds to suspect that it will not be
able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; and

(f) (no controller) no controller is currently appointed in relation to any of its
property, or any property of any of its subsidiaries.

4.2 Developer warranties

(a) The Developer warrants to the City that, at the date of this document:

(i) it is the registered proprietor of the Land;

(ii) it is legally entitled to obtain all consents and approvals that are
required by this document and do all things necessary to give effect
to this document;

(iii) all work performed by the Developer and the Personnel under this
document will be performed with due care and skill and to a standard
which is equal to or better than that which a well experienced person
in the industry would expect to be provided by an organisation of the
Developer’s size and experience; and

(iv) it is not aware of any matter which may materially affect the
Developer’s ability to perform its obligations under this document.

(b) The Developer warrants to the City that, prior to commencing delivery of the
Public Benefits it will have obtained all Authorisations and insurances
required under any Law to carry out its obligations under this document.

5. PUBLIC BENEFITS

5.1 Developer to provide Public Benefits

The Developer must, at its cost and risk, provide the Public Benefits in accordance
with this document.

6. COMPLETION OF FOOTPATH WORKS

6.1 Date of Completion

The Developer must ensure that the Footpath Works reach Completion on or before
the date or other milestone referred to in Column 3 in the table in clause 1 of
Schedule 3 of this document in respect of the Footpath Works.

6.2 Developer completion notice

When, in the reasonable opinion of the Developer, the Footpath Works have
reached Completion, the Developer must notify the City’s Representative in writing
and must include in that notice:

(a) a statement from the person with direct responsibility and supervision of
that work that in their opinion that the Footpath Works have reached
Completion;

107



16

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(b) copies of any warranties, guarantees, maintenance information or other
material reasonably required for the City to assume responsibility for the
Foothpath Works; and

(c) at least three sets of the “as built” drawings of the Foothpath Works,
including one set in electronic format,

6.3 Inspection by the City

(a) The City’s Representative must inspect the Footpath Works within 5 Business
Days of the date that the Completion Notice is received by the City in respect
of the Footpath Works. The City’s Representative may refuse to complete
the inspection until the Completion Notice has been issued with all required
documentation attached in accordance with clause 6.2. Within 10 Business
Days of the date of the inspection by the City’s Representative, the City must
by written notice to the Developer:

(i) state that Completion has been achieved;

(ii) state that Completion has not been achieved and, if so, identify the
Defects, errors or omissions which, in the opinion of the City’s
Representative, prevent Completion; or

(iii) issue a notice under clause 8.1.

(b) Nothing in this clause 6.3, or any notice issued under this clause 6.3, will:

(i) reduce or waive in any manner the Developer’s responsibility to:

(A) deliver the Footpath Works in accordance with this document;
or

(B) the Developer’s responsibility to correct Defects, errors or
omissions, whether or not these are identified by the City; or

(ii) create any liability for the City in relation to any defective aspect of
the Footpath Works.

7. COMPLETION OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING UNITS AND CAR PARK LOTS

7.1 Date of Completion

The Developer must ensure that the Affordable Housing Units and Car Park Lots
reach Completion on or before the date or other milestone referred to in Column
3 in the table in clause 10 of Schedule 3 of this document in respect of the
Affordable Housing Units and Car Park Lots.

7.2 Developer completion notice

When, in the reasonable opinion of the Developer, the Affordable Housing Units
and the Car Park Lots have reached Completion, the Developer must notify the
City’s Representative in writing and must include in that notice:

108



17

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(a) a statement from the person with direct responsibility and supervision of
that work that in their opinion the Affordable Housing Units and Car Park
Lots have reached Completion;

(b) a statement from the Community Housing Provider that has entered into a
Contract of Sale with the Developer for the Affordable Housing Units and Car
Park Lots that it is satisfied that the Affordable Housing Units and Car Park
Lots have reached Completion.

7.3 Inspection by the City

(a) The City may give a notice to the Developer, within 5 Business Days after it
receives the notice from the Developer under clause 7.2, that it wishes to
inspect the Affordable Housing Units and the Car Park Lots.

(b) If the City gives a notice to the Developer under clause 7.3(a), the Developer
must promptly give the City access to the Affordable Housing Units and the
Car Park Lots to inspect them and Council must inspect within 5 Business
Days.

8. NON-COMPLETION OF PUBLIC BENEFITS

8.1 Request not to complete

(a) If the Developer makes a request by notice in writing not to complete the
Public Benefits (or any part of the Public Benefits):

(i) the City may permit the Developer not to complete the Public Benefits
(or any part of the Public Benefits) by issuing a notice in writing to the
Developer stating that completion of the items identified in that notice
is not required to fulfil the Developer’s obligations under this
document; and

(ii) the City may make a claim on the Guarantee in such amount as the
City considers necessary to:

(A) complete the portion of Public Benefit not being delivered by the
Developer; or

(B) to provide public benefits elsewhere in the locality to the value
of that portion of the Public Benefit not being delivered by the
Developer.

8.2 Failure to complete Footpath Works

(a) If the Developer fails to complete the Footpath Works in the form and to the
standards required under the Development Consent or this document then
the City may either:

(i) complete the Footpath Works itself, including by exercising its right to
compulsorily acquire the Footpath Land in accordance with clause 12.7
of this document; or

109



18

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(ii) modify the Footpath Works to reasonably achieve the objectives
identified in the Development Consent and this document,

and may recover all costs of and reasonably incidental to that work from the
Developer.  The City can claim on the Guarantee in order to exercise this
right, in which case the provisions of clause 12 will apply.  To the extent that
the City’s costs exceed the amount of the Guarantee, the City can recover
this amount from the Developer as a debt due and owing to the City.

(b) If the City exercises its rights under this clause 8 to complete the Footpath
Works, the Developer grants the City a licence for the period necessary for
the City to access the Land to carry out, or procure the carrying out, of the
Footpath Works.

9. INDEMNITY

The Developer must indemnify and keep indemnified the City against any:

(a) loss or damage;

(b) cost or expense;

(c) claim or proceedings;

(d) order or regulatory action; and

(e) liability,

of any nature suffered or incurred by the City arising from any act or omission by
the Developer (or any Personnel) in connection with the performance of or the
failure to perform the Developer’s obligations under this document.  The liability
of the Developer to indemnify the City shall be reduced to the extent that the
Developer demonstrates that the circumstances from which the loss, damage,
cost, expense, claim, proceedings, order, regulatory action or liability arose were
attributable to a wilful or negligent act or omission of the City (or any person
engaged by the City other than the Developer or Personnel).

10. DEFECTS LIABILITY

10.1 Security for Defects Liability Period

Until the expiry of the Defects Liability Period, the City may retain from the
Guarantee an amount equal to 10% of the Attributed Value of the Footpath Works
as security for the Developer’s performance of its obligations under this clause 10.
The Developer must make any necessary arrangements to allow the provision of
the Guarantee for the Defects Liability Period in accordance with this clause.

10.2 Defect in the Footpath Works

(a) If:

(i) the Developer is in breach of clause 4.2 of this document; or

110



19

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(ii) the City notifies the Developer of a Defect in the Footpath Works
within the Defects Liability Period,

then, following written notice from the City, the Developer must promptly
correct or replace (at the Developer’s expense) the defective elements of
the Footpath Works.

(b) If the Developer is unable or unwilling to comply with clause 10.2(a), or fails
to rectify the Defect within three months of receiving notice from the City
under clause 10.2(a), the City may:

(i) rectify the Defect itself;

(ii) make a claim on the Guarantee in accordance with clause 12 for the
reasonable costs of the City in rectifying the Defect; and

(iii) to the extent the costs incurred to rectify the Defect exceeds the
Guarantee, recover the reasonable costs from the Developer as a debt
due and owing to the City.

(c) If the City requires access to the Land to rectify any Defect, the Developer
grants the City and its contractors a licence for such period as is necessary
for the City and its contractors to access the Land to carry out, or procure
the carrying out, of the rectification works.

11. REGISTRATION AND CAVEAT

11.1 Registration of this document

(a) The Developer:

(i) consents to the registration of this document at the Land and Property
Information on the title to the Land;

(ii) warrants that it has obtained all consents to the registration of this
document on the title to the Land; and

(iii) must within 10 Business Days of a written request from the City do all
things necessary to allow the City to register this document on the
title to the Land, including:

(A) producing any documents or letters of consent required by the
Registrar-General of the Land and Property Information;

(B) providing the production slip number when the Developer
produces the certificate of title to the Land at the Land and
Property Information; and

(C) providing the City with a cheque for registration fees payable in
relation to registration of this document at the Land and
Property Information.

111



20

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(iv) The Developer must act promptly in complying with and assisting to
respond to any requisitions raised by the Land and Property
Information that relate to registration of this document.

11.2 Caveat

(a) The City may, at any time after the date of this document, register a caveat
over the Land preventing any dealing with the Land that is inconsistent with
this document. Provided that the City complies with this clause 11.2, the
Developer must not object to the registration of this caveat and may not
attempt to have the caveat removed from the title to the Land.

(b) In exercising its rights under this clause 11.2 the City must do all things
reasonably required to:

(i) remove the caveat from the Land once this document has been
registered on the title to the Land; and

(ii) consent to the registration of:

(A) this document; and

(B) any plan of consolidation, plan of Subdivision or other dealing
required by this document or the Development Consent.

11.3 Release of this document

(a) If the City is satisfied that the Developer has provided all Public Benefits and
otherwise complied with this document then the City must promptly do all
things reasonably required to remove this document from the title to the
Land.

(b) If the Developer registers a plan of strata Subdivision in respect of the Land,
in accordance with the requirements of this document, the City must
promptly do all things reasonably required to remove this document from
the title to allotments within the strata plan that are not:

(i) the common property of the strata plan; or

(ii) allotments required under this document to be developed as:

(A) Affordable Housing Units; or

(B) Car Park Lots.

12. ENFORCEMENT

12.1 Developer to provide Guarantee

The Developer must deliver the Guarantee for the Guarantee Amount to the City
by the Guarantee Due Date.

112



21

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

12.2 Adjustment of Guarantee Amount

(a) On each anniversary of the date of the Guarantee (the “Adjustment Date”),
the Guarantee Amount is to be adjusted to a revised amount by applying
the following formula:

RGA = GA x (A/B)

where:

RGA is the revised Guarantee Amount applicable from the relevant
Adjustment Date

GA is the Guarantee Amount that is current on the relevant Adjustment
Date

A is the Index Number most recently published before the relevant
Adjustment Date

B is the Index Number most recently published:

(i) before the date of the Guarantee for the first Adjustment Date;
and

(ii) before the preceding Adjustment Date for every subsequent
Adjustment Date

(b) If after the formula is applied under clause 12.2(a) the revised Guarantee
Amount will be less than the amount held at the preceding Adjustment Date,
the Guarantee Amount will not be adjusted.

(c) If after the formula is applied clause 12.2(a) the revised Guarantee Amount
will be greater than the amount held at the preceding Adjustment Date, the
Developer must within 10 Business Days of the Adjustment Date deliver to
the City’s Representative a replacement Guarantee to replace the Guarantee
then held by the City, in the amount calculated under this clause 12.2.

(d) Any unused portion of the Guarantee that is held by the City immediately
prior to the receipt by the City’s Representative of the replacement
Guarantee under clause 12.2(c), must be returned to the Developer upon
receipt of the replacement Guarantee.

12.3 Right of City to claim on Guarantee

(a) The Developer agrees that the City may itself or through the City’s
Representative make an appropriation from the Guarantee (and the
proceeds of the Guarantee, including any interest earned in respect of such
proceeds) at any time, without notice to the Developer, in such amount as
the City, acting reasonably, thinks appropriate if:

(i) the Developer fails to comply with clause 9.2 of Schedule 3 of this
document (provision of detailed design drawings and detailed costs
estimate);

113



22

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(ii) the City allows the Developer not to complete the Public Benefits, or
any part of them, in accordance with clause 8.1(a)(ii);

(iii) an Insolvency Event occurs in respect of the Developer;

(iv) the Developer fails to deliver the Footpath Works in accordance with
clauses 6.1 or 8.2;

(v) the Developer fails to rectify a Defect in accordance with clause 10.2
of this document;

(vi) the detailed designs for the Footpath Works are not finalised between
the parties within 12 months of the date of issue of a Construction
Certificate that approves the construction of any structures above the
ground floor of the Development;

(vii) the Footpath Works do not reach Completion within 36 months of the
date of issue of the first Construction Certificate in respect of the
Development (or such later time as agreed by the City in writing); or

(viii) the City incurs or reasonably expects to incur any other expense or
liability in exercising its rights and powers under this document.

(b) Any amount of the Guarantee appropriated by the City in accordance with
clause 12.2 must be applied only towards any or all of:

(i) the costs and expenses incurred by the City rectifying any default by
the Developer under this document;

(ii) carrying out any works required to complete the Footpath Works;

(iii) the provision of public benefits elsewhere within the locality to the
value of the Contribution Value, in the following circumstances:

(A) by agreement between the parties under clause 8.1(a)(ii); or

(B) insolvency of the Developer; and

(iv) ensuring due and proper performance of the obligations of the
Developer under this document.

(c) The Developer is not entitled to, and must not seek, an injunction against
either the City or the issuer of the Guarantee (if applicable) preventing a
demand or payment under the Guarantee (whether the demand extends to
the whole of the Guarantee or part thereof) or the use to which the proceeds
of such a demand can be put.

12.4 Expenditure by the City to Complete Footpath Works

If the City claims on the Guarantee to Complete the Footpath Works, then the City:

(a) is not required to expend more money than the Guarantee Amount and may
elect not to carry out items of the Footpath Works to ensure that those works

114



23

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

can be carried out for an amount equal to or less than the Guarantee
Amount; or

(b) may expend more than the Guarantee Amount.  If the City expends more
money than the Guarantee Amount then the amount in excess of the
Guarantee Amount will be deemed to be a debt due and owing to the City
by the Developer.

12.5 Top-up and return of Guarantee

(a) If the City calls upon the Guarantee in accordance with this clause 12 then
the Developer must immediately provide to the City a replacement
Guarantee to ensure that, at all times until the Guarantee is released in
accordance with paragraph (b), the City is in possession of a Guarantee for
a face value equivalent to the Guarantee Amount.

(b) If:

(i) the monies secured by the Guarantee have not been expended;

(ii) the City has concurred with Completion in accordance with clause
6.3(a)(i) of this document, taking into account any approved non-
completion of Public Benefits approved by clause 8.1 of this document;
and

(iii) the City has been provided with the security for the Defects Liability
Period in accordance with clause 10.1,

then the City will promptly return the Guarantee to the Developer following
the issue of a notice pursuant to clause 6.3(a)(i) of this document.

(c) If, following expiry of the Defects Liability Period, the City is satisfied that
all defects have been rectified in accordance with clause 10 then the City
must promptly return to the Developer the portion of the Guarantee retained
by the City as security for the Defects Liability Periods.

12.6 Trusts and interest

If Council has called up the Guarantee and holds surplus funds after the
Developer’s default has been remedied, Council:

(a) may hold that surplus as a security deposit until the Developer replaces the
Guarantee for the full Guarantee Amount; and

(b) must provide the surplus to the Developer promptly after it receives the
replacement Guarantee

12.7 Compulsory acquisition

If the Developer fails to transfer or dedicate the whole or any part of the Transfer
Land as required by clause 7 of Schedule 3 by the date that is seven weeks
following the due date for the applicable part of the Transfer Land specified in

115



24

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

clause 1 of Schedule 3, then the City may compulsorily acquire that land for the
amount of $1.00 in accordance with the Land Acquisition (Just Terms
Compensation) Act 1991 (NSW).  The City and the Developer agree that:

(a) this clause 12.7 is an agreement between the Developer and the City for the
purposes of section 30 of the Land Acquisition (Just Terms Compensation)
Act 1991 (NSW);

(b) in this clause 12.7 the Developer and the City have agreed on all relevant
matters concerning the compulsory acquisition and the compensation to be
paid for the acquisition; and

(c) the Developer must pay the City, promptly on demand, an amount
equivalent to all costs incurred by the City in acquiring the whole or any part
of the Transfer Land as contemplated by this clause 12.7.

13. DISPUTE RESOLUTION

13.1 Application

Any Dispute must be determined in accordance with the procedure in this
clause 13.

13.2 Negotiation

(a) If any Dispute arises, a party to the Dispute (Referring Party) may by
giving notice to the other party or parties to the Dispute (Dispute Notice)
refer the Dispute to the Developer’s Representative and the City’s
Representative for resolution.  The Dispute Notice must:

(i) be in writing;

(ii) state that it is given pursuant to this clause 13; and

(iii) include or be accompanied by reasonable particulars of the Dispute
including:

(A) a brief description of the circumstances in which the Dispute
arose;

(B) references to any:

(aa) provisions of this document; and

(bb) acts or omissions of any person,

relevant to the Dispute; and

(C) where applicable, the amount in dispute (whether monetary or
any other commodity) and if not precisely known, the best
estimate available.

(b) Within 10 Business Days of the Referring Party issuing the Dispute Notice
(Resolution Period), the Developer’s Representative and the City’s
Representative must meet at least once to attempt to resolve the Dispute.

116



25

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(c) The Developer’s Representative and the City’s Representative may meet
more than once to resolve a Dispute.  The Developer’s Representative and
the City’s Representative may meet in person, via telephone,
videoconference, internet-based instant messaging or any other agreed
means of instantaneous communication to effect the meeting.

13.3 Not use information

The purpose of any exchange of information or documents or the making of any
offer of settlement under this clause 13 is to attempt to settle the Dispute. Neither
party may use any information or documents obtained through any dispute
resolution process undertaken under this clause 13 for any purpose other than in
an attempt to settle the Dispute.

13.4 Condition precedent to litigation

Subject to clause 13.5, a party must not commence legal proceedings in respect
of a Dispute unless:

(a) a Dispute Notice has been given; and

(b) the Resolution Period has expired.

13.5 Summary or urgent relief

Nothing in this clause 13 will prevent a party from instituting proceedings to seek
urgent injunctive, interlocutory or declaratory relief in respect of a Dispute.

14. TAXES AND GST

14.1 Responsibility for Taxes

(a) The Developer is responsible for any and all Taxes and other like liabilities
which may arise under any Commonwealth, State or Territory legislation (as
amended from time to time) as a result of or in connection with this
document or the Public Benefits.

(b) The Developer must indemnify the City in relation to any claims, liabilities
and costs (including penalties and interest) arising as a result of any Tax or
other like liability for which the Developer is responsible under
clause 14.1(a).

14.2 GST free supply

To the extent that Divisions 81 and 82 of the GST Law apply to a supply made
under this document:

(a) no additional amount will be payable by a party on account of GST; and

(b) no tax invoices will be exchanged between the parties.

14.3 Supply subject to GST

To the extent that clause 14.2 does not apply to a supply made under this
document, this clause 14.3 will apply.

117



26

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(a) If one party (Supplying Party) makes a taxable supply and the
consideration for that supply does not expressly include GST, the party that
is liable to provide the consideration (Receiving Party) must also pay an
amount (GST Amount) equal to the GST payable in respect of that supply.

(b) Subject to first receiving a tax invoice or adjustment note as appropriate,
the receiving party must pay the GST amount when it is liable to provide the
consideration.

(c) If one party must indemnify or reimburse another party (Payee) for any
loss or expense incurred by the Payee, the required payment does not
include any amount which the Payee (or an entity that is in the same GST
group as the Payee) is entitled to claim as an input tax credit, but will be
increased under clause 14.3(a) if the payment is consideration for a taxable
supply.

(d) If an adjustment event arises in respect of a taxable supply made by a
Supplying Party, the GST Amount payable by the Receiving Party under
clause 14.3(a) will be recalculated to reflect the adjustment event and a
payment will be made by the Receiving Party to the Supplying Party, or by
the Supplying Party to the Receiving Party, as the case requires.

(e) The Developer will assume the City is not entitled to any input tax credit
when calculating any amounts payable under this clause 14.3.

(f) In this document:

(i) consideration includes non-monetary consideration, in respect of
which the parties must agree on a market value, acting reasonably;
and

(ii) in addition to the meaning given in the GST Act, the term “GST”
includes a notional liability for GST.

15. DEALINGS

15.1 Dealing by the City

(a) The City may Deal with its interest in this document without the consent of
the Developer if the Dealing is with a Government Agency.  The City must
give the Developer notice of the Dealing within five Business Days of the
date of the Dealing.

(b) The City may not otherwise Deal with its interest in this document without
the consent of the Developer, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld
or delayed.

15.2 Dealing by the Developer

(a) Prior to registration of this document in accordance with clause 11, the
Developer must not Deal with this document or the Land without:

(i) the prior written consent of the City; and

118



27

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(ii) the City, the Developer and the third party the subject of the Dealing
entering into a deed to the Dealing on substantially the same terms
as the draft deed included as Annexure D to this document.

(b) On and from registration of this document in accordance with clause 11:

(i) the Developer may Deal with this document or the Land without the
consent of the City only as a result of the sale of the whole of the Land
(without subdivision) to a purchaser of the Land;

(ii) the Developer may register a plan of strata Subdivision;

(iii) the Developer may enter into contracts for the sale of proposed strata
lots; and

(iv) the Developer must not otherwise Deal with this document or the Land
without:

(A) the prior written consent of the City (which will not be
unreasonably withheld in the case of a mortgage in favour of a
reputable mortgagee which acknowledges, in a form reasonably
acceptable to the City, the City’s interest in the Land under this
document); and

(B) other than where the Dealing is a mortgage, the City, the
Developer and the third party the subject of the Dealing
entering into a deed of consent to the Dealing on terms
acceptable to the City.

(c) The Developer must pay the City’s costs and expenses relating to any
consent or documentation required due to the operation of this clause 15.2.

15.3 Extinguishment or creation of interests on Transfer Land

(a) Prior to the dedication or transfer of the Transfer Land in accordance with
clause 7 of Schedule 3, the Developer must:

(i) extinguish all leases and licences over the Transfer Land; and

(ii) use its best endeavours to extinguish all redundant encumbrances and
those that, in the City’s opinion, would unreasonably impede the
intended use of all or any part of the Transfer Land.

(b) The Developer must comply with any directions by the City relating to the
Transfer Land, including the creation of any encumbrances over the Transfer
Land.

16. TERMINATION

(a) Either party may terminate this document by notice in writing to the other
party if:

(i) the Development Consent lapses or is surrendered by the Developer;
or

119



28

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(ii) the Amended Sydney LEP is declared to be invalid by a Court of
competent jurisdiction.

(b) If this document is terminated then:

(i) the rights of each party that arose before the termination or which
may arise at any future time for any breach or non-observance of
obligations occurring prior to the termination are not affected;

(ii) the parties must take all steps reasonably necessary to minimise any
loss that each party may suffer as a result of the termination of this
document;

(iii) the City will return the Guarantee to the Developer after first
deducting any amounts owing to the City or costs incurred by the City
by operation of this document.  If in exercising its rights under this
document the City expends more money than the Guarantee Amount
then the amount in excess of the Guarantee Amount will be deemed
to be a debt due and owing to the City by the Developer; and

(iv) the City will, at the Developer’s cost, do all things reasonably required
to remove this document from the title to the Land.

17. CONFIDENTIALITY AND DISCLOSURES

17.1 Use and disclosure of Confidential Information

A party (receiving party) which acquires Confidential Information of another
party (disclosing party) must not:

(a) use any of the Confidential Information except to the extent necessary to
exercise its rights and perform its obligations under this document; or

(b) disclose any of the Confidential Information except in accordance with
clauses 17.2 or 17.3.

17.2 Disclosures to personnel and advisers

(a) The receiving party may disclose Confidential Information to an officer,
employee, agent, contractor, or legal, financial or other professional adviser
if:

(i) the disclosure is necessary to enable the receiving party to perform
its obligations or to exercise its rights under this document; and

(ii) prior to disclosure, the receiving party informs the person of the
receiving party’s obligations in relation to the Confidential Information
under this document and obtains an undertaking from the person to
comply with those obligations.

(b) The receiving party:

(i) must ensure that any person to whom Confidential Information is
disclosed under clause 17.2(a) keeps the Confidential Information

120



29

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

confidential and does not use it for any purpose other than as
permitted under clause 17.2(a); and

(ii) is liable for the actions of any officer, employee, agent, contractor or
legal, financial or other professional adviser that causes a breach of
the obligations set out in clause 17.2(b)(i).

17.3 Disclosures required by Law

(a) Subject to clause 17.3(b), the receiving party may disclose Confidential
Information that the receiving party is required to disclose:

(i) by Law or by order of any court or tribunal of competent jurisdiction;
or

(ii) by any Government Agency, stock exchange or other regulatory body.

(b) If the receiving party is required to make a disclosure under clause 17.3(a),
the receiving party must:

(i) to the extent possible, notify the disclosing party immediately it
anticipates that it may be required to disclose any of the Confidential
Information;

(ii) consult with and follow any reasonable directions from the disclosing
party to minimise disclosure; and

(iii) if disclosure cannot be avoided:

(A) only disclose Confidential Information to the extent necessary
to comply; and

(B) use reasonable efforts to ensure that any Confidential
Information disclosed is kept confidential.

17.4 Receiving party’s return or destruction of documents

On termination of this document the receiving party must immediately:

(a) deliver to the disclosing party all documents and other materials containing,
recording or referring to Confidential Information; and

(b) erase or destroy in another way all electronic and other intangible records
containing, recording or referring to Confidential Information,

which are in the possession, power or control of the receiving party or of any
person to whom the receiving party has given access.

17.5 Security and control

The receiving party must:

(a) keep effective control of the Confidential Information; and

121



30

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(b) ensure that the Confidential Information is kept secure from theft, loss,
damage or unauthorised access or alteration.

17.6 Media releases

The Developer must not issue any information, publication, document or article for
publication in any media concerning this document or the Public Benefits without
the City’s prior written consent.

18. NOTICES

(a) A notice, consent or other communication under this document is only
effective if it is in writing, signed and either left at the addressee’s address
or sent to the addressee by mail or fax.

(b) A notice is taken to be received:

(i) If left at the addressee’s address between 9am and 5pm on a Business
Day it is taken to be received at the time and date it is left, otherwise
it is taken to be received on the next Business Day;

(ii) If it is sent by mail, it is taken to have been received 5 Business Days
after it is posted.

(iii) If it is sent by fax on a Business Day, it is taken to have been received
on the date that the sending party’s fax machine records that the fax
has been successfully transmitted but if the transmittal is recorded by
the sending party’s fax machine as after 5pm New South Wales time
or a day that is not a Business Day, it is taken to be received on the
next Business Day.

(c) A person’s address and fax number are those set out in Schedule 1 for the
City’s Representative and the Developer’s Representative, or as the person
notifies the sender in writing from time to time.

19. GENERAL

19.1 Governing law

(a) This document is governed by the laws of New South Wales.

(b) Each party submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts exercising
jurisdiction in New South Wales, and any court that may hear appeals from
any of those courts, for any proceedings in connection with this document,
and waives any right it might have to claim that those courts are an
inconvenient forum.

19.2 Access to information

In accordance with section 121 of the Government Information (Public Access) Act
2009 (NSW), the Developer agrees to allow the City immediate access to the
following information contained in records held by the Developer:

122



31

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(a) information that relates directly to the delivery of the Public Benefits by the
Developer;

(b) information collected by the Developer from members of the public to whom
the Developer provides, or offers to provide, services on behalf of the City;
and

(c) information received by the Developer from the City to enable the Developer
to deliver the Public Benefits.

19.3 Liability for expenses

(a) The Developer must pay its own and the City’s expenses incurred in
negotiating, executing, registering, releasing, administering and enforcing
this document.

(b) The Developer must pay for all reasonable costs and expenses associated
with the preparation and giving of public notice of this document and the
explanatory note prepared in accordance with the Regulations and for any
consent the City is required to provide under this document.

19.4 Relationship of parties

(a) Nothing in this document creates a joint venture, partnership, or the
relationship of principal and agent, or employee and employer between the
parties; and

(b) No party has the authority to bind any other party by any representation,
declaration or admission, or to make any contract or commitment on behalf
of any other party or to pledge any other party’s credit.

19.5 Giving effect to this document

Each party must do anything (including execute any document), and must ensure
that its employees and agents do anything (including execute any document or,
without limiting any discretion, provide any consent), that the other party may
reasonably require to give full effect to this document.

19.6 Time for doing acts

(a) If:

(i) the time for doing any act or thing required to be done; or

(ii) a notice period specified in this document,

expires on a day other than a Business Day, the time for doing that act or
thing or the expiration of that notice period is extended until the following
Business Day.

(b) If any act or thing required to be done is done after 5pm on the specified
day, it is taken to have been done on the following Business Day.

123



32

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

19.7 Severance

If any clause or part of any clause is in any way unenforceable, invalid or illegal,
it is to be read down so as to be enforceable, valid and legal.  If this is not possible,
the clause (or where possible, the offending part) is to be severed from this
document without affecting the enforceability, validity or legality of the remaining
clauses (or parts of those clauses) which will continue in full force and effect.

19.8 Preservation of existing rights

The expiration or termination of this document does not affect any right that has
accrued to a party before the expiration or termination date.

19.9 No merger

Any right or obligation of any party that is expressed to operate or have effect on
or after the completion, expiration or termination of this document for any reason,
will not merge on the occurrence of that event but will remain in full force and
effect.

19.10 Waiver of rights

A right may only be waived in writing, signed by the party giving the waiver, and:

(a) no other conduct of a party (including a failure to exercise, or delay in
exercising, the right) operates as a waiver of the right or otherwise prevents
the exercise of the right;

(b) a waiver of a right on one or more occasions does not operate as a waiver
of that right if it arises again; and

(c) the exercise of a right does not prevent any further exercise of that right or
of any other right.

19.11 Operation of this document

(a) This document contains the entire agreement between the parties about its
subject matter.  Any previous understanding, agreement, representation or
warranty relating to that subject matter is replaced by this document and
has no further effect.

(b) Any right that a person may have under this document is in addition to, and
does not replace or limit, any other right that the person may have.

(c) Any provision of this document which is unenforceable or partly
unenforceable is, where possible, to be severed to the extent necessary to
make this document enforceable, unless this would materially change the
intended effect of this document.

19.12 Operation of indemnities

(a) Each indemnity in this document survives the expiry or termination of this
document.

124



33

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(b) A party may recover a payment under an indemnity in this document before
it makes the payment in respect of which the indemnity is given.

19.13 Inconsistency with other documents

Unless the contrary intention is expressed, if there is an inconsistency between
any of one or more of:

(a) this document;

(b) any Schedule to this document; and

(c) the provisions of any other document of the Developer,

the order of precedence between them will be the order listed above, this document
having the highest level of precedence.

19.14 No fetter

Nothing in this document in any way restricts or otherwise affects the City’s
unfettered discretion to exercise its statutory powers as a public authority.

19.15 Counterparts

This document may be executed in counterparts.

125



34

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

SCHEDULE 1

Agreement Details

ITEM TERM DESCRIPTION

1. Land
102-106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery

(Lot 50 in Deposited Plan 1171307)

2. Development Development on or of the Land within the meaning
of the Act, comprising a mix of residential and
commercial development, which would breach the
zoning, height or floor space ratio controls in the
Unamended Sydney LEP.

3. City’s Representative Name: The Director – City Planning, Development
and Transport

Address: 456 Kent Street, Sydney NSW 2000

Fax number: 9265 9518

4. Developer’s
Representative

Name: Mark Davidson

Address: Miller Street Partners, Suite 22 / 9
Middlemiss Street, Lavender Bay NSW 2060

Fax number: 9922 1478

5. Development
Application

Any development application lodged by the Owner
in respect of the Development of the Land, which
may in addition seek development consent under
Part 4 of the Act for the strata Subdivision of the
Land.

6. Guarantee Amount An amount equal to the Attributed Value of the
Footpath Works as adjusted in accordance with
clause 12.2.

7. Guarantee Due Date Prior to the issue of any Construction Certificate for
the Development.

126



35

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

SCHEDULE 2

Requirements under the Act and Regulation (clause 2)

The below table summarises how this document complies with the Act and Regulation.

ITEM SECTION OF ACT OR
REGULATION

PROVISION/CLAUSE OF THIS DOCUMENT

1. Planning instrument and/or
development application
(section 93F(1) of the Act)

The Developer has:

(a) sought a change to an
environmental planning
instrument;

(b) made, or proposes to
make, a Development
Application; or

(c) entered into an
agreement with, or is
otherwise associated
with, a person, to whom
paragraph (a) or (b)
applies.

(a) Yes

(b) Yes

(c) No

2. Description of land to which
this document applies (section
93F(3)(a) of the Act)

Item 1 of Schedule 1.

3. Description of change to the
environmental planning
instrument to which this
document applies and/or the
development to which this
document applies (section
93F(3)(b) of the Act)

The development to which this document
applies is the Development.

The changes to the Sydney LEP to which this
document applies are as set out in the Planning
Proposal.

(Refer to clause 2.1)

4. The scope, timing and manner
of delivery of Public Benefits
required by this document
(section 93F(3)(c) of the Act)

Schedule 3 and Annexure A to this document.

5. Applicability of sections 94 and
94A of the Act (section 93F(3)(d)
of the Act)

The application of sections 94 and 94A of the
Act is not excluded in respect of the
Development and for the avoidance of doubt,
contributions (if any) under sections 94 or 94A
will be required to be paid.

127



36

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

ITEM SECTION OF ACT OR
REGULATION

PROVISION/CLAUSE OF THIS DOCUMENT

6. Applicability of section 94EF of
the Act (section 93F(3)(d) of the
Act)

The application of section 94EF of the Act is not
excluded in respect of the Development and for
the avoidance of doubt, contributions (if any)
under section 94EF will be required to be paid.

7. Consideration of benefits under
this document if section 94
applies (section 93F(3)(e) of the
Act)

The Public Benefits are not to be taken into
consideration in determining a development
contribution under section 94 of the Act.

8. Mechanism for Dispute
Resolution (section 93F(3)(f) of
the Act)

Clause 13

9. Enforcement of this document
(section 93F(3)(g) of the Act)

Clause 12

10. No obligation to grant consent
or exercise functions (section
93F(9) of the Act)

Clause 2.4

11. Registration of this document
(section 93H of the Act)

Clause 11

12. Whether certain requirements
of this document must be
complied with before a
construction certificate is
issued (clause 25E(2)(g) of the
Regulation)

Refer to the explanatory note

13. Whether certain requirements
of this document must be
complied with before a
subdivision certificate is issued
(clause 25E(2)(g) of the
Regulation)

Refer to the explanatory note

14. Whether certain requirements
of this document must be
complied with before an
occupation certificate is issued
(clause 25E(2)(g) of the
Regulation)

Refer to the explanatory note

128



37

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

ITEM SECTION OF ACT OR
REGULATION

PROVISION/CLAUSE OF THIS DOCUMENT

15. Whether the explanatory note
that accompanied exhibition of
this document may be used to
assist in construing this
document (clause 25E(7) of the
Regulation)

Clause 2.5

129



38

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

SCHEDULE 3

Public Benefits (clause 5)

1. PUBLIC BENEFITS - OVERVIEW

The Developer must provide each Public Benefit identified in Column 1 of the table
below, by the due date corresponding to that Public Benefit in Column 3 of the
table below, in accordance with this Schedule 3 and this document and any
additional specifications identified for that Public Benefit in Column 4 of the table
below.

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4

Public
Benefit

Attributed
Value

Due date Additional
specifications

A. Footpath Land $200.00 After Completion
but before the issue
of the first
Occupation
Certificate for the
Development.

An area of
approximately 50m2
of land within the Land
on which a footpath is
required to be
constructed as part of
the Footpath Works.

Plans showing the
indicative location of
the Footpath Land are
contained in Annexure
A to this document.

B. Affordable
Housing Units

Attributed
Market Value
Rate X
combined floor
space of
Affordable
Housing Units

No later than 14
days after the
earlier of the date
of issue of the first
Occupation
Certificate for the
Development and
the date of
registration of the
plan of strata
Subdivision for the
Land

The Affordable
Housing Units to be
provided in
accordance with
clause 8 of Schedule
3.

C. Car Park Lots Attributed
Value of the
Car Park Lots

No later than 14
days after the
earlier of the date
of issue of the first
Occupation
Certificate for the
Development and

The car parking lots
(including accessible
parking space(s) for
any adaptable unit(s))
required to be
provided in
conjunction with the

130



39

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4

Public
Benefit

Attributed
Value

Due date Additional
specifications

the date of
registration of the
plan of strata
Subdivision for the
Land

Affordable Housing
Units

D. Footpath
Works

Attributed
value of the
Footpath
Works,
determined in
accordance
with clause
9.2 of
Schedule 3

Before the issue of
the first Occupation
Certificate for the
Development.

The Footpath Works
comprise the work to
be carried out by the
Developer to deliver
50m2 of footpath
within the Land. The
Footpath Works must
be carried out in
accordance with this
document, including
this Schedule 3, and
the plans and
specifications showing
the nature and extent
of the required
Footpath Works in
Annexure A to this
document.

E. Affordable
Housing
Monetary
Contribution

Undischarged
Affordable
Housing Floor
Space x
Attributed
Market Value
Rate,
determined in
accordance
with clause
8.2(a) of this
Schedule 3.

Before the issue of
the first Occupation
Certificate for the
Development.

The Affordable
Housing Monetary
Contribution is only
payable if the
Affordable Housing
Floor Space cannot be
accommodated within
whole Affordable
Housing Units.

2. VALUE OF PUBLIC BENEFITS

2.1 The parties agree that the total value of the Public Benefits to be provided under
this document must be equivalent to the sum of the Contribution Value plus the
Attributed Value of the Footpath Works and the Attributed Value of the Car Park
Lots at the date of the first Construction Certificate for the Development Consent.

131



40

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

3. CALCULATION OF THE PUBLIC BENEFITS

3.1 The Contribution Value, the Planning Gain (and the Benefit Allocation), the
Attributed Market Value Rate, the Affordable Housing Floor Space, and the
Attributed Value of the Car Park Lots (together, the Values) will each be
determined in accordance with this clause 3.

3.2 At least 60 days prior to the lodgement of the Development Application with a
consent authority under the Act, the Developer must submit to the City’s
Representative for approval, prepared by a Suitably Qualified Valuer:

(a) a valuation report which complies with Annexure B and identifies the Valuer’s
opinion as to the Values; and

(b) an updated Worksheet (in accordance with the template provided at
Annexure B).

3.3 At least 60 days prior to making an application for the first Construction Certificate
with the relevant consent authority or certifier under the Act, the Developer must
submit to the City’s Representative for approval, prepared by a Suitably Qualified
Valuer, an updated:

(a) valuation report which complies with Annexure B and identifies the Valuer’s
opinion as to the Values; and

(b) Worksheet (in accordance with the template provided at Annexure B).

3.4 Within 30 Business Days after the City’s Representative has received the valuation
report and Worksheet in accordance with either clause 3.2 or 3.3, the City will
inform the Developer in writing as to whether the valuation report and Worksheet
are approved.  If the valuation report and Worksheet are not approved, the City
will inform the Developer what further information or modifications are required
and the Developer will have a further 15 Business Days to re-submit the valuation
report and Worksheet, following which the process outlined in this paragraph 3.4
will apply again.

3.5 The Developer agrees that the City may require:

(a) substantiation of the value attributed by the Suitably Qualified Valuer to any
one or more of the Values;

(b) the Valuer to adopt different valuation methodologies;

(c) the Valuer justify, correct or change assumptions made; or

(d) instead of (a) – (c) above, that the valuation report be peer reviewed by
another Suitably Qualified Valuer.

3.6 Despite any other provision in this Schedule 3, each of the Values will be the higher
of:

(a) the relevant Value determined in accordance with clauses 3.2, 3.4 and 3.5;
and

132



41

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(b) the relevant Value determined in accordance with clauses 3.3, 3.4 and 3.5.

4. APPLICATIONS

4.1 Development Application

(a) At the time of making a Development Application with the consent authority
under the Act, the Developer must submit with the Development
Application:

(i) the valuation report and Worksheet approved in accordance with
clause 33.2; and

(ii) a letter from the Community Housing Provider who is, or is proposed
to be the party to the Contract for Sale, confirming that it has been
consulted with respect to the design and location of the Affordable
Housing Units and that the Community Housing Provider supports the
lodgement of the Development Application.

(b) The plans submitted with the Development Application must clearly identify
the Affordable Housing Units and Car Park Lots that are to be subject to the
Contract for Sale.

4.2 Information required at time of Construction Certificate Application

(a) At the time of making an application for the first Construction Certificate
with the consent authority or certifier under the Act, the Developer must
submit with the application for the first Construction Certificate an updated
valuation report and Worksheet prepared in accordance with clause 3.

Note:  it is expected that this also be a condition of the Development Consent

5. AFFORDABLE HOUSING COVENANT

On or following the strata Subdivision of the Land, and prior to the issue of the
first Occupation Certificate for the Development, the Developer:

(a) consents to the registration of an Affordable Housing Covenant at the Land
and Property Information on the title to each of the allotments of Affordable
Housing identified on the registered plan of strata Subdivision for the Land;

(b) warrants that it has obtained all consents to the registration of the Affordable
Housing Covenant on the title to each of the allotments of Affordable Housing
identified on the registered plan of strata Subdivision for the Land; and

(c) must within 10 Business Days of a written request from the City do all things
necessary to allow the City to register the Affordable Housing Covenant on
the title to each of the allotments of Affordable Housing identified on the
registered plan of strata Subdivision for the Land, including:

(i) producing any documents or letters of consent required by the
Registrar-General of the Land and Property Information;

133



42

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(ii) providing the production slip number when the Developer produces
the certificate of title to the applicable allotment at the Land and
Property Information; and

(iii) providing the City with a cheque for registration fees payable in
relation to registration of the Affordable Housing Covenant at the Land
and Property Information; and

(d) must act promptly in complying with and assisting to respond to any
requisitions raised by the Land and Property Information that relate to
registration of the Affordable Housing Covenant.

6. CONTRACT FOR SALE

6.1 Contract for sale requirement

(a) Prior to the issue of the first Construction Certificate for the Development,
the Developer must execute a Contract for Sale with a Community Housing
Provider and provide a copy of that executed Contract for Sale to the City’s
Representative.

Note:  it is expected that this also be a condition of the Development Consent

(b) The Contract for Sale must:

(i) provide for the transfer of the Affordable Housing Units and Car park
Lots identified in the plans approved by the Development Consent;

(ii) include each of the Special Conditions identified in Annexure C;

(iii) require that the Affordable Housing comply with the Affordable
Housing Requirements;

(iv) provide for the completion of the sale of the Affordable Housing Units
and Car Park Lots to occur no later than 14 days after the earlier of
the date of issue of the first Occupation Certificate for the
Development and the date of registration of the plan of strata
Subdivision for the Land;

(v) provide that the sale of the Affordable Housing Units will not occur
until the Affordable Housing Covenant is registered on the title to each
allotment of Affordable Housing;

(vi) in respect of each dwelling of Affordable Housing, specify:

(A) the size of each dwelling; and

(B) the internal fitout requirements and specifications,

as agreed between the Developer and the Community Housing
Provider;

134



43

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(vii) provide that the total consideration payable by the Community
Housing Provider for the Affordable Housing Units and Car Park Lots
does not exceed the Purchase Price; and

(viii) otherwise be on terms reasonably acceptable to the City.

6.2 Calculation of Purchase Price

(a) The Purchase Price is:

(i) if no Additional Affordable Housing Floor Space is provided in the
Development - $1.00; or

(ii) if Additional Affordable Housing Floor Space is provided in the
Development – an amount of money calculated in accordance with the
following formula:

(AAHFS x AMVR) + (IR x BA)

where:

AAHFS means Additional Affordable Housing Floor Space in
square metres

NOTE: Additional Affordable Housing Floor Space is defined in
clause 1.1 of this document to mean any floor space of
Affordable Housing provided within the Development in
addition to the Affordable Housing Floor Space.

AMVR means Attributed Market Value Rate

NOTE: Attributed Market Value Rate is defined in clause 1.1 of this
document to mean the amount of money per square metre
of Gross Floor Area, as determined and adjusted in
accordance with clause 3 of Schedule 3.

BA means the amount which represents 50% of the
Planning Gain

NOTE: Planning Gain is defined in clause 1.1 of this document to
mean the “planning gain” (as defined in, and calculated in
accordance with, the City’s Guideline to Preparing Site
Specific Planning Proposal Requests in the City of Sydney
Employment Lands Investigation Areas) attributable to the
Development as a result of the Sydney LEP being amended
consistent with the Planning Proposal pursuant to the
process set out in Part 3, Division 4, of the Act, as adjusted
in accordance with clause 3 of Schedule 3.

IR means, in respect of the Development, the incentive
rate specified in the following table that corresponds to
the Additional Affordable Housing Floor Space
applicable to the Development:

Incentive
Affordable

Housing Floor
Space

Incentive rate

135



44

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

<50m2 0%
50 - 150 m2 2.5%
151 - 250 m2 5%
251 - 350 m2 7.5%
351 - 450 m2 10%

>451 m2 12.5%

Note:  it is expected that this also be a condition of the Development Consent

Example:

Where:

AAHFS = 450m2 (example figure only)

AMVR = $14,000 (example figure only)

PG = $15,855,173.28

BA = ($15,855,173.28/2)

= $7,927,586.64

IR = 10% (based on AAHFS)

The Purchase Price is:

(AAHFS x AMVR) + (IR x BA)

(450 x $14,000) + (0.10 x $7,927,586.24) =

$6,300,000 + $792,758.62=

$7,092,758.62

6.3 The City to review Contract for Sale

(a) Prior to executing a Contract for Sale, the Developer must submit a copy of
the proposed Contract for Sale to the City’s Representative for the City’s
written consent.

(b) The Developer must not execute a proposed Contract for Sale unless the
City has consented in writing to the execution of the proposed Contract for
Sale in accordance with this clause 6.3 of Schedule 3.

(c) Where a proposed Contract for Sale is submitted to the City’s Representative
under clause 6.3(a) of Schedule 3, the City must consent or refuse to grant
consent to the execution of the proposed Contract for Sale within 10
Business Days after the City’s Representative receives the proposed
Contract for Sale under clause 6.3(a) of Schedule 3, provided that in
counting time for the purpose of that time period, the following days will be
excluded:

(i) the day on which the City’s Representative makes a request:

(A) for further relevant information; or

136



45

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(B) for a consultation meeting with the Developer or the Community
Housing Provider,

in order for the City to consider the proposed Contract for Sale;

(ii) the day on which:

(A) the further requested information is provided in full and
complete form; and

(B) the requested consultation meeting takes place; and

(iii) each day in between those two days,

and such days shall not count towards the expiry of that time period.

(d) The City may only refuse to grant consent to the execution of the proposed
Contract for Sale if, in the reasonable opinion of the City, the proposed
Contract for Sale does not satisfy the requirements of clause 6.1 of Schedule
3, or does not otherwise comply with the requirements of this document,
including the Affordable Housing Requirements.

(e) If the City refuses consent to execute a proposed Contract for Sale under
this clause, it must promptly within the time period specified in clause 6.3(c)
of Schedule 3 notify the Developer of its reasons.

(f) Upon receipt by the Developer of any notice referred to in clause 6.3(e) of
Schedule 3, the Developer may amend the proposed Contract for Sale taking
the City’s reasons into account, and re-submit the amended proposed
Contract for Sale to the City’s Representative for consent pursuant to clause
6.3(a) of Schedule 3.

(g) The Developer must not execute any Contract for Sale that has been
amended in any material way after the City has consented to it under clause
6.3(c) of Schedule 3, but may re-submit the amended proposed Contract for
Sale to the City’s Representative for consent pursuant to clause 6.3(a) of
Schedule 3.

6.4 Termination of the Contract of Sale

If, for any reason, the Contract of Sale entered into by the Developer under clause
6.1(a) is terminated, the Developer must notify the City within 5 Business Days of
the Contract of Sale being terminated and must enter into a new Contract of Sale
on the same terms with another Community Housing Provider within a further 2
months. If the Developer has not entered into a Contract for Sale with another
Community Housing Provider within a further 2 months, the Developer must enter
into a Contract for Sale on the same terms with the City.

7. TRANSFER LAND

7.1 Dedication of land – decision

(a) The Developer must, at its cost, take all steps required to:

137



46

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(i) transfer or dedicate the Footpath Land to the City;

(ii) transfer the Affordable Housing Units and Car Park Lots to a
Community Housing Provider pursuant to a Contract for Sale;

by the applicable due date for that part of the Transfer Land specified in
clause 1 of Schedule 3.  As part of this obligation, the Developer must
confirm with the City whether the Footpath Land is to be:

(iii) dedicated to the City on registration of a plan of subdivision; or

(iv) transferred to the City on registration of a transfer instrument.

7.2 Obligations on dedication

The requirement for the Developer to dedicate the Footpath Land to the City is
satisfied where a deposited plan is registered in the register of plans held with the
Registrar-General that dedicates land as a public road (including a temporary
public road) under the Roads Act 1993 (NSW) or creates a public reserve or
drainage reserve under the Local Government Act 1993 (NSW).

7.3 Obligations on transfer

(a) The requirement for the Developer to transfer the Affordable Housing Units
and Car Park Lots to a Community Housing Provider is satisfied where
evidence is provided by the Developer to the reasonable satisfaction of the
City that the Community Housing Provider is the registered proprietor of the
Affordable Housing Units and Car Park Lots.

(b) The Developer must ensure that the Transfer Land is, at the date that the
Transfer Land is transferred to a Community Housing Provider or dedicated
to the City, free of all encumbrances and affectations (whether registered or
unregistered and including any charge or liability for rates, taxes and
charges) except for any encumbrances required by this document or agreed
in writing by the City, acting reasonably.

(c) The Developer must indemnify and agree to keep indemnified the City
against any loss, damage, cost, expense, claim, proceedings, orders or
requirements or liabilities suffered or incurred by the City in respect of or
in connection with any Contamination in, over, under or migrating from the
whole or any part of the Transfer Land but, in respect of the Footpath Land,
only in relation to Contamination that existed on or before the date that the
Footpath Land is dedicated to the City in accordance with the requirements
of this clause.

(d) The Developer warrants that as at the date of this document the Transfer
Land is not subject to any Adverse Affectation and warrants as to those
matters in Schedule 3 of the Conveyancing (Sale of Land) Regulation 2010
(NSW), unless otherwise notified to and agreed by the City in writing in its
absolute discretion.

138



47

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

8. AFFORDABLE HOUSING REQUIREMENTS

8.1 Subject to clause 8.2, the Affordable Housing Units must have an aggregate floor
space greater than or equal to the sum of the Affordable Housing Floor Space.

8.2 Where the Affordable Housing Floor Space cannot be accommodated within whole
Affordable Housing Units, the Developer may elect to either:

(a) pay the balance of the Contribution Value as an Affordable Housing Monetary
Contribution in accordance with item E at the table in clause 1 of Schedule
3; or

(b) provide an additional unit for Affordable Housing.

8.3 Unless otherwise agreed in writing between the Developer and the Community
Housing Provider who has executed the Contract for Sale, the Developer must
ensure that the Affordable Housing on the Land satisfies the following
requirements:

(a) between 30% to 50% of the total floor space of the Affordable Housing must
comprise one-bedroom dwellings;

(b) between 30% to 50% of the total floor space of the Affordable Housing must
comprise two-bedroom dwellings;

(c) between 10% to 30% of the total floor space of the Affordable Housing must
comprise three-bedroom dwellings;

(d) each dwelling of Affordable Housing must be designed and constructed to a
standard which, in the opinion of the City:

(i) is of a quality and standard of design that is consistent with other
dwellings in the Development; and

(ii) ensures that the dwelling cannot be outwardly differentiated from the
other dwellings within the Development;

(e) living rooms and private open spaces in at least 70% of the Affordable
Housing dwellings must receive a minimum of 2 hours direct sunlight
between 9 am and 3 pm each day;

(f) at least 85% of the Affordable Housing dwellings must receive some direct
sunlight between 9 am and 3 pm at mid-winter;

(g) at least 60% of Affordable Housing dwellings must be naturally cross
ventilated;

(h) at least 15% of Affordable Housing dwellings must be adaptable.

139



48

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

9. FINAL DESIGN OF THE FOOTPATH WORKS

9.1 Scope of Footpath Works

As at the date of this document, the nature and extent of the Footpath Works is
set out in Annexure A to this document.  The parties agree that further design
refinement of the Footpath Works may be necessary, having regard to:

(a) the extent to which the design of the Footpath Works has been approved by
the City;

(b) conditions affecting the Footpath Works that were not reasonably capable of
identification prior to the date of this document;

(c) the extent of any refinement of the design of the Footpath Works permitted
by this clause 9 of Schedule 3;

(d) any modification to the Development Consent made and approved under
section 96 of the Act or any other development consent granted that relates
to the Footpath Works; and

(e) the reasonable requirements of the City, including in regard to the
Standards.

9.2 Final design of Footpath Works

(a) Prior to lodging any Development Application with a consent authority under
the Act, the Developer must submit to the City’s Representative for
approval:

(i) detailed design drawings of the Footpath Works that reflect the plans
and specifications set out in Annexure A to this document; and

(ii) a detailed costs estimate (certified by a Quantity Surveyor) setting
out the estimated cost of the Footpath Works.

(b) Within 30 Business Days after the City’s Representative has received the
detailed design drawings and detailed costs estimate, the City will inform
the Developer in writing as to whether the detailed design drawings and
costs estimate are approved.  If the detailed design drawings or costs
estimate are not approved, the City will inform the Developer in writing of
what further information or modifications are required and the Developer
will have a further 15 Business Days to re-submit the required information,
following which the process outlined in this paragraph (b) will apply again.

(c) Regarding the costs estimate, the Developer agrees that the City may:

(i) reject items included within the Quantity Surveyor’s Assessment
which are not directly related to the Footpath Works;

(ii) require substantiation for the costs of items where the amount
estimated is considered by the City to be excessive;

140



49

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(iii) require an adjustment to the costs estimate to reflect a variation to
the design required under this clause 9.2 of Schedule 3.

(d) If the Developer:

(i) fails to prepare the detailed design drawings or detailed costs
estimate; or

(ii) does not provide further information or modify the detailed design
drawings or detailed costs estimate,

in accordance with this clause 9.2 of Schedule 3, then the City may exercise
its rights under clause 12 of this document in order to carry out the Footpath
Works itself at the cost of the Developer.

(e) The Developer agrees that the value of the Footpath Works may be adjusted
following completion of the process set out in this clause 9.2 of Schedule 3.
The Developer acknowledges that the scope of the Footpath Works will not
change or reduce if the costs required to complete those works is greater
than the amount estimated at the date of this document.

9.3 Preparation of and changes to construction design drawings

(a) Following approval of the detailed design drawings by the City in accordance
with clause 9.2 of Schedule 3, the Developer must promptly:

(i) prepare construction design drawings that comply with the detailed
design drawings; and

(ii) provide the City with a copy of the construction design drawings.

(b) The City, acting reasonably, may by written notice to the Developer at any
time, approve, vary or direct the Developer to vary the construction design
drawings so that the Footpath Works reflect:

(i) the Standards;

(ii) a departure or discrepancy from the plans approved under clause 9.2
of Schedule 3; or

(iii) any other standard or specification for materials or methodology for
carrying out works that is adopted by the City from time to time,
provided that any direction given under this clause 9.3(b)(iii) of
Schedule 3 does not significantly increase:

(A) the cost the Footpath Works; or

(B) the complexity of implementation of the Footpath Works that
may lead to a significant delay in the completion of the Footpath
Works.

(c) Within 20 Business Days of receiving a notice from the City under clause
9.3(b) of Schedule 3, the Developer must:

141



50

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(i) to the extent practicable, use reasonable endeavours to comply with
the notice given by the City; or

(ii) if the Developer determines that the notice given by the City is
unreasonable or impracticable, notify a dispute in accordance with
clause 13 of this document.

If the Developer does not provide any response during the 20 Business Days
after receiving a notice from the City under clause 9.3(b) of Schedule 3, it
is deemed that the Developer accepts the notice given by the City and will
take all steps required to comply with the notice.

(d) The City does not assume or owe any duty of care to the Developer in
reviewing any design drawings submitted to it under this clause 9.3(d) of
Schedule 3 or for any errors, omissions or non-compliance with this
document.

(e) No participation by the City in the development of, the review of, or
comments on any design drawings submitted by the Developer will lessen
or otherwise affect the Developer’s obligations under this document or
constitute an acknowledgement by the City that the Developer has complied
with its obligations under this document.

10. CONSTRUCTION OF FOOTPATH WORKS

10.1 Insurance

(a) From commencement of the Footpath Works until expiration of the Defects
Liability Period, the Developer must effect and maintain (or cause to be
effected and maintained under one or more policies of insurance and without
requiring any risk to be double insured) the following insurances held with
an insurer licensed by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority or
holding an investment grade rating from Standard & Poors, Moody’s or Fitch:

(i) worker's compensation insurance or registrations as required by
Laws;

(ii) public liability insurance written on an occurrence basis with a limit of
indemnity of not less than $20,000,000 covering all aspects of the
Footpath Works;

(iii) construction works insurance in relation to the Footpath Works; and

(iv) motor vehicle third party cover with a limit of indemnity of not less
than $20 million for each and every occurrence.

(b) The Developer must submit a copy of all certificates of insurance to the City:

(i) prior to commencing construction of the Footpath Works; and

(ii) promptly following a written request by the City, provided that such a
request is not made more than twice in any 12 month period.

142



51

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

10.2 Approvals and consents

The Developer must, at its cost, obtain all relevant approvals and consents for the
Footpath Works, whether from the City or from any other relevant Government
Agency, including any necessary road opening permits.  Before commencing the
Footpath Works, the Developer must give to the City copies of all approvals and
consents for the Footpath Works, other than the Development Consent.

10.3 Construction work

The Developer must, at its cost:

(a) carry out and Complete the Footpath Works in accordance with all approvals
and consents relating to the Footpath Works, including any approval given
by the City under this document;

(b) carry out and Complete the Footpath Works in accordance with the
construction design drawings approved by the City under clause 9.3 of
Schedule 3;

(c) ensure that all Footpath Works are constructed in a good and workmanlike
manner, in accordance with the plans approved under this document so that
the Footpath Works are structurally sound, fit for purpose and suitable for
their intended use;

(d) ensure that each part of the Footpath Works are Complete by the due date
specified for that part in clause 1 of Schedule 3 and promptly after becoming
aware advise the City’s Representative of any significant delays in
Completing the Footpath Works or delays that may impact the delivery of
the Public Benefits by the due dates specified in clause 1 of Schedule 3; and

(e) comply with all reasonable directions of the City in respect to construction
of the Footpath Works.

10.4 Inspections by the City

The City, as a party to this document and not in its role as a Government Agency,
may:

(a) inspect the Footpath Works during the course of construction at reasonable
times and on reasonable notice; and

(b) notify the Developer’s Representative of any material or significant defect,
error or omission relating to the construction or installation of the Footpath
Works identified during or as the result of an inspection.

Any failure by the City to identify a Defect, error or omission will not be construed
as amounting to an acceptance by the City of the Defect, error or omission.

11. STANDARDS

General

143



52

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

The following list of Standards are included for information purposes only, and as
a guide to the relevant standards for the general nature of the work identified as
Footpath Works in this document.  The City makes no representation or warranty
as to the currency of the standards identified, or their application on the final
design of the Footpath Works.  The Developer must make its own enquiries
regarding whether any standard has been replaced or supplemented.

Conflict

In the event that an Australian Standard prescribes a different level of material,
finish, work or workmanship than those contained in a City Standard, then the
higher of the two Standards will apply.  If there is a conflict between Standards
then the Developer must request the City nominate the correct and applicable
Standard.  The City’s decision as to the applicable standard is final.

Relevant Australian Standards – Verge Works, Through site links

 AS  1725 Geotechnical Site investigations

 AS 4455 Masonry Units and segmental pavers

 AS 4678 Earth Retaining Structures

 AS 3600 Concrete Structures

 AS 2876 Concrete kerbs and channels

 AS 1158 Road Lighting

 AS 1743 Road signs

 AS 4282 Control of the Obtrusive Effects of Outdoor lighting

 AS 1428  Design for Access and Mobility

 AS 3500 Plumbing and Drainage

 AS 3700 Masonry Structures

 AS 2890 Parking Facilities

 AS 1428 Design for Access and Mobility

 As 4454 Composts, soil conditioners and mulches

Relevant Australian Standards – Roads (including pedestrian areas)

 AS  1725 Geotechnical Site investigations

 AS 4455 Masonry Units and segmental pavers

 AS 4678 Earth Retaining Structures

 AS 3600 Concrete Structures

 AS 2876 Concrete kerbs and channels

144



53

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

 AS 1158 Road Lighting

 AS 4282 Control of the Obtrusive Effects of Outdoor lighting

 AS 1428  Design for Access and Mobility

 AS 3500 Plumbing and Drainage

 AS 3700 Masonry Structures

 AS 2890 Parking Facilities

 AS 1428 Design for Access and Mobility

 AS 1742 Manual of uniform traffic control devices

 AS 1743 Road Signs

City Standards (All Works)

 City of Sydney Contaminated Lands DCP 2004

 Sydney Street Code 2013

 Sydney Lights Code 2013

 City of Sydney Access Policy

 Sydney Street Technical Specification and Drawings

 City of Sydney Street Tree Master Plan 2011

 Stormwater Drainage Strategy for mid block (prepared by Webb McKeown
consulting engineers)

145



54

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

EXECUTED as a deed.

Signed, sealed and delivered for
THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
SYDNEY (ABN 22 636 550 790) by
its duly authorised officer, in the
presence of:

Signature of witness Signature of officer

Name

456 Kent Street, Sydney NSW 2000

Name of officer

Address of witness Position of officer

EXECUTED by Kubis Rosebery Pty
Ltd ABN 23 130 500 060 in
accordance with s127(1) of the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth):

Signature of director Signature of director/secretary

Name Name

146



55

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

ANNEXURE A

Public Benefits – additional plans and specifications

Footpath Works

Construction of a 1.25m footpath including but not limited to:

- demolition and excavation;

- remediation to a minimum depth of 1.5m below finished ground level to a standard that
is fit for purposes and in accordance with an approved Remediation Action Plan;

- supply and installation of an 1.25m width in situ concrete footpath; and

- installation and adjustment of any services as required to service the Development.

147



M
O
R
LE

Y
AV

EN
U
E

JONESLANE

DUNNINGAVENUE

1:
40

0

1
D

at
e

Re
vi

sio
n

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n 

Re
fe

re
nc

e
00

/0
0/

00
A

-
00

00
/0

0/
00

B
-

00
00

/0
0/

00
C

-
00

00
/0

0/
00

D
-

00

PL
A

N
 O

F 
PR

O
PO

SE
D

 R
O

A
D

 W
ID

EN
IN

G
 O

F 
JO

N
ES

 L
A

N
E

A
T 

N
o.

10
2-

10
8 

D
UN

N
IN

G
 A

V
EN

UE
,

BE
IN

G
 L

O
T 

50
 D

P1
17

13
07

 R
O

SE
BE

RR
Y

TH
IS

 IS
 T

HE
 P

LA
N

 R
EF

ER
RE

D
 T

O
IN

 M
Y 

LE
TT

ER
 D

A
TE

D
:

Re
gi

st
er

ed
 S

ur
ve

yo
r N

SW

D
ra

w
in

g 
tit

le

C
lie

nt
KU

BI
S 

RO
SE

BE
RR

Y 
PT

Y 
LT

D
43

72
7 

PS
UB

SH
EE

T 

sit
e 

A
re

a
49

45
m

²

d
at

um
A

HD
d

at
e 

of
 su

rv
ey

19
/0

2/
18

sc
al

e
@

A
3

LG
A

SY
D

N
EY

O
F 

   
  1

 

-

148



56

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

ANNEXURE B VALUATION REPORT AND WORKSHEET

VALUATION REPORT

In completing the Valuation Report, the Suitably Qualified Valuer must:

(a) in determining the market values, assume that each residential and car
parking lot within the Development:

(i) is free of all encumbrances;

(ii) may be used for general residential purposes and is not restricted to
an Affordable Housing use;

(iii) is or can be fully serviced to its boundary;

(iv) is an individual lot suitable in size, but no larger than the size
necessary, for the permissible uses as contemplated by the approvals
applying to it;

(v) has appropriate public road frontage and access; and

(vi) is capable of being developed for its intended use as contemplated
under the approvals applying to it without reliance on the
implementation of any additional public infrastructure external to the
site;

(b) in determining the market value rate, comply with the applicable Practice
Standards and Guidance Notes for such valuations as published from time
to time by the Australian Property Institute (NSW Division), except where
such standards and guidelines conflict with this clause in which case this
clause prevails;

(c) include as an annexure to the report a copy of the instructions received and
a list of other documents relied upon;

(d) identify:

(i) the subject land being valued;

(ii) the date of inspection and valuation;

(iii) the registered proprietor;

(iv) the legal description of the subject land;

(v) the services and amenities;

(vi) location description, including any external factors that influence the
desirability of development on the Land to residential purchasers,
either positively or negatively; and

(vii) zoning and town planning considerations that apply to the Land
including a description of the Development, if approved;

149



57

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(e) include:

(i) a detailed explanation of the valuation methodologies adopted
including all calculations and workings; and

(ii) details of relevant comparable sales and rental evidence appropriately
analysed to support the valuation and a detailed explanation of the
relativity of comparable sales.

150



58

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

WORKSHEET

The figures in this worksheet are indicative only, and have been used to show how the
calculations are made.

Total Benefit Allocation

Planning Gain x 0.5

Example:

($8,000,000 x 0.5) = $4,000,000

Contribution Value

(BA + (0.5 x AFSV)) – (VFW + VCPL))

Where:

BA is the Benefit Allocation

AFSV is the Additional DA Floor Space Value

VFW is the Attributed Value of the Footpath Works

VCPL is the Attributed Value of the Car Park Lots

Example:

($4,000,000 + (0.5 x $1,131,428)) – ($30,000 + $200,000) = $4,335,714

term value explanation

Benefit Allocation $4,000,000 Planning Gain x 0.5

Additional DA
Floor Space Value

$1,131,428 Additional Floor Space Rate (R2) x Additional DA
Floor Space

= $2,828.57 x 400

Additional Floor
Space Rate (R2)

$2,828.57 This is the current rate.

Additional DA
Floor Space

400 square metres

Attributed Value
of Footpath Works

$30,000

Attributed Value
of the Car Park
Lots

$200,000 Attributed Value of the Car Park Lot x number of
car park lots required for affordable housing
component

= $50,000 x 4

151



59

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

Affordable Housing Floor Space

Contribution Value / Agreed Market Value Rate

Example:

($4,335,714 / $14,000) = 309.69 sqm

term value explanation

Contribution Value $4,335,714 (BA + (0.5 x AFSV)) – (VFW + VCPL))

Agreed Market
Value Rate

$14,000

152



60

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

ANNEXURE C

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

Special Conditions to the following effect must be included in the Contract for Sale.

1. DEFECT LIABILITY

(a) For the purposes of this Condition:

(i) “Defects Liability Period” is a period of 12 months from the date of
completion of the Contract for Sale, as may be extended under sub
clause 1(f); and

(ii) “Bank Guarantee” is an unconditional undertaking by an authorised
deposit taking institution under the Banking Act 1959 (Cth), on terms
and in a form acceptable to the Community Housing Provider, to pay
on demand the Bank Guarantee Amount; and

(iii) “Bank Guarantee Amount” means 10% of the total of the Attributed
Market Value Rate for the Affordable Housing Units and the Attributed
Value of the Car Park Lots.

(b) Upon completion of the Contract for Sale, the Developer must provide the
Community Housing Provider with the Bank Guarantee. The obligation of the
Developer under this clause is an essential term.

(c) If the Community Housing Provider notifies the Developer of a Defect in the
Affordable Housing Units or Car Park Lots during the Defects Liability Period,
then, following written notice from the Community Housing Provider, the
Developer must promptly correct or replace (at the Developer’s expense)
the defective elements of the Affordable Housing Units or Car Park Lots.

(d) If the Developer is unable or unwilling to comply with sub clause 1(c) or fails
to rectify the Defect within three months of receiving notice from the
Community Housing Provider then the Community Housing Provider may:

(i) rectify the Defect itself;

(ii) make a claim on the Guarantee without notice to the Developer; and

(iii) recover the reasonable costs from the Developer as a debt due and
owing to the Community Housing Provider.

(e) If the Community Housing Provider calls upon the Bank Guarantee in
accordance with sub clause 1(d), then the Developer must immediately
provide to the Community Housing Provider a replacement Bank Guarantee
to ensure that the Community Housing Provider is in possession of a Bank
Guarantee for a face value equivalent to the Bank Guarantee Amount.

(f) The Developer is not entitled to, and must not seek, an injunction against
either the Community Housing Provider or the issuer of the Guarantee (if
applicable) preventing a demand or payment under the Guarantee (whether

153



61

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

the demand extends to the whole of the Guarantee or part thereof) or the
use to which the proceeds of such a demand can be put.

(g) The Community Housing Provider must give the Developer and its
contractors access to the Affordable Housing Units or Car Park Lots at the
agreed time to enable the Developer to rectify the Defect, but the Developer
must, and must ensure that its contractors, comply with the reasonable
requirements of the Community House Provider.

(h) Where rectification works is undertaken in respect of a Defect, the Defects
Liability Period in respect of the rectification work in relation to that Defect
will be extended for a period of 12 months, commencing on the date the
rectification work is complete.

2. LIMITS TO DESIGN CHANGES

The Developer must not amend, change or otherwise alter the location of the
Affordable Housing Units, or the design, finishes or fittings agreed between the
Developer and the Community Housing Provider at the date of entering this
Contract for Sale, except with the written consent of the Community Housing
Provider.

154



62

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

ANNEXURE D

DRAFT NOVATION DEED

155



63

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

Novation Deed

Kubis Rosebery Pty Ltd
ABN 23 130 500 060
and

[#]
and

The Council of the City of Sydney

156



64

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

THIS NOVATION DEED is made on

PARTIES:

(1) Kubis Rosebery Pty Ltd ABN 23 130 500 060 of [#] (Outgoing Party); and

(2) [#] of [#] (New Party).

(3) The Council of the City of Sydney of Town Hall House, 456 Kent Street, Sydney
NSW 2000

BACKGROUND

(A) The Outgoing Party and the Continuing Party are parties to the Agreement.

(B) The Outgoing Party and the New Party are parties to the Deed of consent.

(C) The parties have agreed that the New Party will replace the Outgoing Party under
the Agreement from the Effective Date.

The parties agree:

1. DEFINITIONS

1.1 In this Deed:

Agreement means the planning agreement between the Outgoing Party and the
Continuing Party dated [#].

Business Day means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in
Sydney.

Claim means any action, claim, demand or proceeding.

Effective Date means [#].

Loss includes any damage, liability, loss, charge, cost (including professional costs
and legal costs on a solicitor-client basis), expense, fine or penalty (where
permitted by law), whether direct, indirect, consequential (including pure
economic loss), present or future, ascertained or unascertained, actual,
prospective or contingent and whether arising from breach of contract, in tort
(including negligence), in restitution, under statute or otherwise at law.

1.2 Capitalised terms used but not defined in this Deed have the meanings given in
the Agreement.

2. NOVATION

2.1 From the Effective Date:

(a) the New Party is a party to the Agreement instead of the Outgoing Party;

157



65

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(b) all references to the Outgoing Party in the Agreement are references to the
New Party;

(c) the New Party:

(i) enjoys all of the rights and benefits of the Outgoing Party under the
Agreement;

(ii) is bound by the terms of the Agreement as if the New Party had
originally been a party to the Agreement; and

(iii) must perform all obligations of the Outgoing Party under the
Agreement which are to be performed after the Effective Date; and

(d) the Continuing Party is bound by the Agreement as if the New Party had
originally been a party to the Agreement.

3. RELEASES

3.1 From the Effective Date:

(a) the Continuing Party releases and discharges the Outgoing Party from the
further performance of the Agreement; and

(b) the Outgoing Party releases and discharges the Continuing Party from all
future Claims in connection with the Agreement,

except where clauses 4 and 5 provide differently.

4. PRE-EXISTING CLAIMS

4.1 Nothing in this Deed affects or prejudices any rights or liabilities which:

(a) the Outgoing Party may have against the Continuing Party in connection
with matters arising before the Effective Date; or

(b) the Continuing Party may have against the Outgoing Party in connection
with matters arising before the Effective Date.

5. INDEMNITIES

5.1 The Outgoing Party must pay to the New Party on demand the amount of all Loss
of the New Party in connection with any act or omission of the Outgoing Party
which gives rise to or contributes to any:

(a) breach of the Agreement; or

(b) Claim in connection with the subject-matter of the Agreement.

5.2 The New Party must pay to the Outgoing Party on demand the amount of all Loss
of the Outgoing Party in connection with any act or omission of the New Party
which gives rise to or contributes to any:

(a) breach of the Agreement; or

158



66

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(b) Claim in connection with the subject-matter of the Agreement.

6. AGREEMENT CONFIRMED

6.1 The Agreement is confirmed and remains in full force and effect except as amended
by this Deed.

6.2 If there is an inconsistency between this Deed and the Agreement, the provisions
of this Deed prevail to the extent of that inconsistency.

7. NOTICES

7.1 Delivery of notice

(a) A notice or other communication required or permitted to be given to a party
under this Deed must be in writing and may be delivered:

(i) personally to the party;

(ii) by leaving it at the party's address;

(iii) by posting it by regular prepaid post, priority prepaid post, registered
post, priority registered post or express post addressed to the party
at the party's address;

(iv) by facsimile to the party's facsimile number; or

(v) by electronic mail to the party's email address,

in each case, as specified in the notice details of that party.

(b) If the person to be served is a company, the notice or other communication
may be served on it at the company's registered office.

7.2 Particulars for delivery

(a) The notice details of each party are set out on page 1 of this Deed under the
heading 'Parties' (or as notified by a party to the other parties in accordance
with this clause).

(b) Any party may change its notice details by giving notice to the other parties.

7.3 Time of service

A notice or other communication is deemed delivered:

(a) if delivered personally or left at the person's address, upon delivery;

(b) if posted within Australia to an Australian address:

(i) using regular prepaid post or registered post, 6 Business Days after
posting;

(ii) using priority prepaid post or priority registered post, 4 Business Days
after posting; and

159



67

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(iii) using express post, 2 Business Days after posting;

(c) if posted from a place to an address in a different country, 10 Business Days
after posting;

(d) if delivered by facsimile, subject to clause 7.3(f), at the time indicated on
the transmission report produced by the sender's facsimile machine
indicating that the facsimile was sent in its entirety to the recipient's
facsimile;

(e) if delivered by electronic mail, subject to clause 7.3(f), at the time the email
containing the notice left the sender's email system, unless the sender
receives notification that the email containing the notice was not received
by the recipient; and

(f) if received after 5.00pm in the place it is received, or on a day which is not
a business day in the place it is received, at 9.00am on the next business
day.

8. GOVERNING LAW

This Deed is governed by the law applying in New South Wales and the parties
submit to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of that state or territory.

9. INTERPRETATION

9.1 General

In this Deed, unless expressed to the contrary:

(a) words denoting the singular include the plural and vice versa;

(b) the word 'includes' in any form is not a word of limitation;

(c) where a word or phrase is defined, another part of speech or grammatical
form of that word or phrase has a corresponding meaning;

(d) headings and sub-headings are for ease of reference only and do not affect
the interpretation of this Deed; and

(e) no rule of construction applies to the disadvantage of the party preparing
this Deed on the basis that it prepared or put forward this Deed or any part
of it.

9.2 Specific references

In this Deed, unless expressed to the contrary, a reference to:

(a) a gender includes all other genders;

(b) any legislation (including subordinate legislation) is to that legislation as
amended, re-enacted or replaced and includes any subordinate legislation
issued under it;

160



68

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

(c) any document (such as a deed, agreement or other document) is to that
document (or, if required by the context, to a part of it) as amended,
novated, substituted or supplemented at any time;

(d) writing includes writing in digital form;

(e) 'this Deed' is to this Deed as amended from time to time;

(f) 'A$', '$', 'AUD" or 'dollars' is a reference to Australian dollars;

(g) a clause, schedule or attachment is a reference to a clause, schedule or
attachment in or to this Deed;

(h) any property or assets of a person includes the legal and beneficial interest
of that person of those assets or property, whether as owner, lessee or
lessor, licensee or licensor, trustee or beneficiary or otherwise;

(i) a person includes a firm, partnership, joint venture, association, corporation
or other body corporate;

(j) a person includes the legal personal representatives, successors and
permitted assigns of that person, and in the case of a trustee, includes any
substituted or additional trustee; and

(k) any body (Original Body) which no longer exists or has been reconstituted,
renamed, replaced or whose powers or functions have been removed or
transferred to another body or agency, is a reference to the body which most
closely serves the purposes or objects of the Original Body.

10. GENERAL

10.1 Variation

This Deed may only be varied by a document executed by the parties.

10.2 Counterparts

This Deed may be executed in counterparts, all of which taken together constitute
one document.

10.3 Liability

An obligation of any 2 parties binds them jointly and severally.

10.4 Severability

(a) Any provision of this Deed that is held to be illegal, invalid, void, voidable or
unenforceable must be read down to the extent necessary to ensure that it
is not illegal, invalid, void, voidable or unenforceable.

(b) If it is not possible to read down a provision as required by this clause, part
or all of the clause of this Deed that is unlawful or unenforceable will be
severed from this Deed and the remaining provisions continue in force.

161



69

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

10.5 Waiver

The failure of a party at any time to insist on performance of any provision of this
Deed is not a waiver of their right at any later time to insist on performance of
that or any other provision of this Deed.

10.6 Further assistance

Each party must promptly execute and deliver all documents and take all other
action necessary or desirable to effect, perfect or complete the transactions
contemplated by this Deed.

10.7 Survival and enforcement of indemnities

(a) Each indemnity in this Deed is a continuing obligation, separate and
independent from the other obligations of the parties and survives
termination of this Deed.

(b) It is not necessary for a party to incur expense or make payment before
enforcing a right of indemnity conferred by this Deed.

10.8 No merger

The warranties, undertakings, agreements and continuing obligations in this Deed
do not merge on completion.

10.9 Business Day

If a payment or other act is required by this Deed to be made or done on a day
which is not a Business Day, the payment or act must be made or done on the
next following Business Day.

10.10 No fetter

Nothing in this Deed in any way restricts or otherwise affects the Continuing Party’s
unfettered discretion to exercise its statutory powers as a public authority.

162



70

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

Signing Page

Executed by the parties as a deed:

Executed by Kubis Rosebery Pty Ltd ABN 23
130 500 060 in accordance with s 127(1) of the
Corporations Act 2001:

)

)

)

)

........................................................... .............................................................

Signature of Director Signature of Director (or Company
Secretary)

........................................................... .............................................................

Print full name Print full name

Executed by *** in accordance with s 127(1)
of the Corporations Act 2001:

)

)

)

)

........................................................... .............................................................

Signature of Director Signature of Director (or Company
Secretary)

........................................................... .............................................................

Print full name Print full name

163



71

[6927383: 20884792_2]31100243.1    CAR CAR

Signed, sealed and delivered for
THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
SYDNEY (ABN 22 636 550 790) by
its duly authorised officer, in the
presence of:

Signature of witness Signature of officer

Name

456 Kent Street, Sydney NSW 2000

Name of officer

Address of witness Position of officer

164



Attachment D 

Resolution of Council of 27 February 2017 

and 

Resolution of the Central Sydney Planning 

Committee of 23 February 2017 

 

165



Resolution of CouncilResolution of Council

27 FEBRUARY 2017 

ITEM 9.4 

PUBLIC EXHIBITION – 102–106 DUNNING AVENUE, ROSEBERY – PLANNING 
PROPOSAL, DRAFT DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PLAN AND PLANNING 
AGREEMENT 

(S114603) 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council approve Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery, 
shown at Attachment A to the subject report, for submission to the Greater 
Sydney Commission with a request for a Gateway Determination; 

(B) Council approve Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery for 
public authority consultation and public exhibition in accordance with any 
conditions imposed under the Gateway Determination; 

(C) Council seek authority from the Greater Sydney Commission to exercise its 
delegation under section 59 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 
1979 to make the amending local environmental plan; 

(D) Council approve Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012: 102–106 
Dunning Avenue, Rosebery amendment, shown at Attachment B to the subject 
report, for public exhibition with the Planning Proposal and in accordance with 
the Gateway Determination; 

(E) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to prepare a draft Planning 
Agreement between the City and the landowner in accordance with the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 with the following terms:  

(i) finished affordable housing dwellings are to be provided on site in 
accordance with the Guideline to Preparing Site Specific Planning 
Proposal Requests in the City of Sydney Employment Lands under either: 

166



2 

(a) Option 1 (minimum option) – where the amount of affordable housing 
floor space is calculated based on the amount of gross floor area built 
on the site and the agreed market value of the affordable housing 
floor space. The affordable housing floor space is to be built by the 
landowner and dedicated or sold to a Tier 1 or Tier 2 community 
housing provider for no more than $1; or 

(b) Option 2 (alternative option) – where affordable housing floor space 
is provided in addition to that required under Option 1. The landowner 
can sell the affordable housing floor space to a community housing 
provider for a capped amount. The capped sale amount is based on 
recouping the forgone value of the additional floor space on offer for 
affordable housing, plus an incentive amount, to be agreed between 
the City and the landowner; 

(ii) dedication to Council of a 1.25 metre deep frontage to Jones Lane 
(approximately 50 square metres of land) for a footpath, with the value of 
the land and any associated works-in-kind offset against the amount 
calculated under the Guideline; and 

(iii) carparking for affordable housing dwellings, number of spaces to be 
agreed between the City and the landowner; 

(F) Council note the estimated number of affordable housing dwellings resulting from 
Option 1, described at clause (E)(i)(a) above, is approximately eight dwellings, 
depending on the amount of total gross floor area built on the site, the market 
value of the resulting dwellings and the size of the affordable housing; 

(G) the draft Planning Agreement be exhibited in conjunction with Planning Proposal: 
102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery and Draft Sydney Development Control 
Plan 2012: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery amendment; 

(H) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor 
variations to the Planning Agreement after its exhibition and to subsequently 
enter into the Agreement, on behalf of Council, with the landowner; 

(I) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make minor changes, 
and any changes required by the Greater Sydney Commission to Planning 
Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery and Draft Sydney Development 
Control Plan 2012: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery amendment prior to the 
public exhibition; 

(J) Council note that, following consideration of any submissions, and any 
modifications as necessary, Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, 
Rosebery, Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012: 102–106 Dunning 
Avenue, Rosebery amendment and the Planning Agreement will be reported 
back to Council for final approval; 

(K) Council approve the City of Sydney as the Relevant Planning Authority, should 
a review process be triggered under Part 3 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979, and in line with the recently released Planning Circular 
PS16-004 Independent reviews of plan making decisions; 

167



3 

(L) Council note the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 contains objectives 
and provisions which protect the operational viability of existing employment 
uses where residential development is introduced; and 

(M) Council note the City is investigating a City-wide response to address the needs 
of the entertainment industry whilst protecting the amenity of noise sensitive 
uses. 

Carried unanimously. 

 
 

168



Resolution of

Central Sydney Planning Committee

Resolution of

Central Sydney Planning Committee

23 FEBRUARY 2017 

ITEM 7 

PUBLIC EXHIBITION - 102–106 DUNNING AVENUE, ROSEBERY - PLANNING 
PROPOSAL, DRAFT DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PLAN AND PLANNING 
AGREEMENT 

(S114603) 

It is resolved that: 

(A) the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve Planning Proposal: 102–106 
Dunning Avenue, Rosebery, shown at Attachment A to the subject report, for 
submission to the Greater Sydney Commission with a request for a Gateway 
Determination; 

(B) the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve Planning Proposal: 102–106 
Dunning Avenue, Rosebery for public authority consultation and public exhibition 
in accordance with any conditions imposed under the Gateway Determination; 

(C) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the recommendation to Council’s 
Planning and Development Committee on 20 February 2017 that Council seek 
authority from the Greater Sydney Commission to exercise its delegation under 
section 59 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 to make the 
amending local environmental plan; 

(D) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the recommendation to Council’s 
Planning and Development Committee on 20 February 2017 that Council 
approve Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012: 102–106 Dunning 
Avenue, Rosebery amendment, shown at Attachment B to the subject report, for 
public exhibition with the Planning Proposal and in accordance with the Gateway 
Determination; 

(E) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the recommendation to Council’s 
Planning and Development Committee on 20 February 2017 that Council 
delegate authority to the Chief Executive Officer to prepare a draft Planning 
Agreement between the City and the landowner in accordance with the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 with the following terms:  

169



2 

(i) finished affordable housing dwellings are to be provided on site in 
accordance with the Guideline to Preparing Site Specific Planning 
Proposal Requests in the City of Sydney Employment Lands under either: 

(a) Option 1 (minimum option) – where the amount of affordable housing 
floor space is calculated based on the amount of gross floor area built 
on the site and the agreed market value of the affordable housing 
floor space. The affordable housing floor space is to be built by the 
landowner and dedicated or sold to a Tier 1 or Tier 2 community 
housing provider for no more than $1; or 

(b) Option 2 (alternative option) – where affordable housing floor space 
is provided in addition to that required under Option 1. The landowner 
can sell the affordable housing floor space to a community housing 
provider for a capped amount. The capped sale amount is based on 
recouping the forgone value of the additional floor space on offer for 
affordable housing, plus an incentive amount, to be agreed between 
the City and the landowner; 

(ii) dedication to Council of a 1.25 metre deep frontage to Jones Lane 
(approximately 50 square metres of land) for a footpath, with the value of 
the land and any associated works-in-kind offset against the amount 
calculated under the Guideline; and 

(iii) carparking for affordable housing dwellings, number of spaces to be 
agreed between the City and the landowner; 

(F) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the estimated number of affordable 
housing dwellings resulting from Option 1, described at clause (E)(i)(a) above, is 
approximately eight dwellings, depending on the amount of total gross floor area 
built on the site, the market value of the resulting dwellings and the size of the 
affordable housing; 

(G) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the draft Planning Agreement is to 
be exhibited in conjunction with Planning Proposal: 102–106 Dunning Avenue, 
Rosebery and Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012: 102–106 Dunning 
Avenue, Rosebery amendment; 

(H) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make minor changes and 
any changes required by the Greater Sydney Commission to Planning Proposal: 
102–106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery prior to the public exhibition; 

(I) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note that, following consideration of any 
submissions, and any modifications as necessary, Planning Proposal: 102–106 
Dunning Avenue, Rosebery will be reported back to the Central Sydney Planning 
Committee for final approval;  

(J) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the recommendation to Council’s 
Planning and Development Committee on 20 February 2017 that Council 
approve the City of Sydney as the Relevant Planning Authority, should a review 
process be triggered under Part 3 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979, and in line with the recently released Planning Circular 
PS16-004 Independent reviews of plan making decisions; 

170



3 

(K) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the Sydney Development Control 
Plan 2012 contains objectives and provisions which protect the operational 
viability of existing employment uses where residential development is 
introduced; and 

(L) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the City is investigating a City-wide 
response to address the needs of the entertainment industry whilst protecting 
the amenity of noise sensitive uses. 

Carried. 

 

 

 

 

 

171



Attachment E 

Gateway Determination and Gateway 

Determination Extension 

 

102-106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery

172



173



174



175



176



177



178



179



180



Attachment F 

Summary of matters raised in submissions 

 

102-106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery

181



 Summary of matter raised in submission Officer’s response 

Local residents’ submissions 

 31 individual submissions 

 One petition with 240 signatures (as at 11 April 2018) 

Traffic congestion 
(Issue raised in 17 submissions) 
 
Traffic in Rosebery has increased in recent 
years, with congestion forming at intersections 
with Botany Road and Epsom Road during peak 
times. 
 
The additional traffic generated by a 
development under this planning proposal 
would unacceptably add to this traffic 
congestion. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The transport review included in the planning 
proposal does not consider traffic generation 
rates for the non-residential component of the 
proposed development. 
 

 
 
 
A transport review prepared by Colston Budd 
Rogers & Kafes accompanied the planning 
proposal. The review examined the potential 
for traffic generation by a new development 
under this planning proposal. 
 
The review used RMS rates to predict traffic 
generation from a new development of 22 
vehicles in morning peak hours and 17 vehicles 
during afternoon peak hours. 
 
This is compared in the report to current traffic 
flows at the site, with observed traffic 
generation of 22 vehicles in morning peak 
hours and 6 vehicles in afternoon peak hours. 
 
A new development under this planning 
proposal is considered to have low traffic 
generation potential overall, and compared 
with existing traffic generation from the current 
development, a small net increase in afternoon 
peak hours only. 
 
The City recognises growing concern relating to 
traffic congestion and new developments 
within Rosebery and is adopting a holistic 
approach to the issue by commissioning a 
traffic and transport study in Rosebery. This 
study will establish the performance of the 
existing transport and traffic network in 
Rosebery and consider steps to manage future 
population growth, considering a number of 
different travel and demand scenarios to 
provide a robust assessment. 
 

 
It is acknowledged that the transport review 
that accompanied the planning proposal did 
not consider traffic generation from the 
commercial portion of the future development.  
 
A more detailed traffic assessment is required 
to be undertaken as part of any future 
development application for the site to 

182



determine the traffic implications of the 
proposal on the surrounding area. The City 
actively ensures that all proposals limit on-site 
car parking and include positive initiatives 
towards greater active and public transport 
use, including end of trip facilities and bicycle 
parking for both residential and commercial 
components on the site. 
 
Despite the omission of the future commercial 
component from the transport review, a future 
development under this planning proposal 
would see a reduction in freight movements 
from the streets of Rosebery due to the 
replacement of the existing logistic uses on the 
site with retail and/or commercial uses.  
 

Public transport congestion 
(Issue raised in 12 submissions) 
 
Buses and trains on routes through Rosebery 
have become unacceptably congested, as a 
result of recent population growth in Green 
Square, Mascot and Rosebery. 
 
Green Square Station has become overcrowded 
as a result of population growth in Green 
Square, and more development and population 
growth is planned. 
 
Public transport is struggling to cope with 
development and population growth in Mascot, 
Green Square, Rosebery and the surrounding 
area, and any development under this planning 
proposal would unacceptably add to congestion 
and degradation of public transport services. 
 

 
 
 
A transport review prepared by Colston Budd 
Rogers & Kafes accompanied the planning 
proposal. The review emphasised the site’s high 
accessibility to bus routes and the train 
network. 
 
It is noted that the report did not consider 
existing congestion of those public transport 
services, and the capacity for public transport 
networks to absorb additional capacity 
generated by development under this planning 
proposal.  
 
Rosebery is also located mid-way on a number 
of bus-routes which are often full or near 
capacity by the time they reach the area, 
resulting in commuters being unable to board 
buses at local stops and increased passenger 
travel times.   
 
Notwithstanding this, the site is well served by 
a wide range of public transport services, and 
the additional demand generated by 
development under this planning proposal will 
not be significant enough to affect bus or train 
service standards. 
 
The City acknowledges the growing problem of 
public transport congestion in Green Square 
and Rosebery, and is currently working closely 

183



with Transport for NSW to improve public 
transport in the area. 
 
Use of active transport by future residents and 
workers on this site will reduce demand on 
public transport. The transport review 
emphasises Dunning Avenue as a conducive 
environment for walking and cycling, reflecting 
the 40km/h speed limit and recent footpath 
improvements and is flagged for future upgrade 
works to become a separated cycleway – 
expanding the regional bike network.  
 
The City is aware of increasing public transport 
congestion in the Green Square Urban Renewal 
Area and is working with Transport for NSW on 
a Transport Action Plan (TAP). The TAP aims to 
identify improvements to increase capacity and 
relieve congestion of public transport services 
in the Green Square and Rosebery area in the 
near term (0-5 years). Recently, Transport for 
NSW announced that, due to upgrades to the 
Airport Line expected in 2020, Green Square 
station will receive up to eight additional 
services per hour. This is a significant increase 
in capacity and means trains will depart Green 
Square every four minutes. 
 
The TAP and the City's study will also explore 
how to expand and promote the use of active 
transport in the area. Recent footpath 
improvements and 40km/h speed limit along 
Dunning Avenue creates a welcoming 
environment for walking and cycling. The 
continued promotion of active transport will 
reduce demand for public transport from new 
residents and workers. 
 

184



Changing character of Rosebery 
(Issue raised in online petition and 10 
submissions) 
 
Development in Rosebery is changing the 
character of the area and that development 
under this planning proposal will further reduce 
amenity.  
 
Taking away the character of the area will turn 
the suburb into a potential slum. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Urban renewal has occurred in and around 
Green Square since the 1990s due to the shift 
away from industrial and manufacturing 
towards housing in close proximity to the 
Sydney CBD. Rosebery, while located out of the 
Green Square Urban Renewal area, has 
experienced significant gentrification with high 
demand for housing. It is also a popular 
destination for visitors attracted by the 
emerging foodie precinct. 
 
In the development of the City's Employment 
Lands Strategy, the potential of the 
investigation areas to accommodate a genuine 
mixed use area with some housing was 
recognised given their proximity to public 
transport, infrastructure and generally high 
level of amenity. The abovementioned 
Guideline provided a planning pathway to 
manage growth in the area. 
 
Rezoning in the 'investigation areas' is subject 
to a detailed site-by-site planning proposal 
process, which will balance residential 
development with protecting existing 
employment uses, whilst ensuring adequate 
infrastructure is provided. This approach allows 
for more controlled management of growth 
and change in Rosebery, including a nuanced 
assessment of the built form, its impact on the 
streetscape and the wider character of the 
suburb. 
 
The proposed built form arising from this 
planning proposal, discussed in more detail 
above, has been designed to minimise impact 
on the public domain and complement 
surrounding development.  
 
The draft DCP specifies that any future 
development on the site is designed to limit the 
overall mass and sense of scale from the public 
domain, achieved by a three metre landscaped 
setback along the northern frontage and an 
additional setback to the upper levels above 
the three storey podium. The taller building 
elements will therefore be setback a minimum 

185



 
 
 
 

 
Apartment development in remnant industrial 
areas of Rosebery undermines the historic 
structure of the area, and threatens the low 
density character of traditional residential areas 
in Rosebery. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Tall buildings will change the character of the 
street, from trees and greenery to a “concrete 
jungle”. 
 
The proposed scheme will result in "high rise" 
apartments in the area, which will decrease the 
value of nearby homes. 
 

of 4 metres from Dunning Avenue and a 
minimum of five metres from Morley Avenue 
and Jones Lane.  
 

 
The basic structure of Rosebery, with 
employment uses towards Botany Road and 
low density residential in the south-east, is not 
proposed to change. The low density Rosebery 
Estate area is not located in the 'investigation 
areas' and will not see a change in character as 
a result of this planning proposal, or indeed 
later planning proposals that may be 
considered in these areas. 
 
 

 
The proposed scheme includes significant 
landscaping and greenery, including a 3m 
landscaped setback to Morley Avenue, 6m 
deep soil at the rear of the site, 1,420sqm 
ground level communal landscaping, and up to 
2,800sqm of landscaping on the level 3 terrace 
and rooftops. 
 
This landscaping will contribute to the 
streetscape and leafy character of the area, and 
reduce the sense of height from street level 
and adjoining properties.  
 
The proposal is unlikely to have a negative 
impact on the value of housing in the area. 
 
 

Building heights 
(Issue raised in 10 submissions) 
 
The height is in excess of other buildings 
nearby, and will block morning sunlight and 
views to existing apartments. 
 
The proposed 29m maximum height limit will 
cause overshadowing, reduce breezeways, 
decrease natural light and change the 
landscape. 
 
 

 
 
 
The exhibited envelope locates the tallest 
building (29m) on Dunning Avenue, with 
smaller buildings towards Jones Lane and 
Botany Road. The exhibited scheme has been 
carefully designed to reduce height impacts on 
neighbouring residential properties. 
 
An urban design analysis of the proposed 
envelope shows no overshadowing or view loss 
to neighbouring residential buildings. The 
exhibited DCP constrains the maximum height 
to one building, with the other two buildings 
being less tall and the podium only three 
storeys. 

186



Loss of employment floorspace 
(Issue raised in 4 submissions) 
 
The planning proposal is within the Southern 
Employment Lands, and the proposal includes 
predominantly residential floor space. There 
will be a net loss of non-residential GFA 
compared to the current development on the 
site, and a further potential loss compared to 
developable potential under current planning 
controls. 
 
The planning proposal is contrary to the Eastern 
City District Plan, by reducing the amount of 
non-residential GFA on the site and hence the 
ability of the site to generate economic activity 
and jobs close to where people live. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The planning agreement includes a minimum 
10% non-residential GFA, which is not enough 
to achieve a genuine mix of employment uses, 
community uses and market and affordable 
housing, as outlined in the City of Sydney 
Employment Lands Strategy for the 
investigation areas. 

 
 
 
The Employment Lands Strategy envisaged the 
investigation areas as locations where some 
residential development may be considered 
where planning merit is demonstrated, 
employment land is retained, and the proposal 
delivers significant community benefits and 
contributes towards local infrastructure. Some 
loss of employment floorspace is acknowledged 
as part of this transition. 
 
Notwithstanding this, the proposed scheme is 
unlikely to compromise the employment 
generating potential of the investigation area. 
While a net loss of employment floorspace is 
acknowledged, the proposed scheme will result 
in about 1,000 square metres of commercial 
floorspace over two levels at the intersection of 
Dunning and Morley Avenues and will have an 
ongoing employment capacity of 25-30 jobs, 
when using the average ratios provided in the 
City of Sydney Development Contributions Plan 
2012. 
 
On balance, the proposed scheme retains a 
comparable employment rates to the existing 
development, and the planning proposal will 
not compromise the employment generating 
potential of the Southern Employment Lands. 
 
 

 
Under the Employment Lands Strategy, the 
vision for the Southern Employment Lands is 
for genuine mixed use precincts comprising a 
relatively even mix of residential and non-
residential development. It is acknowledged 
that not all sites will not result in a 50/50 split, 
but that the mix will be achieved at a precinct 
level. This will continue to be managed through 
the process of considering planning proposals 
to rezone land under the Guideline to Preparing 
a Site Specific Planning Proposal in the City of 
Sydney Employment Lands Investigation Areas. 

187



Heritage 
(Issue raised in 5 submissions) 
 
The development will have an unfavourable 
impact on the two local heritage items. 

 
 
 
The draft DCP ensures that future development 
on the site is sympathetic to adjacent heritage 
items by providing a three metre landscape 
setback to the Morley Street frontage, 
consistent with the alignment of the retained 
heritage warehouse building located to the east 
of the site. The draft DCP specifies that any 
future development on the site is to be 
sympathetic to the inter-war warehouse 
character of the area through the use of 
external finishes, colours and materials 
including a brick façade to the podium. 
 
The planning agreement will secure the 
dedication of a 1.25 metre deep frontage to 
Jones Street for footpath widening and to 
create additional separation between the 
future development and the adjacent heritage 
item to the west of the site. The draft DCP also 
specifies a setback of an additional five metres 
for the upper levels of the new development 
and requires use of appropriate external 
finishes, colours and materials that are 
sympathetic to the heritage items and the local 
character, limiting any additional heritage 
impacts. 
 

Precedent for development into Rosebery 
(Issue raised in 4 submissions) 
 
Changing the planning controls on this site will 
set a precedent for other nearby sites to seek 
the same planning controls. 

 
 
 
The subject site is within the “investigation 
areas” identified under the City of Sydney’s 
Employment Lands Strategy as having potential 
for residential development where it can be 
demonstrated that the broader objectives of 
the strategy are being met. 
 
Other sites in the investigation areas are 
entitled to also seek changes to the planning 
controls in the way this site has, under the 
Guideline to Preparing Site Specific Planning 
Proposal Requests in the City of Sydney 
Employment Lands Investigation Areas. Under 
this approach, each request to change the 
planning controls will only be supported where 
planning merit is demonstrated, and where it is 
consistent with the vision for the investigation 

188



areas as put forward in the Employment Lands 
Strategy. 

Parking 
(Issue raised in 4 submissions) 
 
The proposed scheme does not include enough 
parking for residents, workers and shoppers. 
This will add to pressure for on-street parking in 
the Rosebery area. 

 
 
 
A transport review prepared by Colston Budd 
Rogers & Kafes for this planning proposal has 
estimated off-street parking provision based on 
indicative unit mix and the parking rates as set 
out in Sydney LEP 2012. The number of off-
street parking spaces will not be determined 
until the development application stage. 
 
The Sydney LEP 2012 sets maximum rates for 
the provision of off-street car parking within 
new residential flat buildings and commercial 
developments. Rates are based on indicative 
unit mix and the site's proximity to existing 
public transport. The exact number of off-street 
parking spaces will be determined at the 
development application stage, however the 
objective of this approach is to discourage car 
ownership in well located areas and reduce the 
congestion impact of new developments. 
 
Kerbside parking in the City of Sydney is 
managed in accordance with the City's 
'Neighbourhood Parking Policy', which excludes 
new buildings from eligibility for visitor, 
resident and business parking permits. As such, 
workers and residents of any future 
development would not receive parking 
permits for on-street parking. 
 

Lack of infrastructure  
(Issue raised in 4 submissions) 
 
Development in Rosebery has not been aligned 
with delivery of new infrastructure, resulting in 
loss of amenity for existing residents. Any 
development under this planning proposal will 
unacceptably add to existing impacts of growth 
and further reduce amenity. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
This planning proposal is being prepared under 
the City of Sydney Employment Lands Strategy, 
which identifies “investigation areas” where 
some residential development may be 
considered as long as the value uplift 
contributes to infrastructure in the area. 
 
Under the strategy, planning agreements 
capture 50% of the value uplift provided by the 
rezoning of a site under a planning agreement, 
for the purposes of providing infrastructure. For 
this planning proposal, the value uplift is 
delivering on-site affordable housing and 
footpath widening. 

189



 
 
 
 
 

 
With recent development and population 
growth in Green Square, Rosebery and the 
surrounding area, there is a need for more 
school places.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Existing parks and open space are insufficient 
to meet the growing population of Rosebery, 
and a development under this planning 
proposal will further add to demand. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The subject site should become a park, instead 
of being developed for additional housing. 
 

 
On-site affordable housing is an important 
infrastructure contribution to the Rosebery 
area, providing local housing for key workers. 
 

 
The City is aware of the need for more school 
places across the local government area, and 
especially in Green Square. As a result of 
facilities sharing agreements between the City 
and the Department of Education and 
Communities (DEC), a new primary school at 
Green Square Town Centre has been recently 
announced, and an expansion of Alexandria 
Park Community School has been confirmed. 
The City will continue to work with the DEC, 
updating them on population projections as a 
result of new development, and working with 
them to deliver new school locations and 
expand capacity at existing schools. 
 
 

 
The exhibited DCP with this planning proposal 
includes 1,420sqm of ground floor communal 
open space, and a 6m deep soil setback to the 
rear. While this open space will not be 
accessible by the public, it will give future 
occupants access to semi-private open space 
and mitigate additional demands on nearby 
public open space. 
 
New parks and open space have been delivered 
in Rosebery and Green Square as a result of 
recent development, and new open space is 
planned as part of future development sites. 
The subject site is within close walking distance 
to the recently opened Sweetacres Park, and 
the recently upgraded Turruwul Park. Sydney 
Park is a 30 minute walk or 10 minute cycle 
from the subject site. 
 

 
Sydney DCP 2012 identifies proposed new 
public open space locations to be delivered 
alongside redevelopment. The subject site has 
not been identified as part of the open space 
network. 
 

190



Cycling facilities 
(Suggestion raised in 2 submissions) 
 
A new development under this planning 
proposal should include at-grade bicycle 
parking for residents, visitors and the general 
public. 
 
 
 

 
The planning proposal should include 
dedication of land for and/or construction of an 
off-street section of bicycle path along Dunning 
Avenue. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Existing kerb ramps be flattened to enable 
better access. 
 
 

 
 
 
The quantity and location of bicycle parking will 
be determined at the development application 
stage. Sydney DCP 2012 includes general 
requirements for bicycle parking, including 
quantity of spaces provided and accessibility 
requirements. 
 

 
The frontage of the subject site to Dunning 
Avenue is too short for land dedication to 
meaningfully contribute to a cycle path. 
 
Dunning Avenue is identified on the Liveable 
Green Network as a Cycling Priority Street. A 
40km/h speed limit contributes to the street’s 
amenity for cycling. A possible north-south 
separated cycleway through Rosebery is still 
under investigation, but will not be delivered as 
a result of any one single planning proposal or 
development. 
 

 
The suggestion is noted. Detailed public domain 
considerations will be part of any future 
development application process. 

Concern over design quality 
(Issue raised in 2 submissions) 
 
Recent developments in Rosebery and Green 
Square have exhibited poor design quality, and 
there is concern that a future development 
under this planning proposal will also have poor 
design outcomes. 

 
 
 
The draft DCP amendment exhibited with this 
planning proposal provides detailed design 
guidance, and includes provisions for a design 
excellence strategy to guide a future 
competitive design process for the entire site. 
 

Inadequate setbacks 
(Issue raised in 2 submissions) 
 
The proposed scheme has no setbacks to 
Dunning Avenue and Morley Avenue, which is 
out of context for nearby streets. This will 
establish a new and inappropriate character for 
the area. 
 
The proposed landscaping to Morley Avenue is 
inadequate to provide amenity to future 
occupants of ground floor residential units. 

 
 
 
The draft DCP exhibited with this planning 
proposal includes design guidance for setbacks, 
including ground floor and upper level setbacks. 
 
There is a 3m ground floor setback to Morley 
Avenue proposed. The portions of ground floor 
with residential frontage are proposed to have 
landscaped setback, and the commercial 
frontage a paved setback. This will provide 
privacy and amenity for the residential units, 

191



and better access and visibility for the 
commercial and retail occupants. 
 
Dunning Avenue and Jones Lane frontages are 
not proposed to have ground floor setbacks, 
which is appropriate in context of built form. 
For upper levels, the Dunning Avenue frontage 
is proposed to have a minimum 4m setback, 
Jones Lane a minimum 6m setback, and for the 
three taller buildings on Morley Avenue a 
minimum 2m setback. 
 

Developer profits 
(Issue raised in 7 submissions and 1 petition) 
 
The planning proposal is being pursued for the 
purposes of delivering profits to a developer 
and not to improve community outcomes. 
 

 
 
 
The City’s Employment Lands Strategy identifies 
“investigation areas” where a rezoning may be 
considered if it delivers significant community 
benefits and contributions to local 
infrastructure. 
 
This planning proposal being assessed under 
this strategy, and through a planning 
agreement captures 50% of the value uplift that 
results from a change in the planning controls. 
 
The exhibited planning agreement describes 
how the captured value uplift is being 
employed to deliver better infrastructure for 
the local area, which includes approximately 12 
affordable housing units delivered on-site, and 
land for footpath widening. This represents a 
significant positive outcome for the community. 
 

Support for on-site affordable housing 
(Raised in 1 submission) 
 
People cannot afford to rent in the area, 
resulting in long commutes and poor quality of 
life for employees of local businesses in 
Rosebery and Alexandria. The proposed 
inclusion of on-site affordable housing is 
therefore very important and a great cause. 
 

 
 
 
Support is noted. 

192



Increased litter, noise and pollution; 
degradation of kerbsides and plantings 
(Issue raised in 1 submission) 
 
A higher population of people living in Rosebery 
has had negative effects on the local 
environment and physical streetscape, caused 
by pollution and damage to the public realm. 
Any development under this planning proposal 
will unreasonably add to these negative effects. 
  

 
 
 
 
Managing pollution and maintaining the public 
realm is the ongoing responsibility of Council. 
We encourage all residents to report issues to 
Council so that action can be taken against 
offenders and maintenance work be 
completed. 
 
The proposed scheme will result in local 
residential population growth, but it is not 
supported that these future residents will 
necessarily cause pollution and landscape 
damage. 
 

Inappropriate residential frontage 
(Issue raised in 1 submission) 
 
Morley Avenue is characterised by non-
residential development. The proposed ground 
floor residential frontage to Morley Avenue 
does not respect the character of the street, 
and will be adversely impacted by trucks and 
vehicles using Morley Avenue. 
 
The first two storeys of a new development 
should be non-residential, to better suit the 
character of the street and reduce impacts to 
residential occupants. 
 

 
 
 
The indicative scheme exhibited with the 
planning proposal assumes the minimum 10% 
non-residential floor area as mandated in the 
exhibited controls. The most suitable location 
for the non-residential space is along Dunning 
Avenue and at the corner of Dunning and 
Morley where a significant commercial 
development already exists. 
 
The 3m landscaped setback to ground floor 
residential units as included in the exhibited 
DCP will provide privacy and protection from 
noise impacts from Morley Avenue. 
 
The final mix of land uses will be determined at 
the development application stage. 
 

Inappropriate context for residential 
(Issue raised in 1 submission) 
 
The site is surrounded by non-residential land 
uses. Residential occupants of any future 
development will be unreasonably impacted by 
the neighbouring non-residential uses. This will 
cause land use conflicts, resulting in further loss 
of employment from the local area. 

 
 
 
Under the City of Sydney’s Employment Lands 
Strategy, the vision for the “investigation 
areas” is for vibrant, high amenity precincts 
that include a genuine mix of employment uses, 
community uses, and market and affordable 
housing. This is possible in the investigation 
areas because the nature of most existing 
employment uses is such that there is unlikely 
to be significant land use conflicts with 
residential uses. 
 

193



Further, the changing nature of businesses in 
the area is towards creative industries, small 
professional businesses and retail, employment 
uses that are likely to benefit from a higher 
local residential population. 

Inappropriate vehicular access to Dunning 
Avenue 
(Issue raised in 1 submission) 
 
The proposed scheme provides for vehicle 
access to off-street parking via Dunning 
Avenue. Jones Lane is a more appropriate 
location, as it would provide a more direct 
route to Botany Road and reduce vehicle 
movements on Dunning Avenue. 
 

 
 
 
 
The proposed vehicular access point on 
Dunning Avenue is a result of flood level 
analysis. The corner of Jones Lane and Morley 
Avenue is significantly flood affected. An entry 
point at this location may result in basement 
car park flooding and cutting off vehicular 
access during flood events. 
 

Location of deep soil is inappropriate 
(Issue raised in 1 submission) 
 
The 6m deep soil setback is in a location that 
will be overshadowed by built form, and not 
provide amenity for future occupants or the 
community. The deep soil should be relocated 
to the north of the site. 

 
 
 
The location of the deep soil setback was 
determined through urban design analysis, to 
provide separation to the neighbouring 
property and greenery for south facing views. It 
is acknowledged that the setback will not 
receive full sunlight, but the communal open 
space will receive adequate sunlight for 
Apartment Design Guide specifications. 
 
The indicative scheme includes landscaped 
setback to the north of the site, as well as 
rooftop gardens on the level 3 terrace, which 
will contribute to amenity for residents and the 
community. 
 

Additional public domain upgrades 
(Suggestion raised in 1 submission) 
 
Nearby streets should be upgraded to include 
rain gardens and other water sensitive urban 
design features, and opportunities for 
additional landscaping be investigated, 
including a tree in the Dunning Avenue and 
Morley Avenue roundabout. 

 
 
 
This planning proposal is for an individual block 
and does not encompass any new or existing 
streets. Therefore, public domain upgrades 
outside the site cannot be included in the 
planning proposal. 
 
The City will note the demand for plantings, 
rain gardens and other upgrades that may be 
commensurate with new development on the 
site, and consider it as part of future public 
works. 
 

194



Consultation process 
(Issue raised in 1 submission) 
 
The Rosebery Residents Action Group was not 
consulted about this planning proposal. 

 
 
 
City staff emailed a notification of this planning 
proposal to the spokesperson of the Rosebery 
Residents Action Group when public exhibition 
opened on 14 March 2018. 

Maintenance of landscaping 
(Issue raised in 1 submission) 
 
Gardens in recently delivered new 
developments in Rosebery feature gardens that 
are poorly maintained and have poor plant 
selections. 

 
 
 
Development applications typically involve a 
landscaping maintenance plan, which is 
reviewed by a City landscaping specialist and 
forms part of the approval. 
 
Ongoing maintenance of communal open space 
and landscaping within a development is the 
responsibility of the strata or building manager. 
The City recommends that concerns about the 
maintenance of gardens in any specific address 
be forwarded to Council customer service, 
where the complaint can be followed up with 
the building manager. 
 

 

195



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Public Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst - 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 
2012 Amendment

File No: X018299

Summary

30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst is located on the City's eastern fringe, within 800 metres 
of Kings Cross Station and serviced by a number of bus services and cycle routes 
connecting the site to the CBD and Bondi Junction.

The site comprises a part-two, part-three storey warehouse building which is currently 
occupied by a self-storage facility. The existing building currently has 2,374 square metres of 
gross floor area. This exceeds the existing Floor Space Ratio (FSR) development standard 
of 2:1 in Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 by approximately 0.45:1

The surrounding area is zoned B4 Mixed Use. It is generally residential in character, with a 
small cluster of commercial buildings immediately adjacent to and including the site. Directly 
opposite lies the Barcom Avenue Heritage Conservation Area which is dominated by one to 
three storey Victorian terraces. The site is not located within the heritage conservation area.

In May 2018, Ethos Urban, on behalf of site owner Clanricarde, submitted a planning 
proposal request to the City to increase the maximum FSR and building height controls that 
apply to the site under Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. 

The change would facilitate a development concept consisting of a building with an 
additional two storeys of commercial floor space on top of the existing warehouse building, 
which would remain as a self-storage facility. The additional floor space would accommodate 
a co-working office space, with kitchen and end-of-trip facilities, within a 5 storey building.

The proposed use is permissible on the site and the resultant built form respects the 
streetscape and the adjoining heritage conservation area. Strategic merit is demonstrated 
through sustainability improvements, and the opportunity to support Sydney's start-up 
business community via the provision of flexible co-working office space.

A planning proposal has been prepared by the City of Sydney which recommends an 
amendment to Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 to include 'alternative' controls that 
will incentivise a building on the site that aligns with the proponent's development concept. 

The amendment would allow for a building with an FSR of 3.75:1 and height of 18 metres on 
the following conditions:

(a) the whole building is used for non-residential purposes; 

(b) there is no increase in car parking on the site; and 

(c) a 6 star building NABERS Energy Commitment Agreement is in place.

1

Item 6.



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

An accompanying draft development control plan proposes the following site-specific 
provisions:

(d) Building envelope controls to ensure an appropriate street wall character and 
relationship with adjoining terraces; and

(e) encourage the provision of a green roof.

This report recommends that the Central Sydney Planning Committee support the planning 
proposal for submission to the Greater Sydney Commission seeking a Gateway 
Determination. If the proposal receives Gateway Determination, it will be placed on public 
exhibition in accordance with the requirements of that determination.

Recommendation

It is resolved that:

(A) the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve Planning Proposal: 30-62 Barcom 
Avenue, Darlinghurst, shown at Attachment A to the subject report, for submission to 
the relevant local plan making authority with a request for a Gateway Determination;

(B) the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve the Planning Proposal: 30-62 
Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst for public authority consultation and public exhibition in 
accordance with any conditions imposed under the Gateway Determination; 

(C) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the recommendation to Council’s 
Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee on 10 September 2018 that Council seek 
authority to exercise the delegation of all the functions under section 3.36 of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 to make the local environmental 
plan to put into effect the Planning Proposal: 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst;

(D) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the recommendation to Council’s 
Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee on 10 September 2018 that Council 
approve the Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 - 30-62 Barcom Avenue, 
Darlinghurst, shown at Attachment B to the subject report, for public authority 
consultation and public exhibition in parallel with the Planning Proposal; 

(E) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor variations to 
Planning Proposal: 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst, following receipt of the 
Gateway Determination; and

(F) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor variations to 
Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 - 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst to 
correct any drafting errors and/or ensure it is consistent with the Planning Proposal 
following the Gateway Determination. 

2



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Attachments

Attachment A. Planning Proposal: 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst

(Note - The Appendix to this attachment will be circulated separately 
from the Agenda Paper in limited numbers. it will be available for 
inspection on the Council's website and at the One Stop Shop)

Attachment B. Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 - 30-62 Barcom Avenue, 
Darlinghurst

3



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Background

1. In May 2018, Ethos Urban, on behalf of site owner Clanricarde, submitted a formal 
request to amend Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP 2012) as it 
applies to 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst. The request seeks to increase the 
maximum building height and Floor Space Ratio (FSR) to enable a co-working office 
space above the existing warehouse building.

2. The site has been the subject of two previous development applications. In July 1997 a 
development application for the renovation and refurbishment of the existing self-
storage facility, including an additional storey providing an extra 860 square metres of 
floor area, was refused by Council as it did not comply with the height and FSR 
controls.

3. In September 2008 a development application (D/2008/1705) sought consent for 
several amendments to the existing building, including the construction of an additional 
storey. Council granted consent to the majority of amendments, but did not grant 
development consent for the additional storey as it did not comply with the height 
control. The additional storey would have resulted in a building of a significantly 
greater scale than the adjoining vehicle dealership that addresses New South Head 
Road.

4. Previous development applications were determined some eight to 19 years ago, 
when a 12 metre height limit applied to the site. Recently a number of sites within the 
vicinity have been redeveloped, including the adjacent vehicle dealership which is now 
five storeys.

Site details and context
5. 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst (the site) comprises a part-two, part-three storey 

warehouse building occupied by a self-storage facility.  

6. The site is an irregular 'L' shape with an area of 992.5 square metres and a frontage to 
Barcom Avenue of approximately 45 metres. The site slopes significantly from RL 15-
16m AHD at Barcom Avenue to RL 8.7m AHD at the eastern boundary. The cross fall 
equates to approximately 7-8 metres over the site and results in the existing building 
presenting as a two storey warehouse on the Barcom Avenue frontage and three 
storeys at its rear elevation.

7. The surrounding area is generally residential, with the exception of a five storey car 
dealership adjoining the site to the east (at the corner of New South Head Road and 
McLachlan Avenue), and a one to three storey car dealership located at the rear of the 
site (on McLachlan Avenue).

8. Adjoining the site to the west along Barcom Avenue are a number of two storey terrace 
houses. Similarly, two storey terrace houses are also located opposite the site, along 
the northern side of Barcom Avenue. A four storey residential apartment building is 
located to the south on McLachlan Avenue.

9. The site is directly opposite the Barcom Avenue Heritage Conservation Area, which is 
dominated by one to three storey Victorian terraces. All of the properties directly 
opposite the subject site are 'contributory buildings' within the heritage conservation 
area.

10. The area is zoned B4 Mixed Use. Commercial uses are permissible with consent.

4



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

11. The site is located in Darlinghurst, to the east of Central Sydney. It benefits from 
convenient public transport access, located within 800 metres of Kings Cross Station 
and serviced by a number of bus services connecting the site to the Central Sydney 
and Bondi Junction.

12. The site location and surrounding context are shown in Figure 1 and Figure 2. Photos 
of the site and its surroundings are shown in Figures 3 to 5.

Figure 1: Site location

5



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Figure 2: Site context

Figure 3: Photographs of the site and existing building, (L-R) looking south and looking north-east

6



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

 

Figure 4: Adjoining residential terraces, (L-R) to immediate south of site along Barcom Ave and 
heritage items on the opposite side of Barcom Ave within the conservation area

 

Figure 5: Residential interface with site, (L-R) 2 storey terraces to south-east of site and view towards 
four storey residential building to south of site

Planning Proposal - Amendments to Sydney LEP 2012
13. The existing warehouse building is built to the boundary, with a maximum building 

height of 12.1 metres and an existing FSR of approximately 2.45:1. The existing 
planning controls allow for a maximum building height of 15 metres and a maximum 
FSR of 2:1.

14. The submitted planning proposal request seeks to amend the maximum FSR control, 
to allow for a development concept with approximately an additional 1,160 square 
metres of floor space on the site for the purposes of commercial office space. The 
planning proposal also seeks an increase in maximum building height to 18 metres, in 
order to facilitate the additional floor space.

15. The resulting development would be a five storey non-residential building with a total 
gross floor area of 3,535 square metres, made up of 2,375 square metres of self-
storage premises over three storeys (basement to level 1) and 1,160 square metres of 
office premises over two storeys (levels 2 and 3). An indicative development concept 
submitted with the planning proposal request envisages the co-working office space as 
comprising:

7



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

(a) a combination of private offices (90-95%) and permanent desks (5-10%), which 
will range in size to suit varying sizes of teams (from two person offices to 10 
person offices);

(b) flexible spaces including meeting rooms, a board room, break out spaces and 
phone booths;

(c) kitchen facilities; 

(d) bike storage and private end-of-trip facilities; and

(e) no parking for private vehicles. 

16. Proposed LEP amendments will facilitate a building with an FSR of 3.75:1 and height 
of up to 18 metres may be permitted on the site if all of the following conditions are 
met: 

(a) the whole building is used for non-residential purposes; 

(b) there is no increase in car parking on the site; and 

(c) a 6 star building NABERS Energy Commitment Agreement is in place.

Draft Development Control Plan
17. A draft DCP establishes detailed controls around the building envelope. These will 

ensure an appropriate relationship with the heritage conservation area and 
neighbouring residential terraces. The draft DCP also supports an ecologically 
sustainable development opportunity presented through redevelopment of the site.

18. The draft DCP at Attachment B includes provisions relating to:

(a) Height in storeys;

(b) Setbacks; and

(c) Encouraging the provision of a green roof.

Key Implications

Strategic merit
19. The Department of Planning and Environment publication "A guide to preparing 

planning proposals" requires a planning proposal meet various assessment criteria to 
establish its strategic merit. A proposal is to be assessed against its consistency with 
relevant regional plans and local council strategies. It must also demonstrate site-
specific merit with regards to: the existing and future uses of the land; the natural 
environment; and the services and infrastructure that are or will be available to meet 
the demands arising from the proposal. 

20. The planning proposal demonstrates strategic merit. It will enable additional 
employment floor space to foster new jobs and small business within an accessible 
location, and a building of appropriate design and good environmental performance. 
The site-specific merits of the proposal are discussed below, followed by consistency 
with regional and district plans, and the City's Sustainable Sydney 2030 strategy.

8



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Use
21. Emerging, innovative businesses, such as tech startups are local companies which 

have the potential to grow rapidly and bring wider economic and employment benefits 
to cities, particularly if they service overseas and interstate clients.

22. The City's Tech Startup Action Plan seeks to increase business opportunities, 
connections and skills to enable the industry to flourish. The action plan also supports 
the clustering of tech startups to assist with skill, knowledge and infrastructure sharing. 

23. Co-working office space, as proposed, can promote collaborative and innovative 
working environments, accommodating start-ups through to established business 
ventures. It assists small business and innovative industries in entering the 
marketplace by providing low capital expenditure, low overhead and scalable office 
space.

24. 30-62 Barcom Avenue sits on the Sydney CBD fringe, in close proximity to an existing 
cluster of co-working spaces and with potential to bridge the gap between the Eastern 
Suburbs and Sydney CBD startup communities. Darlinghurst has a number of 
geographic, demographic and economic advantages which support the desirability and 
suitability for co-working spaces. 

25. The surrounding built form, together with the site's locational advantages, provide an 
appropriate context for an increase in height and floor space to capitalise on the site's 
employment generating potential. To ensure the economic benefits are secured, a site-
specific LEP provision will require that the additional GFA is exclusively used for 
employment-related uses.

Heritage and built form
26. The proposed envelopes and indicative concept design are respectful of the 

contributory buildings opposite the site, in the Barcom Avenue Heritage Conservation 
Area, and the two storey Federation terraces at 64-70 Barcom Avenue, to the south of 
the site. Envelope setbacks at level two and three are secured in the proposed DCP to 
ensure the two storey street wall character is maintained and an appropriate side 
setback from the two storey Federation terraces at 64-70 Barcom Avenue.

Overshadowing and amenity 
27. A shadow analysis of the proposed built form demonstrates that proposed building 

setbacks will not cause unacceptable overshadowing of adjacent residential dwellings 
and their private open space. 

28. The proposed built form creates minor additional overshadowing to the façade of 61-
63 McLachlan Avenue at 2:00pm mid-winter, but this is acceptable because windows 
to habitable rooms are not overshadowed. Some additional overshadowing occurs to 
the commercial building at 49-59 McLachlan Avenue. Given the use of the building, 
this is acceptable.

Traffic and transport
29. No change is proposed to the current access and loading arrangements for the 

storage facility on the site, namely three vehicle entry/egress points and zero on-site 
parking. 

9



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

30. No additional parking is proposed in association with the additional office floor space 
sought. This is appropriate as the additional floor space is relatively small in scale and 
the site benefits from convenient access to public transport, including Kings Cross 
station within 800m and a number of bus services connecting to the CBD and Bondi 
Junction. The site is also well connected by cycle routes. The indicative design 
concept shows bicycle parking and private end-of-trip facilities.

31. A proposed LEP provision will ensure that no additional parking is to be located on the 
site in connection with the additional floor space being sought, to reinforce the site's 
high accessibility. 

Drainage/stormwater
32. A green roof proposed by the site owner in association with the proposed development 

will reduce the majority of concentrated flows from the impermeable surfaces within 
the development site. This is secured via a provision in the draft DCP. 

Ecologically sustainable development
33. The NSW Climate Change Policy Framework sets a target of net zero emissions by 

2050. This is supported by the Greater Sydney Region Plan and Eastern City District 
Plan. This planning proposal provides the opportunity to incorporate additional ESD 
initiatives as part of redevelopment of the site.

34. An objective of the planning proposal is to secure a 6 star base building NABERS 
Energy Commitment Agreement for this commercial development, to reduce local area 
emissions and help to achieve the City’s greenhouse gas emission reduction targets. 

35. The proposed built form has significant roof area facing north-west. This means that 
there is significant potential for roof top photovoltaics. Solar photovoltaic panels are a 
cost-effective way to achieve the 6 star NABERS Energy target and would support the 
City's Renewable Energy Masterplan and target of 50% of electricity demand to be 
sourced from renewable sources by 2030. The draft DCP will encourage incorporation 
of a solar PV system.

36. The draft DCP also includes provisions to protect the renewable energy generation 
potential of the roof area, by discouraging high parapet walls and unnecessary roof 
clutter.

37. Securing the NABERS Energy Commitment Agreement and operating the photovoltaic 
system is complemented by encouraging a green roof in the draft DCP. A green roof 
will increase the thermal performance of the building, reducing the need for air 
conditioning.

Strategic Alignment - Greater Sydney Region Plan
38. The Greater Sydney Region Plan, completed in March 2018, is a State Government 

strategic document that sets the 40 year vision and 20 year plan for all of Greater 
Sydney. The Plan outlines how Greater Sydney will manage growth and change and 
guide infrastructure delivery, and is to be implemented at a local level by District Plans.

39. The Plan identifies key challenges facing Greater Sydney, which is forecast to grow 
from 4.7 million people to 8 million people by 2056. Greater Sydney is to provide for an 
additional 817,000 jobs by 2036 and will need to provide 725,000 more homes over 
the next 20 years.

10



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

40. By facilitating development of additional commercial floor space on a site with good 
levels of accessibility by public and active transport, and within a building which can 
appropriately address its heritage context and promote ecologically sustainable 
development, the planning proposal is consistent with the relevant objectives and 
planning priorities of the Plan as follows:

(a) Objective 4: Infrastructure use is optimised; 

(b) Objective 13: Environmental heritage is identified, conserved and enhanced; 

(c) Objective 14: Integrated land use and transport creates walkable and 30-minute 
cities; 

(d) Objective 18: Harbour CBD is stronger and more competitive; 

(e) Objective 22: Investment and business activity in centres; 

(f) Objective 24: Economic sectors are targeted for success; and

(g) Objective 33: A low-carbon city contributes to net-zero emissions by 2050 and 
mitigates climate change.

Strategic Alignment - Eastern City District Plan
41. The Eastern City District Plan, also completed in March 2018, sets the local planning 

context for the City of Sydney local government area. It provides a 20-year plan to 
manage growth and achieve the 40-year vision of the Greater Sydney Region Plan at 
a district level and is a bridge between regional and local planning.

42. As part of a Greater Sydney metropolis of three cities, the eastern district covers the 
council areas of Bayside, Burwood, Canada Bay, City of Sydney, Inner West, 
Randwick, Strathfield, Waverley and Woollahra.

43. The Eastern City District Plan identifies 22 planning priorities and associated actions 
that are important to achieving a liveable, productive and sustainable future for the 
district, including the alignment of infrastructure with growth. 

44. This planning proposal gives effect to these planning priorities and actions as follows:

(a) Planning Priority E6: Creating and renewing great places and local centres, and 
respecting the District’s heritage;

(b) Planning Priority E10: Delivering integrated land use and transport planning and 
a 30-minute city;

(c) Planning Priority E7: Growing a stronger and more competitive Harbour CBD;

(d) Planning Priority E11: Growing investment, business opportunities and jobs in 
strategic centres; and 

(e) Planning Priority E19: Reducing carbon emissions and managing energy, water 
and waste efficiently.

11



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

45. The planning proposal will support the growth of a stronger and more competitive 
Harbour CBD through the provision of new and innovative office space which will 
foster investment and employment opportunities, especially for small business. The 
proposal supports strategic priorities to create a more productive, liveable and 
sustainable city in a CBD-fringe location, which is close to homes and serviced by 
existing infrastructure. 

Strategic Alignment - Sustainable Sydney 2030 Vision
46. Sustainable Sydney 2030 is a vision for the sustainable development of the City of 

Sydney to 2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of 
the City, as well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. This report is 
aligned with the following strategic directions and objectives:

(a) Direction 1 - A Globally Competitive and Innovative City - The proposal will 
provide additional employment floor space on the fringe of Sydney. The co-
working office space will facilitate jobs growth and promote collaboration and 
innovation, supporting small businesses and start-ups.

(b) Direction 2 - provides a road map for the City to become A Leading 
Environmental Performer - The planning proposal will support a more 
ecologically sustainable development on the site, with a target of meeting a 6 
star NABERS energy rating and DCP controls which will secure rooftop 
photovoltaics and a green roof. This will contribute towards net-zero carbon 
emissions, water sensitive urban design and urban ecology outcomes.

(c) Direction 3 - Integrated Transport for a Connected City - The proposal will 
capitalise on its close proximity to existing heavy rail train stations and a 
significant number of bus routes connecting with the CBD and Bondi Junction. 
The proposal incorporates zero parking provision further limiting potential future 
trips by private vehicle and encouraging sustainable transport choices.

(d) Direction 4 - A City for Walking and Cycling - The site is located in an inner-city 
suburb, close to existing local centres including Kings Cross, Edgecliff, Fiveways 
Paddington and Darlinghurst. It benefits from convenient public transport and a 
number of on-road and separated cycleways connecting with the CBD.

(e) Direction 9 - Sustainable Development, Renewal and Design - The proposed 
planning controls will achieve a building envelope in keeping with its 
surroundings, cognisant of the heritage items and conservation area in close 
proximity to the site and its impact on adjoining residential buildings. Further, the 
proposal will support a future development that will feature additional ESD 
initiatives.

Relevant Legislation

47. Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979.

12



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Critical Dates / Time Frames

48. A proponent may request a review of their planning proposal by the Independent 
Planning Commission if a council has failed to indicate its support within 90 days of its 
submission to council. This planning proposal was submitted to Council on 24 May 
2018. The 90 day deadline is 22 August 2018. 

Planning Proposal process
49. Should Council and the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve the planning 

proposal for exhibition and consultation, it will be forwarded to the Greater Sydney 
Commission in accordance with section 3.34 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979. The Greater Sydney Commission will then provide a Gateway 
Determination to either proceed to consultation, with or without variation, or to resubmit 
the planning proposal. If the relevant local plan-making authority changes during the 
course of the preparation of this planning proposal, it will be forwarded to the 
appropriate body under any amended legislation.

50. The typical timeframe following a Gateway Determination has been 21 days for public 
authority consultation and 28 days public exhibition. The Gateway will also establish 
the timeframe for completion of the local environmental plan amendment.

51. Following public authority consultation and public exhibition, the outcomes will be 
reported to Council and the Central Sydney Planning Committee.

Delegation of plan-making functions
52. In October 2012, the Minister for Planning delegated plan-making functions to councils 

to improve the local plan-making process. In December 2012, Council resolved to 
accept the delegation.

53. Council needs to receive an authorisation on a case-by-case basis to exercise the 
delegation. The authorisation is given through the Gateway process. Exercising the 
delegation means a faster plan-making process with less involvement of the 
Department of Planning and Environment.

54. Council will seek confirmation of its delegated authority to exercise the plan-making 
functions of the Greater Sydney Commission (as part of an amended Gateway 
Determination) under section 3.36 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 
1979 to make the local environmental plan.

Public Consultation

55. The public exhibition process for the planning proposal will be determined by the 
Greater Sydney Commission (as at the date of preparing this report). The consultation 
would take place in accordance with the requirements of:

(a) Gateway Determination to be issued by the Greater Sydney Commission under 
section 3.34 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979; and

(b) the Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000.

56. This means the public exhibition would be a minimum of 28 days, with notification:

(a) on the City of Sydney website; and

13



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

(b) in newspapers that circulate widely in the City of Sydney Local Government 
Area.

57. The associated DCP would be exhibited concurrently.

GRAHAM JAHN, AM

Director City Planning, Development and Transport

Samantha Bird, Specialist Planner

14



Attachment A 

Planning Proposal: 30-62 Barcom Avenue, 
Darlinghurst

15



 

 
 

 

Planning Proposal 
30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst 
  
 
August 2018  
 
 
 

16



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 Page 2 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
Introduction          Page 3 
 
Part 1 – Objectives and intended outcomes      Page 9 
 
Part 2 – Explanation of provisions       Page 10 
 
Part 3 – Justification         Page 12 
 
Part 4 – Mapping         Page 22 
 
Part 5 – Community consultation       Page 24 
 
Part 6 – Project timeline         Page 25 
 
Appendix A – Ethos Urban planning proposal request and supporting information  Page 26 
 
    
 
 

17



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 Page 3 

INTRODUCTION 
 
This planning proposal explains the extent of, and justification for, proposed amendments to 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP) as it applies 30-62 Barcom Avenue, 
Darlinghurst.  
 
The proposal has been prepared in accordance with section 3.33 of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (the Act) and guidelines published by the Department of 
Planning and Environment including ‘A guide to preparing planning proposals’ and ‘A guide 
to preparing local environmental plans’.  
 
Specifically, this planning proposal seeks to amend the maximum permissible FSR and 
building height controls for the site as contained in Sydney LEP, subject to commercial use 
and parking restrictions, and seeks to secure a 6 star NABERS Energy Commitment 
Agreement.  
 
More detailed building envelope and sustainability controls are contained within a draft 
amendment to Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 (Sydney DCP) which has been 
prepared alongside this planning proposal. 
 
 
Site location 
 
The planning proposal relates to 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst, a small inner-city 
suburb located to the east of Sydney’s Central Business District.  
 
The site is located on the south-eastern side of Barcom Avenue, close to the intersection 
with New South Head Road and opposite the Barcom Avenue Conservation Area and 
several heritage items.  
 
It is within 800m of Kings Cross Station and surrounding local centres include Kings Cross, 
Edgecliff, Fiveways Paddington and Darlinghurst. 
 
A location plan is at Figure 1. Site context is shown at Figure 2. 
 

 
Figure 1: Site location map  
 

18



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 Page 4 

 
Figure 2: Site context map 
 
 
Land ownership 
 
30-62 Barcom Avenue is a single landholding owned by Clanricarde Investments. The legal 
description of the land affected by this planning proposal is Lot B in DP 111138. 
 
 
Site characteristics 
 
The site is irregular in shape with an area of 992.5m2 and a frontage to Barcom Avenue of 
approximately 45 metres. 
 
The site slopes significantly from RL 15-16m AHD at Barcom Avenue to RL 8.7m AHD at 
the eastern, rear boundary. The cross fall equates to approximately 7-8 metres across the 
site, which results in the existing building having a two storey frontage to Barcom Avenue 
and a third storey element at its rear elevation. 
 
 
Existing development  
 
The site contains an existing part 2-storey, part 3-storey warehouse building which is 
currently used as a self-storage premises. The warehouse building is built to boundary, with 
a maximum building height of 12.1 metres and an existing Gross Floor Area of 
approximately 2,500 square metres (i.e. an existing built form FSR of approximately 2.45:1). 
 
Photos of the site and the existing building are shown at Figure 3. 

19



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 Page 5 

 

 
Figure 3: Photographs of the site and existing building, (L-R) looking south and looking north-east 
 
Surrounding development 
 
To the immediate north-east of the site, at 65 Craigend Street, is a recently constructed 5-
storey commercial vehicle showroom. Adjoining the eastern boundary of the site is a second 
commercial vehicle showroom which is 1-3 storeys. Two-storey residential terraces adjoin 
the south-eastern boundary and are found to the west of the site, within the Barcom Avenue 
Conservation Area. Six locally significant heritage items are sited in the vicinity, as follows: 
 

• I501 – 2-6 Womerah Avenue – ‘Flat Building “Corinthians” (2 Womerah Avenue) 
including interiors’;  

• I502 – 18A-40 Womerah Avenue – ‘Terrace group part of “Barcom Mews” including 
interiors and fencing’;  

• I211 – 1-3 Barcom Avenue – ‘Terrace group part of “Barcom Mews” including 
interiors, front fences and gates’;  

• I212 – 5-9 Barcom Avenue – ‘Terrace group including interiors and front fence’;  
• I213 – 11-15 Barcom Avenue – ‘Terrace group part of “Barcom Mews” including 

interiors’; and  
• I214 – 23-47B Barcom Avenue – ‘Terrace group including interiors’.  

 
Figures 4 and 5 show photos of the surrounding context. 
 
 

 
Figure 4: Adjoining residential terraces, (L-R) to immediate south of site along Barcom Avenue and 
Heritage Items on the opposite side of Barcom Avenue within the Conservation Area 
 

20



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 Page 6 

 
Figure 5: Residential interface with site. (L-R) 2 storey terraces to south-east of site and view towards 4 
storey residential building to south of site 
 
Planning history  
 
The site has been the subject of two previous development applications. In July 1997, a 
development application for the renovation and refurbishment of the existing self-storage 
facility, including an additional floor providing an extra 860m2 of floor area, was refused by 
Council.       
   
In September 2008, a development application (D/2008/1705) sought consent for several 
amendments to the existing building, including the construction of an additional floor. 
Council granted consent to the majority of amendments, but did not grant development 
consent for the additional storey. The planning officer's report notes that the proposed 
additional storey would have resulted in a building of a significantly greater scale than the 
adjoining vehicle dealership that addresses New South Head Road. 
 
It is noted that the previous applications were determined some 8 to 19 years ago, when a 
12 metre height limit applied to the site and prior to the redevelopment of a number of other 
sites within the vicinity of the subject site, including the adjacent vehicle dealership to the 
immediate north of the site, which is now 5 storeys. 
 
Current planning controls 
 
Table A and Map Extracts A-D below summarise the key planning controls in Sydney LEP 
that are relevant to this planning proposal. 
 
Table A: Key planning controls in Sydney LEP 
 
Relevant Control / Provision Comment 
Zoning 
 

• Refer to Map Extract A  
• B4 Mixed Use 
• Commercial uses are permissible with consent. 

Building Height • Refer to Map Extract B  
• The maximum permissible building height for the 

site is 15 metres 
Floor Space Ratio:  • Refer to Map Extract C 

• The maximum permissible FSR is 2:1 
• The existing self-storage facility already exceeds the 

maximum permissible FSR, with a built form FSR of 
approximately 2.45:1. 

Heritage • Refer to Map Extract D 

21



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 Page 7 

• The site does not contain any heritage items but is 
located in close proximity to a number of items and 
the Barcom Avenue Conservation Area. 

 
 
Map Extract A: Zoning Map 
 

  
 
 
Map Extract B: Height of Buildings Map 

  
 
 

22



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 Page 8 

 
 
 
Map Extract C: Floor Space Ratio Map 
 

 
 
 
Map Extract D: Heritage Map 
 

 
 
 
  

23



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 Page 9 

PART 1 – OBJECTIVES AND INTENDED OUTCOMES 
 
The objectives of the planning proposal are to: 
 

• facilitate additional floor space capacity on the site for uses other than residential; 
 
• deliver a high quality built form that is respectful of the site’s heritage context; 

 
• limit car parking on the site; and 

 
• achieve a high standard of ecologically sustainable development and contribute 

towards zero net energy. 
 
 
The intended outcomes of the planning proposal are to: 
 

• allow additional floor space for non-residential development to achieve a maximum 
floor space ratio control of 3.75:1;  

 
• allow additional height for non-residential development up to a maximum of 18 

metres; 
 

• facilitate the delivery of office space by restricting the additional floor space to 
commercial uses; 
 

• restrict the provision of on-site parking; and 
 

• require a 6 star NABERS Energy Commitment Agreement for new development.  
 
 
 

  

24



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 Page 10 

PART 2 – EXPLANATION OF PROVISIONS 
 
To achieve the objectives and intended outcomes, this planning proposal seeks to amend 
planning controls in Sydney LEP 2012 to include provision in Division 5 Site specific 
provisions that: 
 
Allows for, subject to the satisfaction of the Council, a building on this site (Lot B in DP 
111138) that exceeds the development standards in clauses 4.3 (Height of buildings) and 
4.4 (Floor space ratio) of Sydney LEP 2012, if all of the following conditions are met: 
 

1. the whole building is used as a commercial premises;  
2. there is no increase in car parking on the site; and  
3. a minimum 6 star building NABERS Energy Commitment Agreement is in place. 

 
If all of the above conditions are met, a commercial building with a Floor Space Ratio of up 
to 3.75:1 and height of up to 18 metres may be approved, subject to consent.  
 
To provide clarity, a building subject to the above may not be used for residential 
accommodation, a residential flat building or serviced apartments and the like.  
 
It is noted that this proposed amendment does not derogate from the achievement of a 
residential development on the site that complies with current height and FSR controls in 
clauses 4.3 (Height of buildings) and 4.4 (Floor space ratio) of Sydney LEP 2012. 
 
Site specific DCP 
 
The City has prepared draft site specific provisions to amend Sydney DCP 2012, which 
provide further guidance to the proposed amendments to Sydney LEP 2012. The provisions 
are to be contained within Section 6 of the Sydney DCP 2012.  
 
They will ensure an appropriate relationship with the Conservation Area and neighbouring 
residential terraces and support the ecologically sustainable development opportunity 
presented through redevelopment of the site. The provisions relate to building height in 
storeys, setbacks and sustainability outcomes, including encouraging a green roof and roof-
top solar.  
 
The draft DCP is to be publicly exhibited with the planning proposal.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

25



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 Page 11 

PART 3 - JUSTIFICATION 
 
Section A – Need for the planning proposal 
 
Q1. Is the planning proposal a result of any strategic study or report? 
 
The Planning Proposal is not the result of any specific strategic study or report. It has been 
initiated by the proponent to facilitate a building envelope which is commensurate with the 
height, scale and density of the locality and to provide for additional employment floor 
space. Accordingly the proposal is consistent with a range of key strategic planning 
documentation including Sustainable Sydney 2030 and Region and District (see Section B 
for further detail). 
  
Q2. Is the planning proposal the best means of achieving the objectives or intended 
outcomes, or is there a better way? 

In preparing this planning proposal, three options were considered to facilitate the intended 
outcomes in Part 1. These are listed and discussed below:  

• Option 1: Do nothing.  
• Option 2: Lodge a development application subject to a Clause 4.6 Variation to floor 

space ratio.  
• Option 3: Prepare a planning proposal to amend the maximum floor space ratio for 

the site under SLEP 2012.  
 
Option 1: Do nothing  
Option 1 involves the continued operation of the existing warehouse in its current form as a 
self-storage facility; or the use of the existing building for the proposed office use, resulting 
in the loss of the self-storage facility. It is considered that this option represents a lost 
opportunity to realise the site’s employment-generating potential, particularly given its 
accessible location and the surrounding built form, which gives some context for an 
increase in height, thereby enabling additional floor space.  
 
Option 2: Development application  
Option 2 involves the lodgement of a development application with Council subject to a 
Clause 4.6 variation to the maximum floor space ratio. As noted in the Introduction – 
Planning History section, two previous development applications relating to the provision of 
additional height and floor space have been submitted and subsequently refused. Should 
Option 2 be pursued for the current development concept, the proposed FSR would 
represent a 79% variation to the existing maximum FSR of 2:1 permissible under SLEP 
2012. Whilst much of this variation can be attributed to the existing warehouse building 
already exceeding the maximum permissible FSR by around 0.45:1, this development 
pathway has been unsuccessfully pursued in the past. It is therefore not considered to be 
an appropriate means for facilitating the intended outcome.  
 
Option 3: Planning proposal  
As a result, Option 3 is chosen as the most suitable pathway to achieve the desired building 
envelope for the site. The planning proposal seeks to allow the development of additional 
storeys consistent with the maximum LEP height limit on the adjoining site, increase the 
site’s maximum FSR commensurately, and deliver a design outcome that is in-keeping with 
the built form of the existing warehouse building and surrounding locality. Proposed site-
specific provisions will secure the additional floor space for employment uses and ensure 
sustainable outcomes on the site, both in terms of transport (with zero additional parking 
provision) and energy.  
 
 
 

26



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 Page 12 

Section B – Relationship to strategic planning framework 
 
Q3. Is the planning proposal consistent with the objectives and actions of the 
applicable regional or sub-regional strategy (including the Sydney Metropolitan 
Strategy and the exhibited draft strategies)? 
 
Greater Sydney Region Plan: A Metropolis of Three Cities  
 
The Greater Sydney Region Plan is a NSW Government strategic document that outlines a 
40 year vision and 20 year plan for Greater Sydney. It identifies key challenges facing 
Sydney including a population increase of 3.3 million by 2056, 817,000 new jobs by 2036 
and a requirement for 725,000 new homes over the next 20 years. 
 
In responding to these and other challenges, the plan sets out four goals and ten directions: 
 

1. Infrastructure and collaboration – securing ‘a city supported by infrastructure’ and ‘a 
collaborative city’ 

2. Liveability – achieving ‘a city for people’, ‘housing the city’ and ‘a city of green 
places’ 

3. Productivity – creating ‘a well-connected city’ and ‘jobs and skills for the city’ 
4. Sustainability – delivering ‘a city in its landscape’, ‘an efficient city’ and ‘a resilient 

city’ 
 
To achieve these goals and directions, the plan proposes 40 objectives, with 15 associated 
actions. Objectives of particular relevance to this planning proposal include:  
 

• Objective 4: Infrastructure use is optimised;  
• Objective 13: Environmental heritage is identified, conserved and enhanced;  
• Objective 14: Integrated land use and transport creates walkable and 30-minute 

cities;  
• Objective 18: Harbour CBD is stronger and more competitive;  
• Objective 22: Investment and business activity in centres;  
• Objective 24: Economic sectors are targeted for success; and 
• Objective 33: A low-carbon city contributes to net-zero emissions by 2050 and 

mitigates climate change  
 
NSW Government District Plans – Eastern City District 
 
The NSW Government has prepared plans for each of the five districts that comprise the 
Greater Sydney area. The City of Sydney is in the Eastern City District. The District Plans 
set out how the Greater Sydney Region Plan will apply to local areas. They will influence the 
delivery of housing supply, inform and influence planning for business and jobs growth, 
particularly in strategic centres and inform the decision making for infrastructure planning. 
 
The Eastern City District Plan, completed in March 2018, identifies 22 planning priorities 
and associated actions that are important to achieving a liveable, productive and 
sustainable future for the district, including the alignment of infrastructure with growth.  
 
This planning proposal is consistent with the following planning priorities of the Eastern City 
District Plan: 
 

• Planning Priority E6: Creating and renewing great places and local centres, and 
respecting the District’s heritage; 

• Planning Priority E10: Delivering integrated land use and transport planning and a 
30-minute city; 

• Planning Priority E7: Growing a stronger and more competitive Harbour CBD; 

27



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 Page 13 

• Planning Priority E11: Growing investment, business opportunities and jobs in 
strategic centres; and  

• Planning Priority E19: Reducing carbon emissions and managing energy, water and 
waste efficiently. 

 
This planning proposal is consistent with the relevant objectives in the Region Plan and 
planning priorities in the District Plan. Specifically, it will support the growth of a stronger 
and more competitive harbour CBD through the provision of new and innovative office 
space which will foster investment and employment opportunities, especially for small 
business. The proposal supports strategic priorities to create a more productive, liveable 
and sustainable city in a CBD-fringe location, which is close to homes and serviced by 
existing infrastructure. The resulting development is capable of achieving high quality 
design and good environmental performance. 
 
 
Q4. Is the planning proposal consistent with a council’s local strategy or other local 
strategic plan? 
 
The City’s Sustainable Sydney 2030 Strategic Plan is the vision for the sustainable 
development of the City to 2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the 
future of the City, as well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. This planning 
proposal is consistent with key directions of Sustainable Sydney 2030 as demonstrated in 
the following table. 
 

Consistency with Sustainable Sydney 2030 
Direction Comment 
Direction 1 – A globally 
competitive and innovative city 

The proposal will provide additional employment floor space on the fringe 
of Sydney. The co-working office space will facilitate jobs growth and 
promote collaboration and innovation, supporting small businesses and 
start-ups. 

Direction 2 – A leading 
environmental performer 

The planning proposal will support a more ecologically sustainable 
development on the site, with a target of meeting a 6 star NABERS energy 
rating and DCP controls which will encourage solar PV and a green roof. 
This will contribute towards net-zero carbon, water sensitive urban design 
and urban ecology outcomes. 

Direction 3 – Integrated transport 
for a connected city 

The proposal will capitalise on its close proximity to existing heavy rail train 
stations and a significant number of bus routes connecting with the CBD 
and Bondi Junction. The proposal incorporates zero parking provision 
further limiting potential future trips by private vehicle and encouraging 
sustainable transport behaviour. 

Direction 4 – A city for walking 
and cycling 

The site is located in an inner-city suburb, close to existing local centres 
including Kings cross, Edgecliff, Fiveways Paddington and Darlinghurst. It 
benefits from convenient public transport and a number of on-road and 
separated cycleways connecting with the CBD.  

Direction 9 – Sustainable 
development, renewal and design 

The proposed planning controls will achieve a building envelope in-keeping 
with its surroundings, cognisant of the heritage items and Conservation 
Area in close proximity to the site and its impact on adjoining residential 
buildings. Further, the proposal will support a future development that is 
expected to include a range of sustainable building features.  

 
 
 
 

28



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 Page 14 

Q5. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable State Environmental Planning 
Policies (SEPPs)? 
 
The consistency of this planning proposal with current State Environmental Planning Policies 
(SEPPs) is outlined in the table below. SEPPs which have been repealed or were not finalised are 
not included in this table. 
 

Consistency with SEPPs 
State Environmental Planning 
Policy (SEPP) 

Comment 

SEPP No 1—Development 
Standards 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 4 – Development 
Without Consent and 
Miscellaneous Exempt and 
Complying Development 

Not applicable 

SEPP No 6 - Number of Storeys 
in a Building 

Consistent - This planning proposal does not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP 10 - Retention of Low Cost 
Accommodation 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 15 – Rural Landsharing 
Communities 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 19—Bushland in Urban 
Areas 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 21—Caravan Parks Not applicable. 
SEPP No 22 – Shops and 
Commercial Premises 

Consistent – This planning proposal does not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP No 29 – Western Sydney 
Recreation Area 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 30—Intensive 
Agriculture 

Not applicable. 

SEPP 32 – Urban Consolidation 
(Redevelopment of Urban Land)  

Consistent – This planning proposal does not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP No 33—Hazardous and 
Offensive Development 

Consistent - This planning proposal does not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP No 36—Manufactured 
Home Estates 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 39 – Spit Island Bird 
Habitat 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 42 – Casino 
Entertainment Complex 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 44—Koala Habitat 
Protection 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 47—Moore Park 
Showground 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 50—Canal Estate 
Development 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 52—Farm Dams and 
Other Works in Land and Water 
Management Plan Areas 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 53 – Metropolitan 
Residential Development 

Not applicable.  

SEPP No 55—Remediation of 
Land 

Consistent - This planning proposal does not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP 59 Central western Sydney 
Regional Open Space and 
Residential  

Not applicable.  

SEPP 60 Exempt and Complying 
Development 

Consistent – This planning proposal does not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

29



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 Page 15 

Consistency with SEPPs 
State Environmental Planning 
Policy (SEPP) 

Comment 

SEPP No 62—Sustainable 
Aquaculture 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 64—Advertising and 
Signage 

Consistent - This planning proposal does not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP No 65—Design Quality of 
Residential Flat Development 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 70—Affordable Housing 
(Revised Schemes) 

Not applicable.  

SEPP (Building Sustainability 
Index: BASIX) 2004 

Consistent - The planning proposal does not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Housing for Seniors or 
People with a Disability) 2004 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Major Development) 2005 Not applicable. 
SEPP (Sydney Region Growth 
Centres) 
2006 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007 Not applicable.  
SEPP (Kosciuszko National 
Park— 
Alpine Resorts) 2007 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Mining, Petroleum 
Production 
and Extractive Industries) 2007 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Temporary Structures) 
2007 

Consistent - The planning proposal does not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Exempt and Complying 
Development Codes) 2008 

Consistent - The planning proposal does not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Rural Lands) 2008 Not applicable. 
SEPP (Western Sydney 
Parklands) 2009 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Affordable Rental Housing) 
2009 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Western Sydney 
Employment Area) 2009 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Development on Kurnell 
Peninsula) 2005 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Coastal Management) 
2018 

Not applicable. 

 
The below table shows the consistency of this planning proposal with former Regional Environmental 
Plans (REPs) for the Sydney and Greater Metropolitan Regions, which are deemed to have the 
weight of SEPPs. 
 

Consistency with REPs 
Regional Environmental Plan 
(REPs) 

Comment 

Sydney REP No 5—(Chatswood 
Town Centre) 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 8 (Central Coast 
Plateau Areas) 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 9—Extractive 
Industry (No 2—1995) 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 11—Penrith 
Lakes Scheme 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 13—Mulgoa 
Valley 

Not applicable. 

30



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 Page 16 

Consistency with REPs 
Regional Environmental Plan 
(REPs) 

Comment 

Sydney REP No 16—Walsh Bay Not applicable. 
Sydney REP No 17—Kurnell 
Peninsula (1989) 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 18 – Public 
Transport 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 19 – Rouse Hill 
Development Area 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 20—
Hawkesbury- Nepean River (No 
2—1997) 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 24—Homebush 
Bay Area 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 25—Orchard 
Hills 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 26—City West Not applicable. 
Sydney REP No 28—Parramatta Not applicable. 
Sydney REP No 29—Rhodes 
Peninsula 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 30—St Marys Not applicable. 
Sydney REP No 33—Cooks Cove Not applicable. 
Sydney REP (Sydney Harbour 
Catchment) 2005 

Consistent - The planning proposal does not contradict or hinder 
application of this REP. 

Drinking Water Catchments REP 
No 1 

Not applicable. 

Greater Metropolitan REP No 2— 
Georges River Catchment 

Not applicable. 

 
Q6. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable Ministerial Directions (s.117 
directions)? 
 
This planning proposal has been assessed against each Section 117 direction. Consistency 
with these directions is shown in the table below. 
 

No. Title Comment 
1. Employment and Resources 
1.1 Business and Industrial Zones Consistent. 

 
The planning proposal is consistent with this 
Direction as it will facilitate the provision of additional 
employment floor space, fostering new jobs and 
small business. 

1.2 Rural Zones Not applicable 
1.3 Mining, Petroleum Production and Extractive 

Industries 
Not applicable 

1.4 Oyster Aquaculture Not applicable 
1.5 Rural Lands Not applicable 
2. Environment and Heritage 
2.1 Environment Protection Zones Not applicable 
2.2 Coastal Protection Not applicable 
2.3 Heritage Conservation Consistent. 

 
This planning proposal will neither hinder protection 
or preservation of the heritage listed buildings in 
proximity of the site, nor will it negatively impact 
upon the adjacent Conservation Area. 

31



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 Page 17 

No. Title Comment 
2.4 Recreation Vehicle Areas Not applicable 
2.5 Application of E2 and E3 Zones and 

Environmental Overlays in Far North Coast 
LEPs 

Not applicable 

3. Housing Infrastructure and Urban Development 
3.1 Residential Zones Not applicable 
3.2 Caravan Parks and Manufactured Home 

Estates 
Not applicable 

3.3 Home Occupations Not applicable 
3.4 Integrating Land Use and Transport Consistent. 

  
The proposal seeks to facilitate the intensification of 
employment generating uses in an accessible 
location. Furthermore, no parking is proposed in 
association with the additional floor space, resulting 
in minimal traffic generation as a result of the 
proposal. 
 
This planning proposal is consistent with the aims, 
objectives and principles of Improving Transport 
Choice – Guidelines for planning and development 
(DUAP 2001), and The Right Place for Business and 
Services – Planning Policy (DUAP 2001). 

3.5 Development Near Licensed Aerodromes Not applicable 
3.6 Shooting Ranges Not applicable 
4. Hazard and Risk 
4.1 Acid Sulfate Soils Consistent. 

 
This planning proposal does not contradict or hinder 
application of acid sulphate soils provisions in 
Sydney LEP 2012. 

4.2 Mine Subsidence and Unstable Land Not applicable 
4.3 Flood Prone Land Not applicable  
4.4 Planning for Bushfire Protection Not applicable 
5. Regional Planning 
5.1 Implementation of Regional Strategies Not applicable 
5.2 Sydney Drinking Water Catchments Not applicable 
5.3 Farmland of State and Regional Significance 

on the NSW Far North Coast 
Not applicable 

5.4 Commercial and Retail Development along 
the Pacific Highway, North Coast 

Not applicable 

5.8 Second Sydney Airport, Badgerys Creek Not applicable 
5.9 North West Rail Link Corridor Strategy Not applicable 
5.10 Implementation of Regional Plans Consistent. 

 
This planning proposal facilitates the implementation 
of several objectives and actions of the Eastern City 
District Plan. 

6. Local Plan Making 
6.1 Approval and Referral Requirements Consistent. 

 
This planning proposal does not include any 
concurrence, consultation or referral provisions nor 
does it identify any development as designated 
development. 

6.2 Reserving Land for Public Purposes Consistent. 
 
This planning proposal will not affect any land 
reserved for public purposes. 

32



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 Page 18 

No. Title Comment 
6.3 Site Specific Provisions Consistent. 

 
This planning proposal does not contradict or hinder 
the application of this direction. 

7. Metropolitan Planning 
7.1 Implementation of the Greater Sydney 

Region Plan: A Metropolis of Three Cities 
Consistent. 
 
This planning proposal facilitates the implementation 
several objectives and actions of the Greater Sydney 
Region Plan. 

 
Section C – Environmental, social and economic impact 
 
Q7. Is there any likelihood that critical habitat or threatened species, populations or 
ecological communities, or their habitats, will be adversely affected as a result of the 
proposal? 
 
The site is currently occupied by a building built to boundary and does not contain any 
known critical habitat or threatened species, populations or ecological communities or 
habitats. The proposal presents an opportunity to incorporate a green roof, offering a safe 
place for birds, insects and plants to grow, as well as providing a ‘stepping stone’ of habitat 
to link other green spaces.  
 
Q8. Are there any other likely environmental effects as a result of the planning 
proposal and how are they proposed to be managed? 
 
This planning proposal seeks to amend the height and FSR controls for the site under 
Sydney LEP 2012 and in doing so facilitate additional commercial floor space. In preparing 
this planning proposal, environmental considerations were assessed, as listed below.  
 
Built form, overshadowing and amenity  
 
The proposed building envelope follows the 4-storey height of the approved car dealership 
building at 65 Craigend Street, to the north of the site, transitioning down to 3-storeys to the 
south of the site at the interface of the adjacent residential terraces. Building setbacks 
maintain the existing 2-storey street frontage height, above and set in from the parapet of 
the existing building. A 6 metre side setback is to be provided between level 4 and the 
residential properties to the south. 
  
A shadow analysis has been undertaken. This demonstrates that the proposed built form, 
through the provision of sufficient building setbacks, will not result in any additional 
overshadowing to the adjacent residential dwellings and private open space. The private 
open space at 61-63 McLachlan Avenue, to the south of the site, receives 2 hours of 
sunlight to approximately 77% of its surface between 9am and 3pm in mid-winter. The 
proposed built form creates minor additional overshadowing to the façade of 61-63 
McLachlan Avenue at 2:00pm mid-winter, but this is considered acceptable as windows to 
habitable rooms are not overshadowed. It is noted that additional overshadowing occurs to 
the commercial building at 49-59 McLachlan Street. However, given the use of the building 
this is considered acceptable. 
 
Heritage 
 
The site is directly opposite the Barcom Avenue Heritage Conservation Area (C11) which is 
predominantly characterised by 2-storeyed late Victorian and Federation terraces. 
 

33



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 Page 19 

All of the properties directly opposite the subject site are Contributory buildings within the 
heritage conservation area. The majority of properties directly opposite the subject site have 
their fronts to Womerah Avenue and rear yards to Barcom Avenue. A smaller number have 
their fronts to Barcom Avenue. 
 
Although the 2-storeyed Federation terraces (64-70 Barcom Avenue) to the south of the 
subject site are outside of any heritage conservation area, their scale, height, form and front 
setback all reinforce the significant character of Barcom Avenue and provide a human-scale 
street enclosure and definition. It is important to provide an appropriate transition from the 
proposed development envelope to these 2-storeyed Federation terraces (64-70 Barcom 
Avenue) so that there is not an inappropriate scale jump between properties. 
 
The proposed envelopes and indicative concept design are respectful of the Contributory 
buildings opposite in the Barcom Avenue Heritage Conservation Area and of the 2-storeyed 
Federation terraces at 64-70 Barcom Avenue. The level 2 and 3 envelope setbacks will be 
secured via the accompanying DCP amendment to ensure the 2-storeyed street wall 
character is maintained and an appropriate side setback from the 2-storeyed Federation 
terraces at 64-70 Barcom Avenue is achieved. 
 
Traffic and transport 
 
No change is proposed to the current access and loading arrangements for the existing 
storage facility on the site. The site benefits from convenient access to public transport, 
including Kings Cross rail station within 800m and a number of bus services connecting the 
site to the CBD and Bondi Junction. As such, no parking is proposed. Barcom Avenue is an 
on-road cycle route which connects to the Bourke Street separated, off-road cycleway via 
Liverpool Street. This cycleway provides a safe cycle link with the CBD. The proposal can 
facilitate provision for bicycle parking and private end-of-trip facilities. 
 
Drainage/stormwater 
 
The site is currently occupied by a flat-roofed building which is built to boundary. There is no 
on-site stormwater detention tank. The incorporation of a green roof in association with the 
proposed development will provide an opportunity to reduce the majority of concentrated 
flows from the impermeable surfaces within the development site. This is to be secured via 
a provision in the accompanying DCP amendment. 
 
Ecologically sustainable development 
 
Whilst the proposed development will not result in adverse environmental impacts, it also 
provides the opportunity to generate positive environmental impacts. The NSW Climate 
Change Policy Framework sets a target of net zero emissions by 2050. This is supported by 
the Greater Sydney Region Plan and Eastern City District Plan. An objective of this planning 
proposal is to secure a 6 star base building NABERS Energy Commitment Agreement for 
this commercial development, to reduce local area emissions and help to achieve the City’s 
greenhouse gas emission reduction targets.  
 
In addition to this, the proposal has significant roof area which is north-west facing and 
unlikely to be significantly overshadowed by future building heights due to the low rise 
residential areas nearby. This means that there is significant potential for roof top solar, 
which would also be a cost-effective contributor to achieving a 6 star NABERS Energy 
target.  
 
Proposed DCP provisions will encourage a solar PV system, which could also incorporate 
some solar water heating for the building. The DCP will also ensure that future design 
details, for example high parapet walls, and unnecessary roof clutter are avoided to 

34



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 Page 20 

maximise the renewables opportunity on the site. This will support the City’s Renewable 
Energy masterplan and target of 50% of electricity demand to be from renewable sources 
by 2030.  
 
Securing the NABERS Energy Commitment Agreement and operating the PV system can 
be complemented by the proposed DCP green roof requirement, which will increase the 
thermal performance of the building through increased roof insulation. 
 
Q9. Has the planning proposal adequately addressed any social and economic 
effects? 
Co-working office space, as proposed, can promote collaborative and innovative working 
environments, accommodating start-ups through to established business ventures. It assists 
small business and innovative industries gain low cost entry into the marketplace.  
 
30-62 Barcom Avenue sits on the Sydney CBD fringe, in close proximity to a pre-existing 
cluster of co-working spaces and with potential to bridge the gap between the Eastern 
Suburbs and Sydney CBD startup communities, continuing the growth of the entrepreneurial 
ecosystem of Sydney.  
 
Darlinghurst itself presents a number of geographic, demographic and economic factors 
which support the desirability and suitability for location of co-working spaces.  
 
The proposed co-working office use is currently permissible under the existing B4 zoning of 
the site and is unlikely to give rise to negative impacts in the surrounding area, due to the 
proposed building design and restriction on additional parking. To ensure the economic 
benefits linked to the additional floor space are secured, a site-specific LEP provision will 
ensure that the additional GFA be exclusively used for employment related uses. 
 
Section D – State and Commonwealth interests 
 
Q10. Is there adequate public infrastructure for the planning proposal? 
 
The site is located in an established urban area and has access to a range of existing 
facilities and services, including utilities. The site is located in close proximity to a number of 
public transport services, including bus and rail. Approximately 150 metres from the site is a 
pedestrian bridge providing a connection to Kings Cross Station to the north. The closest 
bus stop is located at Arthur Reserve, within 200 metres, which is serviced by bus routes 
connecting the site to Sydney CBD. Several pedestrian and cycling links connect the site 
with the surrounding area and broader Sydney CBD. 
 
Q11. What are the views of state and Commonwealth public authorities consulted in 
accordance with the Gateway determination? 
 
The Gateway Determination will identify the public authorities to be consulted as part of the 
planning proposal process and any views expressed will be included in this planning 
proposal following consultation. 
 
Formal consultation has not yet been undertaken. 
 
  

35



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 Page 21 

PART 4 - MAPPING 
 
This planning proposal does not seek to amend the Building Height and Floor Space Ratio 
Maps in Sydney LEP 2012 as it is intended that the site will be described by its legal title (ie. 
Lot and Deposited Plan) in the relevant LEP clause.  
 
  

36



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 Page 22 

PART 5 – COMMUNITY CONSULTATION 
 
Public consultation will be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of the Gateway 
Determination. 
 
It is proposed that, at a minimum, this will involve the notification of the public exhibition of 
the planning proposal: 
 

• on the City of Sydney website; 
 

• in the Sydney Morning Herald and/or a relevant local newspaper; and 
 

• in writing to the owners and occupiers of adjoining and nearby properties and 
relevant community groups. 

 
It is anticipated that the planning proposal will be publicly exhibited for a period of not less 
than 28 days in accordance with section 4.5 of ‘A guide to preparing local environmental 
plans’. 
 
It is proposed that exhibition material will be made available on the City of Sydney Website 
and at the City of Sydney customer service centres.  
 
Consultation with relevant NSW agencies and authorities and other relevant organisations 
will be undertaken in accordance with the Gateway Determination. 
 
PART 6 – PROJECT TIMELINE 
 
The following project timeline will assist with tracking the progress of the planning proposal 
through its various stages of consultation and approval. It is estimated that this amendment 
to SLEP 2012 will be completed by April 2019.  
 

Stage Timeframe 
Submit planning proposal to Department of Planning and 
Environment seeking a Gateway Determination September 2018 

Receive Gateway Determination October 2018 

Public exhibition and public authority consultation of planning 
proposal and DCP Amendment November 2018  

Review of submissions received during public exhibition and public 
authority consultation December to February 2019 

Council and Central Sydney Planning Committee approval of 
planning proposal and DCP Amendment February 2019 

Drafting of instrument and finalisation of mapping March 2019 

Amendment to Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 legally 
drafted and made April 2019 

 
 
 
  

37



 

Planning Proposal – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst | August 2018 Page 23 

APPENDIX A: Ethos Urban planning proposal request and supporting 
information 
 
 
 
 

38



Attachment B 

Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 
2012 – 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst

39



 

August 2018 version 

DRAFT SYDNEY DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PLAN – 30-62 
BARCOM AVENUE, DARLINGHURST 

 
1. The purpose of the Development Control Plan 

The purpose of this Development Control Plan (DCP) is to amend Sydney Development 
Control Plan 2012, which was adopted by Council on 14 May 2012 and came into effect on 
14 December 2012. 

The provisions guide future development of land known as 30-62 Barcom Avenue, when 
development is subject to Clause 6.XX - 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst of Sydney 
Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP 2012). 

Clause 6.XX - 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst of Sydney LEP 2012 allows additional 
floor space for uses other than residential, where no additional parking would be provided 
and where a 6 star Energy Commitment Agreement is secured. 

This DCP amendment does not apply to development on land to which Clause 6.XX does 
not apply. 

2. Citation 

This amendment may be referred to as Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 30-62 
Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst. 

3. Land covered by this plan 

This plan applies to the land identified as 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst – which is Lot 
B in DP 111138. 

4. Relationship of this plan to Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

This plan amends the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 in the manner set out in 
Schedule 1 below. 

 

Schedule 1 – Amendment to Sydney Development Control Plan 
2012 
[1] Section 6.3 Specific site controls prepared as part of a Planning Proposal 

At the end of this section insert new Section 6.3.X and figures 6.XX and 6.XX as follows: 

 

Section 6.3.X 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst 

The following objectives and provisions apply to 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst where 
the provisions of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 Clause 6.XX 30-62 Barcom 
Avenue Darlinghurst are implemented. 

All other relevant provisions of this DCP apply. The provisions of this section shall prevail in 
the event of any inconsistency. 

 

40



 

August 2018 version 

Objectives 

(a) To ensure that the building is of appropriate bulk and scale in response to its context 
of adjoining low scale residential and the Barcom Avenue Conservation Area; and  

(b) To ensure that development exhibits a high level of environmental performance. 

 

Provisions 

6.3.x.x   Built Form 

(1) Development is not to exceed the maximum number of storeys shown in Figure 6.XX 
Height in Storeys. 

(2) Development is to provide setbacks to the building envelope in accordance with 
Figure 6.XX Building Setbacks. 

 

 

Figure 6.XX Height in Storeys 

 

41



 

August 2018 version 

 

Figure 6.XX Building Setbacks 

 

6.3.x.x   Sustainability 

(1) Development is to be accompanied by a 6 star base building NABERS Energy 
Commitment Agreement. 

(2) A PV system is encouraged on the roof of the building, which can also include some 
solar water heating for the building. 

(3) Building design is to consider how best to maximise the roof top solar potential and is 
to avoid high parapet walls, unnecessary roof clutter and the like. 

(4) A green roof, intensive or extensive, covering 30% of available roof space is 
encouraged, with available roof space being the total roof area minus areas for 
renewable energy, where the renewable energy system cannot be incorporated into 
and work appropriately with a green roof. 

 

 

[2] Mapping 

Amend Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 local map sheets as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

42



West
Avenue

Sims Stree

Mcelhone

Street

Clap
ton

Plac
e

S
ho

rte
r

La
ne

Bu
rto

n

St
re

et

Ta
ylo

r

St
re

et

W
in

de
ye

r S
t

Kelle
tt

S
tre

et

or
t

S t
re

et

W
hi

te
s

La
ne

Llankelly
Place

Pr
in

g
S t

ElizabethBay Road

Chisholm
Street

Clare

Earl

Place

JudgePlace

Thomson
Lane

Little

West

Stre
et

M
an

sio
n

La
ne

Maiden Ln

Faucett
Lane

O
'B

rie
ns

La
ne

Th
om

so
n 

Pl

Macleay
Street

H
ug

he
s

S t
re

et

C
le

m
en

t
St

re
et

B u
tle

rs
S

ta
irs

Cr
o s

s
La

n e
St

Ki
ld

a
La

n e

Be
rw

ic
k

L a
ne

Ro
sly

n

Street

O
xf

or
d

St
re

et

Su
t to

n
L n

Burto
n

Stre
et

Ba
ys

w
at

e r
Ln

St
re

et

Dowling

Caldwell

Street

West

Street

Bourke

Street

St
ur

t

St
re

et

BarodaStreet

Ba
ys

wate
r

Mew
s

B
ay

sw
at

er

Roa
d

PalmerStreet

Ward

Avenue

Victo
ria

Street

el

WisdomLane

Little

Su
rre

y
St

r e
et

Egan

Place

C
ra

ig
en

d

S
t re

et

C
or

fu
St

re
e t

Birtle
y

Pl

RosebankSt

Leichhardt St

Neild
Avenue

Pennys
Lane

Vi

HughesLane

La
cro

zia
La

ne

Fa
rre

ll

Av
en

ue

St
Pe

t e
rs

La
ne

M
on

tc
la

ir
La

n e

Su
tto

n
Ln

G
re

en
kn

ow
e

Av
en

ue

Palmer
Lane

Forbes

Street

W
illi

am
St

re
et

S
ur

re
y

St
re

et

Li
ve

rp
oo

l

S
tre

et

Mcla
ch

lan

Way

H
ills

 S
ta

irs

R
ae

Pl
ac

e

W
ar

ata
h

Street

Ice
Street

Judge

Street

Roslyn

Gardens

H
ar

m
er

St
re

et

Kirketon

Road

H
ug

he
s

St
re

et

Sp
r in

gf
ie

ld
M

al
l

Ea
rl 

St
re

et

Springfield
Avenue

Li
nd

en
La

ne

Thomson

Street Si
m

s

Street

Mcla
ch

lan
 A

ve
nu

e

Street

Darley
Street

Su
rre

y

La
ne

C
le

m
en

t P
l

O
rw

el
l

S
tre

et

Bou
nd

ary

Street

Evans
Road

Eastern Distributor

Hourigan
Lane

E
liz

ab
et

h

Ba
y

R
oa

d

Darlin
ghurst

Ro
ad

Ba
rn

et
t

La
ne

Burrahpore
Place

La
ne

R
ow

en
a 

Pl

PalmerS

budLa
ne

La
ne

Bourke

Pr
em

ie
r

La
ne

HaydenPlace

Ba
ys

w
at

er
R

oa
d

Forbes

Street

Hu
gh

es
Pl

a c
e

w

Avenue

Darlin
ghurst

Road

Brougham

Street

Cow

Lane

Maiden Ln

Tusculum

Bourke

Street

Ju
nc

tio
n

La
n e

Tusculum

Brou

Io
na

La
ne

Ju
dg

e
La

n e

Waratah

Street

C
ric

k 
Av

en
ue

Ve
ro

na
St

re
et

Amos

Lane

Bourke
Street

Bradley

Lane

WisdomLn

Oswald Lane

W
om

er
ah

Av
en

ue

Flinders Street

West

Lan
e

Ju
nc

tio
n 

St

D
a r

le
y

Pl
a c

e

OrwellLane W
om

er
ah

La
ne

R
os

e
Tc

e

Dowling

Street

W
illi

am
La

ne

HaydenLane

Barco
m

Ave
nue

B
ro

ug
ha

m

La
ne

Ke
lle

tt
Pl

Victoria

Street

Ros
lyn

La
ne

Ki
ng

s
C

ro
ss

R
oa

d

ClementLane

St
Pe

te
rs

St
re

et

Barncle
uth

La
ne

Holdsworth
Avenue

Tu
rn

er
La

ne

EA
ST

ER
N

SU
BU

R
BS

R
AI

LW
AY

Chisholm Str

on
S

tre
et

Nimrod
Street

Lin
ds

ay
 La

ne

t

C
at

he
dr

al

S
tre

et

m
S

tre
et

Hardie
Street

Talbot
Place

Ba
rc

om
Av

en
ue

G
od

er
ic

h

La
neKe
lle

tt 
W

ay

Sp
rin

gf
ie

ld
 L

an
e

Ithaca

Sy
dn

ey
Pl

ShortPlace

P
at

te
rs

on
Ln

BossleyTerrace

Ba
rn

cle
ut

h

Square

Earl

Street

W
oo

lla
hr

a 
M

un
ic

ip
al

 C
ou

nc
il

2

3

4
2

01
1

00
6

01
3

02
0

00
7

01
4

02
1

00
1

00
8

01
5

02
2

00
2

00
9

01
6

02
3

00
3

01
0

01
7

02
4

00
4

01
8

00
5

01
2

01
9

H
ei

gh
t i

n 
st

or
ey

s 
m

ap
Sh

ee
t 0

22

C
op

yr
ig

ht
 ©

20
18

  C
ity

 o
f S

yd
ne

y 
C

ou
nc

il,
 A

ll 
R

ig
ht

s 
R

es
er

ve
d

C
op

yr
ig

ht
 ©

20
18

  L
an

d 
an

d 
Pr

op
er

ty
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n,
 A

ll 
R

ig
ht

s
R

es
er

ve
d.

 T
hi

s 
m

ap
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

co
m

pi
le

d 
fro

m
 v

ar
io

us
 s

ou
rc

es
an

d 
th

e 
pu

bl
is

he
r a

nd
/o

r c
on

tri
bu

to
rs

 a
cc

ep
t n

o 
re

sp
on

si
bi

lit
y

fo
r a

ny
 in

ju
ry

, l
os

s 
or

 d
am

ag
e 

ar
is

in
g 

fro
m

 th
e 

us
e,

 e
rro

r o
r 

om
is

si
on

s 
th

er
ei

n.
 W

hi
le

 a
ll 

ca
re

 is
 ta

ke
n 

to
 e

ns
ur

e 
a 

hi
gh

 
de

gr
ee

 o
f a

cc
ur

ac
y,

 u
se

rs
 a

re
 in

vi
te

d 
to

 n
ot

ify
 C

ou
nc

il’s
 G

IS
 

G
ro

up
 o

f a
ny

 m
ap

 d
is

cr
ep

an
ci

es
.  

N
o 

pa
rt 

of
 th

is
 m

ap
 m

ay
 b

e
re

pr
od

uc
ed

 w
ith

ou
t w

rit
te

n 
pe

rm
is

si
on

.

Pr
oj

ec
tio

n:
 M

G
A 

Zo
ne

 5
6

D
at

um
: G

D
A9

4
Pa

pe
r S

iz
e:

 A
3

Pr
ep

ar
ed

 B
y:

 S
PU

D
Pr

in
tin

g 
D

at
e:

 A
ug

us
t 8

, 2
01

8
Fi

le
: S

D
C

P2
01

2_
H

O
B_

St
or

ey
s.

m
xd

Sy
dn

ey
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

C
on

tr
ol

 P
la

n 
20

12

Ü
0

20
0

m

Sc
al

e:
 1

: 5
,0

00
 a

t A
3

Le
ge

nd 1 
St

or
ey

2 
St

or
ey

s

3 
St

or
ey

s

4 
St

or
ey

s

5 
St

or
ey

s

6 
St

or
ey

s

7 
St

or
ey

s

8 
St

or
ey

s

9 
St

or
ey

s

10
 S

to
re

ys

11
 S

to
re

ys

12
 S

to
re

ys

13
 S

to
re

ys

14
 S

to
re

ys

15
 S

to
re

ys

>1
5 

St
or

ey
s

La
nd

 e
xc

lu
de

d 
fro

m
 th

is
 D

C
P

43



West
Avenue

Sims Stree

Mcelhone

Street

Clap
ton

Plac
e

S
ho

rte
r

La
ne

Bu
rto

n

St
re

et

Ta
ylo

r

St
re

et

W
in

de
ye

r S
t

Kellett

St
re

et

or
t

St
re

et

W
hi

te
s

La
ne

Llankelly
Place

Pr
in

g
St

ElizabethBay Road

Chisholm
Street

Clare

Earl

Place

JudgePlace

Thomson
Lane

Lit
tle

West

Stre
et

M
an

si
on

La
ne

Maiden Ln

Faucett
Lane

O
'B

r ie
ns

La
ne

Th
om

so
n 

Pl

Macleay
Street

H
ug

he
s

S t
re

et

C
le

m
en

t
St

re
et

Bu
tle

r s
S

ta
ir s

C
ro

ss
La

ne
St

Ki
ld

a
La

ne

Be
rw

ic
k

La
ne

Ro
sly

n

Street

O
xf

or
d

St
re

et

Su
tto

n
Ln

Burto
n

Stre
et

B
ay

sw
a t

er
Ln

St
re

et

Dowling

Caldwell

Street

West

Street

Bourke

Street

St
ur

t

St
re

et

BarodaStreet

Ba
ys

wat
er

Mews

Ba
ys

w
at

er

Roa
d

PalmerStreet

Ward

Avenue

Victo
ria

Street

el

WisdomLane

Little

Su
rre

y
St

re
et

Egan

Place

C
ra

ig
en

d
St

re
et

C
or

fu
St

re
et

Birtle
y

Pl

RosebankSt

Leichhardt St

Neild
Avenue

Pennys
Lane

Vi

HughesLane

La
cro

zia
La

ne

Fa
rre

ll

Av
en

ue

St
Pe

te
rs

La
ne

M
on

tc
la

ir
La

ne

Su
tto

n
L n

G
re

en
kn

ow
e

Av
en

ue

Palmer
Lane

Forbes

Street

W
illi

am
St

re
et

Su
rre

y

St
re

et

Li
ve

rp
oo

l

St
re

et

Mcla
ch

lan

Way

H
ills

 S
ta

irs

R
ae

Pl
a c

e

W
ar

ata
h

Street

Ice Street

Judge

Street

Roslyn

Gardens

H
ar

m
er

St
re

et

Kirketon

Road

H
ug

he
s

S t
re

et

Sp
rin

gf
ie

l d
M

al
l

Ea
rl 

St
re

et

Springfield
Avenue

Li
nd

en
La

ne

Thomson

Street Si
m

s

Street

Mcla
ch

lan
 A

ve
nu

e

Street

Darley
Street

Su
rre

y

La
ne

C
le

m
en

t P
l

O
rw

el
l

St
re

et

Bou
nd

ar
y

Street

Evans
Road

Eastern Distributor

Hourigan
Lane

El
iz

ab
et

h

Ba
y

R
oa

d

Darlin
ghurst

Ro
ad

Ba
rn

et
t

La
ne

Burrahpore
Place

La
ne

R
ow

en
a 

Pl

PalmerS

budLa
ne

La
ne

Bourke

Pr
em

ie
r

La
ne

HaydenPlace

Ba
ys

w
at

er
R

oa
d

Forbes

Street

H
ug

he
s

Pl
ac

e

w

Avenue

Darlin
ghurst

Road

Brougham

Street

Cow

Lane

Maiden Ln

Tusculum

Bourke

Street

Ju
nc

tio
n

La
ne

Tusculum

Brou

Io
na

La
ne

Ju
dg

e
La

ne

Waratah

Street

C
ric

k 
Av

en
ue

Ve
ro

na
St

re
et

Amos

Lane

Bourke
Street

Bradley

Lane

WisdomLn

Oswald Lane

W
om

er
ah

Av
en

ue

Flinders Street

West

Lane

Ju
nc

tio
n 

St

D
ar

l e
y

Pl
ac

e

OrwellLane W
om

er
ah

La
ne

Ro
se

Tc
e

Dowling

Street

W
illi

am
La

ne

HaydenLane

Barcom

Ave
nue

Br
ou

gh
am

La
ne

Ke
lle

tt
Pl

Victoria

Street

Ros
lyn

La
ne

Ki
ng

s
C

ro
ss

R
oa

d

ClementLane

St
Pe

te
rs

St
re

et

Barncle
uth

La
ne

Holdsworth
Avenue

Tu
rn

er
La

ne

EA
S

TE
R

N
S

U
B

U
R

B
S

R
A

IL
W

AY

Chisholm Str

on
St

re
et

Nimrod
Street

Lin
ds

ay
 La

ne

t

C
at

he
dr

al

St
re

et

m
St

re
e t

Hardie
Street

Talbot
Place

Ba
rc

om
Av

en
ue

G
od

er
ic

h

La
neKe
lle

tt 
W

ay

Sp
rin

gf
ie

ld
 L

an
e

Ithaca

Sy
dn

ey
Pl

ShortPlace

Pa
tte

r s
on

Ln

BossleyTerrace

Ba
rn

cle
uth

Square

Earl

Street

W
oo

lla
hr

a 
M

un
ic

ip
al

 C
ou

nc
il

Le
ge

nd 1 
St

or
ey

2 
St

or
ey

s

3 
St

or
ey

s

4 
St

or
ey

s

5 
St

or
ey

s

6 
St

or
ey

s

7 
St

or
ey

s

8 
St

or
ey

s

9 
St

or
ey

s

10
 S

to
re

ys

Ex
is

tin
g 

he
ig

ht

La
nd

 e
xc

lu
de

d 
fro

m
 th

is
 D

C
P

01
1

00
6

01
3

02
0

00
7

01
4

02
1

00
1

00
8

01
5

02
2

00
2

00
9

01
6

02
3

00
3

01
0

01
7

02
4

00
4

01
8

00
5

01
2

01
9

Bu
ild

in
g 

st
re

et
 fr

on
ta

ge
 h

ei
gh

t
in

 s
to

re
ys

 m
ap

Sh
ee

t  
02

2

C
op

yr
ig

ht
 ©

20
18

  C
ity

 o
f S

yd
ne

y 
C

ou
nc

il,
 A

ll 
R

ig
ht

s 
R

es
er

ve
d

C
op

yr
ig

ht
 ©

20
18

  L
an

d 
an

d 
Pr

op
er

ty
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n,
 A

ll 
R

ig
ht

s
R

es
er

ve
d.

 T
hi

s 
m

ap
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

co
m

pi
le

d 
fro

m
 v

ar
io

us
 s

ou
rc

es
an

d 
th

e 
pu

bl
is

he
r a

nd
/o

r c
on

tri
bu

to
rs

 a
cc

ep
t n

o 
re

sp
on

si
bi

lit
y

fo
r a

ny
 in

ju
ry

, l
os

s 
or

 d
am

ag
e 

ar
is

in
g 

fro
m

 th
e 

us
e,

 e
rro

r o
r 

om
is

si
on

s 
th

er
ei

n.
 W

hi
le

 a
ll 

ca
re

 is
 ta

ke
n 

to
 e

ns
ur

e 
a 

hi
gh

 
de

gr
ee

 o
f a

cc
ur

ac
y,

 u
se

rs
 a

re
 in

vi
te

d 
to

 n
ot

ify
 C

ou
nc

il’s
 G

IS
 

G
ro

up
 o

f a
ny

 m
ap

 d
is

cr
ep

an
ci

es
.  

N
o 

pa
rt 

of
 th

is
 m

ap
 m

ay
 b

e
re

pr
od

uc
ed

 w
ith

ou
t w

rit
te

n 
pe

rm
is

si
on

.

Pr
oj

ec
tio

n:
 M

G
A 

Zo
ne

 5
6

D
at

um
: G

D
A9

4
Pa

pe
r S

iz
e:

 A
3

Pr
ep

ar
ed

 B
y:

 S
PU

D
Pr

in
tin

g 
D

at
e:

 A
ug

us
t 1

4,
 2

01
8

Fi
le

: S
D

C
P2

01
2_

SF
H

.m
xd

Sy
dn

ey
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

C
on

tr
ol

 P
la

n 
20

12

Ü
0

20
0

m

Sc
al

e:
 1

: 5
,0

00
 a

t A
3

44



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Pre Exhibition – Planning Proposal – 12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, 
Rosebery – Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development 
Control Plan 2012 Amendment

File No: X009371

Summary

This report seeks Central Sydney Planning Committee (CSPC) approval of Planning 
Proposal: 12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery (Planning Proposal) for submission to 
the Greater Sydney Commission with a request for a Gateway Determination to allow public 
exhibition. 

In December 2017, Ethos Urban planning consultants on behalf of the landowner, Maville 
Park Pty Ltd, submitted a request to amend the planning controls for the site at 12-22 and 24 
Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery (the site). 

The site is located in North Rosebery within the Green Square Urban Renewal Area (Green 
Square). Development within the area to date has seen the provision of mixed use buildings 
comprising retail, commercial and residential uses to create a diverse and vibrant community 
in an accessible location with a high quality public domain. 

The site comprises two individual development lots, with the lot to the south containing a 
locally listed heritage item, and the lot to the north being the area of future development. The 
Planning Proposal is to facilitate: 

 on the heritage lot, the retention of the heritage building, a widened heritage curtilage, 
and the adaptive reuse of the building for over 2,000 square metres of commercial, 
retail or office floor space;

 on the development lot, a mixed use development comprising about 180 dwellings, 
basement car parking, completion of a through site link through the street block, and a 
retail frontage to a through site link.

The planning proposal request sought by the landowner has been reviewed by the City. The 
review resulted in a number of changes to the planning controls proposed by the landowner 
to address issues relating to building articulation, bulk and scale, relationship to surrounding 
buildings (including the heritage building) and public domain amenity.

The Planning Proposal, at Attachment A, has been prepared by the City and seeks 
amendment to the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP 2012) to: 

 decrease the maximum building height on the heritage site from 22 metres to 9 
metres;

 increase the maximum building height on the development site from 22 metres to 29 
metres fronting Rothschild Avenue and 27 metres fronting Mentmore Avenue;

1

Item 7.



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

 transfer available floor space from the heritage site to the development site by 
decreasing the FSR on the heritage site from 1.5:1 to 1:1 and increasing the mapped 
FSR on the development site from 1.5:1 to 1.75:1; and

 require all floor space in the heritage building be used for non-residential purposes.

Amendment to Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012: 12-22 and 24 Rothschild 
Avenue, Rosebery (draft DCP), at Attachment B, provide additional site specific provisions to 
guide the development of the site. Provisions relate to land use, building street wall heights 
and setbacks, the activation of the through-site link, street activation, parking and vehicular 
access, flooding and stormwater, noise, design excellence and public domain improvements.

The resulting built form facilitated by the Planning Proposal and the draft DCP can be 
achieved in compliance with the Apartment Design Guide and has been designed and 
situated to minimise impact on the public domain and reduce height impacts from 
overshadowing on the heritage building and to neighbouring residential buildings.

Recommendation

It is resolved that:

(A) the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve Planning Proposal: Local 
Environmental Plan - 12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery, shown at 
Attachment A to the subject report, for submission to the relevant local plan making 
authority with a request for Gateway Determination;

(B) the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve Planning Proposal: Local 
Environmental Plan - 12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery, for public authority 
consultation and public exhibition in accordance with any conditions imposed under 
the Gateway Determination;

(C) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the recommendation to Council's 
Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee on 10 September 2018 that Council 
approve Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 - 12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, 
Rosebery, shown at Attachment B to the subject report, for public authority 
consultation and public exhibition with the Planning Proposal;

(D) the Central Sydney Planning Committee seek authority from the relevant local plan 
making authority to exercise the delegation of all the functions under section 3.36 of 
the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 to make the local 
environmental plan to put into effect Planning Proposal: 12-22 and 24 Rothschild 
Avenue, Rosebery; 

(E) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor variations to 
Planning Proposal: Local Environmental Plan -12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, 
Rosebery, following receipt of the Gateway Determination; and

(F) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor variations to 
Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 - 12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, 
Rosebery, to correct any drafting errors and/or to ensure it is consistent with the 
Planning Proposal following the Gateway Determination.

2



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Attachments

Attachment A. Planning Proposal: Local Environmental Plan - 12-22 and 24 Rothschild 
Avenue, Rosebery

Attachment B. Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 - 12-22 and 24 Rothschild 
Avenue, Rosebery

3



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Background

1. This report seeks Central Sydney Planning Committee (CSPC) approval of Planning 
Proposal: 12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery (Planning Proposal), at 
Attachment A, for submission to the Greater Sydney Commission with a request for a 
Gateway Determination to allow public exhibition.

2. In December 2017, the City received a planning proposal request to change the 
planning controls that apply to 12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery. The 
planning proposal request comprises two individual lots on separate titles. 

3. The southern portion of the site, referred to as 'Site H' contains a two-storey inter-war 
warehouse style building, which is a local heritage item identified under the Sydney 
Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP 2012). 

4. The northern portion of the site, referred to as 'Site D', currently comprises three 
interconnected buildings which accommodate office uses and associated open-air at 
grade car parking. These buildings are at the end of their economic life. The sites are 
shown at Figure 1.

5. The Planning Proposal, that has been prepared in response to the land owner's 
request by the City and is the subject of this report, seeks to amend the Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP 2012) to increase building heights on Site D, 
reduce building heights on Site H, and redistribute floor space across the sites to 
facilitate: 

(a) on Site H, the retention of the heritage building comprising 2,000 square metres 
of commercial office space, and improvement of the heritage curtilage; and

(b) on Site D, a mixed use development comprising about 180 dwellings and retail 
frontage to a through site link at the north of the site.

6. The proposed controls will allow an improved development outcome across both sites 
that will result in: 

(a) protection of the heritage listed warehouse from the encroachment of potentially 
unsympathetic development; 

(b) a new built form envelope on Site D that sensitively responds to the site's 
surrounding context, particularly towards the adjacent heritage building, through 
appropriate building heights and secondary setbacks for upper levels;

(c) establishment of heritage curtilage to the north of the heritage listed warehouse 
creating a six metre separation between the warehouse and the new buildings 
on Site D;

(d) a deep soil landscaped setback along Rothschild Avenue and Mentmore Avenue 
to align with the heritage item and contribute to the public domain; and

(e) an improved mix and distribution of uses that result in the viable reuse of the 
heritage listed warehouse and contribute retail activity to the area. 

4



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

7. This report also seeks the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the 
recommendation to Council's Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee on 10 
September 2018 to approve Sydney Development Control Plan 2012: 12-22 and 24 
Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery (draft DCP), at Attachment B, for public exhibition. The 
DCP seeks amendment to the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 (Sydney DCP 
2012) to include detailed built form provisions, which will guide redevelopment of the 
sites. 

Site description
8. The subject sites are located at 12-22 Rothschild Avenue and 24 Rothschild Avenue, 

Rosebery and are identified as Lot 1 DP 314957, Lot 5 DP 309149, Lot A DP 322620, 
Lot B DP 308922, Lot 408 DP 315228, Lot 1 DP 456612, Lot 2 DP 456612, Lot 410 
DP 7534 and Lot 456 DP 7534. The land has a total area of approximately 8,403 
square metres and is owned by Maville Park Pty Ltd. The sites are shown outlined in 
Figures 1 and 2. Photos of the site are at Figures 3-4.

9. The sites have frontages to Rothschild Avenue to the east, Cressy Street to the south 
and Mentmore Avenue to the west. A section of a future through-site link adjoins the 
sites along the north boundary and a recently completed residential apartment building 
directly adjoins the sites on the other side of the through site link. 

Figure 1: Site location

10. The site is generally flat with a slight slope towards the south-west corner, resulting in 
a risk of flooding along the eastern frontage during significant weather events.

5



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

11. Approximately one kilometre to the north-west of the site is the Green Square Town 
Centre (Town Centre) and Green Square train station. Other transport connections 
include several nearby bus stops located on Rothschild Avenue, that connect the area 
with Central Sydney, Redfern, Bondi Junction, Mascot and Kingsford.

Figure 2: Aerial photo of site

6



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Figure 3: View looking north-east showing the existing heritage building on the south-east corner of 
the site, at the Cressy Street and Rothschild Avenue intersection.

Figure 4: View looking north-west towards the subject site and the existing heritage item at the 
Cressy Street and Mentmore Avenue intersection.

7



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Figure 5: Looking along Rothschild Avenue showing adjoining residential development and the 
subject site to the left.

Figure 6: Looking north along Mentmore Avenue showing adjoining residential development and the 
subject site on the right.

8



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

12. The site is located within the Green Square Urban Renewal Area (Green Square). The 
area is under transition from former industrial uses to mixed-use developments that 
include ground floor retail and commercial uses and residential uses. The majority of 
the land has been redeveloped, however a number of projects are currently under 
construction or are yet to commence. 

13. The site is surrounded by the following development:

(a) North - An eight storey building immediately adjoins the subject sites to the 
north-west and includes 100 residential apartments. Adjoining the sites to the 
north-east is an eight storey mixed-use building including ground floor retail uses 
and the completed eastern section of the through-site link.

(b) East - a large redevelopment site is currently under construction for 14 buildings 
comprising residential apartments, child care centres, retail uses and the 
provision of private open space, new roadways and several through-site links. Of 
this development, a seven storey building fronting Rothschild Avenue has been 
completed. 

(c) South - Sweet Acres Park is located opposite the site fronting Cressy Street, to 
the south of the park is a part nine storey, part six storey mixed-use development 
including residential apartments and retail uses fronting Rothschild Avenue. To 
the south-west of the site is a single storey industrial warehouse. The site 
however has approval for a six storey residential apartment building that has yet 
to commence construction works.

(d) West - A six storey residential apartment building is located opposite to the site 
fronting the intersection of Mentmore Avenue and Cressy Street. Local heritage 
item Mentmore House is adjacent to this site and has been adaptively reused for 
office use. 

Current planning controls
14. Key planning controls applying to the sites are contained in the Sydney LEP 2012, 

including: 

(a) B4 Mixed Use zoning that permits a broad range of uses including commercial 
premises and residential accommodation; 

(b) a maximum building height of 22 metres;

(c) a maximum floor space ratio (FSR) of 1.5:1, with an additional 0.5:1 FSR for the 
provision of Green Square Community Infrastructure through the delivery of a 
through-site link; and

(d) Site H includes a former interwar warehouse, which is a local heritage item under 
the Sydney LEP 2012.

15. It is noted that Clause 6.21 of Sydney LEP 2012 specifies that an additional 10 per 
cent height or FSR (not both) is permissible where design excellence is demonstrated 
through a competitive design process. 

16. The current Sydney DCP 2012 contains site specific built form and public domain 
controls including a maximum building height (in storeys) of six storeys and the 
provision of a new through-site link to be dedicated to Council across the north west of 
the site, generally aligned with Stedman Street. 

9



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Previous development application and subsequent planning proposal request
17. A concept development application was lodged in February 2017. The development 

application was for the construction of a new seven storey residential apartment 
building, including a central communal courtyard and two-storey element cantilevered 
above the heritage listed warehouse. The warehouse was proposed to be adapted and 
subdivided to include several residential townhouses.

18. The development application was refused by Council in November 2017 because it did 
not demonstrate an appropriate form, building height, scale and setback that 
responded sympathetically to the adjacent heritage listed warehouse and surrounding 
built form.

19. Following the refusal of the development application, the City has worked with the 
landowner to explore potential built form outcomes that are appropriate to the 
surrounding context. 

20. On 18 December 2017, the City received a request to prepare a planning proposal to 
amend the building height and FSR controls to effectively transfer the floor space from 
Site H, which contains the heritage item, to Site D, where future development is 
envisaged.

21. The planning proposal request submitted by the landowner sought:

(a) an increase to the Height of Buildings map in the Sydney LEP 2012 from 22 
metres to 29 metres; 

(b) a total of approximately 18,375 square metres of gross floor area 
accommodating commercial, retail and residential uses, equating to 0.90:1 on 
Site H (existing FSR) and 2.77:1 on Site D;

(c) four eight storey building envelopes with a building envelope depth of 26 metres 
to accommodate about 16,435 square metres of residential floor space in 208 
residential apartments;

(d) two basement levels including 219 car spaces, 19 motorcycle spaces, 248 
bicycle spaces and storage; and

(e) the adaptive reuse of the heritage listed warehouse to accommodate non-
residential uses.

22. The proponent's request has been revised by the City. Urban design testing 
demonstrates that the proposed built form would not be able to achieve compliance 
with the Apartment Design Guide and the amount of floor space would result in 
impacts to the heritage building. Following the City's review, new planning controls 
have been proposed to address: 

(a) compliance with the Apartment Design Guide; 

(b) the interface of the building with the public domain;

(c) building articulation, bulk and scale; 

(d) relationship to, and preservation, of the heritage item; 

(e) relationship to adjoining residential development;

10



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

(f) land-use; and

(g) activation of the through-site link.

23. The proposed planning controls in the Planning Proposal and the DCP amendments, 
are discussed below. 

Key Implications

Proposed amendments to Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012
24. It is proposed to amend the Height of Buildings Map in the Sydney LEP 2012 as 

follows:

(a) from 22 metres to 29 metres for Site D fronting Rothschild Avenue, to facilitate a 
eight storey built form, and nine storeys where design excellence is 
demonstrated;

(b) from 22 metres to 27 metres for Site D fronting Mentmore Avenue, to facilitate a 
seven storey built form, and eight storeys where design excellence is 
demonstrated; and

(c) from 22 metres to nine metres for Site H, to retain the height of the heritage 
building.

25. These building height controls will ensure that the heritage listed warehouse is 
preserved in its current form and the taller buildings from any future development is 
suitably located to minimise any overshadowing. 

26. It is proposed to amend the FSR Map in the Sydney LEP 2012 as follows:

(a) on Site D, from 1.5:1 to 1.75:1 for Site D, retaining the with an additional 0.5:1 
FSR available for the provision of Green Square Community infrastructure floor 
space; and

(b) on Site H, from 1.5:1 to 1:1, removing the potential for the additional 0.5:1 FSR 
available for the provision of Green Square Community infrastructure floor 
space.

27. This Planning Proposal seeks amendment to Part 6, Division 5 Site Specific Provisions 
of the Sydney LEP 2012 to insert a site-specific clause, to:

(a) require that only non-residential floor space can be provided on Site H;

(b) ensure Clause 6.14 - Green Square Community infrastructure floor space no 
longer applies to Site H (because no community infrastructure is required on Site 
H); and

(c) ensure Clause 6.21 - Design excellence no longer applies to Site H (because 
Site H will not be subject to substantial future development).

11



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

28. The proposed development is over 25 metres in height and has a site area greater 
than 5,000 square metres and therefore any future development will need to undertake 
a competitive design process to demonstrate design excellence.  Under Clause 6.21 of 
the Sydney LEP 2012, an additional 10 per cent floor space or building height (not 
both) may be awarded if the proposal demonstrates design excellence.  It is expected 
that additional FSR would be sought in the event of any future redevelopment.

Proposed amendments to Sydney Development Control Plan 2012
29. The DCP amendments, at Attachment B, provide additional site specific provisions to 

guide the development and are discussed below.

Built form

30. The draft DCP building envelope has been designed and situated to minimise impact 
on the public domain and reduce height impacts from overshadowing on the heritage 
building and to neighbouring residential buildings. Building envelopes in the DCP 
amendments facilitate:

(a) a five storey street wall height to the Rothschild Avenue and Mentmore Avenue 
frontages and to the frontage adjacent to the heritage listed warehouse; 

(b) a four storey street wall height to the northern through-site link;

(c) a seven metre landscaped building setback from the Rothschild Avenue frontage 
and five metres from the Mentmore Avenue frontage;

(d) a secondary setback of three metres for any additional storeys above the street 
wall on the Rothschild Avenue and Mentmore Avenue street frontages and 
facing the heritage item, and a six metre setback for additional storeys fronting 
the through-site link;

(e) articulation along the street frontages to break up the bulk, scale and perceived 
length of the building;.

(f) establishment of a six metre heritage curtilage to the north of the heritage listed 
warehouse to provide separation and give the heritage building an appropriate 
visual setting; and

(g) alignment of any future development on Site D with the heritage listed 
warehouse by introducing a seven metre setback from the Rothschild Avenue 
boundary and five metres from the Mentmore Avenue boundary.

31. Figure 8 and 9 shows the proposed building envelopes and building height in storeys. 
Figure 10 shows proposed building setbacks.

32. The redistribution of floor space resulting from the change to the building height and 
FSRs allow the retention of the heritage listed warehouse in its current form. This 
transfer protects the heritage item and facilitates the redevelopment of Site D with 
building envelopes that are appropriate to the surrounding context and minimise 
impacts on adjacent development. 

12



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

33. The retention and protection of the heritage listed warehouse is further achieved 
through the establishment of a heritage curtilage directly to the north of the warehouse. 
This ensures the heritage item is given an appropriate visual and physical setting that 
retains and emphasises its significance, as no development will encroach the building 
or its airspace above. This will provide a visual connection from Rothschild Avenue to 
Mentmore Avenue and around the heritage listed warehouse. 

34. The five storey street wall height and tiered built form of any future development will 
reduce bulk and scale impacts and overshadowing to the public domain, adjacent 
residential dwellings and the heritage listed warehouse. By positioning the taller 
building elements in a location that corresponds to similar building heights, the built 
form integrates into the area and provides an appropriate transition between existing 
development and to the heritage item. The five storey street wall and tiered setbacks 
also provides greater building separation and minimises the scale of the development 
as read from street level, with taller elements located away from the public domain. 
The building envelope includes articulation along the street frontage to break up the 
perceived length and bulk of the building.

Figure 7: Building envelopes and height in storeys

13



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Figure 8: Building setback plan

Figure 9: Axonometric view of the proposed building envelopes

14



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Land-use

35. The proposed controls identify the location of required commercial, retail and 
residential uses. The ongoing use of the heritage listed warehouse will be consistent 
with its current use and remain as commercial/office use. Ground floor retail tenancies 
are to be located at the north-east corner of the new buildings fronting the through-site 
link. This mirrors the adjacent building to the north where the ground floor retail 
tenancies open onto the completed eastern section of the through-site link. Residential 
dwellings will be located throughout the building including on the ground floor fronting 
both Rothschild Avenue and Mentmore Avenue, consistent with the surrounding 
context. 

36. The provision of non-residential uses on site will contribute to employment uses and 
activity as more residential dwellings are introduced to the surrounding area. 

37. The ongoing adaptive reuse of the heritage listed warehouse is to continue with 
commercial/office uses to be retained as this provides a suitable interpretation of the 
original use of the warehouse. The provision of ground floor retail in the north-east 
corner of the future development on the site fronting the through-site link will further 
complement the established streetscape and contribute activity and surveillance of the 
through-site link, improving pedestrian useability and amenity of the public domain.

Figure 10: Structure and land use plan

Heritage
38. The redistribution of height and floor space from Site H, with the heritage listed 

warehouse, to Site D to the north will deliver a positive outcome to the surrounding 
area by ensuring the protection of the heritage item and delivering a sympathetic future 
building envelope.

15



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

39. The proposed building envelope has been developed to minimise any overshadowing 
and excessive bulk and scale impacts to the heritage item. The building envelope 
includes an appropriate street wall height, tiered built form, building setbacks and 
heritage curtilage that will deliver a suitable setting for the heritage listed warehouse. 
Furthermore, the reduction in the building height and FSR controls ensures no 
development will encroach upon the heritage building or its airspace above.

40. The original heritage fabric of the warehouse is relatively intact following restoration 
works and adaptation to office use undertaken in the early 2000s. Major restoration 
works are therefore not required and as such it is not necessary to provide an 
incentive to ensure restoration take place. This Planning Proposal therefore seeks to 
transfer the building height and floor space controls to the adjoining site, establish a 
firm heritage curtilage and structure future development to preserve the warehouse in 
an intact condition and facilitate a clear interpretation of the heritage item

Design excellence
41. A design excellence strategy has been included as part of the DCP amendments.  It 

establishes the type of competitive design process and the maximum building height or 
FSR that can be achieved through the design excellence bonus.

Through-site link
42. The Sydney DCP identifies the provision of a through-site link to be dedicated to 

Council along the northern boundary of Site D. Clause 6.14 of the Sydney LEP 2012 
provides 0.5:1 community infrastructure floor space for the delivery of the through-site 
link as part of any redevelopment of the site.

43. The through-site link will provide a connection between Rothschild Avenue and 
Mentmore Avenue and contribute to the permeability of the site and to the amenity of 
the pedestrian network. The provision of active retail frontages along the eastern 
section of the through-site link will mirror existing retail uses on the opposite side and 
encourage greater retail activity.  

Vehicular access
44. It is envisaged that the primary vehicular access point to the basement car parking for 

the future development on site will be provided on Mentmore Avenue approximately 
halfway along the site. Secondary vehicle access points, primarily for servicing the 
heritage listed warehouse may also be required. This is however subject to a detailed 
development application. 

Deep soil
45. The landscaped deep soil setbacks fronting Rothschild Avenue and Mentmore Avenue 

align with the heritage listed warehouse and ensures that future development clearly 
relates to the heritage item. 

46. These setbacks improve the quality of the public domain, softening the built form and 
reducing the perception of any excessive building bulk and scale. A number of mature 
trees will be retained within the landscaped setbacks, contributing to the amenity of the 
public domain.

Structure plan 
47. A structure and land use plan, which shows the way in which the site will develop, is 

shown at Figure 7.

16



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Consideration of environmental impacts

Public and active transport 
48. The sites have direct access to public transport through the bus stops located directly 

infront of the site on Rothschild Avenue which includes frequent bus services to Bondi, 
to Central Sydney and beyond. The sites are in walkable distance to the Green Square 
train station about one kilometre to the north-west. The proposed scheme will result in 
residential development and employment uses close to existing public and active 
transport infrastructure. 

49. The proposed development concept includes basement car, motorcycle and bicycle 
parking consistent with Sydney LEP 2012 requirements. On-site parking will cater to 
residents and provide servicing for the site at levels designed to minimise car 
dependency. The provision of off-street vehicle parking will also help limit impacts to 
the on-street parking network. 

50. The location of the primary vehicular access point to the site on Mentmore Avenue will 
minimise any disruption to bus services and traffic flow on Rothschild Avenue. 

51. The sites are well served by the existing active transport network. The wide footpaths 
and deep building setbacks along Rothschild Avenue create a suitable environment for 
pedestrians, which will be further enhanced by the completion of the through-site link.

52. Mentmore Avenue and Cressy Street have a 40 kilometre per hour speed limit, 
providing an environment conducive to walking and cycling. Dunning Avenue, about 
100 metres to the west of the site, provides north and south bicycle connections and 
has been identified by the City as the location of future separated cycleways.

53. The proposed scheme will result in residential and employment uses close to existing 
public and active transport services and infrastructure, consistent with government and 
the City's objective to reduce private car usage.

54. The site is located close to the Rosebery Traffic and Transport Study area, which the 
City has commissioned to ascertain the current and future transport and road capacity 
available within the southern portion of Rosebery. The study is to identify opportunities 
to improve the road network efficiency and public transport capacity. 

55. The City has also been working with Transport for NSW on a Transport Action Plan for 
the Green Square Urban Renewal Area to identify opportunities and implement 
measures to improve active and public transport capacity in the short-term. 

Community infrastructure 
56. Green Square is a rapidly changing urban renewal area with a planned growth in 

population to 61,000 people by 2030. This Planning Proposal does not result in a 
significant change to the development density for the sites. The planned population 
growth in Green Square and social infrastructure planned to support this growth, 
already accounts for the new residents who will live on the site following its 
redevelopment.

57. There is significant existing social infrastructure in Green Square and the surrounding 
area and additional services planned or under construction in the area to complement 
this. 

17



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

58. New parks and open space have been delivered in Rosebery and Green Square as a 
result of recent development, and new open space is planned as part of future 
development sites. The subject site is directly adjacent to the recently opened Sweet 
Acres Park, and the recently upgraded Turruwul Park. Sydney Park is a 30 minute 
walk or 10 minute cycle from the subject site.

59. The City continues to advocate for the provision of services and facilities outside of its 
direct control. The City has entered into a facilities sharing agreement between the 
City and the Department of Education and Communities to deliver a new primary 
school at Green Square Town Centre. Furthermore, the City will continue to work with 
the Department of Education and Communities, updating them on dwelling 
completions and population increases as a result of new development, and working 
with them to deliver new school locations and expand capacity at existing schools

Strategic Alignment - Eastern City District Plan
60. The City of Sydney is located in the Eastern City District, along with Bayside, Burwood, 

Canada Bay, Inner West, Randwick, Strathfield, Waverley and Woollahra Local 
Government Areas. The Eastern City District Plan (district plan) includes 20 year 
targets for housing and jobs, specifically:

(a) a short term (5 years) housing target of 18,300 dwellings to be delivered in the 
City of Sydney;

(b) a 2036 target for 157,500 dwellings for the district, with the City of Sydney target 
to be developed with community and State government contribution; 

(c) a 2036 lower end 'baseline' target for 662,000 jobs and an upper end 'higher' 
aspirational target of 732,000 jobs, respectively. This figure includes a 2036 
'baseline' target of 75,000 job within the Green Square - Mascot area; and

(d) a general target in the range of five to 10 percent of new residential floor space is 
provided as affordable rental housing.

61. The district plan set priorities and actions for 'Liveability', 'Productivity' and 
'Sustainability', which will directly inform the planning, growth and development of 
Sydney over the next 20 years. 

62. The Planning Proposal supports the targets for the Eastern City District in it will 
facilitate the redevelopment of the site to include commercial and retail premises, 
resulting in the generation of jobs and economic development, while delivering the 
supply of new residential dwellings. 

63. At a local scale, the proposed development makes a positive contribution to the 
objective of a 30-minute city, as it will include suitably located residential dwellings 
close to local employment opportunities, transport, social infrastructure and services. 

64. The Planning Proposal will also include a variety of sustainability benchmarks for the 
commercial and residential uses

65. The retention of the heritage listed warehouse, increased setbacks and completion of 
the through-site link will improve the streetscape amenity. Future development on the 
site will respond to the local context of the area. This aligns with the strong 
requirement in the district plan that in changing planning controls a place-based 
approach should be taken.

18



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Strategic Alignment - Sustainable Sydney 2030 Vision
66. Sustainable Sydney 2030 is a vision for the sustainable development of the City to 

2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City, as 
well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. The Planning Proposal and 
proposed amendment to the DCP align with the following strategic directions and 
objectives:

(a) Direction 2 - A Leading Environmental Performer - The proposed planning 
controls will incorporate sustainability measures to significantly improve energy 
and water efficiency through an improve built form.

(b) Direction 3 - Integrated Transport for a Connected City - Redevelopment of the 
site for a mixed-use development will benefit from current and future transport 
services. Regular bus services operate along Rothschild Avenue, directly infront 
of the site, with destinations that include Kingsford, Marrickville, Bondi and 
Central Sydney. The site is also within walking distance of Green Square train 
station, approximately one kilometre north of the site. 

(c) Direction 4 - A City for Walking and Cycling - Redevelopment of the site will 
improve the walkability of the area through the completion of the pedestrian 
through-site link. The amenity of the area will also be improved through the 
provision of retail uses adjacent to the through-site link, providing improved retail 
services close to residential uses, which will reduce the need to travel outside 
the area by private vehicle.

(d) Direction 6 - Vibrant Local Communities and Economies - The development will 
preserve and improve the quality of commercial services within the heritage item 
and introduce retail uses to the site. Redevelopment of the sites will ensure that 
employment opportunities remain within the local area in close proximity to 
existing and future residential uses.

(e) Direction 7 - A Cultural and Creative City - The proposed development concept 
will ensure the heritage listed inter-war warehouse is retained for commercial 
purposes and may be readily used for cultural and creative purposes.

(f) Direction 8 - Housing for a Diverse Population - The proposed development 
concept includes a diverse range of apartment sizes that will cater for the needs 
of the growing and diverse population. The residential apartments are well 
located, close to public transport, employment opportunities and services.

Relevant Legislation

67. Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979.

68. Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulations 2000.

19



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Critical Dates / Time Frames

69. If Council and the Central Sydney Planning Committee endorse the Planning Proposal 
for exhibition and consultation, staff will forward the proposal to the Greater Sydney 
Commission in accordance with Section 3.34 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979. The Greater Sydney Commission will then provide a Gateway 
Determination to either proceed to consultation, with or without variation, or to resubmit 
the Planning Proposal. If the relevant local plan-making authority changes following 
amendments to the legislation the City will proceed with the gateway issued by the 
new relevant authority.

70. Typical public exhibition timeframes, once a Gateway Determination has been issued, 
are 28 days for public authority consultation and public exhibition. The Gateway 
Determination will also specify a date by which the Local Environmental Plan 
amendment should be finalised.

71. Following public authority consultation and public exhibition, issues raised in 
submissions will be reported back to Council and the Central Sydney Planning 
Committee.

72. In October 2012, the then Minister for Planning and Infrastructure delegated his plan-
making functions to councils to improve the local plan-making process. In December 
2012, Council resolved to accept the delegation. Following the making of the Greater 
Sydney Commission Act 2015 in January 2016, the Minister's delegation is now taken 
to mean the Greater Sydney Commission's delegation (as at the time of preparing this 
report).

73. Council needs to receive an authorisation on a case by case basis to exercise the 
delegation. The authorisation is given through the Gateway Process and means a 
faster plan-making process with less involvement of the Department of Planning and 
Environment. This report recommends the Central Sydney Planning Committee seek 
authority to exercise this delegation. 

Public Consultation

74. The public exhibition process and requirements will be informed by the Gateway 
Determination. It is proposed to publicly exhibit the Planning Proposal and draft DCP 
amendment concurrently for a period of 28 days with notification on the City of Sydney 
website, in newspapers that circulate widely in the area and in writing to the 
landowners, relevant community groups and stakeholders in the vicinity of the site.

75. Exhibition documents will be available for viewing on the City of Sydney website, the 
One Stop Shop at Town Hall House and the Redfern Neighbourhood Service Centre.

GRAHAM JAHN, AM

Director City Planning, Development and Transport

Daniel Thorpe, Planner

20



Attachment A 

Planning Proposal: Local Environmental 

Plan - 12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, 

Rosebery 

 

21



 

 

Planning Proposal: 
12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, 

Rosebery 

City of Sydney 
Town Hall House 
456 Kent Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 

September 2018  

 

 

 

 

22



 

1 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

Contents 

Executive summary ................................................................................................... 2 

1 Site identification ................................................................................................ 4 

2 Existing planning controls ................................................................................ 14 

3 Objectives and Intended Outcomes ................................................................. 19 

4 Explanation of provisions ................................................................................. 20 

5 Justification ...................................................................................................... 23 

6 Mapping ........................................................................................................... 40 

7 Community consultation ................................................................................... 46 

8 Project timeline ................................................................................................ 47 

 

  

23



 

2 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

Executive summary 

The City of Sydney (the City) has prepared this Planning Proposal for two separate 
lots at 12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery (the sites), in response to a 
request from the site owner, Maville Park Pty Ltd, to change the planning controls. 

This Planning Proposal explains the intent of, and justification for, proposed 
amendments to the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP 2012) as is 
applies to the sites. It has been prepared by the City in accordance with Section 3.33 
of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 and the Department of 
Planning and Environment’s ‘A guide to preparing planning proposals’ and ‘A guide 
to preparing local environmental plans’. 

The site, comprising ‘Site D’, located to the north, and ‘Site H’, located to the south, 
have a combined total site area of 8,403 square metres in area. The site is bound by 
Rothschild Avenue, Cress Street, Mentmore Avenue and a partially completed 
through-site link at the north of the site. Existing development on the site includes 
three interconnected buildings that currently comprise office uses and an at-grade 
open air car park. A heritage listed inter-war warehouse is located on the southern 
portion of the site (Site H) that has been adaptively reused for office use.  

Under existing Sydney LEP 2012 controls, the site is zoned B4 Mixed Use, has a 
maximum building height of 22 metres and maximum floor space ratio (FSR) of 1.5:1 
with an additional 0.5:1 FSR for the provision of Green Square community 
infrastructure. The site’s B4 Mixed Use zone permits retail, commercial and 
residential uses on the site. 

The City prepared this Planning Proposal following a detailed review of the 
proponent’s planning proposal request. The City has made various changes to 
planning controls proposed by the proponent to address issues related to building 
bulk and scale, incorporation of retail and commercial uses, relationship to existing 
heritage items on site, public domain and amenity. 

This Planning Proposal is to amend the Sydney LEP 2012 to: 

 amend the relevant Height of Building map in clause 4.3 of the LEP to 
increase the maximum building height control from 22 metres to a maximum 
of 29 metres for Site D fronting Rothschild Avenue 27 metres for ‘Site D’ 
fronting Mentmore Avenue. The maximum building height control is to be 
reduced from 22 metres to a maximum of 9 metres for Site H; 
 

 amend the relevant Floor Space Ration map in clause 4.4 of the LEP to 
increase the maximum floor space ratio from 1.5:1 to 1.75:1 for ‘Site D’ and 
reduce the floor space ratio for ‘Site H’ from 1.5:1 to 1:1; and 
 

 require an active street frontage at the north-east corner of ‘Site D’; and 
 

 require all floor space on ‘Site H’ remain non-residential floor space. 
 

The amendment will facilitate a new mixed-use development retaining the existing 
commercial office use located within the heritage listed warehouse on site of 
approximately 2,100 square metres, about 200 square metres of retail uses fronting 
the through-site link to the north, about 180 residential apartments, establishment of 
a six metre heritage curtilage to the north of the heritage warehouse and basement 
car parking. 

24



 

3 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

This Planning Proposal proposes changes to the maximum building height and FSR 
which allows for a number of improvements compared to existing controls: 

 Retention and protection of the heritage item: the redistribution of currently 
available floor space from ‘Site H’, containing the heritage listed warehouse, 
to ‘Site D’, and a requirement that floor space on ‘Site H’ be used for non-
residential purposes, will ensure the heritage item is retained and protected 
from encroachment by future development. 

 Improved built form design: development on ‘Site D’ will have a five-storey 
street wall height and setbacks for additional storeys that reduce impacts to 
surrounding buildings. 

 Incorporation of employment uses: the heritage listed warehouse will be 
retained as commercial space with potential for new retail premises to be 
incorporated on site to introduce more activity to the widened heritage 
curtilage. 

 Improved permeability across the site: the new six metre heritage curtilage 
will establish a clear and distinct visual separation between the new buildings 
and the heritage listed warehouse.  

 Completion of the through site link to north: the Sydney DCP 2012 identified 
through-site link to the north of ‘Site D’ will improve the pedestrian network 
connecting Rothschild Avenue and Mentmore Avenue. 

 Compliance with State Environmental Planning Policy No 65 – Design Quality 
of Residential Apartment Development: the built form, that is facilitated with 
this Planning Proposal, ensures requirements for visual privacy, solar and 
daylight access, apartment sizes, building depth and natural ventilation can 
be satisfied.  

 Design excellence: design excellence floor space or height can be awarded 
where development demonstrates design excellence through a competitive 
design process, providing the opportunity to achieve a high architectural 
quality outcome.  

The City has prepared a draft site-specific amendment to the Sydney Development 
Control Plan 2012 (draft DCP) to ensure the objectives and intended outcomes of 
this Planning Proposal are achieved. The draft DCP controls relate to the built form, 
through-site links, parking, vehicular access and design excellence. Built form 
controls include building height in storeys, building setbacks and street wall heights. 
The draft DCP will be publicly exhibited with this Planning Proposal.  

 

 

  

25



 

4 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

1 Site identification 

1.1 Site identification 

The site comprises two separate lots as follows: 

 Lot 1 DP 314957, Lot 5 DP 309149, Lot A DP 322620, Lot B DP 308922, Lot 408 
DP 315228, known as 12-22 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery, identified as ‘Site D’. 

 Lot 1 DP 456612, Lot 2 DP 456612, Lot 410 DP 7534, Lot 456 DP 7534, known 
as 24 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery, identified as ‘Site H’ 

The lots are shown in Figure 1.  

  

Figure 1: Land affected by this Planning Proposal 

 

 

 

26



 

5 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

1.2 Site Location  

The site is located in Rosebery in the Green Square Urban Renewal Area (Green 
Square) in the City of Sydney. 

The site has three road frontages: Rothschild Avenue to the east, Cressy Street to 
the south and Mentmore Avenue to the west. Epsom Road is located approximately 
100 metres north and connects with Southern Cross Drive, which is less than one 
kilometre east.  

The site is within easy walking distance of the Green Square Town Centre (Town 
Centre) and Green Square train station located about one kilometre north-west from 
the furthest point on the site.  

Once completed, the Town Centre will include a new library below a public plaza, 
centrally located adjacent to mixed use commercial and residential development. 
Council is also delivering a community and cultural precinct, new aquatic and 
recreation centre, public open space and parks. 

The train station provides up to ten train services per hour, providing a direct 
connection between the area and Central Sydney about 5kms to the north and to 
Sydney Airport, about 6kms to the south.  

The site is also well served by other forms of transport including bus services that 
operate directly in-front of the site on Rothschild Avenue and active transport, with 
on-street bike lanes along Rothschild Avenue.  

A number of parks are within close proximity of the site, including Sweet Acres Park 
and playground to the south of the site on the opposite side of Cressy Street. Larger 
public open space areas such as Sydney Park and Moore Park are located around 
1.5 kilometres west and north-east. 

 

Figure 2: Site location and context.  

Subject 
site 

1km 500m 

Green 
Square 
Town 

Centre Green Square Train Station 

27



 

6 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

 

 

Figure 3: Aerial photo of the site 

1.3 Site characteristics 

The site is generally rectangular in shape and has a total area of approximately 
8,403 square metres.  

The site that is the subject of this Planning Proposal comprises of two individual lots 
on separate titles. The lot to the north, 12-22 Rothschild Avenue is referred in this 
report as 'Site D'. The lot to the south at 24 Rothschild Avenue that includes the 
heritage listed warehouse is referred as 'Site H' as shown in Figure 1. 

The site’s eastern boundary fronts Rothschild Avenue and is about 106 metres in 
length. The site’s other boundaries are: a 75 metre frontage to Cressy Street to the 
south; a 114 metre frontage to Mentmore Avenue to the west; and 38 metre frontage 
to the existing through site link and a 38 metre frontage to the adjoining property to 
the north.  

Existing development on the site consists of three adjoining buildings. A two-storey 
inter-war warehouse style building, identified as a local heritage item under the 
Sydney LEP 2012 and has been adapted to accommodate office uses. A three-
storey masonry building and connected single-storey element, which both include 
office uses, is located towards the centre of the site adjacent to the car park. 

subject 
sites 

28



 

7 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

The northern portion of the site is used for an at grade car park for occupants and 
associated servicing for the site. There are currently 98 car parking spaces on the 
site with vehicle access from Mentmore Avenue and Rothschild Avenue.  

The existing vegetation contained within the site is generally located around the 
existing buildings and adjacent to the site’s boundaries. The vegetation is typically in 
the form of trees and shrubs within existing gardens beds. Several large trees are 
located adjacent to the future through-site link to the north of the site and in the 
setback between the boundary and heritage item to the southern portion of the site.  

The site is generally level, however there is a slight slope towards the south-west 
corner and includes a risk of flooding along the Rothschild Avenue frontage during 
significant weather events. 

Figures 4 to 7 show existing development on the site. 

 

Figure 4: View looking north-east showing the existing heritage building on the south-east corner of the 

site, at Cressy Street and Rothschild Avenue. 

29



 

8 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

 

Figure 5: View looking north-west towards the subject site and the existing heritage item at Cressy 

Street and Mentmore Avenue. 

 

 

Figure 6: Looking north towards the Cressy Street frontage and the southern elevation of the existing 

heritage item. 

30



 

9 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

 

Figure 7: View towards the existing carpark on the subject site and adjacent residential apartment 

development on the opposite side of Rothschild Avenue. 

1.4 Surrounding development 

The surrounding context varies in land use and built form. The site is located within 
Green Square and several adjacent sites are in the process of being redeveloped 
from light industrial uses to mixed-use developments that include ground floor retail 
and commercial uses and residential apartments above. 

To the immediate north, is a seven-storey building that is close to completion for 100 
residential apartments, communal open space, connection to the future through-suite 
link and frontages to Mentmore Avenue and Rothschild Avenue. Adjoining the site to 
the north-east is 6-10 Rothschild Avenue, a recently completed eight-storey mixed-
use building that includes ground floor retail uses that front the completed eastern 
section of the future through-site link.  

To the east is a large redevelopment site at 25-55 Rothschild consisting of 14 
buildings that includes residential apartments, child care centres, retail uses and the 
provision of public open space and several through-site links. Of this development, 
three seven-storey buildings will front Rothschild Avenue. One of which has been 
recently been completed.  

To the west is a six-storey residential apartment building that has recently completed 
construction adjacent to the intersection of Mentmore Avenue and Cressy Street. 
Local heritage item Mentmore House is located at 5-11 Mentmore Avenue and has 
been adaptively reused for office use. To the south-west of the site at 23-29 
Mentmore Avenue is an existing single-storey warehouse that is currently being used 
for light-industrial uses. The site, however has approval for the construction of a six-
storey residential apartment building which is yet to commence building works.  

Figures 8 - 15 show existing development surrounding the subject site. 

 

 

31



 

10 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

 

 

Figure 8: Looking north along Mentmore Avenue showing adjoining residential development and the 

subject site on the right. 

 

 

Figure 9: Looking along Rothschild Avenue showing adjoining residential development and the subject 

site to the left. 

 

 

32



 

11 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

 

 

Figure 10: View towards adjacent heritage item Mentmore House located on Mentmore Avenue, 

opposite the subject site. 

 

 

Figure 11: View across the carpark to Mentmore House, adjoining development and the future through-

site link. 

 

 

33



 

12 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

 

 

 

Figure 12: View to the south-west of the site with a single-storey light industrial warehouse. The site 

holds approval for a residential apartment building. 

 

 

Figure 13: View towards Sweet Acres Park and the adjoining Otto development at 14 Mentmore 

Avenue. 

 

34



 

13 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

 

 

Figure 14: View of the existing through-site link at 6-10 Rothschild Avenue, the western section is yet to 

be completed. 

 

 

Figure 15: Looking north along Rothschild Avenue displaying the existing vegetation along the eastern 

boundary of the site. 

 

 

35



 

14 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

 
 

2 Existing LEP planning controls 

The Sydney LEP 2012 contains zoning and principal development standards for the 
site. These are discussed below. 

2.1 Zoning 

Zoning is shown in the Land Zoning Maps referred to in clause 2.2 of the Sydney 
LEP 2012.  

The site is zoned B4 Mixed Use, shown in the extract at Figure 16. The objectives of 
this zone including providing a mix of compatible land uses including business, 
office, residential retail and other development in accessible locations to maximise 
public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling.  

The zoning permits a broad range of uses including retail, commercial and 
residential accommodation. This Planning Proposal does not seek to change the 
existing zoning.  

 

 

Figure 16: Extract from Sydney LEP 2012 Zoning Map 

 

 

Subject site 

36



 

15 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

 

2.2 Building height 

Maximum building height is shown on the Building Height Maps referred to in clause 
4.3 of the Sydney LEP 2012. 

The sites have a maximum building height control of 22 metres across the site. It is 
currently eligible for up to 10 per cent additional building height or FSR (not both) 
under clause 6.21 of the Sydney LEP 2012, subject to demonstrating design 
excellence.  

This Planning Proposal is to amend the relevant Building Height Map to increase the 
maximum building height. 

 
 

    
 
Figure 17: Extract from Sydney LEP 2012 Building Height (in metres) Map 

 

  

R 

R 

R 

R 

R 

R 

R 

P 

S 

S 

T4 

T4 

A

 

M 

M 

Subject sites 

37



 

16 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

2.3 Floor Space Ratio 

Maximum floor space ratio controls are shown in the Floor Space Ratio (FSR) Maps 
referred to in clause 4.4 of the Sydney LEP 2012.  

The sites have a maximum floor space ratio control of 1.5:1. Under clause 6.14 of 
Sydney LEP 2012 the site is eligible for 0.5:1 additional FSR, subject to the delivery 
of community infrastructure, which in this instance is the provision of a through-site 
link along the northern part of the site, as identified on the Through-Site Link Map of 
the Sydney DCP 2012. 

Clause 6.21 of Sydney LEP 2012specifies that an additional 10 percent of height or 
FSR (not both) is permissible on sites where design excellence is demonstrated 
through a competitive design process. 

 

 

Figure 18: Extract from Sydney LEP 2012 Floor Space Ratio Map 

 

  

Subject sites 

S1 

S1 

S1 

S1 

N 

N 

38



 

17 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

2.4 Heritage 

The southern portion of the site includes a local heritage item identified under 
schedule 5 of the Sydney LEP 2012. 

 Heritage Item I1382, ‘Former warehouse including interior’ 

The area surrounding the subject site is not a heritage conservation area, however 
there are two local heritage items located close to the west of the site as follows: 

 Heritage Item I1378, ‘Mentmore House’ 

 Heritage Item I1376, ‘”Paradise Garage” warehouse including interior’ 

 
 

    

 

Figure 19: Heritage Map, Sydney LEP 2012 

 

 

 

  

I1382 

I1378 

I1379 

 

I1376 

Subject sites 

39



 

18 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

2.5 Planning proposal request  

In February 2017, a concept development application was lodged for the 
construction of a new seven storey residential apartment building around a central 
communal courtyard including a two-storey element cantilevered above the heritage 
listed warehouse. The proposal included adaptation and subdivision of the 
warehouse to include several townhouses. 

The development application was refused in November 2017 as the proposal did not 
adequately conserve the heritage listed warehouse building and the proposed built 
form did not demonstrate an appropriate form, building height, bulk, scale or setback 
that responded sympathetically to the surrounding built form.  

Following the refusal of the development application, the City has worked with the 
landowner to explore potential built form outcomes that are appropriate to the 
context of the site. 

In December 2017, Ethos Urban planning consultants submitted a Planning Proposal 
(request) to the City on behalf of the landowner, Maville Park Pty Ltd, supported by 
justification reports to change the planning controls in the Sydney LEP 2012. The 
request was for: 

 increase the Height of Buildings Map in the Sydney LEP 2012 from 22 metres 
to 29 metres; 

 approximately 18,375 square metres of gross floor area accommodating 
commercial, retail and residential uses, equating to about 0.90:1 on ‘Site H’ 
(existing FSR) and 2.77:1 on ‘Site D’; 

 four eight storey building envelopes with a building envelope depth of 26 
metres to accommodate about 16,435 square metres of residential floor 
space in 208 residential apartments; 

 two basement levels including 219 car spaces, 19 motorcycle spaces, 248 
bicycle spaces and storage; and 

 the adaptive reuse of the heritage listed warehouse to accommodate non-
residential uses. 

The request and supporting documentation prepared by the landowner and 
consultant team is appended to this Planning Proposal.  

The City prepared this Planning Proposal following a detailed review and 
assessment of the proponent’s proposed development concept. It includes a number 
of revisions to the requested planning controls to address issues relating to bulk and 
scale, adaptive reuse of the heritage listed warehouse, relationship to surrounding 
development and the ability of any future development on the site to achieve the 
amenity requirements of the Apartment Design Guide (ADG) and Sydney DCP 2012.  

This Planning Proposal and draft DCP, prepared by the City, addresses the issues 
arising from the assessment of the proponent’s planning proposal request. 

 
 
 
  

40



 

19 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

3 Objectives and Intended Outcomes 

This Planning Proposal will enable the redevelopment of 12-22 and 24 Rothschild 
Avenue, Rosebery to: 

 achieve an appropriate mix of residential, retail and commercial uses that can 
achieve the maximum floor space permitted under existing controls and meet 
the B4 Mixed Use zone objectives; 

 ensure the preservation and ongoing adaptive reuse of the heritage listed 
warehouse and protection of the heritage values; 

 ensure a maximum FSR is established that is suitable to the site and any 
impacts on surrounding uses are reduced and maintained within acceptable 
levels; 

 facilitate the delivery of market housing in an area with good access to public 
transport, social infrastructure, employment opportunities, good and services; 

 ensure an active frontage to Rothschild Avenue and a through-site link to the 
north of ‘Site D’;  

 ensure new buildings achieve design excellence and improve the amenity and 
existing contribution of the site to the surrounding area; 

 ensure new development responds appropriately to the surrounding context and 
provides an appropriate transition between the existing local heritage item and 
public open space; 

 ensure existing residential development can achieve the development standards 
prescribed in State Environmental Planning Policy no 65 – Design of Quality 
Residential Apartment Development and the Apartment Design Guide; and 

 ensure any development on the site is sympathetic to the heritage listed 
warehouse, reinforces the street alignment and improves pedestrian amenity. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

41



 

20 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

4 Explanation of provisions 

4.1 Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 

Building height 

This Planning Proposal seeks amendments to the Height of Buildings Map Sheet 18 
of the Sydney LEP 2012, in accordance with the proposed FSR Map shown at Part 6 
of this Planning Proposal and described in Table 1: 

Location Existing control Proposed control Design excellence 

Heritage building 
on Site H 

22 metres 

6 storeys 

9 metres 

2 storeys 

Not eligible for 
design excellence 

Rothschild Avenue 
frontage on Site D 

22 metres 

6 storeys 

29 metres 

8 storeys 

29 metres 

9 storeys 

Mentmore Avenue 
frontage on Site D 

22 metres 

6 storeys 

27 metres 

7 storeys 

27 metres 

8 storeys 

Table 1: Existing and proposed maximum building height controls. 

Floor space ratio 

This Planning Proposal seeks amendments to the FSR Map Sheet 18 in the Sydney 
LEP 2012, in accordance with the proposed FSR Map shown at Part 6 of this 
Planning Proposal and described in Table 2: 

Location Existing control Proposed control Design excellence 

Site H 
1.5:1 and 

0.5:1 CIFS* 
1:1 

Not eligible for 
design excellence 

Site D 
1.5:1 and 

0.5:1 CIFS* 

1.75:1 and 

0.5:1 CIFS* 

Eligible for 10% 
design excellence 
floor space or 
height. 

Table 2: Existing and proposed maximum FSR controls. 

This Planning Proposal ensures the preservation of the heritage listed warehouse by 
reducing the FSR on ‘Site H’ and transferring it to the adjacent ‘Site D’.  

To arrive at the FSR of 1.75:1 on ‘Site D’, 0.5:1 of floor space on ‘Site H’ (being 
2,474sqm [site area] * 0.5:1 = 1,237sqm) has been transferred to ‘Site D’. The 0.5:1 
FSR that can be achieved where community infrastructure is being provided is being 
extinguished because no community infrastructure is required on ‘Site H’. 

The resulting floor space on ‘Site D’ is 10,377.50sqm (being 1,237sqm {from ‘Site H’} 
+ {5,930sqm [site area] * 1.5:1 = 8,895sqm or 1.75:1). It is however noted that there 
are slight differences accounted for because of mapping requirements. In addition, 
the site an additional 0.5:1 FSR can be achieved where community infrastructure is 
being provided. 

42



 

21 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

The redistribution of floor space, the Green Square Community infrastructure floor 
space and 10% additional floor space awarded through a competitive design process 
will result in a total FSR of 2.5:1 for ‘Site H’, generally equivalent to the amount of 
floor space that can be achieved on the combined sites under the current planning 
controls.  

Active frontages 

This Planning Proposal seeks to introduce a new Active Frontages Map (Sheet 18) 
in the Sydney LEP 2012 to identify an active frontage to the through-site link to the 
north of Site D, in accordance with the proposed Active Street Frontages Map shown 
at Part 6 of this Planning Proposal. 

New provisions at Part 7, Division 4 of Sydney LEP 2012, relating to the active street 
frontage are described in the drafting instructions shown at Figure 20. 

Site specific 

This Planning Proposal seeks amendment to Part 6, Division 5 Site Specific 
Provisions of the Sydney LEP 2012 to insert a site-specific clauses, to: 

 require that only non-residential floor space can be provided on ‘Site H’;   

 ensure Clause 6.14 – ‘Community infrastructure floor space’ no longer 
applies to ‘Site H’ (because no community infrastructure is required on ‘Site 
H’; and  

 ensure Clause 6.21 – ‘Design excellence’ no longer applies to ‘Site H’ 
(because ‘Site H’ will not be subject to substantial future redevelopment).  

Drafting instructions are shown at Figure 20. 

43



 

22 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

Drafting instructions 

6.XX 24 Rothschild Avenue (Site H): 

(1) This clause applies to 24 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery, being Lot 1 DP 314957, Lot 5 
DP 309149, Lot A DP 322620, Lot B DP 308922 and Lot 408 315228.. 

(2)    Development cannot exceed the maximum permitted floor space ratio for the land as 
shown on the Floor Space Ratio Map. No further floor area is permitted under Clause 
6.14 - Community infrastructure floor space at Green Square or Clause 6.21 - Design 
excellence. 

 
(3)    No part of the floor space is to be used for a residential purpose or tourist or visitor 

accommodation.  

6.XX 12-22 Rothschild Avenue: 

(1) This clause applies to 12-22 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery, being Lots 1 and 2 DP 
456612 and Lots 410 and 456 DP 7534. 

(2)  Clause 6.21(7)(a) does not apply to the development on the subject land. 
 
7.XX Active street frontages: 
 
(1)    The objective of this clause is to promote uses that attract pedestrian traffic along 

certain ground floor street frontages. 
 
(2)    This clause applies to land identified as “Active street frontage” on the Active Street 

Frontages Map. 
 
(3)    Development consent must not be granted to the erection of a building, or a change of 

use of a building, on land to which this clause applies unless the consent authority is 
satisfied that the building will have an active street frontage after its erection or 
change of use. 

 
(4)    Despite subclause (3), an active street frontage is not required for any part of a 

building that is used for any of the following: 
 

(a) entrances and lobbies (including as part of mixed use development), 
(b) access for fire services, 
(c) vehicular access. 
 

(5)    In this clause, a building has an active street frontage if all premises on the ground 
floor of the building facing the street are used for the purposes of business premises 
or retail premises. 

 

Figure 20: Drafting instructions 

The City has also prepared a draft DCP containing detailed site-specific planning 
controls. It includes provisions relating to the public domain, design excellence 
requirements, land use, building envelopes and location, bulk and massing, street 
frontage heights, setbacks and vehicle entrances. The draft Sydney DCP 2012 
amendment will be publicly exhibited with this Planning Proposal.  

This Planning Proposal and draft DCP will facilitate a mixed-use development 
comprising of approximately: 

 approximately 2,100 square metres of commercial/office use to be retained 
within the heritage listed warehouse; 

 approximately 200 square metres of retail space at the north-east of the site; 

 14,500 square metres of residential floor space, resulting in about 180 
apartments (assuming an average of 80 square meters per apartment); 

44

http://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/#/view/EPI/2013/525/maps
http://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/#/view/EPI/2013/525/maps


 

23 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

 two buildings of up to 8/9 storeys fronting Rothschild Avenue and up to 7/8 
storeys fronting Mentmore Avenue. 

The development will facilitate: 

 completion of a partially completed through-site link connecting Rothschild 
Avenue and Mentmore Avenue at the northern end of ‘Site D’; 

 establishment of a six metre heritage curtilage to the north of the warehouse;  

 retention of the heritage warehouse; 

 setbacks that align future development with the heritage listed warehouse 
through a seven metre landscaped setback fronting Rothschild Avenue and 
five metre setback on Mentmore Avenue.  

 

5 Justification 

5.1 Development outcomes 

This Planning Proposal and draft DCP is informed by an assessment of the built form 
and development controls proposed by the proponent in their planning proposal 
request.   

This Planning Proposal will ensure the protection and continued adaptive reuse of 
the heritage listed warehouse through the redistribution of the of the floor space that 
cannot be achieved on ‘Site H’ to the adjacent ‘Site D’ to the north. This will facilitate 
demolition of the existing buildings on ‘Site D’ that have reached the end of their 
functional life, and construction of new, predominantly residential buildings.  

The new buildings will have a maximum height of 29 metres and up to nine storeys 
fronting Rothschild Avenue and 27 metres and up to eight storeys fronting Mentmore 
Avenue. The buildings will include a five storey street wall, communal open space 
and landscaping on the roof level.  

The new buildings will be setback from Rothschild and Mentmore Avenue, retaining 
the existing vegetated setback alignment of the heritage item. The upper levels of 
the building will be further set back three metres from the street wall to create a 
tiered built form.  

The existing two-storey heritage item at the south of the site (‘Site H’) will be retained 
and a new six metre heritage curtilage between the item and the new buildings to the 
north of the site will be established.  

The building envelope includes articulation along the street frontage to break up the 
perceived length and bulk of the building.  

The commercial and retail uses will be located on the ground floor of the 
development, including about 2,100 square metres of commercial office use retained 
within the heritage listed warehouse and retail tenancies in the north-east of the new 
buildings the through-site link to the north of the site, mirroring the location of retail 
uses within the existing adjoining development to the north. 

This Planning Proposal will facilitate approximately 180 residential apartments 
distributed across two buildings. The proposed built form allows for communal 
private open space area to be located in the middle of the site providing separation 
between the new residential buildings.  

A through-site link to the north of the site will be completed as commenced by the 
adjoining development to the north-east.  

45



 

24 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

The proposed structure and land use plan, building height plan and setback plan are 
shown in Figures 21 to 24. 

 

Figure 21: Structure and land use plan 

 

Figure 22: Building height plan 

46



 

25 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

 

 

Figure 23: Building setback plan 

 

Figure 24: Axonometric view of the proposed building envelopes 

 

5.2 Outcomes of this Planning Proposal and draft DCP 

The proposed changes to the Sydney LEP 2012 and Sydney DCP 2012 controls 
result in various improvements compared to development possible under existing 
controls as discussed below. 

47



 

26 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

Height and FSR 

The change to building heights in the Sydney LEP 2012, described at Table 1, 
shows the existing and proposed maximum building height controls. The change in 
FSR on the site is described at Table 2.  

To account for the complete and intact nature of the heritage listed warehouse and 
to prevent further significant development of this site, the mapped FSR for ‘Site H’ 
would reduce from 1.5:1 to 1:1. This floor space would be effectively transferred to 
the adjoining ‘Site D’, which would see the mapped FSR increase from 1.5:1 to 
1.75:1. Under clause 6.14 of the Sydney LEP 2012, an additional 0.5:1 of FSR is 
available where community infrastructure is provided.  

As the site is more than 5,000 square metres in area, any future development 
application is required to undertake a competitive design process to achieve design 
excellence. Clause 6.21 of Sydney LEP 2012 specifies that an additional 10 percent 
of height or FSR (not both) is permissible on sites where design excellence is 
demonstrated through a competitive design process. 

It is noted the calculation of the community infrastructure and design excellence floor 
spaces additional floor space is only applicable to Site D. Site H is excluded from the 
calculation of any additional community infrastructure floor space or design 
excellence floor space.  

The building envelopes shown in the draft DCP accommodate the maximum amount 
of floor space available (including any design excellence floor space). It is therefore 
assumed that any future development on site would opt for the design excellence 
bonus to be awarded as additional floor space. 

The City has undertaken urban design testing to ensure the building envelope for 
Site D is consistent with the surrounding context and sympathetic to the heritage 
listed warehouse. The proposed changes can be achieved without compromising the 
amenity of surrounding uses and adjacent residential developments.  

Generous building setbacks and additional secondary setbacks will minimise any 
overshadowing of the public domain and heritage building. The setbacks will also 
limit the perceived height, bulk and scale of the future development. The heritage 
curtilage and through-site link will provide a distinction and separation between the 
adjacent buildings and taller building heights to improve the visual appearance of the 
streetscape.  

Heritage 

This Planning Proposal also seeks to amend the Sydney LEP 2012 to retain and 
preserve the form and visual prominence of the heritage listed warehouse on the 
southern lot, known as Site H, as follows: 

 ensure the retention of the heritage building by reducing the building height 
and floor space controls to retain the building’s current form; 

 ensure the continued adaptive reuse of the heritage listed warehouse for 
employment uses by limiting uses on Site H to non-residential uses only; 

 establish a six metre heritage curtilage to provide a distinct separation 
between the heritage listed warehouse and any future development on Site 
D; and 

 require building envelopes on Site D be appropriately setback to ensure and 
overshadowing and adverse bulk and scale impacts to the heritage item are 
minimised and not dominated by a new development.  

48



 

27 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

Street wall heights and setbacks 

The increase to the maximum building height control allows new street wall heights 
and setbacks for upper storeys to be introduced. These will help to reduce the built 
form appearance as a result of the proposed increased building heights.  

It is proposed to introduce a new five-storey street wall to both street frontages and 
the adjacent to the heritage item. Any additional storeys above the street wall will be 
setback an additional three metres. A four storey street wall height is proposed for 
the north-east corner of the building fronting the completed through-site link to 
provide suitable building separation between the future development and existing 
buildings. 

The proposed development concept includes landscaped deep soil setbacks on the 
Rothschild Avenue and Mentmore Avenue frontages that align with the heritage 
listed warehouse. The new buildings will be setback seven metres from the eastern 
site boundary and five metres from the western site boundary. The setback will 
provide deep soil zones for the retention of existing mature vegetation and new 
landscaping to soften the built form, improve the amenity and character of the 
streetscape and provide a sensitive response to the heritage item. 

Through-site link 

The proposed changes facilitate the completion of an existing part through-site link to 
the north of the site to connect Rothschild and Mentmore Avenues. Ground floor 
retail tenancies will front the eastern section of the through-site link, mirroring 
adjacent retail uses, contributing further activity and security to the pedestrian 
network. 

The draft DCP also identifies a six metre heritage curtilage that the landowner may 
elect to be publicly accessible, providing a further through site link. Irrespective, the 
six metre heritage curtilage will provide a clear visual separation between the future 
development on the site and the heritage listed warehouse. This separation will also 
minimise adverse bulk, scale and overshadowing impacts to the heritage item from 
future development on ‘Site D’.  

Improved mix and distribution of uses 

The proposed development concept incorporates a mix of retail, commercial and 
residential uses. These uses are consistent with the objectives of the B4 Mixed Use 
zone. 

The proposed uses have been strategically located on the site to ensure an effective 
outcome that delivers employment uses and retail activity in a suitable location while 
minimising impacts to surrounding residential developments. The proposal focuses 
retail uses to the north of the site adjacent to existing retail premises fronting the 
northern side of the through-site link, away from residential uses elsewhere on the 
site.  

Commercial/Office uses are to be located in the heritage listed warehouse, a 
continuation of its existing use and will provide a suitable interpretation of the original 
use of the warehouse. The ongoing adaptive reuse of the warehouse retains the 
heritage item, contributing to the streetscape.  

Design excellence 

A Design Excellence Strategy has been integrated into the site-specific provisions of 
the draft DCP and address the requirements of the City of Sydney Competitive 
Design Policy. The proponents have nominated to undertake a Competitive Design 

49



 

28 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

Alternatives Process and in accordance with the policy, a minimum of three 
competitors are required.  

The Competitive Process boundary will be clearly defined to exclude the heritage 
item from the competitive design process. The Design Excellence Strategy will 
however require the design of any future development to suitably respond to the 
heritage listed warehouse. 

The draft DCP includes design excellence provisions detailing the required strategy, 
competitive design process, competition boundaries and location of design 
excellence bonus. 

State Environmental Planning Policy No. 65 – Design Quality of Residential 
Apartment Development 

The proposed building envelope allows the proposed residential development to 
comply with the requirements in State Environmental Planning Policy No 65 – 
Design Quality of Residential Development (SEPP 65) including appropriate 
apartment sizes and layouts, building depth, natural ventilation and solar and 
daylight access.  

Solar and daylight access is important for apartment buildings, reducing the reliance 
on artificial lighting and heating, improving energy efficiency and residential amenity. 
The proposed controls have been developed to ensure an appropriate percentage of 
apartments receive direct sunlight. The taller built elements are located along the 
eastern boundary of the site maximising solar access. 

Under the Apartment Design Guide, every habitable room must be naturally 
ventilated and the majority of apartments are to be naturally cross-ventilated. Natural 
cross-ventilation is achieved by apartments having more than one aspect with 
exposure to prevailing winds or significantly differing pressure regions. The proposed 
scheme’s building depth will facilitate effective airflow and allow compliance.  

Open Space  

The proposed scheme provides about 2,000 square metres of communal open 
space at ground level which is equal to 25 percent of the combined site. There is 
also an opportunity for the provision of communal landscaped space on the roof.  

Community facilities 

Green Square is a rapidly changing urban renewal area with a planned growth in 
population to 61,000 people by 2030. This Planning Proposal does not increase total 
FSR across the site, and therefore the planned population growth in Green Square 
and supporting infrastructure, already accounts for the new residents to the sites 
following redevelopment.  

The City anticipates that the Green Square Town Centre will provide sufficient social 
infrastructure to meet the needs of new residents in the wider area. 

New parks and open space have been delivered in Rosebery and Green Square as 
a result of recent development, the sites are directly adjacent to the recently opened 
Sweet Acres Park, and the recently upgraded Turruwul Park. Sydney Park is a 30 
minute walk or 10 minute cycle from the subject site. 

The City has entered into a facilities sharing agreement between the City and the 
Department of Education and Communities to deliver a new primary school at Green 
Square Town Centre. The City will continue to work with the Department of 
Education and Communities, updating them on dwelling completions and population 
increases as a result of new development, and working with them to deliver new 
school locations and expand capacity at existing schools.  

50



 

29 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

This highlights that the City continues to advocate for the provision of services and 
facilities outside of the City’s direct control.   

Public and active transport 

The proposed scheme will result in residential dwellings and employment uses close 
to existing public and active transport infrastructure. 

The sites have direct access to public transport through the bus stops located 
directly in-front of the site on Rothschild Avenue which includes frequent bus 
services to Bondi Junction, Central Sydney and beyond. The site is in walkable 
distance to Green Square train station located about one kilometre to the north-west.  

The site is well served by the existing active transport network. The wide footpaths 
along Rothschild Avenue and 40 kilometre per house speed limit along Mentmore 
Avenue and Cressy Street provide an favourable environment for walking and 
cycling. Dunning Avenue, about 100 metres to the west of the site, provides north 
and south bicycle connections and has been identified by the City as the location of 
future separated cycleways. 

Traffic, parking and vehicular access 

The proposed development includes basement car, motorcycle and bicycle parking. 
The exact mixture and provision of vehicle parking is subject of a future development 
application and will be in accordance with rates established by the Sydney LEP 2012 
and Sydney DCP 2012, which are consistent with the City’s objective to reduce 
private car usage. At approximately 170 spaces, this would be an increase to the 90 
spaces currently provided on site. 

The primary vehicular access point to the basement is to be located on Mentmore 
Avenue to minimise disruptions to public transport services and traffic flow on 
Rothschild Avenue.  

The site is located close to the Rosebery Traffic and Transport Study area, which the 
City has commissioned to ascertain the current and future transport and road 
capacity available within the southern portion of Rosebery. The study is to identify 
opportunities to improve the road network efficiency and public transport capacity.  

The City has also been working with Transport for NSW on a Transport Action Plan 
for the Green Square Urban Renewal Area to identify opportunities and implement 
measures to improve active and public transport capacity in the short-term.  

Footpath widening and deep soil planting 

The proposed development allows for greater ground level building setbacks along 
Rothschild Avenue and Mentmore Avenue. The seven metre and five metre 
setbacks will include deep soil planting in the form of existing mature vegetation and 
new landscaping. The additional setbacks will improve the amenity of the public 
domain and the character of the streetscape. 

Contamination 

The planning proposal request was accompanied by a Contamination Site 
Investigation Report and Remediation Action Plan, included at Appendix C. A 
number of areas of environmental concern were identified including contaminated 
levels in shallow fill, groundwater and the presence of an underground petroleum 
storage system on site.  

Remediation is therefore required prior to construction and residential occupation on 
the site. The City’s Environmental Health Unit reviewed the proposal and 
recommended that the submitted reports and remediation strategy is to be reviewed 

51



 

30 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

and approved by a NSW accredited site auditor prior to Council granting consent for 
the development.  

Flooding 

A Flood Impact Assessment prepared by Cardno accompanied this Planning 
Proposal and is included at Appendix C. The proposed scheme includes basement 
entries that are above the minimum flood planning level to satisfy the interim flood 
policy requirement and the location of the residential floor space is located 0.3 
metres above the surrounding surface level, consistent with policy requirements. The 
Proposal is therefore able to achieve compliance with the relevant sections of the 
Sydney DCP 2012.  

5.4 Need for this Planning Proposal  

Q1. Is the Planning Proposal the result of any strategic study or report? 

This Planning Proposal is a result of a request from the landowner to change the 
planning controls relating to the sites.  

The landowner undertook a number of studies in support of the request, including an 
economic statement, acoustic assessment, site contamination investigation, traffic 
assessment and heritage impact assessment, which are provided at Appendix C of 
this Planning Proposal. 

Q2. Is the Planning Proposal the best means of achieving the objectives or 
intended outcomes, or is there a better way? 

This Planning Proposal is to change height and FSR controls on the site to facilitate 
a mixed use development.   

As such, a planning proposal is required to amend the Sydney LEP 2012.  

5.5 Relationship to strategic planning framework 

Q3. Is the Planning Proposal consistent with the objectives and actions of the 
applicable regional or sub-regional strategy (including any exhibited draft 
plans or strategies)? 

A Metropolis of Three Cities – the Greater Sydney Region Plan 

A Metropolis of Three Cities – the Greater Sydney Region Plan is the NSW 
Government’s overarching strategic plan for growth and change in Sydney. The 20 
year plan with a 40 year vision seeks to transform Greater Sydney into a metropolis 
of three cities being the Western Parkland City; the Central River City; and the 
Eastern Harbour City.  

It identifies key challenges facing Sydney including increasing the population to eight 
million by 2056, 817,000 new jobs and a requirement of 725,000 new homes by 
2036. 

The plan aspires to deliver the following outcomes: 

 liveability – enhancing cultural and housing diversity and designing places for 
people;  

 productivity – developing a more accessible and walkable city and creating 
conditions for a stronger economy; 

52



 

31 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

 sustainability – valuing green spaces and landscape, improving efficiency of 
resources and creating a resilient City; and 

 infrastructure – ensuring infrastructure supports new developments and 
governments, community and businesses collaborate to realise the benefits of 
growth. 

To achieve these goals and address challenges 10 overarching strategic directions 
inform potential indicators and objectives. Objectives of particular relevance to this 
Planning Proposal include: Objective 7 Communities are healthy, resilient and 
socially connected; Objective 10 Greater housing supply; Objective 12: Great places 
that bring people together; Objective 13 Environmental heritage is identified, 
conserved and enhanced; Objective 14 A Metropolis of Three Cities – integrated 
land use and transport creates walkable and 30-minute cities; and Objective 34 
Energy and water flows are captured, used and re-used.  

This Planning Proposal is consistent with several relevant objectives as it will: 

 promote urban renewal of a site which is well situated close to public transport; 

 conserve and enhance the heritage building; 

 takes a place based approach 

 accelerate supply of new and diverse residential accommodation; and 

 incorporate environmental sustainable measures. 

 

Eastern City District Plan 

The Eastern City District Plan sets out the NSW Government vision, planning 
priorities and actions for the Eastern City District, including the City of Sydney. It 
establishes a 20 year plan to achieve the 40 year vision. The plan aims to provide 
157,500 additional homes and between 662,000 – 732,000 jobs. It also responds to 
the Region Plan’s four desired outcomes in more detail as outlined below: 

 liveability – ensuring place-based planning and design excellence that builds on 
local strengths and focuses on public places and open spaces; 

 productivity – fostering the nation’s financial and business capital, domestic and 
international tourists, innovation health and education precincts, cultural and arts 
sector, night time economies and employment lands; 

 sustainability – maintaining and managing green infrastructure, improving the 
way buildings and precincts are planned and designed, lowering carbon 
emissions and supporting the more efficient use of resources; 

 infrastructure – facilitating major transport, health and education investments 
either committed or planned and how they adapt to increasingly rapid change in 
technology.  

This Planning Proposal is consistent with the following planning priorities from the 
Eastern City District Plan: 

 Planning Priority E3: Providing services and social infrastructure to meet people’s 
changing needs – Following the completion of the through-site link at the north of 
the site, the land will be dedicated to Council to complete the through site link 
connecting Rothschild Avenue to Mentmore Avenue. The Plan encourages 
universal design of places ensuring people can easily access services and 
facilities in the area they live. It will also encourage a greater cross-section of 
people to live physically active and socially connected lives. 

53



 

32 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

 Planning Priority E5: Providing housing supply, choice and affordability, with 
access to jobs, services and public transport - This Planning Proposal 
significantly increases potential for residential dwellings on the site. While 
importantly there is no total increase in FSR across the site, so it has been 
incorporated into the future planning and infrastructure provision of Green 
Square, floor space is ‘unlocked’ by the Planning Proposal. This Planning 
Proposal will contribute towards the Eastern City District’s housing supply target 
of 157,500 new dwellings, including 18,300 new dwellings in the City of Sydney. 
It will provide a range of one-, two- and three-bedroom apartments which have 
good access to jobs, services, facilities and public transport. 

 Planning Priority E10: Delivering integrated land use and transport planning for a 
30-minute city - This Planning Proposal will involve redevelopment of the site for 
mixed-use purposes. At a local level, the proposed development concept 
satisfies the objective of a 30-minute city as it will include access to local 
employment opportunities and improve permeability via the establishment of a 
through site link. It is also close to existing public transport with good access to 
employment in Central Sydney within 30 minutes travel time.  

 Planning Priority E19: Reducing carbon emissions and managing energy, water 
and waste efficiently - This Planning Proposal will amend the planning controls to 
ensure the built form responds to the surrounding context and sustainability 
measures are incorporated into the design and development, including increased 
energy and water efficiency targets. 

Q4. Is the Planning Proposal consistent with a council’s local strategy or other 
local strategic plan? 

Sustainable Sydney 2030 is the vision for sustainable development of the City of 
Sydney to 2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of 
the City of Sydney. This plan outlines the City’s vision for a ‘green’, ‘global’ and 
‘connected’ City of Sydney and sets targets, objectives and actions to achieve that 
vision. This Planning proposal is aligned with the following relevant strategic 
directions and objectives: 

 Direction 2: A leading environmental performer – Redevelopment of the site, 
facilitated by this Planning Proposal, will deliver new building stock with 
significantly better environmental performance than the current development. 
This will reduce the energy consumption of future development and directly 
contribute towards the City’s target for a reduction in emissions of 30% by 2030.  

 Direction 3: Integrated transport for a connected City – The site is directly 
adjacent to a high frequency bus route on Rothschild Avenue with bus services 
departing every five minutes in peak hours, connecting the site with Central 
Sydney, Bondi and Kingsford. Frequent bus services operate along Botany 
Road, approximately 200 metres from the site. The site is within walking distance 
to Green Square train station with up to 10 train services per hour to Central 
Sydney, Sydney Airport and connections to the wider rail network.  

 Direction 4: A City for walking and cycling – This Planning Proposal will 
encourage active transport by facilitating the delivery of new residential, retail 
and commercial floor space in a reasonable walking and/or cycling distance to a 
range of existing and planning services and facilities. The new uses and design 
of the ground floor will lead to a greater activation of the public domain and a 
greater sense of security encouraging further pedestrian activity. 

 Direction 6: Vibrant local communities and economies – This Planning Proposal 
will result in a new residential development, while preserving the heritage listed 

54



 

33 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

building to be used for commercial uses and retail uses fronting the through-site 
link. The non-residential activity will provide local services and employment 
opportunities. The design of the development will improve the public domain and 
encourage street activity, which will positively contribute towards fostering a 
sense of community.  

 Direction 7: A cultural and creative city – Any development application process 
will ensure the provision of high quality public art. This will promote liveability and 
quality of life of the community and contribute towards the cultural vitality of the 
City. 

 Direction 8: Housing for a diverse population – There is currently no residential 
development on the site. Redevelopment through this Planning Proposal will 
provide new residential apartments, which will cater for the needs of the growing 
and diverse population and contribute to the City’s housing targets. The site will 
also be subject to the Green Square Affordable Housing Scheme as required 
under the Sydney LEP 2012. 

 Direction 9: Sustainable development, renewal and design – This Planning 
Proposal will amend the planning controls to ensure the built form responds to 
the surrounding context and delivers a high level of amenity for future residents. 
Any design excellence process will ensure high quality sustainable measures are 
incorporated into the design and development, including increased energy and 
water efficiency targets. 

Q5. Is the planning proposal consistent with the applicable State 
Environmental Planning Policies? 

This Planning Proposal’s consistency with current State Environmental Planning 
Policies (SEPPs) is summarised in Table 2. SEPPs which have been repealed or 
have not finalised are not included in the table. 

This Planning Proposal’s consistency with Regional Environmental Plans (REPs) for 
the Sydney and Greater Metropolitan Regions, which are deemed SEPPs, is 
summarised in Table 3. 

Table 2: Consistency with State Environmental Planning Policies 

State Environmental Planning Policy Comment 

SEPP No 1 – Development Standards Consistent, this Planning Proposal does 
not contain provisions that contradict of 
hinder the application of this SEPP. 

SEPP No 14 – Coastal Wetlands Not applicable. 

SEPP No 19 – Bushland in Urban Areas Not applicable. 

SEPP No 21 – Caravan Parks Not applicable. 

SEPP No 30 – Intensive Agriculture Not applicable.  

SEPP No 33 – Hazardous and Offensive 
Development 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 36 – Manufactured Home 
Estates 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 44 – Koala Habitat Protection Not applicable. 

SEPP No 47 – Moore Park Showground Not applicable. 

SEPP No 50 – Canal Estate 
Development 

Not applicable. 

55



 

34 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

State Environmental Planning Policy Comment 

SEPP No 52 – Farm Dams and Other 
Works in Land and Water Management 
Plan Areas 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 55 – Remediation of Land Consistent. There is no proposed 
change to the zoning. This Planning 
Proposal does not contradict or hinder 
applicable of this SEPP. The proponent 
has provided evidence indicating that 
the site can be made suitable for 
residential uses.   

SEPP No 62 – Sustainable Aquaculture Not applicable. 

SEPP No 64 – Advertising and Signage  Not applicable. 

SEPP No 65 – Design Quality of 
Residential Apartment Development 

Consistent. The proposed change to the 
controls enable a development that is 
capable of complying with the SEPP and 
Apartment Design Guide.  

SEPP No 70 – Affordable Housing 
(Revised Schemes) 

Consistent – this Planning Proposal 
does not contain provisions that 
contradict or would hinder application of 
this SEPP. 
 
The Green Square Affordable Housing 
Scheme applies to this site under 
Sydney LEP 2012. 

SEPP (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009 This SEPP does not apply to land in 
Green Square. 

SEPP (Building Sustainability Index: 
BASIX) 2004 

Consistent. This Planning Proposal does 
not contradict or hinder application of 
this SEPP.  

SEPP (Coastal Management) 2018 Not applicable.  

SEPP (Educational Establishments and 
Child Care Facilities) 2017 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Exempt and Complying 
Development Codes) 2008 

Consistent. This Planning Proposal does 
not contradict or hinder application of 
this SEPP.  

SEPP (Housing for Seniors or People 
with a Disability) 2004 

Consistent. This Planning Proposal does 
not contradict or hinder application of 
this SEPP. 

SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007 Consistent. This Planning Proposal does 
not contradict or hinder application of 
this SEPP. 

SEPP (Integration and Repeals) 2016 Not applicable. 

SEPP (Kosciuszko National Park – 
Alpine Resorts) 2007 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Kurnell Peninsula) 1989 Not applicable. 

SEPP (Mining, Petroleum Production 
and Extractive Industries) 2007 

Not applicable. 

56



 

35 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

State Environmental Planning Policy Comment 

SEPP (Miscellaneous Consent 
Provisions) 2007 

Consistent. This Planning Proposal does 
not contradict or hinder application of 
this SEPP. 

SEPP (Penrith Lakes Scheme) 1989 Not applicable. 

SEPP (Rural Lands) 2008 Not applicable. 

SEPP (State and Regional 
Development) 2011 

Not applicable.  

SEPP (State Significant Precincts) 2005 Consistent. This Planning Proposal does 
not contradict or hinder application of 
this SEPP. 

SEPP (Sydney Drinking Water 
Catchment) 2011 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Sydney Region Growth Centres) 
2006 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Three Ports) 2013 Not applicable. 

SEPP (Urban Renewal) 2010 Consistent. The site is located within the 
Green Square Urban Renewal Area. 
This Planning Proposal is consistent 
with the SEPP’s aims to provide higher 
density mixed-use development with 
access to services, facilities and public 
domain areas associated with existing 
and future public transport services.  

SEPP (Vegetation in Non-Rural Areas) 
2017 

Consistent. This Planning Proposal does 
not contradict or hinder application of 
this SEPP. 

SEPP (Western Sydney Employment 
Area) 2009 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Western Sydney Parklands) 
2009 

Not applicable.  

Table 3: Consistency with Regional Environmental Plans 

State Environmental Planning Policy Comment 

Sydney REP No 8 (Central Coast 
Plateau) 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 9 – Extractive Industry 
(No2 – 1995) 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 16 – Walsh Bay Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 20 – Hawkesbury-
Nepean River (No 2 – 1997) 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 24 – Homebush Bay 
Area 

Not applicable.  

Sydney REP No 26 – City West Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 30 – St Marys Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 33 – Cooks Cove Not applicable. 

Sydney REP (Sydney Harbour 
Catchment) 2005 

Not applicable. 

57



 

36 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

Q6. Is the Planning Proposal consistent with applicable Section 117 Ministerial 
Directions? 

This Planning Proposal’s consistency with applicable section 117 Ministerial 
directions is outlined in Table 4. 

Table 4: Consistency with Ministerial directions 

 Direction Comment 

Employment and Resources 

1.1 Business and Industrial Zones Consistent. The subject site is zoned B4 
Mixed Use under the Sydney LEP 2012. 
The zone permits retail, commercial and 
residential uses with development consent. 
This Planning Proposal will not reduce the 
total potential floor space available for 
employment uses. This Planning Proposal 
is consistent with the objectives and 
requirements of this direction as the 
proposed development concept will facilitate 
the ongoing use of the heritage listed 
warehouse as an office and provide new 
retail spaces to enhance the vitality of the 
area and provide employment opportunities 
in the community.   

1.2 Rural Zones Not applicable 

1.3 Mining, Petroleum Production 
and Extractive Industries 

Not applicable 

1.4 Oyster Aquaculture Not applicable 

1.5 Rural Lands Not applicable 

Environment and Heritage 

2.1 Environment Protection Zones Not applicable 

2.2 Coastal Protection Not applicable 

2.3 Heritage Conservation A heritage listed warehouse listed under the 
Sydney LEP 2012 is located within the site. 
This Planning Proposal seeks to retain and 
protect this heritage item by transferring the 
floor space from ‘Site H’ containing the 
heritage item to the adjoining ‘Site D’ to the 
north. The redevelopment of the site 
resulting from this Planning Proposal will be 
designed so it is sympathetic to the heritage 
values and character of the heritage listed 
warehouse.  

2.4 Recreation Vehicle Areas Not applicable 

2.5 Application of E2 and E3 Zones 
and Environmental Overlays in 
Far North Coast LEPs 

Not applicable 

Housing, Infrastructure and Urban Development 

58



 

37 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

 Direction Comment 

3.1 Residential Zones Consistent. This Planning Proposal does 
not contain provisions that will reduce the 
permissible residential density of the land. 
The Proposal will facilitate the delivery of 
approximately 180 new dwellings on the 
site, increasing the amount and variety of 
housing in the City of Sydney local area.  

3.2 Caravan Parks and 
Manufactured Home Estates 

Not applicable 

3.3 Home Occupations Not applicable 

3.4 Integrating Land Use and 
Transport 

Consistent. This Planning Proposal is 
consistent with the aims, objectives and 
principles of Improving Transport Choice – 
Guidelines for planning and development 
(DUAP 2001), and The Right Place for 
Business and Services – Planning Policy 
(DUAP 2001). 

3.5 Development Near Licensed 
Aerodromes 

Not applicable. The site is not in an 
Australian Noise Exposure Forecast (ANEF) 
contour zone. 

3.6 Shooting Ranges Not applicable 

Hazard and Risk 

4.1 Acid Sulfate Soils Consistent. This Planning Proposal does not 
contradict or hinder application of acid 
sulfate soil provisions in Sydney LEP 2012. 
The site is on Class 5 Acid Sulfate Soil. 

4.2 Mine Subsidence and Unstable 
Land 

Not applicable 

4.3 Flood Prone Land  

4.4 Planning for Bushfire Protection Not applicable 

Regional Planning 

5.1 Implementation of Regional 
Strategies 

Not applicable 

5.2 Sydney Drinking Water 
Catchments 

Not applicable 

5.3 Farmland of State and Regional 
Significance on the NSW Far 
North Coast 

Not applicable 

5.4 Commercial and Retail 
Development along the Pacific 
Highway, North Coast 

Not applicable 

5.8 Second Sydney Airport: 
Badgerys Creek 

Not applicable 

5.9 North West Rail Link Corridor 
Strategy 

Not applicable 

5.10 Implementation of Regional 
Plans 

Consistent. This Planning Proposal is 
consistent with the Eastern City District Plan.  

Local Plan Making 

59



 

38 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

 Direction Comment 

6.1 Approval and Referral 
Requirements 

Consistent. This Planning Proposal does not 
include any concurrence, consultation or 
referral provisions nor does it identify any 
development as designated development.  

6.2 Reserving Land for Public 
Purposes 

Consistent. This Planning Proposal will not 
affect any land reserved for public purposes. 

6.3 Site Specific Provisions Consistent. This Planning Proposal does not 
contradict or hinder the application of this 
direction. 

Metropolitan Planning 

7.1 Implementation of A Plan for 
Growing Sydney 

Consistent. The aim of this direction is to 
give legal effect to the principles, directions 
and priorities contained in A Plan for 
Growing Sydney (Plan). In March 2018, this 
Plan was replaced by the A Metropolis of 
Three Cities – the Greater Sydney Region 
Plan.  
 
Section 5.7 of this Planning Proposal 
discusses how the proposal is consistent 
with A Metropolis of Three Cities – the 
Greater Sydney Region Plan. 

7.2 Implementation of Greater 
Macarthur Land Release 
Investigation 

Not applicable 

5.6 Environmental, social and economic impact 

Q7. Is there any likelihood that critical habitat or threatened species, 
populations or ecological communities, or their habitats, will be adversely 
affected as a result of the proposal? 

The subject site is located in an urbanised area and does not contain any known 
critical habitat or threatened species, populations or ecological communities, or their 
habitats. This Planning Proposal supports new street tree planting and the retention 
of the existing areas of vegetation along the site boundaries through a setback of the 
new buildings that matches the setback of the existing heritage item on site. 

As part of any future redevelopment of the site, resulting from this Planning 
Proposal, the City will consider environmental impacts that may be generated by the 
development. This will include the assessment of street trees, communal open space 
areas for residential development and additional vegetation that can be incorporated 
into the design development and the through-site links.  

Q8. Are there any other likely environmental effects as a result of the planning 
proposal and how are they proposed to be managed? 

This Planning Proposal is to amend the maximum building height and floor space 
control applicable to the site under the Sydney LEP 2012. The changes will help to 
provide a development that is suitable for commercial, retail and residential 
purposes. Any environmental effects have been identified and the proposed scheme 
has been developed in collaboration with the proponent. Design principles to ensure 
the environmental effects such as overshadowing and noise attenuation are 

60



 

39 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

appropriately managed have been incorporated into the draft DCP. Environmental 
impacts are discussed in section 5.2 of this Planning Proposal.  

Q9. Has the planning proposal adequately addressed any social and economic 
effects? 

This Planning Proposal will facilitate redevelopment of the site. However it does not 
propose an increase in the density above what is currently permissible under the 
Sydney LEP 2012. The proposed concept design will introduce residential to the 
existing commercial uses on the site and provide for retail uses. However it will not 
result in an increase in residential or worker population greater than that already 
anticipated under the existing planning controls and is not expected to result in any 
negative social or economic effects. 

Redevelopment of the site will offer a range of social and economic benefits 
including improving the amenity, accessibility and vitality of the public domain within 
the area through retail activation, the through-site links and greater building 
setbacks. It will also increase consumer choice, provide additional employment 
opportunities and increase housing choice.  

A range of public benefits that are made possible by change the height controls, 
including retention, preservation and activation of the existing heritage item and the 
adjacent additional through-site link. The public benefits will ensure the provision of 
additional landscaping through a greater building setback on Rothschild and 
Mentmore Avenues.  

5.7 State and Commonwealth Interests 

Q10. Is there adequate public infrastructure for the planning proposal? 

The site is located in an area that is well serviced by public transport. Frequent bus 
services are located within walking distance from the site on Rothschild Avenue. The 
site is also within walking distance to Green Square train station and other bus 
services available on Epsom Road.  

The traffic and parking assessment report prepared by GTA consultants states that 
there are no significant traffic or transport issues that would prevent the proposed 
scheme from being approved. 

This Planning Proposal will not result in a total increase to FSR, however it does 
unlock the floor space from ‘Site H’ and transfers it to ‘Site D’. As such the proposed 
level of density has been anticipated under the Sydney LEP 2012. 

All utility services including electricity, telecommunications, water, sewer and 
stormwater are currently available on the site. It the site is redeveloped it is expected 
that the developer will upgrade these services to support the proposed development 
including a new substation. Consultation with relevant authorities during public 
exhibition of this Planning Proposal will confirm the capacity of current utilities to 
service the site.  

Q11. What are the views of state and Commonwealth public authorities 
consulted in accordance with the Gateway determination? 

The Gateway Determination will advise the public authorities to be consulted as part 
of this Planning Proposal process. Any issues raised will be incorporated into this 
Planning Proposal following consultation in the public exhibition period.  

61



 

40 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

6 Mapping 

This Planning Proposal is to amend the relevant Building Height and Floor Space 
Ratio Map in Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 by: 

 Changing the building height control from 22 metres to a maximum of 29 
metres along Rothschild Avenue for Site D and from 22 metres to 27 metres 
along Mentmore Avenue. The building height control for Site H fronting 
Cressy Street will reduce from 22 metres to 9 metres. 

 Changing the floor space ratio control from 1.5:1 to a maximum of 1.75:1 for  
Site D and reducing the control from 1.5:1 to a maximum of 1:1 for Site H.  

 Introduce an active frontage map and identify an active frontage on the north-
east corner of ‘Site D’. 

An extract of the existing Height of Buildings map is shown at Figure 25 and the 
proposed amended map is shown at Figure 26. 

An extract of the existing Floor Space Ratio map is shown at Figure 27 and the 
proposed amended map is shown at Figure 28. 

An extract of the new Active Frontages map is shown at Figure 29. 

  

62



 

41 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

 

 

Figure 25: Extract of existing Height of Buildings Map: Sheet HOB_018 

 

Subject site 

63



 

42 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

 

 

Figure 26: Proposed amended Height of Buildings Map: Sheet HOB_018 
 

Subject site 

64



 

43 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

 
 

   
 
Figure 27: Extract of existing Floor Space Ratio Map: Sheet FSR_018 

 
 

Subject site 

65



 

44 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

 
 

  
 
Figure 28: Proposed amended Floor Space Ratio Map: Sheet FSR_018 

 
 

Subject site 

66



 

45 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

 
Figure 29: Proposed new amended Active Frontage Map: Sheet AF_018 

 
  

67



 

46 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

7 Community consultation 

Public consultation will be undertaken in accordance with the Gateway 
Determination issued by the Greater Sydney Commission, in accordance with 
Section 3.34 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

It is proposed that, at a minimum, this will involve the notification of the public 
exhibition of this Planning Proposal on the City of Sydney website, relevant local 
newspaper(s) circulating widely and in writing to the owners and occupiers of 
adjoining and nearby properties and relevant community groups. 

It is expected this Planning Proposal will be publicly exhibited for at least 28 days in 
accordance with section 5.5.2 of “A guide to preparing local environmental plans’. 

It is proposed that exhibition material will be made available on the City of Sydney 
website, at Town Hall House at 456 Kent Street, Sydney. The exhibition will coincide 
with the exhibition of an accompanying draft Sydney DCP 2012 amendment. 

Consultation with relevant NSW agencies and authorities and other relevant 
organisations will be undertaken in accordance with the gateway determination. 

 

 

 

 

  

68



 

47 / Planning Proposal: 12-22 & 24 Rothschild Avenue, Roseberry 

8 Project timeline 

The proposed project timeline is shown in Table 5. It will assist with tracking this 
Planning Proposal’s progress through its various stages of consultation and 
approval. It is estimated this amendment to Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
will be completed by May 2019. 

Table 5: Proposed project timeline 

Stage Timeframe 

Submit Planning Proposal to Department of Planning 
and Environment seeking gateway determination 
 

September 2018 

Receive gateway determination November 2018 
 

Public exhibition and public authority consultation of 
Planning Proposal and DCP amendment 
 

January 2019 

Review of submissions received during public exhibition 
and public authority consultation 
 

February 2019 

Council and Central Sydney Planning Committee 
approval of Planning Proposal and DCP amendment 
 

April 2019 

Drafting of instrument and finalisation of mapping 
 

May 2019 

Amendment to Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
legally drafted, made and published on NSW legislation 
website. 

June 2019 

 

 

69



Attachment B 

Sydney Development Control Plan - 

12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery 

 

70



 

 

Sydney 
Development 
Control Plan 2012 

City of Sydney 
Town Hall House 
456 Kent Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 

12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery Amendment  

 

 

 

 

71



 

1 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery Amendment 

The purpose of this Development Control Plan  

The purpose of this plan is to amend Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 to 
provide objectives and provisions to inform future development on 12-22 and 24 
Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery. 

This plan is to be read in conjunction with draft Planning Proposal: 12-22 and 24 
Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery. 

Citation   

This plan may be referred to as the 12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery 
Amendment. 

Land covered by this plan 

This plan applies to land identified as 12-22 Rothschild Avenue and 24 Rothschild 
Avenue, Rosebery – which is Lot 1 Deposited Plan 314957, Lot 5 Deposited Plan 
309149, Lot A Deposited Plan 322620, Lot B Deposited Plan 308922, Lot 408 
Deposited Plan 315228, Lot 1 Deposited Plan 456612, Lot 2 Deposited Plan 456612, 
Lot 410 Deposited Plan 7534, Lot 456 Deposited Plan 7534. 

Relationship of this plan to Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

This plan amends Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 in the manner set out 
below.    

 

  

72



 

2 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery Amendment 

Amendment to Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

Figure 6.1 

Amend Figure 6.1: Specific Sites Map to include 12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, 
Rosebery. 

Amendment to Section 6.3  

Insert a new sub-section at the end of section 6.3 containing all text and figures as 
follows: 

6.3.#    12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery  

The following objectives and provisions apply to 12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, 
Rosebery as shown in ‘Figure 6.1 Specific sites map’. 

Objectives 

(a) Ensure the bulk, massing and modulation of buildings respond to the adjacent 

heritage building on the land and characteristics of the surrounding area. 

(b) Protect and conserve the heritage building on land and its contribution to the 

streetscape by providing an appropriate visual and physical setting. 

(c) Promote the redevelopment of the site comprising high quality buildings that 

incorporate a mix of residential, commercial and retail uses. 

(d) Provide employment opportunities on the site.  

(e) Locate residential uses to provide passive surveillance and avoid blank walls to 

the public domain and to any new open space. 

(f) Ensure a high level of amenity for future residents is provided by: 

(i) ensuring residential dwellings provide a high level of amenity through 

the design and layout of the built form; 

(ii) maintaining sunlight to communal areas; 

(iii) providing built form controls that enable development to comply with the 

Apartment Design Guide and any other relevant plans, guidelines or 

policies; 

(iv) including setbacks to complement the streetscape; and 

(v) setting an appropriate building height and scale. 

(g) Provide a publicly accessible through-site link to improve the permeability of 

the street network and connect to streets. 

(h) Ensure the location, size and design of vehicle access minimises pedestrian 

and vehicle conflicts and disruption of traffic on public roads.  

(i) Establish a design excellence strategy and guide the outcomes of a 

competitive design process.  

 

73



 

3 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery Amendment 

 

Figure 6.XX: Structure and land use plan 

Provisions: 

6.3.x.x  Land use 

(1) Design and locate a mix of residential, retail and commercial uses in 
accordance with ‘Figure 6.XX – Structure and land Use Plan’. 

(2) Locate retail or commercial uses at ground level; 

(a) fronting the north-east section of the through-site link at the north of the 
site; and 

(b) on all frontages of the heritage listed building. 

(3) Retail or commercial uses are to activate the street. 

6.3.x.x  Built form 

(1) Building heights are to be in accordance with ‘Figure 6.XX: Building heights 
(storeys). 

(2) Setbacks above the street wall height are to be provided in accordance with: 

(a) ‘Figure 6.XX: Rothschild and Mentmore Avenue street wall heights and 

setbacks’; 

(b) ‘Figure 6.XX: Rothschild Avenue elevation and upper level setbacks to 

the through-site link and heritage curtilage’; and 

(c) ‘Figure 6.XX: Mentmore Avenue frontage and upper level setbacks to the 

through-site link and heritage curtilage’.   

74



 

4 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery Amendment 

(3) The final building design is to be appropriately massed within the envelope 
shown at ‘Figure 6.XX: 12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery – 
Maximum building envelopes’. This represents the maximum permissible 
extent of the built form including any design excellence floor space resulting 
from a competitive design process that may be achieved. 

(4) Development is to be designed so that the length and height of buildings are 
articulated to: 

(a) limit the overall mass; 

(b) reduce the sense of scale from the public domain; and 

(c) be sensitive to the adjacent heritage building on site. 

(5) The siting, massing, orientation and detailed design of the buildings is to 
ensure compliance with the Apartment Design Guide. 

(6) Provide green roofs on the roof tops with drought tolerant Australian native 
plants. 

 

Figure 6.XX: Building heights (storeys) 
 

 

 

75



 

5 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery Amendment 

 

Figure 6.XX: Rothschild and Mentmore Avenue street wall height and setbacks  

 

Figure 6.XX: Rothschild Avenue elevation and upper level setbacks to the through-
site link and heritage curtilage 

 

Figure 6.XX: Mentmore Avenue frontage and upper level setbacks to the through-
site link and heritage curtilage 

 

76



 

6 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery Amendment 

 

Figure 6.XX: 12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery – Maximum building 
envelopes 

6.3.x.x  Building setbacks 

(1) Building setbacks are to be consistent with ‘Figure 6.XX: Site plan setbacks 
and public domain’, specifically: 

(a) where residential uses front Rothschild Avenue, a seven metre 

landscape setback from the property boundary is required; 

(b) where residential uses front Mentmore Avenue, a five metre landscaped 

setback from the property boundary is required; 

(c) a six metre heritage curtilage from the northern wall of the heritage 

building is required ;and  

(d) where residential uses front the through-site link, a three metre 

landscape setback from the new boundary that would be established 

following the dedication of the through-site link to Council. 

(2) Any ramps are to be integrated into the overall design and are not to encroach 
on setbacks. 

77



 

7 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery Amendment 

 

Figure 6.XX: Site plan setbacks and public domain 

6.3.x.x  Public Domain 

(1) A through-site link is to be provided as shown in ‘Figure 6.XX Site plan 
setbacks and public domain’. 

(2) The through-site link is to be completed and integrated with the existing portion 
of the through-site link that has already been provided to the north of the site. 

(3) The through-site link is to have a minimum width of 6 metres at ground level 
and be open to the sky as shown in ‘Figure 6.XX: Site plan setbacks and public 
domain’. 

(4) The through-site link is to be publicly accessible at all times. 

(5) The ground level of the building along Rothschild Avenue, Mentmore Avenue 
and the through-site link are to provide individual entries to ground floor 
dwellings to provide passive surveillance and opportunities for social 
interaction. 

(6) The ground level of the building at the corner of Rothschild Avenue and the 
through-site link are to provide entrances to retail to maximise street activation. 

(7) Where at-grade entrances are not able to be provided due to flooding 
constraints, suitable alternatives are to be explored to maximise activation and 
pedestrian activity. 

6.3.x.x  Heritage 

(1) The design of the buildings are to relate sympathetically to the existing heritage 
building. 

(2) Works affecting the heritage item shall maximise the retention, reinstatement 
and exposure of significant building fabric and spaces. 

78



 

8 / Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery Amendment 

(3) No part of any future development is to encroach upon or above the heritage 
building or curtilage. 

6.3.x.x  Parking, vehicular access and servicing 

(1) A single vehicular driveway to underground car parking is to be provided in 
accordance with ‘Figure 6.XX: Structure and land use plan’. 

(2) Basement car parking is not to encroach under any areas designated for a 
through-site link and deep soil planting. 

6.3.x.x  Flooding and Stormwater 

(1) Flood planning levels are to be consistent with the City’s Interim Floodplain 
Management Policy. 

6.3.x.x  Design excellence  

(1) A competitive design process is to be undertaken in accordance with Clause 
6.21 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and is to apply to the site 
as outlined in ‘Figure 6.XX: Structure and land use plan’, which illustrates the 
location and extent of the competitive design process. 

(2) The competitive design process is to comprise an invited competitive design 
alternative process involving a minimum of three architectural firms ranging 
from emerging, emerged and established architectural firms. 

(3) Any additional floor space that results from a competitive design process must 
be accommodated within the proposed building envelope as shown in ‘Figure 
6.XX: Building heights (storeys)’.  

(4) The maximum number of storeys shown in brackets in ‘Figure 6.XX: Building 
heights (storeys)’ may only be achieved where a competitive design process 
has been undertaken. 

(5) No additional building height that under Clause 6.21(7)(a) of the Sydney LEP 
2012 is to be awarded as a result of a competitive design process. 

(6) The selection process is to comprise a total of four members. The proponent is 
to nominate two panel members and the City of Sydney is to nominate two 
panel members. 

APPENDIX A  
 

Appendix A contains the following amended DCP maps: 

• Height in storeys map – Sheet 018 

• Building setback and alignment map – Sheet 018 

• Building street frontage height in storeys map – Sheet 018 

• Active frontages map – Sheet 018 

 

 

79



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Post Exhibition - Planning Proposal - Affordable Rental Housing Review - 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Affordable Housing Program and 
Pre Exhibition - Planning Proposal - Affordable Rental Housing Review - Green 
Square Town Centre

File No: X008764

Summary

The high cost of housing is an important economic and social issue in Sydney, particularly 
within the City’s local government area (LGA) where housing prices are amongst the highest 
in Australia. Increasing the amount of affordable rental housing available for low income 
households is an urgent priority for the City.

Sustainable Sydney 2030 establishes an ambitious target that, in 2030, 7.5 percent of 
housing will be social housing and 7.5 percent will be affordable rental housing. Over 9,700 
additional affordable housing dwellings are required to be delivered in the LGA by 2030 to 
achieve this target.

The Eastern City District Plan (District Plan) released by the Greater Sydney Commission in 
March 2018 includes actions for the provision of affordable housing through the planning 
framework and establishes an affordable housing target of five to 10 percent of new 
residential floor area, subject to viability. The plan requires councils to develop local housing 
strategies to address the range of housing needs in their local areas, including affordable 
housing.

The Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review (Planning Proposal), shown at 
Attachment A, follows the release of the District Plan and a review of affordable housing 
needs and supply in the City of Sydney LGA. It will make a number of changes to the 
existing affordable housing provisions in the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
(Sydney LEP 2012) to expand contribution requirements for affordable housing when land is 
being developed. It also streamlines the City’s current processes and practices to facilitate 
the delivery of affordable housing.

The City of Sydney Affordable Housing Program (Program), shown at Appendix A to 
Attachment A, provides more detailed provisions to guide the operation of contribution 
requirements under the Sydney LEP 2012. The Program extends and consolidates the 
current affordable housing programs in operation in the Green Square renewal area (Green 
Square) and the Southern Employment Lands.

The purpose of the Planning Proposal and Program is to provide a comprehensive and 
transparent framework for the application of affordable housing contributions when land is 
being developed.

1

Item 8.



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

It is proposed the current affordable housing contribution schemes that operate in Green 
Square and the Southern Employment Lands be expanded to other land in the LGA, 
including Central Sydney and land referred to as 'residual land'. Residual land is land in the 
LGA that is not in Central Sydney, Green Square, the Southern Employment Lands or 
Ultimo/Pyrmont, and where council is the consent authority. The contribution requirement is 
to be introduced over a number of years to allow for market adjustment. Economic analysis 
has demonstrated the contribution requirement can be introduced without impacting on 
development viability.

In addition to the expansion of the affordable housing contribution requirement to Central 
Sydney and the remaining residual lands, a framework is proposed to add a new schedule to 
Sydney LEP 2012.  The framework will enable sites, which benefit from increased 
development capacity and land value through a planning proposal, to be identified on the 
new schedule so they can make a supplementary affordable housing contribution. The 
contribution requirement is to be commensurate with the increase in the development 
capacity provided for in the associated LEP amendment. Once included in the LEP, the 
contribution requirement is then applied through conditions on future development consents.

This proposed framework for sites where there has been a change to planning controls is to 
embed in the Sydney LEP 2012 that where there is an increase in development capacity, 
development contributes to the provision of critical infrastructure, including affordable 
housing.

The contribution rates proposed for these sites in many cases may exceed the minimum 
target rates of five percent included in the District Plan. The proposed rates are underpinned 
by the City’s longstanding practice of directing towards the public benefit 50 percent of land 
value uplift resulting from changes to planning controls. Land valuation testing shows that 
development viability is not adversely impacted if it is reflected in land price.

It is estimated the expansion of the City’s current affordable housing schemes to residual 
land will result in approximately 590 affordable rental housing dwellings in addition to the 
1,335 estimated under current schemes in Green Square, Ultimo/Pyrmont, the Southern 
Employment Lands, and the proposed Central Sydney scheme. This is an increase of over 
40 percent.

This estimate does not take into account the additional affordable housing outcomes that 
may be achieved as community housing providers leverage properties and ongoing rental 
streams to provide more affordable housing. Also not taken into account is the opportunity 
for the NSW government to provide at least 10 percent of residential development on state 
owned sites as affordable housing. 

Additional affordable rental housing dwellings will also result on sites identified on the new 
schedule proposed in Sydney LEP 2012 though, because there are no available projections 
for how much floor area will result from future changes to planning controls, outcomes 
cannot be estimated with any certainty.

Council and the Central Sydney Planning Committee (CSPC) approved the Planning 
Proposal and draft Program for public exhibition on 27 March 2017 and 23 March 2017 
respectively. A conditional Gateway for the Planning Proposal was issued in January 2018. 
The report follows the public exhibition from 25 June 2018 to 23 July 2018.

The City received 80 submissions, including 64 from individuals and 16 from organisations, 
including community housing providers, development groups and peak representative 
bodies.

2



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

A number of submissions were written in support with some concerns and/or suggested 
improvements. Likewise, a number of submissions were written in objection to all or most 
elements of the Planning Proposal, though the majority of these submissions concurred with 
the need for a substantial increase in the quantum of affordable housing in the LGA and 
wider Sydney. Issues canvassed in submissions range from economic to social concerns, 
and concerns about the impact on infrastructure. An extensive summary of submissions, and 
response to issues raised, is provided at Attachment E.

Following consideration of submissions, a number of amendments are recommended to the 
publicly exhibited Planning Proposal and Program. A schedule of post-exhibition changes is 
attached at Appendix E of Attachment A.

This report recommends the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve the Planning 
Proposal and Program following public exhibition, review of submissions and consequent 
amendment. If approved, the Planning Proposal will be referred to the relevant local plan-
making authority to be made as an LEP.

This report also recommends the public exhibition of Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing 
Review - Green Square Town Centre (Town Centre Planning Proposal). The Town Centre 
Planning Proposal is to address an omission in the original Planning Proposal, that 
inadvertently excluded the proposed new planning controls and Program from areas to 
which the Green Square Town Centre LEPs apply.

3



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Recommendation

It is resolved that:

(A) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the matters raised in response to the 
public exhibition of Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review and draft City of 
Sydney Affordable Housing Program as shown Attachment E to the subject report;

(B) the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve Planning Proposal: Affordable 
Housing Review, shown at Attachment A to the subject report, and refer the Planning 
Proposal to the relevant local plan-making authority to be made as a local 
environmental plan;

(C) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the recommendation to Council's 
Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee on 10 September 2018 that Council 
adopt the City of Sydney Affordable Housing Program, shown at Appendix A to 
Attachment A to the subject report, specifying the date of publication of the local 
environmental plan as the date the approved affordable housing program comes into 
effect;

(D) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any variations to 
Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review, shown at Attachment A to the subject 
report, and City of Sydney Affordable Housing Program, shown at Appendix A to 
Attachment A to the subject report, to:
(a) include additional information, such as examples, in the Program to reflect the 

final drafting of clauses in the local environmental plan; and
(b) correct any minor errors prior to finalisation of the local environmental plan.

(E) the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve Planning Proposal: Affordable 
Housing Review - Green Square Town Centre, shown at Attachment D to the subject 
report, for submission to the relevant local plan-making authority with a request for a 
Gateway Determination;

(F) if required by the Gateway Determination issued for Planning Proposal: Affordable 
Housing Review - Green Square Town Centre, shown at Attachment D to the subject 
report, the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve the Town Centre Planning 
Proposal for public authority consultation and public exhibition in accordance with any 
conditions required in the Gateway Determination;

(G) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make minor changes, including 
any changes required by the relevant local plan-making authority as a condition of the 
Gateway Determination to the Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review - Green 
Square Town Centre, shown at Attachment D to the subject report, to prepare it for 
public exhibition; and

(H) contingent on no submissions being made to the public exhibition of Planning 
Proposal: Affordable Housing Review - Green Square Town Centre, shown at 
Attachment D to the subject report, and no changes being made to the Planning 
Proposal, authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to approve the Town 
Centre Planning Proposal, and refer it to the relevant local plan-making authority to be 
made as a local environmental plan.

4



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Attachments

Attachment A. Planning Proposal - Affordable Housing Review - Post Exhibition 
(additions in bold with deletions struck-through)

Attachment B. Resolutions of Council and the Central Sydney Planning Committee

Attachment C. Gateway Determination

Attachment D. Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review - Green Square Town 
Centre

Attachment E. Summary of and Responses to Matters Raised in Submissions

5



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Background

1. Sydney remains Australia’s least affordable city. The high cost of housing is an 
important economic and social risk, particularly within the City of Sydney local 
government area (LGA) where housing prices are amongst the highest in Australia.

2. The Metropolis of Three Cities: Greater Sydney Region Plan 2018 (Region Plan) and 
the Eastern City District Plan (District Plan) were released by the Greater Sydney 
Commission in March 2018. The Plans establish affordable housing targets and 
require councils to prepare a Housing Strategy that provides a planning pathway for 
achieving the targets.

3. The Region Plan establishes an affordable housing target of five to 10 percent of new 
residential floor area, subject to viability. The target is aimed at housing those most in 
need, specifically very low and low income households. The Plan requires councils to 
develop local housing strategies to address the range of housing needs, including 
affordable housing.

4. Sustainable Sydney 2030 establishes an ambitious target that in 2030, 7.5 percent of 
housing will be social housing and 7.5 percent of housing will be affordable rental 
housing. From 2018 numbers, over 9,700 additional affordable housing dwellings are 
required to be delivered in the LGA by 2030 to achieve this target.   

5. Three affordable housing ‘schemes’ currently operate in the LGA, including in:

(a) Ultimo/Pyrmont, introduced in 1996, which requires 0.8 percent of residential 
floor area and 1.1 percent of commercial floor area be provided as affordable 
housing;

(b) Green Square urban renewal area (Green Square), introduced in 1999, which 
requires three percent of residential floor area and one percent of commercial 
floor area be provided as affordable housing; and 

(c) Southern Employment Lands, introduced in 2015, which requires three percent 
of residential floor area and one percent of commercial floor area be provided as 
affordable housing.

6. In July 2018, a total of 835 affordable housing dwellings were located in the LGA with 
an additional 586 in the development pipeline or announced. 

7. The majority of existing affordable housing dwellings in the LGA have been built and 
are managed by City West Housing, which is currently the beneficiary of monetary 
contributions made under the Green Square and Ultimo/Pyrmont schemes. In the 
Southern Employment Lands, where the contribution requirement is relatively new and 
has not as yet resulted in any affordable housing, contributions are to be available 
amongst multiple community housing providers.   

8. The City also uses other approaches to increase the amount of affordable housing 
where opportunities arise. Some examples include:

(a) in 2009 the City entered into a planning agreement for the dedication of land for 
affordable housing at Harold Park. The land was purchased by City West 
Housing, partly using funds raised from the Ultimo/Pyrmont contribution scheme, 
and will be developed for 78 affordable housing dwellings;

6



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

(b) in 2010, the City sought expressions of interest for the sale of land for affordable 
housing at Portman Street, Zetland. The land was purchased by City West 
Housing, partly using funds raised from the Green Square contribution scheme, 
and developed for 104 affordable housing dwellings;

(c) in 2013, the City entered into a planning agreement for affordable housing to be 
provided in conjunction with the redevelopment of 87 Bay Street, Glebe. The 
approved development application is for 207 residential apartments, including 19 
affordable housing units;

(d) in the review of planning controls in the City’s Southern Employment Lands, a 
preferential LEP clause was applied to land rezoned from IN1 or IN2 Industrial to 
B7 Business Park to permit affordable housing, but not market housing. The 
approach creates a commercial advantage for community housing providers to 
purchase land in the zone, given there they do not compete for the  land with 
other residential developers;

(e) in providing the Green Square to Ashmore connector road, currently under 
construction, Council sold land surplus to need to City West Housing and St 
George Housing to develop affordable housing. The land is in the B7 Business 
Park zone where affordable housing, but not market housing, can be developed.    
An estimated 300 affordable housing dwellings will be provided on these sites; 
and

(f) in 2015, Council adopted the 'Guideline to Preparing Site Specific Planning 
Proposal Requests in the City of Sydney Employment Lands Investigation Areas' 
(Guideline). The Guideline provides a framework for sharing the residual land 
value increase resulting from changes to planning controls, with 50 percent of 
the increase being returned to the area with the provision of infrastructure, in 
particular affordable housing. The first planning proposal under the Guideline 
was publicly exhibited in March 2018, together with a planning agreement 
securing a range of public benefits, including approximately eight affordable 
housing dwellings. 

9. As outlined above, the planning mechanisms and policies used by the City to facilitate 
affordable housing have been developed over 20 years and have led to varying 
administrative processes and procedures. 

10. This report recommends the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve Planning 
Proposal: Affordable Housing Review (Planning Proposal), at Attachment A, following 
public exhibition and consequent review of the proposal. The Planning Proposal 
amends Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP 2012). Additionally this 
report recommends Council approve the City of Sydney Affordable Housing Program 
(Program) at Appendix A to Attachment A. 

11. This report also recommends the public exhibition of Planning Proposal: Affordable 
Housing Review - Green Square Town Centre (Town Centre Planning Proposal). The 
Town Centre Planning Proposal is to correct an omission in the original Planning 
Proposal, that inadvertently excluded the proposed new planning controls and 
Program from areas to which the Green Square Town Centre LEPs apply. The Town 
Centre Planning Proposal will apply to the 14 hectare Town Centre area only.

7



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Gateway Determination

12. Council and the Central Sydney Planning Committee (CSPC) approved the Planning 
Proposal and draft Program for public exhibition on 27 March 2017 and 23 March 2017 
respectively. The Council and CSPC resolutions are at Attachment B.

13. The Department of Planning and Environment (Department) issued a conditional 
gateway determination (Gateway) for the planning proposal on 10 January 2018, 
shown at Attachment C. The Gateway required that prior to public exhibition that some 
changes be made to the Planning Proposal, including:

(a) incorporation of Central Sydney into the area to which the Planning Proposal and 
Program apply;

(b) further assessment of alignment with the then Draft Region and District Plans;

(c) removal of the provisions that would make it possible to apply an affordable 
housing contribution to exempt and complying development;

(d) extend the commencement date of contributions from the two years proposed by 
Council and the CSPC to three years with two year staging;

(e) provide further justification for and explanation of provisions for Planning 
Proposal land, and

(f) other minor inclusions. 

14. As above, it is noted in the Planning Proposal reported to Council in March 2017, 
Central Sydney was excluded owing to a separate draft affordable housing program 
that was prepared as part of the Central Sydney Planning Strategy and accompanying 
planning proposal. The Gateway required the incorporation of Central Sydney into the 
Planning Proposal and Program, effectively bringing forward the operation of an 
affordable housing scheme in Central Sydney and removing it from the Central Sydney 
Planning Strategy and planning proposal (which is awaiting Gateway determination).

15. To inform the preparation of the Planning Proposal to which this report relates, a 
comprehensive review of all of the affordable housing programs in the LGA took place. 
The review was undertaken after the preparation of the draft Central Sydney 
Affordable Housing Program. Therefore a number of changes were made to the 
provisions and program that had previously been prepared for Central Sydney, so that 
it aligned with the Planning Proposal and LGA wide Program. Key changes include:

(a) alignment of exemptions from the need to make an affordable housing 
contribution; 

(b) alignment of drafting instructions for new clauses in the Sydney LEP 2012.

16. As above, in the Planning Proposal reported to Council in March 2017, it was 
proposed that, where appropriate, an affordable housing contribution could be applied 
to complying development. 

8



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

17. State Environmental Planning Policy (Exempt and Complying Development Codes) 
2008 includes provisions that allow the change of use of floor area and the 
development of certain types of residential dwellings without development consent   
where a contribution requirement might be otherwise required if it were the subject of a 
development application. 

18. The Gateway required the Planning Proposal be amended to explicitly exclude 
complying development from needing to make a contribution, owing to changes to the 
Act, which do not allow for the application of an affordable housing contribution 
requirement to exempt or complying development.

19. The City is currently in discussions with the Department to explore options to review 
this. It is the City's view that contributions that would otherwise be applied through the 
development application process should also apply where consent is achieved through 
a complying development pathway with the purpose of maintaining contributions for 
affordable housing.

20. The Gateway did not delegate authority to Council to draft and make the LEP. If 
approved by Council and the CSPC, the Planning Proposal will be referred back to the 
relevant authority for legal drafting and finalisation.

21. The Planning Proposal was amended in accordance with the requirements of the 
Gateway determination and re-submitted to the Department on 4 May 2018. Final 
approval for the public exhibition of the Planning Proposal was issued on 10 May 
2018.  

22. The Planning Proposal and draft Program were exhibited from 25 June to 23 July 
2018. The City received 80 submissions, including 64 from individuals and 16 from 
organisations, including community housing providers, development groups and 
representative bodies. A summary of submissions, and response to issues raised, is at 
Attachment E. Key issues raised in the submissions are discussed later in this report.

Objectives and aims of the Planning Proposal 

23. The Planning Proposal follows a comprehensive review of affordable housing needs 
and supply in the LGA. The resulting Planning Proposal makes changes to the current 
affordable housing provisions in the Sydney LEP 2012. It generally affects land where 
Council is the consent authority, shown at Figure 1, though in different ways. It does 
not affect the Green Square Town Centre (Town Centre), though it this area is 
proposed to be incorporated by a separate planning proposal process discussed later 
in this report. 

24. The purpose of the Planning Proposal is to provide a consistent and transparent 
framework for the application of affordable housing contributions when land is being 
developed. A key objective of the Planning Proposal is to increase the amount of 
affordable housing to achieve the affordable housing targets in the Region Plan, 
District Plan and the City’s Sustainable Sydney 2030. 

25. The Planning Proposal is to amend Sydney LEP 2012 to:

(a) expand the operation of current affordable housing contribution schemes to 
where it does not currently apply, including Central Sydney and land referred to 
as 'residual land';

9



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

(b) provide a framework to identify sites that will benefit from increased development 
capacity and land value through a planning proposal to change the planning 
controls, and require a supplementary affordable housing contribution. These 
sites are called 'Planning Proposal land'; and

(c) clarify what development is excluded from a requirement to make an affordable 
housing contribution.

26. The Planning Proposal is supported by the Program, shown at Appendix A to 
Attachment A, which contains the operational details for the collection and distribution 
of affordable housing contributions.

27. The Green Square program will also continue to apply to land subject to the South 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 1998. This includes a small strip of land along 
Gardeners Road as well as state government owned land at Waterloo, including the 
Waterloo Estate that has been declared a potential State Significant Precinct under the 
State Environmental Planning Policy (Major Development) 2005.

28. The Program replaces the Green Square and Southern Employment Lands affordable 
housing programs currently in operation, however the current Green Square program 
will continue to apply to the Town Centre until it is incorporated into the Program that is 
the subject of this report. It is anticipated that the process to incorporate the Town 
Centre is likely to be finalised prior to the commencement of the new Program.

29. The Program will also supplement the current City West (Ultimo/Pyrmont) program, but 
will not replace it. The operational details in the current program that applies to 
Ultimo/Pyrmont under Clause 7.13 of the Sydney LEP 2012 will continue to apply. 
However, Planning Proposal land that is identified in Ultimo/Pyrmont will also be 
subject to the requirements proposed in the Program.

10



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Figure 1: Land to which the Planning Proposal applies 

11



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

30. The requirements contained in the Program are, in some cases, an extension of 
current requirements or practices under current affordable housing programs, and in 
others, are new requirements. The key changes and additions proposed in the 
Program include:

(a) establishing the equivalent monetary contribution amount per square metre for 
affordable housing contribution rates contained within the Sydney LEP 2012;

(b) an effective increase in the equivalent monetary contribution amount as it applies 
to Green Square to bring it in line with the amount applicable in the employment 
lands;

(c) contributions collected in Green Square will be able to be spent anywhere in the 
LGA, where currently they must be spent within Green Square; 

(d) establishing an approach to determine the appropriate contribution rate to apply 
to Planning Proposal land; and

(e) affordable housing contributions are to be collected by the City and passed onto 
City West Housing to provide affordable housing.

31. A detailed description of the proposed amendments and additions being made to 
Sydney LEP 2012 and to be effected by the Program are provided below.

Changes to Sydney LEP 2012

Expansion of affordable housing schemes to Central Sydney and residual land

32. The Planning Proposal amends the Sydney LEP 2012 to expand the operation of 
current affordable housing contribution schemes to all other land in the LGA where 
Sydney LEP 2012 applies.

33. The land that is affected by the new contribution requirement includes Central Sydney 
and residual land, shown at Figure 1. 

34. The contribution rate requirement in Central Sydney and on residual land is shown at 
Table 1 below.

12



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Table 1: Contribution rates in Central Sydney and on residual land (adjusted by requirement of the 
Gateway and to align dates with monetary rate indexation dates)

Date of determination of 
development application

Total floor area intended 
for non- residential floor 
area

Total floor area intended for 
residential floor area

To 31 May 2020 0% 0%

1 June 2020 – 31 May 2022 0.5% 1.5%

1 June 2022 onwards 1% 3%

35. The affordable housing contribution requirement can be satisfied by making: 

(a) an in-kind dedication to Council of finished affordable rental housing dwellings in 
the development; or

(b) an equivalent monetary contribution payment to be passed to a community 
housing provider to build, own and manage affordable rental housing. The 
equivalent monetary contribution amounts are provided in the Program, 
discussed later in this report.

36. The contribution requirement is calculated in the development application process and 
applied under the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (Act) as a 
condition of consent. This is the same way the contribution requirement is currently 
applied in Green Square, Southern Employment Lands and in Ultimo/Pyrmont. 

37. A new contribution requirement on the remaining residual land and in Central Sydney 
is only to apply to development that is for the creation of new floor area or to change 
the use of existing floor area from non-residential to residential or tourist 
accommodation purpose. 

38. It is noted this is different to how the contribution requirement applies to land in Green 
Square, the Southern Employment Lands and Ultimo/Pyrmont, which applies to all 
floor area in a building and where floor area is changing from one non-residential use 
to any other user. This is because land in Central Sydney and on residual land has not 
benefited from a rezoning that has increased the value of all land in the area. 
Therefore the contribution is calculated only on the new floor area and/or the floor area 
that is changing use.

39. The Act requires a local government area to be identified on a planning instrument as 
having need for affordable housing before it can impose an affordable housing 
contribution requirement under the Act. The City of Sydney, together with Canada Bay, 
Randwick, Ryde, Inner West, Northern Beaches and Willoughby council areas, is 
identified as having need for affordable housing under State Environmental Planning 
Policy No 70 - Affordable Housing (Revised Schemes) (SEPP 70).

13



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

40. The Act further provides the circumstances under which a local authority may apply an 
affordable housing contribution requirement. The contribution requirement can be 
applied where Council is satisfied that development: ‘will or is likely to reduce the 
availability of affordable housing within the area’; or it ‘will create a need for affordable 
housing within the area’; or ‘is allowed only because of the initial zoning of a site, or 
the rezoning of a site’.

41. An affordable housing needs analysis, provided as part of the Program at Appendix A 
to the Planning Proposal, identifies that as a result of development, the availability of 
affordable housing is diminishing in Sydney, particularly in high value areas such as 
the inner-city. The study shows a clear and critical need to provide more affordable 
housing for low to moderate income households. In addition, the additional 
development capacity on the land is only possible because the land has been the 
subject of a planning proposal. 

42. A critical consideration in introducing new contribution requirements in the Sydney LEP 
2012 is impact on development viability. Where development viability cannot be 
maintained, development will slow down, having a detrimental impact on the wider 
economy.

43. To understand the economic impacts of the proposed affordable housing contribution, 
and the impacts of an increased monetary contribution rate in Green Square, the City 
sought independent economic advice to test identified housing sub-markets. The 
overarching objective of the economic testing was to appreciate the full impacts of 
implementing the additional affordable housing requirements, how the impacts vary 
over different parts of the LGA and how they may be mitigated. The testing was 
necessarily generalised and does not reflect the individual circumstances of every site, 
however it reflects the economic circumstances of most land.

44. It finds that in the short term the immediate introduction of a contribution requirement 
in Central Sydney and on residual land would likely impact on development viability, 
but that there is scope to introduce a levy in the medium term where sufficient advance 
warning is given to the market.

45. Affordable housing contributions are only viable where the prices paid for development 
sites reflect the planning controls and applicable contributions liability. It is therefore 
imperative for any affordable housing contributions to be clearly defined so that 
prospective purchasers are informed at the outset and able to make informed 
decisions at the time of site acquisition.

46. The Planning Proposal therefore allows for the introduction of the affordable housing 
contribution in Central Sydney and residual lands over an extended period (see Table 
1). This will not impact the development of sites already acquired and will allow market 
expectations to adjust prior to the contribution coming into effect.

47. In Green Square, the economic study found the increase in the equivalent monetary 
contribution rate would not impact on development viability. Notwithstanding this, 
following submissions made during public exhibition of the Program, the Program has 
been adjusted to allow for the current Green Square Program rates to continue to 
apply in Green Square until 29 February 2020. This will allow more time for the market 
in Green Square to adjust.

14



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

A framework for Planning Proposal land
48. The Planning Proposal amends the Sydney LEP 2012 to provide a framework to 

identify sites that will benefit from increased development capacity through a site-
specific planning proposal process, and require a supplementary affordable housing 
contribution on that land, called the 'Planning Proposal contribution requirement'. This 
will give effect to the intent of the Region and District Plans to ensure that five to 10 
percent of new residential floor area is provided as affordable housing.

49. To achieve this, the Sydney LEP 2012 will to be amended to include a new schedule 
for the identification of Planning Proposal land where additional affordable housing 
contributions are required following an increase in development capacity for residential 
development. Planning Proposal land is also to be identified on the Locality and Site 
Identification Map in the LEP.

50. The Planning Proposal contribution requirement will be commensurate with the 
increased development capacity achieved through a planning proposal, that is, the 
contribution will be expressed as a proportion so the greater the increase in 
development capacity under the planning proposal, the greater the affordable housing 
contribution that will be required when the land is subsequently the subject of a 
development consent. 

51. The Program outlines how an appropriate contribution requirement is to be identified 
for Planning Proposal land. This, together with an analysis of the impacts on viability, 
are discussed later in this report.

52. The Planning Proposal contribution requirement will only apply to the new 
development capacity created by a site-specific or precinct based planning proposal. It 
does not apply to any existing development capacity and therefore does not replace 
any current affordable housing contribution requirement that may already apply to the 
land under Clause 7.13 of the Sydney LEP 2012. This means that on Planning 
Proposal land the current affordable housing contribution requirement under Clause 
7.13 will apply to existing floor area, and the Planning Proposal contribution 
requirement will apply to the new floor area.

53. It is noted that should the Planning Proposal be adopted by Council and the Central 
Sydney Planning Committee, it will be sent to the relevant authority for legal drafting by 
Parliamentary Counsel of the clauses for insertion in the Sydney LEP 2012. More 
detailed explanation and examples of how the equivalent monetary contribution 
amount is to be calculated under the Sydney LEP 2012 will be included in the Program 
following finalisation of the clauses.

54. The schedule in Sydney LEP 2012 may also specify how the affordable housing 
contribution is to be satisfied, being by either:

(a) an in-kind dedication to Council of finished affordable rental housing dwellings in 
the development; or

(b) an equivalent monetary contribution payment to be passed to a community 
housing provider to build, own and manage affordable rental housing. The 
equivalent monetary contribution amounts are commensurate with those applied 
under clause 7.13 and are provided in the Program, at Appendix A of Attachment 
A, discussed later in this report.

15



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

55. Once the land is identified on the LEP schedule and map, the contribution requirement 
is calculated at the development application stage and will be applied as a condition of 
consent. This is the same way the contribution requirement is currently applied in 
Green Square, Southern Employment Lands and Ultimo/Pyrmont.

56. The benefits of the proposed approach are:

(a) it will help reach the targets set out in the Region and District Plans in the local 
planning framework;

(b) contribution rates have been established with reference to the various housing 
sub-markets to ensure they reflect particular market characteristics and that 
development viability is not adversely affected. This removes the need to 
undertake costly and time consuming site-by-site analysis. This approach is 
consistent with the Region Plan, which requires development feasibility be tested 
at a precinct scale;

(c) the contribution requirement will be established at the point of changing the 
planning controls. This will allow the contribution requirement to be factored into 
the cost of development, improving certainty for the landowner;

(d) a thorough assessment of the merits of a planning proposal establishes the 
appropriate building envelopes and infrastructure needs. The contribution is 
factored in at that time. This provides certainty to the community and does not 
rely on inappropriate ‘bonus’ development capacity to achieve infrastructure 
delivery, and

(e) it will provide a clear and consistent approach to securing contributions to 
affordable housing where there is an increase in development capacity. This 
increases certainty for landowners and developers and ensures equity in the 
application of contribution requirements.

57. A further benefit of the framework is in reduced planning proposal assessment 
timeframes. One of the biggest challenges to securing affordable housing through a 
site-specific planning proposal is the resources and knowledge required to negotiate a 
‘viable’ outcome where changes are being made to planning controls. This is further 
complicated by the need to prepare what is often a complex planning agreement. The 
Planning Proposal provides a framework to establish a consistent approach to setting 
appropriate affordable housing contribution requirements.

58. By detailing the contribution requirement in the Sydney LEP 2012, and where the 
developer opts to make an equivalent monetary contribution, the need for a planning 
agreement relating to affordable housing at the planning proposal stage is removed, 
with the requirements for affordable housing being detailed in the Program.

59. This approach may be expanded to other local environmental plans that operate in the 
City of Sydney, should a planning proposal be received that affects those land.

Improving the interpretation and application of Clause 7.13 in the Sydney LEP 2012
60. The Planning Proposal amends Sydney LEP 2012 to clarify what development is 

excluded from a requirement to make an affordable housing contribution.

16



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

61. Clause 7.13 currently excludes development where it will result in the creation of less 
than 200 square metres and 60 square metres of residential and commercial floor area 
respectively. The intent of this exclusion is to enable minor additions without attracting 
an affordable housing contribution.

62. However, as currently worded, the clause also excludes development where a 
substantial change of use is being achieved, for example, where a warehouse building 
is being reused for residential development, but no new floor area is being created.

63. This is unintentionally contrary to the rationale for applying an affordable housing 
contribution to substantial development in areas that have benefited from an earlier 
rezoning, being Green Square, Ultimo/Pyrmont and the Southern Employment Lands. 
In these areas, all development, including development to change the use of the 
existing floor area, has benefited from the rezoning and should be required to make a 
contribution.

64. The proposed clauses in Sydney LEP 2012 are also intended to ensure the Program is 
directly referred to as the guiding document for the ongoing application of the LEP 
requirements and the administration of the Program. The current clause gives weight 
to the Program insofar as it establishes the equivalent monetary contribution amounts. 
This has left some ambiguity about the legal weight that should be granted the 
Program.

65. Drafting instructions for the amendment of Clause 7.13 is provided at Appendix B of 
the Planning Proposal.

Minimum size of dedicated affordable housing dwellings
66. It is proposed the minimum size of any affordable housing dwelling to be dedicated to 

Council be reduced to 35 square metres in Sydney LEP 2012, and a maximum 
dwelling size of 90 square metres be introduced in the Program. Currently, Clause 
7.13 requires any dedicated dwelling be no less than 50 square metres, but does not 
specify a maximum.

67. The intent of the amendment is to reflect minimum studio dwelling size under the 
Apartment Design Guideline. The maximum, expressed in the Program, is proposed to 
ensure the affordable housing floor area resulting from the contribution scheme can 
accommodate families with children, but is also used efficiently and to the benefit of as 
many people as possible.

City of Sydney affordable housing program

68. The operational details for the collection and distribution of affordable housing 
contributions are contained within the Program, provided at Appendix A to the 
Planning Proposal.

69. The Program replaces the Employment Lands program and the current Green Square 
Program where it applies to land subject to the Sydney LEP 2012. It also supplements 
the current Ultimo/Pyrmont program.

17



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

70. The Program does not replace the Ultimo/Pyrmont program. The operational detail in 
the current program that applies to Ultimo/Pyrmont under Clause 7.13 of the Sydney 
LEP 2012 will continue to apply. However Planning Proposal land that is identified in 
Ultimo/Pyrmont will also be subject to the requirements proposed in the Program, that 
is, the Program will apply to land that is subject to a planning proposal to increase 
development capacity.

71. The key elements of the Program are described below. It is noted that in some cases 
they are an extension of requirements or practices under current affordable housing 
programs, and in others they are new requirements.

Determining the appropriate contribution rate for Planning Proposal land
72. Earlier in this report the proposed framework to identify Planning Proposal land was 

described. The Program provides in its appendices a standardised approach to 
establishing the contribution rate that will be applied to Planning Proposal land where 
there is an increase in development capacity on the land.

73. The proposed contribution rate from 1 March 2017 to 28 February 2018 is shown at 
Table 2 below. It is noted the precinct boundaries are the same as defined in the City 
of Sydney Development Contributions Plan 2015.

Table 2: Proposed contribution rates on Planning Proposal land, where there is an increase in FSR

Precinct Proportion of additional floor 
area to be used for affordable 
housing

West precinct 12%

South precinct 12%

Eastern precinct 24%

74. It is noted no rate has been identified in Central Sydney. While land in Central Sydney 
may technically be identified on the schedule, it is expected a separate process will be 
applied following the implementation of the Central Sydney Planning Strategy.

75. The intention is for the Planning Proposal contribution rate to be applied only to the 
additional floor area facilitated by a planning proposal. Any other contribution 
requirement under Clause 7.13 will apply to existing floor area.  It is noted that the 
expression of rates shown in Table 2 may be adjusted following drafting of the new 
clauses in the LEP so that this intent can be achieved.

76. The above contribution rates are applicable only where the site-specific or precinct 
based planning proposal is for floor space ratio (FSR) increase on land. They are not 
applicable where other changes to planning controls are being made, for example, 
where land is being rezoned or where there is significant increase in height. Where this 
is the case, a site-specific analysis may be undertaken to determine an appropriate 
contribution.

18



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

77. The above rates do not apply to the Southern Employment Lands investigation areas 
where land is rezoned from employment to residential uses. The approach adopted by 
Council in 2015 in its 'Guideline to Preparing Site Specific Planning Proposal Requests 
in the City of Sydney Employment Lands Investigation Areas' will continue to inform 
the consideration of planning proposals in those areas.

78. It is noted the Program provides only guidance on how a contribution rate should be 
established. The described approach is not binding on Council who may apply a 
different rate depending on the particulars of the planning proposal under 
consideration. For example, where it is a superior outcome, and where a 
landowner/developer has made an offer to enter into a planning agreement to provide 
other public benefits, the site may not be subject to a contribution rate but may make a 
public benefit contribution in an alternative form. For example, where the landowner 
offers to dedicate land for park, rather than make a contribution to affordable housing 
under the Sydney LEP 2012.

79. Landowners/developers may also opt to dedicate land for affordable housing. Where 
this occurs, the contribution will be secured by a planning agreement, rather than 
identifying the site on the schedule in Sydney LEP 2012. Land dedication is generally 
preferred owing the increased affordable housing outcomes that may be achieved 
where a community housing provider is the beneficiary of the land.

80. To establish the appropriate contribution rates, and to understand the economic 
impacts of the proposed contributions on Planning Proposal land, the City sought 
independent economic advice. The proposed contribution rates are underpinned by 
the City’s longstanding practice of sharing in the residual land value uplift for the 
purposes of public benefit, whether for public domain works, land dedication or 
affordable housing. 

81. Residual land value is the maximum price a developer would be prepared to pay for a 
site in exchange for the opportunity to develop, whilst achieving the developers 
required rate of return. This approach involves assessing the value of the completed 
product, making a deduction for development costs and a further deduction for profit 
and risk whilst ensuring the development achieves the target project margin and 
return. 

82. A commonly accepted benchmark is 50 percent of any residual land value gain being 
directed towards the public benefit. This underpins other approaches Council has 
applied to share value where there is FSR increase, for example the Community 
Infrastructure Scheme that operates in Green Square. 

83. The methodology for establishing the contribution rates included feasibility testing to 
examine the quantum of value uplift that could result from a change in FSR and the 
potential for a proportion of the value uplift to be put to affordable housing outcomes. 
While highly variable across sub-markets, it found that generally 50 percent of residual 
land value gain is achieved where the rates in the above table are applied. 

84. Contribution rates are proposed to be reviewed annually to ensure they continue to 
align with market conditions. 

19



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

85. It is noted that, because the Planning Proposal contribution requirement will apply only 
to new floor area achieved through a change to planning controls, development 
viability will not be affected by the requirement. This assumes an understanding of the 
City's affordable housing requirements has been factored into the price paid for land, 
and that the land has not been speculatively purchased, assuming a change to 
planning controls.

Affordable housing dwelling requirements
86. The Program provides the requirements for any affordable rental housing dwellings 

that are to be dedicated to Council. Some changes and additions are proposed to 
arrangements under the current affordable housing programs.

87. The requirements are to ensure the dwellings are appropriate for purpose and that 
they align with the affordable housing principles in the Program and in SEPP 70, in 
particular that:

(a) affordable rental dwellings are to be owned by government or a recommended or 
eligible community housing provider;

(b) affordable rental dwellings are provided in perpetuity;

(c) affordable rental dwellings are to be rented to very low, low and moderate 
income households for an absolute maximum of 30 percent of gross household 
income; and

(d) all rent received from the affordable rental dwellings, after deduction of 
management and maintenance costs, is to be used only for the purpose of 
improving, replacing, maintaining or providing additional affordable rental 
housing.

88. The location, size and quality of affordable housing dwellings are to be to the 
satisfaction of Council and the receiving community housing provider. If not, Council 
may require changes to the development application, or that the contribution be made 
by way of an equivalent monetary contribution.

Equivalent monetary contribution amounts
89. The Sydney LEP allows for an equivalent monetary contribution instead of dedicating 

floor area. The Program provides the equivalent monetary contribution amount 
payable to Council, expressed as a dollar amount per square metre of total floor area.

90. In practice, the affordable contribution requirements under current affordable housing 
programs in Green Square and Ultimo/Pyrmont are typically satisfied by making 
monetary contribution. Funds are then passed to a community housing provider to 
build and manage affordable housing.

91. In the Southern Employment Lands, Central Sydney, on residual land and on Planning 
Proposal land, the Program states the equivalent monetary contribution amount for the 
period of 1 March 2018 to 28 February 2019 is $10,588.00 per square metre. This is a 
different way of expressing the contribution amount than current Programs.

20



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

92. In Green Square, the current Green Square Program rate of $8,163.00 per square 
metre (adjusted from the 1 March 2018 to 28 February 2019 period) will continue to 
apply until 29 February 2020. From 1 March 2020 the rate of $10,588.00 per square 
metre (adjusted from the 1 March 2018 to 28 February 2019 period) will apply.

93. The rates quoted above are expressed differently to how they are expressed in the 
current Green Square and the Southern Employment Lands programs, but this does 
not affect the total amount the landowner or developer would be required to contribute. 
This is demonstrated at Tables 4 and 5 of this report.

94. The equivalent monetary contribution amount is calculated on the ‘total floor area’ to 
which the development application directly applies. The calculation of total floor area is 
defined by the Sydney LEP 2012. This is consistent with current practice.

95. On Planning Proposal land, the equivalent monetary contribution amount is to be 
calculated on the additional development capacity facilitated by a site-specific planning 
proposal.

Increasing contribution rates in Green Square
96. In Green Square, the Program proposes an increase to the equivalent monetary 

contribution amount so that it aligns with the Southern Employment Lands and the 
proposed Central Sydney programs which more accurately reflect the full cost of 
delivering a square metre of affordable housing.

97. The amount is based on the median strata dwelling price in the LGA and assumes that 
if a community housing provider is unable to purchase land in the LGA to develop 
affordable housing that a suitable dwelling could be purchased on the private housing 
market.

98. The effective increase for the period from is shown at Table 3 below.

Table 3: Proposed increase of equivalent monetary contribution amount

Current Green Square 
Program

Program

Equivalent contribution 
amount for 3% of 
residential total floor area

$244.99 $317.65

Equivalent contribution 
amount for 1% of non-
residential total floor area

$81.63 $105.88

99. As discussed above, the current Green Square Program rates will continue to apply in 
Green Square until 29 February 2020.

100. These monetary rates are expressed differently in the Program to allow for a different 
calculation approach. This is discussed further below.

21



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

101. Economic testing of the impact of increasing the equivalent monetary contribution in 
Green Square indicates the market could tolerate the increase without having any 
negative impact on development viability.

102. The testing recognises the affordable housing levy in Green Square was established in 
1999 and does not reflect full development costs today. Inherent in the levy is the 
assumption that land will be available. This means it costs developers less to 
contribute cash rather than in-kind in dwellings. The contribution rates in the current 
Southern Employment Lands program and proposed Central Sydney program are 
premised on the Sydney median unit price and therefore reflect a realistic cost to 
purchase.

Calculating the equivalent monetary contribution payable
103. The equivalent monetary contribution amount in the Program is expressed differently 

than in current programs. However, this does not change the resulting contribution 
amount.

104. Under current schemes, the monetary contribution amount is expressed as a dollar 
amount per square metre of all the total floor area built on site. The Program calculates 
the contribution as a dollar amount per square metre of applicable floor area. For 
example, a contribution for a new 5,000 square metre commercial development would 
be calculated as shown in Table 4 below.

Table 4: Calculating a contribution under the Program - commercial

As calculated under current 
schemes

As calculated under the 
Program

Total monetary 
amount

5,000 * $105.88 =

$529,400

1% * 5,000 * $10,588 =

$529,400

105. A contribution for a new 5,000 square metre residential development would be 
calculated as shown in Table 5 below.

Table 5: Calculating a contribution under the Program - residential

As calculated under existing 
schemes

As calculated under this 
Program

Total monetary 
amount

5,000 * $317.65 =

$1,588,250

3% * 5,000 * $10,588 =

$1,588,200

106. The change in approach is because:

22



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

(a) under current affordable housing programs, the equivalent monetary contribution 
amounts specified are for three percent and one percent contribution rate in the 
Sydney LEP 2012. The new approach in the Program allows for a total monetary 
amount to be calculated irrespective of the contribution rate in the Sydney LEP 
2012; and

(b) the proposed approach in the Program will substantially simplify calculation of 
contribution requirements where a landowner opts to satisfy a contribution partly 
as dwellings and partly as monetary contribution. For example, under the current 
Green Square program, if the landowner was required to dedicate three percent 
of a 10,000 square metre residential development for affordable housing (being 
300 square metres), but the amount of floor area identified as affordable housing 
on the plan amounts to only 260 square metres, then establishing the monetary 
contribution required is mathematically complex and potentially confusing for 
applicants and assessing planners.

How are monetary contributions paid and who are they allocated to?
107. The Program includes requirements for how affordable housing contributions collected 

are to be allocated to a community housing provider and used.

108. Currently, contributions collected in the Southern Employment Lands are paid to the 
City and passed to the NSW Department of Family and Community Services who are 
responsible for distributing funds to Tier 1 and Tier 2 community housing providers to 
build and manage affordable housing in the LGA. This approach is to be retained in 
the Program for money collected in the Southern Employment Lands.

109. Currently, contributions collected in Green Square are paid to the Department of 
Planning and Environment and passed to the only recommended community housing 
provider listed in Schedule A of the Green Square program, being City West Housing. 
This approach is broadly retained in the Program, though it is proposed the process for 
payment be simplified by allowing landowners to make payment directly to the City 
who will then pass the funds to the community housing provider. Further discussions 
with the Department of Planning and Environment to facilitate this change to the 
process are underway.

110. For Central Sydney, residual land and Planning Proposal land, the Program proposes 
funds be paid to the City and passed to any recommended provider identified on the 
Program, currently proposed as City West Housing only.

How are dedicated affordable housing dwellings to be allocated?
111. The Planning Proposal requires that where the landowner or developer opts to 

dedicate affordable housing dwellings that they be dedicated to Council free of charge. 
Council may then transfer the dwellings to a community housing provider to be owned 
and managed in perpetuity as affordable rental housing for very low to moderate 
income households.

112. The Program proposes that where the landowner or developer opts to dedicate 
affordable housing dwellings that Council will transfer them to a recommended 
community housing provider identified on Schedule A, for nominal cost. Where any 
recommended community housing provider opts not to receive the dwellings, they will 
be transferred to another registered Tier 1 or Tier 2 community housing provider.

23



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

113. This changes the approach currently taken under the Southern Employment Lands 
program where dwellings are required to be dedicated free of charge to a community 
housing provider nominated by the NSW Department of Family and Community 
Services. The change aligns the Program with the requirement of the Act that the 
affordable housing first come to Council before being transferred to a community 
housing provider.

Development that may not be required to make a contribution
114. The Sydney LEP 2012 stipulates what development may be subject to an affordable 

housing contribution.

115. The Program provides that Council may consider exempting development from an 
affordable housing contribution:

(a) where affordable housing is being provided;

(b) if it is development that results in an affordable housing contribution amounting 
to more than 15 percent of the agreed cost of construction, or where the cost of 
construction is less than $100,000; or

(c) where the change of use is from:

(i) a commercial use or light industrial use to a general industrial use or heavy 
industrial use; or

(ii) a general or heavy industrial use to another general industrial use or heavy 
industrial use.

116. The intent of allowing for these exemptions is to:

(a) ensure the contribution requirement does not unreasonably impact on the cost of 
development where the cost of development is relatively low; and

(b) ensure industrial uses, that have not benefited from increased land values 
following rezoning are not subject to a contribution requirement.

Indexing contributions
117. The Program requires adjustments are made to the equivalent monetary contribution 

amount annually in accordance with movements in the median house price in the LGA, 
as provided by the NSW Government Rent and Sales Report, Table: Sales Price – 
Greater Metropolitan Region – Strata (or equivalent). The City of Sydney’s website will 
contain the current monetary contribution amounts, as indexed.

118. While generally consistent with the current approach in the employment lands, the 
Program amends the approach for Green Square where contribution rates are indexed 
with reference to the Australian Bureau of Statistics Established Housing Price Index.

119. The purpose of the change in Green Square is that movements in median housing 
prices more accurately reflect movements in local area housing costs. The Housing 
Price Index provides movements Sydney-wide.

24



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

When is a contribution to be paid?
120. The Program requires that payment of any monetary contribution amount required by a 

condition of consent be made prior to issue of any construction certificate.

121. While consistent with the current approach in the Southern Employment Lands, the 
Program amends the approach in Green Square where landowners or developers are 
currently able to provide a bank guarantee prior to construction certificate with cash 
payment required before occupation certificate.

122. Approximately one third of affordable housing contribution payments has been 
satisfied by bank guarantee since 2012. The system is complex to administer, 
requiring indexing of contribution payments prior to occupation certificate.

123. The system has also been misused as a tool to delay payment to a time where it may 
be more favourable for them to do so. For example, where a developer has provided a 
bank guarantee at the construction certificate stage, when it comes time to index the 
payment at occupation certificate stage, they will assess whether the payment will be 
higher or lower and will pay the contribution or not pay it and surrender the bank 
guarantee based on whether money will be saved.

124. The purpose of this change is to:

(a) provide equity and align the payment requirements with all other payments that 
are required, such as Section 7.11 contributions (previously Section 94 
contributions) and payments required under Clause 6.14 – Community 
Infrastructure floor area at Green Square;

(b) remove any extra incentive to make monetary contribution in favour of in-kind 
contribution;

(c) ensure funds are provided to community housing providers as early as possible 
so that they may participate in the market. Payment later in the development 
process, while favourable to the applicant who may ‘save’ on delaying payment, 
means that the community housing provider receives the funds later. The CHP 
cannot collect interest on the funds, cannot borrow against the funds, and cannot 
put funds towards a project to build affordable housing; and

(d) streamline and simplify the operation and administration of affordable housing 
contribution requirements in the LGA.

Where a previous contribution to affordable housing has been paid
125. The Program provides that, where a contribution has been paid on floor area 

previously,  it may not be required to make an additional contribution in the event of 
further development, unless:

(a) it is being demolished and being replaced with total floor area of the same or 
existing use. In this case, a contribution will be applied to all of the total floor 
area, including the replacement floor area; or

(b) the previous contribution was for a non-residential purpose and the new total 
floor area is for a residential purpose. In this case the difference in the 
contribution rates will apply.

25



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

126. This amends the current provision in the Green Square and Southern Employment 
Lands programs that, where floor area has been demolished and rebuilt, a contribution 
would not apply to any previously existing floor area. The purpose of amending this 
provision is:

(a) it does not reflect the displacement or demand of more affordable housing as 
floor area is redeveloped for higher value accommodation or commercial uses; 
and

(b) it does not reflect the need for affordable housing generated by development.

Adding a recommended community housing provider
127. The Program identifies in an attached Schedule the ‘recommended’ community 

housing providers who receive affordable housing contributions collected in Central 
Sydney, Green Square, residual land and on Planning Proposal land. Currently, only 
City West Housing is identified on the Schedule.

128. This carries over from the existing Green Square and Ultimo/Pyrmont programs that 
identify only City West Housing as the recipient of funds under that scheme.

129. The Program provides the matters for consideration where an application is made by a 
community housing provider, which is registered under the National Regulatory Code 
as Tier 1 or Tier 2 provider, to be added to the Schedule. Considerations include:

(a) any potential impacts of adding a community housing provider on the outcomes 
of the schemes, for example, whether adding a provider would likely increase or 
decrease the number of affordable housing units resulting from the scheme;

(b) consultation with the NSW Department of Family and Community Services; and

(c) the impact on the programming and business planning of community housing 
providers already listed on the Schedule.

130. Before adding a community housing provider to the Schedule, the City will be required 
to develop a strategy for how funds are to be divided amongst multiple providers.

Affordable housing principles
131. The Program includes ‘affordable housing principles’ that provide overarching 

guidance to the operation of the contribution scheme.  While generally remaining 
unchanged, the principles in the Program make some amendment to those under the 
current Green Square and Employment Lands programs. These changes are largely to 
align the wording.

132. The most significant change to the principles is it will allow all affordable housing 
contributions to be spent anywhere in the LGA. This specifically affects Green Square 
where expenditure of funds collected in Green Square are currently required to be 
spent in the Green Square renewal area.

26



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

133. This change in approach is made at the request of City West Housing, who is the only 
community housing provider listed in the Green Square program to receive affordable 
housing contributions collected in Green Square. The copy of the request is provided 
at Appendix C of the Planning Proposal. The reason given by City West Housing for 
the request is that it is increasingly difficult to secure land within the LGA and that the 
limitations placed on where the contributions can be spent only makes it more difficult.

Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review - Green Square Town Centre

134. This report recommends the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve Planning 
Proposal: Affordable Housing Review - Green Square Town Centre (Town Centre 
Planning Proposal), shown at Attachment D, for submission to the relevant local plan-
making authority (currently the Greater Sydney Commission)with a request for a 
Gateway Determination.

135. The Town Centre Planning Proposal is to correct an omission in the original Planning 
Proposal that is the subject of this report, that inadvertently excluded the proposed 
new planning controls and Program from areas to which the Green Square Town 
Centre LEPs apply. The only possible remedy to address this error under the Act is 
through a further planning proposal.

136. The Town Centre Planning Proposal replicates the Planning Proposal and Program 
that is the primary subject of this report.

137. Owing to the extensive consultation of the Planning Proposal and Program, that is the 
primary subject of this report, and the clear intent that it should apply to all of Sydney 
LGA, it is envisaged a Gateway determination will be issued with minimal or no public 
consultation requirement.

138. This report recommends that, contingent on no submissions being made to any 
exhibition of the Town Centre Planning Proposal, authority be delegated to the Chief 
Executive Officer to approve the Town Centre Planning Proposal, and refer it to the 
relevant authority to be made as a LEP.

Public Consultation - Discussion of submissions

139. The planning proposal and draft program were exhibited from 25 June 2018 to 23 July 
2018. The City sent over 95,000 letters to property owners to notify them of the public 
exhibition and the exhibition was also advertised in the local newspapers, including 
Central, Inner West Courier, Wentworth Courier, Southern Central, and through the 
City’s website and the ‘Sydney Your Say’ e-newsletter.

140. The City received 80 submissions, including 64 from individuals and 16 from 
organisations, including, community housing providers, development groups and peak 
representative bodies.

141. A number of submissions were written in support of the Planning Proposal, some with 
some concerns and/or suggested improvements. Likewise, a number of submissions 
were written in objection to all or most elements of the Planning Proposal, though the 
majority of these submissions concurred with the need for a substantial increase in the 
quantum of affordable housing in the LGA and wider Sydney.

27



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

142. An extensive summary of submissions, and response to issues raised, is provided at 
Attachment E, with key issues discussed below.

Schedule of recommended community housing providers
143. A submission from Link Housing argues that funds resulting from the Program should 

be available to Link Housing.

144. A submission from City West Housing argues that funds resulting from the Program 
are most efficiently used and result in the most affordable housing when managed by a 
single community housing provider. It is noted City West Housing is the only provider 
currently listed on Schedule A – Recommended Community Housing Providers of the 
Program. 

145. It is the City's view that spreading the limited contributions across multiple providers 
would reduce the level of certainty with which City West Housing can undertake 
forward planning, for example, strategic land purchases for future projects.

146. Overall, it is considered that spreading funds across multiple providers would impact 
on City West’s 10 year development plan and may reduce the amount of dwellings 
resulting from the Program.

147. City West Housing has a proven track record of using contribution funds resulting from 
the Program, delivering over 700 affordable dwellings in the City and supporting over 
1,300 low income residents. An additional 500 dwellings are under development or in 
the development pipeline. City West Housing only operates in the City of Sydney, and 
as such has extensive knowledge of the community and of the challenges of owning 
and operating affordable housing in a dense urban environment. Developments by City 
West are generally well designed and well managed and are provided in perpetuity. 
Systems and processes have been designed to specifically deliver on the principles in 
the Program.

148. The City has a strong working relationship with City West Housing. While ownership 
vests with the State government by holding the company’s only ordinary shares, the 
City has a stake in the organisation through its roles of one of ten preferential 
shareholders with a direct interest in expanding affordable housing in the City of 
Sydney. For clarity, the City has no financial interest in City West Housing.

149. It is noted that City West Housing relies heavily on the funds arising from the Program, 
owing to a corporate structure that limits the organisation’s ability to participate in 
some State Government funding schemes, such as the Social and Affordable Housing 
fund, which are available to other community housing providers more generally.

150. City West Housing have, in their submission, indicated capacity to grow their 
organisation to manage the future opportunities that may arise from the expansion of 
the contribution schemes.

151. Notwithstanding the above, the Program allows for other community housing providers 
to make a properly constituted application to be added to Schedule by demonstrating 
that they can effectively and efficiently provide affordable housing in the LGA and that 
including them would not have a negative impact on the delivery of affordable housing.

28



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

152. Moreover, funds resulting from development in the southern employment lands are 
passed to the NSW Department of Family and Community Service (FACS) where 
funds are to be distributed to a range of community housing providers. Oversight of the 
distribution of funds is through a Program Steering Committee, established by the draft 
Program and comprising representatives from the City and FACS. The Committee’s 
role is generally to provide advice on the timing and content of expressions of interest 
and tenders, and on how and to whom funds should be allocated. As sufficient funds 
become available, FACS will seek proposals from eligible community housing 
providers for projects within the LGA. Under the Program, collected funds are to be 
spent within the City of Sydney LGA.

Impact on viability
153. A number of submissions from peak developer groups, such as the Urban Taskforce, 

argue that some or all aspects of the Planning Proposal will make development 
unviable.

154. To understand the economic impacts of the proposed affordable housing contribution 
on the residual lands and Central Sydney, and the increase in the equivalent monetary 
contribution rate in Green Square, the City sought independent economic advice to 
test identified housing sub-markets in the LGA. The overarching objective of the 
economic testing was to appreciate the full impacts of implementing the additional 
affordable housing requirements, how the impacts vary over different parts of the LGA 
and how they may be mitigated. The testing was necessarily generalised and does not 
reflect the individual circumstances of every site, however it reflects the economic 
circumstances of most land. 

155. The economic advice finds that in the short term the immediate introduction of a 
contribution requirement would likely impact on development viability in residual land 
and Central Sydney, but in Green Square, the increased rate would not impact on 
viability. However, the research also found that there is scope to introduce a levy in the 
medium term where sufficient advance warning is given to the market.

156. The introduction of a contribution will not affect the viability of development when 
development sites are priced to reflect the planning controls and applicable 
contributions, including affordable housing contributions. It is therefore imperative for 
any contributions to be clearly defined so that prospective purchases are informed at 
the outset and are able to make informed decisions at the time of site acquisition.

157. The Planning Proposal therefore allows for the introduction of the affordable housing 
contribution in Central Sydney and residual lands over a four year period (from 2018). 
This will not impact the development of sites already acquired where the development 
process has already commenced and will allow market expectations to adjust prior to 
the contribution coming into effect.

158. The Planning Proposal includes separate value sharing requirements for ‘Planning 
Proposal land’, which apply to the additional development capacity created by site-
specific or precinct-based planning proposals. The proposed contribution rates in the 
Program are underpinned by the City’s longstanding practice of equally sharing in the 
residual land value uplift for the purposes of public benefit, whether for public domain 
works, land dedication or affordable housing. 

29



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

159. The methodology for establishing the ‘Planning Proposal land’ contribution rates 
included feasibility testing to examine the quantum of value uplift that could result from 
a change in floor space ratio and the potential for a proportion of the value uplift to be 
put to affordable housing outcomes. While highly variable across sub-markets, on 
average 50 percent of residual land value gain is achieved with the rates in the 
Program. 

160. Where the scheduled contribution requirements are only applied to new floor area 
achieved through a change to planning controls, development viability will not be 
affected by the requirement. This assumes the land has not been speculatively 
purchased with a predetermined assumption of a change to planning controls.

161. It is noted the Program only provides guidance on how a contribution rate should be 
established on Planning Proposal land. The described approach is not binding on 
Council, and a different rate may apply depending on the particulars of the planning 
proposal under consideration. For example, where a State Infrastructure Contribution 
applies or where a landowner/developer has made an offer to enter into a planning 
agreement to provide other public benefit, the site may not be listed as Planning 
Proposal land or the rate may be reduced.

Application of the levy to student housing
162. A submission from Sydney University argues they should be excluded from the need 

to make a contribution because they:

(a) provide student housing at 25 percent below the costs generally charged for 
private student housing elsewhere in the LGA; and

(b) are a not-for-profit organisation and the contribution requirement would divert 
funds from other university programs, such as research.

163. In considering the concerns raised in the submission, the City does not support the 
exemption of the University from the requirement to make a contribution because:

(a) the Program does provide exemption for affordable housing that is being 
provided in accordance with the affordable housing principles. This is exemption 
may provide opportunities for the University to partner with community housing 
providers for a student housing model that aligns with the Programs principles;

(b) student housing being built by the University, while being rented at 25 percent 
below market value, does not align with the Principles of this Program. Moreover, 
it does not means test residents, so there is no certainty regarding access by 
target households, being very low to moderate income households;

(c) the Program provides no other exemptions for not-for profit development, 
irrespective to their activities. This is owing in part to an inability to determine 
where a distinct community benefit is arising from the activities of an 
organisation; and

(d) the City's affordable housing target, and this Planning Proposal and Program, is 
to ensure an increase in the supply of affordable rental housing for very low to 
moderate income households, including students and key workers, such as 
those that may be studying at or employed by the University. The University will 
benefit from the increase in affordable housing as much as any organisation in 
the City of Sydney.

30



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Incentive schemes should be used to increase the amount of affordable housing
164. A number of submissions from peak bodies such as the Urban Taskforce argue that 

incentive schemes should be explored rather than levy schemes.

165. Incentive schemes for affordable housing, such as those available under State 
Environmental Planning Policy (Affordable Housing) 2009 have limited effectiveness in 
areas where land value is very high, and to date have not resulted in any affordable 
housing outcomes in the City of Sydney, though it has increased the stock of boarding 
houses and student accommodation.

166. Incentive schemes generally rely on increasing development capacity beyond the 
existing planning controls, with associated impacts on amenity.

167. The City’s existing contribution schemes have resulted in over 800 affordable 
dwellings for low income households and are a proven approach to ensuring long term 
affordable housing stock is provided in the City.

Other methods of increasing affordable housing should be explored, such as build to rent
168. Some submissions from peak bodies argue that other methods of increasing 

affordable housing should be explored, such as build to rent models.

169. The City supports the development of new affordable housing models, recognising that 
a range of approaches are required to address the shortfall of affordable housing 
needed to achieve the City’s targets. The City sees great potential in new models, 
such as build to rent, and looks forward to working with the development sector to 
develop these models.

170. Notwithstanding this, the build to rent model, and others like it, are in their infancy. 
They are not yet a viable alternative to the proven approach to ensuring long-term 
affordable housing stock in the City’s existing contribution schemes.

The research underpinning the contribution requirement does not reflect the current market

171. Some submissions argue that the research underpinning the contribution requirement 
does not reflect the current cooling market.

172. The contribution requirement on Planning Proposal land is to be reviewed annually to 
ensure it continues to align with current local market conditions.

173. The contribution requirement under Clause 7.13 of the Sydney LEP 2012 moves in line 
with the median house price in the local government area. Therefore, where the 
market is cooling, the contribution requirement will be less to reflect developer profits 
and the cost of providing an affordable housing dwelling.

The contribution requirements will impact on wider housing affordability
174. Some submissions argue that the City should focus its policies on increasing supply to 

address housing affordability instead of adopting the contribution scheme.

175. Those levers that have the most effect on housing costs, such as taxation policy, 
cannot be affected by local government. 

31



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

176. While Federal and State government policy responses to the increasing affordability 
crisis have largely focused on supply side, given the substantial demand side drivers in 
a market such as the inner-Sydney, house prices have remained at record high levels. 
Research shows that despite substantial completions over the last five years the 
Eastern District has experienced the sharpest increases in median dwelling prices 
compared with the proceeding 15 years.

177. In the City of Sydney, as at June 2017, there were 120,000 dwellings with an 
additional 30,000 dwellings in the development pipeline. Despite some indication that 
the market is cooling in parts of Sydney, partially in response to increases in supply, it 
is unlikely any market correction would result in housing being ‘affordable’ for very low 
to moderate income households.

178. A 43 percent reduction in the median strata dwelling price or a 25 percent reduction in 
average strata rents are required for housing to be considered affordable for moderate 
income households. A moderation in housing costs of this scale is unlikely to occur 
through market forces, even taking into consideration a property market that is cooling. 
In addition, there is no evidence to suggest that incomes will increase at the same 
pace that house prices increase, suggesting the gap may widen even further. This has 
certainly been the experience of the last four decades. In 1975 the average first time 
buyer in Sydney would take three years to save a house deposit, today that has 
increased three times to nine years.

The one percent levy on commercial development will make providing commercial floor area 
difficult
179. Submissions raise concerns that the one percent levy on commercial development in 

Central Sydney will make providing commercial floor area even more difficult.

180. The one percent contribution requirement has applied to commercial development in 
Green Square and the Southern Employment Lands since the inception of those 
programs. 

181. It is fair and reasonable that commercial development, which benefits from increased 
housing options for key workers, contributes to affordable housing. A one percent 
contribution requirement is unlikely to have a substantial impact on development 
viability.

182. The contribution rate applied to residential development is greater than the contribution 
rate applied to commercial development. The viability of commercial relative to 
residential development will not be impacted by the contribution requirement.

183. Given the long introduction period of the levy rate, that allows time for market 
adjustment, there is adequate time for purchasers to take into consideration the 
contribution requirement.

The increase in the Green Square contribution rate should be phased in like it is in Central 
Sydney and the residual lands
184. A number of organisational submissions raised concerns that the increase in Green 

Square would impact on current projects and that it should be phased-in to allow for 
market adjustment in a similar way that it is being phased-in in the residual lands.

32



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

185. In response, the Program has been adjusted to allow for the current Green Square 
Program rates to continue to apply in Green Square until 29 February 2020. A 
consistent approach is proposed in relation to the planning proposal for the Green 
Square Town Centre.

Increased anti-social behaviour, lower amenity, and resulting lowering of property values
186. A substantial number of submissions raise concerns that where affordable rental 

housing is developed there would be an increase in anti-social behaviour such as in 
crime, littering and noise impacts. Some submissions argue this would have a negative 
impact on the value of their homes.

187. It is noted that affordable housing that has resulted from the current contributions 
schemes are of high design quality and are in keeping with the local context of those 
areas.

188. There is no evidence to suggest that existing affordable housing in suburbs such as 
Ultimo, Pyrmont, Glebe or Zetland has had any negative impact on property values.

The contribution rates are not high enough
189. Seven submissions argue the contribution rates in the Program should be higher.

190. Rates are established at a level where they would not have unreasonable impact on 
the viability of development. Where viability is impacted, market housing cannot be 
provided, and contributions could not be paid.

191. To understand the economic impacts of the proposed affordable housing contribution 
the City sought independent economic advice to test identified housing sub-markets. 
The overarching objective of the economic testing was to appreciate the full impacts of 
implementing the additional affordable housing requirements, how the impacts vary 
over different parts of the LGA and how they may be mitigated.

An ownership model should be introduced
192. One submission suggests an ownership model should be developed for affordable 

housing.

193. The City agrees there is benefit in the State government developing a range of 
affordable housing models to satisfy diverse demand. However, the Planning Proposal 
is intended to increase the stock of affordable rental housing.

Affordable housing should be spread around the LGA and/or be physically included in new 
developments
194. Submissions include concerns that affordable housing will be too concentrated in a few 

areas of the City. Some submissions assert that affordable housing should be ‘salt-
and-peppered’ within residential apartments (in-kind, on-site dedication) rather than in 
one building.

195. The Program allows for an affordable housing contribution to be satisfied by either:

(a) an in-kind dedication to Council of finished affordable rental housing dwellings in 
the development; or

(b) an equivalent monetary contribution payment to be passed to a community 
housing provider to build, own and manage affordable rental housing.

33



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

196. While it is agreed that greater social outcomes may result where affordable housing is 
evenly spread through the LGA, it is also acknowledged that where funds are collected 
by community housing providers and developed as bespoke affordable housing 
products:

(a) the dwellings are built for purpose to the requirements of community housing 
providers;

(b) the dwellings are easier for community housing providers to manage because 
they are located together;

(c) affordable housing is not subject to high strata fees, which in some cases may 
significantly decrease rental stream income;

(d) the apartments are built with high quality, durable materials to allow for detailed 
future planning for management and upgrades; and

(e) the developments do not include a developer profit margin.

197. In balance, it is considered reasonable to retain the ability of developers to satisfy a 
contribution requirement by making a monetary contribution.

Funds need to be used quickly and should not be held by the City of Sydney
198. A submission from the Property Council is concerned that funds should be used 

quickly and should not be held by the City of Sydney.

199. While it is intended the funds resulting from the Program will be paid to the City, funds 
continue to be immediately passed to a community housing provider to build and 
manage affordable housing in the local government area. The City will not retain any 
portion of the funds.

200. While it takes time to acquire appropriate sites, and large projects can take time to 
work their way through the development process, community housing providers are 
encouraged to use the funds as quickly as possible.

Affordable housing should only be kept as affordable housing for 10 years
201. A submission from the Urban Taskforce references the Affordable Rental Housing 

SEPP and a recent Landcom development which have affordable housing provisions 
which expire after 10 years. From this they assert that affordable housing under the 
City of Sydney program should also be subject to a 10-year timeframe, and that this 
would result in more affordable housing.

202. However, a 10-year model does not address the long-term need for affordable 
housing. The model is fundamentally unsustainable, requiring ongoing high levels of 
development and building ‘churn’ to replace expiring affordable housing stock while 
still attempting to deliver a net increase over time.

203. The claim that expired affordable housing stock will be more affordable due to its age 
is not supported by evidence. Property prices are largely determined by land values 
not building age, and a 10 year old property would not be considered degraded 
enough to command a discount at market.

34



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

204. The affordable housing model in the Planning Proposal provides property in perpetuity 
to community housing providers. This allows the sector to leverage its assets to borrow 
funds and invest in more affordable housing. The 10-year model promoted by Urban 
Taskforce does not have this benefit having only short-term merit.

It’s not Council’s role to provide affordable housing
205. One submission argues it is not the role of Council to provide affordable housing.

206. It is noted that, while providing housing for low income earners and those most 
vulnerable in society is traditionally the role of the State government, it is the planning 
system, as administered by local government, where a number of opportunities arise 
to provide affordable housing and contributions to fund affordable housing.

207. The Region Plan and District Plans were released by the Greater Sydney Commission 
in March 2018. The Plans establish affordable housing targets and require councils to 
prepare a Housing Strategy that, amongst other things, provides a planning pathway 
for achieving the targets.

208. Sustainable Sydney 2030, the City’s community plan, establishes a target that in 2030, 
7.5 percent of housing will be social housing and 7.5 percent of housing will be 
affordable rental housing. The target was established in response to a high level of 
concern in the community about housing affordability and the lack of affordable 
housing options in the City for low income earners.

209. The impacts of the lack of affordable housing are felt in local communities. Poor social 
cohesion, inequity in the housing market, loss of key workers, are all significant 
concerns for the City. It is therefore incumbent on the City to play a role in increasing 
the amount of affordable housing.

210. Addressing housing affordability and increasing the quantum of affordable housing 
requires a multi-pronged approach, with all levels of government, business and 
industry and the community playing a role.

Recommended post-exhibition changes

211. Following consideration of submissions, a number of amendments are recommended 
to the exhibited Planning Proposal and Program. Post exhibition changes are 
highlighted in the documents attached to this report, with additions shown in bold with 
deletions struck-through. A schedule of Post-exhibition changes is attached at 
Appendix E of Attachment A. In summary, significant changes are discussed below.

Removal reference to Green Square Town Centre
212. The publicly exhibited Planning Proposal and Program were prepared with the 

intention to apply to all of the Green Square Urban Renewal area. However, reference 
to the LEPs that apply to the Green Square Town Centre (Town Centre) were 
inadvertently not explicitly referenced as needing amendment by the Planning 
Proposal.

213. Therefore, a new Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square 
Town Centre has been prepared to ensure the Town Centre LEPs will be amended 
and incorporated into the Program, preferably at the same time as changes to the 
Sydney LEP 2012 are made.

35



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

214. Moreover, the Program has been amended, pending the Town Centre’s full 
incorporation into the Program.

Addition of examples to the Program
215. Submissions raise concerns the publicly exhibited Program did not provide enough 

clarity about how the contribution requirement would be applied in practice. To address 
this, more examples have been included in the Program, including examples of how 
the exemptions may apply.

Additional exemptions
216. The Program includes circumstances under which Council may consider exempting a 

development from the need to make a contribution. Recommended additions include:

(a) exemptions for affordable housing; and

(b) where the cost of works does not exceed $100,000. This is to ensure minor 
development is not inadvertently captured by a requirement to make a 
contribution.

Removal of the clarifications proposed to clause 7.13A - Affordable housing in zone B7
217. The publicly exhibited Planning Proposal sought to clarify that the requirement in the 

B7 Business Park zone that all residential development must be affordable housing 
does not apply to land where shop-top housing is a permissible use prior to the 
rezoning of the Southern Employment Lands.

218. This has been removed from the Planning Proposal as it was addressed by the 
Planning Proposals: Minor Policy and Housekeeping Amendment adopted by Council 
and CSPC on 30 November and 27 November 2017 respectively.

Approach to adjusting equivalent monetary contribution rates
219. The publicly exhibited Program explained an approach to how the equivalent monetary 

contribution rates would be adjusted over time. Some amendment recommended to:

(a) align the timing of adjustment of rates with current processes to reduce potential 
confusion in the transition process;

(b) reduce the number of adjustments to one per year to increase certainty for 
developers; and

(c) provide clarification to how the rate is adjusted.

Introduction of a phase-in period for Green Square
220. Submissions raise concern that the immediate introduction of the increased equivalent 

monetary contribution rate in Green Square would impact on development viability of 
those development applications already in the pipeline.

221. To address this, it is recommended the increased equivalent monetary contribution 
rate will only apply from 1 March 2020. This will enable the market to adjust to 
increased rates.

36



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Review of rates for planning proposal land
222. It is recommended the Program be amended to clarify the rates that may apply to 

planning proposal land will be reviewed annually, at the same time as other 
contribution rates will be reviewed. This is to ensure certainty and that rates reflect 
current housing market conditions.

Long standing development applications
223. Submissions are concerned that complex development applications that have been in 

the development pipeline for some time would be impacted by the requirement to 
make a contribution.

224. The intention to introduce a contribution requirement on residual land was reported to 
Council in March 2018, and in Central Sydney in July 2016. The contribution 
requirement will not be in full effect until July 2022.  Notwithstanding this, it is 
recommended the Planning Proposal be amended so that the contribution 
requirements do not apply to development applications in Central Sydney or on 
residual land lodged before 1 July 2018.

Change of use in Central Sydney and on residual land
225. Consistent with the intent in Central Sydney and on residual land that a contribution 

should be made where existing floor area is changing to a higher order/value use, the 
Planning Proposal and drafting instructions are recommended to be amended so that 
where there is a change of use from non-residential to residential or tourist 
accommodation, the contribution requirement will apply.

226. In Central Sydney, this replaces a more general requirement that a contribution would 
be applied in the event of any change of use. This is considered to be overly onerous 
and would potentially result in a contribution requirement for relatively minor changes 
to floor area use.

Renaming 'Schedule 7 land' to 'Planning Proposal land'
227. References in the Planning Proposal and Program to 'Schedule 7 land' have been 

changed to 'Planning Proposal land'. This is to avoid any confusion where these 
provisions are repeated in the Green Square Town Centre LEPs.

Substantial alterations and additions
228. The Planning Proposal and drafting instructions have been amended to remove any 

requirement that a contribution would apply where the development comprises only 
‘substantial’ alterations and additions. On consideration of submissions, there is 
concern that this may trigger a requirement where modest renovations and/or required 
building upgrades are being made. This was not the intention of the Planning 
Proposal.

Where a previous contribution has been made
229. It is recommended the Program be amended to ensure that floor area that has been 

the subject of a previous affordable housing contribution, is not required to make 
further contribution following subsequent development of that same floor area. It is 
noted that where floor area has been demolished, that the contribution requirement will 
apply to any floor area that replaces it.

37



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Key Implications

Sustainable Sydney 2030 Vision
230. Sustainable Sydney 2030 is a vision for the sustainable development of the City to 

2030 and beyond.  It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City, as 
well as 10 targets against which to measure progress.  The Planning Proposal, by 
facilitating the increase of affordable rental housing in the LGA, aligns with the 
following Sustainable Sydney 2030 strategic directions and objectives:

(a) Direction 1 - A Globally Competitive and Innovative City – the Planning Proposal 
will facilitate low cost accommodation options for the key workers who are 
essential to the efficient functioning of the city.

(b) Direction 6 - Vibrant Local Communities and Economies - the Planning Proposal 
will facilitate improved housing diversity, providing low cost accommodation 
options to ensure a mix of people can live in the inner-city, not only the very 
wealthy.

(c) Direction 8 - Housing for a Diverse Population - the Planning Proposal will 
promote housing diversity and contribute to the City’s affordable housing targets.

Region and District Plans
231. The Region and District Plans released by the Greater Sydney Commission in March 

2018 include targets and actions for the provision of affordable housing through the 
planning framework. The Plans requires councils to develop local housing strategies to 
address the range of housing needs in their local areas, including affordable housing.

232. The Region Plan establishes an affordable housing target of five to 10 percent of new 
residential floor area, subject to viability. The target is aimed at housing those most in 
need, specifically very low and low income households. 

233. The proposed schedule in the Sydney LEP 2012 adopts the approach in the Region 
Plan and secures a reasonable proportion of the increase in land value when planning 
controls are changed. While this is applied on a site-by-site basis, it is considered at a 
precinct level and in the context of local housing markets.

234. The Region Plan provides the parameters for consideration in the successful 
implementation of these targets, including:

(a) measurement of the value created by the rezoning by applying a consistent 
viability test - the economic testing used to establish the target rates proposed in 
the Program for Planning Proposal land applied a standard Residual Land Value 
approach to establish viability;

(b) the consideration of other contributions that may apply to the land, including any 
State Infrastructure Contributions - the target rates proposed in the Program for 
Planning Proposal land will be updated annually to allow for changes in market 
conditions;

38



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

(c) allowance for an increase in land value for vendors so that land is willingly sold 
and supply does not stall - the 'cost' of the 50 percent sharing of value created 
when planning controls are changed does not impact on the value that is paid for 
land, which is typically purchased on the residual land value of land under 
existing planning controls. Even allowing for a reasonable level of speculation on 
future planning controls by both the vendor and the purchaser, there is sufficient 
value created in a change of planning controls to not unduly impact on the willing 
sale of land;

(d) allowance for developers to achieve normal profit margins on investment and risk 
- the economic testing assumed a normal profit on investment and risk; and

(e) a bespoke approach to allow for local circumstances - the economic testing is 
predicated on an assessment of local market conditions and planning 
requirements.

235. Economic testing demonstrates in the City of Sydney on sites where planning controls 
have been changed to increase development capacity substantially more floor area 
may be put towards an affordable housing outcome than the five to 10 percent on new 
floor area benchmark proposed under the Region Plan.

236. The proportion is likely to increase significantly where land is rezoned from 
employment to residential uses. This is because the Region Plan approach only 
shares in value increase arising from the increase of FSRs and does not consider any 
value increase arising from rezoning land, which can be substantial.

237. The City’s approach is based on equally sharing between the community and the 
landowner the residual land value increase resulting from changes to planning 
controls.

Affordable housing need

238. Sydney housing costs are now at a considerable premium compared to other parts of 
Australia. There is no housing that is affordable for purchase for very low, low and 
moderate income households in the City of Sydney. A moderate income household, for 
example on $1,800 per week, can afford to pay $600 per week in mortgage or rental 
repayments without being in housing stress.

239. The LGA median strata dwelling price is now $891,000. By comparison, the Greater 
Sydney median strata dwelling price in March 2017 is $720,000. An average weekly 
mortgage payment of $1048 is required to service a loan of this size, based on a 10 
percent deposit, standard stamp duty charges built into a 30 year mortgage at a five 
percent interest rate.

240. Rental costs are equally concerning. The LGA’s median weekly rent in June 2017 for a 
two-bedroom unit is $795 compared with the Greater Sydney and NSW median weekly 
rents of $540. This represents a 30 percent increase from the $610 median weekly 
rents in September 2010.

241. Based on NSW Family & Community Services – Housing Rent and Sales Report, and 
published 2017/2018 household income medians, a 43 percent reduction in the 
median strata dwelling price or a 25 percent reduction in average strata rents are 
required for housing to be considered affordable for moderate income households.

39



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

242. Even allowing for a slowing of the market, the disparity between housing costs in inner 
Sydney and ability of very low to low income households to pay is significant. There is 
clear need to increase the supply of affordable housing for very low to moderate 
income households is now urgent if very low to moderate income households are still 
to live in the LGA.

Affordable housing outcomes

243. The number of affordable rental housing dwellings resulting from Planning Proposal 
will be determined by:

(a) the amount of development that occurs, which is influenced by market 
conditions;

(b) the approach to using any monetary contributions, that is, whether affordable 
housing units are built by a developer or a community housing provider; the 
dwelling size and mix; whether they are purchased; and how effectively resulting 
funds and dwellings are leveraged to provide additional stock; and

(c) future planning proposals.

244. As discussed earlier in this report, the City also uses a range of other approaches to 
facilitate affordable housing.

245. There are 1,421 affordable rental housing dwellings in the LGA that are built, in the 
development pipeline or announced. The estimated affordable housing dwellings 
currently projected in the LGA is shown at Table 6. It is noted estimates for some 
areas are difficult to establish based on assumptions and circumstances that may 
change, and therefore vary outcomes significantly.

Table 6: Projected affordable housing dwellings 

Affordable housing source Number of dwellings

Built as at 30 June 2018 835

Development pipeline as at 30 June 2018 586

SUBTOTAL to 2019 1,421

Southern Employment Lands 130 

Green Square 650 

Ultimo / Pyrmont 35 

40



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Affordable housing source Number of dwellings

Residual lands 590 

Central Sydney 520 

Planning Proposal land unknown

Green Square to Ashmore connector road 300 

Dunning Ave, Rosebery (Southern Employment Land 
investigation areas)

8 

Sites in B7 Business Park zone (preferential LEP 
clause)

unknown

Sites in Southern Employment Land investigation areas 
(under the Guideline)

unknown

TOTAL (includes 2019 subtotal) 3,654

246. Table 6 shows the expansion of the City’s current affordable housing schemes to 
Central Sydney and residual land will result in approximately 1110 affordable rental 
housing dwellings in addition to the 815 estimated under current schemes in Green 
Square, Ultimo/Pyrmont and the Southern Employment Lands. An increase of over 40 
percent.

247. The City’s targets cannot be achieved through local planning mechanisms alone. 
While the additional affordable housing likely to result from the Planning Proposal is a 
step in the right direction, it is limited in its ability to address the substantial need for 
affordable housing in the LGA. The active intervention of other levels of government is 
required.

248. To achieve the City’s target for 7.5 percent of all dwellings to be affordable rental 
dwellings in 2030, approximately 11,000 affordable housing dwellings, out of a total 
projected 148,000 dwellings are required in the LGA. Table 6 shows approximately 
7,346 additional dwellings are still needed to achieve the City’s targets.

249. The estimates in Table 6 do not take into account affordable housing that may result 
from:

(a) community housing providers leveraging properties and ongoing rental streams 
to provide more affordable housing;

41



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

(b) planning mechanisms put in place in the Southern Employment Lands when they 
were rezoned in 2015. These include the preferential zoning approach for 
affordable housing in the B7 Business Park zone, as well as the 'Guideline to 
Preparing Site Specific Planning Proposal Requests in the City of Sydney 
Employment Lands Investigation Areas'; and

(c) the proposed introduction of the framework for Planning Proposal lands. Many 
planning proposals considered by Council are initiated at the request of 
landowners who seek rezoning or changes to height and/or FSR controls. 
Planning proposal requests are considered on their site-specific planning merit. 

250. It is not possible to provide projections of floor area that may result from changes to 
planning controls in the future. However, an indication of the potential of the proposed 
schedule for Planning Proposal land can be inferred from past planning proposals that 
have increased FSRs since the commencement of Sydney LEP 2012. It is estimated 
that approximately 90 dwellings may have been facilitated through the LEP if a 12 
percent contribution was applied to new floor area. It is noted this is a simple 
extrapolation and does not consider any other public benefits that formed part of these 
planning proposals.

251. Only in conjunction with the planning proposal for 87 Bay Street, Glebe has the City 
entered into a planning agreement for affordable housing. The City’s ability to facilitate 
affordable housing through the planning framework is impeded by the complexity and 
uncertainty of the system and the lack of State Government policy direction. While 
other public benefits have arisen from planning proposals, there would likely have 
been additional affordable housing outcomes achieved had there been a streamlined, 
State Government endorsed approach available to facilitate it. It is envisaged the 
Planning Proposal land framework will facilitate this.

252. The City will continue to innovate new planning approaches and advocate to the 
Federal and State governments for more affordable housing to be provided in the LGA.

Relevant Legislation

253. Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

254. Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000.

255. State Environmental Planning Policy No 70 - Affordable Housing (Revised Schemes) 
(SEPP 70).

Critical Dates / Time Frames

256. The Gateway for the Planning Proposal requires that the amendment to the Sydney 
LEP 2012 is completed by 10 January 2019.

257. The Gateway did not delegate authority to Council to draft and make the LEP. If 
approved by Council and the Central Sydney Planning Committee, the Planning 
Proposal will be referred back to the Department for legal drafting. If approved by 
Council and the Central Sydney Planning Committee, the Program will come into effect 
on the same day as the amendment to the LEP.

42



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

258. If the Green Square Town Centre Planning Proposal is approved by Council and the 
Central Sydney Planning Committee for public exhibition, it will be forwarded to the 
relevant local plan-making authority (currently the Greater Sydney Commission) with a 
request for a further gateway determination.

GRAHAM JAHN, AM

Director City Planning, Development and Transport

Tamara Bruckshaw, Manager Green Square and Major Projects

43



Attachment A  

Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing 
Review, post exhibition additions in bold 

with deletions struck-through 

44



 
 

 
PLANNING PROPOSAL 
City of Sydney Affordable Housing Review 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

45



 
 

Table of Contents 
 

Introduction ............................................................................................................................................ 1 

Planning for affordable housing.............................................................................................................. 1 

Affordable housing in the City of Sydney................................................................................................ 3 

Planning Proposal aims ........................................................................................................................... 5 

City of Sydney Affordable Housing Program ........................................................................................... 6 

Part 1 Objectives................................................................................................................................ 7 

Part 2 Explanation of Provisions ........................................................................................................ 8 

2.1 Sydney LEP 2012 ..................................................................................................................... 8 

2.1.1 Expansion of affordable housing contribution requirements to ‘residual land’................. 8 

2.1.2 A framework for ‘Schedule 7 land’ ..................................................................................... 9 

2.1.3 Minimum size of dedicated affordable housing dwellings ............................................... 10 

2.1.4 Improving the interpretation and application of Clause 7.13 .......................................... 11 

2.1.5 Affordable Housing in the B7 Business Park zone ............................................................ 11 

2.2 City of Sydney Affordable Housing Program ......................................................................... 12 

2.2.1 Affordable housing principles ........................................................................................... 12 

2.2.2 Determining the appropriate contribution rate for Schedule 7 land ............................... 13 

2.2.3 Affordable housing dwelling requirements ...................................................................... 14 

2.2.4 Equivalent monetary contribution amounts .................................................................... 15 

2.2.5 Increasing contribution rates in Green Square ................................................................. 15 

2.2.6 Calculating the equivalent monetary contribution payable ............................................. 16 

2.2.7 How are monetary contributions paid and who are they allocated to? .......................... 17 

2.2.8 How are dedicated affordable housing dwellings to be allocated?.................................. 18 

2.2.9 Development that may not be required to make a contribution ..................................... 18 

2.2.10 Indexing contributions .................................................................................................. 19 

2.2.11 When is a contribution to be paid? .............................................................................. 19 

2.2.12 Where a previous contribution to affordable housing has been paid .......................... 20 

2.2.13 Adding a recommended community housing provider ................................................ 20 

Part 3 Justification ........................................................................................................................... 22 

Section A – Need for The Planning Proposal ........................................................................................ 22 

Section B – Relationship to Strategic Planning Framework .................................................................. 24 

Section C – Environmental, Social and Economic Impact ..................................................................... 31 

Section D – State and Commonwealth Interests .................................................................................. 34 

Part 4 Mapping ................................................................................................................................ 38 

Part 5 Community Consultation ...................................................................................................... 40 

Part 6 Project timeline ..................................................................................................................... 41 

46



 

 
Page | 1                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

Introduction  
This Planning Proposal follows a review of affordable housing needs and supply in the City of Sydney 
local government area (LGA). It proposes a number of changes to the current affordable housing 
provisions in the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP 2012). The land to which this 
Planning Proposal applies is shown at Figure 1.  

A key objective of this Planning Proposal is to increase the amount of affordable housing in the city 
to achieve the City’s Sustainable Sydney 2030 affordable housing targets. It provides a 
comprehensive and transparent framework for the application of affordable housing contributions 
when land is being developed.  

This Planning Proposal is informed by the Eastern City District Plan (district plan), released by the 
Greater Sydney Commission in March 2018, which includes targets and actions for the provision of 
affordable housing through the planning framework. 

This Planning Proposal has been prepared in accordance with section 55 of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (the Act) and the relevant Department of Planning and 
Environment (DPE) Guidelines including ‘A Guide to Preparing Local Environmental Plans’ and ‘A 
Guide to Preparing Planning Proposals’. 

Planning for affordable housing  
Sydney remains Australia’s least affordable city. It is widely acknowledged that development has not 
kept pace with demand, contributing to a tight rental market and rising house prices. The high cost 
of housing is an important economic and social issue in Sydney, particularly in the Sydney LGA where 
housing prices are amongst the highest in Australia. 

The district plan estimates that some 4,000 to 8,000 affordable housing dwellings need to be 
provided in Greater Sydney per annum to meet the needs of very low and low income groups. This 
does not reflect additional affordable housing required for moderate income earners. The plan 
encourages councils to develop local housing strategies to address the range of housing needs in 
their LGAs, including affordable housing. 

The district plan includes a target that on sites that are rezoned for urban renewal or greenfield 
development, or on sites where there is identified need, 5-10 percent of new floor area is to be 
affordable housing. Action L6 of the plan notes that this target should not prejudice efforts to secure 
affordable housing in locations where the target has not been applied, that is, the target in the 
district plan does not limit the City’s ability to secure a greater proportion of affordable housing 
where it can be demonstrated it does not impact on development viability.  

The Metropolis of Three Cities: Greater Sydney Region Plan 2018 (region plan) and district plan were 
released by the Greater Sydney Commission in March 2018. The Plans establish affordable housing 
targets and require councils to prepare a Housing Strategy that, amongst other things, provides a 
planning pathway for achieving the targets. 

The region plan establishes an affordable housing target of five to 10 per cent of new residential 
floor area, subject to viability. The target is aimed at housing those most in need, specifically very 
low and low income households. The plan requires councils to develop local housing strategies to 
address the range of housing needs in their local areas, including affordable housing. 

 

47



 

 
Page | 2                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

Sustainable Sydney 2030 establishes an ambitious target that in 2030, 7.5 per cent of housing will be 
social housing and 7.5 per cent of housing will be affordable rental housing. Achieving this target 
requires approximately 11,000 affordable housing dwellings, out of a total projected 148,000 
dwellings, to be provided in the LGA to 2030. 

The City’s Affordable Rental Housing Strategy 2009-2014, which supports the implementation of 
Sustainable Sydney 2030, identifies a range of strategies to increase the quantum of affordable 
housing in the LGA, including the extension of contribution schemes in the Sydney LEP 2012. 

Figure 1 Land to which this Planning Proposal applies 

 
 

48



 

 
Page | 3                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

 

 

49



 

 
Page | 4                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

In 2015 the City released its Housing Issues Paper for consultation with the community. The key 
issue emerging from the paper is one of housing affordability in the inner-city and the critical need 
to provide a range of affordable housing options for very low to moderate income households. The 
City is currently developing its housing strategy to, amongst other things, address these issues. The 
new housing strategy will build on those actions already identified in the Affordable Rental Housing 
Strategy.    

Affordable housing in the City of Sydney 
Three affordable housing ‘schemes’ currently operate in the LGA, including at: 

• Ultimo/Pyrmont, introduced in 1996, which requires that 0.8 per cent of residential floor area 
and 1.1 per cent of commercial floor area be provided as affordable housing 
 

• Green Square, introduced in 1999, which requires that three per cent of residential floor area and 
one per cent of commercial floor area be provided as affordable housing, and  
 

• Southern Employment Lands, introduced in 2015, which requires that three per cent of 
residential floor area and one per cent of commercial floor area be provided as affordable 
housing. 
 

A fourth affordable housing scheme was proposed in Central Sydney as part of the Central Sydney 
Planning Review and was approved by Council in July 2016.  Pursuant to the direction of the 
Gateway Determination issued by the NSW Department of Planning and Environment on 10 January 
2018, the draft Central Sydney affordable housing scheme (draft Central Sydney scheme)  has now 
been incorporated into this planning proposal. The draft Central Sydney scheme is discussed later in 
this planning proposal. 

The affordable housing contribution required under these schemes can be satisfied either by in-kind 
dedication of finished affordable housing dwellings or by making an equivalent monetary 
contribution, the amounts for which are set out in the respective affordable housing programs of 
each scheme.  

Together the schemes in operation have resulted in 835 affordable rental dwellings for very low to 
moderate income households in the LGA. A further 586 dwellings are in the development pipeline 
and expected to be built by 2019.  

These dwellings have been built and are managed by City West Housing, who is the sole beneficiary 
of monetary contributions made under the Green Square and Ultimo/Pyrmont schemes. In the 
Southern Employment Lands, where the contribution requirement is relatively new and has not as 
yet resulted in any affordable housing, contributions are to be shared amongst multiple community 
housing providers.    

The City also uses other approaches to increase the amount of affordable housing where 
opportunities arise. Some examples include: 

• in 2009 the City entered into a planning agreement for the dedication of land for affordable 
housing at Harold Park. The land was purchased by City West Housing, partly using funds raised 
from the Ultimo/Pyrmont contribution scheme, and is currently being developed for 78 
affordable housing dwellings 
 

50



 

 
Page | 5                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

• in 2010 the City sought expressions of interest for the sale of land for affordable housing at 
Portman Street, Zetland. The land was purchased by City West Housing, partly using funds raised 
from the Green Square contribution scheme, and developed for 104 affordable housing dwellings 
 

• in 2013 the City entered into a planning agreement for affordable housing to be provided in 
conjunction with the redevelopment of 87 Bay Street, Glebe. The approved development 
application is for 207 residential apartments, including 19 affordable housing units 
 

• in the review of planning controls in the City’s Southern Employment Lands, an LEP clause was 
applied to land rezoned from IN1 or IN2 Industrial to B7 Business Park to permit affordable 
housing, but not market housing. The approach creates a commercial advantage for community 
housing providers to purchase land in the zone, given they do not compete for the same land 
with other residential developers 
 

• in July 2015 Council approved a masterplan for the development of Council-owned sites in the B7 
Business Park zone along the Green Square to Ashmore connector road, formerly known as the 
Green Square east-west relief route. Sites are to be sold to the community housing sector for the 
development of an estimated 300 affordable housing dwellings, and 
 

• in 2015 the City adopted the Guideline to Preparing Site Specific Planning Proposal Requests in 
the City of Sydney Employment Lands Investigation Areas. The Guideline provides a framework 
for sharing the residual land value increase resulting from changes to planning controls, with 50 
per cent of the increase being returned to the area with the provision of infrastructure, in 
particular affordable housing. The first planning proposal under the Guideline was reported to 
Council in February 2017 together with a planning agreement for the provision of affordable 
housing in accordance with the Guideline.  

 
Achieving the City’s affordable housing targets requires a multi-pronged approach. However, the 
planning mechanisms and policies used by the City to facilitate affordable housing have been 
developed over 20 years and have led to inconsistent administrative processes and procedures. This 
Planning Proposal will support the improvement of these processes and procedures. 
 
This Planning Proposal seeks to provide clarity of the City’s expectations for affordable housing when 
land is being developed, as well as streamline the City’s current processes and practices to facilitate 
affordable housing.   

 
Planning Proposal aims 
This Planning Proposal seeks amendment to Sydney LEP 2012 to: 

• expand the operation of current affordable housing contribution schemes to ‘Central Sydney’ and  
‘residual land’ as shown at Figure 1 
 

• provide a framework to identify ‘Schedule 7 Planning Proposal land’, being land that will benefit 
from increased development capacity through a site-specific planning proposal to change the 
planning controls, and require a supplementary affordable housing contribution  
 

• improve the interpretation and application of Clause 7.13  
 

• clarify that land identified at Schedule 1 (1AA) of the Sydney LEP 2012 can be developed for shop-
top housing and/or seniors  housing, despite any requirement under clause 7.13A that allow only 
affordable housing  

51



 

 
Page | 6                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

 
• reduce the minimum size of any affordable housing dwelling to be dedicated to Council to 35 

square metres in line with the Apartment Design Guideline dwelling size minimums. Also to 
introduce a maximum dwelling size of 90 square metres to ensure affordable housing floor area 
resulting from contribution schemes is used efficiently and to the benefit of as many people as 
possible, and 
 

• refer to a new ‘City of Sydney Affordable Housing Program’, as dated. 
 
City of Sydney Affordable Housing Program  
Clause 7.13 of the Sydney LEP 2012 allows for landowners and developers to satisfy an affordable 
housing contribution requirement by making:  

• an in-kind contribution of finished affordable housing dwellings, or 
 

• an equivalent monetary contribution payment.  
 

The proposed operational detail for the collection and distribution of affordable housing 
contributions are contained within the City of Sydney affordable housing program (Program), 
provided at Appendix A. The Program replaces the current Green Square, except where it applies to 
the Green Square Town Centre, and Southern Employment Lands programs and supplements the 
current City West (Ultimo/Pyrmont) program. It extends the operation of the City’s affordable 
housing levies into ‘Central Sydney’ and ‘residual land’, shown at Figure 1. 

The Program does not replace the Ultimo/Pyrmont program. The operational detail in the current 
program that applies to contributions being made in Ultimo/Pyrmont under Clause 7.13 of the 
Sydney LEP 2012 will continue to apply. However ‘Schedule 7 Planning Proposal land’ that is 
identified in Ultimo/Pyrmont will also be subject to the requirements proposed in the Program.      

The content and implications of the Program are discussed in detail in Part 2 of this Planning 
Proposal. 

 
 
  

52



 

 
Page | 7                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

Part 1 Objectives  
The objectives of this Planning Proposal are to: 

• provide a transparent framework for development to make equitable affordable housing 
contributions  
 

• give effect to the intent of the region plan and the district plan to provide affordable housing on 
land where there is an increase in floor area, where need for affordable housing is identified and 
where development viability can be maintained 
 

• increase the amount of affordable housing in the LGA to achieve the City’s affordable housing 
targets in Sustainable Sydney 2030 
 

• ensure affordable housing contribution rates do not impact on development viability 
 

• increase certainty for landowners and developers seeking to develop land in the LGA, and  
 

• align, streamline and simplify exiting affordable housing schemes that operate in the LGA. 

53



 

 
Page | 8                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

Part 2 Explanation of Provisions 

2.1 Sydney LEP 2012 
To achieve the intended outcomes, this Planning Proposal seeks to amend Sydney LEP 2012 in the 
manner described below. Detailed drafting instructions and recommended wording are provided at 
Appendix B. 

2.1.1 Add ‘Central Sydney’ to Clause 1.9 Application of SEPP  

It is proposed to amend Clause 1.9 of Sydney LEP 2012 so that in addition to Green Square and the 
Southern Employment Lands, the State Environmental Planning Policy (Affordable Rental Housing) 
2009 does not apply to land in ‘Central Sydney’, as identified on the Locality and Site Identification 
Map.  

2.1.2 Expansion of affordable housing contribution requirements to ‘residual land’ and 
‘Central Sydney’. 

It is proposed to amend the Sydney LEP 2012 to expand the operation of current affordable housing 
contribution schemes to all other land in the LGA where Council is the consent authority. This is to 
be referred to as ‘residual land’ and ‘Central Sydney’, shown at Figure 1, and is all land where: 

• the Council is the consent authority, and  
 

• it is not otherwise subject to current or proposed affordable housing contribution scheme.  
 

The contribution requirement is to be satisfied in accordance with the Program, provided at 
Appendix A and discussed later in this Planning Proposal. 

The proposed contribution requirement on ‘residual land’ and ‘Central Sydney’ is provided at Table 1 
below. 

Table 1 Proposed contribution rates on residual land and Central Sydney 

Date of determination of 
development application 

Total floor area 
intended for non- 

residential floor area 

Total floor area 
intended for 

residential floor area 

To 31 May 2020 0% 0% 

1 June 2020 – 31 May 2022 0.5% 1.5% 

1 June 2022 onwards  1% 3% 

 
The purpose of introducing the contribution requirement over time is to allow for the market to 
adjust. By phasing in the requirement, it can be considered ahead of time in land purchases and 
development projects.  

A contribution requirement on ‘residual land’ and in ‘Central Sydney’ is only to apply to 
development that is for the creation of new floor area meeting the specific criteria in the clause or to 
change the use of current floor area from non-residential to residential purpose or tourist 

54



 

 
Page | 9                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

accommodation purpose. It is noted this is different to how the contribution requirement applies to 
land in Green Square, the Southern Employment Lands, in Central Sydney and Ultimo/Pyrmont, 
which is on all floor area in the development, including substantial refurbishment.  

To understand the economic impacts of the proposed affordable housing contributions, the City 
obtained independent economic advice to test identified housing sub-markets in the city. Area 
specific contribution rates were considered in developing the rates for the residual lands that form 
this planning proposal, however the economic advice concluded that values across the LGA are 
divergent, with suburbs in the Eastern precinct generally more highly priced compared to suburbs in 
the Southern and Western precincts. This results in a varying capacity to pay, i.e. the ability of 
development to contribute to affordable housing varies. However, there is no source of publicly 
available data that aggregates unit prices into site-specific contribution areas such as the City’s 
Section 7.11 contribution areas (i.e. Western, Southern and Eastern precincts). This would require 
the City to commission a valuation of aggregate apartment floor area for each of the three areas, 
and with regular updates to ensure they continue to align with the market.  

It is concluded that the application of a single, LGA-wide standard rate is beneficial in that it can be 
easily interpreted and applied by the market and is simple in its administration. Further the 
availability of a consistent source of data (being Family and Community Services’ Sales and Rent 
Report) contributes to its transparency and predictability.  

Importantly, development viability will not be detrimentally affected by the introduction of an 
affordable housing requirement on any ‘residual land’ or in ‘Central Sydney. The economic advice is 
further discussed at Part 3, Section C of this Planning Proposal. 

2.1.3 A framework for ‘Schedule 7 Planning Proposal land’ 

It is proposed the Sydney LEP 2012 be amended to provide a framework to identify sites that will 
benefit from increased development capacity through a site-specific planning proposal process, and 
where a supplementary affordable housing contribution on that land has been identified.  

To achieve this, the Sydney LEP 2012 is to be amended to include a new schedule for the 
identification of sites as ‘Schedule 7 Planning Proposal land’. ‘Schedule 7 Planning Proposal land’ is 
also to be identified on the Locality and Site Identification Map in the LEP at the point of making the 
new LEP. 

This gives effect to the intent of the district plan to provide affordable housing where there is an 
increase in development capacity on land, where need for affordable housing is identified and where 
development viability can be maintained.  

The contribution requirement will only apply to the new development capacity that is facilitated by 
the site specific planning proposal. It does not apply to any existing development capacity and 
therefore does not replace any current affordable housing contribution requirement that may 
already apply to the land under Clause 7.13 of the Sydney LEP 2012. This means that on Schedule 7 
‘Planning Proposal land’ where there is a current affordable housing contribution requirement both 
the contribution under Clause 7.13 as well as the Schedule 7 Planning Proposal land contribution 
requirement will apply.  

The schedule may specify how the affordable housing contribution is to be satisfied, being by either:  

• an in-kind dedication to Council of finished affordable rental housing dwellings in the 
development, or 
 

55



 

 
Page | 10                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

• an equivalent monetary contribution payment to be passed to a community housing provider to 
build, own and manage affordable rental housing. 
 

The Program, provided at Appendix A and discussed later in this Planning Proposal, provides the 
operational detail for the scheme and the approach for establishing an appropriate contribution 
rate. 

Once the land is identified on the schedule, the contribution requirement is calculated at the 
development application stage and will be applied under Section 7.32 of the Act as a condition of 
consent. This is the same way the contribution requirement is currently applied in Green Square, 
Southern Employment Lands and Ultimo/Pyrmont.  

The benefits of the proposed approach are: 

• it will facilitate the practical implementation of the district plan into the local planning framework  
 

• contribution rates have been tested with reference to the various housing sub-markets in the 
LGA to ensure that development viability is not adversely affected, thus removing the need to 
undertake costly and time consuming site-by-site analysis to establish development viability. This 
approach is consistent with the district plan which requires development feasibility be tested at a 
precinct scale 
 

• the contribution requirement will be established at the point of changing the planning controls. 
This will allow the contribution requirement to be factored into the cost of development, 
improving certainty for the landowner and for the City  
 

• a thorough assessment of the merits of a planning proposal establishes the appropriate building 
envelopes and infrastructure needs. The contribution is factored in at that time. This provides 
certainty to the community and does not rely on inappropriate ‘bonus’ development capacity, 
above what might otherwise be permitted under the Sydney LEP 2012, to achieve infrastructure 
delivery, and 
 

• it will provide a clear and consistent approach to securing contributions to affordable housing 
where there is an increase in development capacity. This increases certainty for land owners and 
developers and ensures equity in the application of contribution requirements.  

 
A further benefit of the framework is in its administrative simplicity and reduced planning proposal 
assessment timeframes. One of the biggest challenges to securing affordable housing through a site-
specific planning proposal is the resources and knowledge required to negotiate a ‘viable’ outcome 
where changes are being made to planning controls. This is further complicated by the need to 
prepare what is often a complex planning agreement. This Planning Proposal provides a framework 
to establish a consistent approach to setting appropriate contribution requirements. 

By detailing the contribution requirement in the Sydney LEP 2012, the need for a planning 
agreement at the planning proposal stage is removed and instead those requirements for affordable 
housing outcomes are detailed in the Program.  

2.1.4 Minimum size of dedicated affordable housing dwellings  

It is proposed the minimum size of any affordable housing dwelling to be dedicated to Council be 
reduced to 35 square metres and a maximum dwelling size of 90 square metres be introduced. 

56



 

 
Page | 11                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

Currently Clause 7.13 requires any dedicated dwelling be no less than 50 square metres but does not 
specify a maximum.  

The intent of the amendment is to reflect minimum studio dwelling size under the Apartment Design 
Guideline. The maximum is proposed to ensure the affordable housing floor area resulting from the 
contribution scheme can accommodate families with children, but is also used efficiently and to the 
benefit of as many people as possible. 

2.1.5 Improving the interpretation and application of Clause 7.13 

It is proposed to amend the Sydney LEP 2012 to clarify what development is excluded from a 
requirement to make an affordable housing contribution. 

Clause 7.13 currently excludes development where it will result in the creation of less than 200 
square metres and 60 square metres of residential and commercial floor area respectively. The 
intent of this exclusion is to enable minor additions to a development without attracting an 
affordable housing contribution.  

However, as currently worded, the interpretation of Clause 7.13 is that it also excludes development 
where a substantial change of use is being achieved, for example where a warehouse building is 
being refurbished for residential development, but no new floor area is being created. It also 
excludes substantial refurbishment. 

This is unintentionally contrary to the rationale for applying an affordable housing contribution in 
areas that have benefited from an earlier rezoning, being Green Square, Ultimo/Pyrmont and the 
Southern Employment Lands. In these areas all development, including development to change the 
use of the current floor area, has benefited from the rezoning and is required to make a 
contribution.  

Amending Clause 7.13 clarifies when an affordable housing contribution is required. An affordable 
housing contribution will have to be made depending on location, cost of works and if development 
involves a change of use, alterations and additions or a new build.   

The proposed clauses in the LEPs are also intended to ensure the Program is directly referred to as 
the guiding document for the ongoing application of the LEP requirements and the administration of 
the Program. Current clauses only refer to the Program with regards to it setting equivalent 
monetary contribution amounts. This has left some ambiguity about the legal weight that should be 
granted the Program. 

Drafting instructions and suggested wording is provided at Appendix B. 

2.1.6 Affordable Housing in the B7 Business Park zone 

It is proposed to amend the Sydney LEP 2012 to clarify that land identified at Schedule 1 (1AA) can 
develop for shop-top housing and/or seniors  housing, despite any requirement under clause 7.13A 
for only affordable housing to be provided on the site. 

This amendment arises from confusion about the interaction of Clause 7.13A and Schedule 1 (1AA). 
Clause 7.13A permits affordable housing as the only form of residential development permitted in 
the B7 Business Park zone. Schedule 1 (1AA) provides that on some land in the B7 Business Park 
zone, generally along Botany Road in the Southern Employment Lands as identified on the Locality 
and Site Identification Map, shop-top housing and seniors housing is permitted.  

57



 

 
Page | 12                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

Clause 7.13A was introduced in the Sydney LEP 2012 in 2015. Its intent is to facilitate affordable 
housing in the B7 Business Park zone. It is not intended to restrict other additional permissible uses 
facilitated by Schedule 1 (1AA).  

To address this issue an additional sub-clause is proposed to clarify the interaction of the seemingly 
opposed provisions. 

Clause 7.13A of the Sydney LEP 2012 is to be amended to make reference to the City of Sydney 
Affordable Housing Program. 

2.2 City of Sydney Affordable Housing Program 
The Sydney LEP 2012 allows for landowners and developers to satisfy an affordable housing 
contribution requirement by making:  

• an in-kind contribution of finished affordable housing dwellings, or 
 

• an equivalent monetary contribution payment.  
 

The Program, provided at Appendix A, is for eventual adoption by Council, with the provisions of the 
Sydney LEP 2012 referring to it to provide the operational detail for the collection and distribution of 
affordable housing contributions. It is attached to this Planning Proposal and described in more 
detail below for contextual informational purposes only. 

The Program replaces the current Green Square (but not in the Green Square Town Centre) and 
Employment Lands programs and supplements the current Ultimo/Pyrmont program.  

The Program does not replace the Ultimo/Pyrmont program. The operational detail in the current 
program that applies to contributions being made in Ultimo/Pyrmont under Clause 7.13 of the 
Sydney LEP 2012 will continue to apply. However ‘Schedule 7 Planning Proposal land’ that is 
identified in Ultimo/Pyrmont will also be subject to the requirements proposed in the Program.      

The key elements of the Program are described below. It is noted that in some cases they are an 
extension of requirements or practices under current affordable housing programs, and in others 
they are new requirements.  

2.2.1 Affordable housing principles 

The Program includes ‘affordable housing principles’ that provide overarching guidance to the 
operation of the contribution scheme.  While generally remaining unchanged, the principles in the 
Program make some amendment to those under the current Green Square and Employment Lands 
programs. These changes are largely to align the wording. 

The most significant proposed change to the principles is it will allow all affordable housing 
contributions to be spent anywhere in the LGA. This specifically affects Green Square where 
currently the expenditure of funds collected in Green Square is to be spent in the Green Square 
renewal area.  

This change in approach is made at the request of City West Housing, who is the only community 
housing provider listed in the Green Square program to receive affordable housing contributions 
collected in Green Square. The request is provided at Appendix C. The reason given by City West 
Housing for the request is that it is increasingly difficult to secure land within the LGA and that the 
limitations placed on where the contributions can be spent only makes it more difficult. 

58



 

 
Page | 13                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

The City recommends the request be supported. Allowing funds to be spent elsewhere in the LGA 
will not impact on the broader objectives of the Green Square scheme. 

2.2.2 Determining the appropriate contribution rate for Schedule 7 Planning Proposal 
land 

Section 2.1.2 of this Planning Proposal describes the proposed framework to identify ‘Schedule 7 
Planning Proposal land’ on a new schedule in the Sydney LEP 2012 and to require an affordable 
housing contribution on that land commensurate with any increase in development capacity. 

The Program provides in its appendices a standardised approach to establishing the contribution 
rate that will be applied to Schedule 7 Planning Proposal land in the Sydney LEP 2012 where there is 
an increase in development capacity on the land. 

The contribution rate will apply only to the new floor area. Any other affordable housing 
contribution rate under Clause 7.13 of the Sydney LEP 2012 applies to the floor area that is in 
existence prior to the change to the planning controls. 

The contribution rate will be applied only to the additional floor area facilitated by a planning 
proposal. It will not apply to floor area potential that already existed under the Sydney LEP 2012. 

The proposed contribution rate from 1 January 1 March 2017 to 31 December 2017 28 February 
2018 is shown at Table 2 below. 

Table 2 Proposed contribution rates on Schedule 7 Planning 
Proposal land where there is an increase in floor space ratio 

Precinct Proportion of additional floor area 
to be used for affordable housing 

West precinct 
 

12% 

South precinct  
 

12% 

Eastern precinct 
 

24%  
 

Precincts are consistent with those in the City’s development contributions plan 2015. 

The above contribution rates are applicable only where the site-specific planning proposal is for floor 
space ratio increase on land. They are not applicable where other changes to planning controls are 
being made, for example where land is being rezoned or where there is significant increase in height. 
The financial benefit associated with increased building heights is more difficult to quantify. 
Different sites have different ability to capture views and vistas, the value associated with increased 
height is highly sensitive to topography, position of the site and surrounding development. While 
generic rates could be set to capture some of the value created by additional height, owing to the 
different site drivers and circumstances, there could still be wide variances between sites. Where 
this is the case a site-specific analysis will be required to determine an appropriate contribution rate. 

The above rates do not apply to the Southern Employment Lands investigation areas where land is 
rezoned from employment to residential uses. The approach adopted by Council in 2015 in its 
Guideline to Preparing Site Specific Planning Proposal Requests in the City of Sydney Employment 
Lands Investigation Areas will continue to inform the consideration of planning proposals in those 
areas.  

59



 

 
Page | 14                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

It is noted the Program provides only guidance on how a contribution rate should be established. 
The described approach is not binding on Council who may apply a different rate depending on the 
particulars of the planning proposal under consideration. For example, where it is a superior 
outcome, and where a landowner/developer has made an offer to enter into a planning agreement 
to provide affordable housing or other public benefit, the site may not be listed as Schedule 7 
Planning Proposal land. For example, where the landowner offers to dedicate land for an affordable 
housing purpose, rather than make a contribution under the Sydney LEP 2012.  

The contribution rates have been tested to ensure development viability is not negatively impacted. 
The outcomes of the testing are discussed in detail at Part 3, Section C of this Planning Proposal.  

Contribution rates are to be reviewed bi-annually to ensure they continue to align with market 
realities.  

2.2.3 Affordable housing dwelling requirements 

The Program provides the requirements for any affordable housing dwellings that are to be 
dedicated. Some changes and additions are proposed to requirements that currently apply under 
current affordable housing programs. 

The requirements are to ensure the dwellings are appropriate for purpose and that they align with 
the affordable housing principles in the Program and in State Environmental Planning Policy No 70—
Affordable Housing (Revised Schemes) (SEPP 70). The requirements are: 

• affordable rental dwellings are to be owned by government or a recommended or eligible 
community housing provider 
 

• affordable rental dwellings are provided in the LGA in perpetuity 
 

• affordable rental dwellings are to be rented to very low, low and moderate income households 
for an absolute maximum of 30 per cent of gross household income 
 

• where more than 10 affordable rental dwellings are being provided in the development, at least 
25 per cent of dwellings are to be allocated to very low income households and 25 per cent of 
dwellings to low income households  
 

• all rent received from the affordable rental dwellings after deduction of management and 
maintenance costs are to be used only for the purpose of improving, replacing, maintaining or 
providing additional affordable rental housing. This includes the investment of monies to meet 
cyclical maintenance costs and all rates and taxes payable in connection with the dwelling 
 

• affordable rental dwellings are to be designed and constructed to a standard which, in the 
opinion of council, is generally consistent with other dwellings in the LGA, that is, they are not 
differentiated as affordable housing compared with the design of other housing 
 

• each affordable rental dwelling is to have a total floor area of not less than 35 square metres or 
not more than 90 square metres, with any remainder being paid as a monetary contribution, and 
 

• where multiple affordable rental dwellings are provided in the development, the amenity 
benchmarks established by the Apartment Design Guide are to be generally achieved. For 
example, 70% of the affordable housing dwellings should achieve adequate solar access. This is to 

60



 

 
Page | 15                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

ensure the least amenable units in any development are not all selected as the affordable rental 
dwellings to be dedicated to Council. 
 

The location, size and quality of affordable housing dwellings are to be to the satisfaction of Council 
and the receiving community housing provider. If not, Council may require changes to the 
development application, or that the contribution be made by way of an equivalent monetary 
contribution.  

2.2.4 Equivalent monetary contribution amounts  

The Program states the equivalent monetary contribution amount payable to Council in-lieu of any 
dedication of floor area for affordable housing. 

In practice the affordable contribution requirement under current affordable housing programs in 
Green Square and Ultimo/Pyrmont have been satisfied by making monetary contribution. Funds are 
then passed to a community housing provider to build and manage affordable housing. 

In the Southern Employment Lands, Central Sydney, on residual land, and on Planning Proposal land, 
the Program states the equivalent monetary contribution amount for the period of 1 March 2018 to 
28 February 2019 is $10,588.00 per square metre 1 January 2017 to 30 June 2017 is $9,788.00 per 
square metre. This is a different way of expressing the contribution amount than current Programs. 
The change is explained later in this Planning Proposal. 

In Green Square, the current Green Square Program rate of $8,163.00 per square metre (adjusted 
from the 1 March 2018 to 28 February 2019 period) will continue to apply until 29 February 2020. 
From 1 March 2020 the rate of $10,588.00 per square metre (adjusted from the 1 March 2018 to 28 
February 2019 period) will apply. 

The rates quoted above are expressed differently to how they are expressed in the current Green 
Square and the Southern Employment Lands programs, but does not affect the total amount the 
landowner or developer would be required to contribute. The change is explained later in this 
Planning Proposal. 

In Green Square, the Southern Employment Lands, Central Sydney and on residual land, the 
equivalent monetary contribution amount is calculated on the ‘total floor area’ to which the 
development application directly applies. The calculation of total floor area is defined by the Sydney 
LEP 2012. This is consistent with current practice. 

On Schedule 7 Planning Proposal land, the equivalent monetary contribution amount is to be 
calculated on the additional development capacity facilitated by a site-specific planning proposal.  

2.2.5 Increasing contribution rates in Green Square 

In Green Square, the Program proposes an increase to the equivalent monetary contribution 
amount. The proposed increase for the current period is shown at Table 3 below. 

 

 

 

 

61



 

 
Page | 16                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

Table 3 Proposed increase of equivalent monetary contribuiton amount 

 Current Green 
Square Program  

Program 

Equivalent contribution amount for 3% of 
residential total floor area 

$206.06 $244.99 $293.65 $317.65 

Equivalent contribution amount for 1% of 
non-residential total floor area 

$68.66 $81.63 $97.88 $105.88 

 

As discussed above, the current Green Square Program rates will continue to apply until 29 February 
2020 to allow the market to adjust to the increase. 

The new amount aligns with the Southern Employment Lands and the amounts originally proposed 
in the Central Sydney program and it more accurately reflects the full cost of delivering a square 
metre of affordable housing in the City of Sydney. It is based on the median strata dwelling price in 
the Sydney LGA and assumes that if a community housing provider is unable to purchase land in the 
LGA to develop affordable housing, a suitable dwelling could be purchased on the private housing 
market. 

Economic testing of the impact of increasing the equivalent monetary contribution amounts in 
Green Square indicated the market can tolerate the increase without having any negative impact on 
development viability.  

The economic testing recognises the affordable housing levy in Green Square affordable housing 
scheme was established in 1999 and does not reflect full development costs today. Inherent in the 
levy composition is the assumption that land will be available. This effectively means it is ‘cheaper’ 
for developers to contribute cash rather than in-kind. The contribution rates in the City’s other 
affordable housing schemes are premised on the Sydney median unit price and therefore reflect a 
realistic cost to purchase.  

2.2.6 Calculating the equivalent monetary contribution payable 

The equivalent monetary contribution amount in the Program is expressed differently than in 
current programs. However, this does not change the resulting contribution amount.  

Under current schemes the monetary contribution amount is expressed as a dollar amount per 
square metre of all the total floor area build on the site. The Program calculates the contribution as a 
dollar amount per square metre of applicable floor area.  

For example, a contribution for a new 5,000 square metres commercial development would be 
calculated as shown in Table 4 below. 

 

 

 

 

62



 

 
Page | 17                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

Table 4 Calculating a contribution under the Program – non-residential 

 As calculated under current 
schemes 

As calculated under this 
Program 

Total monetary 
amount 

5,000 * $97.88 =  

$489,400 

5,000 * $105.88 = 

$529,400 

1% * 5,000 * $9,788 =  

$489,400 

1% * 5,000 * $10,588 = 

$529,400 

 

A contribution for a new 5,000 square metre residential development in the Southern Employment 
Lands would be calculated as shown in Table 5 below. 

Table 5 Calculating a contribution under the Program – residential 

 As calculated under current 
schemes 

As calculated under this 
Program 

Total monetary 
amount 

5,000 * $293.88 =  

$1,469,400 

5,000 * $317.65 = 

$1,588,250 

3% * 5,000 * $9,788 =  

$1,468,200 

3% * 5,000 * $10,588 = 

$1,588,200 

 

The change in approach is because: 

• under current affordable housing programs the equivalent monetary contribution amounts 
specified are for three percent and one percent contribution rate in the Sydney LEP 2012. The 
new approach in the Program allows for a total monetary amount to be calculated irrespective of 
the contribution rate in the Sydney LEP 2012, and  
 

• the proposed approach in the Program will substantially simplify calculation of contribution 
requirements where a landowner opts to satisfy a contribution partly as dwellings and partly as 
monetary contribution. For example, under the current Green Square program, if the landowner 
was required to dedicate three percent of a 10,000 square metre residential development for 
affordable housing (being 300 square metres), but the amount of floor area identified as 
affordable housing on the plan amounts to only 260 square metres, then establishing the 
monetary contribution required for the difference is mathematically complex and potentially 
confusing for applicants and assessing planners.   

2.2.7 How are monetary contributions paid and who are they allocated to? 

The Program includes requirements for how affordable housing contributions collected are to be 
allocated to a community housing provider and used.  

Currently contributions collected in the Southern Employment Lands are paid to the City and passed 
to the NSW Department of Families and Community Services who are responsible for distributing 
funds to Tier 1 and Tier 2 community housing providers to build and manage affordable housing in 

63



 

 
Page | 18                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

the LGA. This approach is to be retained in the Program for money collected in the Southern 
Employment Lands. 

Currently contributions collected in Green Square and Ultimo/Pyrmont are paid to the Department 
of Planning and Environment and passed to the only recommended community housing provider 
listed in Schedule A of the Green Square program, being City West Housing.  

This approach is broadly retained in the Program, though it is proposed the process for payment be 
simplified by allowing landowners to make payment directly to the City who will then pass the funds 
to the community housing provider. This aligns with how other contribution payments are made, for 
example Section 7.11 payments.  

Further discussions with the Department of Planning and Environment to amend current processes 
for Green Square and Ultimo/Pyrmont will be required.  

For Central Sydney, residual land and Schedule 7 Planning Proposal land, the Program proposes 
funds be paid to the City and passed to any recommended provider identified on the Program, 
currently proposed as City West Housing only. 

2.2.8 How are dedicated affordable housing dwellings to be allocated? 

The Sydney LEP 2012 requires that, where the landowner or developer opts to dedicate affordable 
housing dwellings in the development, that they be built and dedicated to Council free of charge. 
Council would then transfer the dwellings to a community housing provider to be owned and 
managed in perpetuity as affordable rental housing for very low to moderate income households.  

The Program proposes that, where the landowner or developer opts to dedicate affordable housing 
dwellings in the development, that Council will transfer the dwelling to a recommended community 
housing provider, as identified on Schedule A of the Program, free of charge. Where any 
recommended community housing provider opts not to receive the dwellings, it will be transferred 
to another registered Tier 1 or Tier 2 community housing provider.  

This amends the approach currently taken under the employment lands program where dwellings 
are required to be dedicated free of charge to a community housing provider nominated by the 
Department of Families and Community Services. 

2.2.9 Development that may not be required to make a contribution 

The Sydney LEP 2012 stipulates what development may be subject to an affordable housing 
contribution.  

The Program provides that Council may consider exempting development from an affordable 
housing contribution requirement if the development is for one or more of the following: 

• Affordable housing, as defined by the Program; 
 

• development that would result in the applicable affordable housing contribution amounting to 
more than 10 15 per cent of the agreed cost of construction, or where the agreed cost of 
construction is less $100,000; or 
 

• where the change of use is from:  
 

o a commercial use or light industrial use to a general industrial use or heavy industrial use, or 

64



 

 
Page | 19                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

  
o a general or heavy industrial use to another general industrial use or heavy industrial use. 

 
The intent of allowing for these exemptions is to: 
 
• ensure the contribution requirement does not unreasonably impact on the cost of development, 

and 
 

• ensure industrial uses, that have not benefited from the increased land values in the LGA, are not 
subject to a contribution requirement.  

2.2.10 Indexing contributions 

The Program requires adjustments are made to the equivalent monetary contribution amount twice 
a year annually in accordance with movements in the median house price in the LGA, as provided by 
the NSW Government Rent and Sales Report, Table: Sales Price – Greater Metropolitan Region – 
Strata. The City of Sydney’s website will contain the current monetary contribution amounts as 
indexed. 

While consistent with the current approach in the employment lands, the Program amends the 
approach for Green Square where contribution rates are indexed with reference to the Australian 
Bureau of Statistics Established Housing Price Index (HPI).  

The purpose of the change in approach in Green Square is that movements in median housing prices 
more accurately reflect movements in housing costs in the LGA. The HPI provides movements 
Sydney-wide.  

2.2.11 When is a contribution to be paid? 

The Program requires that payment of any monetary contribution amount required by a condition of 
consent be made prior to issue of a construction certificate.   

While consistent with the current approach in the employment lands, the Program amends the 
approach in Green Square where landowners or developers are currently able to provide a bank 
guarantee prior to construction certificate with cash payment required before occupational 
certificate. 

Approximately one third of affordable housing contribution payments have been satisfied by bank 
guarantee since 2012. The system is complex to administer, requiring indexing of contribution 
payments prior to occupation certificate.   

The purpose of this change in approach is to:  

• provide equity and align the payment requirements with all other payments that are required, 
such as Section 7.11 payments and  Clause 6.14 – Community Infrastructure floorspace at Green 
Square, all of which are payable prior to issue of construction certificate, and 
 

• streamline and simplify the operation and administration of affordable housing contribution 
requirements. 

65



 

 
Page | 20                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

2.2.12 Where a previous contribution to affordable housing has been paid 

The Program removes the current provision in the Green Square and Southern Employment Lands 
programs that, where a previous contribution already has been made for development, then no 
further contribution is required for the same floor area.  

The purpose of removing this provision is: 

• it does not reflect the displacement of more affordable housing as floor area is redeveloped for 
higher value accommodation 
 

• it does not reflect the need for affordable housing generated by development as an area 
progressively gentrifies, and  
 

• the administration of the provision over a long period of time is impractical. 
 
The Program provides that where a contribution has been paid on floor area previously, that it may 
not be required to make an additional contribution in the event of further development, unless: 

• it is being demolished and being replaced with floor space of the same use. In this case, a 
contribution will be applied to all of the total floor area, including the replacement floor area; or     
 

• the previous contribution was for a non-residential purpose and the new total floor area is for a 
residential purpose. In this case the difference in the contribution rates will apply.  

 
This amends the current provision in the Green Square and Southern Employment Lands programs 
that where floor area has been demolished and rebuilt, that a contribution would not apply to any 
existing floor area. The purpose of amending this provision is: 

• it does not reflect the displacement or demand of more affordable housing as floor area is 
redeveloped for higher value accommodation or commercial uses; and 
 

• it does not reflect the need for affordable housing generated by development. 

2.2.13 Adding a recommended community housing provider 

The Program identifies in an attached Schedule the ‘recommended’ community housing providers 
who are the beneficiaries of affordable housing contributions collected in Green Square, Central 
Sydney, residual land and on Schedule 7 Planning Proposal land. Currently only City West Housing is 
identified on the Schedule.  

This carries over from the current Green Square program that identifies only City West Housing as 
the recipient of funds under that scheme.  

The Program provides the matters for consideration where an application is made by a community 
housing provider, which is registered under the National Regulatory Code as Tier 1 or Tier 2 provider, 
to be added to the Schedule. Considerations include: 

• any potential impacts of adding a community housing provider on the outcomes of the schemes, 
for example, whether adding a provider would likely increase or decrease the number of 
affordable housing units resulting from the scheme 
 

• any consultation with the NSW Department of Families and Community Services, and 

66



 

 
Page | 21                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

 
• the impact on the programming and business planning of community housing providers already 

listed on the Schedule. 
 

Before adding a community housing provider to the Schedule, the City will be required to develop a 
strategy for how funds are to be divided amongst multiple providers. 

  

67



 

 
Page | 22                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

Part 3 Justification  
Section A – Need for The Planning Proposal 
Q1. Is the planning proposal a result of any strategic study or report? 

There is a clear and critical need to provide affordable housing for low to moderate income 
households in Sydney.  

The need for affordable housing in the city, and the various mechanisms available to local 
government to facilitate it, have been the subject of a range of studies and reports that have 
informed various policies, projects and development decisions made by Council.   

To inform the preparation this Planning Proposal an affordable housing needs analysis was 
undertaken. The findings of the needs analysis are incorporated into the appendices of the Program 
provided at Appendix A.  

In summary, the needs analysis found that housing in the city is now at a considerable premium 
compared to other parts of NSW.  The proportion of housing that is affordable for purchase for very 
low, low and moderate income households is essentially non-existent. A very low to moderate 
income household’s capacity to pay current rents or mortgage repayments, without being in housing 
stress, is shown at Figure 2.  

Figure 2 Relationship between income and average weekly mortgage and rent 

 

Source: Greater Sydney Commission, Draft Central District Plan 2016 and NSW Rent and Sales report data 1998 
– 2016 

The LGA median strata dwelling price is now at a high of $832,000. By comparison, the Greater 
Sydney median strata dwelling prices are $696,000. Figure 2 illustrates the average weekly mortgage 

68



 

 
Page | 23                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

payment of $968 based on a 10 per cent deposit, standard stamp duty charges built into the 
mortgage and five per cent interest rate.  

Rental costs are equally concerning. Figure 2 shows the LGA’s median weekly rent in September 
2016 for a two-bedroom unit is $750 compared with the Greater Sydney and NSW median weekly 
rents of $530. This represents a 23 per cent increase from the $610 median weekly rents in 
September 2010.  

The disparity between housing costs in inner Sydney and ability of very low to low income 
households to pay is clear. The need to increase the supply of affordable housing for very low to 
moderate income households is now urgent.  

The LGA median strata dwelling price is now $891,000. By comparison, the Greater Sydney median 
strata dwelling prices in March 2017 are $720,000. An average weekly mortgage payment of $1,048 
is required to buy a moderate income household, based on a 10 per cent deposit, standard stamp 
duty charges built into a 30 year mortgage at a five per cent interest rate.  

Rental costs are equally concerning. The LGA’s median weekly rent in June 2017 for a two-bedroom 
unit is $795 compared with the Greater Sydney and NSW median weekly rents of $540. This 
represents a 30 per cent increase from the $610 median weekly rents in September 2010.  

Based on NSW Family & Community Services – Housing Rent and Sales Report, and published 
2017/2018 household income medians, a 43 per cent reduction in the median strata dwelling price 
or a 25 per cent reduction in average strata rents are required for housing to be considered 
affordable for moderate income households. 

Even allowing for a slowing of the market, the disparity between housing costs in inner Sydney and 
ability of very low to low income households to pay is significant. The need to increase the supply of 
affordable housing for very low to moderate income households is now urgent if very low to 
moderate income households are still to live in the LGA.  

The social and economic impacts of not addressing the need for affordable housing are discussed at 
Part 3, Section C of this Planning Proposal. 

Q2. Is the planning proposal the best means of achieving the objectives or intended outcomes, or is 
there a better way? 

This Planning Proposal is, in part, to facilitate new affordable housing contribution schemes within 
the city. It is also to clarify and streamline current schemes that are in operation under Sydney LEP 
2012. This Planning Proposal is the only way to achieve this.  

The Act considers the promotion of the social and economic welfare of the community as one of its 
objectives. In 1999 the Act was amended to specifically include the provision and maintenance of 
affordable housing as an Object of the Act.     

Section 7.32 of the Act allows for the collection of contributions for affordable housing where a need 
for affordable housing is identified in a planning instrument and where:  

a) the consent authority is satisfied that the proposed development will or is likely to reduce the 
availability of affordable housing within the area, or  

b) the consent authority is satisfied that the proposed development will create a need for 
affordable housing within the area, or 

69



 

 
Page | 24                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

c) the proposed development is allowed only because of the initial zoning of a site, or the rezoning 
of a site, or 

d) the regulations so provide.1 

SEPP 70 identifies that there is a need for affordable housing in the City of Sydney.  

The various contribution requirements operating in the city achieve the requirements of the Act in 
different ways. These are addressed in full in the needs analysis incorporated into the appendices of 
the Program provided at Appendix A.  

Section B – Relationship to Strategic Planning Framework 
Q3. Is the planning proposal consistent with the objectives and actions of the applicable regional, 
sub-regional or district plan or strategy (including any exhibited draft plans or strategies)? 

A Metropolis of Three Cities – the Greater Sydney Region Plan 

A Metropolis of Three Cities – the Greater Sydney Region Plan is the NSW Government’s overarching 
strategic document for growth and change in Sydney. The 20 year plan with a 40 year vision seeks to 
transform Sydney into a metropolis of three cities being the Western Parkland City, the Central River 
City and the Eastern Harbour City. The City of Sydney LGA is positioned within the Eastern Harbour 
City. 

The plan identifies key challenges facing Sydney including a population increase to eight million by 
2056, 817,000 new jobs by 2036 and a requirement for 725,000 new homes. 

The plan aspires to deliver the following outcomes: 

• liveability – enhancing cultural and housing diversity and designing places for people; 

• productivity – developing a more accessible and walkable city and creating conditions for a 
stronger economy; 

• sustainability – valuing green spaces and landscape, improving efficiency of resources and 
creating a resilient City; and 

• infrastructure – ensuring infrastructure supports new developments and governments, 
community and businesses collaborate to realise the benefits of growth.  

To achieve the vision, the plan proposes 10 directions, 40 objectives and associated strategies. 
Objectives of particular relevance to this Planning Proposal include: 10 - Greater housing supply and 
11 - Housing is more diverse and affordable. 

This Planning Proposal is consistent with several relevant directions, objectives and strategies of the 
plan. Specifically, it will increase the supply of affordable housing and improve housing diversity and 
choice. 

 

                                                           
 

1 Development must only satisfy one of these conditions for Council to be able to require a contribution. 

 

70



 

 
Page | 25                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

Eastern City District Plan  

The Greater Sydney Commission released the District Plans for the Greater Sydney Metropolitan 
Region in March 2018. The City of Sydney is in the Eastern City District. The District Plans set out how 
A Metropolis of Three Cities – the Greater Sydney Region Plan applies to local areas.  

The district plan has set a 20-year strategic target for housing and employment growth within the 
district, including a 2036 target of 157,500 dwellings and a short-term (5 years) housing target of 
46,550 new dwellings. In the City of Sydney LGA, 18,300 dwellings are to be delivered.  

The district plan requires councils to develop local housing strategies and actions to address the 
range of housing needs in their LGAs, including affordable housing. 

The district plan nominates an affordable rental housing target of five to 10 per cent, subject to 
viability, in urban renewal and land release areas, noting that the application of the target should 
not prejudice other approaches to secure affordable housing in areas outside of urban renewal and 
land release areas. A critical focus of the plan is that any mechanism that is introduced to secure 
affordable housing should be cognisant of the impact on development viability. 

This Planning Proposal supports the district plan’s priority of ‘Housing Diversity and Affordability’ by 
facilitating the delivery of affordable rental housing in the city through the planning framework.  

Q4. Is the planning proposal consistent with Council’s local strategy or other local strategic plan? 

Sustainable Sydney 2030, the City’s overarching strategic plan establishes an ambitious target that in 
2030, 7.5 per cent of housing will be social housing and 7.5 per cent of housing will be affordable 
housing. To achieve the City’s target approximately 11,000 affordable housing dwellings, out of a 
total projected 148,000 dwellings, are required in the LGA. 

The City’s Affordable Rental Housing Strategy 2009-2014, which supports the implementation of 
Sustainable Sydney 2030, identifies a range of strategies to increase the quantum of affordable 
housing in the LGA, including the extension of contribution schemes in the Sydney LEP 2012. 

In 2015 the City released its Housing Issues Paper for consultation with the community. The key 
issue emerging from the paper is one of housing affordability in the inner-city and the critical need 
to provide a range of affordable housing options for very low to moderate income households. The 
City is currently developing its housing strategy to build on the Affordable Rental Housing Strategy.    

This Planning Proposal will result in an increase of affordable housing in the city and will contribute 
to the quantum of affordable housing dwellings required to achieve the City’s affordable housing 
target. 

Q5. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable State Environmental Planning Policies? 

The consistency of this Planning Proposal with current State Environmental Planning Policies (SEPPs) 
and former Regional Environmental Plans (REPs) for the Sydney and Greater Metropolitan Regions, 
which are deemed to have the weight of SEPPs, is outlined in Table 6 below. 

Repealed SEPPs or REPs, or those that were not finalised are not included in this table. 

  

71



 

 
Page | 26                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

Table 6 Consistency with SEPPs and former REPs 

SEPP Comment 

SEPP 1 - Development Standards  Consistent – this Planning Proposal does not contain 
provisions that contradict or would hinder application 
of this SEPP. 

SEPP 14 – Coastal Wetlands  Not applicable 
SEPP 19 - Bushland in Urban Areas Not applicable 

 
SEPP 21 - Caravan Parks Not applicable 
SEPP 26 - Littoral Rainforests Not applicable 
SEPP 30 - Intensive Agriculture Not applicable 
SEPP 33 - Hazardous and Offensive 
Development 

Not applicable 

SEPP 36 - Manufactured Home Estates Not applicable 
 

SEPP 44 - Koala Habitat Protection Not applicable 
 

SEPP 47 - Moore Park Showground Not applicable 
 

SEPP 50 - Canal Estate Development Not applicable 
 

SEPP 52 - Farm Dams and other works 
in Land and Water Management Plan 
Areas 

Not applicable 

SEPP 55 - Remediation of Land Consistent – this Planning Proposal does not contain 
provisions that contradict or would hinder application 
of this SEPP. 

SEPP 62 - Sustainable Aquaculture Not applicable 
 

SEPP 64 - Advertising and Signage Consistent – this Planning Proposal does not contain 
provisions that contradict or would hinder application 
of this SEPP. 

SEPP 65 - Design Quality of Residential 
Flat Development 

Consistent – this Planning Proposal does not contain 
provisions that contradict or would hinder application 
of this SEPP. 

SEPP 70 - Affordable Housing (Revised 
Schemes) 

Consistent. This identifies that there is a need for 
affordable housing in the City of Sydney. 
 
The Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 
(the Act) allows for the collection of contributions for 
affordable housing where a need for affordable 
housing is identified in a planning instrument and 
where:  
 
• the consent authority is satisfied that the proposed 

development will or is likely to reduce the 
availability of affordable housing within the area, or  

• the consent authority is satisfied that the proposed 
development will create a need for affordable 
housing within the area, or 

72



 

 
Page | 27                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

• the proposed development is allowed only because 
of the initial zoning of a site, or the rezoning of a 
site, or 

• the regulations so provide. 
 

The Program provides the rationale and justification 
for the application of contributions in the city. 

SEPP 71 - Coastal Protection Not applicable 
SEPP (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009 Consistent 

 
Currently, SEPP (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009 does 
not apply to land in Green Square, Ultimo/Pyrmont 
and the Southern Employment Lands. These 
exclusions will be retained. 
 
The Planning Proposal will amend Part 1, Clause 1.9 – 
Application of SEPP so that this SEPP does not apply to 
land in Central Sydney. Given the proposed affordable 
housing contribution scheme proposed for Central 
Sydney, it is proposed that the exemption be 
extended to this area. 

SEPP (Building Sustainability Index: 
BASIX) 2004 

Consistent – this Planning Proposal does not contain 
provisions that contradict or would hinder application 
of this SEPP. 

SEPP Exempt and Complying 
Development 

Consistent – this Planning Proposal does not contain 
provisions that contradict or would hinder application 
of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Housing for Seniors or People 
with a Disability) 2004 

Consistent – this Planning Proposal does not contain 
provisions that contradict or would hinder application 
of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007 Consistent – this Planning Proposal does not contain 
provisions that contradict or would hinder application 
of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Integration and Repeals) 2016 Not applicable 
 

SEPP (Kosciuszko National Park-Alpine 
Resorts) 2007 

Not applicable 

SEPP (Kurnell Peninsula) 1989 Not applicable 

SEPP (Mining, Petroleum Production 
and Extractive Industries) 2007 

Not applicable 

SEPP (Miscellaneous consent 
provisions) 2007 

Not applicable 

SEPP (Penrith Lakes Scheme) 1989 Not applicable 

SEPP (Rural Lands) 2008 Not applicable 
SEPP (State and Regional Development) 
2011 

Not applicable 

SEPP (State Significant Precincts) 2005 Consistent – this Planning Proposal does not contain 
provisions that contradict or would hinder application 
of this SEPP. 

73



 

 
Page | 28                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

SEPP (Sydney Drinking Water 
Catchment) 2011 

Not applicable 

SEPP (Sydney Region Growth Centres) 
2006 

Not applicable 

SEPP (Three Ports) 2013 Not applicable 
SEPP (Urban Renewal) 2010 Not applicable  
SEPP (Western Sydney Employment 
Area) 2009 

Not applicable 

SEPP (Western Sydney Parklands) 2009 Not applicable 
 

Sydney REP No 5 - (Chatswood Town 
Centre) 

Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 8 (Central Coast Plateau 
Areas) 

Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 9 - Extractive Industry 
(No 2—1995) 

Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 11 - Penrith Lakes 
Scheme 

Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 13 - Mulgoa Valley  Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 16 - Walsh Bay Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 17 - Kurnell Peninsula 
(1989) 

Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 20 - Hawkesbury- 
Nepean River (No 2 - 1997) 

Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 24 - Homebush Bay Area Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 25 - Orchard Hills Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 26 - City West Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 28 – Parramatta Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 29 - Rhodes Peninsula Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 30 - St Mary’s Not applicable 
Sydney REP No 33 - Cooks Cove Not applicable 
Sydney REP (Sydney Harbour 
Catchment) 2005 

Not applicable 

Drinking Water Catchments REP No 1 Not applicable 
Greater Metropolitan REP No 2 - 
Georges River Catchment  

Not applicable 

 

Q6. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable Ministerial Directions (s117 directions)? 

This Planning Proposal has been assessed against each Section 117 direction. Consistency with these 
directions is shown in Table 7 below. 

74



 

 
Page | 29                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

Table 7 Consistency Section 117 Directions 

Direction Consistency 

1.1 Employment and Resources - 
Business and industrial zones 

Consistent 

1.2 Employment and Resources - Rural 
Zones 

Not applicable 

1.3 Employment and Resources - 
Mining, Petroleum Production and 
Extractive Industries 

Not applicable 

1.4 Employment and Resources - 
Oyster Aquaculture 

Not applicable 

1.5 Employment and Resources - Rural 
Lands  

Not applicable 

2.1 Environment and Heritage - 
Environment Protection Zones 

Not applicable 

2.2 Environment and Heritage - Coastal 
Protection  

Not applicable 

2.3 Environment and Heritage - 
Heritage Conservation 

Consistent 

2.4 Environment and Heritage -  
Recreation Vehicle Areas 

Consistent 

2.5 Environment and Heritage -  
Application of E2 and E3 Zones and 
Environmental Overlays in Far North 
Coast LEPs 

Not applicable 

3.1 Housing, Infrastructure and Urban 
Development -  Residential Zones 

Consistent 

3.2 Housing, Infrastructure and Urban 
Development - Caravan Parks and 
Manufactured Home Estates 

Consistent 

3.3 Housing, Infrastructure and Urban 
Development - Home Occupations 

Consistent 

75



 

 
Page | 30                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

3.4 Housing, Infrastructure and Urban 
Development - Integrating Land Use & 
Transport 

Consistent 

3.5 Housing, Infrastructure and Urban 
Development - Development near 
Licensed Aerodromes 

Consistent 

3.6 Housing, Infrastructure and Urban 
Development - Shooting Ranges 

Not applicable 

4.1 Hazard and Risk - Acid Sulfate Soils Consistent 

4.2 Hazard and Risk - Mine Subsidence 
and Unstable Land 

Not applicable 

4.3 Hazard and Risk - Flood Prone Land Consistent 

4.4 Hazard and Risk - Planning for 
Bushfire Protection 

Consistent 

5.1 Regional Planning - Implementation 
of Regional Strategies 

Not applicable 

5.2 Regional Planning - Sydney Drinking 
Water Catchments 

Not applicable 

5.3 Regional Planning - Farmland of 
State and Regional Significance on the 
NSW Far North Coast 
 

Not applicable 

5.4 Regional Planning - Commercial and 
Retail Development along the Pacific 
Highway, North Coast 
 

Not applicable 

5.8 Regional Planning - Second Sydney 
Airport: Badgerys Creek 

Not applicable 

5.9 Regional Planning - North West Rail 
Link Corridor Strategy 

Not applicable 

5.10 Regional Planning - 
Implementation of Regional Plans 

Consistent 

6.1 Local Plan Making - Approval and 
Referral Requirements 

Consistent 

6.2 Local Plan Making - Reserving Land 
for Pubic Purposes 

Consistent 

76



 

 
Page | 31                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

6.3 Local Plan Making - Site Specific 
Provisions 

Consistent 

7.1 Metropolitan Planning - 
Implementation of A Plan for Growing 
Sydney 

Consistent 

7. Metropolitan Planning - 
Implementation of Greater Macarthur 
Land Release Investigation 
 

Not applicable 

 

Section C – Environmental, Social and Economic Impact 
Q7. Is there any likelihood that critical habitat or threatened species, populations or ecological 
communities, or their habitats, will be adversely affected as a result of the proposal? 

It is unlikely that critical habitat or threatened species, populations or ecological communities, or 
their habitats, will be adversely affected as a result of this Planning Proposal.  

Q8. Are there any other likely environmental effects as a result of the planning proposal and how 
are they proposed to be managed? 

It is unlikely that this Planning Proposal would have any adverse environmental effects.  

Q9. Has the planning proposal adequately addressed any social and economic effects? 

Economic impacts of proposed contributions on development viability 

A critical consideration in introducing new contribution requirements in the Sydney LEP 2012 is 
impact on development viability. Where development viability cannot be maintained, development 
will slow down, having a detrimental impact on the wider economy.  

To understand the economic impacts of the proposed affordable housing contributions, the City 
obtained independent economic advice to test identified housing sub-markets in the city. The 
overarching objective of the economic testing was to appreciate the full impacts of implementing 
the additional affordable housing requirements, how the impacts vary over different parts of the city 
and how they may be mitigated.  

Specifically, the economic testing was to: 

• determine the impact on development viability of a range of affordable housing contribution 
rates in areas not currently subject to an affordable housing contribution requirement, taking 
into consideration current contribution requirements that may already apply to the land 
 

• determine the impact on development viability in Green Square if the equivalent monetary 
contribution amount were to increase to align with the equivalent monetary contribution 
amount required in the Southern Employment Lands  
 

• determine the viability of requiring an additional affordable housing contribution on land that has 
increased development potential through a planning proposal process, and recommend standard 

77



 

 
Page | 32                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

rates to apply to the site when a development application is made to take advantage of ‘new’ 
development capacity. 

 
Economic impacts on residual land 

In regards to the residual land contribution requirement being proposed, the economic testing 
undertook generic feasibility testing to examine the likely financial impacts to development 
following the inclusion of additional affordable housing levy requirements. The testing was 
necessarily generalised and does not reflect the individual circumstances of every site within the 
city, however it reflects the economic circumstances of most land.  

The testing found that in the short term the immediate introduction of a contribution requirement 
would likely impact on development viability in all areas of the city, but that there is scope to 
introduce a levy in the medium term where sufficient warning is given to the market. 

Affordable housing contributions are only viable where the prices paid for development sites reflect 
the applicable planning controls and contributions liability. It is therefore imperative for any 
affordable housing contributions to be clearly defined so that the relevant parties are informed at 
the outset and able to make informed decisions at the time of site acquisition.  

This Planning Proposal therefore facilitates a moratorium on contribution rates for a specified 
period. This will facilitate development progression of sites already acquired and allow market 
expectations to adjust prior to the contribution coming into effect. 

Economic impacts on Green Square and Southern Employment Lands 

In regard to the impact of increasing the equivalent monetary contribution amounts in Green Square 
to align with the Southern Employment Lands, economic testing has determined that the increase 
can be tolerated without having any negative impact on development viability.  

The testing recognises the affordable housing levy in Green Square affordable housing scheme was 
established some years ago and does not reflect full development costs today. Inherent in the levy 
composition is the assumption that land will be available. This effectively means it costs less for 
developers to contribute cash rather than in-kind. The contribution rates in the City’s other 
affordable housing schemes are premised on the Sydney median unit price and therefore reflect a 
realistic cost to purchase.  

Economic impacts on Central Sydney 

In regard to the impact of increasing the equivalent monetary contribution amounts in Green Square 
to align with the Southern Employment Lands, economic testing, undertaken in the context of the 
Central Sydney Planning Review, has determined that, where there is sufficient warning provided to 
the market, the levy can be tolerated without having any negative impact on development viability.  

This Planning Proposal therefore allows for the staged introduction of the levy in Central Sydney and 
on residual land. 

Economic impacts on Schedule 7 Planning Proposal land  

In regard to the contribution requirement that would apply to ‘Schedule 7 Planning Proposal land’, 
the economic testing was underpinned by the City’s longstanding practice of capturing a proportion 
of land value uplift for the purposes of public benefit, whether for public domain works, land 
dedication or affordable housing. A commonly accepted benchmark is 50 per cent of any residual 

78



 

 
Page | 33                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

land value gain being directed towards the public benefit. This approach has underpinned the long 
standing Community Infrastructure Floorspace scheme that operates in Green Square, has informed 
a number of planning agreement for public benefit, and is consistent with the City’s Guideline to 
Preparing Site Specific Planning Proposal Requests in the City of Sydney Employment Lands 
Investigation Areas. 

When 50 per cent of the residual land value gain has been determined, it is intended that this be 
directed towards the purpose of affordable rental housing. Where other public benefits are being 
delivered on the site, for example open space, those public benefits would be secured by a VPA with 
the landowner. In establishing the contribution rate for inclusion on the LEP Schedule 7 when the 
LEP Sydney LEP 2012 is being amended, other public benefits being provided, or any State 
Infrastructure contribution requirement that applies to the site, will be considered in establishing an 
appropriate rate. It is noted that in areas where a Special Infrastructure Contribution levy is 
applicable, the rate may be lower than that detailed in the Program to ensure the cumulative 
contributions that leverage value uplift do not exceed the percentage capture amount (50%) or land 
value gain. 

Any site that is detailed on the schedule 7 of the LEPs Sydney LEP 2012 will not be the subject of a 
VPA for affordable housing. All affordable housing requirements pertaining to the site will be 
detailed in the planning controls. 

Current practice is that any other local contributions such as community infrastructure payments or 
Section 7.11 payments (formally known as Section 94 payments) are required on a site by site basis, 
in addition to any affordable housing contribution requirement. This same method will also be used 
for ‘Schedule 7 Planning Proposal land’. The economic advice states that development viability will 
not be affected as the affordable housing contribution will apply only to new floor area achieved in 
the change to planning controls.  

The methodology for establishing the contribution rates included generic feasibility testing to 
examine the quantum of value uplift that could result from a change in density and the potential for 
a proportion of the value uplift to be appropriated to affordable housing outcomes. While highly 
nuanced across sub-markets, it found that 50 per cent of residual land value gain is achieved where: 

• 24 percent of new floor area in the eastern precinct is provided as affordable housing, and  
 

• 12 percent of new floor area in other precincts is provided as affordable housing. 
 
These rates are to apply in addition to any current affordable housing contributions that apply to the 
land.   

It is noted that, because the affordable housing contribution will apply only to new floor area 
achieved in the change to planning controls, development viability will not be affected by the 
requirement. 

As with all contributions, landowner expectations and industry behaviour are expected to adjust 
over time. Implementation that provides clear notice to the market and incorporates a staged 
approach will ensure sufficient and appropriate notice to the market and mitigate any adverse 
impact to future investment. 

To this end, the intention to apply a contribution to Schedule 7 Planning Proposal land is clearly 
articulated in the Program at Appendix A. This will allow prospective landowners and developer to 
‘factor-in’ expected contributions requirements into development decisions.  

79



 

 
Page | 34                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

Economic impacts of the affordability crisis 

Population growth, an awakening to the desirability of inner city living, and high demand for 
investment properties are driving up market residential prices in Central Sydney and surrounds. This 
is making it increasingly difficult for middle and lower income households to afford to rent or buy in 
the inner-city.  

Without provision of more affordable forms of housing, the market can be expected to continue to 
produce housing aimed at households on relatively high incomes with lower income households 
being forced out of the city.  

For a global city, a sustainable and diverse housing supply is fundamental to the cultural and social 
vitality, economic growth, and liveability of the city. This is at the heart of the City of Sydney’s 
Community Strategic Plan – Sustainable Sydney 2030. 

Housing quality and affordability affect the city’s ability to attract and retain global businesses and a 
highly skilled workforce. Where relatively low paid key workers who underpin and enable growth in 
high value sectors cannot access appropriate and affordable housing in the inner-city, they are likely 
to find employment closer to where they live. This can represent a direct risk to productivity in key 
sectors of the economy. 

Encouraging and providing affordable housing is a complex issue requiring a range of planning and 
policy solutions. The community housing sector is central to delivering affordable rental housing, 
and so too is the development sector that creates opportunities for new affordable housing to be 
delivered.  

Social impacts of the affordability crisis 

In the city, climbing housing costs are expected to have an increasingly detrimental impact on its 
socio-economic diversity. Gentrification of inner city neighbourhoods has exacerbated relative 
inequality among those who can and cannot afford housing. There is a growing disconnect between 
affluent households able to afford private market housing and highly socio-economically 
disadvantaged households living in inner city public housing estates.  

The majority of households on very low to moderate incomes who are remaining in the City are 
increasingly now living in social housing or are in the private rental market and in housing stress or 
crisis.  

The issue also has a dimension of generational inequality, as younger people (typically first home 
buyers) are increasingly priced out of the market.  

Affordable housing outcomes 

The number of affordable rental housing dwellings resulting from the proposed affordable housing 
contribution requirements will be determined by: 

• The amount of development that occurs, which is influenced by market conditions; and 

• The approach to using any monetary contributions: whether affordable housing units are built 
by a developer or a community housing provider; the dwelling size and mix; whether they are 
purchased; and how effectively resulting funds and dwellings are leveraged to provide 
additional stock. 

80



 

 
Page | 35                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

The City uses a range of approaches to facilitate affordable housing in the LGA. There are around 
1,400 affordable rental housing dwellings in the LGA that are built, in the development pipeline or 
announced. The estimated affordable housing dwellings currently anticipated in the LGA to be 
provided to 2030 is shown at Table 8. No time frame has been applied to this table, it is based on 
what is known now about affordable housing in the pipeline, and what could be achieved under 
expanded planning controls given a range of assumptions about development in the various 
contribution areas. Estimates for some areas are difficult to establish. 

Table 8: Projected affordable housing dwellings 

 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING SOURCE 

 
NUMBER OF DWELLINGS 

Built as at 30 June 2017 835 

Development pipeline as at 30 June 2017 586 

SUBTOTAL to 2019 1,421 

Sites in Southern Employment Land investigation areas (under the 
Guideline) Unknown 

Sites in B7 Business Park zone (preferential LEP clause) Unknown 

Green Square to Ashmore connector road 300 

Dunning Ave, Rosebery (Southern Employment Land investigation 
areas) 8 

Southern Employment Lands scheme 130 

Ultimo/Pyrmont scheme 35 

Green Square scheme 650 

Central Sydney scheme (proposed) 520 

Residual lands scheme (proposed) 590 

Schedule 7 Planning Proposal land (proposed) Unknown 

TOTAL to 2030 (includes 2019 subtotal) 3,654 

 
Table 8 shows the expansion of the City’s current affordable housing schemes to residual land will 
result in approximately 590 affordable rental housing dwellings in addition to the 1,335 estimated 
under current schemes in Green Square, Ultimo/Pyrmont, the Southern Employment Lands, and the 
proposed Central Sydney scheme. An increase of over 40 per cent.  

To achieve the City’s target for 7.5 per cent of all dwellings to be affordable rental dwellings in 2030, 
approximately 11,000 affordable housing dwellings, out of a total projected 148,000 dwellings are 
required in the LGA. Table 8 shows that if the affordable housing contribution requirements 

81



 

 
Page | 36                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

proposed in Central Sydney and in the residual lands are supported by the State Government, 
approximately 7,350 additional dwellings are needed to achieve the City’s targets. More if they are 
not supported.  

The estimates in Table 8 do not take into account the additional affordable housing outcomes that 
may be achieved as community housing providers leverage properties and ongoing rental streams to 
provide more affordable housing.  

Also not counted in Table 8 total is affordable housing that may result from planning mechanisms 
put in place in the southern employment lands when they were rezoned in 2015. These include the 
preferential zoning approach for affordable housing the B7 Business Park zone, as well as the 
Guideline to Preparing Site Specific Planning Proposal Requests in the City of Sydney Employment 
Lands Investigation Areas. 

Table 8 estimates also exclude affordable housing that may result from the proposed introduction of 
the framework for ‘Schedule 7 Planning Proposal lands’. 

Many planning proposals considered by Council are initiated at the request of landowners who seek 
rezoning or changes to height and/or floor space ratio controls. Planning proposal requests are 
considered on their site-specific planning merit. 

It is not possible to provide projections of floor area that may result from changes to planning 
controls in the future. However, an indication of the potential of the proposed Schedule 7 Planning 
Proposal land framework can be inferred from past planning proposals that have increased floor 
space ratios since the commencement of Sydney LEP 2012. It is estimated that approximately 90 
dwellings may have been facilitated through the LEP if a 12 per cent contribution was applied to new 
floor area. It is noted this is a simple extrapolation and does not consider any other public benefits 
that formed part of these planning proposals.  

Only in conjunction with the planning proposal for 87 Bay Street, Glebe has the City entered into a 
planning agreement for affordable housing since 2012. The City’s ability to facilitate affordable 
housing through the planning framework is impeded by lack of State Government policy direction on 
how it can be achieved. While other public benefits have arisen from planning proposals, there 
would likely have been additional affordable housing outcomes achieved has there been a 
streamlined, State Government endorsed approach available to facilitate it. It is envisaged the 
‘Schedule 7 Planning Proposal land’ framework proposed in this Planning Proposal will facilitate this. 

The City’s targets cannot be achieved through local planning mechanisms alone. While the additional 
affordable housing likely to result from this Planning Proposal is a step in the right direction, it is 
limited in its ability to address the substantial need for affordable housing in the LGA. The active 
intervention of other levels of government is required. 

The City will continue to innovate new planning approaches and advocate to the Federal and State 
governments for more affordable housing to be provided in the LGA.  

Section D – State and Commonwealth Interests 
Q10. Is there adequate public infrastructure for the planning proposal? 

While this Planning Proposal will facilitate more affordable housing, it does not propose an increase 
in density above that which is currently permissible under Sydney LEP 2012. As such, it will not result 
in an increase in residential or worker population greater than that already anticipated and is not 
expected to result in any additional burden on existing public infrastructure. 

82



 

 
Page | 37                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

Ongoing investment in new services and facilities in the city by both the public and private sectors 
will service the growing population.  

Q11. What are the views of state and Commonwealth public authorities consulted in accordance 
with the Gateway determination? 

No objections to the Planning Proposal were raised in the public exhibition by state or 
Commonwealth public authorities.  

The Gateway determination will advise the full list of public authorities to be consulted as part of 
this Planning Proposal process and any views will be included in this Planning Proposal following 
consultation. It is requested that public authority consultation be undertaken concurrently with 
community consultation. 

83



 

 
Page | 38                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

Part 4 Mapping  
This Planning Proposal seeks to amend the Locality and Site Identification map to identify Central 
Sydney and ‘residual land’ as Figure 3 as shown at Appendix F to this Planning Proposal. ‘Residual 
land’ is all land in the city where Council is the consent authority, but that is not in Central Sydney, 
Green Square, Ultimo-Pyrmont or on Southern Employment Lands, as currently identified on the 
Locality and Site Identification map. ‘Central Sydney’ is land identified in Central Sydney on the 
Locality and Site Identification map that is zoned B8 Metropolitan Centre. 

Planning proposal land will be shown on the Locality and Site Identification map when it is listed in 
the schedule in the Sydney LEP 2012. 

  

84



 

 
Page | 39                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

Figure 3 ‘Central Sydney’ and ‘residual land’ to be shown on the Locality and Site Identification map 

 

 

85



 

 
Page | 40                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

Part 5 Community Consultation 
Public consultation will take place in accordance with any Gateway determination made by the 
Minister for Planning, in accordance with Sections 56 and 57 of the Act. 

It is proposed that, at a minimum, this will involve the notification of the public exhibition of this 
Planning Proposal:  

• on the City of Sydney website 
 

• in newspapers that circulate widely in the City of Sydney LGA. 
 

It is requested that this Planning Proposal be publicly exhibited for a period of not less than 28 days 
in accordance with section 5.5.2 of ‘A guide to preparing local environmental plans’.  

It is proposed that exhibition material will be made available on the City of Sydney Website and at 
the following Council locations: 

• Town Hall House, 456 Kent Street, Sydney 
 

• Green Square, 100 Joynton Avenue, Zetland 
 

• Redfern, 158 Redfern St, Redfern 
 

Consultation with relevant NSW agencies and authorities and other relevant organisations will be 
undertaken in accordance with the Gateway Determination. 

The Planning Proposal and draft Program were publicly exhibited in accordance with the Gateway 
and with Sections 56 and 57 of the Act, from 25 June to 23 July 2018. The City sent over 95,000 
letters to property owners to notify them of the public exhibition and the exhibition was also 
advertised in the local newspapers, including Central, Inner West Courier, Wentworth Courier, 
Southern Central, and through the City’s website and the ‘Sydney Your Say’ e-newsletter. 

The City received 80 submissions, including 64 from individuals and 16 from organisations, including, 
community housing providers (CHPs), development groups and peak representative bodies.  

A summary of submissions, and response to issues raised, is provided at Appendix D. 

A schedule of Post-exhibition changes is attached at Appendix E. 

 

 

86



 

 
Page | 41                      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review 
      

Part 6 Project timeline 
The following project timeline will assist with tracking the progress of the planning proposal through 
its various stages of consultation and approval. It is estimated that this amendment to Sydney LEP 
2012 will be completed by January December 20198 as shown in Table 9. 

Table 9 Project timeline 

Stage Anticipated timeframe 

Submit Planning Proposal to Department of Planning and Environment 
seeking a Gateway Determination 

March 2017 

Receive Gateway Determination January 2018 

Satisfy conditions in Gateway Determination and receive updated 
Gateway Determination 

May/June 2018 

Public exhibition and public authority consultation of Planning Proposal, 
and draft Affordable Housing Program  

July 2018 

Review of submissions received during public exhibition and public 
authority consultation 

 August/September 
2018 

Council and Central Sydney Planning Committee approval of Planning 
Proposal and draft Affordable Housing Program  

November September 
2018 

Drafting of instrument and finalisation of mapping December October-
November 2018  

Amendment to Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 legally drafted 
and made 

January 2019 
December 2018 

 
 

87



Attachment B  

Resolutions of Council and Central Sydney 

Planning Committee 

88



Resolution of CouncilResolution of Council

27 MARCH 2017 

ITEM 9.5 

AFFORDABLE RENTAL HOUSING REVIEW – PUBLIC EXHIBITION – PLANNING 
PROPOSAL AND AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROGRAM 

(X008764) 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council approve Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review, shown at 
Attachment A to the subject report, for submission to the Greater Sydney 
Commission with a request for a Gateway Determination; 

(B) Council approve Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review for public 
authority consultation and public exhibition in accordance with any conditions 
required in the Gateway Determination; 

(C) Council seek authority from the Greater Sydney Commission to exercise its 
delegation under section 59 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 
1979 to make the amending local environmental plan; 

(D) Council approve Draft City of Sydney Affordable Housing Program, shown at 
Appendix A of Attachment A to the subject report, for public exhibition with the 
Planning Proposal and in accordance with the Gateway Determination;  

(E) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make minor changes, 
including any changes required by the Greater Sydney Commission as a 
condition of the Gateway Determination to the Planning Proposal: Affordable 
Housing Review and Draft City of Sydney Affordable Housing Program to 
prepare them for public exhibition; and 

(F) Council note that, following consideration of any submissions, and any 
modifications as necessary, Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review and 
Draft City of Sydney Affordable Housing Program will be reported back to Council 
for final approval. 

Carried unanimously. 

 

89



Resolution of

Central Sydney Planning Committee

Resolution of

Central Sydney Planning Committee

23 MARCH 2017 

ITEM 11 

AFFORDABLE RENTAL HOUSING REVIEW – PUBLIC EXHIBITION – PLANNING 
PROPOSAL AND AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROGRAM  

(X008764) 

Moved by Mr Webster, seconded by Councillor Thalis - 

It is resolved that: 

(A) the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve Planning Proposal: Affordable 
Housing Review, shown at Attachment A to the subject report, for submission to 
the Greater Sydney Commission with a request for a Gateway Determination; 

(B) the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve Planning Proposal: Affordable 
Housing Review for public authority consultation and public exhibition in 
accordance with any conditions required in the Gateway Determination; 

(C) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the recommendation to Council’s 
Planning and Development Committee on 20 March 2017 that Council seek 
authority from the Greater Sydney Commission to exercise its delegation under 
section 59 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 to make the 
amending local environmental plan; 

(D) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the recommendation to Council’s 
Planning and Development Committee on 20 March 2017 that Council approve 
Draft City of Sydney Affordable Housing Program, shown at Appendix A of 
Attachment A to the subject report, for public exhibition with the Planning 
Proposal and in accordance with the Gateway Determination;  

(E) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make minor changes, 
including any changes required by the Greater Sydney Commission as a 
condition of the Gateway Determination to the Planning Proposal: Affordable 
Housing Review and Draft City of Sydney Affordable Housing Program to 
prepare them for public exhibition; and 

90



2 

(F) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note that, following consideration of any 
submissions, and any modifications as necessary, Planning Proposal: Affordable 
Housing Review and Draft City of Sydney Affordable Housing Program will be 
reported back to Council and the Central Sydney Planning Committee for final 
approval. 

Carried. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

91



Attachment C  

Gateway Determination 

92



93



94



95



96



97



Attachment D 

Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing 
Review – Green Square Town Centre

98



 
 

 
PLANNING PROPOSAL 
Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

99



 
 

Table of Contents 
 

Introduction ............................................................................................................................................ 1 

Planning for affordable housing.............................................................................................................. 1 

Affordable housing in the City of Sydney................................................................................................ 3 

Planning Proposal aims ........................................................................................................................... 4 

City of Sydney Affordable Housing Program ........................................................................................... 4 

Part 1 Objectives ............................................................................................................................... 6 

Part 2 Explanation of Provisions ....................................................................................................... 7 

2.1 Town Centre LEPs.................................................................................................................... 7 

2.1.1 A framework for Planning Proposal land ............................................................................ 7 

2.1.2 Minimum size of dedicated affordable housing dwellings ................................................. 8 

2.1.3 Improving the interpretation and application of current Clauses ...................................... 8 

2.2 City of Sydney Affordable Housing Program ........................................................................... 9 

2.2.1 Affordable housing principles ............................................................................................. 9 

2.2.2 Determining the appropriate contribution rate for Planning Proposal land .................... 10 

2.2.3 Affordable housing dwelling requirements ...................................................................... 11 

2.2.4 Equivalent monetary contribution amounts .................................................................... 12 

2.2.5 Increasing contribution rates in Green Square ................................................................. 12 

2.2.6 Calculating the equivalent monetary contribution payable ............................................. 13 

2.2.7 How are monetary contributions paid and who are they allocated to? .......................... 14 

2.2.8 How are dedicated affordable housing dwellings to be allocated?.................................. 14 

2.2.9 Development that may not be required to make a contribution ..................................... 15 

2.2.10 Indexing contributions .................................................................................................. 15 

2.2.11 When is a contribution to be paid? .............................................................................. 15 

2.2.12 Where a previous contribution to affordable housing has been paid .......................... 16 

2.2.13 Adding a recommended community housing provider ................................................ 16 

Part 3 Justification ........................................................................................................................... 18 

Section A – Need for The Planning Proposal ........................................................................................ 18 

Section B – Relationship to Strategic Planning Framework .................................................................. 19 

Section C – Environmental, Social and Economic Impact ..................................................................... 26 

Section D – State and Commonwealth Interests .................................................................................. 31 

Part 4 Mapping ................................................................................................................................ 32 

Part 5 Community Consultation ..................................................................................................... 33 

Part 6 Project timeline .................................................................................................................... 34 

100



 

 
Page | 1      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

Introduction  
This Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review - Green Square Town Centre (this Planning 
Proposal) follows a review of affordable housing needs and supply in the City of Sydney local 
government area (LGA). It proposes a number of changes to the current affordable housing 
provisions in the Sydney Local Environmental Plan (Green Square Town Centre) 2013 and Sydney 
Local Environmental Plan (Green Square Town Centre—Stage 2) 2013 (Town Centre LEPs). The land 
to which this Planning Proposal applies is shown at Figure 1. 

A key objective of this Planning Proposal is to integrate the Green Square LEPs into the provisions of 
Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review (original Planning Proposal), that was approved by 
Council on XX XX XXXX. This Planning Proposal is to correct an error in the original Planning Proposal, 
that inadvertently excluded the proposed new planning controls and Program from areas to which 
the Town Centre LEPs apply. 

The original Planning Proposal, and this Planning Proposal, is to increase the amount of affordable 
housing in the city to achieve the City’s Sustainable Sydney 2030 affordable housing targets. It 
provides a comprehensive and transparent framework for the application of affordable housing 
contributions when land is being developed.  

This Planning Proposal is informed by the Eastern City District Plan (district plan), released by the 
Greater Sydney Commission in March 2018, which includes targets and actions for the provision of 
affordable housing through the planning framework. 

This Planning Proposal has been prepared in accordance with section 55 of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (the Act) and the relevant Department of Planning and 
Environment (DPE) Guidelines including ‘A Guide to Preparing Local Environmental Plans’ and ‘A 
Guide to Preparing Planning Proposals’. 

Planning for affordable housing  
Sydney remains Australia’s least affordable city. It is widely acknowledged that development has not 
kept pace with demand, contributing to a tight rental market and rising house prices. The high cost 
of housing is an important economic and social issue in Sydney, particularly in the Sydney LGA where 
housing prices are amongst the highest in Australia. 

The Metropolis of Three Cities: Greater Sydney Region Plan 2018 (region plan) and district plan were 
released by the Greater Sydney Commission in March 2018. The Plans establish affordable housing 
targets and require councils to prepare a Housing Strategy that, amongst other things, provides a 
planning pathway for achieving the targets. 

The region plan establishes an affordable housing target of five to 10 per cent of new residential 
floor area, subject to viability. The target is aimed at housing those most in need, specifically very 
low and low income households. The plan requires councils to develop local housing strategies to 
address the range of housing needs in their local areas, including affordable housing. 

Sustainable Sydney 2030 establishes an ambitious target that in 2030, 7.5 per cent of housing will be 
social housing and 7.5 per cent of housing will be affordable rental housing. Achieving this target 
requires approximately 11,000 affordable housing dwellings, out of a total projected 148,000 
dwellings, to be provided in the LGA to 2030. 

The City’s Affordable Rental Housing Strategy 2009-2014, which supports the implementation of 
Sustainable Sydney 2030, identifies a range of strategies to increase the quantum of affordable 
housing in the LGA, including the extension of contribution schemes across the LGA. 

101

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/#/view/EPI/2013/541
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/#/view/EPI/2013/525
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/#/view/EPI/2013/525


 

 
Page | 2      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

Figure 1 Land to which this Planning Proposal applies 

 
 

102



 

 
Page | 3      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

In 2015 the City released its Housing Issues Paper for consultation with the community. The key 
issue emerging from the paper is one of housing affordability in the inner-city and the critical need 
to provide a range of affordable housing options for very low to moderate income households. The 
City is currently developing its housing strategy to, amongst other things, address these issues.  

Affordable housing in the City of Sydney 
Three affordable housing ‘schemes’ currently operate in the LGA, including at: 

• Ultimo/Pyrmont, introduced in 1996, which requires that 0.8 per cent of residential floor area 
and 1.1 per cent of commercial floor area be provided as affordable housing 
 

• Green Square, introduced in 1999, which requires that three per cent of residential floor area and 
one per cent of commercial floor area be provided as affordable housing, and  
 

• Southern Employment Lands, introduced in 2015, which requires that three per cent of 
residential floor area and one per cent of commercial floor area be provided as affordable 
housing. 
 

A fourth affordable housing scheme was proposed in Central Sydney as part of the Central Sydney 
Planning Review and was approved by Council in July 2016.  Pursuant to the direction of the 
Gateway Determination issued by the NSW Department of Planning and Environment on 10 January 
2018, the draft Central Sydney affordable housing scheme (draft Central Sydney scheme)  has now 
been incorporated into this planning proposal. The draft Central Sydney scheme is discussed later in 
this planning proposal. 

The affordable housing contribution required under these schemes can be satisfied either by in-kind 
dedication of finished affordable housing dwellings or by making an equivalent monetary 
contribution, the amounts for which are set out in the respective affordable housing programs of 
each scheme.  

Together the schemes in operation have resulted in 835 affordable rental dwellings for very low to 
moderate income households in the LGA. A further 586 dwellings are in the development pipeline 
and expected to be built by 2019.  

These dwellings have been built and are managed by City West Housing, who is the sole beneficiary 
of monetary contributions made under the Green Square and Ultimo/Pyrmont schemes. In the 
Southern Employment Lands, where the contribution requirement is relatively new and has not as 
yet resulted in any affordable housing, contributions are to be shared amongst multiple community 
housing providers.    

The City also uses other approaches to increase the amount of affordable housing where 
opportunities arise. Some examples include: 

• in 2009 the City entered into a planning agreement for the dedication of land for affordable 
housing at Harold Park. The land was purchased by City West Housing, partly using funds raised 
from the Ultimo/Pyrmont contribution scheme, and is currently being developed for 78 
affordable housing dwellings 
 

• in 2010 the City sought expressions of interest for the sale of land for affordable housing at 
Portman Street, Zetland. The land was purchased by City West Housing, partly using funds raised 
from the Green Square contribution scheme, and developed for 104 affordable housing dwellings 
 

103



 

 
Page | 4      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

• in 2013 the City entered into a planning agreement for affordable housing to be provided in 
conjunction with the redevelopment of 87 Bay Street, Glebe. The approved development 
application is for 207 residential apartments, including 19 affordable housing units 
 

• in the review of planning controls in the City’s Southern Employment Lands, an LEP clause was 
applied to land rezoned from IN1 or IN2 Industrial to B7 Business Park to permit affordable 
housing, but not market housing. The approach creates a commercial advantage for community 
housing providers to purchase land in the zone, given they do not compete for the same land 
with other residential developers 
 

• in July 2015 Council approved a masterplan for the development of Council-owned sites in the B7 
Business Park zone along the Green Square to Ashmore connector road, formerly known as the 
Green Square east-west relief route. Sites are to be sold to the community housing sector for the 
development of an estimated 300 affordable housing dwellings, and 
 

• in 2015 the City adopted the Guideline to Preparing Site Specific Planning Proposal Requests in 
the City of Sydney Employment Lands Investigation Areas. The Guideline provides a framework 
for sharing the residual land value increase resulting from changes to planning controls, with 50 
per cent of the increase being returned to the area with the provision of infrastructure, in 
particular affordable housing. The first planning proposal under the Guideline was reported to 
Council in February 2017 together with a planning agreement for the provision of affordable 
housing in accordance with the Guideline.  

 
Achieving the City’s affordable housing targets requires a multi-pronged approach. However, the 
planning mechanisms and policies used by the City to facilitate affordable housing have been 
developed over 20 years and have led to inconsistent administrative processes and procedures. This 
Planning Proposal will support the improvement of these processes and procedures. 
 
This Planning Proposal seeks to provide clarity of the City’s expectations for affordable housing when 
land is being developed, as well as streamline the City’s current processes and practices to facilitate 
affordable housing.   

 
Planning Proposal aims 
This Planning Proposal seeks amendment to the Town Centre LEPs to: 

• provide a framework to identify ‘Planning Proposal land’, being land that will benefit from 
increased development capacity through a site-specific planning proposal to change the planning 
controls, and require a supplementary affordable housing contribution;  
 

• improve the interpretation and application of Clause 7.13;  
 
• reduce the minimum size of any affordable housing dwelling to be dedicated to Council to 35 

square metres in line with the Apartment Design Guideline dwelling size minimums. Also to 
introduce a maximum dwelling size of 90 square metres to ensure affordable housing floor area 
resulting from contribution schemes is used efficiently and to the benefit of as many people as 
possible; and 
 

• refer to a new ‘City of Sydney Affordable Housing Program’, as dated. 
 
City of Sydney Affordable Housing Program  

104



 

 
Page | 5      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

The Town Centre LEPs allow for landowners and developers to satisfy an affordable housing 
contribution requirement by making:  

• an in-kind contribution of finished affordable housing dwellings, or 
 

• an equivalent monetary contribution payment.  
 

The proposed operational detail for the collection and distribution of affordable housing 
contributions are contained within the City of Sydney affordable housing program (Program), 
provided at Appendix A. The Program generally replaces the current Green Square Program. 

The content and implications of the Program are discussed in detail in Part 2 of this Planning 
Proposal. 

 
 
  

105



 

 
Page | 6      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

Part 1 Objectives  
The objectives of this Planning Proposal are to: 

• integrate the Green Square LEPs into the provisions of Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing 
Review (original Planning Proposal), that was approved by Council on XX XX XXXX; 
 

• provide a transparent framework for development to make equitable affordable housing 
contributions; 
 

• give effect to the intent of the region plan and the district plan to provide affordable housing on 
land where there is an increase in floor area, where need for affordable housing is identified and 
where development viability can be maintained; 
 

• increase the amount of affordable housing in the LGA to achieve the City’s affordable housing 
targets in Sustainable Sydney 2030; 
 

• ensure affordable housing contribution rates do not impact on development viability; 
 

• increase certainty for landowners and developers seeking to develop land in the LGA; and  
 

• align, streamline and simplify exiting affordable housing schemes that operate in the LGA. 

106



 

 
Page | 7      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

Part 2 Explanation of Provisions 

2.1 Town Centre LEPs 
To achieve the intended outcomes, this Planning Proposal seeks to amend Town Centre LEPs in the 
manner described below. Detailed drafting instructions and recommended wording are provided at 
Appendix B. 

2.1.1 A framework for Planning Proposal land 

It is proposed the Town Centre LEPs be amended to provide a framework to identify sites that will 
benefit from increased development capacity through a site-specific planning proposal process, and 
where a supplementary affordable housing contribution on that land has been identified.  

To achieve this, the Town Centre LEPs are to be amended to include a new schedule for the 
identification of sites as ‘Planning Proposal land’. ‘Planning Proposal land’ is also to be identified on 
the Locality and Site Identification Map in the LEP at the point of making the new planning controls. 

This gives effect to the intent of the district plan to provide affordable housing where there is an 
increase in development capacity on land, where need for affordable housing is identified and where 
development viability can be maintained.  

The contribution requirement will only apply to the new development capacity that is facilitated by 
the site specific planning proposal. It does not apply to any existing development capacity and 
therefore does not replace any current affordable housing contribution requirement that may 
already apply to the land under the Town Centre LEPs.  

The schedule may specify how the affordable housing contribution is to be satisfied, being by either:  

• an in-kind dedication to Council of finished affordable rental housing dwellings in the 
development, or 
 

• an equivalent monetary contribution payment to be passed to a community housing provider to 
build, own and manage affordable rental housing. 
 

The Program, provided at Appendix A and discussed later in this Planning Proposal, provides the 
operational detail for the scheme and the approach for establishing an appropriate contribution 
rate. 

Once the land is identified on the schedule, the contribution requirement is calculated at the 
development application stage and will be applied under Section 7.32 of the Act as a condition of 
consent. This is the same way the contribution requirement is currently applied in Green Square, 
Southern Employment Lands and Ultimo/Pyrmont.  

The benefits of the proposed approach are: 

• it will facilitate the practical implementation of the district plan into the local planning 
framework;  
 

• contribution rates have been tested with reference to the various housing sub-markets in the 
LGA to ensure that development viability is not adversely affected, thus removing the need to 
undertake costly and time consuming site-by-site analysis to establish development viability. This 

107



 

 
Page | 8      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

approach is consistent with the district plan which requires development feasibility be tested at a 
precinct scale; 
 

• the contribution requirement will be established at the point of changing the planning controls. 
This will allow the contribution requirement to be factored into the cost of development, 
improving certainty for the landowner and for the City;  
 

• a thorough assessment of the merits of a planning proposal establishes the appropriate building 
envelopes and infrastructure needs. The contribution is factored in at that time. This provides 
certainty to the community and does not rely on inappropriate ‘bonus’ development capacity, 
above what might otherwise be permitted under the Town Centre LEPs, to achieve infrastructure 
delivery; and 
 

• it will provide a clear and consistent approach to securing contributions to affordable housing 
where there is an increase in development capacity. This increases certainty for land owners and 
developers and ensures equity in the application of contribution requirements.  

 
A further benefit of the framework is in its administrative simplicity and reduced planning proposal 
assessment timeframes. One of the biggest challenges to securing affordable housing through a site-
specific planning proposal is the resources and knowledge required to negotiate a ‘viable’ outcome 
where changes are being made to planning controls. This is further complicated by the need to 
prepare what is often a complex planning agreement. This Planning Proposal provides a framework 
to establish a consistent approach to setting appropriate contribution requirements. 

By detailing the contribution requirement in the Town Centre LEPs, the need for a planning 
agreement at the planning proposal stage is removed and instead those requirements for affordable 
housing outcomes are detailed in the Program.  

2.1.2 Minimum size of dedicated affordable housing dwellings  

It is proposed the minimum size of any affordable housing dwelling to be dedicated to Council be 
reduced to 35 square metres and a maximum dwelling size of 90 square metres be introduced. 
Currently the Town Centre LEPs require any dedicated dwelling be no less than 50 square metres but 
does not specify a maximum.  

The intent of the amendment is to reflect minimum studio dwelling size under the Apartment Design 
Guideline. The maximum is proposed to ensure the affordable housing floor area resulting from the 
contribution scheme can accommodate families with children, but is also used efficiently and to the 
benefit of as many people as possible. 

2.1.3 Improving the interpretation and application of current Clauses 

It is proposed to amend the Town Centre LEPs to clarify what development is excluded from a 
requirement to make an affordable housing contribution. 

Currently the Town Centre LEPs excludes development where it will result in the creation of less 
than 200 square metres and 60 square metres of residential and commercial floor area respectively. 
The intent of this exclusion is to enable minor additions to a development without attracting an 
affordable housing contribution.  

However, as currently worded, the interpretation is that it also excludes development where a 
substantial change of use is being achieved, for example where a warehouse building is being 

108



 

 
Page | 9      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

refurbished for residential development, but no new floor area is being created. It also excludes 
substantial refurbishment. 

This is unintentionally contrary to the rationale for applying an affordable housing contribution in 
areas that have benefited from an earlier rezoning, including Green Square.  

Amending the current clauses clarifies when an affordable housing contribution is required. An 
affordable housing contribution will have to be made depending on location, cost of works and if 
development involves a change of use, alterations and additions or a new build.   

The proposed clauses in Town Centre LEPs are also intended to ensure the Program is directly 
referred to as the guiding document for the ongoing application of the LEP requirements and the 
administration of the Program. Current clauses only refer to the Program with regards to it setting 
equivalent monetary contribution amounts. This has left some ambiguity about the legal weight that 
should be granted the Program. 

Drafting instructions and suggested wording is provided at Appendix B. 

2.2 City of Sydney Affordable Housing Program 
The Town Centre LEPs allow for landowners and developers to satisfy an affordable housing 
contribution requirement by making:  

• an in-kind contribution of finished affordable housing dwellings, or 
 

• an equivalent monetary contribution payment.  
 

The Program, provided at Appendix A, is for adoption by Council, with the provisions of the Town 
Centre LEPs referring to it to provide the operational detail for the collection and distribution of 
affordable housing contributions. It is attached to this Planning Proposal and described in more 
detail below for contextual informational purposes only. 

The Program replaces the current Green Square program.  

The key elements of the Program are described below. It is noted that in some cases they are an 
extension of requirements or practices under current affordable housing programs, and in others 
they are new requirements.  

2.2.1 Affordable housing principles 

The Program includes ‘affordable housing principles’ that provide overarching guidance to the 
operation of the contribution scheme.  While generally remaining unchanged, the principles in the 
Program make some amendment to those under the current Green Square program. These changes 
are largely to align the wording. 

The most significant proposed change to the principles is it will allow all affordable housing 
contributions to be spent anywhere in the LGA. Currently in Green Square where the currently 
expenditure of funds collected in Green Square is to be spent in the Green Square renewal area.  

This change in approach is made at the request of City West Housing, who is the only community 
housing provider listed in the Green Square program to receive affordable housing contributions 
collected in Green Square. The request is provided at Appendix C. The reason given by City West 

109



 

 
Page | 10      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

Housing for the request is that it is increasingly difficult to secure land within the LGA and that the 
limitations placed on where the contributions can be spent only makes it more difficult. 

The City recommends the request be supported. Allowing funds to be spent elsewhere in the LGA 
will not impact on the broader objectives of the Green Square scheme. 

2.2.2 Determining the appropriate contribution rate for Planning Proposal land 

Section 2.1.2 of this Planning Proposal describes the proposed framework to identify ‘Planning 
Proposal land’ on a new schedule in the Town Centre LEPs and to require an affordable housing 
contribution on that land commensurate with any increase in development capacity. 

The Program provides in its appendices a standardised approach to establishing the contribution 
rate that will be applied to Planning Proposal land in the Town Centre LEPs where there is an 
increase in development capacity on the land. 

The contribution rate will apply only to the new floor area. Any other affordable housing 
contribution rate that applies under the Town Centre LEPs applies to the floor area that is in 
existence prior to the change to the planning controls. 

The contribution rate will be applied only to the additional floor area facilitated by a planning 
proposal. It will not apply to floor area potential that already existed under the Town Centre LEPs. 

The proposed contribution rate from 1 March 2017 to 28 February 2018 is shown at Table 2 below. 

Table 2 Proposed contribution rates on Planning Proposal land 
where there is an increase in floor space ratio 

Precinct Proportion of additional floor area 
to be used for affordable housing 

West precinct 
 

12% 

South precinct  
 

12% 

Eastern precinct 
 

24%  
 

Precincts are consistent with those in the City’s development contributions plan 2015. 

The above contribution rates are applicable only where the site-specific planning proposal is for floor 
space ratio increase on land. They are not applicable where other changes to planning controls are 
being made, for example where land is being rezoned or where there is significant increase in height. 
The financial benefit associated with increased building heights is more difficult to quantify.  

Different sites have different ability to capture views and vistas, the value associated with increased 
height is highly sensitive to topography, position of the site and surrounding development. While 
generic rates could be set to capture some of the value created by additional height, owing to the 
different site drivers and circumstances, there could still be wide variances between sites. Where 
this is the case a site-specific analysis will be required to determine an appropriate contribution rate. 

It is noted the Program provides only guidance on how a contribution rate should be established. 
The described approach is not binding on Council who may apply a different rate depending on the 
particulars of the planning proposal under consideration. For example, where it is a superior 
outcome, and where a landowner/developer has made an offer to enter into a planning agreement 

110



 

 
Page | 11      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

to provide affordable housing or other public benefit, the site may not be listed as Planning Proposal 
land. For example, where the landowner offers to dedicate land for an affordable housing purpose, 
rather than make a contribution under the Town Centre LEPs.  

The contribution rates have been tested to ensure development viability is not negatively impacted. 
The outcomes of the testing are discussed in detail at Part 3, Section C of this Planning Proposal.  

Contribution rates are to be reviewed annually to ensure they continue to align with market 
realities.  

2.2.3 Affordable housing dwelling requirements 

The Program provides the requirements for any affordable housing dwellings that are to be 
dedicated. Some changes and additions are proposed to requirements that currently apply under 
Green Square Program. 

The requirements are to ensure the dwellings are appropriate for purpose and that they align with 
the affordable housing principles in the Program and in State Environmental Planning Policy No 70—
Affordable Housing (Revised Schemes) (SEPP 70). The requirements are: 

• affordable rental dwellings are to be owned by government or a recommended or eligible 
community housing provider; 
 

• affordable rental dwellings are provided in the LGA in perpetuity; 
 

• affordable rental dwellings are to be rented to very low, low and moderate income households 
for an absolute maximum of 30 per cent of gross household income; 
 

• where more than 10 affordable rental dwellings are being provided in the development, at least 
25 per cent of dwellings are to be allocated to very low income households and 25 per cent of 
dwellings to low income households; 
 

• all rent received from the affordable rental dwellings after deduction of management and 
maintenance costs are to be used only for the purpose of improving, replacing, maintaining or 
providing additional affordable rental housing. This includes the investment of monies to meet 
cyclical maintenance costs and all rates and taxes payable in connection with the dwelling; 
 

• affordable rental dwellings are to be designed and constructed to a standard which, in the 
opinion of council, is generally consistent with other dwellings in the LGA, that is, they are not 
differentiated as affordable housing compared with the design of other housing; 
 

• each affordable rental dwelling is to have a total floor area of not less than 35 square metres or 
not more than 90 square metres, with any remainder being paid as a monetary contribution; and 
 

• where multiple affordable rental dwellings are provided in the development, the amenity 
benchmarks established by the Apartment Design Guide are to be generally achieved. For 
example, 70% of the affordable housing dwellings should achieve adequate solar access. This is to 
ensure the least amenable units in any development are not all selected as the affordable rental 
dwellings to be dedicated to Council. 
 

The location, size and quality of affordable housing dwellings are to be to the satisfaction of Council 
and the receiving community housing provider. If not, Council may require changes to the 

111



 

 
Page | 12      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

development application, or that the contribution be made by way of an equivalent monetary 
contribution.  

2.2.4 Equivalent monetary contribution amounts  

The Program states the equivalent monetary contribution amount payable to Council in-lieu of any 
dedication of floor area for affordable housing. 

In practice the affordable contribution requirement under current affordable housing programs in 
Green Square and Ultimo/Pyrmont have been satisfied by making monetary contribution. Funds are 
then passed to a community housing provider to build and manage affordable housing. 

In the Southern Employment Lands, Central Sydney, on residual land, and on Planning Proposal land, 
the Program states the equivalent monetary contribution amount for the period of 1 March 2018 to 
28 February 2019 is $10,588.00 per square metre. 

In Green Square, the current Green Square Program rate of $8,163.00 per square metre (adjusted 
from the 1 March 2018 to 28 February 2019 period) will continue to apply until 29 February 2020. 
From 1 March 2020 the rate of $10,588.00 per square metre (adjusted from the 1 March 2018 to 28 
February 2019 period) will apply. 

The rates quoted above are expressed differently to how they are expressed in the current Green 
Square and the Southern Employment Lands programs, but does not affect the total amount the 
landowner or developer would be required to contribute. The change is explained later in this 
Planning Proposal. 

In Green Square, the Southern Employment Lands, Central Sydney and on residual land, the 
equivalent monetary contribution amount is calculated on the ‘total floor area’ to which the 
development application directly applies. The calculation of total floor area is defined by the Town 
Centre LEPs. This is consistent with current practice. 

On Planning Proposal land, the equivalent monetary contribution amount is to be calculated on the 
additional development capacity facilitated by a site-specific planning proposal.  

2.2.5 Increasing contribution rates in Green Square 

In Green Square, the Program proposes an increase to the equivalent monetary contribution 
amount. The proposed increase for the current period is shown at Table 3 below. 

Table 3 Proposed increase of equivalent monetary contribuiton amount 

 Current Green 
Square Program  

Program 

Equivalent contribution amount for 3% of 
residential total floor area 

$244.99 $317.65 

Equivalent contribution amount for 1% of 
non-residential total floor area 

$81.63 $105.88 

 

As discussed above, the current Green Square Program rates will continue to apply until 29 February 
2020 to allow the market to adjust to the increase. 

112



 

 
Page | 13      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

The new amount aligns with the Southern Employment Lands and the amounts originally proposed 
in the Central Sydney program and it more accurately reflects the full cost of delivering a square 
metre of affordable housing in the City of Sydney. It is based on the median strata dwelling price in 
the Sydney LGA and assumes that if a community housing provider is unable to purchase land in the 
LGA to develop affordable housing, a suitable dwelling could be purchased on the private housing 
market. 

Economic testing of the impact of increasing the equivalent monetary contribution amounts in 
Green Square indicated the market can tolerate the increase without having any negative impact on 
development viability.  

The economic testing recognises the affordable housing levy in Green Square affordable housing 
scheme was established in 1999 and does not reflect full development costs today. Inherent in the 
levy composition is the assumption that land will be available. This effectively means it is ‘cheaper’ 
for developers to contribute cash rather than in-kind. The contribution rates in the City’s other 
affordable housing schemes are premised on the Sydney median unit price and therefore reflect a 
realistic cost to purchase.  

2.2.6 Calculating the equivalent monetary contribution payable 

The equivalent monetary contribution amount in the Program is expressed differently than in 
current programs. However, this does not change the resulting contribution amount.  

Under current schemes the monetary contribution amount is expressed as a dollar amount per 
square metre of all the total floor area build on the site. The Program calculates the contribution as a 
dollar amount per square metre of applicable floor area.  

For example, a contribution for a new 5,000 square metres commercial development would be 
calculated as shown in Table 4 below. 

Table 4 Calculating a contribution under the Program – non-residential 

 As calculated under current 
schemes 

As calculated under this 
Program 

Total monetary 
amount 

5,000 * $105.88 = 

$529,400 

1% * 5,000 * $10,588 = 

$529,400 

 

A contribution for a new 5,000 square metre residential development in the Southern Employment 
Lands would be calculated as shown in Table 5 below. 

Table 5 Calculating a contribution under the Program – residential 

 As calculated under current 
schemes 

As calculated under this 
Program 

Total monetary 
amount 

5,000 * $317.65 = 

$1,588,250 

3% * 5,000 * $10,588 = 

$1,588,200 

 

The change in approach is because: 

113



 

 
Page | 14      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

• under current affordable housing programs the equivalent monetary contribution amounts 
specified are for three percent and one percent contribution rate in the Town Centre LEPs. The 
new approach in the Program allows for a total monetary amount to be calculated irrespective of 
the contribution rate in the Town Centre LEPs, and  
 

• the proposed approach in the Program will substantially simplify calculation of contribution 
requirements where a landowner opts to satisfy a contribution partly as dwellings and partly as 
monetary contribution. For example, under the current Green Square program, if the landowner 
was required to dedicate three percent of a 10,000 square metre residential development for 
affordable housing (being 300 square metres), but the amount of floor area identified as 
affordable housing on the plan amounts to only 260 square metres, then establishing the 
monetary contribution required for the difference is mathematically complex and potentially 
confusing for applicants and assessing planners.   

2.2.7 How are monetary contributions paid and who are they allocated to? 

The Program includes requirements for how affordable housing contributions collected are to be 
allocated to a community housing provider and used.  

Currently contributions collected in the Southern Employment Lands are paid to the City and passed 
to the NSW Department of Families and Community Services who are responsible for distributing 
funds to Tier 1 and Tier 2 community housing providers to build and manage affordable housing in 
the LGA. This approach is to be retained in the Program for money collected in the Southern 
Employment Lands. 

Currently contributions collected in Green Square and Ultimo/Pyrmont are paid to the Department 
of Planning and Environment and passed to the only recommended community housing provider 
listed in Schedule A of the Green Square program, being City West Housing.  

This approach is broadly retained in the Program, though it is proposed the process for payment be 
simplified by allowing landowners to make payment directly to the City who will then pass the funds 
to the community housing provider. This aligns with how other contribution payments are made, for 
example Section 7.11 payments.  

Further discussions with the Department of Planning and Environment to amend current processes 
for Green Square and Ultimo/Pyrmont will be required.  

For Central Sydney, residual land and Planning Proposal land, the Program proposes funds be paid to 
the City and passed to any recommended provider identified on the Program, currently proposed as 
City West Housing only. 

2.2.8 How are dedicated affordable housing dwellings to be allocated? 

The Town Centre LEPs require that, where the landowner or developer opts to dedicate affordable 
housing dwellings in the development, that they be built and dedicated to Council free of charge. 
Council would then transfer the dwellings to a community housing provider to be owned and 
managed in perpetuity as affordable rental housing for very low to moderate income households.  

The Program proposes that, where the landowner or developer opts to dedicate affordable housing 
dwellings in the development, that Council will transfer the dwelling to a recommended community 
housing provider, as identified on Schedule A of the Program, free of charge. Where any 
recommended community housing provider opts not to receive the dwellings, it will be transferred 
to another registered Tier 1 or Tier 2 community housing provider.  

114



 

 
Page | 15      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

2.2.9 Development that may not be required to make a contribution 

The Town Centre LEPs stipulate what development may be subject to an affordable housing 
contribution.  

The Program provides that Council may consider exempting development from an affordable 
housing contribution requirement if the development is for one or more of the following: 

• Affordable housing, as defined by the Program; 
 

• development that would result in the applicable affordable housing contribution amounting to 
more than 15 per cent of the agreed cost of construction, or where the agreed cost of 
construction is less $100,000; or 
 

• where the change of use is from:  
 

o a commercial use or light industrial use to a general industrial use or heavy industrial use, or 
  

o a general or heavy industrial use to another general industrial use or heavy industrial use. 
 
The intent of allowing for these exemptions is to: 
 
• ensure the contribution requirement does not unreasonably impact on the cost of development, 

and 
 

• ensure industrial uses, that have not benefited from the increased land values in the LGA, are not 
subject to a contribution requirement.  

2.2.10 Indexing contributions 

The Program requires adjustments are made to the equivalent monetary contribution amount 
annually in accordance with movements in the median house price in the LGA, as provided by the 
NSW Government Rent and Sales Report, Table: Sales Price – Greater Metropolitan Region – Strata. 
The City of Sydney’s website will contain the current monetary contribution amounts as indexed. 

While consistent with the current approach in the employment lands, the Program amends the 
approach for Green Square where contribution rates are indexed with reference to the Australian 
Bureau of Statistics Established Housing Price Index (HPI).  

The purpose of the change in approach in Green Square is that movements in median housing prices 
more accurately reflect movements in housing costs in the LGA. The HPI provides movements 
Sydney-wide.  

2.2.11 When is a contribution to be paid? 

The Program requires that payment of any monetary contribution amount required by a condition of 
consent be made prior to issue of a construction certificate.   

While consistent with the current approach in the employment lands, the Program amends the 
approach in Green Square where landowners or developers are currently able to provide a bank 
guarantee prior to construction certificate with cash payment required before occupational 
certificate. 

115



 

 
Page | 16      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

Approximately one third of affordable housing contribution payments have been satisfied by bank 
guarantee since 2012. The system is complex to administer, requiring indexing of contribution 
payments prior to occupation certificate.   

The purpose of this change in approach is to:  

• provide equity and align the payment requirements with all other payments that are required, 
such as Section 7.11 payments and  Clause 6.14 – Community Infrastructure floorspace at Green 
Square of the Sydney LEP 2012, all of which are payable prior to issue of construction certificate, 
and 
 

• streamline and simplify the operation and administration of affordable housing contribution 
requirements. 

2.2.12 Where a previous contribution to affordable housing has been paid 

The Program provides that where a contribution has been paid on floor area previously, that it may 
not be required to make an additional contribution in the event of further development, unless: 

• it is being demolished and being replaced with floor space of the same use. In this case, a 
contribution will be applied to all of the total floor area, including the replacement floor area; or     
 

• the previous contribution was for a non-residential purpose and the new total floor area is for a 
residential purpose. In this case the difference in the contribution rates will apply.  

 
This amends the current provision in the Green Square and Southern Employment Lands programs 
that where floor area has been demolished and rebuilt, that a contribution would not apply to any 
existing floor area. The purpose of amending this provision is: 

• it does not reflect the displacement or demand of more affordable housing as floor area is 
redeveloped for higher value accommodation or commercial uses; and 
 

• it does not reflect the need for affordable housing generated by development. 

2.2.13 Adding a recommended community housing provider 

The Program identifies in an attached Schedule the ‘recommended’ community housing providers 
who are the beneficiaries of affordable housing contributions collected in Green Square, Central 
Sydney, residual land and on Planning Proposal land. Currently only City West Housing is identified 
on the Schedule.  

This carries over from the current Green Square program that identifies only City West Housing as 
the recipient of funds under that scheme.  

The Program provides the matters for consideration where an application is made by a community 
housing provider, which is registered under the National Regulatory Code as Tier 1 or Tier 2 provider, 
to be added to the Schedule. Considerations include: 

• any potential impacts of adding a community housing provider on the outcomes of the schemes, 
for example, whether adding a provider would likely increase or decrease the number of 
affordable housing units resulting from the scheme; 
 

• any consultation with the NSW Department of Families and Community Services; and 

116



 

 
Page | 17      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

 
• the impact on the programming and business planning of community housing providers already 

listed on the Schedule. 
 

Before adding a community housing provider to the Schedule, the City will be required to develop a 
strategy for how funds are to be divided amongst multiple providers. 

  

117



 

 
Page | 18      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

Part 3 Justification  
Section A – Need for The Planning Proposal 
Q1. Is the planning proposal a result of any strategic study or report? 

There is a clear and critical need to provide affordable housing for low to moderate income 
households in Sydney.  

The need for affordable housing in the city, and the various mechanisms available to local 
government to facilitate it, have been the subject of a range of studies and reports that have 
informed various policies, projects and development decisions made by Council.   

To inform the preparation this Planning Proposal an affordable housing needs analysis was 
undertaken. The findings of the needs analysis are incorporated into the appendices of the Program 
provided at Appendix A.  

In summary, the needs analysis found that housing in the city is now at a considerable premium 
compared to other parts of NSW.  The proportion of housing that is affordable for purchase for very 
low, low and moderate income households is essentially non-existent.  

The LGA median strata dwelling price is now $891,000. By comparison, the Greater Sydney median 
strata dwelling prices in March 2017 are $720,000. An average weekly mortgage payment of $1,048 
is required to buy a moderate income household, based on a 10 per cent deposit, standard stamp 
duty charges built into a 30 year mortgage at a five per cent interest rate.  

Rental costs are equally concerning. The LGA’s median weekly rent in June 2017 for a two-bedroom 
unit is $795 compared with the Greater Sydney and NSW median weekly rents of $540. This 
represents a 30 per cent increase from the $610 median weekly rents in September 2010.  

Based on NSW Family & Community Services – Housing Rent and Sales Report, and published 
2017/2018 household income medians, a 43 per cent reduction in the median strata dwelling price 
or a 25 per cent reduction in average strata rents are required for housing to be considered 
affordable for moderate income households. 

Even allowing for a slowing of the market, the disparity between housing costs in inner Sydney and 
ability of very low to low income households to pay is significant. The need to increase the supply of 
affordable housing for very low to moderate income households is now urgent if very low to 
moderate income households are still to live in the LGA.  

The social and economic impacts of not addressing the need for affordable housing are discussed at 
Part 3, Section C of this Planning Proposal. 

Q2. Is the planning proposal the best means of achieving the objectives or intended outcomes, or is 
there a better way? 

This Planning Proposal is to clarify and streamline current schemes that are in operation under the 
Town Centre LEPs. This Planning Proposal is the only way to achieve this.  

The Act considers the promotion of the social and economic welfare of the community as one of its 
objectives. In 1999 the Act was amended to specifically include the provision and maintenance of 
affordable housing as an Object of the Act.     

118



 

 
Page | 19      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

Section 7.32 of the Act allows for the collection of contributions for affordable housing where a need 
for affordable housing is identified in a planning instrument and where:  

a) the consent authority is satisfied that the proposed development will or is likely to reduce the 
availability of affordable housing within the area, or  

b) the consent authority is satisfied that the proposed development will create a need for 
affordable housing within the area, or 

c) the proposed development is allowed only because of the initial zoning of a site, or the rezoning 
of a site, or 

d) the regulations so provide.1 

SEPP 70 identifies that there is a need for affordable housing in the City of Sydney.  

The various contribution requirements operating in the city achieve the requirements of the Act in 
different ways. These are addressed in full in the needs analysis incorporated into the appendices of 
the Program provided at Appendix A.  

Section B – Relationship to Strategic Planning Framework 
Q3. Is the planning proposal consistent with the objectives and actions of the applicable regional, 
sub-regional or district plan or strategy (including any exhibited draft plans or strategies)? 

A Metropolis of Three Cities – the Greater Sydney Region Plan 

A Metropolis of Three Cities – the Greater Sydney Region Plan is the NSW Government’s overarching 
strategic document for growth and change in Sydney. The 20 year plan with a 40 year vision seeks to 
transform Sydney into a metropolis of three cities being the Western Parkland City, the Central River 
City and the Eastern Harbour City. The City of Sydney LGA is positioned within the Eastern Harbour 
City. 

The plan identifies key challenges facing Sydney including a population increase to eight million by 
2056, 817,000 new jobs by 2036 and a requirement for 725,000 new homes. 

The plan aspires to deliver the following outcomes: 

• liveability – enhancing cultural and housing diversity and designing places for people; 

• productivity – developing a more accessible and walkable city and creating conditions for a 
stronger economy; 

• sustainability – valuing green spaces and landscape, improving efficiency of resources and 
creating a resilient City; and 

• infrastructure – ensuring infrastructure supports new developments and governments, 
community and businesses collaborate to realise the benefits of growth.  

                                                           
 

1 Development must only satisfy one of these conditions for Council to be able to require a contribution. 

 

119



 

 
Page | 20      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

To achieve the vision, the plan proposes 10 directions, 40 objectives and associated strategies. 
Objectives of particular relevance to this Planning Proposal include: 10 - Greater housing supply and 
11 - Housing is more diverse and affordable. 

This Planning Proposal is consistent with several relevant directions, objectives and strategies of the 
plan. Specifically, it will increase the supply of affordable housing and improve housing diversity and 
choice. 

Eastern City District Plan  

The Greater Sydney Commission released the District Plans for the Greater Sydney Metropolitan 
Region in March 2018. The City of Sydney is in the Eastern City District. The District Plans set out how 
A Metropolis of Three Cities – the Greater Sydney Region Plan applies to local areas.  

The district plan has set a 20-year strategic target for housing and employment growth within the 
district, including a 2036 target of 157,500 dwellings and a short-term (5 years) housing target of 
46,550 new dwellings. In the City of Sydney LGA, 18,300 dwellings are to be delivered.  

The district plan requires councils to develop local housing strategies and actions to address the 
range of housing needs in their LGAs, including affordable housing. 

The district plan nominates an affordable rental housing target of five to 10 per cent, subject to 
viability, in urban renewal and land release areas, noting that the application of the target should 
not prejudice other approaches to secure affordable housing in areas outside of urban renewal and 
land release areas. A critical focus of the plan is that any mechanism that is introduced to secure 
affordable housing should be cognisant of the impact on development viability. 

This Planning Proposal supports the district plan’s priority of ‘Housing Diversity and Affordability’ by 
facilitating the delivery of affordable rental housing in the city through the planning framework.  

Q4. Is the planning proposal consistent with Council’s local strategy or other local strategic plan? 

Sustainable Sydney 2030, the City’s overarching strategic plan establishes an ambitious target that in 
2030, 7.5 per cent of housing will be social housing and 7.5 per cent of housing will be affordable 
housing. To achieve the City’s target approximately 11,000 affordable housing dwellings, out of a 
total projected 148,000 dwellings, are required in the LGA. 

The City’s Affordable Rental Housing Strategy 2009-2014, which supports the implementation of 
Sustainable Sydney 2030, identifies a range of strategies to increase the quantum of affordable 
housing in the LGA, including the extension of contribution schemes across the LGA. 

In 2015 the City released its Housing Issues Paper for consultation with the community. The key 
issue emerging from the paper is one of housing affordability in the inner-city and the critical need 
to provide a range of affordable housing options for very low to moderate income households. The 
City is currently developing its housing strategy to build on the Affordable Rental Housing Strategy.    

This Planning Proposal will result in an increase of affordable housing in the city and will contribute 
to the quantum of affordable housing dwellings required to achieve the City’s affordable housing 
target. 

  

120



 

 
Page | 21      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

Q5. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable State Environmental Planning Policies? 

The consistency of this Planning Proposal with current State Environmental Planning Policies (SEPPs) 
and former Regional Environmental Plans (REPs) for the Sydney and Greater Metropolitan Regions, 
which are deemed to have the weight of SEPPs, is outlined in Table 6 below. 

Repealed SEPPs or REPs, or those that were not finalised are not included in this table. 

Table 6 Consistency with SEPPs and former REPs 

SEPP Comment 

SEPP 1 - Development Standards  Consistent – this Planning Proposal does not contain 
provisions that contradict or would hinder application 
of this SEPP. 

SEPP 14 – Coastal Wetlands  Not applicable 
SEPP 19 - Bushland in Urban Areas Not applicable 

 
SEPP 21 - Caravan Parks Not applicable 
SEPP 26 - Littoral Rainforests Not applicable 
SEPP 30 - Intensive Agriculture Not applicable 
SEPP 33 - Hazardous and Offensive 
Development 

Not applicable 

SEPP 36 - Manufactured Home Estates Not applicable 
 

SEPP 44 - Koala Habitat Protection Not applicable 
 

SEPP 47 - Moore Park Showground Not applicable 
 

SEPP 50 - Canal Estate Development Not applicable 
 

SEPP 52 - Farm Dams and other works 
in Land and Water Management Plan 
Areas 

Not applicable 

SEPP 55 - Remediation of Land Consistent – this Planning Proposal does not contain 
provisions that contradict or would hinder application 
of this SEPP. 

SEPP 62 - Sustainable Aquaculture Not applicable 
 

SEPP 64 - Advertising and Signage Consistent – this Planning Proposal does not contain 
provisions that contradict or would hinder application 
of this SEPP. 

SEPP 65 - Design Quality of Residential 
Flat Development 

Consistent – this Planning Proposal does not contain 
provisions that contradict or would hinder application 
of this SEPP. 

SEPP 70 - Affordable Housing (Revised 
Schemes) 

Consistent. This identifies that there is a need for 
affordable housing in the City of Sydney. 
 
The Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 
(the Act) allows for the collection of contributions for 
affordable housing where a need for affordable 

121



 

 
Page | 22      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

housing is identified in a planning instrument and 
where:  
 
• the consent authority is satisfied that the proposed 

development will or is likely to reduce the 
availability of affordable housing within the area, or  

• the consent authority is satisfied that the proposed 
development will create a need for affordable 
housing within the area, or 

• the proposed development is allowed only because 
of the initial zoning of a site, or the rezoning of a 
site, or 

• the regulations so provide. 
 

The Program provides the rationale and justification 
for the application of contributions in the city. 

SEPP 71 - Coastal Protection Not applicable 
SEPP (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009 Consistent 

 
Currently, SEPP (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009 does 
not apply to land in Green Square, Ultimo/Pyrmont 
and the Southern Employment Lands. These 
exclusions will be retained. 
 
The Planning Proposal will amend Part 1, Clause 1.9 – 
Application of SEPP so that this SEPP does not apply to 
land in Central Sydney. Given the proposed affordable 
housing contribution scheme proposed for Central 
Sydney, it is proposed that the exemption be 
extended to this area. 

SEPP (Building Sustainability Index: 
BASIX) 2004 

Consistent – this Planning Proposal does not contain 
provisions that contradict or would hinder application 
of this SEPP. 

SEPP Exempt and Complying 
Development 

Consistent – this Planning Proposal does not contain 
provisions that contradict or would hinder application 
of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Housing for Seniors or People 
with a Disability) 2004 

Consistent – this Planning Proposal does not contain 
provisions that contradict or would hinder application 
of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007 Consistent – this Planning Proposal does not contain 
provisions that contradict or would hinder application 
of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Integration and Repeals) 2016 Not applicable 
 

SEPP (Kosciuszko National Park-Alpine 
Resorts) 2007 

Not applicable 

SEPP (Kurnell Peninsula) 1989 Not applicable 

SEPP (Mining, Petroleum Production 
and Extractive Industries) 2007 

Not applicable 

SEPP (Miscellaneous consent 
provisions) 2007 

Not applicable 

122



 

 
Page | 23      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

SEPP (Penrith Lakes Scheme) 1989 Not applicable 

SEPP (Rural Lands) 2008 Not applicable 
SEPP (State and Regional Development) 
2011 

Not applicable 

SEPP (State Significant Precincts) 2005 Consistent – this Planning Proposal does not contain 
provisions that contradict or would hinder application 
of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Sydney Drinking Water 
Catchment) 2011 

Not applicable 

SEPP (Sydney Region Growth Centres) 
2006 

Not applicable 

SEPP (Three Ports) 2013 Not applicable 
SEPP (Urban Renewal) 2010 Not applicable  
SEPP (Western Sydney Employment 
Area) 2009 

Not applicable 

SEPP (Western Sydney Parklands) 2009 Not applicable 
 

Sydney REP No 5 - (Chatswood Town 
Centre) 

Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 8 (Central Coast Plateau 
Areas) 

Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 9 - Extractive Industry 
(No 2—1995) 

Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 11 - Penrith Lakes 
Scheme 

Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 13 - Mulgoa Valley  Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 16 - Walsh Bay Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 17 - Kurnell Peninsula 
(1989) 

Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 20 - Hawkesbury- 
Nepean River (No 2 - 1997) 

Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 24 - Homebush Bay Area Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 25 - Orchard Hills Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 26 - City West Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 28 – Parramatta Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 29 - Rhodes Peninsula Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 30 - St Mary’s Not applicable 
Sydney REP No 33 - Cooks Cove Not applicable 
Sydney REP (Sydney Harbour 
Catchment) 2005 

Not applicable 

Drinking Water Catchments REP No 1 Not applicable 

123



 

 
Page | 24      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

Greater Metropolitan REP No 2 - 
Georges River Catchment  

Not applicable 

 

Q6. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable Ministerial Directions (s117 directions)? 

This Planning Proposal has been assessed against each Section 117 direction. Consistency with these 
directions is shown in Table 7 below. 

Table 7 Consistency Section 117 Directions 

Direction Consistency 

1.1 Employment and Resources - 
Business and industrial zones 

Consistent 

1.2 Employment and Resources - Rural 
Zones 

Not applicable 

1.3 Employment and Resources - 
Mining, Petroleum Production and 
Extractive Industries 

Not applicable 

1.4 Employment and Resources - 
Oyster Aquaculture 

Not applicable 

1.5 Employment and Resources - Rural 
Lands  

Not applicable 

2.1 Environment and Heritage - 
Environment Protection Zones 

Not applicable 

2.2 Environment and Heritage - Coastal 
Protection  

Not applicable 

2.3 Environment and Heritage - 
Heritage Conservation 

Consistent 

2.4 Environment and Heritage -  
Recreation Vehicle Areas 

Consistent 

2.5 Environment and Heritage -  
Application of E2 and E3 Zones and 
Environmental Overlays in Far North 
Coast LEPs 

Not applicable 

3.1 Housing, Infrastructure and Urban 
Development -  Residential Zones 

Consistent 

124



 

 
Page | 25      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

3.2 Housing, Infrastructure and Urban 
Development - Caravan Parks and 
Manufactured Home Estates 

Consistent 

3.3 Housing, Infrastructure and Urban 
Development - Home Occupations 

Consistent 

3.4 Housing, Infrastructure and Urban 
Development - Integrating Land Use & 
Transport 

Consistent 

3.5 Housing, Infrastructure and Urban 
Development - Development near 
Licensed Aerodromes 

Consistent 

3.6 Housing, Infrastructure and Urban 
Development - Shooting Ranges 

Not applicable 

4.1 Hazard and Risk - Acid Sulfate Soils Consistent 

4.2 Hazard and Risk - Mine Subsidence 
and Unstable Land 

Not applicable 

4.3 Hazard and Risk - Flood Prone Land Consistent 

4.4 Hazard and Risk - Planning for 
Bushfire Protection 

Consistent 

5.1 Regional Planning - Implementation 
of Regional Strategies 

Not applicable 

5.2 Regional Planning - Sydney Drinking 
Water Catchments 

Not applicable 

5.3 Regional Planning - Farmland of 
State and Regional Significance on the 
NSW Far North Coast 
 

Not applicable 

5.4 Regional Planning - Commercial and 
Retail Development along the Pacific 
Highway, North Coast 
 

Not applicable 

5.8 Regional Planning - Second Sydney 
Airport: Badgerys Creek 

Not applicable 

5.9 Regional Planning - North West Rail 
Link Corridor Strategy 

Not applicable 

125



 

 
Page | 26      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

5.10 Regional Planning - 
Implementation of Regional Plans 

Consistent 

6.1 Local Plan Making - Approval and 
Referral Requirements 

Consistent 

6.2 Local Plan Making - Reserving Land 
for Pubic Purposes 

Consistent 

6.3 Local Plan Making - Site Specific 
Provisions 

Consistent 

7.1 Metropolitan Planning - 
Implementation of A Plan for Growing 
Sydney 

Consistent 

7. Metropolitan Planning - 
Implementation of Greater Macarthur 
Land Release Investigation 
 

Not applicable 

 

Section C – Environmental, Social and Economic Impact 
Q7. Is there any likelihood that critical habitat or threatened species, populations or ecological 
communities, or their habitats, will be adversely affected as a result of the proposal? 

It is unlikely that critical habitat or threatened species, populations or ecological communities, or 
their habitats, will be adversely affected as a result of this Planning Proposal.  

Q8. Are there any other likely environmental effects as a result of the planning proposal and how 
are they proposed to be managed? 

It is unlikely that this Planning Proposal would have any adverse environmental effects.  

Q9. Has the planning proposal adequately addressed any social and economic effects? 

Economic impacts of proposed contributions on development viability 

A critical consideration in introducing new contribution requirements in the Town Centre LEPs is 
impact on development viability. Where development viability cannot be maintained, development 
will slow down, having a detrimental impact on the wider economy.  

To understand the economic impacts of the proposed affordable housing contributions, the City 
obtained independent economic advice to test identified housing sub-markets in the city. The 
overarching objective of the economic testing was to appreciate the full impacts of implementing 
the additional affordable housing requirements, how the impacts vary over different parts of the city 
and how they may be mitigated.  

Specifically, the economic testing was to: 

126



 

 
Page | 27      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

• determine the impact on development viability of a range of affordable housing contribution 
rates in areas not currently subject to an affordable housing contribution requirement, taking 
into consideration current contribution requirements that may already apply to the land; 
 

• determine the impact on development viability in Green Square if the equivalent monetary 
contribution amount were to increase to align with the equivalent monetary contribution 
amount required in the Southern Employment Lands; 
 

• determine the viability of requiring an additional affordable housing contribution on land that has 
increased development potential through a planning proposal process, and recommend standard 
rates to apply to the site when a development application is made to take advantage of ‘new’ 
development capacity. 

 
In regard to the impact of increasing the equivalent monetary contribution amounts in Green Square 
to align with the Southern Employment Lands, economic testing has determined that the increase 
can be tolerated without having any negative impact on development viability.  

The testing recognises the affordable housing levy in Green Square affordable housing scheme was 
established some years ago and does not reflect full development costs today. Inherent in the levy 
composition is the assumption that land will be available. This effectively means it costs less for 
developers to contribute cash rather than in-kind. The contribution rates in the City’s other 
affordable housing schemes are premised on the Sydney median unit price and therefore reflect a 
realistic cost to purchase.  

In regard to the contribution requirement that would apply to ‘Planning Proposal land’, the 
economic testing was underpinned by the City’s longstanding practice of capturing a proportion of 
land value uplift for the purposes of public benefit, whether for public domain works, land 
dedication or affordable housing. A commonly accepted benchmark is 50 per cent of any residual 
land value gain being directed towards the public benefit. This approach has underpinned the long 
standing Community Infrastructure Floorspace scheme that operates in Green Square, has informed 
a number of planning agreement for public benefit, and is consistent with the City’s Guideline to 
Preparing Site Specific Planning Proposal Requests in the City of Sydney Employment Lands 
Investigation Areas. 

When 50 per cent of the residual land value gain has been determined, it is intended that this be 
directed towards the purpose of affordable rental housing. Where other public benefits are being 
delivered on the site, for example open space, those public benefits would be secured by a VPA with 
the landowner. In establishing the contribution rate for inclusion on the LEP Schedule when the 
Town Centre LEPs are being amended, other public benefits being provided, or any State 
Infrastructure contribution requirement that applies to the site, will be considered in establishing an 
appropriate rate. It is noted that in areas where a Special Infrastructure Contribution levy is 
applicable, the rate may be lower than that detailed in the Program to ensure the cumulative 
contributions that leverage value uplift do not exceed the percentage capture amount (50%) or land 
value gain. 

Any site that is detailed on the schedule of the Town Centre LEPs will not be the subject of a VPA for 
affordable housing. All affordable housing requirements pertaining to the site will be detailed in the 
planning controls. 

Current practice is that any other local contributions such as community infrastructure payments or 
Section 7.11 payments (formally known as Section 94 payments) are required on a site by site basis, 
in addition to any affordable housing contribution requirement. This same method will also be used 

127



 

 
Page | 28      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

for ‘Planning Proposal land’. The economic advice states that development viability will not be 
affected as the affordable housing contribution will apply only to new floor area achieved in the 
change to planning controls.  

The methodology for establishing the contribution rates included generic feasibility testing to 
examine the quantum of value uplift that could result from a change in density and the potential for 
a proportion of the value uplift to be appropriated to affordable housing outcomes. While highly 
nuanced across sub-markets, it found that 50 per cent of residual land value gain is achieved where: 

• 24 percent of new floor area in the eastern precinct is provided as affordable housing, and  
 

• 12 percent of new floor area in other precincts is provided as affordable housing. 
 
These rates are to apply in addition to any current affordable housing contributions that apply to the 
land.   

It is noted that, because the affordable housing contribution will apply only to new floor area 
achieved in the change to planning controls, development viability will not be affected by the 
requirement. 

As with all contributions, landowner expectations and industry behaviour are expected to adjust 
over time. Implementation that provides clear notice to the market and incorporates a staged 
approach will ensure sufficient and appropriate notice to the market and mitigate any adverse 
impact to future investment. 

To this end, the intention to apply a contribution to Planning Proposal land is clearly articulated in 
the Program at Appendix A. This will allow prospective landowners and developer to ‘factor-in’ 
expected contributions requirements into development decisions.  

Economic impacts of the affordability crisis 

Population growth, an awakening to the desirability of inner city living, and high demand for 
investment properties are driving up market residential prices in Central Sydney and surrounds. This 
is making it increasingly difficult for middle and lower income households to afford to rent or buy in 
the inner-city.  

Without provision of more affordable forms of housing, the market can be expected to continue to 
produce housing aimed at households on relatively high incomes with lower income households 
being forced out of the city.  

For a global city, a sustainable and diverse housing supply is fundamental to the cultural and social 
vitality, economic growth, and liveability of the city. This is at the heart of the City of Sydney’s 
Community Strategic Plan – Sustainable Sydney 2030. 

Housing quality and affordability affect the city’s ability to attract and retain global businesses and a 
highly skilled workforce. Where relatively low paid key workers who underpin and enable growth in 
high value sectors cannot access appropriate and affordable housing in the inner-city, they are likely 
to find employment closer to where they live. This can represent a direct risk to productivity in key 
sectors of the economy. 

Encouraging and providing affordable housing is a complex issue requiring a range of planning and 
policy solutions. The community housing sector is central to delivering affordable rental housing, 

128



 

 
Page | 29      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

and so too is the development sector that creates opportunities for new affordable housing to be 
delivered.  

Social impacts of the affordability crisis 

In the city, climbing housing costs are expected to have an increasingly detrimental impact on its 
socio-economic diversity. Gentrification of inner city neighbourhoods has exacerbated relative 
inequality among those who can and cannot afford housing. There is a growing disconnect between 
affluent households able to afford private market housing and highly socio-economically 
disadvantaged households living in inner city public housing estates.  

The majority of households on very low to moderate incomes who are remaining in the City are 
increasingly now living in social housing or are in the private rental market and in housing stress or 
crisis.  

The issue also has a dimension of generational inequality, as younger people (typically first home 
buyers) are increasingly priced out of the market.  

Affordable housing outcomes 

The number of affordable rental housing dwellings resulting from the proposed affordable housing 
contribution requirements will be determined by: 

• The amount of development that occurs, which is influenced by market conditions; and 

• The approach to using any monetary contributions: whether affordable housing units are built 
by a developer or a community housing provider; the dwelling size and mix; whether they are 
purchased; and how effectively resulting funds and dwellings are leveraged to provide 
additional stock. 

The City uses a range of approaches to facilitate affordable housing in the LGA. There are around 
1,400 affordable rental housing dwellings in the LGA that are built, in the development pipeline or 
announced. The estimated affordable housing dwellings currently anticipated in the LGA is shown at 
Table 8. No time frame has been applied to this table, it is based on what is known now about 
affordable housing in the pipeline, and what could be achieved under expanded planning controls 
given a range of assumptions about development in the various contribution areas. Estimates for 
some areas are difficult to establish. 

Table 8: Projected affordable housing dwellings 

 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING SOURCE 

 
NUMBER OF DWELLINGS 

Built as at 30 June 2018 835 

Development pipeline as at 30 June 2018 586 

SUBTOTAL to 2019 1,421 

Sites in Southern Employment Land investigation areas (under the 
Guideline) Unknown 

129



 

 
Page | 30      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

Sites in B7 Business Park zone (preferential LEP clause) Unknown 

Green Square to Ashmore connector road 300 

Dunning Ave, Rosebery (Southern Employment Land investigation 
areas) 8 

Southern Employment Lands scheme 130 

Ultimo/Pyrmont scheme 35 

Green Square scheme 650 

Central Sydney scheme (proposed) 520 

Residual lands scheme (proposed) 590 

Planning Proposal land (proposed) Unknown 

TOTAL (includes 2019 subtotal) 3,654 

 
Table 8 shows the expansion of the City’s current affordable housing schemes to residual land will 
result in approximately 590 affordable rental housing dwellings in addition to the 1,335 estimated 
under current schemes in Green Square, Ultimo/Pyrmont, the Southern Employment Lands, and the 
proposed Central Sydney scheme. An increase of over 40 per cent.  

To achieve the City’s target for 7.5 per cent of all dwellings to be affordable rental dwellings in 2030, 
approximately 11,000 affordable housing dwellings, out of a total projected 148,000 dwellings are 
required in the LGA. Table 8 shows that if the affordable housing contribution requirements 
proposed in Central Sydney and in the residual lands are supported by the State Government, 
approximately 7,350 additional dwellings are needed to achieve the City’s targets. More if they are 
not supported.  

The estimates in Table 8 do not take into account the additional affordable housing outcomes that 
may be achieved as community housing providers leverage properties and ongoing rental streams to 
provide more affordable housing.  

Also not counted in Table 8 total is affordable housing that may result from planning mechanisms 
put in place in the southern employment lands when they were rezoned in 2015. These include the 
preferential zoning approach for affordable housing the B7 Business Park zone, as well as the 
Guideline to Preparing Site Specific Planning Proposal Requests in the City of Sydney Employment 
Lands Investigation Areas. 

Table 8 estimates also exclude affordable housing that may result from the proposed introduction of 
the framework for ‘Planning Proposal lands’. 

Many planning proposals considered by Council are initiated at the request of landowners who seek 
rezoning or changes to height and/or floor space ratio controls. Planning proposal requests are 
considered on their site-specific planning merit. 

130



 

 
Page | 31      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

It is not possible to provide projections of floor area that may result from changes to planning 
controls in the future. However, an indication of the potential of the proposed Planning Proposal 
land framework across the LGA can be inferred from past planning proposals that have increased 
floor space ratios since 2012. It is estimated that approximately 90 dwellings may have been 
facilitated through the Sydney LEP 2012 if a 12 per cent contribution was applied to new floor area. 
It is noted this is a simple extrapolation and does not consider any other public benefits that formed 
part of these planning proposals.  

Only in conjunction with the planning proposal for 87 Bay Street, Glebe has the City entered into a 
planning agreement for affordable housing since 2012. The City’s ability to facilitate affordable 
housing through the planning framework is impeded by lack of State Government policy direction on 
how it can be achieved. While other public benefits have arisen from planning proposals, there 
would likely have been additional affordable housing outcomes achieved has there been a 
streamlined, State Government endorsed approach available to facilitate it. It is envisaged the 
‘Planning Proposal land’ framework proposed in this Planning Proposal will facilitate this. 

The City’s targets cannot be achieved through local planning mechanisms alone. While the additional 
affordable housing likely to result from this Planning Proposal is a step in the right direction, it is 
limited in its ability to address the substantial need for affordable housing in the LGA. The active 
intervention of other levels of government is required. 

The City will continue to innovate new planning approaches and advocate to the Federal and State 
governments for more affordable housing to be provided in the LGA.  

Section D – State and Commonwealth Interests 
Q10. Is there adequate public infrastructure for the planning proposal? 

While this Planning Proposal will facilitate more affordable housing, it does not propose an increase 
in density above that which is currently permissible under Town Centre LEPs. As such, it will not 
result in an increase in residential or worker population greater than that already anticipated and is 
not expected to result in any additional burden on existing public infrastructure. 

Ongoing investment in new services and facilities in the city by both the public and private sectors 
will service the growing population.  

Q11. What are the views of state and Commonwealth public authorities consulted in accordance 
with the Gateway determination? 

The Gateway determination will advise the full list of public authorities to be consulted as part of 
this Planning Proposal process and any views will be included in this Planning Proposal following 
consultation. It is requested that public authority consultation be undertaken concurrently with 
community consultation. 

131



 

 
Page | 32      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

Part 4 Mapping  
No change is required to maps in the Town Centre LEPs  

  

132



 

 
Page | 33      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

Part 5 Community Consultation 
Public consultation will take place in accordance with any Gateway determination made by the 
Minister for Planning, in accordance with Sections 56 and 57 of the Act 

The original Planning Proposal , prior to being approved by Council, was widely consulted. Given the 
intent of that Planning Proposal, to integrate all of the land in the LGA under the same provisions 
and Program, was clear, and the Town Centre LEPs were only inadvertently left out of that Planning 
Proposal, the City requests that no public exhibition of this Planning Proposal be required.  

 

 

133



 

 
Page | 34      Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review – Green Square Town Centre
      

Part 6 Project timeline 
The following project timeline will assist with tracking the progress of the planning proposal through 
its various stages of consultation and approval. It is estimated that this amendment to the Town 
Centre LEPs will be completed by December 2018, and made in conjunction with the provisions 
proposed as part of Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review, approved by Council XX XX XXXX. 

Table 9 Project timeline 

Stage Anticipated timeframe 

Submit Planning Proposal to Department of Planning and Environment 
seeking a Gateway Determination 

September 2017 

Receive Gateway Determination October 2018 

Public exhibition and public authority consultation of Planning Proposal, 
and draft Affordable Housing Program – if required 

November 2018 

Review of submissions received during public exhibition and public 
authority consultation 

November 2018 

Council and Central Sydney Planning Committee approval of Planning 
Proposal and draft Affordable Housing Program – if required 

December 2018 

Drafting of instrument and finalisation of mapping December 2018  

Amendment to Town Centre LEPs legally drafted and made December 2018 

 
 

134



Attachment E 

Summary of and response to matters raised 

in submissions

135



No objection raised  

Number of submissions: 2 organisational  

Submissions from Transgrid and the Department of Defence raised no objection to the Planning 

Proposal and state no explicit support. 

Response: Noted. 

 

Excessive development in the local government area and not enough infrastructure 

Number of submissions: 9 individual and 1 organisational  

Submissions raised concerns there is already too much development in the City of Sydney and that 

the Planning Proposal will only result in more housing with not enough infrastructure. 

Response: The Planning Proposal will not increase the amount of development in the City. It only 

ensures that where there is development that a portion of that development is provided as 

affordable housing. 

 

Unacceptable impacts on development feasibility  

Number of submissions: 2 individual and 3 organisational  

Submissions argue that some or all aspects of the Planning Proposal will make development 

unviable. 

Response: To understand the economic impacts of the proposed affordable housing contribution on 

the residual lands and Central Sydney, and the increase in the equivalent monetary contribution rate 

in Green Square, the City sought independent economic advice to test identified housing sub-

markets in the LGA. The overarching objective of the economic testing was to appreciate the full 

impacts of implementing the additional affordable housing requirements, how the impacts vary over 

different parts of the LGA and how they may be mitigated. The testing was necessarily generalised 

and does not reflect the individual circumstances of every site within the LGA, however it reflects 

the economic circumstances of most land.  

The economic advice finds that in the short term the immediate introduction of a contribution 

requirement would likely impact on development viability in residual land and Central Sydney, but in 

Green Square, the increased rate would not impact on viability. However, the research also found 

that there is scope to introduce a levy in the medium term where sufficient advance warning is given 

to the market. 

The introduction of a contribution will not affect the viability of development when development 

sites are priced to reflect the planning controls and applicable contributions, including affordable 

housing contributions. It is therefore imperative for any contributions to be clearly defined so that 

prospective purchases are informed at the outset and are able to make informed decisions at the 

time of site acquisition. 

The Planning Proposal therefore allows for the introduction of the affordable housing contribution in 

Central Sydney and residual lands over a four year period (from 2018). This will not impact the 

136



development of sites already acquired where the development process has already commenced and 

will allow market expectations to adjust prior to the contribution coming into effect. 

The Planning Proposal includes separate value sharing requirements for ‘Planning Proposal land’, 

which apply to the additional development capacity created by site-specific or precinct-based 

planning proposals. The proposed contribution rates in the Program are underpinned by the City’s 

longstanding practice of equally sharing in the residual land value uplift for the purposes of public 

benefit, whether for public domain works, land dedication or affordable housing.  

The methodology for establishing the ‘Planning Proposal land’ contribution rates included feasibility 

testing to examine the quantum of value uplift that could result from a change in floor space ratio 

and the potential for a proportion of the value uplift to be put to affordable housing outcomes. 

While highly variable across sub-markets, on average 50 per cent of residual land value gain is 

achieved with the rates in the Program.  

Where the scheduled contribution requirements are only applied to new floor area achieved 

through a change to planning controls, development viability will not be affected by the 

requirement. This assumes the land has not been speculatively purchased with a predetermined 

assumption of a change to planning controls. 

It is noted the Program only provides guidance on how a contribution rate should be established. 

The described approach is not binding on Council, and a different rate may apply depending on the 

particulars of the planning proposal under consideration. For example, where a State Infrastructure 

Contribution applies or where a landowner/developer has made an offer to enter into a planning 

agreement to provide other public benefit, the site may not be listed as Planning Proposal land or 

the rate may be reduced. 

 

Increased anti-social behaviour, lower amenity, and resulting lowering of property values  

Number of submissions: 16 individual  

Submissions raise concerns that where affordable rental housing is developed there would be an 

increase in anti-social behaviour such as crime, littering and noise impacts. Some submissions argue 

this would have a negative impact on the value of their homes. 

Response: Affordable housing that has resulted from the current contributions schemes are of high 

design quality and are in keeping with the local context of those areas.  

There is no evidence to suggest that existing affordable housing in suburbs such as Ultimo, Pyrmont, 

Glebe or Zetland has had any negative impact on property values. 

 

It’s not Council’s role to provide affordable housing  

Number of submissions: 1 individual  

The submission argues it is not the role of Council to provide affordable housing. 

Response: While providing housing for low income earners and those most vulnerable in society is 

traditionally the role of the State government, it is the planning system, as administered by local 

government, where a number of opportunities to provide affordable housing arise.   

137



The Region Plan and District Plans were released by the Greater Sydney Commission in March 2018. 

The Plans establish affordable housing targets and require councils to prepare a Housing Strategy 

that, amongst other things, provides a planning pathway for achieving the targets. 

Sustainable Sydney 2030, the City’s community plan, establishes a target that in 2030, 7.5 per cent 

of housing will be social housing and 7.5 per cent of housing will be affordable rental housing. The 

target was established in response to a high level of concern in the community about housing 

affordability and the lack of affordable housing options in the City for low income earners.  

The impacts of lack of affordable housing are felt in local communities. Poor social cohesion, 

inequity in the housing market, loss of key workers, are all significant concerns for the City. It is 

therefore incumbent on the City to play a role in increasing the amount of affordable housing. 

Addressing housing affordability and increasing the quantum of affordable housing requires a multi-

pronged approach, with all levels of government, business and industry and the community playing a 

role. 

 

Industry should be able to partner with community housing providers to provide affordable 

housing  

Number of submissions: 1 organisational  

A submission from the Urban Taskforce recommends that industry should be able to partner with 

community housing providers directly to provide affordable housing. While unclear, it is possible this 

is a reference to the partnering arrangements that can occur under the State Environmental 

Planning Policy (Affordable Housing) 2009. 

Response: The Planning Proposal poses no impediment to industry partnering with community 

housing providers to provide affordable housing, however it is noted the State Environmental 

Planning Policy (Affordable Housing) 2009 has not resulted in any affordable housing outcomes in 

the City of Sydney, though it has increased the stock of boarding/student housing. 

 

Rates in the Southern Employment Lands Guideline are unviable  

Number of submissions: 1 organisational  

A submission from the Urban Taskforce asserted that the rates in the Southern Employment Lands 

Guideline are unviable. 

Response: The 'Guideline to Preparing Site Specific Planning Proposal Requests in the City of Sydney 

Employment Lands Investigation Areas' provides a formula for calculating the residual land value 

increase resulting from changes to planning controls, with 50 per cent of the increase being shared 

with the landowner for the provision of infrastructure, in particular affordable housing. 

While the Guideline is not the subject of this Planning Proposal, it is noted that the rates in the 

Guideline are based on the assumption that the existing employment use / commercial or industrial 

building on the land is at the end of its economic life. It is not intended to more broadly encourage 

the redevelopment of employment land in the area by incentivising rezoning. 

 

138



Affordable housing should only be kept as affordable housing for 10 years  

Number of submissions: 1 organisational  

A submission from the Urban Taskforce references the Affordable Rental Housing SEPP and a recent 

Landcom development which have affordable housing provisions which expire after 10 years. From 

this they assert that affordable housing under the City of Sydney program should also be subject to a 

10-year timeframe, and that this would result in more affordable housing. 

Response: A 10-year model does not address the long-term need for affordable housing. The model 

is fundamentally unsustainable, requiring ongoing high levels of development and building ‘churn’ to 

replace expiring affordable housing stock while still attempting to deliver a net increase over time.  

The claim that expired affordable housing stock will be more affordable due to its age is not 

supported by evidence. Property prices are largely determined by land values not building age, and a 

10 year old property would not be considered degraded enough to command a discount at market. 

The affordable housing model in the Planning Proposal provides property in perpetuity to 

community housing providers. This allows the sector to leverage its assets to borrow funds and 

invest in more affordable housing. The 10-year model promoted by Urban Taskforce does not have 

this benefit having only short-term merit. 

 

Contribution rates should be reviewed regularly  

Number of submissions: 1 organisational  

A submission from the Urban Taskforce asserted that the contribution rates in the Program are 

outdated and should be reviewed. 

Response: The Program requires adjustments are made to the equivalent monetary contribution 

amount annually in accordance with movements in the median house price in the LGA, as provided 

by the NSW Government Rent and Sales Report, Table: Sales Price – Greater Metropolitan Region – 

Strata. The City of Sydney’s website will contain the current monetary contribution amounts, as 

indexed. Movements in median housing prices reflect movements in local area housing costs. 

The rates proposed for ‘Planning Proposal land’ are to be reviewed annually to ensure they continue 

to align with market conditions.  

 

Funds need to be used quickly and should not be held by the City of Sydney  

Number of submissions: 1 organisational  

A submission from the Property Council is concerned that funds should be used quickly and should 

not be held by the City of Sydney. 

Response: While it is intended the funds resulting from the Program will be paid to the City, funds 

continue to be immediately passed to a community housing provider to build and manage 

affordable housing in the local government area. The City will not retain any portion of the funds. 

139



While it takes time to acquire appropriate sites, and large projects can take time to work their way 

through the development process, community housing providers are encouraged to use the funds as 

quickly as possible. 

 

The contributions system only increases the complexity and cost of obtaining development 

consent from the City of Sydney  

Number of submissions: 1 organisational  

A submission from the Property Council said that the proposed contributions system only increases 

the complexity and cost of obtaining development consent from the City of Sydney. 

Response: A contribution requirement forms part of a condition of consent. It does not require the 

concurrence of any other agency and is not particularly complex to calculate. The majority of the 

administrative burden falls on Council, rather than the proponent.  

Economic testing has established that the proposed rates will not have a significant impact on 

development viability in the City of Sydney. 

Given under-supply of affordable rental housing in Sydney and significant concern in the community 

about it, any additional complexity the requirement may add is considered reasonable.  

Affordable housing is important to promote a diverse and sustainable community and to provide 

housing for key workers who support the economy and the community. The importance of 

affordable housing is discussed further in the affordable housing needs study appended to the 

Program. 

 

Community housing providers should take into consideration the special needs of young people  

Number of submissions: 1 organisational  

A submission from Weave Youth and Community Services acknowledges the need for affordable 

housing and asks that the specific needs of young people be taken into consideration in forming 

criteria for access to affordable housing programs.  

Response: The issues raised in the submission are noted. While the issues cannot be directly dealt 

with in the Planning Proposal, being largely managed by community housing providers in developing 

their programs, the City will write to community housing providers to advise them of the matters 

raised. 

 

Affordable Housing should not only be market led, government needs to do its part  

Number of submissions: 1 organisational  

A submission from the UDIA asserted that affordable housing should not only be market led, and 

that government needs to do its part also. 

Response: It is agreed that not all the responsibility for growing the stock of affordable housing can 

fall on the market.  

140



The Planning Proposal does seek to leverage the market to increase supply, however it is 

acknowledged it will, in the context of the larger affordability crisis in Sydney, makes only small 

inroads into the significant under-supply of affordable housing in greater Sydney. Substantial reform 

is needed and requires a multi-pronged approach, with all levels of government, business and 

industry and the community playing a role. 

It is noted however that the key levers to address housing affordability, such as taxation policy, are 

not within the scope of local government to address. Notwithstanding this, the City is a strong and 

constant advocate of reform. 

 

The proposal is an incentive for developers with no public benefit  

Number of submissions: 2 individual  

Submissions argue that the proposal is an incentive for developers with no public benefit. 

Response: The affordable housing program does not include any incentives or bonuses attached to 

providing affordable housing. 

The Planning Proposal establishes a mechanism for development to deliver the public benefit of 

affordable housing. Affordable housing is crucial for a diverse and sustainable community, and to 

provide housing for key workers who support the economy and the community. 

The importance of affordable housing is discussed further in the affordable housing needs study 

appended to the Program. 

 

The costs are being pushed onto developers and/or the community to support lower income 

people  

Number of submissions: 5 individual  

Submissions are concerned that the costs of providing affordable housing and supporting lower 

income households are ultimately being pushed onto the development sector and/or the 

community. 

Response: Increasing the stock of affordable housing is a benefit not only to those lower income 

households who may access it, but also to the wider community. Affordable housing is important to 

promote a diverse and sustainable community and to provide housing for key workers who support 

the economy and the community.  

The importance of affordable housing is discussed further in the affordable housing needs study 

appended to the Program. 

 

Affordable housing should be located outside of inner Sydney  

Number of submissions: 3 individual  

Submissions question the value of providing affordable housing within the City of Sydney, and 

suggest that it be provided elsewhere in Greater Sydney. 

141



Response: The aim of the Program is to address the social and economic problems caused by high 

land values in inner Sydney forcing very low, low and medium income households out of the area, 

such as poor community cohesion and loss of key workers. 

A detailed account of these social and economic problems, and the wider benefits of providing 

affordable housing in the City of Sydney LGA is discussed in the affordable housing needs study, 

appended to the Program. 

 

The consultation process was inadequate and or confusing  

Number of submissions: 5 individual  

Submission raised concerns that the consultation was not clear or had too much information with 

too much jargon.  

Response: The City appreciates that much of the consultation materials that are statutorily required 

to change the planning controls can be confusing for the community. To address this, the City 

prepared a plain English fact sheet to accompany the exhibition all materials. In addition, the letter 

sent to all landowners to notify them of the public exhibition included a contact phone number for 

the responsible planning officer to answer any questions about the public exhibition.  

 

There is no transparency in the use of funds  

Number of submissions: 1 individual 

One submission is concerned that there is inadequate information about how funds will be used. 

Response: The Program provides extensive guidance on how contribution funds are to be collected, 

allocated to a community housing provider and spent for the development and ongoing 

management of affordable housing. Currently, all funds are directed to City West Housing, a Tier 1 

community housing provider regulated under the National Regulatory Code. City West Housing 

annual reports are available on their website.  

 

Built form/amenity impacts and the need to preserve heritage  

Number of submissions: 3 individual 

Submissions are concerned that affordable housing should be of high quality design and should not 

impact on heritage items or conservation areas. 

Response: Affordable Housing is subject to the same planning requirements as any other residential 

development in the City, including the Apartment Design Guidelines.  

Affordable housing that has been built under the current contribution schemes is of high quality and 

generally consistent with surrounding development.  

 

The proposal doesn’t consider ongoing management costs  

Number of submissions: 1 individual  

142



One submission raised a concern that the proposal does not consider the ongoing management 

costs of affordable housing. 

Response: Community housing providers, who are the beneficiary of the contributions required by 

the Program, build and own the resulting affordable housing. The Program requires the rental 

stream generated by the housing is used for the ongoing management of stock and to provide 

additional affordable housing.  

 

Affordable housing should be spread around the LGA and/or be physically included in new 

developments  

Number of submissions: 6 individual  

Submissions include concerns that affordable housing will be too concentrated in a few areas of the 

City. Some submissions assert that affordable housing should be ‘salt-and-peppered’ within 

residential apartments (in-kind, on site dedication) rather than in one building. 

Response: The Program allows for an affordable housing contribution to be satisfied by either:  

 an in-kind dedication to Council of finished affordable rental housing dwellings in the 

development; or 

 an equivalent monetary contribution payment to be passed to a community housing 

provider to build, own and manage affordable rental housing. 

While it is acknowledged that greater social outcomes may result where affordable housing is evenly 

spread through the LGA, it is also acknowledged that where funds are collected by community 

housing providers and developed as bespoke affordable housing products that: 

 the dwellings are built for purpose to the requirements of community housing providers; 

 dwellings located together are easier for community housing providers to manage; 

 affordable housing is not subject to high strata fees, which in some cases may significantly 

decrease rental stream income;  

 apartments are built with high quality, durable materials to allow for detailed future 

planning for management and upgrades; and 

 developments built by community housing providers do not include a developer profit 

margin.  

In balance, it is considered reasonable to retain the ability of developers to satisfy a contribution 

requirement by making a monetary contribution. 

 

The State Government needs to be more active in increasing the quantum of affordable housing  

Number of submissions: 1 individual  

One submission is concerned that the State Government should be more active in providing 

affordable housing. 

Response: Agreed. The City advocates to all levels of government to increase the supply of 

affordable housing.  

 

143



Support for administrative/management arrangements  

Number of submissions: 1 individual 

One submission specifically supports the administrative and management arrangements provided in 

the Program. 

Response: Noted. 

 

An ownership model should be introduced  

Number of submissions: 1 individual 

One submission suggests an ownership model should be developed for affordable housing. 

Response: The City agrees there is benefit in the State government developing a range of affordable 

housing models to satisfy diverse demand. However, the Planning Proposal is intended to increase 

the stock of affordable rental housing. 

 

The contribution rates are not high enough  

Number of submissions: 6 individual, 1 organisational 

Submissions argue the contribution rates in the Program should be higher. 

Response: Rates are established at a level where they would not have unreasonable impact on the 

viability of development. Where viability is impacted, market housing cannot be provided, and 

contributions could not be paid. 

To understand the economic impacts of the proposed affordable housing contribution the City 

sought independent economic advice to test identified housing sub-markets. The overarching 

objective of the economic testing was to appreciate the full impacts of implementing the additional 

affordable housing requirements, how the impacts vary over different parts of the LGA and how they 

may be mitigated.  

 

More homeless/public housing accommodation is needed  

Number of submissions: 4 individual and 1 organisational  

While supporting the need for affordable housing, submissions also noted the need to increase the 

stock of public housing (social housing) and housing for people who are homeless. 

Response: Agreed. While increasing the stock of social housing, including crisis housing for people 

who are homeless, is not the objective of this Planning Proposal, it is agreed that more needs to be 

done to address this need. 

While it is ultimately the responsibly of the State Government to provide social housing, the City is a 

strong and consistent advocate for the increase of this stock in the LGA. An example was the role the 

City played in facilitating the Common Ground development in Camperdown.  

144



While not directly providing social housing, the City also provides a number of services and facilities 

to support people of low income in their homes and those who are experiencing homelessness. 

 

Design guidance is needed for affordable housing  

Number of submissions: 1 individual and 1 organisational  

Submissions assert design guidelines should be provided for the development of affordable housing. 

Response: It is agreed that the community housing sector would benefit from more state wide 

guidance about how affordable housing can be developed, and the different models that may be 

considered.  

Notwithstanding this, affordable housing is subject to the same planning and design requirements as 

any other residential development in the City, including the Apartment Design Guide. 

The Program requires that where multiple affordable rental dwellings are provided in the 

development, the amenity benchmarks established by the Apartment Design Guide are to be 

generally achieved. For example, 70 per cent of the affordable housing dwellings should achieve 

adequate solar access. This is to ensure the least amenable units in any development are not all 

selected as the affordable rental housing dwellings. 

 

Affordable housing is important to create a diverse and healthy community  

Number of submissions: 6 individual  

Submissions in support of the Planning Proposal have noted that affordable housing is important to 

create a diverse and healthy community. 

Response: Noted and agreed 

 

Appropriate infrastructure is needed to support affordable housing  

Number of submissions: 1 individual 

While supporting the need for affordable housing, submissions also note the need for appropriate 

infrastructure and services to support the residents of affordable housing. 

Response: Affordable housing residents, like all residents of the City of Sydney, require a range of 

infrastructure and services to support high density living. Affordable housing is encouraged in areas 

with access to good public transport, open space and community facilities.  

 

Affordable housing should be owned in perpetuity by government or community housing 

providers  

Number of submissions: 1 individual 

145



While writing in support of the Planning Proposal, one submission noted affordable housing should 

be owned in perpetuity by government or community housing providers, and only be provided to 

residents on a leasing basis to prevent on-selling and making a profit. 

Response: Noted and agreed.  

Affordable housing is defined by the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 as “housing 

for very low income households, low income households or moderate income households, being 

such households as are prescribed by the regulations or as are provided for in an environmental 

planning instrument”. 

The Program requires affordable housing resulting from the Planning Proposal be provided as such in 

perpetuity. Housing is owned and managed on an ongoing basis by community housing providers 

listed on Schedule A of the Program. It cannot be on-sold into the private market. 

 

Community Housing Providers are building well designed developments  

Number of submissions: 1 individual  

One submission written in support of the Planning Proposal asserts that community housing 

providers are building developments of high design quality and they are being managed well. 

Response: Noted and agreed 

 

Providing affordable housing should just be a normal part of development  

Number of submissions: 1 individual 

One submission was received that asserted that providing affordable housing should simply be a 

normal part of development, to increase acceptance by developers. 

Response: Agreed. The Planning Proposal effectively requires all major development in the LGA 

make a contribution to affordable housing, not just development in identified areas. This will 

contribute to affordable housing contributions being more accepted by industry and the community. 

 

General support for the proposal / acknowledged need for affordable housing (no specific reason 

given)  

Number of submissions: 5 individual and 2 organisational  

Submissions provided in support of the Planning Proposal acknowledged the need for affordable 

housing, however provided no specific reason for why it was important. 

Response: Noted. 

 

General objection to the Planning Proposal (no specific reason given)  

Number of submissions: 1 individual  

146



A submission was received in objection to the Planning Proposal, however it provided no specific 

reason. 

Response: Noted 

 

The proposed Schedule for ‘planning proposal land’ is inconsistent with District Plan  

Number of submissions: 1 organisational  

A submission from the Stockland argues that the proposed contribution for ‘planning proposal land’ 

is inconsistent with the Greater Sydney Region Plan 

Response: The Greater Sydney Region Plan released by the Greater Sydney Commission in March 

2018 include targets and actions for the provision of affordable housing through the planning 

framework. The Plan requires councils to develop local housing strategies to address the range of 

housing needs in their local areas, including affordable housing. 

The Region Plan establishes an affordable housing target of five to 10 per cent of new residential 

floorspace, subject to viability. The target is aimed housing those most in need, specifically very low 

and low income households. While it is noted the Plan references the target as being applied in 

defined precincts prior to rezoning, the Plan does not preclude councils developing local government 

specific responses to respond to identified local housing need. 

The proposed Schedule in the LEP adopts the approach in the Region Plan and secures a reasonable 

proportion of the increase in land value when planning controls are changed. While this is applied on 

a site-by-site basis, it is considered at a precinct level and in the context of local housing markets. 

The Region Plan provides the parameters for consideration in the successful implementation of 

these targets, including: 

 measurement of the value created by the rezoning by applying a consistent viability test - 

the economic testing used to establish the target rates proposed in the Program for 

‘Planning Proposal land’ applied a standard Residual Land Value approach to establish 

viability; 

 the consideration of other contributions that may apply to the land, including any State 

Infrastructure Contributions - the target rates proposed in the Program for Planning 

Proposal land will be updated annually to allow for changes in market conditions; 

 allowance for an increase in land value for vendors so that land is willingly sold and supply 

does not stall - the 'cost' of the 50 per cent sharing of value created when planning controls 

are changed does not impact on the value that is paid for land, which is typically purchased 

on the residual land value of land under existing planning controls. Even allowing for a 

reasonable level of speculation on future planning controls, by both the vendor and the 

purchaser, there is sufficient value created in a change of planning controls to not unduly 

impact on the willing dale of land; 

 allowance for developers to achieve normal profit margins on investment and risk - the 

economic testing assumed a normal profit on investment and risk; and 

 a bespoke approach to allow for local circumstances - the economic testing is predicated on 

an assessment of local market conditions and planning requirements. 

 

147



The State Government should prepare a State wide affordable housing policy  

Number of submissions: 2 organisational  

Submissions from UDIA and the Property Council assert the State Government should prepare a 

State wide affordable housing policy and that it should guide how affordable housing is provided. 

Response: The Region Plan establishes an affordable housing target of five to 10 per cent of new 

residential floorspace, subject to viability. The Plan provides the parameters for consideration of 

local schemes and the successful implementation of these targets. This Planning Proposal, 

specifically the proposed schedule for Planning Proposal land, provides an approach to achieve the 

Plan targets through the local planning framework. 

The affordable housing contribution, required under clause 7.13, is applied in accordance with State 

Environmental Planning Policy No. 70 - Affordable Housing (Revised Schemes) (SEPP 70). 

 

The 50 per cent value sharing rate is unreasonable and is not common practice  

Number of submissions: 1 organisational  

A submission from the Urban Taskforce asserted the 50 per cent value capture rate is unreasonable 

and is not common practice, as indicated in the report to Council and CSPC in 2017. 

Response: Value sharing is a mechanism by which the additional land value created by a change to 

planning controls is shared between the landowner and the public. The additional land value is the 

‘unearned increment’ created out of a change in government policy. It is not agreed that it is 

unreasonable to share the value equally. 

The benchmark of 50 per cent value sharing is established in other City of Sydney policies, including 

the Community Infrastructure Scheme in the Green Square Urban Renewal Area, the deferred 

commencement provisions of the Green Square Town Centre local environmental plans, and the 

Southern Employment Lands investigation areas. 

The 50 per cent value capture benchmark is common practice outside of the City of Sydney, being 

used by other councils in NSW including Inner West Council, Parramatta City Council, Waverley 

Council and Byron Shire Council. 

 

Affordable housing units could be smaller than 35sqm  

Number of submissions: 1 individual  

One submission notes that while the 35sqm size minimum is in line with State policy, design and 

usable space should be emphasised over minimum floor space size.   

Response: A 35sqm minimum size is considered reasonable and is in line with State policy. Should 

the State Government provide further guidance for ‘micro-apartments’, this may be reviewed. 

 

The increase in the Green Square contribution rate should be phased in like it is in Central Sydney 

and the residual lands  

148



Number of submissions: 3 organisational  

A number of organisational submissions raise concerns that the increase in Green Square would 

impact on current projects and that it should be phased-in to allow for market adjustment in a 

similar way that it is being phased-in in the residual lands.  

Response: Noted. The Program has been adjusted to allow for the current Green Square Program 

rates to continue to apply in Green Square until 29 February 2020. 

 

The system of allowing for Bank Guarantees at to be lodged at the construction certificate stage 

should be retained  

Number of submissions: 2 organisational  

Submissions raise concerns that the system of allowing for Bank Guarantees at to be lodged at the 

construction certificate stage should be retained for flexibility. 

Response: Approximately one third of affordable housing contribution payments have been satisfied 

by bank guarantee since 2012. The system is complex to administer, requiring indexing of 

contribution payments prior to occupation certificate.  

The system has also been misused as a tool to delay payment to a time where it may be more 

favourable for them to do so. For example, where a developer has provided a bank guarantee at the 

construction certificate stage, when it comes time to index the payment at occupation certificate 

stage, they will assess whether the payment will be higher or lower and will pay the contribution or 

not pay it based on if it will money will be saved.  

The purpose of this change is to:   

 provide equity and align the payment requirements with all other payments that are 

required, such as Section 7.11 contributions (previously Section 94 contributions) and 

payments required under Clause 6.14 – Community Infrastructure floor area at Green 

Square; 

 remove any incentive to make monetary contribution in favour of in-kind contribution;  

 ensure funds are provided to community housing providers as early as possible so that they 

may participate in the market. Payment later in the development process, while favourable 

to the applicant who may ‘save’ on delaying payment, means that the community housing 

provider receives the funds later. The CHP cannot collect interest on the funds, cannot 

borrow against the funds, and cannot put funds towards a project to build affordable 

housing; and 

 streamline and simplify the operation and administration of affordable housing contribution 

requirements in the LGA. 

 

The one per cent levy on commercial development will make providing commercial floorspace 

difficult  

Number of submissions: 1 individual and 3 organisational  

Submissions raise concerns the one per cent levy on commercial development in Central Sydney will 

make providing commercial floor area even more difficult. 

149



Response: The one per cent contribution requirement has applied to commercial development in 

Green Square and the Southern Employment Lands since the inception of those programs. 

It is fair and reasonable that commercial development, which benefits from increased housing 

options for key workers, contributes to affordable housing. The City’s economic analysis shows a one 

per cent contribution requirement is unlikely to have a substantial impact on development viability. 

The contribution rate applied to residential development is greater than the contribution rate 

applied to commercial development. The viability of commercial relative to residential development 

will not be impacted by the contribution requirement. 

Given the long introduction period of the levy rate, that allows time for market adjustment, there is 

adequate time for purchases to take into consideration the contribution requirement.  

 

Inclusionary zoning is an unacceptable tax on development  

Number of submissions: 3 organisational  

Organisational submissions, including those from the Property Council and the Urban Taskforce 

assert that the contribution requirement is an unacceptable tax on development. 

Response: The contribution requirement is not a tax. It is cost associated with developing land, 

similar to contributions payable under Section 7.11 of the Act.   

 

The contribution requirements will impact on wider housing affordability and the City’s policies 

should instead should focus on the need to improve housing affordability  

Number of submissions: 2 individual and 4 organisational  

Some submissions argue that the City should instead focus its policies on increasing supply to 

address housing affordability.  

Response: While federal and state government policy responses to the increasing affordability crisis 

have largely focused on supply side, given the substantial demand side drivers in a market such as 

the inner-Sydney, house prices have remained at record high levels. In the City of Sydney, as at June 

2017, there were 120,000 dwellings with an additional 30,000 dwellings in the development 

pipeline. Despite some indication that the market is cooling in parts of Sydney, partially in response 

to increase in supply, it is unlikely any market correction would result in housing being ‘affordable’ 

for very low to moderate income households.  

The Figure below has been adapted from data provided by the Greater Sydney Commission and 

NSW Department of Family and Community Services. It overlays the dwelling completions for the 

Eastern District with the median sales price of dwellings. It shows that despite substantial 

completions over the last five years the Eastern District has experienced the sharpest increases in 

median dwelling prices compared with the proceeding 15 years. 

 

 

 

150



Figure: Annual dwelling completions and median sale price (1998-2016) 

 

Source: Greater Sydney Commission, Draft Central District Plan 2016 and NSW Rent and Sales report data 1998 - 2016 

The City of Sydney is now at a considerable premium compared to other parts of Sydney and NSW. 

The proportion of housing that is affordable for purchase for very low, low and moderate income 

households is essentially non-existent. 

The LGA median strata dwelling price is now at a high of $891,000 (March 2017 quarter). By 

comparison, the Greater Sydney median strata dwelling prices are $720,000. Figure 2 illustrates the 

average weekly mortgage payment of $1048 based on a 10 per cent deposit, standard stamp duty 

charges built into the 30-year mortgage and five per cent interest rate. 

Rental costs are equally concerning. The LGA’s median weekly rent in September 2016 for a two-

bedroom unit is $795 (June 2017 quarter) compared with the Greater Sydney and NSW median 

weekly rents of $540. This represents a 30 per cent increase from the $610 median weekly rents in 

September 2010. 

A 43% reduction in the median strata dwelling price or a 25% reduction in average strata rents are 

required for housing to be considered affordable for moderate income households (NSW Family & 

Community Services – Housing Rent and Sales Report – and 2017/2017 household income medians). 

A moderation in housing costs of this scale is unlikely to occur through market forces, despite a 

cooling property market. In addition, there is no evidence to suggest that incomes will increase at 

the same pace that house prices increase, suggesting the gap may widen even further. This has 

certainly been the experience of the last four decades. In 1975 the average first time buyer in 

Sydney would take three years to save a house deposit, today that has increased 3 times to 9 years. 

The disparity between housing costs in inner Sydney and ability of very low to low income 

households to pay is clear. The need to increase the supply of affordable housing for very low to 

moderate income households is now urgent if very low to moderate income households are still to 

live in the city. 

 

151



Greater clarity is required about exemptions  

Number of submissions: 2 individual  

Submissions are concerned about the lack of clarity about when development is exempt from a 

requirement to pay a contribution.  

Response: It is agreed that, owing to the legalistic nature of local environmental plans and other 

planning controls, it can be difficult to understand what is exempt from development.  

Some changes have been made to the Program following public exhibition to improve readability 

and to expand the range of development that may be eligible for exemption. 

 

Other methods of increasing affordable housing should be explored, such as build to rent  

Number of submissions: 2 individual and 1 organisational   

Submissions argue that other methods of increasing affordable housing should be explored, such as 

build to rent models. 

Response: The City supports the development of new affordable housing models, recognising range 

of approaches are required to address the shortfall of affordable housing needed to achieve the 

City’s targets. The City sees great potential in new models, such as build to rent, and looks forward 

to working with the development sector to develop these models. 

Notwithstanding this, the build to rent model, and others like it, are in their infancy. They are not yet 

a viable alternative to the proven approach to ensuring long-term affordable housing stock in the 

City’s existing contribution schemes. 

 

Incentive based schemes should be introduced instead of contribution schemes 

Number of submissions: 3 organisational 

Submissions argue that incentive schemes should instead be explored.    

Response: Incentive schemes for affordable housing, such as those available under State 

Environmental Planning Policy (Affordable Housing) 2009 have limited effectiveness and not resulted 

in any affordable housing outcomes in the City of Sydney, though it has increased the stock of 

boarding houses and student accommodation. Incentive schemes generally rely on increasing 

development capacity beyond the existing planning controls, with associated impacts on amenity. 

The City’s existing contribution schemes have resulted in over 800 affordable dwellings for low 

income households and are a proven approach to ensuring long term affordable housing stock is 

provided in the City.  

 

Student accommodation should be excluded from the need to make a contribution  

Number of submissions: 1 organisational  

As submission from Sydney University argues they should be excluded from the need to make a 

contribution because they:  

152



 provide student housing at 25 per cent below the costs generally charged for private student 

housing elsewhere in the LGA; and 

 are a not-for-profit organisation and the contribution requirement would divert funds from 

other university programs, such as research. 

In considering the concerns raised in the submission, the City does not support the exemption of the 

University from the requirement to make a contribution because: 

 the Program does provide exemption for affordable housing that is being provided in 

accordance with the affordable housing principles. This is exemption may provide 

opportunities for the University to partner with community housing providers for a student 

housing model that aligns with the Programs principles; 

 student housing being built by the University, while being rented at 25 per cent below 

market value, does not align with the Principles of this Program. Moreover, it does not 

means test residents, so there is no certainty regarding access by target households, being 

very low to moderate income households; 

 the Program provides no other exemptions for not-for profit development, irrespective to 

their activities. This is owing in part to an inability to determine where a distinct community 

benefit is arising from the activities of an organisation; 

 the City's affordable housing target, and this Planning Proposal and Program, is to ensure an 

increase in the supply of affordable rental housing for very low to moderate income 

households, including students and key workers, such as those that may be studying at or 

employed by the University. The University will benefit from the increase in affordable 

housing as much as any organisation in the City of Sydney. 

Use of funds resulting from the Program  

Number of submissions: 2 organisational  

A submission from Link Housing argues that funds resulting from the Program should be available to 

Link Housing.  

A submission from City West Housing argued that funds resulting from the Program are most 

efficiently used and result in the most affordable housing when managed by a single community 

housing provider. 

Response: City West Housing is the only provider currently listed on Schedule A – Recommended 

Community Housing Providers of the Program. Spreading the limited contributions across multiple 

providers would reduce the level of certainty with which City West Housing can undertake forward 

planning, for example, strategic land purchases for future projects would become difficult with no 

certainty of funding.  

Overall, it is considered that spreading funds across multiple providers would impact on City West’s 

10 year development plan and may reduce the amount of dwellings resulting from the Program.  

City West Housing has a proven track record of using contribution funds resulting from the Program, 

delivering over 700 affordable dwellings in the City and supporting over 1,300 low income residents. 

An additional 500 dwellings are under development or in the development pipeline. City West 

Housing only operates in the City of Sydney, and as such has extensive knowledge of the community 

and of the challenges of owning and operating affordable housing in a dense urban environment. 

Developments are generally well designed and well managed and is provided in perpetuity. Systems 

and processes have been designed to specifically deliver on the principles in the Program. 

153



The City has a strong working relationship with City West Housing. While ownership vests with the 

State government by holding the company’s only ordinary shares, the City has a stake in the 

organisation through its roles of one of ten preferential shareholders with a direct interest in 

expanding affordable housing in the City of Sydney. For clarity, the City has no financial interest in 

City West Housing.    

It is noted that City West Housing relies heavily on the funds arising from the Program, owing to a 

corporate structure that limits the organisation’s ability to participate in some State Government 

funding schemes, such as the Social and Affordable Housing fund, which are available to other 

community housing providers more generally.  

City West Housing have, in their submission, indicated capacity to grow their organisation to manage 

the future opportunities that may arise from the expansion of the contribution schemes. 

Notwithstanding the above, the Program allows for other community housing providers to make an 

application to be added to Schedule should demonstrate it would not have a negative impact on the 

delivery of affordable housing.  

Moreover, funds resulting from development in the southern employment lands is passed to the 

NSW Department of Family and Community Service (FACS) where funds are to be distributed to a 

range of community housing providers. Oversight of the distribution of funds is through a Program 

Steering Committee, established by the draft Program and comprising representatives from the City 

and FACS. The Committee’s role is generally to provide advice on the timing and content of 

expressions of interest and tenders, and on how and to whom funds should be allocated. As 

sufficient funds become available, FACS will seek proposals from eligible community housing 

providers for projects within the LGA. Under the draft Program, collected funds are to be spent 

within the City of Sydney LGA.   

 

A longer phasing-in period is required for complex development applications 

Number of submissions: 1 organisational  

One submission argues a longer phasing-in period is required for complex development applications  

Response: Economic testing established the required phasing-in period for the contribution 

requirement to allow for a period of market adjustment. The period was further extended by 

requirement of the Gateway determination to allow for a further year. 

It is not feasible to introduce a system that would allow the City to adequately determine what it a 

complex development application and for how long it had been under preparation. However, it is 

noted that the intention to introduce a contribution requirement on residual land was reported to 

Council in March 2018, and in Central Sydney in July 2016. The contribution requirement will not be 

in full effect until July 2022.  Notwithstanding this, the Planning Proposal has been amended so that 

the contribution requirements do not apply to development applications in Central Sydney or on 

residual land lodged before 1 July 2018.  

  

154



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Post Exhibition - Planning Proposal - Serviced Apartments - Amendments to 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 - Sydney Local Environmental Plan 
2005 - Sydney Local Environmental Plan Green Square Town Centre 2013 and 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan - Green Square Town Centre Stage 2 2013

File No: X006784

Summary

Sydney hosts over 14 million domestic and international overnight visitor stays annually. 
Serviced apartments are an important part of the range and variety of tourist and visitor 
accommodation in Australia's most visited and most global city. The central Sydney market 
requires the flexibility to convert serviced apartments to residential apartments to respond to 
changing market needs. Applying the same amenity standards to both serviced apartments 
and residential apartments allows building owners and investors to respond efficiently, with 
minor additional costs and a more straight forward planning assessment.

Since 1996, the City has required serviced apartments to have the same amenity standards 
as residential apartments. Serviced apartments should have a comparable level of amenity 
to residential buildings so that any subsequent conversion of serviced apartments to 
permanent residential stock is not constrained by not being designed to meet the Apartment 
Design Guide amenity standards. Over that period there have been a number of examples 
where serviced apartment building owners have sought to convert their building to residential 
apartments.

In June 2015, amendments to State Environmental Planning Policy 65 and a new Apartment 
Design Guide, updated the former Residential Flat Design Code. The SEPP amendments 
included a new provision that, unless the relevant Local Environmental Plan states 
otherwise, SEPP 65 does not apply to a boarding house or serviced apartment. This 
triggered the need for the City to move its established provisions requiring compliance by 
serviced apartments with SEPP 65 from the Development Control Plan to the Local 
Environmental Plan. The assessment of residential buildings and serviced apartments 
buildings to comparable amenity standards has been a continuous requirement. The effect 
of this has been to ensure flexibility for serviced apartment buildings to be strata subdivided 
into residential at a later date with confidence that an adequate level of amenity will be 
provided. 

This report details the outcomes of the recent public exhibition of the planning proposal and 
recommends Council and the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve the planning 
proposal for finalisation and making as a local environmental plan.

The planning proposal is to ensure SEPP 65 and the Apartment Design Guide apply to 
serviced apartments, consistent with long standing Council policy.

It was placed on public exhibition from 16 July to 13 August 2018. Public consultation was 
carried out in accordance with the Gateway Determination including writing to 28 major 
serviced apartments owners and providers in the local government area.

1

Item 9.



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

One submission was received from a serviced apartment provider, and one submission from 
the Housing Industry Association.

No changes are recommended to the intent of the planning proposal, however, following 
consultation, it is recommended the planning proposal be updated to include additional 
explanation of the need for the planning proposal and rationale for the amendment.

Recommendation

It is resolved that:

(A) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the matters raised in response to the 
public exhibition of Planning Proposal - Serviced Apartments, as shown in Attachment 
A to the subject report;

(B) the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve the Planning Proposal - Serviced 
Apartments, as shown in Attachment B to the subject report, and request the Greater 
Sydney Commission to make as a local environmental plan under section 3.36 of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979; and

(C) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the recommendation to Council's 
Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee on 10 September 2018 that authority be 
delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor amendments to the 
Planning  Proposal - Serviced Apartments to correct any minor errors or omissions 
prior to finalisation.  

Attachments

Attachment A. Summary of Submissions

Attachment B. Planning Proposal - Serviced Apartments dated September 2018

2



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Background

1. The City monitors and reviews planning controls to deliver the long term vision of 
Sustainable Sydney 2030, and to respond to the economic, social, and cultural 
challenges and opportunities, as well as responding to the changes imposed by the 
NSW Government.

2. This planning proposal recommends inserting a new clause into the  local 
environmental plans which apply across the City's local government area to ensure 
State Environmental Planning Policy 65 (SEPP 65) and the Apartment Design Guide 
applies to serviced apartments.

3. The proposal is in response to the SEPP 65 and the Apartment Design Guide 
amendment in 2015, which allows SEPP 65 to apply to serviced apartments only if this 
is stated in a local environmental plan.

4. Since 1996, the City has had a Development Control Plan policy requiring serviced 
apartments to have the same amenity standards as residential apartments. The 
assessment of residential buildings and serviced apartments buildings to comparable 
amenity standards has been a continuous requirement. The effect of this has been to 
ensure flexibility for serviced apartment buildings to be strata subdivided into 
residential at a later date with an appropriate level of amenity. 

5. The proposal was considered by Council on 15 August 2016 and the Central Sydney 
Planning Committee (CSPC) on 11 August 2016. Council and the CSPC resolved to 
defer the matter, following a representation made at the meeting of the CSPC on 11 
August 2016, to enable further consideration.

6. On 10 and 13 October 2016, Council and CSPC respectively approved the proposal to 
seek a Gateway determination and public exhibition. After a number of meetings with 
the Department, further supporting information was submitted along with the request 
for a Gateway determination in January 2017.

7. On 12 June 2018, the Department of Planning and Environment issued a Gateway 
determination requiring amendment to the planning proposal to demonstrate 
consistency with the Greater Sydney Region Plan and Eastern City District Plan, 
update the project timeline, removing the example clause, and consult with all owners 
of serviced apartments and major serviced apartment providers in the City of Sydney 
local government area.

8. The plan making functions of the Minister for Planning have not been delegated to the 
Council for this planning proposal.

9. The proposal was exhibited for a minimum of 28 days from 16 July to 13 August 2018.

Key Implications

Outcomes of public exhibition and public authority consultation
10. Public consultation was carried out in accordance with the Gateway determination 

including giving notice to 28 major serviced apartments owners and providers in the 
local government area. One submission was received from a serviced apartment 
provider, and one submission from the Housing Industry Association.

3



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

11. Key issues raised are discussed below. All matters raised in submissions are 
addressed in detail in the table at Attachment A.

Flexibility required

Submission
12. Both submissions express concern that the provisions will be "elevated" to an LEP, 

becoming a statutory requirement and requests flexibility when assessing serviced 
apartment applications. 

13. The submissions argue that the Apartment Design Guide is often applied in a very 
literal and prescriptive way, contrary to the way it was intended. Elevating SEPP 65 
and the Apartment Design Guide from their current status into mandatory matters for 
consideration will prevent Council planners from exercising a reasonable and 
pragmatic approach to the consideration of development applications for serviced 
apartments. 

14. The design quality principles identified in Schedule 1, should not be used as a 
mechanism to refuse development consent or modification of development consent.

Response
15. The planning proposal is necessary in response to the State Environmental Planning 

Policy 65 (SEPP65) and the ADG amendment in 2015, which allows SEPP65 to apply 
to serviced apartments, but only if this is stated in a local environmental plan. 

16. In June 2017, the Department of Planning and Environment issued a planning circular 
(PS 17-001) providing guidance on the application of the Apartment Design Guide. It 
states that, apart from the non-discretionary development standards in SEPP65, the 
Apartment Design Guide is not intended to be and should not be applied as a set of 
strict development standards. 

17. Similarly, the design quality principles in Schedule 1 are not development standards. 
Both are inherently flexible in the way that they are expressed allowing alternate 
solutions to address the objectives, criteria and principles.

18. The degree of flexibility when assessing these applications against SEPP65 and the 
Apartment Design Guide is the same whether an LEP or DCP provision states that 
SEPP65 and the Apartment Design Guide apply.

Economic Impacts

Submission
19. Even though  the proposal does not impose a new policy it does alter the approach 

taken during the assessment of development applications and imposes a more formal 
regulatory regime than what currently exists. This is in effect a change of policy that 
should be fully costed and its economic impacts understood.

Response
20. The approach taken responds to the requirement of the SEPP65 amendment. There is 

no change in Council's policy. The LEP amendment refers to the need to consider 
SEPP 65 and Apartment Design Guide requirements. 

4



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

21. The proposal will not impose additional construction costs because the Rawlinson's 
Australian construction guide shows that  building costs  for residential apartment 
buildings and serviced apartment buildings are equivalent at up to  $3000 per square 
metre.

22. The Gateway determination specifically requested that all owners and major serviced 
apartment providers be notified. One submission was received from a serviced 
apartment provider, claiming that the proposal is unreasonable. The submission does 
not detail how it is unreasonable or raise specific concerns on the proposal's economic 
impact, noting that the proposal reflects existing Council policy, within which many 
serviced apartment businesses continue to operate and expand. 

23. The economic impact of not implementing this proposal places uncertainty on the 
ability for serviced apartments to be converted into residential accommodation, 
resulting in significant time, resources and money spent on the merits of this issue in 
the future.

Unreasonable and unnecessary

Submission
24. One submission claims it is unreasonable and unnecessary for serviced apartments to 

provide the same level of amenity as residential flat buildings because serviced 
apartments are defined as a short term form of commercial accommodation and are 
not residential accommodation.

25. The other submission states there has been no consideration of how effective the DCP 
provisions have been in delivering good planning outcomes.

Response
26. Sydney hosts over 14 million domestic and international overnight visitor stays 

annually. Serviced apartments are an important part of the range and variety of tourist 
and visitor accommodation in Australia's most visited and most global city. The central 
Sydney market requires the flexibility to convert serviced apartments to residential 
apartments to respond to changing market needs. Applying the same amenity 
standards to both serviced apartments and residential apartments allows building 
owners and investors to respond efficiently, with minor additional costs and more 
straight forward planning assessment.

27. The proposal does not introduce a new policy position. It has been Council's policy 
since 1996 to require serviced apartment buildings to be constructed to the same level 
of amenity as a residential flat building. 

28. In addition, Clause 4(4) of SEPP 65 allows the policy to apply to serviced apartments, 
which demonstrates that this proposal, contemplated by the NSW Government is 
therefore not unreasonable.

29. Since 2002, 69% of serviced apartment applications, representing 3221 apartments, 
related to conversions between serviced and residential apartments, demonstrating 
desire for flexibility between the two uses. The City has over 5000 serviced apartments 
with approximately 750 apartments in the pipeline to date.

30. An LEP amendment is necessary because the SEPP 65 amendments in 2015 requires 
an LEP to state that the SEPP applies to serviced apartments for it to have effect.

5



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Purpose to prevent oversupply of apartments

Submission
31. One submission claims the underlying objective and purpose of the planning proposal 

is to formalise Council's existing policy and prevent the oversupply of apartments in the 
Sydney CBD which have risen due to the increase in conversions of serviced 
apartments.

Response
32. The objective and purpose of the proposal is to formalise Council's existing policy 

position. It is not to prevent an oversupply of apartments. Rather, the proposal allows 
for easier conversions because the building would already comply with SEPP65 and 
the Apartment Design Guide. It facilitates flexibility between the two uses for orderly 
and sustainable development. It also supports efficient use of resources and timely 
delivery of residential apartments. 

Conversion of serviced apartments to residential apartments

Submission
33. A submission states that where an applicant seeks to convert an existing serviced 

apartment development into a residential flat building, a development application must 
take into consideration SEPP 65.

Response
34. If a serviced apartment does not currently comply and is to be converted to residential 

apartments, a comprehensive redesign or potential demolition and rebuild may be 
required to ensure SEPP65 and Apartment Design Guide compliance. This reduces 
the building life and contributes to the inefficient use of building resources and delays 
delivery of residential apartments. Alternatively, an applicant seeking to convert an 
existing serviced apartment building which did not comply with SEPP 65 and 
Apartment Design Guide would be likely to claim that it was unreasonable or 
unnecessary for Council to require physical amendments to achieve compliance, given 
the high costs likely to be involved. Requiring amenity consideration upfront when the 
building is designed provides clarity and certainty while building in flexibility. Serviced 
apartments that already comply with the Apartment Design Guide can submit an 
application to convert with minimal physical works and time delay. 

Lacks justification

Submission
35. A submitter does not support transfer of current DCP provisions into Council's LEPs 

because the proposal lacks justification for the change. Part 3 of the proposal 
document is required to explain the need for the planning proposal and set out the 
rationale for the amendment.  

Response
36. Part 3 of the planning proposal has been amended. The planning proposal is required 

to update and provide clarity and certainty for serviced apartments. 

37. Clause 4.4.8.5 of Sydney DCP 2012 currently requires serviced apartments to be 
designed so that the level of amenity within each serviced apartment is equivalent to 
the requirements of a residential flat building. 

6



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

38. Section 4.2 of Sydney DCP 2012 relates to residential flat, commercial and mixed use 
developments. It states that in addition to the provisions within the DCP, the NSW 
Residential Flat Design Code 2002 (RFDC) is adopted by this DCP for residential flat 
development. 

39. In June 2015, amendments to SEPP65 and a new Apartment Design Guide were 
made, updating the former Residential Flat Design Code. Council could not simply 
update the DCP reference to refer to the Apartment Design Guide, however the SEPP 
amendment also included a new provision that, unless the relevant LEP states 
otherwise, SEPP 65 does not apply to a boarding house or serviced apartment. 

40. Clause 28 of SEPP65 requires a consent authority to take into consideration the 
Apartment Design Guide This meant the City needs a planning proposal to amend the 
LEP to enable SEPP 65 and the Apartment Design Guide to apply to serviced 
apartments. 

41. In response to this submission, Part 3 of the planning proposal is amended to provide 
justification outlining the existing controls, the SEPP65 amendment, and relationship to 
the Apartment Design Guide, further supporting the objectives and intended outcomes 
in Part 1. The amendments are marked up in the revised planning proposal at 
Attachment B.

Key benefits of the proposal 
42. In summary, the key benefits are:

(a) providing clarity on how serviced apartments are to be assessed;

(b) providing flexibility of use for developers and future investors;

(c) ensuring the amenity for future occupants, whether permanent residents or 
visitors are assured;

(d) allowing adaptability of a building reduces inefficient use of building resources 
and waste;

(e) allowing subsequent conversions to take place efficiently; and

(f) reduces reliance on mechanical ventilation and lowers energy consumption.

43. The proposal promotes good design and amenity of the built environment including the 
protection of the health and safety of occupants in line with the objects of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Act.

44. The City intends to maintain its long standing benchmarks for serviced apartments 
comparable to residential flat buildings and reduce barriers to conversions, which can 
lead to costly and time consuming non-compliant uses and uncertainty for investors 
and apartment owners. Requiring SEPP 65 and the Apartment Design Guide 
principles to be considered upfront is efficient and orderly development.

45. The proposal is consistent with all state, regional or local strategies, policies and plans. 
Clause 4 of SEPP 65 allows an LEP to state that it applies to serviced apartments.

7



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Strategic Alignment 
46. The Greater Sydney Region Plan is the state government strategic document that 

outlines a vision for Greater Sydney over the next 40 years. The Plan outlines how 
Greater Sydney will manage growth and change and guide infrastructure delivery, and 
is to be implemented at a local level by District Plans.

47. It identifies key challenges facing Greater Sydney, which is forecast to grow from 4.7 
million people to 8 million people by 2056. Greater Sydney must provide for an 
additional 817,000 jobs by 2036 and will need to provide 725,000 more homes over 
the next 20 years.

48. The planning proposal is consistent with the following relevant objectives and planning 
priorities of the Greater Sydney Region Plan:

(a) Objective 18: Harbour CBD is stronger and more competitive by providing a 
diversity of activity including high amenity tourist facilities and residential 
accommodation.

(b) Objective 24: Economic sectors are targeted for success by allowing flexible use 
of land and buildings to service the tourism and residential accommodation 
sectors.

(c) Objectives 33, 34 and 35: A low carbon city contributes to net-zero emissions by 
2050 and mitigates climate change.

49. The Eastern City District Plan sets the local planning context for the City of Sydney 
local government area. It provides a 20-year plan to manage growth and achieve the 
40-year vision of the Greater Sydney Region Plan. 

50. The planning proposal is consistent with the following relevant planning priorities and 
actions of the Eastern City District Plan:

(a) Planning Priority E7: Growing a stronger and more competitive Harbour CBD.

(b) Planning Priority E13 Supporting growth of targeted industry sectors.

(c) Planning Priority E19: Reducing carbon emissions and managing energy, water 
and waste efficiently.

51. This planning proposal supports the above key objectives and priorities as it will: 
provide for quality serviced apartments for visitors commensurate with a global city, 
enabling timely delivery of development, clarifying LEP provisions and allowing 
efficient use of land by maximising the adaptability of buildings.

52. Sustainable Sydney 2030 is a vision for the sustainable development of the City to 
2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City, as 
well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. This proposal is aligned with the 
following strategic directions and objectives:

(a) Direction 1 - A Globally Competitive and Innovative City - the proposal will 
provide high quality serviced apartments for visitors commensurate with a global 
city.  

8



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

(b) Direction 8 – Housing for a Diverse Population – By requiring the same 
development standards as residential apartments, conversions of serviced 
apartments will need to consider the design principles, such as diversity and 
adaptability, consistent with Action 8.2.3 Ensure new residential development is 
well designed for people with a disability or limited mobility, the elderly and is 
adaptable for use by different household types. 

(c) Direction 9 - Sustainable Development, Renewal and Design - the proposal 
promotes sustainability by reducing unnecessary resource wastage and allows 
easy adaptability of serviced to residential apartments. By applying amenity 
standards such as cross ventilation and solar access, mechanical ventilation is 
reduced and energy consumption lowered.

Relevant Legislation

53. Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979.

Critical Dates / Time Frames

54. The gateway determination requires that the amendments to the Sydney local 
environmental plans are completed by June 2019. The Greater Sydney Commission 
may take action under section 3.32(2)(d) of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979 if this timeframe is not met.

55. The gateway determination states that the Council is not authorised to exercise 
delegation to make the local environmental plans. If approved by Council, the planning 
proposal will be forwarded to the Department of Planning and Environment with a 
request to draft and publish the LEPs.

GRAHAM JAHN, AM

Director City Planning, Development and Transport

Karen Judd, Specialist Planner

9



Attachment A 

Summary of submissions

10



Attachment A
Summary of submissions 

No. Submitter Submission Response

1 Serviced 

Apartment 

Owner/Provider

It would be unreasonable and unnecessary for serviced 

apartment development applications to provide the same 

level of amenity as residential flat buildings because serviced 

apartments are defined as a short term form of commercial 

accommodation. Council need to consider that residential 

and commercial uses have a different level of amenity. 

Serviced apartments are an important part of the range 

and variety of tourist and visitor accommodation in 

Australia's most visited and most global city. The central 

Sydney market requires the flexibility to convert serviced 

apartments to residential apartments to respond to 

changing market needs. Applying the same amenity 

standards to both serviced apartments and residential 

apartments allows building owners and investors to 

respond efficiently, with minor additional costs and more 

straight forward planning assessment. The proposal does 

not introduce a new policy. It has been Council's policy 

since 1996 to require serviced apartment buildings to be 

constructed to the same level of amenity as a residential 

flat building. In addition, Clause 4(4) of SEPP 65 allows the 

policy to apply to serviced apartments, which 

demonstrates that this proposal, contemplated by the 

NSW Government is therefore not unreasonable. Since 

2002, 69% of serviced apartment applications, 

representing 3221 apartments, related to conversions 

between serviced and residential apartments, 

demonstrating desire for flexibility between the two uses. 

The City has over 5000 serviced apartments with 

approximately 750 apartments in the pipeline to date. An 

LEP amendment is necessary because the SEPP 65 

amendments in 2015 requires an LEP to state that the SEPP 

applies to serviced apartments for it to have effect.

The underlying objective or purpose of this planning 

proposal is not relevant to the development type, it is to 

formalise Council's existing policy and prevent the 

oversupply of apartments in the Sydney CBD which have 

risen due to the increase in conversions of serviced 

apartments.

The objective and purpose of the proposal is to formalise 

Council's existing policy. It is not to prevent an oversupply 

of apartments. Rather, the proposal allows for easier 

conversions because the building would already comply 

with SEPP65 and the Apartment Design Guide. It facilitates 

flexibility between the two uses for orderly and sustainable 

development. It also supports efficient use of resources 

and timely delivery of residential apartments. 

Where an applicant seeks to convert an existing serviced 

apartment development into a residential flat building, a 

Development application must take into consideration SEPP 

65.

If a serviced apartment does not currently comply and is to 

be converted to residential apartments, a comprehensive 

redesign or potential demolition and rebuild may be  

required to ensure SEPP65 and  Apartment Design Guide 

compliance. This reduces the building life and contributes 

to the inefficient use of building resources and delays 

delivery of residential apartments. Alternatively, an 

applicant seeking to convert an existing serviced 

apartment building which did not comply with SEPP 65 and  

Apartment Design Guide would be likely to claim that it 

was unreasonable or unnecessary for Council to require 

physical amendments to achieve compliance, given the 

high costs likely to be involved. Requiring amenity 

consideration upfront when the building is designed 

provides clarity and certainty while building in flexibility. 

Serviced apartments that already comply with the 

Apartment Design Guide can submit an application to 

convert with minimal physical works and time delay.

11



Attachment A
Summary of submissions 

No. Submitter Submission Response

It is essential an appropriate degree of flexibility when 

assessing these applications. To strictly apply the 

development standard, in the absence of any tangible 

impact, would be unreasonable and without basis. The 

design quality principles identified in Schedule 1, should not 

be used as a mechanism to refuse development consent or 

modification of development consent.

The planning proposal is necessary in response to the State 

Environmental Planning Policy 65 (SEPP65) and the ADG 

amendment in 2015, which allows SEPP65 to apply to 

serviced apartments, but only if this is stated in a local 

environmental plan. In June 2017, the Department of 

Planning and Environment issued a planning circular (PS 17‐

001) providing guidance on the application of the 

Apartment Design Guide. It states that, apart from the non‐

discretionary development standards in SEPP65, the 

Apartment Design Guide is not intended to be and should 

not be applied as a set of strict development standards. 

Similarly, the design quality principles in Schedule 1 are not 

development standards. Both are inherently flexible in the 

way that they are expressed allowing alternate solutions to 

address the objectives, criteria and principles. The degree 

of flexibility when assessing these applications against 

SEPP65 and the Apartment Design Guide is the same 

whether an LEP or DCP provision states that SEPP65 and 

the Apartment Design Guide apply.

2 Housing 

Industry 

Association

Does not support transfer of current DCP provisions into 

Council's suites of LEPs. This proposal lacks justification for 

the change. Part 3 of the proposal document is required to 

explain the need for the planning proposal and set out the 

rationale for the amendment. 

Part 3 of the planning proposal has been amended. Clause 

4.4.8.5 of Sydney DCP 2012 currently requires serviced 

apartments to be designed so that the level of amenity 

within each serviced apartment is equivalent to the 

requirements of a residential flat building. Section 4.2 of 

Sydney DCP 2012 relates to residential flat, commercial 

and mixed use developments. It states that in addition to 

the provisions within the DCP, the NSW Residential Flat 

Design Code 2002 (RFDC) is adopted by this DCP for 

residential flat development. 

In June 2015, amendments to SEPP65 and a new 

Apartment Design Guide were made, updating the former 

Residential Flat Design Code. Council could not simply 

update the DCP reference to refer to the Apartment 

Design Guide, however the SEPP amendment also included 

a new provision that, unless the relevant LEP states 

otherwise, SEPP 65 does not apply to a boarding house or 

serviced apartment. Clause 28 of SEPP65 requires a 

consent authority to take into consideration the 

Apartment Design Guide This meant the City needs a 

planning proposal to amend the LEP to enable SEPP 65 and 

the Apartment Design Guide to apply to serviced 

apartments.

12



Attachment A
Summary of submissions 

No. Submitter Submission Response

There has been no consideration of how effective the 

current DCP provision have been in delivering good planning 

outcomes. As a minimum the proposal should identify the 

reason why the current requirement has not worked and 

why further regulatory intervention is necessary.

The current provisions in the DCP are considered effective 

and provide a good planning outcome. Since 1996, there 

has been no request to change the serviced apartment 

provisions in the DCP. The proposal reflects existing 

Council policy within which many serviced apartment 

businesses continue to operate and expand within the 

LGA. Since 2002, 69% of serviced apartment applications, 

representing 3221 apartments, related to conversions 

between serviced and residential apartments, 

demonstrating desire for flexibility between the two uses. 

The City has over 5000 serviced apartments with 

approximately 750 apartments in the pipeline to date. An 

LEP amendment is necessary because the SEPP 65 

amendments in 2015 requires an LEP to state that the SEPP 

applies to serviced apartments for it to have effect.

Notwithstanding the proposal does not impose a new policy 

it does alter the approach taken during the assessment of 

development applications and imposes a more formal 

regulatory regime than what currently exists. This is in effect 

a change of policy that should be fully costed and its 

economic impacts understood.

The approach taken responds to the requirement of the 

SEPP65 amendment. There is no change in Council's policy. 

The LEP amendment refers to the need to consider SEPP 

65 and Apartment Design Guide requirements. The 

proposal will not impose additional construction costs 

because the Rawlinson's Australian construction guide 

shows that  building costs  for residential apartment 

buildings and serviced apartment buildings are equivalent 

at up to  $3000 per square metre. The Gateway 

determination specifically requested that all owners and 

major serviced apartment providers be notified. One 

submission was received from a serviced apartment 

provider, claiming that the proposal is unreasonable. The 

submission does not detail how it is unreasonable or raise 

specific concerns on the proposal's economic impact, 

noting that the proposal reflects existing Council policy, 

within which many serviced apartment businesses 

continue to operate and expand. The economic impact of 

not implementing this proposal places uncertainty on the 

ability for serviced apartments to be converted into 

residential accommodation, resulting in significant time, 

resources and money spent on the merits of this issue in 

the future.

13



Attachment A
Summary of submissions 

No. Submitter Submission Response

A consequence arising from the elevation of the current DCP 

requirement to consider and apply the heavily prescriptive 

requirements of SEPP65 and the ADG to serviced apartment 

developments will be the removal of flexibility that Council 

can exercise when it considers development applications for 

serviced apartments. A frequent criticism often raised about 

local government planners is that they apply the ADG in a 

very literal and prescriptive way, contrary to the way it was 

intended. Therefore elevating SEPP 65 and the ADG from 

their current status into mandatory matters for 

consideration will prevent Council planners from exercising a 

reasonable and pragmatic approach to the consideration of 

development applications for serviced apartments.

In June 2017, the Department of Planning and 

Environment issued a planning circular (PS 17‐001) 

providing guidance on the application of the Apartment 

Design Guide. It states that, apart from the non‐

discretionary development standards in SEPP65, the 

Apartment Design Guide is not intended to be and should 

not be applied as a set of strict development standards. 

Similarly, the design quality principles in Schedule 1 are not 

development standards. Both are inherently flexible in the 

way that they are expressed allowing alternate solutions to 

address the objectives, criteria and principles. The degree 

of flexibility when assessing these applications against 

SEPP65 and the Apartment Design Guide is the same 

whether an LEP or DCP provision states that SEPP65 and 

the Apartment Design Guide apply.

14



Attachment B 

Planning Proposal - Serviced Apartments 
dated September 2018 

 

15



 

 

Planning Proposal 
Serviced 
Apartments 

City of Sydney 
Town Hall House 
456 Kent Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 

September 2016 June 2018 September 2018  

 
 
 
 

16



 

1 / Planning Proposal: Serviced apartments – September 2016 June September 2018 

Contents 
Introduction ............................................................................................................... 2 
Part 1 – Objectives or Intended Outcomes ................................................................ 2 
Part 2 – Explanation of the Provisions ....................................................................... 3 
Part 3 – Justification .................................................................................................. 4 
Part 4 – Mapping ..................................................................................................... 11 
Part 5 – Community Consultation ............................................................................ 11 
Part 6 – Project Timeline ......................................................................................... 11 
 
  

17



 

2 / Planning Proposal: Serviced apartments – September 2016 June September 2018 

Introduction 
This Planning Proposal explains the intent of, and justification for the proposed 
amendment to ensure State Environmental Planning Policy No. 65 (SEPP 65) and 
the Apartment Design Guide provisions apply to serviced apartments. 
The proposal has been prepared in accordance with Section 55 of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (the Act) and the relevant Department of 
Planning Guidelines, including A Guide to Preparing Local Environmental Plans and 
A Guide to Preparing Planning Proposals. 

Part 1 – Objectives or Intended 
Outcomes 
The objectives or intended outcome of the planning proposal is to ensure SEPP65 
and the Apartment Design Guide provisions apply to serviced apartments in: 

• Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012; 

• Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2005; 

• Sydney Local Environmental Plan (Green Square Town Centre) 2013; and 

• Sydney Local Environmental Plan (Green Square Town Centre Stage 2) 2013. 
Under the former Living Sydney strategy, the Central Sydney LEP and DCP 1996 
encouraged residential and serviced apartments by introducing higher maximum 
floor space ratios compared to other uses. Section 6 of the 1996 DCP set out the 
amenity standards for residential and serviced apartments buildings. It required that 
both uses met comparable amenity standards so that “any subsequent conversion of 
serviced apartments to permanent residential stock is not constrained by poor 
amenity”. In the DCP, the definition of ‘dwelling unit’ refers to units in both residential 
and serviced apartments. 
In 2002, State Environmental Planning Policy No. 65 – Design Quality of Residential 
Apartment Development (SEPP 65) was made to improve the design quality of 
residential apartment development in NSW. The City continued to use the DCP to 
treat serviced apartments and residential as meeting comparable amenity standards. 
In June 2015, amendments to SEPP 65 and a new Apartment Design Guide were 
brought in, updating the former Residential Flat Design Code. The SEPP 
amendment included a new provision that, unless the relevant Local Environmental 
Plan states otherwise, SEPP 65 does not apply to a boarding house or serviced 
apartments. This meant the City needed to move its longstanding provisions from the 
DCP to the LEP. 
Under current planning controls, the City requires standards of design and 
construction for serviced apartments to be consistent with residential apartments. 
Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 (Sydney DCP 2012) currently contains this 
objective at Section 4.4.8(b) which states: “Ensure serviced apartment developments 
provide a level of health and amenity for residents to ensure any future conversion to 
residential flats is not compromised by poor amenity.” Section 4.2 relates to amenity 
for residents in residential flat buildings and references the former Residential Flat 
Design Code. 
The intent of this planning proposal is to ensure SEPP 65 and the Apartment Design 
Guide apply to serviced apartments, consistent with longstanding Council policy.  

18



 

3 / Planning Proposal: Serviced apartments – September 2016 June September 2018 

This is a continuation of the existing policy requiring the same standards for serviced 
apartments as for residential flat buildings. Section 4.2 of Sydney DCP 2012 
contains controls addressing the principles of SEPP 65 and guidance in the 
Apartment Design Guide, including solar and daylight access and ventilation. 
This approach provides continuity and clarity that residential minimum amenity 
provisions are to be considered as part of the assessment. It allows for the greatest 
flexibility in the future use of a building, as serviced apartments are very similar in 
layout to residential apartments if not identical. The approach allows conversion to 
occur at a later time without adverse amenity impact that would otherwise require 
significant structural changes and re-design of the building. Solar access and 
building separation are extremely difficult and costly to achieve retrospectively, 
should a building not already meet these requirements. 
The approach would remove doubt as to the standard required for serviced 
apartments.  

Part 2 – Explanation of the Provisions 
The proposed outcome will be achieved by including a new local provision that 
ensures SEPP65 and the Apartment Design Guide standards apply to service 
apartments. 
It is proposed to amend the SLEP2012, to ensure: by inserting a new clause for 
example: 

• Serviced apartments provide the same level of amenity as residential flat buildings; 
and 

• Substandard residential accommodation occurring through the conversion of 
serviced apartments to residential flat buildings is prevented 

• Development which includes serviced apartments, must be considered against the 
design principles in: 

o State Environmental Planning Policy No. 65 and  
o the Apartment Design Guide 

Serviced Apartments 
1) The objective of this clause is to: 

a) ensure serviced apartments provide the same level of amenity as residential 
flat buildings; and 

b) prevent substandard residential accommodation occurring through the 
conversion of serviced apartments to residential flat buildings; 

2) This clause applies if development includes serviced apartments. 
3) Development consent must not be granted for a building or part of a building to 

be used for the purpose of serviced apartments unless the consent authority has 
considered the following: 
a) The design quality principles set out in Schedule 1 to State Environmental 

Planning Policy No 65 – Design Quality of Residential Apartment 
Development; and 

b) The design principles of the Apartment Design Guide (within the meaning of 
that Policy) 

19



 

4 / Planning Proposal: Serviced apartments – September 2016 June September 2018 

Part 3 – Justification 
This section of the planning proposal provides the rationale for the amendments and 
responds to questions set out in the document entitled A guide to preparing planning 
proposals, published by the Department of Planning and Infrastructure in August 
2016. 

Section A – Need for the planning proposal 

Is the planning proposal a result of any strategic study or report? 
No. The proposed amendment to serviced apartment provision will formalise the 
application of Council policy to design serviced apartments to the same quality as 
residential flat buildings to give effect to SEPP 65 and the Apartment Design Guide. 
The planning proposal is required to update and provide clarity and certainty for 
serviced apartments. Clause 4.4.8.5 of Sydney DCP 2012 currently requires 
serviced apartments to be designed so that the level of residential amenity within 
each apartment is equivalent to the requirements of a residential flat building. 
Section 4.2 of Sydney DCP 2012 relate to resident flat, commercial and mixed use 
developments. It states that in addition to the provisions within the DCP, the NSW 
Residential Flat Design Code 2002 (RFDC) is adopted by this DCP for residential flat 
development. 
In June 2015, amendments to SEPP65 and a new Apartment Design Guide (ADG) 
were made, updating the former RFDC. Council could simply update the reference in 
the DCP to refer to the ADG, however the SEPP amendment also included a new 
provision that, unless the relevant LEP states otherwise, SEPP 65 does not apply to 
a boarding house or serviced apartment. Clause 28 of SEPP65 requires a consent 
authority to take into consideration the ADG This meant the City needed to move its 
longstanding provisions from the DCP to the LEP. 
The current provisions in the DCP are considered effective and provide a good 
planning outcome. Since 1996, there has been no request to change the serviced 
apartment provisions in the DCP. The proposal reflects existing Council policy within 
which many serviced apartment businesses continue to operate and expand within 
the LGA. 
Since 2002, 69% of serviced apartment applications, representing approximately 
3221 apartments related to conversions between residential and serviced 
apartments, demonstrating desire for flexibility between the two uses. 

Is the planning proposal the best means of achieving the objectives or 
intended outcomes, or is there a better way? 
The best way to ensure serviced apartments provide the same level of amenity as 
residential flat buildings and prevent potential substandard accommodation occurring 
through conversion is to require the same standards as set out in SEPP 65 and the 
Apartment Design Guide that apply to residential flat buildings. 

20



 

5 / Planning Proposal: Serviced apartments – September 2016 June September 2018 

Section B – Relationship to strategic planning framework 

Is the planning proposal consistent with the objectives and actions of the 
applicable regional, sub-regional or district plan or strategy (including any 
exhibited draft plans or strategies? 
The Greater Sydney Region Plan is the state government strategic document that 
outlines a vision for Greater Sydney over the next 40 years. The Plan outlines how 
Greater Sydney will manage growth and change and guide infrastructure delivery, 
and is to be implemented at a local level by District Plans.  
It identifies key challenges facing Greater Sydney, which is forecast to grow from 4.7 
million people to 8 million people by 2056. Greater Sydney must provide for an 
additional 817,000 jobs by 2036 and will need to provide 725,000 more homes over 
the next 20 years. 
The planning proposal is consistent with the following relevant objectives and 
planning priorities of the Greater Sydney Region Plan: 

• Objective 10: Greater housing supply 

• Objective 23: Economic sectors are targeted for success 
The Eastern City District Plan sets the local planning context for the City of Sydney 
local government area. It provides a 20-year plan to manage growth and achieve the 
40-year vision of the Greater Sydney Region Plan. 
The planning proposal is consistent with the following relevant planning priorities and 
actions of the Eastern City District Plan: 

• Planning Priority E5: Providing housing supply, choice and affordability with 
access to jobs, services and public transport 

• Planning Priority E13 Supporting growth of targeted industry sectors 
The proposed amendments to SLEP 2012 will directly facilitate these priorities by 
ensuring that conversions from serviced apartments can meet the amenity 
requirements under the Apartment Design Guide and District Plan by “encouraging 
development of a range of well-designed and located facilities”, in the form of 
serviced apartments, to support the tourism sector.  
 
In December 2014 the NSW Government published A Plan for Growing Sydney. 
Consistency with A Plan for Growing Sydney and the draft Sydney City Subregional 
Strategy is discussed below.  
A Plan for Growing Sydney  
A Plan for Growing Sydney is a State Government strategic document that outlines a 
vision for Sydney over the next 20 years. It identifies key challenges facing Sydney 
including a population increase of 1.6 million by 2034, 689,000 new jobs by 2031 
and a requirement for 664,000 new homes.  
In responding to these and other challenges, the Plan for Sydney sets out four goals:  
1. a competitive economy with world-class services and transport;  
2. a city of housing choice with homes that meet our needs and lifestyles;  
3. a great place to live with communities that are strong, healthy and well 

connected; and  
4. a sustainable and resilient city that protects the natural environment and has a 

balanced approach to the use of land and resources.  

21



 

6 / Planning Proposal: Serviced apartments – September 2016 June September 2018 

The planning proposal is consistent with relevant goals, directions and actions of the 
plan. By ensuring future conversions to residential accommodation comply with 
state-wide amenity standards, the planning proposal can support the achievement of 
Goal 2. A city of housing choice, with homes that meet our needs and lifestyles and 
Direction 2.1 Accelerate housing supply across Sydney. 
Draft Sydney City Subregional Strategy  
The NSW Government’s draft Sydney City Subregional Strategy sets directions and 
actions for the implementation of the metropolitan plan at a more detailed local level. 
Subregional planning provides a framework for coordinating planning, development, 
infrastructure, transport, open space networks and environmental actions across 
local and state government agencies.  
The Sydney City Subregion is identified in A Plan for Growing Sydney as being part 
of Global Sydney and the hub of the Australian Economy. The planning proposal 
supports the priority for Global Sydney to provide capacity for additional mixed-use 
development for tourism and housing. 
District Plan: Central 
The City of Sydney LGA is identified within the Central District. The Central District 
Plan is being prepared. The planning proposal does not contradict or hinder the 
priorities for the Strategic Centres, Subregion or District. 

Is the planning proposal consistent with a council’s local strategy or other 
local strategic plan? 
Sustainable Sydney 2030 is the vision for sustainable development of the City of 
Sydney to 2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of 
the City of Sydney. Sustainable Sydney 2030 (SS2030) outlines the City’s vision for 
a ‘green’, ‘global’ and ‘connected’ City of Sydney and sets targets, objectives and 
actions to achieve that vision. 
As such, the Planning Proposal is consistent with Sustainable Sydney 2030, 
particularly: 

• Direction 8 – Housing for a Diverse Population – By requiring the same 
development standards as residential apartments, conversions of serviced 
apartments will need to consider the design principles such as diversity and 
adaptability, consistent with Action 8.2.3 Ensure new residential development 
is well designed for people with a disability or limited mobility, the elderly and 
is adaptable for use by different household types. 

Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable state environmental 
planning policies? 
The consistency of the Planning Proposal with applicable State Environmental 
Planning Policies (SEPPs) and Regional Environmental Plans (deemed SEPPs) is 
outlined in Table 1. 

Table 1 – Consistency with applicable SEPPs and REPs 

State Environmental Planning Policy (SEPP) 
or Regional Environmental Plan (REP) Comment 
SEPP No 1—Development Standards Consistent – The Planning Proposal 

will not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP No 14—Coastal Wetlands Not applicable. 

22



 

7 / Planning Proposal: Serviced apartments – September 2016 June September 2018 

State Environmental Planning Policy (SEPP) 
or Regional Environmental Plan (REP) Comment 
SEPP No 15 – Rural Land Sharing 
Communities 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 19—Bushland in Urban Areas Not applicable. 
SEPP No 21—Caravan Parks Not applicable. 
SEPP No 26—Littoral Rainforests Not applicable. 
SEPP No 29—Western Sydney Recreation 
Area 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 30—Intensive Agriculture Not applicable. 
SEPP No 32—Urban Consolidation 
(Redevelopment of Urban Land) 

Consistent - The Planning Proposal 
will not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP No 33—Hazardous and Offensive 
Development 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 36—Manufactured Home Estates Not applicable. 
SEPP No 39—Spit Island Bird Habitat Not applicable. 
SEPP No 44—Koala Habitat Protection Not applicable. 
SEPP No 47—Moore Park Showground Not applicable. 
SEPP No 50—Canal Estate Development Not applicable. 
SEPP No 52—Farm Dams and Other Works in 
Land and Water Management Plan Areas 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 55—Remediation of Land Consistent – The Planning Proposal 
does not propose to rezone land. 
The Planning Proposal will not 
contradict or hinder the application 
of this SEPP. 

SEPP No 59—Central Western Sydney 
Regional Open Space and Residential 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 62—Sustainable Aquaculture Not applicable. 
SEPP No 64—Advertising and Signage Consistent - The Planning Proposal 

will not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP No 65—Design Quality of Residential 
Flat Development  

Consistent - The Planning Proposal 
supports the application of this 
SEPP to service apartments. 

SEPP No 70—Affordable Housing (Revised 
Schemes) 

Consistent - The Planning Proposal 
will not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP No 71—Coastal Protection Not applicable. 
SEPP (Building Sustainability Index: BASIX) 
2004 

Consistent - The Planning Proposal 
will not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Housing for Seniors or People with a 
Disability) 2004 

Consistent - The Planning Proposal 
will not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (State Significant Precincts) 2005 Consistent - The Planning Proposal 
will not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

23



 

8 / Planning Proposal: Serviced apartments – September 2016 June September 2018 

State Environmental Planning Policy (SEPP) 
or Regional Environmental Plan (REP) Comment 
SEPP (Sydney Region Growth Centres) 2006 Not applicable. 
SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007 Consistent - The Planning Proposal 

will not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Kosciuszko National Park— Alpine 
Resorts) 2007 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Mining, Petroleum Production 
and Extractive Industries) 2007 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Miscellaneous Consent Provisions) 
2007 

Consistent - The Planning Proposal 
will not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Exempt and Complying 
Development Codes) 2008 

Consistent - The Planning Proposal 
will not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Rural Lands) 2008 Not applicable. 
SEPP (Western Sydney Parklands) 2009 Not applicable. 
SEPP (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009 Consistent - The Planning Proposal 

will not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Western Sydney Employment Area) 
2009 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Kurnell Peninsula) 1989 Not applicable. 
SEPP (Penrith Lakes Scheme) 1989 Not applicable. 
SEPP (Urban Renewal) 2010 Not applicable. 
SEPP (Sydney Drinking Water Catchment) 
2011 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (State and Regional Development) 2011 Consistent - The Planning Proposal 
will not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Three Ports) 2013 Not applicable. 
Sydney REP No 8 (Central Coast Plateau 
Areas) 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 9—Extractive Industry (No 2—
1995) 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 16 – Walsh Bay Not applicable. 
Sydney REP 18 – Public Transport Corridors Not applicable. 
Sydney REP 19 – Rouse Hill Development 
Area 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 20—Hawkesbury- Nepean 
River (No 2—1997) 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 24—Homebush Bay Area Not applicable. 
Sydney REP No 26 – City West Not applicable 
Sydney REP No 30—St Marys Not applicable. 
Sydney REP No 33—Cooks Cove Not applicable. 
Sydney REP (Sydney Harbour Catchment) 
2005 

Not applicable. 

24



 

9 / Planning Proposal: Serviced apartments – September 2016 June September 2018 

State Environmental Planning Policy (SEPP) 
or Regional Environmental Plan (REP) Comment 
Sydney REP No 16 – Walsh Bay Not applicable. 
Sydney REP 18 – Public Transport Corridors Not applicable. 
Sydney REP 19 – Rouse Hill Development 
Area 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 20—Hawkesbury- Nepean 
River (No 2—1997) 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 24—Homebush Bay Area Not applicable. 
Sydney REP No 26 – City West Not applicable. 
Sydney REP No 30—St Marys Not applicable. 
Sydney REP No 33—Cooks Cove Not applicable. 
Sydney REP (Sydney Harbour Catchment) 
2005 

Consistent - The Planning Proposal 
will not contradict or hinder 
application of this SEPP. 

 

Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable Ministerial Directions 
(s.117 directions)? 
The Planning Proposal has been assessed against each Section 117 Direction. The 
consistency of the Planning Proposal with these directions is shown in Table 2 
below. 

Table 2 – Consistency with applicable Ministerial Directions under Section 117 

Title Comment 
1.1 Business and Industrial Zones Not applicable 
1.2 Rural Zones Not applicable 
1.3 Mining, Petroleum Production and 
Extractive Industries 

Not applicable 

1.4 Oyster Aquaculture Not applicable 
1.5 Rural Lands Not applicable 
2.1 Environment Protection Zones Not applicable 
2.2 Coastal Protection Not applicable 
2.3 Heritage Conservation Consistent - The Planning Proposal 

does not contradict or hinder 
heritage conservation provisions in 
any applicable LEP. 

2.4 Recreation Vehicle Areas Not applicable 
3.1 Residential Zones Not applicable 
3.2 Caravan Parks and Manufactured Home 
Estates 

Not applicable 

3.3 Home Occupations Not applicable 
3.4 Integrating Land Use and Transport Not applicable 
3.5 Development Near Licensed Aerodromes Not applicable 
3.6 Shooting Ranges Not applicable 
4.1 Residential Zones Not applicable 

25



 

10 / Planning Proposal: Serviced apartments – September 2016 June September 2018 

Title Comment 
4.2 Caravan Parks and Manufactured Home 
Estates 

Not applicable 

4.3 Home Occupations Not applicable 
4.4 Integrating Land Use and Transport Not applicable 
5.1 Implementation of Regional Strategies Not applicable 
5.2 Sydney Drinking Water Catchments Not applicable 
5.3 Farmland of State and Regional 
Significance on the NSW Far North Coast 

Not applicable 

5.4 Commercial and Retail Development along 
the Pacific Highway, North Coast 

Not applicable 

5.5 Second Sydney Airport, Badgerys Creek Not applicable 
6.1 Approval and Referral Requirements Consistent. The Planning Proposal 

does not include any concurrence, 
consultation or referral provisions 
nor does it identify any 
development as designated 
development. 

6.2 Reserving Land for Public Purposes Consistent. The Planning Proposal 
will not affect any land reserved for 
public purposes. 

6.3 Site Specific Provisions Not applicable 
7.1 Implementation of the Metropolitan Plan for 
Sydney 2036 

Consistent. 

 

Section C – Environmental, social and economic impact 

Is there any likelihood that critical habitat or threatened species, populations 
or ecological communities, or their habitats, will be adversely affected as a 
result of the proposal? 
The Planning Proposal is unlikely to adversely affect any critical habitat or 
threatened species, populations or ecological communities or their habitats.  

Are there any other likely environmental effects as a result of the Planning 
Proposal and how are they proposed to be managed? 
No - it is unlikely that the proposed amendments will result in development creating 
any environmental effects that cannot readily be controlled. 

Has the planning proposal adequately addressed any social and economic 
effects? 
By applying SEPP 65 and the Apartment Design Guide requirements to service 
apartments in the assessment process, the economic longevity of a building is 
increased as the amenity of future occupants has already been considered. 

Section D – State and Commonwealth interest 

Is there adequate public infrastructure for the planning proposal? 
Yes. The proposed amendments do not increase the need for infrastructure. 

26



 

11 / Planning Proposal: Serviced apartments – September 2016 June September 2018 

What are the views of State and Commonwealth public authorities consulted in 
the gateway determination? 
Appropriate consultation will be conducted when the gateway determination is 
issued. Formal consultation has not yet been undertaken. 

Part 4 – Mapping 
This Planning Proposal does not amend any maps. 

Part 5 – Community Consultation 
This Planning Proposal is to be exhibited in accordance with the Gateway 
Determination once issued by the Greater Sydney Commission. It is anticipated the 
Gateway Determination will require a public exhibition for a period of not less than 28 
days in accordance with section 4.5 of A Guide to preparing Local Environmental 
Plans. 
Notification of the public exhibition will be via: 
• the City of Sydney website; and 
• in newspapers that circulate widely in the area 
Information relating to the Planning Proposal will be on display at all of the City of 
Sydney customer service centres. 

Part 6 – Project Timeline 
The anticipated timeframe for the completion of the planning proposal is as follows: 
 
Action Anticipated Date 
Commencement / Gateway determination November 2016 June 2018 
Pre-exhibition government agency consultation  January 2017 – February 2017 N/A 
Public Exhibition January 2017 – February 2017 July 

2018 
Consideration of submissions February 2017 August 2018 
Post exhibition consideration of proposal March 2017 October 2018 (CSPC)  

March 2017 October 2018 (Council) 

Draft and finalise LEP  May 2017 November 2018 
LEP made (if delegated) June 2017 N/A 

Plan forwarded to DPE for notification June 2017 N/A 

 

27



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Public Exhibition - Planning Proposal - Heritage Floor Space Amendment

File No: X020078

Summary

Starting in 2014 several changes to the Heritage Floor Space scheme were introduced due 
to unprecedented levels of demand for the purchase of Heritage Floor Space and 
inadequate supply. Several changes targeted increasing the supply of heritage floor space, 
while other mechanisms looked to demand. The key to the demand changes was the 
introduction of the Alternative Heritage Floor Space Allocation Scheme, enabling developers 
to defer the purchase of heritage floor space until a later stage in the development process, 
enabling them to proceed with development.

As the Heritage Floor Space market is continuing to experience an imbalance between 
supply and demand, the Planning Proposal at Attachment A is to extend the application of 
the Alternative Heritage Floor Space Allocation Scheme for a further two years, by amending 
the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012.

The Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 sets the legal framework for a scheme under 
which owners of heritage buildings in Central Sydney may be awarded Heritage Floor Space 
after completing conservation works on the building. The Heritage Floor Space can then be 
sold to developers who, as a condition of using additional floor space, are required to 
allocate Heritage Floor Space to their development site.

This Planning Proposal is a response to an ongoing but temporary shortage of available 
Heritage Floor Space in the market and the need to allow additional time for an increase in 
long-term supply to become available. The increase in long-term supply is anticipated 
following recent changes extending the scope of the scheme to encourage the conservation 
of publicly-owned heritage buildings and to allow buildings to apply for a re-award of 
Heritage Floor Space after 25 years from the initial award has elapsed.

The Planning Proposal seeks to extend the existing alternative arrangements for the 
allocation of Heritage Floor Space to development sites in Central Sydney for a period of two 
years, allowing development to proceed ahead of the long-term increase in supply of 
Heritage Floor Space. The alternative arrangements allow the developer to enter into a 
planning agreement with Council which can lead to the allocation of Heritage Floor Space 
being deferred or, in the event that Heritage Floor space cannot be obtained, replaced with a 
monetary amount to be payable to Council to be used for heritage conservation that has a 
clear public benefit.

The corresponding change is also proposed to Council's adopted Alternative Heritage Floor 
Space Allocation Scheme. 

This report recommends the Committee approve the Planning Proposal for Gateway 
Determination from the Minister for Planning and subsequent public exhibition.

1

Item 10.



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Recommendation

It is resolved that:

(A) the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve the Planning Proposal - Heritage 
Floor Space amendment, shown at Attachment A to the subject report, for submission 
to the Greater Sydney Commission with a request for a Gateway Determination;

(B) the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve the Planning Proposal - Heritage 
Floor Space amendment for public authority consultation and public exhibition in 
accordance with any conditions imposed under the Gateway Determination;

(C) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the recommendation to Council’s 
Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee on 10 September 2018 that Council seek 
authority from the Minister or the Greater Sydney Commission to exercise the plan-
making functions of the Minister under section 3.36 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979;

(D) authority be delegated to the Chief executive Officer to make any minor variations to 
the Planning Proposal - Heritage Floor Space amendment following receipt of the 
Gateway Determination; and

(E) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the recommendation to Council's 
Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee on 10 September 2018 that Council 
approve the amendment to the Alternative Heritage Floor Space Allocation Scheme, 
shown at Attachment B to the subject report, for public exhibition to be undertaken 
concurrently with the Planning Proposal - Heritage Floor Space amendment.

Attachments

Attachment A. Planning Proposal - Heritage Floor Space Amendment 

Attachment B. Alternative Heritage Floor Space Allocation Scheme, as Amended

2



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Background

1. A transferrable heritage floor space scheme has existed in Central Sydney for more 
than 40 years, and has supported the on-going conservation of more than 75 heritage 
buildings. The current scheme is established under clauses 6.10 and 6.11 of Sydney 
Local Environmental Plan 2012. Clause 6.10 offers an incentive for owners of heritage 
buildings to conserve and maintain their property by enabling them to receive an 
award of heritage floor space after conservation works on the building are undertaken 
and relevant covenants apply to the site. Clause 6.11 stipulates that a developer may 
only utilise certain types of additional floor space if it allocates an amount of heritage 
floor space to its development site. Together these provisions establish a framework 
for a heritage floor space market in which vendors and purchasers negotiate directly 
with one another and the City maintains the heritage floor space register. 

2. From 2014, unprecedented levels of development activity in Central Sydney have 
absorbed a large amount of the available heritage floor space. Much of the remaining 
heritage floor space is being held as a long-term asset or by developers for future 
projects, and is not genuinely available for purchase. Council has responded with 
amendments which have extended the scope of the scheme to encourage the 
conservation of government buildings, and have allowed buildings to apply for a re-
award of heritage floor space 25 years after the original award was registered. 
Through extending the scope and application of the scheme, additional supply of 
heritage floor space will be created. 

3. To allow time for that additional supply of heritage floor space to be delivered to 
market, at its meeting in March 2016 Council approved an amendment to SLEP 2012 
to provide an alternative to the allocation of heritage floor space for a limited period. 
This is because it can take some time for a building owner to identify, plan and 
complete the conservation works necessary for a heritage floor space award. 

4. The alternative arrangements are contained in the Alternative Heritage Floor Space 
Allocation Scheme, adopted by Council at its March 2016 meeting, and allow 
developers to enter into a planning agreement with Council to defer the timing of the 
allocation of heritage floor space while they continue to make genuine efforts to 
purchase it on the market. If despite those genuine efforts the developer is not able to 
purchase heritage floor space, then a monetary amount is payable to Council as an 
alternative to the allocation of heritage floor space. 

5. Council's Alternative Heritage Floor Space Allocation scheme applies to development 
applications lodged prior to 1 January 2019. It restricts how Council can spend any 
money received through the alternative arrangements to the following:

(a) the preparation of conservation management plans for heritage buildings in 
Central Sydney;

(b) heritage conservation works undertaken by the Council in Central Sydney 
including, but not limited to:

(i) maintenance of heritage buildings in accordance with a conservation 
management plan; and

(ii) works to conserve the heritage significance of heritage items that are not 
buildings eg open space and elements of the public domain; and

3



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

(c) the improvement of the operation of the Heritage Floor Space scheme including 
any associated studies.

6. Since the alternative arrangements have come into force, sixteen developments have 
approached the City to enter into a planning agreement to defer their requirement to 
allocate heritage floor space. Of these, twelve have entered into a planning agreement 
with Council, and four planning agreements are under consideration. In total, the 
planning agreements defer the allocation of 43,876 square metres of heritage floor 
space. Only one development has been unable to purchase prior to the finalisation of 
its development and has made a monetary contribution to Council. 

7. Heritage floor space has continued to increase in value on the market since the 
introduction of the alternative arrangements, rising from an average transfer price of 
$643 per square metre in June 2016 to $1,343 at June 2018. This reflects the 
continuing effect of Sydney's development boom coupled with the lag time taken to 
bring supply of heritage floor space to the market. 

8. Work to realise heritage floor space from the conservation of State government and 
Council-owned heritage buildings is progressing, although more slowly than originally 
anticipated. Hyde Park Barracks have been awarded 12,732.5 square metres of 
heritage floor space in July 2017, which is expected to come to market once 
registration has been completed. It is anticipated that further awards for heritage 
buildings owned by government and Council may take place within the next 12 
months. 

9. At the same time, the City is preparing for a full review of the operation of the heritage 
floor space scheme, timed to feed into the wider review of the City's planning controls. 
This review will consider all aspects including the supply and demand of heritage floor 
space, the formulae used in its award and allocations, and the conditions under which 
awards are made.  

10. This report seeks to extend the alternative heritage floor space allocation 
arrangements for a period of a further two years to 1 January 2021. This extension will 
allow private heritage owners, State government and other public authorities, including 
Council, to undertake conservation works, finalise the awards and bring new heritage 
floor space to the market. It will also allow for the comprehensive review of the 
heritage floor space scheme to be completed and any findings to be implemented. 

11. The SLEP2012 refers to the consent authority having adopted and published a policy 
that makes alternative heritage arrangements to the allocation of heritage floor space. 
In accordance with this requirement, Council's position has been adopted and 
published through the Alternative Heritage Floor Space Allocation Scheme. To ensure 
the Scheme aligns with the SLEP 2012 change, it is proposed that the end date 
referred to in that Scheme is also updated to 1 January 2021.

12. The date change to the Alternative Heritage Floor Space Scheme is provided in 
Attachment B. No other changes to the Scheme are recommended at this time.

4



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Key Implications

Strategic Alignment - Sustainable Sydney 2030 Vision
13. Sustainable Sydney 2030 is a vision for the sustainable development of the City to 

2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City, as 
well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. This proposal is aligned with the 
following strategic directions and objectives:

(a) Direction 1 - A Globally Competitive and Innovative City - A Globally Competitive 
and Innovative City - the proposal is consistent with the objective of planning for 
growth and change in central Sydney.

Budget Implications

14. If developers who make use of the alternative allocation scheme are unable to 
purchase heritage floor space within the required timeframe, then this will result in a 
monetary contribution being paid to the City through a planning agreement. Council's 
Alternative Heritage Floor Space Allocation Scheme identifies that the money can only 
be spent on heritage works which have a public benefit. City officers will identify 
projects that deliver a public heritage benefit that can be suitable for funding in line 
with the options endorsed by Council as funds become available.

Relevant Legislation

15. Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979.

16. Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000.

17. City of Sydney Act 1988.

Critical Dates / Time Frames

18. The existing alternative arrangements expire on 1 January 2019 and need to be 
renewed prior to that time. The Planning Proposal includes a draft timetable to meet 
this deadline.

Options

19. There is the option of not extending the arrangements. However this is likely to impede 
the undertaking approval of development applications in Central Sydney and affect 
construction activity.

5



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Public Consultation

20. Public exhibition and public authority consultation will be undertaken in accordance 
with any Gateway Determination issued by the Greater Sydney Commission. Due to 
the minor nature of the proposal it is proposed that public exhibition should be for a 
minimum of 14 days.  Public exhibition will be notified: 

(a) on the City of Sydney website;

(b) in newspapers that circulate widely in the City of Sydney local government area; 
and

(c) through letters to owners of heritage items in Central Sydney, and to owners of 
heritage floor space.

21. Following the public exhibition process, the Planning Proposal and the updated 
Alternative Heritage Floor Space Scheme will be reported back to Council and the 
Central Sydney Planning Committee for approval.

GRAHAM JAHN, AM

Director City Planning, Development and Transport

David Fitzpatrick, Senior Planner

6



Attachment A 

Planning Proposal – Heritage Floor Space 
amendment 

 

7



 

 

Planning Proposal: 
Heritage Floor Space 
amendment 

City of Sydney 
Town Hall House 
456 Kent Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 

September 2018  

 
 
 
 

8



 

1 / Planning Proposal: Heritage Floor Space alternative extension – September 2018 

Contents 
Introduction ............................................................................................................... 2 
Part 1 – Objectives or Intended Outcomes ................................................................ 4 
Part 2 – Explanation of the Provisions ....................................................................... 4 
Part 3 – Justification .................................................................................................. 4 
Part 4 – Mapping ....................................................................................................... 7 
Part 5 – Community Consultation .............................................................................. 8 
Part 6 – Project Timeline ........................................................................................... 8 
 
  

9



 

2 / Planning Proposal: Heritage Floor Space alternative extension – September 2018 

Introduction 
This Planning Proposal explains the intent of, and justification for the proposed 
amendment to Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. 
The proposal has been prepared in accordance with section 3.33 of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (the Act) and the relevant 
Department of Planning Guidelines, including A Guide to Preparing Local 
Environmental Plans and A Guide to Preparing Planning Proposals. 

Background 
Heritage Floor Space planning controls in Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
(Sydney LEP) are the legal framework for a scheme under which owners of heritage 
buildings in Central Sydney may be awarded Heritage Floor Space (HFS) after 
completing conservation works on the building.  
Heritage Floor Space (HFS) may be sold to developers who, as a condition of using 
additional floor space, are required to allocate HFS to their development site. 
In July 2016, the planning controls were amended in response to the shortage of 
available HFS in the market and to increase long-term supply including: 

• temporary alternative arrangements to allow development applications made 
before 1 January 2019 to defer HFS requirements through entering into a 
planning agreement with Council 

• enabling heritage buildings granted an award of Heritage Floor space more than 
25 years ago to be eligible for a further award 

• extending the scope of the scheme to allow more government owned properties 
to be eligible for the award of Heritage Floor Space.  

The temporary alternative arrangement allows time for the investigation, planning 
and implementation of the conservation works necessary for an HFS award to be 
finalised, and for that additional supply to come onto the market. Through the 
alternative arrangement developers can enter into a planning agreement with 
Council to defer HFS allocation until after works have commenced while the 
developer makes ongoing attempts to purchase the HFS, allowing development to 
proceed. If after making ongoing and genuine attempts to purchase HFS the 
developer is still unable to do so a monetary contribution to be payable to Council to 
be used for heritage conservation works. This is set out in the Alternative Heritage 
Floor Space Allocation Scheme, adopted by Council in March 2016.  
Work to realise heritage floor space from the conservation of State government and 
Council-owned heritage buildings is progressing, although more slowly than 
originally anticipated. Hyde Park Barracks have been awarded 12,732.5 square 
metres of heritage floor space in July 2017, which is expected to come to market 
once registration has been completed. Further awards for heritage buildings owned 
by government and Council are likely to be finalised within the next 12 months. At 
the same time, the City is preparing for a full review of the operation of the heritage 
floor space scheme, timed to feed into the wider review of the City's planning 
controls.   
This planning proposal proposes to extend the alternative heritage floor space 
allocation arrangements for a period of a further two years to 1 January 2021. This 
extension will allow private heritage owners, State government and Council to 
undertake conservation works, finalise the awards and bring new heritage floor 

10



 

3 / Planning Proposal: Heritage Floor Space alternative extension – September 2018 

space to the market. It will also allow for the comprehensive review of the heritage 
floor space scheme to be completed and any findings to be implemented. 

  

11



 

4 / Planning Proposal: Heritage Floor Space alternative extension – September 2018 

Part 1 – Objectives or Intended 
Outcomes 
The objective of the planning proposal is to amend Sydney Local Environmental Plan 
2012 to extend the temporary period for alternative arrangements in relation to 
allocation of Heritage Floor Space by 2 years. 

Part 2 – Explanation of the Provisions 
The proposed outcome will be achieved by allowing clause 6.11A to apply to a 
development application that is made for a further 2 years. 

Part 3 – Justification 
This section of the planning proposal provides the rationale for the amendments and 
responds to questions set out in the document entitled ‘A guide to preparing planning 
proposals’, published by the Department of Planning and Environment in August 
2016. 

Section A – Need for the planning proposal 

Is the planning proposal a result of any strategic study or report? 
The planning proposal is the result of monitoring of the supply and demand of 
Heritage Floor Space through Council’s register. It extends the period for a 
temporary arrangement to allow time for new supply to come to market. During that 
time the City will undertake a holistic review of the Heritage Floor Space Scheme. 
The alternative arrangement is in place to overcome an identified temporary 
shortage of Heritage Floor Space in the market. 

Is the planning proposal the best means of achieving the objectives or 
intended outcomes, or is there a better way? 
The planning proposal is the best, most efficient and most time effective approach to 
delivering the desired outcome. Without an extension of time, proponents would not 
be able to use the alternative arrangement and development in Central Sydney may 
be delayed. 

Section B – Relationship to strategic planning framework 

Is the planning proposal consistent with the objectives and actions of the 
applicable regional, subregional or district plan or strategy (including any 
exhibited draft plans or strategies)? 
The Greater Sydney Region Plan is the state government strategic document that 
outlines a vision for Greater Sydney over the next 40 years. The Plan outlines how 
Greater Sydney will manage growth and change and guide infrastructure delivery, 
and is to be implemented at a local level by District Plans. 
It identifies key challenges facing Greater Sydney, which is forecast to grow from 4.7 
million people to 8 million people by 2056. Greater Sydney must provide for an 

12



 

5 / Planning Proposal: Heritage Floor Space alternative extension – September 2018 

additional 817,000 jobs by 2036 and will need to provide 725,000 more homes over 
the next 20 years. 
The planning proposal is consistent with the following relevant objectives and 
planning priorities of the Greater Sydney Region Plan: 

• Objective 13: Environmental heritage is identified conserved and enhanced 

• Objective 18: Harbour CBD is stronger and more competitive 

• Objective 22: Investment and business activities in centres 
The Eastern City District Plan sets the local planning context for the City of Sydney 
local government area. It provides a 20-year plan to manage growth and achieve the 
40-year vision of the Greater Sydney Region Plan. 
The planning proposal is consistent with the following relevant planning priorities and 
actions of the Eastern City District Plan: 

• Planning Priority E6: Creating and renewing great places and local centres, and 
respecting the District’s heritage 

• Planning Priority E7: Growing a stronger and more competitive Harbour CBD 

• Planning Priority E11: Growing investment, business opportunities and jobs in 
strategic centres 

This planning proposal supports the above key objectives and priorities as it will 
enable conservation of heritage buildings and remove a potential barrier to efficient 
delivery of new development. 

Is the planning proposal consistent with a council’s local strategy or other 
local strategic plan? 
Sustainable Sydney 2030 is the vision for sustainable development of the city of 
Sydney to 2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of 
the City of Sydney. Sustainable Sydney 2030 outlines the City’s vision for a ‘green’, 
‘global’ and ‘connected’ City of Sydney and sets targets, objectives and actions to 
achieve that vision. 
As such, the planning proposal is consistent with sustainable Sydney 2030, 
particularly: 

• Direction 1 – A globally competitive and innovative City – the proposal will 
remove any barriers to timely development in the City. 

• Direction 8 – Housing for a diverse population – the proposal is consistent with 
the objective of addressing unnecessary barriers to residential development by 
the private market 

Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable state environmental 
planning policies? 
This planning proposal is consistent and does not contradict or hinder the application 
of the following SEPPs: 

• SEPP 1 – Development Standards; SEPP 19—Bushland in Urban Areas; SEPP 
21—Caravan Parks; SEPP 30—Intensive Agriculture; SEPP 33—Hazardous and 
Offensive Development; SEPP 50—Canal Estate Development; SEPP 55—
Remediation of Land; SEPP 62—Sustainable Aquaculture; SEPP 70—Affordable 
Housing (Revised Schemes); SEPP (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009;SEPP 
(Coastal Management) 2018; SEPP (Educational Establishments and Child Care 
Facilities) 2017; SEPP (Exempt and Complying Development Codes) 2008; 

13



 

6 / Planning Proposal: Heritage Floor Space alternative extension – September 2018 

SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007; SEPP (Mining, Petroleum Production and Extractive 
Industries) 2007; SEPP (Miscellaneous Consent Provisions) 2007; SEPP (State 
and Regional Development) 2011; SEPP (State Significant Precincts) 2005; 
SEPP (Vegetation in Non-Rural Areas) 2017. 

The following SEPPS are not applicable to this planning proposal: 

• SEPP 36—Manufactured Home Estates; SEPP 44—Koala Habitat Protection; 
SEPP 47—Moore Park Showground; SEPP 52—Farm Dams and Other Works in 
Land and Water Management Plan Areas; SEPP 64—Advertising and Signage; 
SEPP 65—Design Quality of Residential Apartment Development; SEPP 
(Building Sustainability Index: BASIX) 2004; SEPP (Housing for Seniors or 
People with a Disability) 2004; SEPP (Integration and Repeals) 2016; SEPP 
(Kosciuszko National Park— Alpine Resorts) 2007; SEPP (Kurnell Peninsula) 
1989; SEPP (Penrith Lakes Scheme) 1989; SEPP (Rural Lands) 2008; SEPP 
(Sydney Drinking Water Catchment) 2011; SEPP (Sydney Region Growth 
Centres) 2006; SEPP (Three Ports) 2013; SEPP (Urban Renewal) 2010; SEPP 
(Western Sydney Employment Area) 2009; SEPP (Western Sydney Parklands) 
2009. 

This planning proposal is consistent and does not contradict or hinder the application 
of the deemed SEPPs (formerly known as Regional Environmental Plans (REPs)): 

• Sydney REP (Sydney Harbour Catchment) 2005 
The following deemed SEPPS are not applicable to this planning proposal: 

• Sydney REP 8—(Central Coast Plateau Areas); Sydney REP 9—Extractive 
Industry (No 2—1995); Sydney REP 16—Walsh Bay; Sydney REP 20—
Hawkesbury- Nepean River (No 2—1997); Sydney REP 24—Homebush Bay 
Area; Sydney REP 26—City West; Sydney REP 30—St Marys; Sydney REP 
33—Cooks Cove; Greater Metropolitan REP No 2— Georges River Catchment; 
Darling Harbour Development Plan No. 1; Sydney Cove Redevelopment 
Authority Scheme. 

Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable Ministerial Directions 
(s.117, now section 9.1, directions)? 
This planning proposal is consistent with and does not contradict or hinder 
application of the Ministerial Directions: 

• 1.1 Business and Industrial Zones; 2.3 Heritage Conservation; 3.1 Residential 
Zones; 3.2 Caravan Parks and Manufactured Home Estates; 3.3 Home 
occupations; 3.4 Integrating Land use and Transport; 3.5 Development Near 
Licensed Aerodromes; 4.3 Flood Prone Land; 5.10 Implementation of Regional 
Plans; 6.1 Approval and Referral Requirements; 6.2 Reserving Land for Public 
Purposes; 7.1 Implementation of A Plan for Growing Sydney. 

The following Ministerial Directions are not applicable to this planning proposal:  

• 1.2 Rural Zones;1.3 Mining, Petroleum Production and Extractive Industries; 1.4 
Oyster Aquaculture; 1.5 Rural Lands; 2.1 Environmental Protection Zones; 2.2 
Coastal Protection; 2.4 Recreation Vehicle Areas; 2.5 Application of E2 and E3 
Zones and Environmental Overlays in Far North Coast LEPs; 4.1 Acid Sulfate 
Soils; 4.2 Mine subsidence and Unstable land; 4.4 Planning for Bushfire 
Protection; 5.2 Sydney Drinking Water Catchments; 5.3 Farmland of State and 
Regional Significance on the NSW Far North Coast; 5.4 Commercial and Retail 
Development along the Pacific Highway, North Coast; 5.8 Second Sydney 
Airport, Badgerys Creek; 5.9 North West Rail Link Corridor Strategy; 6.3 Site 
Specific Provisions;7.2 Implementation of Greater Macarthur Land Release 

14



 

7 / Planning Proposal: Heritage Floor Space alternative extension – September 2018 

Investigation; 7.3 Parramatta Road Corridor Urban Transformation Strategy; 7.4 
Implementation of North West Priority Growth Area Land Use and Infrastructure 
Implementation Plan; 7.5 Implementation of Greater Parramatta Priority Growth 
Area Interim Land Use and Infrastructure Implementation Plan; 7.6 
Implementation of Wilton Priority Growth Area Interim Land Use and 
Infrastructure Implementation Plan; 7.7 Implementation of Glenfield to Macathur 
Urban Renal Corridor. 

Section C – Environmental, social and economic impact 

Is there any likelihood that critical habitat or threatened species, populations 
or ecological communities, or their habitats, will be adversely affected as a 
result of the proposal? 
No. The Planning Proposal will not adversely affect any critical habitat or threatened 
species, populations or ecological communities or their habitats.  

Are there any other likely environmental effects as a result of the Planning 
Proposal and how are they proposed to be managed? 
No. The planning proposal relates to the extension of time for an existing alternative 
arrangement and does not relate to physical works. 

Has the planning proposal adequately addressed any social and economic 
effects? 
Yes. While any change to the Heritage Floor Space planning controls will have an 
effect on the Heritage Floor space market, the proposed change is likely to have a 
minor impact only. More significantly, it will remove a potential barrier to timely 
property development in Central Sydney by assisting to ease a shortage of available 
stock in the Heritage Floor Space market. 

Section D – State and Commonwealth interest 

Is there adequate public infrastructure for the planning proposal? 
Yes. The proposed amendment does not increase the need for infrastructure. 

What are the views of State and Commonwealth public authorities consulted in 
the gateway determination? 
Appropriate consultation will be conducted when the gateway determination is 
issued. Formal consultation has not yet been undertaken. 

Part 4 – Mapping 
This Planning Proposal does not amend any maps. 

  

15



 

8 / Planning Proposal: Heritage Floor Space alternative extension – September 2018 

Part 5 – Community Consultation 
This Planning Proposal is to be exhibited in accordance with the Gateway 
Determination once issued by the Greater Sydney Commission. It is anticipated the 
Gateway Determination will require a public exhibition for a period of not less than 14 
days in accordance with Schedule 1 item 4 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979 section 4.5 of A Guide to preparing Local Environmental 
Plans. 
Notification of the public exhibition will be via: 

• the City of Sydney website; 

• in the Sydney Morning Herald; 

• directly inviting comments from owners of Heritage Floor Space, owners of 
heritage buildings in Central Sydney, and key industry and community groups. 

Information relating to the Planning Proposal will be available at the City of Sydney 
customer service centres. 

Part 6 – Project Timeline 
The anticipated timeframe for the completion of the planning proposal is as follows: 
 
Action Anticipated Date 
Commencement / Gateway determination October 2018 
Pre-exhibition government agency consultation  October 2018 
Public Exhibition October 2018 
Consideration of submissions October 2018 
Post exhibition consideration of proposal December 2018 (CSPC)  

December 2018 (Council) 
Draft and finalise LEP  December 2018 
LEP made (if delegated) December 2018 
Plan forwarded to DPE for notification December 2018 

 
 

16



Attachment B 

Alternative Heritage Floor Space Allocation 
scheme, as amended

17



Alternative Heritage Floor Space 
Allocation Scheme 
August 2017 September 2018 

 

18



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cover photo: Josef Nalevansky for City of Sydney 

 

19



 
 

3 
 

 

Alternative Heritage Floor Space Allocation 
Scheme 

Purpose 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan (SLEP) 2012 provides the legal framework for a scheme under 
which an owner of a heritage building in Central Sydney may be awarded Heritage Floor Space after 
completing conservation works on the building. That owner may sell that Heritage Floor Space to a 
developer who, as a condition of development consent for an application seeking additional floor 
space, is required to allocate Heritage Floor Space to its development site. 

Owing to a shortage of available Heritage Floor Space on the market, developers are currently 
having difficulty sourcing the Heritage Floor Space required to satisfy conditions of development 
consents. This threatens to delay some major projects. 

The Council, at a meeting on 14 September 2015, and the Central Sydney Planning Committee 
(CSPC), at a meeting on 10 September 2015, resolved to prepare a Planning Policy that will allow 
Council to enter into agreements which may lead to the allocation of Heritage Floor Space being 
deferred until after construction commences or, in the event that Heritage Floor Space cannot be 
obtained, replaced with an alternative arrangement that satisfies an Alternative Heritage Floor Space 
Allocation Scheme. The Council and CSPC resolutions established the key elements of the Scheme 
and delegated to the Chief Executive Officer the development of the details of the Scheme. 

This document sets out the details of the Alternative Heritage Floor Space Allocation Scheme. It will 
ensure that there is a consistent approach and established procedures for allowing an alternative to 
Heritage Floor Space allocation under SLEP 2012. 

Scope 
This scheme provides for the use of planning agreements and bank guarantees as an alternative to 
the allocation of Heritage Floor Space under clause 6.11 of Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. 

The management of bank guarantees and other performance bonds is set out in separate 
documents entitled Performance Bonds Policy and Performance Bonds Procedures.  It should be 
noted that this scheme only allows a bank guarantee and no other form of performance bond to be 
provided as security of the developer’s obligations under the planning agreement. 

This scheme will apply to development applications lodged before 1 January 2019 2021 and has no 
effect after that date. 

  

20



 
 

4 
 

Definitions 
 

Term Meaning 

Allocation An entry in the Heritage Floor Space register to indicate that an amount of 
Heritage Floor Space has been allocated for use at a particular 
development site. 

Bank Guarantee A documentary performance bond comprising an unconditional 
undertaking from a bank to make a payment upon presentation of a 
demand. 

Heritage Conservation Fund A fund established and maintained by the City that is comprised of 
payments made under this scheme to be used in accordance with this 
document. 

Heritage Floor Space (HFS) Transferable floor space awarded to heritage-listed buildings and recorded 
in the Heritage Floor Space register. 

Heritage Floor Space 
Register 

The register maintained by the Council for the purpose of clause 6.10 of 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. 

Heritage Floor Space 
Update 

A quarterly report on awards, sales and transfer of Heritage Floor Space 
which is prepared by the City of Sydney and published on its website. 

Planning Agreement The meaning set out in section 93F of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979.  

 

Scheme statement  
This scheme establishes the circumstances under which the Council will accept an alternative 
arrangement to the allocation of Heritage Floor Space under clause 6.11 of Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012. 

The primary aim of this scheme is to enable projects in Central Sydney to proceed during the 
current lag in heritage floor space becoming available for purchase in the market. The strong 
preference remains for developers to obtain heritage floor space upfront, though if unsuccessful 
due to current market shortages, this scheme provides an alternative. Additional time and cost 
associated with the planning agreement are likely to be experienced by the developer if they opt 
to enter into this scheme. Please contact City staff to discuss the timeframes and costs involved. 

The principles of this scheme are: 

1. the developer is to demonstrate to the satisfaction of Council that it has made genuine and 
ongoing efforts to obtain Heritage Floor Space and has been unable to do so; 

2. the developer agrees to obtain the Heritage Floor Space by a specified date following the 
commencement of construction or, alternatively, pay a monetary amount equal to the 
market value of the Heritage Floor Space plus an uplift amount towards a heritage 
conservation fund to be established by Council; 

3. the developer is to provide a bank guarantee to Council for an amount equal to the amount 
of Heritage Floor Space required multiplied by the currently applicable unit rate. 

21



 
 

5 
 

4. the amount of the payment required if the Heritage Floor Space has not been allocated by 
the specified date will be set at a level intended to discourage the use of this option and the 
payment is only to be made if ongoing attempts to purchase Heritage Floor Space have not 
been successful; and 

5. any funds obtained under the scheme will be directed towards heritage conservation works. 

 

Offer to enter into planning agreement in relation to Heritage Floor Space allocation 
If a developer opts to enter into a planning agreement in respect of HFS allocation, the offer to enter 
into a planning agreement must be in the form set out in Attachment A and attached to that offer 
must be the following documentation to the satisfaction of Council:  

1. written evidence that the developer has submitted offers to purchase HFS to at least three 
separate owners of HFS within the previous three months; 

2. written evidence that the amount of each offer was not less than the average sales price of 
HFS reported in the most recently published Heritage Floor Space Update; and 

3. written evidence that the developer has not been able to purchase the amount of HFS 
required under the conditions of the applicable development consent. 

 
The offer must be submitted to the City at the same time as the application to which it relates. 

The unit rate to be used in calculating the bank guarantee amount is different to the average sales 
price of Heritage Floor Space as published in the quarterly HFS update. Please contact City staff to 
discuss the currently applicable rate. 

Terms of planning agreement in relation to Heritage Floor Space allocation 
If Council accepts a developer’s offer to enter into a planning agreement in relation to Heritage Floor 
Space allocation, the planning agreement will include the terms included in the offer accepted by 
Council, together with the following terms: 

1. a requirement for the developer to continue to make all reasonable endeavours to procure 
the HFS until the specified date by which final HFS offers are to be made; 

2. if the developer has not  allocated the total amount of HFS required under the conditions of 
its consent by the date specified in the planning agreement, a right for Council to make a 
calculation to determine the amount payable to the Heritage Conservation Fund and make a 
claim on the bank guarantee amount in part or in full by reference to the amount of HFS that 
has been purchased by the developer; and 

3. an obligation for the developer to register any subsequent allocation of HFS (including 
disclosing the price paid for the HFS) within 30 days of purchase of that HFS. 

Determining the amount of any monetary payment 
If the developer has allocated the total amount of HFS required under the conditions of its consent 
by the date specified in the planning agreement, the Council will return the bank guarantee and no 
monetary payment will be required. 

If at the date specified in the planning agreement the developer has allocated only part or not 
allocated any of the amount of Heritage Floor Space required under the conditions of their consent, 
the Council will calculate the amount owing by the developer to the Heritage Conservation Fund 
using the following formula: 

22



 
 

6 
 

X = W(Y - Z) 

Where 

X= the monetary amount required (in $); 

W = the unit rate of Heritage Floor Space specified in the planning agreement.   

Y = the total amount of Heritage Floor Space (in square metres) required to be allocated 
under the conditions of consent for the development; 

Z = the amount of Heritage Floor Space (in square metres) allocated to the development at 
the date specified in the planning agreement; 

If at the date specified in the planning agreement the developer has allocated some but not all of 
the Heritage Floor Space required to be allocated to their development, the Council will claim a 
portion of the amount specified in the Bank Guarantee equivalent to the amount owing by the 
developer to the Heritage Conservation Fund. 

Use of Heritage Conservation Fund 
The City will apply any moneys obtained under this scheme to: 

• the preparation of conservation management plans for heritage buildings in Central Sydney; 
• heritage conservation works undertaken by the Council in Central Sydney including, but not 

limited to: 
o maintenance of heritage buildings in accordance with a conservation management 

plan; and 
o works to conserve the heritage significance of heritage items that are not buildings 

eg open space and elements of the public domain; and 
• the improvement of the operation of the Heritage Floor Space scheme including any 

associated studies. 

References 
Laws and 
standards 

• Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 
• Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 

 • (Draft) Planning Agreements Policy 
• Performance Bonds Policy 
• Performance Bonds Procedure 

Approval 
The Council first approved this scheme on 21 March 2016, and further amended it on 7 August 2017. 

 

  

23



 
 

7 
 

Schedule – form of planning agreement offer  

Landowner Name 

ABN 

Address 

Contact Person 

Telephone  

Email 

Developer (if different from 
landowner) 

Name 

ABN 

Address 

Contact Person 

Telephone 

Email 

Property address  

Title particulars  

Development Consent number and 
HFS condition number 

 

Details (including registration 
number) of any existing VPA 
affecting the Property 

 

Amount of HFS required (V) [insert] square metres 

Unit rate of HFS for the purpose of 
this agreement (W) 

$[insert agreed amount]per sq.m 

Amount of bank guarantee $[to be calculated by inserting the amount reached by multiplying 
the amount of HFS remaining to be allocated to the development at 
the date of lodgement of the application which facilitates 
participation in the scheme (V) by the unit rate of HFS for the 
purpose of the agreement (W)] 

Date by which final HFS offers will 
be made 

[To allow for registration of any allocation, this is to be 1 month 
before the date from which the City can claim on the bank 
guarantee] 

Date  from which City can claim on 
bank guarantee if the total amount 

The earlier of: 

24



 
 

8 
 

of HFS required under the consent 
has not been allocated 

• [insert fixed date (being the anticipated date of the first 
occupation certificate for the development at the time the 
planning agreement is entered into)]; and 

• the date of the first occupation certificate actually obtained 
for the development. 

 

25



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Determinations Delegated by the Central Sydney Planning Committee to the 
City of Sydney

File No: S040864

Summary

The report is to inform members of the Central Sydney Planning Committee of development 
applications determined where there has been a variation in standards under Clause 4.6 of 
the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and costing less than $50 million in the period 
from 1 April 2018 to 30 June 2018.

Recommendation

It is resolved that the subject report be received and noted.  

Attachments

Attachment A. Variations Approved by Council and Reported to the Department of 
Planning and Environment for the period 1 April 2018 to 30 June 2018.

1

Item 11.



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Background

1. On 24 June 2004, the Central Sydney Planning Committee (CSPC) delegated 
authority to the City of Sydney for the determination of development applications 
involving a variation to a development standard and costing less than $50 million. A 
report to the CSPC on the applications determined under the delegation is required at 
a minimum of every six months. In accordance with the reporting requirements 
prescribed in the Planning Circular PS08-014 issued by the NSW Department of 
Planning and Environment, a quarterly report is being submitted to the CSPC.

2. Twenty-five (25) applications were approved where there has been a variation to a 
development standard during the period 1 April 2018 to 30 June 2018.  Details of the 
applications are included in the table of Attachment A. 

Relevant Legislation

3. Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979.

4. City of Sydney Act 1988.

GRAHAM JAHN, AM

Director City Planning, Development and Transport

James Farrar, Administration Officer

2



Attachment A 

Variations approved by Council and 
reported to the Department of Planning and 
Environment for the period 1 April 2018 to 

30 June 2018 

 

3



D
A 

N
um

be
r 

No
 

St
re

et
 

na
m

e 
Su

bu
rb

 
Zo

ni
ng

 o
f 

la
nd

 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

st
an

da
rd

 to
 b

e 
va

rie
d 

Ex
te

nt
 o

f 
va

ria
tio

n 
Ty

pe
 o

f 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t 
Ju

st
ifi

ca
tio

n 
of

 v
ar

ia
tio

n 
D

at
e 

D
et

er
m

in
ed

 

D
/2

01
8/

11
9 

   
   

   
   

   
17

 
Al

ex
an

dr
a 

R
oa

d 
G

LE
BE

 
R

1 
G

en
er

al
 

R
es

id
en

tia
l 

H
ei

gh
t 

10
.0

%
 

 1
: R

es
id

en
tia

l 
- A

lte
ra

tio
ns

 &
 

ad
di

tio
ns

 

Th
e 

pr
op

os
al

 is
 c

on
si

de
re

d 
no

t t
o 

ha
ve

 
un

re
as

on
ab

le
 im

pa
ct

 o
n 

th
e 

am
en

ity
 o

f 
th

e 
ad

jo
in

in
g 

pr
op

er
tie

s 
or

 th
e 

st
re

et
 

sc
ap

e’
 

04
/0

4/
20

18
 

D
/2

01
7/

22
5 

   
   

   
   

   
98

 
Ki

pp
ax

 
St

re
et

 
SU

R
R

Y 
H

IL
LS

 
B4

 M
ix

ed
 U

se
 

H
ei

gh
t 

13
.0

%
 

 9
: M

ix
ed

 
Th

e 
pr

op
os

al
 is

 c
on

si
de

re
d 

no
t t

o 
ha

ve
 

un
re

as
on

ab
le

 im
pa

ct
 o

n 
th

e 
am

en
ity

 o
f 

th
e 

ad
jo

in
in

g 
pr

op
er

tie
s 

or
 th

e 
st

re
et

 
sc

ap
e’

 

11
/0

4/
20

18
 

D
/2

01
7/

24
0 

   
   

   
   

   
44

4 
G

ar
de

ne
rs

 
R

oa
d 

AL
EX

AN
D

R
IA

 
B7

 B
us

in
es

s 
Pa

rk
   

H
ei

gh
t 

13
.6

%
 

 4
: R

es
id

en
tia

l 
- N

ew
 m

ul
ti 

un
it 

Th
e 

pr
op

os
al

 is
 c

on
si

de
re

d 
no

t t
o 

ha
ve

 
un

re
as

on
ab

le
 im

pa
ct

 o
n 

th
e 

am
en

ity
 o

f 
th

e 
ad

jo
in

in
g 

pr
op

er
tie

s 
or

 th
e 

st
re

et
 

sc
ap

e’
 

11
/0

4/
20

18
 

D
/2

01
7/

92
2 

   
   

   
   

   
10

 
W

illi
am

 
St

re
et

 
BE

AC
O

N
SF

IE
LD

 
B4

 M
ix

ed
 U

se
 

Fl
oo

r S
pa

ce
 

R
at

io
 / 

H
ei

gh
t  

3.
2%

 / 
14

.9
%

 
 8

: 
C

om
m

er
ci

al
 / 

re
ta

il 
/ o

ffi
ce

 

Th
e 

pr
op

os
al

 is
 c

on
si

de
re

d 
no

t t
o 

ha
ve

 
un

re
as

on
ab

le
 im

pa
ct

 o
n 

th
e 

am
en

ity
 o

f 
th

e 
ad

jo
in

in
g 

pr
op

er
tie

s 
or

 th
e 

st
re

et
 

sc
ap

e 

11
/0

4/
20

18
 

D
/2

01
8/

19
2 

   
   

   
   

   
39

9 
G

eo
rg

e 
St

re
et

 
SY

D
N

EY
 

B8
 

M
et

ro
po

lit
an

 
C

en
tre

 

Fl
oo

r S
pa

ce
 

R
at

io
 

0.
9%

 
 1

: R
es

id
en

tia
l 

- A
lte

ra
tio

ns
 &

 
ad

di
tio

ns
 

Th
e 

pr
op

os
ed

 e
xc

ee
da

nc
e 

is
 c

on
si

de
re

d 
to

 b
e 

m
in

or
 a

nd
 w

ill 
no

t g
iv

e 
ris

e 
to

 a
ny

 
si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

 in
te

ns
ifi

ca
tio

n 
of

 th
e 

us
e 

16
/0

4/
20

18
 

D
/2

01
7/

17
18

   
   

   
   

   
48

2 
W

ils
on

 
St

re
et

 
D

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 
R

1 
G

en
er

al
 

R
es

id
en

tia
l 

H
ei

gh
t 

3.
5%

 
 1

: R
es

id
en

tia
l 

- A
lte

ra
tio

ns
 &

 
ad

di
tio

ns
 

Th
e 

pr
op

os
al

 is
 c

on
si

de
re

d 
no

t t
o 

ha
ve

 
un

re
as

on
ab

le
 im

pa
ct

 o
n 

th
e 

am
en

ity
 o

f 
th

e 
ad

jo
in

in
g 

pr
op

er
tie

s 
or

 th
e 

st
re

et
 

sc
ap

e’
 

18
/0

4/
20

18
 

D
/2

01
8/

59
   

   
   

   
   

  
1 

D
ar

gh
an

 
St

re
et

 
G

LE
BE

 
R

1 
G

en
er

al
 

R
es

id
en

tia
l 

H
ei

gh
t 

12
.0

%
 

 1
: R

es
id

en
tia

l 
- A

lte
ra

tio
ns

 &
 

ad
di

tio
ns

 

Th
e 

pr
op

os
al

 is
 c

on
si

de
re

d 
no

t t
o 

ha
ve

 
un

re
as

on
ab

le
 im

pa
ct

 o
n 

th
e 

am
en

ity
 o

f 
th

e 
ad

jo
in

in
g 

pr
op

er
tie

s 
or

 th
e 

st
re

et
 

sc
ap

e’
 

20
/0

4/
20

18
 

D
/2

01
5/

94
1 

   
   

   
   

   
89

5 
Bo

ur
ke

 
St

re
et

 
W

AT
ER

LO
O

 
B4

 M
ix

ed
 U

se
 

H
ei

gh
t 

34
.0

%
 

 9
: M

ix
ed

 
Th

e 
pr

op
os

al
 is

 c
on

si
de

re
d 

no
t t

o 
ha

ve
 

un
re

as
on

ab
le

 im
pa

ct
 o

n 
th

e 
am

en
ity

 o
f 

th
e 

ad
jo

in
in

g 
pr

op
er

tie
s 

or
 th

e 
st

re
et

 
sc

ap
e’

 

24
/0

4/
20

18
 

D
/2

01
7/

12
93

   
   

   
   

   
34

 
O

xf
or

d 
St

re
et

 
D

AR
LI

N
G

H
U

R
ST

 
B2

 L
oc

al
 

C
en

tre
 

Fl
oo

r S
pa

ce
 

R
at

io
 / 

H
ei

gh
t  

33
%

 / 
8.

5%
 

 8
: 

C
om

m
er

ci
al

 / 
re

ta
il 

/ o
ffi

ce
 

Th
e 

pr
op

os
al

 is
 c

on
si

de
re

d 
no

t t
o 

ha
ve

 
un

re
as

on
ab

le
 im

pa
ct

 o
n 

th
e 

am
en

ity
 o

f 
th

e 
ad

jo
in

in
g 

pr
op

er
tie

s 
or

 th
e 

st
re

et
 

sc
ap

e’
 

09
/0

5/
20

18
 

D
/2

01
7/

83
9 

   
   

   
   

   
11

 
R

al
ph

 S
tre

et
 

AL
EX

AN
D

R
IA

 
B4

 M
ix

ed
 U

se
 

Fl
oo

r S
pa

ce
 

R
at

io
 

1.
0%

 
 4

: R
es

id
en

tia
l 

- N
ew

 m
ul

ti 
un

it 

Th
e 

pr
op

os
al

 is
 c

on
si

de
re

d 
no

t t
o 

ha
ve

 
un

re
as

on
ab

le
 im

pa
ct

 o
n 

th
e 

am
en

ity
 o

f 
th

e 
ad

jo
in

in
g 

pr
op

er
tie

s 
or

 th
e 

st
re

et
 

sc
ap

e’
 

09
/0

5/
20

18
 

4



D
A 

N
um

be
r 

No
 

St
re

et
 

na
m

e 
Su

bu
rb

 
Zo

ni
ng

 o
f 

la
nd

 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

st
an

da
rd

 to
 b

e 
va

rie
d 

Ex
te

nt
 o

f 
va

ria
tio

n 
Ty

pe
 o

f 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t 
Ju

st
ifi

ca
tio

n 
of

 v
ar

ia
tio

n 
D

at
e 

D
et

er
m

in
ed

 

D
/2

01
8/

14
3 

   
   

   
   

   
12

2 
Bu

ck
in

gh
am

 
St

re
et

 
SU

R
R

Y 
H

IL
LS

 
B4

 M
ix

ed
 U

se
 

Fl
oo

r S
pa

ce
 

R
at

io
 

28
.0

%
 

 8
: 

C
om

m
er

ci
al

 / 
re

ta
il 

/ o
ffi

ce
 

Th
e 

pr
op

os
al

 is
 c

on
si

de
re

d 
no

t t
o 

ha
ve

 
un

re
as

on
ab

le
 im

pa
ct

 o
n 

th
e 

am
en

ity
 o

f 
th

e 
ad

jo
in

in
g 

pr
op

er
tie

s 
or

 th
e 

st
re

et
 

sc
ap

e’
 

09
/0

5/
20

18
 

D
/2

01
7/

16
52

   
   

   
   

   
41

40
 

G
eo

rg
e 

St
re

et
 

SY
D

N
EY

 
SP

2 
In

fra
st

ru
ct

ur
e 

  
O

ve
rs

ha
do

w
in

g 
21

.0
%

 
14

: O
th

er
 

Th
e 

im
pa

ct
 o

f t
he

 a
dd

iti
on

al
 s

ha
do

w
 is

 
m

in
or

 a
nd

 w
ill 

m
ov

e 
qu

ic
kl

y 
du

e 
to

 th
e 

na
tu

re
 o

f t
he

 a
rtw

or
k 

st
ru

ct
ur

e.
 T

he
 

im
pa

ct
 w

ill 
be

 li
m

ite
d 

to
 a

 s
m

al
l p

ar
t o

f 
th

e 
st

ep
s 

be
tw

ee
n 

11
am

 a
nd

 1
2 

no
on

. 
C

la
us

e 
6.

19
 o

ve
rs

ha
do

w
in

g 
of

 c
er

ta
in

 
pu

bl
ic

 p
la

ce
s.

 

23
/0

5/
20

18
 

D
/2

01
7/

17
48

   
   

   
   

   
35

 
Be

tti
ng

to
n 

St
re

et
 

M
IL

LE
R

S 
PO

IN
T 

R
1 

G
en

er
al

 
R

es
id

en
tia

l 
Fl

oo
r S

pa
ce

 
R

at
io

 
1.

0%
 

 8
: 

C
om

m
er

ci
al

 / 
re

ta
il 

/ o
ffi

ce
 

Th
e 

pr
op

os
al

 is
 c

on
si

de
re

d 
no

t t
o 

ha
ve

 
un

re
as

on
ab

le
 im

pa
ct

 o
n 

th
e 

am
en

ity
 o

f 
th

e 
ad

jo
in

in
g 

pr
op

er
tie

s 
or

 th
e 

st
re

et
 

sc
ap

e’
 

23
/0

5/
20

18
 

D
/2

01
7/

17
49

   
   

   
   

   
52

4 
Bo

ur
ke

 
St

re
et

 
SU

R
R

Y 
H

IL
LS

 
R

1 
G

en
er

al
 

R
es

id
en

tia
l 

H
ei

gh
t 

65
.0

%
 

 1
: R

es
id

en
tia

l 
- A

lte
ra

tio
ns

 &
 

ad
di

tio
ns

 

Th
e 

pr
op

os
al

 is
 c

on
si

de
re

d 
no

t t
o 

ha
ve

 
un

re
as

on
ab

le
 im

pa
ct

 o
n 

th
e 

am
en

ity
 o

f 
th

e 
ad

jo
in

in
g 

pr
op

er
tie

s 
or

 th
e 

st
re

et
 

sc
ap

e’
 

23
/0

5/
20

18
 

D
/2

01
8/

13
2 

   
   

   
   

   
63

8 
Ki

ng
 S

tre
et

 
ER

SK
IN

EV
IL

LE
 

B2
 L

oc
al

 
C

en
tre

 
M

ot
or

cy
cl

e 
pa

rk
in

g 
10

0.
0%

 
 6

: R
es

id
en

tia
l 

- O
th

er
 

Th
e 

pr
op

os
al

 is
 c

on
si

de
re

d 
no

t t
o 

ha
ve

 
un

re
as

on
ab

le
 im

pa
ct

 o
n 

th
e 

am
en

ity
 o

f 
th

e 
ad

jo
in

in
g 

pr
op

er
tie

s 
or

 th
e 

st
re

et
 

sc
ap

e’
 

23
/0

5/
20

18
 

D
/2

01
8/

26
9 

   
   

   
   

   
16

1 
C

as
tle

re
ag

h 
St

re
et

 
SY

D
N

EY
 

B8
 

M
et

ro
po

lit
an

 
C

en
tre

 

Fl
oo

r S
pa

ce
 

R
at

io
 

1.
0%

 
 8

: 
C

om
m

er
ci

al
 / 

re
ta

il 
/ o

ffi
ce

 

Th
e 

pr
op

os
al

 is
 c

on
si

de
re

d 
no

t t
o 

ha
ve

 
un

re
as

on
ab

le
 im

pa
ct

 o
n 

th
e 

am
en

ity
 o

f 
th

e 
ad

jo
in

in
g 

pr
op

er
tie

s 
or

 th
e 

st
re

et
 

sc
ap

e’
 

23
/0

5/
20

18
 

D
/2

01
8/

41
2 

   
   

   
   

   
23

 
Se

lw
yn

 
St

re
et

 
PA

D
D

IN
G

TO
N

 
R

1 
G

en
er

al
 

R
es

id
en

tia
l 

Fl
oo

r S
pa

ce
 

R
at

io
 

23
.0

%
 

 1
: R

es
id

en
tia

l 
- A

lte
ra

tio
ns

 &
 

ad
di

tio
ns

 

Th
e 

pr
op

os
al

 is
 c

on
si

de
re

d 
no

t t
o 

ha
ve

 
un

re
as

on
ab

le
 im

pa
ct

 o
n 

th
e 

am
en

ity
 o

f 
th

e 
ad

jo
in

in
g 

pr
op

er
tie

s 
or

 th
e 

st
re

et
 

sc
ap

e’
 

30
/0

5/
20

18
 

D
/2

01
8/

21
   

   
   

   
   

  
44

 
M

cE
lh

on
e 

St
re

et
 

W
O

O
LL

O
O

M
O

O
LO

O
 

R
1 

G
en

er
al

 
R

es
id

en
tia

l 
H

ei
gh

t 
4.

8%
 

 7
: T

ou
ris

t 
Th

e 
pr

op
os

al
 is

 c
on

si
de

re
d 

no
t t

o 
ha

ve
 

un
re

as
on

ab
le

 im
pa

ct
 o

n 
th

e 
am

en
ity

 o
f 

th
e 

ad
jo

in
in

g 
pr

op
er

tie
s 

or
 th

e 
st

re
et

 
sc

ap
e’

 

04
/0

6/
20

18
 

D
/2

01
8/

34
1 

   
   

   
   

   
74

 
R

eg
en

t 
St

re
et

 
PA

D
D

IN
G

TO
N

 
R

1 
G

en
er

al
 

R
es

id
en

tia
l 

H
ei

gh
t 

7.
7%

 
 1

: R
es

id
en

tia
l 

- A
lte

ra
tio

ns
 &

 
ad

di
tio

ns
 

Th
e 

pr
op

os
al

 is
 c

on
si

de
re

d 
no

t t
o 

ha
ve

 
un

re
as

on
ab

le
 im

pa
ct

 o
n 

th
e 

am
en

ity
 o

f 
th

e 
ad

jo
in

in
g 

pr
op

er
tie

s 
or

 th
e 

st
re

et
 

sc
ap

e’
 

08
/0

6/
20

18
 

5



D
A 

N
um

be
r 

No
 

St
re

et
 

na
m

e 
Su

bu
rb

 
Zo

ni
ng

 o
f 

la
nd

 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

st
an

da
rd

 to
 b

e 
va

rie
d 

Ex
te

nt
 o

f 
va

ria
tio

n 
Ty

pe
 o

f 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t 
Ju

st
ifi

ca
tio

n 
of

 v
ar

ia
tio

n 
D

at
e 

D
et

er
m

in
ed

 

D
/2

01
7/

12
92

   
   

   
   

   
22

 
H

ut
ch

in
so

n 
St

re
et

 
SU

R
R

Y 
H

IL
LS

 
B4

 M
ix

ed
 U

se
 

H
ei

gh
t 

9.
7%

 
 4

: R
es

id
en

tia
l 

- N
ew

 m
ul

ti 
un

it 

Th
e 

pr
op

os
al

 is
 c

on
si

de
re

d 
no

t t
o 

ha
ve

 
un

re
as

on
ab

le
 im

pa
ct

 o
n 

th
e 

am
en

ity
 o

f 
th

e 
ad

jo
in

in
g 

pr
op

er
tie

s 
or

 th
e 

st
re

et
 

sc
ap

e’
 

13
/0

6/
20

18
 

D
/2

01
7/

15
45

   
   

   
   

   
14

 
W

at
er

lo
o 

St
re

et
 

SU
R

R
Y 

H
IL

LS
 

B4
 M

ix
ed

 U
se

 
Fl

oo
r S

pa
ce

 
R

at
io

 / 
H

ei
gh

t  
11

8.
3%

 / 
54

%
 

 8
: 

C
om

m
er

ci
al

 / 
re

ta
il 

/ o
ffi

ce
 

Th
e 

pr
op

os
al

 is
 c

on
si

de
re

d 
no

t t
o 

ha
ve

 
un

re
as

on
ab

le
 im

pa
ct

 o
n 

th
e 

am
en

ity
 o

f 
th

e 
ad

jo
in

in
g 

pr
op

er
tie

s 
or

 th
e 

st
re

et
 

sc
ap

e’
 

13
/0

6/
20

18
 

D
/2

01
7/

17
00

   
   

   
   

   
20

6 
Ki

ng
 S

tre
et

 
N

EW
TO

W
N

 
B2

 L
oc

al
 

C
en

tre
 

M
ot

or
cy

cl
e 

pa
rk

in
g 

/ F
lo

or
 

Sp
ac

e 
R

at
io

 / 
H

ei
gh

t  

20
.2

%
 / 

2%
 

 6
: R

es
id

en
tia

l 
- O

th
er

 
Th

e 
pr

op
os

al
 is

 c
on

si
de

re
d 

no
t t

o 
ha

ve
 

un
re

as
on

ab
le

 im
pa

ct
 o

n 
th

e 
am

en
ity

 o
f 

th
e 

ad
jo

in
in

g 
pr

op
er

tie
s 

or
 th

e 
st

re
et

 
sc

ap
e’

 

13
/0

6/
20

18
 

D
/2

01
8/

21
0 

   
   

   
   

   
11

1 
M

cE
vo

y 
St

re
et

 
AL

EX
AN

D
R

IA
 

B4
 M

ix
ed

 U
se

 
Fl

oo
r S

pa
ce

 
R

at
io

 
64

.0
%

 
 8

: 
C

om
m

er
ci

al
 / 

re
ta

il 
/ o

ffi
ce

 

Th
e 

pr
op

os
al

 is
 c

on
si

de
re

d 
no

t t
o 

ha
ve

 
un

re
as

on
ab

le
 im

pa
ct

 o
n 

th
e 

am
en

ity
 o

f 
th

e 
ad

jo
in

in
g 

pr
op

er
tie

s 
or

 th
e 

st
re

et
 

sc
ap

e’
 

13
/0

6/
20

18
 

D
/2

01
8/

23
6 

   
   

   
   

   
14

5 
Yo

un
g 

St
re

et
 

R
ED

FE
R

N
 

R
1 

G
en

er
al

 
R

es
id

en
tia

l 
Fl

oo
r S

pa
ce

 
R

at
io

 
31

%
 

 1
: R

es
id

en
tia

l 
- A

lte
ra

tio
ns

 &
 

ad
di

tio
ns

 

Th
e 

pr
op

os
al

 is
 c

on
si

de
re

d 
no

t t
o 

ha
ve

 
un

re
as

on
ab

le
 im

pa
ct

 o
n 

th
e 

am
en

ity
 o

f 
th

e 
ad

jo
in

in
g 

pr
op

er
tie

s 
or

 th
e 

st
re

et
 

sc
ap

e’
 

13
/0

6/
20

18
 

D
/2

01
7/

16
48

   
   

   
   

   
26

 
Lo

w
er

 F
or

t 
St

re
et

 
D

AW
ES

 P
O

IN
T 

R
1 

G
en

er
al

 
R

es
id

en
tia

l 
M

ot
or

cy
cl

e 
pa

rk
in

g 
10

0.
0%

 
 6

: R
es

id
en

tia
l 

- O
th

er
 

Th
e 

pr
op

os
al

 is
 c

on
si

de
re

d 
no

t t
o 

ha
ve

 
un

re
as

on
ab

le
 im

pa
ct

 o
n 

th
e 

am
en

ity
 o

f 
th

e 
ad

jo
in

in
g 

pr
op

er
tie

s 
or

 th
e 

st
re

et
 

sc
ap

e’
 

19
/0

6/
20

18
 

 

6



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Summary of Applications to be Reported to the Central Sydney Planning 
Committee

File No: S042755

Summary

The purpose of this report is to inform members of the Central Sydney Planning Committee 
(CSPC) of current outstanding development applications to be reported to the CSPC and 
their status. A summary of the outstanding applications is provided in Attachment A.

Recommendation

It is resolved that the subject report to be received and noted.

Attachments

Attachment A. Applications to be Reported to the Central Sydney Planning Committee

Attachment B. Statistical Information about Applications to be Reported to the Central 
Sydney Planning Committee

1

Item 12.



Central Sydney Planning Committee 13 September 2018

Background

1. There are currently 12 development applications to be considered by the Central 
Sydney Planning Committee. Application modifications may also be considered in 
addition to the development applications. The total stated value of these applications is 
$1.3 billion. The average age of the DAs is 203 days from the date of lodgement as at 
20 August 2018.

2. For comparison, there were a total of 340 DAs under assessment by the City of 
Sydney with a value of $2.7 billion and an average of 71 days. Another 217 
development related applications are also under assessment. This includes 
applications to modify or review a determination, subdivision certificates, heritage 
works and footway applications.

3. Trend graphs showing numbers and value of applications as well as average age of 
DAs to be considered by the CSPC are included in this report. The graphs represent 
the period from January 2013 to the present and are in Attachment B.

4. The application with reference 'D/2016/1249' at Mary and Campbell Streets in Surry 
Hills has been removed from the list to be reported to the CSPC as it was withdrawn 
on 1 August 2018.

Relevant Legislation

5. City of Sydney Act 1988.

GRAHAM JAHN, AM

Director City Planning, Development and Transport

Steven Meyer, Planning Systems Advisor

2



Attachment A 

Applications to be Reported to the 
Central Sydney Planning Committee 

 

3



Ap
pl

ic
at

io
ns

 to
 b

e 
co

ns
id

er
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

C
SP

C
 

D
A 

N
um

be
r 

Ad
dr

es
s 

Lo
dg

ed
 

Pr
op

os
al

 
C

os
t 

$m
 

St
at

us
 o

f a
pp

lic
at

io
n 

D
/2

01
7/

50
3 

96
0A

 B
ou

rk
e 

St
re

et
  

ZE
TL

AN
D

  

05
/0

5/
20

17
 

N
ew

 2
0 

st
or

ey
 m

ix
ed

 u
se

 b
ui

ld
in

g 
co

m
pr

is
in

g 
10

4 
ap

ar
tm

en
ts

, 
gr

ou
nd

 a
nd

 fi
rs

t f
lo

or
 re

ta
il,

 c
om

m
un

al
 ro

of
to

p 
op

en
 s

pa
ce

, s
ha

re
d 

ba
se

m
en

t p
ro

vi
di

ng
 b

ui
ld

in
g 

se
rv

ic
es

, s
to

ra
ge

 a
nd

 p
ar

ki
ng

 fo
r 5

4 
sp

ac
es

 a
ss

oc
ia

te
d 

w
ith

 th
e 

bu
ild

in
g,

 la
nd

sc
ap

in
g 

an
d 

re
m

ed
ia

tio
n 

w
or

ks
. T

he
 a

pp
lic

at
io

n 
is

 In
te

gr
at

ed
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t r

eq
ui

rin
g 

ap
pr

ov
al

 
fro

m
 th

e 
N

SW
 O

ffi
ce

 o
f W

at
er

 u
nd

er
 th

e 
W

at
er

 M
an

ag
em

en
t A

ct
 

20
00

. 

61
 

Ta
rg

et
 fo

r r
ep

or
t t

o 
th

e 
C

SP
C

 m
ee

tin
g 

in
 

Fe
br

ua
ry

 2
01

9 

D
/2

01
7/

56
4 

96
0A

 B
ou

rk
e 

St
re

et
  

ZE
TL

AN
D

  

17
/0

3/
20

17
 

M
ix

ed
 u

se
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t c

om
pr

is
in

g 
tw

o 
to

w
er

s,
 c

on
si

st
in

g 
of

 (1
)A

 1
7 

st
or

ey
 b

ui
ld

in
g 

w
ith

 a
 6

 s
to

re
y 

po
di

um
, f

or
 th

e 
us

es
 o

f r
et

ai
l c

in
em

a,
 

co
m

m
er

ci
al

 a
nd

 re
si

de
nt

ia
l. 

(2
)A

 1
3 

St
or

ey
 b

ui
ld

in
g 

w
ith

 5
 s

to
re

y 
po

di
um

 fo
r t

he
 u

se
s 

of
 re

ta
il 

co
m

m
er

ci
al

 a
nd

 re
si

de
nt

ia
l 

98
 

Ta
rg

et
 fo

r r
ep

or
t t

o 
th

e 
C

SP
C

 m
ee

tin
g 

in
 

Fe
br

ua
ry

 2
01

9 

D
/2

01
7/

16
09

   
   

   
   

   
93

-9
7 

M
ac

qu
ar

ie
 

St
re

et
  

SY
D

N
EY

  

20
/1

1/
20

17
 

St
ag

e 
1 

C
on

ce
pt

 B
ui

ld
in

g 
En

ve
lo

pe
. P

ro
po

sa
l i

nc
lu

de
s 

co
ns

er
va

tio
n 

of
 e

xi
st

in
g 

he
rit

ag
e 

ite
m

 a
nd

 a
 b

ui
ld

in
g 

en
ve

lo
pe

 o
f a

pp
ro

xi
m

at
el

y 
55

m
 in

 h
ei

gh
t. 

In
di

ca
tiv

e 
la

nd
 u

se
s 

of
 re

ta
il 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
lo

w
er

 le
ve

ls
 

an
d 

re
si

de
nt

ia
l a

pa
rtm

en
ts

 a
bo

ve
. T

he
 p

ro
po

sa
l i

s 
in

te
gr

at
ed

 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t u
nd

er
 th

e 
H

er
ita

ge
 A

ct
 1

97
7.

 

13
5 

Ta
rg

et
 fo

r r
ep

or
t t

o 
th

e 
C

SP
C

 m
ee

tin
g 

in
 

N
ov

em
be

r 2
01

8 

D
/2

01
7/

16
72

   
   

   
   

   
89

0-
89

8 
Bo

ur
ke

 
St

re
et

  
ZE

TL
AN

D
   

04
/1

2/
20

17
 

D
et

ai
le

d 
Pr

op
os

al
 fo

r t
he

 d
em

ol
iti

on
 o

f e
xi

st
in

g 
bu

ild
in

gs
, e

xc
av

at
io

n,
 

an
d 

th
e 

co
ns

tru
ct

io
n 

of
 a

 6
 s

to
re

y 
m

ix
ed

 u
se

d 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t w
ith

 tw
o 

le
ve

ls
 o

f b
as

em
en

t c
ar

 p
ar

ki
ng

, c
om

pr
is

in
g 

14
5 

ap
ar

tm
en

ts
, 1

 g
ro

un
d 

flo
or

 re
ta

il 
te

na
nc

y,
 a

nd
 la

nd
sc

ap
in

g 
w

or
ks

. T
he

 a
pp

lic
at

io
n 

is
 

In
te

gr
at

ed
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t r

eq
ui

rin
g 

th
e 

ap
pr

ov
al

 o
f W

at
er

 N
SW

 u
nd

er
 

th
e 

W
at

er
 M

an
ag

em
en

t A
ct

 2
00

0.
 

52
 

Ta
rg

et
 fo

r r
ep

or
t t

o 
th

e 
C

SP
C

 m
ee

tin
g 

in
 

N
ov

em
be

r 2
01

8 
 

4



D
A 

N
um

be
r 

Ad
dr

es
s 

Lo
dg

ed
 

Pr
op

os
al

 
C

os
t 

$m
 

St
at

us
 o

f a
pp

lic
at

io
n 

D
/2

01
7/

17
23

   
   

   
   

   
88

8 
Bo

ur
ke

 
St

re
et

  
ZE

TL
AN

D
   

12
/1

2/
20

17
 

St
ag

e 
1 

C
on

ce
pt

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t a
pp

lic
at

io
n 

in
cl

ud
in

g 
tw

o 
6 

st
or

ey
 

bu
ild

in
g 

en
ve

lo
pe

s 
w

ith
 in

di
ca

tiv
e 

ba
se

m
en

t p
ar

ki
ng

 le
ve

ls
, g

ro
un

d 
flo

or
 re

ta
il 

us
es

 a
nd

 re
si

de
nt

ia
l u

se
s 

ab
ov

e 
an

d 
pu

bl
ic

 d
om

ai
n 

im
pr

ov
em

en
t w

or
ks

. T
he

 a
pp

lic
at

io
n 

is
 In

te
gr

at
ed

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
re

qu
iri

ng
 a

pp
ro

va
l u

nd
er

 th
e 

W
at

er
 M

an
ag

em
en

t A
ct

 2
00

0.
 

56
 

Ta
rg

et
 fo

r r
ep

or
t t

o 
th

e 
C

SP
C

 m
ee

tin
g 

in
 

O
ct

ob
er

 2
01

8 

D
/2

01
7/

17
87

   
   

   
   

   
69

8-
70

4 
G

eo
rg

e 
St

re
et

  
H

AY
M

AR
KE

T 
  

21
/1

2/
20

17
 

St
ag

e 
1 

C
on

ce
pt

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t a
pp

lic
at

io
n 

fo
r a

 4
0 

st
or

ey
 b

ui
ld

in
g 

en
ve

lo
pe

 in
cl

ud
in

g 
de

m
ol

iti
on

 o
f e

xi
st

in
g 

bu
ild

in
gs

 a
t 4

3-
49

 G
ou

lb
ur

n 
St

re
et

, a
nd

 5
1-

57
 G

ou
lb

ur
n 

St
re

et
, r

et
en

tio
n 

an
d 

ad
ap

tiv
e 

re
us

e 
of

 
69

8–
70

4 
G

eo
rg

e 
St

re
et

. T
he

 p
ro

po
se

d 
us

es
 in

cl
ud

e 
re

ta
il,

 h
ot

el
 a

nd
 

re
si

de
nt

ia
l a

nd
 4

 le
ve

ls
 o

f b
as

em
en

t w
ith

 v
eh

ic
ul

ar
 a

cc
es

s 
fro

m
 

G
ou

lb
ur

n 
St

re
et

. 

12
7 

Ta
rg

et
 fo

r r
ep

or
t t

o 
th

e 
C

SP
C

 m
ee

tin
g 

in
 

O
ct

ob
er

 2
01

8 
 

D
/2

01
8/

40
5 

37
8-

39
4 

G
eo

rg
e 

St
re

et
  

SY
D

N
EY

  N
SW

  
20

00
 

20
/0

4/
20

18
 

Pa
rti

al
 d

em
ol

iti
on

 o
f e

xi
st

in
g 

po
di

um
 o

f c
om

m
er

ci
al

 b
ui

ld
in

g 
an

d 
re

m
ov

al
 o

f 6
 b

as
em

en
t c

ar
 p

ar
ki

ng
 s

pa
ce

s 
fo

r c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
of

 a
 n

ew
 

5 
st

or
ey

 re
ta

il 
an

d 
co

m
m

er
ci

al
 p

od
iu

m
 w

ith
 a

 ro
of

 to
p 

re
ta

il 
te

rra
ce

, 
re

fu
rb

is
hm

en
t o

f e
xi

st
in

g 
gr

ou
nd

 fl
oo

r r
et

ai
l t

en
an

ci
es

 a
nd

 
co

m
m

er
ci

al
 lo

bb
y 

an
d 

ne
w

 e
nd

 o
f j

ou
rn

ey
 fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

on
 L

ev
el

 1
. T

he
 

pr
op

os
al

 a
ls

o 
in

cl
ud

es
 a

 n
ew

 th
ro

ug
h 

si
te

 li
nk

 c
on

ne
ct

in
g 

G
eo

rg
e 

St
re

et
 a

nd
 K

in
g 

St
re

et
. 

54
 

Ta
rg

et
 fo

r r
ep

or
t t

o 
th

e 
C

SP
C

 m
ee

tin
g 

in
 

N
ov

em
be

r 2
01

8 

D
/2

01
8/

50
9 

C
ar

 P
ar

k 
13

 
Pa

rk
er

 S
tre

et
  

H
AY

M
AR

KE
T 

 
N

SW
  2

00
0 

15
/0

5/
20

17
 

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
an

d 
us

e 
of

 a
 n

ew
 1

5 
st

or
ey

 h
ot

el
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

a 
si

ng
le

 
ba

se
m

en
t l

ev
el

, 1
65

 ro
om

s,
 g

ro
un

d 
le

ve
l f

oo
d 

an
d 

be
ve

ra
ge

 a
re

a 
an

d 
a 

le
ve

l 1
 re

st
au

ra
nt

. 

50
 

Ta
rg

et
 fo

r r
ep

or
t t

o 
th

e 
C

SP
C

 m
ee

tin
g 

in
 

N
ov

em
be

r 2
01

8 
 

5



D
A 

N
um

be
r 

Ad
dr

es
s 

Lo
dg

ed
 

Pr
op

os
al

 
C

os
t 

$m
 

St
at

us
 o

f a
pp

lic
at

io
n 

D
/2

01
8/

51
7 

77
-9

3 
Po

rtm
an

 
St

re
et

  
ZE

TL
AN

D
  

N
SW

  2
01

7 

 

17
/0

5/
20

18
 

D
et

ai
le

d 
Pr

op
os

al
 fo

r e
xc

av
at

io
n,

 re
m

ed
ia

tio
n,

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
of

 s
ha

re
d 

3 
le

ve
l b

as
em

en
t, 

3 
m

ix
ed

 u
se

 re
si

de
nt

ia
l f

la
t b

ui
ld

in
gs

 w
ith

 g
ro

un
d 

flo
or

 re
ta

il 
(B

ui
ld

in
gs

 A
, B

 a
nd

 C
) a

nd
 1

 re
si

de
nt

ia
l f

la
t b

ui
ld

in
g 

(B
ui

ld
in

g 
D

), 
an

d 
la

nd
sc

ap
in

g 
an

d 
pu

bl
ic

 d
om

ai
n 

w
or

ks
 a

t S
ite

 1
5 

in
 

th
e 

G
re

en
 S

qu
ar

e 
To

w
n 

C
en

tre
. B

ui
ld

in
g 

A 
is

 2
3 

st
or

ey
s 

co
nt

ai
ni

ng
 

15
4 

ap
ar

tm
en

ts
. B

ui
ld

in
g 

B 
is

 1
2 

st
or

ey
s 

co
nt

ai
ni

ng
 1

28
 a

pa
rtm

en
ts

. 
Bu

ild
in

g 
C

 is
 1

2 
st

or
ey

s 
co

nt
ai

ni
ng

 4
5 

ap
ar

tm
en

ts
. B

ui
ld

in
g 

D
 is

 7
 

st
or

ey
s 

co
nt

ai
ni

ng
 2

7 
ap

ar
tm

en
ts

. T
he

 a
pp

lic
at

io
n 

is
 In

te
gr

at
ed

 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t r

eq
ui

rin
g 

th
e 

ap
pr

ov
al

 o
f W

at
er

 N
SW

 u
nd

er
 th

e 
W

at
er

 
M

an
ag

em
en

t A
ct

 2
00

0.
 

24
0 

Ta
rg

et
 fo

r r
ep

or
t t

o 
th

e 
C

SP
C

 m
ee

tin
g 

in
 

D
ec

em
be

r 2
01

8 

D
/2

01
8/

60
0 

49
-5

3 
W

en
tw

or
th

 
Av

en
ue

  
SY

D
N

EY
  N

SW
  

20
00

 

 

01
/0

6/
20

18
 

St
ag

e 
2 

re
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t o
f t

he
 s

ite
, p

ro
po

si
ng

 th
e 

de
m

ol
iti

on
 o

f t
he

 
ex

is
tin

g 
co

m
m

er
ci

al
 b

ui
ld

in
g 

at
 4

7 
W

en
tw

or
th

 A
ve

nu
e,

 th
e 

ad
ap

tiv
e 

re
us

e 
of

 th
e 

ex
is

tin
g 

9 
st

or
ey

 b
ui

ld
in

g 
at

 4
9-

53
 W

en
tw

or
th

 A
ve

nu
e,

 
an

d 
co

ns
tru

ct
io

n 
of

 a
 1

9 
st

or
ey

 m
ix

ed
 u

se
 b

ui
ld

in
g 

co
m

pr
is

in
g 

28
7 

ho
te

l a
cc

om
m

od
at

io
n 

ro
om

s,
 g

ro
un

d 
flo

or
 re

st
au

ra
nt

/c
af

e 
(c

ap
ac

ity
 o

f 
19

6)
, b

ar
 (c

ap
ac

ity
 o

f 2
52

) a
nd

 lo
bb

y 
ar

ea
s,

 ro
of

to
p 

ba
r (

ca
pa

ci
ty

 o
f 

31
7)

, a
nd

 1
 b

as
em

en
t l

ev
el

 w
ith

 p
la

nt
 a

nd
 s

er
vi

ce
 a

re
as

. T
he

 g
ro

un
d 

flo
or

 re
st

au
ra

nt
/c

af
e 

is
 to

 o
pe

ra
te

 b
et

w
ee

n 
6.

00
am

 a
nd

 1
2 

m
id

ni
gh

t 
M

on
da

ys
 to

 S
un

da
ys

 in
cl

us
iv

e;
 th

e 
gr

ou
nd

 fl
oo

r b
ar

 is
 to

 o
pe

ra
te

 
be

tw
ee

n 
7.

00
am

 a
nd

 1
.0

0a
m

 M
on

da
ys

 to
 S

un
da

ys
 in

cl
us

iv
e;

 a
nd

 th
e 

ro
of

to
p 

ba
r i

s 
to

 o
pe

ra
te

 b
et

w
ee

n 
7.

00
am

 a
nd

 2
.0

0a
m

 M
on

da
ys

 to
 

Su
nd

ay
s 

in
cl

us
iv

e.
 It

 is
 a

ls
o 

pr
op

os
ed

 to
 s

ta
ge

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
w

or
ks

, 
an

d 
en

te
r i

nt
o 

th
e 

al
te

rn
at

iv
e 

he
rit

ag
e 

flo
or

 s
pa

ce
 (H

FS
) a

llo
ca

tio
n 

sc
he

m
e 

fo
r t

he
 p

ur
ch

as
e 

of
 H

FS
. S

ite
 h

as
 re

ar
 a

cc
es

s 
to

 F
oy

 L
an

e.
 

76
 

Ta
rg

et
 fo

r r
ep

or
t t

o 
th

e 
C

SP
C

 m
ee

tin
g 

in
 

N
ov

em
be

r 2
01

8 

6



D
A 

N
um

be
r 

Ad
dr

es
s 

Lo
dg

ed
 

Pr
op

os
al

 
C

os
t 

$m
 

St
at

us
 o

f a
pp

lic
at

io
n 

D
/2

01
8/

80
2 

44
-4

8 
O

'D
ea

 
Av

en
ue

  
W

AT
ER

LO
O

  
N

SW
  2

01
7 

 

16
/0

7/
20

18
 

D
et

ai
le

d 
de

si
gn

 p
ro

po
sa

l f
or

 e
xc

av
at

io
n,

 re
m

ed
ia

tio
n,

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
of

 
a 

20
 s

to
re

y 
m

ix
ed

 u
se

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t (
Bu

ild
in

g 
C

), 
w

ith
 4

 b
as

em
en

t 
le

ve
ls

, p
ar

ki
ng

 fo
r 1

23
 c

ar
s,

 g
ro

un
d 

flo
or

 re
ta

il,
 1

53
 re

si
de

nt
ia

l 
ap

ar
tm

en
ts

 a
nd

 c
om

m
un

al
 ro

of
to

p 
te

rra
ce

s.
 T

he
 a

pp
lic

at
io

n 
is

 
In

te
gr

at
ed

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t r
eq

ui
rin

g 
th

e 
ap

pr
ov

al
 o

f W
at

er
 N

SW
 u

nd
er

 
th

e 
W

at
er

 M
an

ag
em

en
t A

ct
 2

00
0.

 

10
2 

Ta
rg

et
 fo

r r
ep

or
t t

o 
th

e 
C

SP
C

 m
ee

tin
g 

in
 

D
ec

em
be

r 2
01

8 

D
/2

01
8/

90
7 

20
5-

21
3 

Eu
st

on
 

R
oa

d 
 

AL
EX

AN
D

R
IA

  
N

SW
  2

01
5 

 

08
/0

8/
20

18
 

St
ag

e 
2 

In
te

gr
at

ed
 D

A 
fo

r a
 M

ix
ed

 U
se

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t. 
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

of
 

ei
gh

t m
ix

ed
 u

se
 b

ui
ld

in
gs

 c
om

pr
is

in
g 

of
 3

90
 re

si
de

nt
ia

l u
ni

ts
 a

nd
 

18
78

sq
m

 o
f c

om
m

er
ci

al
 G

FA
, t

w
o 

ba
se

m
en

t l
ev

el
s 

(le
ve

l 1
 a

nd
 

m
ez

za
ni

ne
) a

nd
 a

ss
oc

ia
te

d 
ca

r p
ar

ki
ng

 

23
5 

Ta
rg

et
 fo

r r
ep

or
t t

o 
th

e 
C

SP
C

 m
ee

tin
g 

in
 

Fe
br

ua
ry

 2
01

9 

 

7



Attachment B 

Statistical Information about Applications 
to be Reported to the  

Central Sydney Planning Committee 

 

8



Number of applications to be reported to the CSPC 

 
 

Value of DAs under assessment to be reported to the CSPC ($ billion) 

 

 
 

 

9



Average age of DAs under assessment to be reported to the CSPC (total days) 

 

10


	Agenda
	1 Disclosures of Interest
	2 Confirmation of Minutes
	3 Matters Arising from the Minutes
	4 Public Exhibition – Planning Proposal and Draft Development Control Plan – Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point
	Attachment A - Planning Proposal - Proposed Heritage Items, Potts Point
	Introduction
	Background
	Site identification
	Planning background
	Study area and scope
	Study findings
	Assessment of significance for listing


	Part 1 – Objectives or intended outcomes
	Part 2 – Explanation of the provisions
	Heritage schedule amendments

	Part 3 – Justification
	Section A – Need for the planning proposal
	Q1. Is the planning proposal a result of any strategic study or report?
	Q2. Is the planning proposal the best means of achieving the objectives or intended outcomes, or is there a better way?

	Section B – Relationship to strategic planning framework
	Q3. Is the planning proposal consistent with the objectives and actions contained within the applicable regional or sub-regional strategy?
	Greater Sydney Region Plan: A Metropolis of Three Cities
	Eastern City District Plan
	Q4. Is the planning proposal consistent with council’s local strategy or other local strategic plan?
	Sustainable Sydney 2030 Strategic Plan
	Q5. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable State Environmental Planning Policies (SEPPs)?
	Q6. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable ministerial directions (s.117 directions)?

	Section C – Environmental, social and economic impact
	Q7. Is there any likelihood that critical habitat or threatened species, populations or ecological communities, or their habitats, will be adversely affected as a result of the proposal?
	Q8. Are there any other likely environmental effects as a result of the planning proposal and how are they proposed to be managed?
	Q9. How has the planning proposal adequately addressed any social and economic effects?

	Section D: State and Commonwealth interests
	Q10. Is there adequate public infrastructure for the planning proposal?
	Q11. What are the views of State and Commonwealth public authorities consulted in the gateway determination?


	Part 4 – Mapping
	Part 5 – Community consultation
	Public Exhibition

	Part 6 – Project timeline
	Appendices
	1. Heritage Assessment: 18-32A Darlinghurst Road, 2 Roslyn Street, Potts Point, 22 June 2018.
	2. Draft Heritage inventories for recommended heritage items


	Attachment B - Draft Development Control Plan - Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point
	3 Public Exhibition – Planning Proposal and Draft Development Control Plan - Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point
	Attachment B - Draft Development Control Plan - Darlinghurst Road, Potts Point



	5 Post Exhibition – Planning Proposal – 102-106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery – Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 Amendment and Planning Agreement
	Attachment A – Planning Proposal – 102-106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery
	Attachment A Cover Sheet
	Attachment A - Planning Proposal - 102-106 Dunning Ave

	Attachment B - Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 - 102-106 Dunning Avenue, Rosebery, Amendment
	Attachment C - Planning Agreement
	Attachment C Cover Sheet
	Attachment - C - draft Planning Agreement - VPA - 102-106 Dunning Ave Rosebery
	Site plan for VPA.pdf (p.1)
	Planning Agreement between City of Sydney and Kubis Rosebery Pty Ltd - 22 February 2018.pdf (p.2-73)


	Attachment D - Resolution of CSPC and Council
	Attachment D Cover Sheet
	CM2017 000035  CSPC ITEM 7 - 23 02 2017 - PUBLIC EXHIBITION - 102–106 ~ PLANNING PROPOSAL, DRAFT DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PLAN AND PLANNING AGREEMENT
	CM2017 000043  ROC ~ PUBLIC EXHIBITION – 102–106 DUNNING AVENUE, ROSEBERY – PLANNING PROPOSAL, DRAFT DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PLAN AND PLANNING AGREEMENT
	Blank Page

	Attachment E - Gateway Determination and Gateway Determination Extension
	Attachment E Cover Sheet
	Gateway Determination
	Letter to Council
	0198_001

	Attachment F - Summary of Matters Raised in Submissions
	Attachment F Cover Sheet
	102-106 Dunning Ave - Submissions summary table


	6 Public Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst - Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 Amendment
	Attachment A1 - Planning Proposal 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst
	Attachment B - Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 - 30-62 Barcom Avenue, Darlinghurst
	Blank Page
	Blank Page


	7 Pre Exhibition – Planning Proposal – 12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery – Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 Amendment
	Attachment A - Planning Proposal: Local Environmental Plan - 12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery
	Attachment B – Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 - 12-22 and 24 Rothschild Avenue, Rosebery

	8 Post Exhibition - Planning Proposal - Affordable Rental Housing Review - Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Affordable Housing Program and Pre Exhibition - Planning Proposal - Affordable Rental Housing Review - Green Square Town Centre
	Attachment A1 - Planning Proposal - Affordable Housing Review
	Part 1 Objectives
	Part 2 Explanation of Provisions
	2.1 Sydney LEP 2012
	2.1.1 Add ‘Central Sydney’ to Clause 1.9 Application of SEPP
	2.1.2 Expansion of affordable housing contribution requirements to ‘residual land’ and ‘Central Sydney’.
	2.1.3 A framework for ‘Schedule 7 Planning Proposal land’
	2.1.4 Minimum size of dedicated affordable housing dwellings
	2.1.5 Improving the interpretation and application of Clause 7.13
	2.1.6 Affordable Housing in the B7 Business Park zone

	2.2 City of Sydney Affordable Housing Program
	2.2.1 Affordable housing principles
	2.2.2 Determining the appropriate contribution rate for Schedule 7 Planning Proposal land
	2.2.3 Affordable housing dwelling requirements
	2.2.4 Equivalent monetary contribution amounts
	2.2.5 Increasing contribution rates in Green Square
	2.2.6 Calculating the equivalent monetary contribution payable
	2.2.7 How are monetary contributions paid and who are they allocated to?
	2.2.8 How are dedicated affordable housing dwellings to be allocated?
	2.2.9 Development that may not be required to make a contribution
	2.2.10 Indexing contributions
	2.2.11 When is a contribution to be paid?
	2.2.12 Where a previous contribution to affordable housing has been paid
	2.2.13 Adding a recommended community housing provider


	Part 3 Justification
	Part 4 Mapping
	Part 5 Community Consultation
	Part 6 Project timeline

	Attachment B- Resolutions of Council and Central Sydney Planning Committee
	Attachment B CL
	B. Council Resolution
	B. CSPC Resolution

	Attachment C - Gateway Determination
	Attachment C CL
	C. Gateway Determination_Att C
	C. Greater Sydney Commission Delegation

	Attachment D1 - Planning Proposal: Affordable Housing Review - Green Square Town Centre
	Part 1 Objectives
	Part 2 Explanation of Provisions
	2.1 Town Centre LEPs
	2.1.1 A framework for Planning Proposal land
	2.1.2 Minimum size of dedicated affordable housing dwellings
	2.1.3 Improving the interpretation and application of current Clauses

	2.2 City of Sydney Affordable Housing Program
	2.2.1 Affordable housing principles
	2.2.2 Determining the appropriate contribution rate for Planning Proposal land
	2.2.3 Affordable housing dwelling requirements
	2.2.4 Equivalent monetary contribution amounts
	2.2.5 Increasing contribution rates in Green Square
	2.2.6 Calculating the equivalent monetary contribution payable
	2.2.7 How are monetary contributions paid and who are they allocated to?
	2.2.8 How are dedicated affordable housing dwellings to be allocated?
	2.2.9 Development that may not be required to make a contribution
	2.2.10 Indexing contributions
	2.2.11 When is a contribution to be paid?
	2.2.12 Where a previous contribution to affordable housing has been paid
	2.2.13 Adding a recommended community housing provider


	Part 3 Justification
	Part 4 Mapping
	Part 5 Community Consultation
	Part 6 Project timeline

	Attachment E - Summary of and Responses to Matters Raised in Submissions
	Attachment E Cover Sheet
	summary of submissions


	9 Post Exhibition - Planning Proposal - Serviced Apartments - Amendments to Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 - Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2005 - Sydney Local Environmental Plan Green Square Town Centre 2013 and Sydney Local Environmental Plan - Green Square Town Centre Stage 2 2013
	Attachment A - Summary of Submissions
	Attachment A Cover Sheet
	Submissions summary

	Attachment B - Planning Proposal - Serviced Apartments
	Attachment B Cover Sheet
	Planning Proposal - Serviced Apartment - Accessible version 3 - Post Exhibition
	Introduction
	Part 1 – Objectives or Intended Outcomes
	Part 2 – Explanation of the Provisions
	Serviced Apartments

	Part 3 – Justification
	Section A – Need for the planning proposal
	Is the planning proposal a result of any strategic study or report?
	Is the planning proposal the best means of achieving the objectives or intended outcomes, or is there a better way?

	Section B – Relationship to strategic planning framework
	Is the planning proposal consistent with the objectives and actions of the applicable regional, sub-regional or district plan or strategy (including any exhibited draft plans or strategies?
	Is the planning proposal consistent with a council’s local strategy or other local strategic plan?
	Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable state environmental planning policies?
	Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable Ministerial Directions (s.117 directions)?

	Section C – Environmental, social and economic impact
	Is there any likelihood that critical habitat or threatened species, populations or ecological communities, or their habitats, will be adversely affected as a result of the proposal?
	Are there any other likely environmental effects as a result of the Planning Proposal and how are they proposed to be managed?
	Has the planning proposal adequately addressed any social and economic effects?

	Section D – State and Commonwealth interest
	Is there adequate public infrastructure for the planning proposal?
	What are the views of State and Commonwealth public authorities consulted in the gateway determination?


	Part 4 – Mapping
	Part 5 – Community Consultation
	Part 6 – Project Timeline



	10 Public Exhibition: Plannning Proposal - Heritage Floor Space Amendment
	Attachment A  - Planning Proposal - Heritage Floor Space Amendment
	Attachment A
	Planning Proposal - Heritage Floor Space amendments
	Introduction
	Background

	Part 1 – Objectives or Intended Outcomes
	Part 2 – Explanation of the Provisions
	Part 3 – Justification
	Section A – Need for the planning proposal
	Is the planning proposal a result of any strategic study or report?
	Is the planning proposal the best means of achieving the objectives or intended outcomes, or is there a better way?

	Section B – Relationship to strategic planning framework
	Is the planning proposal consistent with the objectives and actions of the applicable regional, subregional or district plan or strategy (including any exhibited draft plans or strategies)?
	Is the planning proposal consistent with a council’s local strategy or other local strategic plan?
	Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable state environmental planning policies?
	Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable Ministerial Directions (s.117, now section 9.1, directions)?

	Section C – Environmental, social and economic impact
	Is there any likelihood that critical habitat or threatened species, populations or ecological communities, or their habitats, will be adversely affected as a result of the proposal?
	Are there any other likely environmental effects as a result of the Planning Proposal and how are they proposed to be managed?
	Has the planning proposal adequately addressed any social and economic effects?

	Section D – State and Commonwealth interest
	Is there adequate public infrastructure for the planning proposal?
	What are the views of State and Commonwealth public authorities consulted in the gateway determination?


	Part 4 – Mapping
	Part 5 – Community Consultation
	Part 6 – Project Timeline


	Attachment B - Alternative Heritage Floor Space Allocation Scheme, as Amended
	Attachment B
	Alternative Heritage Floor Space scheme, as amended


	11 Determinations Delegated by the Central Sydney Planning Committee to the City of Sydney
	Attachment A - Variations Approved by Council and Reported to the Department of Planning and Environment for the period 1 April 2018 to 30 June 2018

	12 Summary of Applications to be Reported to the Central Sydney Planning Committee
	Attachment A - Applications to be Reported to the Central Sydney Planning Committee
	Attachment B - Statistical Information about Applications to be Reported to the Central Sydney Planning Committee




